

Novel biomarkers for predicting response to cancer immunotherapy

Edited by Jinghua Pan, Fu Wang and Jian Song

Published in Frontiers in Immunology Frontiers in Oncology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2549-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2549-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Novel biomarkers for predicting response to cancer immunotherapy

Topic editors

Jinghua Pan — Jinan University, China Fu Wang — Xi'an Jiaotong University, China Jian Song — University Hospital Münster, Germany

Citation

Pan, J., Wang, F., Song, J., eds. (2023). *Novel biomarkers for predicting response to cancer immunotherapy*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2549-4

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

07 Editorial: Novel biomarkers for predicting response to cancer immunotherapy

Shuchen Huangfu and Jinghua Pan

09 A Novel M6A-Related Genes Signature Can Impact the Immune Status and Predict the Prognosis and Drug Sensitivity of Lung Adenocarcinoma Xuewen Wang, Chengfei Zhao, Dandan Huang, Zhoujie Liu,

Mengmeng Liu, Fei Lin, Yingyu Lu, Jing Jia, Liqing Lin, Xinhua Lin, Huangyuan Li and Zhiwei Chen

- 22 Ang2-Targeted Combination Therapy for Cancer Treatment Na Liu, Mengfang Liu, Shengqiao Fu, Jinglei Wang, Haowen Tang, Adamu Danbala Isah, Deyu Chen and Xu Wang
- 32 Integrative Analysis From Multicenter Studies Identifies a WGCNA-Derived Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Signature for Ovarian Cancer

Songwei Feng, Yi Xu, Zhu Dai, Han Yin, Ke Zhang and Yang Shen

- 46 Analysis and Experimental Validation of Rheumatoid Arthritis Innate Immunity Gene CYFIP2 and Pan-Cancer ZhenYu Zhao, ShaoJie He, XinCheng Yu, XiaoFeng Lai, Sheng Tang, El Akkawi Mariya M., MoHan Wang, Hai Yan, XingQi Huang, Shan Zeng and DingSheng Zha
- 63 The impact of antibiotic use on clinical features and survival outcomes of cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors

Jiaxin Zhou, Guowei Huang, Wan-Ching Wong, Da-hai Hu, Jie-wen Zhu, Ruiman Li and Hong Zhou

- 82 A novel m7G-related lncRNA risk model for predicting prognosis and evaluating the tumor immune microenvironment in colon carcinoma Sheng Yang, Jiahui Zhou, Zhihao Chen, Qingyang Sun, Dongsheng Zhang, Yifei Feng, Xiaowei Wang and Yueming Sun
- 96 Induced expression of CCL19 promotes the anti-tumor ability of CAR-T cells by increasing their infiltration ability Jian-fei Hu, Zu-wei Wang, Cheng-yu Liao, Zhi-wen Chen, Feng-ping Kang, Cai-feng Lin, Tian-sheng Lin, Long Huang, Yi-feng Tian and Shi Chen
- 109 Dynamics of PD-1 expression are associated with treatment efficacy and prognosis in patients with intermediate/high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes under hypomethylating treatment

Suxia Geng, Ruohao Xu, Xin Huang, Minming Li, Chengxin Deng, Peilong Lai, Yulian Wang, Ping Wu, Xiaomei Chen, Jianyu Weng and Xin Du

- 120 PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell signatures predict prognosis and immunotherapy response in patients with breast cancer Hongmei Dong, Chaoyu Xie, Zhimeng Yao, Ruijun Zhao, Yusheng Lin, Yichen Luo, Shuanglong Chen, Yanfang Qin, Yexi Chen and Hao Zhang
- 132 Prediction of prognosis, immunogenicity and efficacy of immunotherapy based on glutamine metabolism in lung adenocarcinoma

Jichang Liu, Hongchang Shen, Wenchao Gu, Haotian Zheng, Yadong Wang, Guoyuan Ma and Jiajun Du

157 Establishment of three heterogeneous subtypes and a risk model of low-grade gliomas based on cell senescence-related genes

> Jing Chen, Lingjiao Wu, Hanjin Yang, XiaoChen Zhang, SuZhen Xv and Qiong Qian

171 Single-cell sequencing reveals heterogeneity between pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with prognostic value

Deyu Zhang, Suna Wu, Shubo Pan, Meiqi Wang, Zhen Wang, Zixuan He, Guanghao Zhang, Fang Cui, Yihang Song, Wanshun Li, Xiaohua Shi, Haojie Huang and Huanhai Xu

183 SIRGs score may be a predictor of prognosis and immunotherapy response for esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma

> Li-Ying OuYang, Zi-Jian Deng, Yu-Feng You, Jia-Ming Fang, Xi-Jie Chen, Jun-Jie Liu, Xian-Zhe Li, Lei Lian and Shi Chen

197 Autophagy-related prognostic signature characterizes tumor microenvironment and predicts response to ferroptosis in gastric cancer

> Haoran Li, Bing Xu, Jing Du, Yunyi Wu, Fangchun Shao, Yan Gao, Ping Zhang, Junyu Zhou, Xiangmin Tong, Ying Wang and Yanchun Li

- 212 An integrative pan-cancer analysis revealing the difference in small ring finger family of SCF E3 ubiquitin ligases Tingting Huang, Jiwei Li, Xinli Liu, Bingbing Shi, Shiqin Li and Han-Xiang An
- 228 Research progress on application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology to the tumor immune microenvironment, autoimmune diseases, and infectious diseases

Jinhua He, Jian Shen, Wenfeng Luo, Zeping Han, Fangmei Xie, Ting Pang, Liyin Liao, Zhonghui Guo, Jianhao Li, Yuguang Li and Hanwei Chen

236 Identification of cuproptosis-related subtypes, characterization of tumor microenvironment infiltration, and development of a prognosis model in breast cancer Zhi Li, Hua Zhang, Xixi Wang, Qun Wang, Jiapeng Xue, Yun Shi,

Minghua Wang, Geng Wang and Jianquan Zhang

- 250 Identification of *ISCA1* as novel immunological and prognostic biomarker for bladder cancer Renlong Zhou, Naixiong Peng and Wei Li
- 264 Analysis of immune status in gastric adenocarcinoma with different infiltrating patterns and origin sites Nana Zhang, Depu Wang, Xiaoyan Hu, Guanjun Zhang, Zhuoqun Li, Yan Zhao, Zhijun Liu and Yili Wang
- 275 Systematic identification of cancer-associated-fibroblast-derived genes in patients with colorectal cancer based on single-cell sequencing and transcriptomics

Jia Zhao and Ying Chen

Lei Zhang

291 A robust CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier for predicting the prognosis and efficacy of immunotherapy in stage III lung adenocarcinoma

> Jinteng Feng, Longwen Xu, Shirong Zhang, Luying Geng, Tian Zhang, Yang Yu, Rui Yuan, Yusheng He, Zhuhui Nan, Min Lin and Hui Guo

312 The molecular subtypes of triple negative breast cancer were defined and a ligand-receptor pair score model was constructed by comprehensive analysis of ligand-receptor pairs

Weijun Pan, Kai Song, Yunli Zhang, Ciqiu Yang, Yi Zhang, Fei Ji, Junsheng Zhang, Jian Shi and Kun Wang

- 327 Identifying key mutations of radioresponsive genes in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma
 Xin Xu, Yuming Wang, Yongrui Bai, Jun Lu, Yuntao Guo,
 Xiaohang Wang, Ling Rong, Jianmin Tang, Xiumei Ma, Jun Ma and
- 340 Case report: The MSI-L/p-MMR metastatic rectal cancer patient who failed systemic therapy responds to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy after stereotactic body radiation-therapy Shijin Liu, Yiran Zhang, Yujian Lin, Peize Wang and Yunlong Pan
- FGFBP1 as a potential biomarker predicting bacillus Calmette–Guérin response in bladder cancer
 Fei Li, Henghui Zhang, Yu Wang, Zhihao Yao, Kunfeng Xie, Qixin Mo, Qin Fan, Lina Hou, Fan Deng and Wanlong Tan
- 359 A specific immune signature for predicting the prognosis of glioma patients with IDH1-mutation and guiding immune checkpoint blockade therapy

Zhirui Zeng, Chujiao Hu, Wanyuan Ruan, Jinjuan Zhang, Shan Lei, Yushi Yang, Pailan Peng, Feng Pan and Tengxiang Chen

A novel immune cell signature for predicting osteosarcoma prognosis and guiding therapy
Runsang Pan, Feng Pan, Zhirui Zeng, Shan Lei, Yan Yang, Yushi Yang,

Runsang Pan, Feng Pan, Zhirui Zeng, Shan Lei, Yan Yang, Yushi Yang, Chujiao Hu, Houping Chen and Xiaobin Tian

- 387 Biomarkers of related driver genes predict anti-tumor efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors Shuai Jiang, Shuai Geng, Xinyu Luo, Can Zhang, Yang Yu, Mengfei Cheng, Shuo Zhang, Ning Shi and Mei Dong
- 395 m6A methylation regulators as predictors for treatment of advanced urothelial carcinoma with anti-PDL1 agent Jianqiu Kong, Sihong Lu, Long Zhang, Yuhui Yao, Jie Zhang, Zefeng Shen, Mingli Luo, Bin Liu, Junjiong Zheng and Tianxin Lin
- 409 A stratification system of ferroptosis and iron-metabolism related LncRNAs guides the prediction of the survival of patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma Ren Niu, Fangchao Zhao, Zefang Dong, Zhirong Li and Shujun Li
- 422 Research into the biological differences and targets in lung cancer patients with diverse immunotherapy responses Xunlang Zhang, Xinhui Wu, Huang Huang, Kangming Du, Yingying Nie, Peiyuan Su and Yuefei Li
- 437 TMBcat: A multi-endpoint *p*-value criterion on different discrepancy metrics for superiorly inferring tumor mutation burden thresholds

Yixuan Wang, Xin Lai, Jiayin Wang, Ying Xu, Xuanping Zhang, Xiaoyan Zhu, Yuqian Liu, Yang Shao, Li Zhang and Wenfeng Fang

455 Identification of immune-related endoplasmic reticulum stress genes in sepsis using bioinformatics and machine learning

Ting Gong, Yongbin Liu, Zhiyuan Tian, Min Zhang, Hejun Gao, Zhiyong Peng, Shuang Yin, Chi Wai Cheung and Youtan Liu

474 NRF2-directed PRPS1 upregulation to promote the progression and metastasis of melanoma Guohang Xiong, Yu Feng, Xiaojia Yi, Xuedan Zhang, Xiaoyu Li, Lijuan Yang, Zihan Yi, Buqing Sai, Zhe Yang, Qiao Zhang, Yingmin Kuang and Yuechun Zhu

Frontiers in Immunology

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yasir Waheed, Shaheed Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto Medical University (SZABMU), Pakistan

REVIEWED BY Stefania Canè, University of Verona, Italy Jake ODonnell, The University of Queensland, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Jinghua Pan Muajanve@foxmail.com

RECEIVED 05 March 2023 ACCEPTED 03 April 2023 PUBLISHED 11 May 2023

CITATION

Huangfu S and Pan J (2023) Editorial: Novel biomarkers for predicting response to cancer immunotherapy. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1179913. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1179913

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Huangfu and Pan. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Novel biomarkers for predicting response to cancer immunotherapy

Shuchen Huangfu and Jinghua Pan*

Department of General Surgery, the First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

KEYWORDS

immune markers, cancer, ICI, immune response, tumor mutation burden

Editorial on the Research Topic

Novel biomarkers for predicting response to cancer immunotherapy

Immune response refers to the process by which immune cells recognize antigen molecules, activate, proliferate, differentiate and produce immune substances after being stimulated by antigens. It includes a series of physiological reactions such as antigen presentation, lymphocyte activation, immune molecule formation and immune effect. Immune response is the focus of tumor treatment and plays an important role in the research and clinical application of a variety of malignant tumors. This project summarizes the role of immune response markers in cancer therapy. The topic consisted of eight articles, including one review article and seven original research articles, contributed by multiple authors in the fields of tumor immunology and therapeutics. Our goal is to reveal the role of novel markers of tumor immune response in tumor therapy.

As a new treatment method, immunotherapy has gradually become the fourth treatment method in addition to surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy. However, due to the limited response rate of immunotherapy, in order to further improve the efficiency of immunotherapy, it is urgent to explore new targets of tumor immune response to achieve the purpose of precise treatment. As the only biomarker that has been confirmed to have predictive function in prospective clinical trials, PD-L1 has been approved by FDA as an immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) and is widely used in clinical practice. The degree and distribution of TILs in tumor and its microenvironment can be used as an important predictor of ICI response. Chong Sun et al. conclude that antibody-based PD-1-PD-L1 inhibitors can induce durable tumor responses in patients with a variety of advanced cancers (1). The degree and distribution of TILs in tumor and its microenvironment can be used as an important predictor of ICI response. Savas P et al. found that CD8⁺ TRM cells contribute to breast cancer immune surveillance and are a key target of immune checkpoint inhibition regulation (2). tumor mutation burden is the focus of research on tumor immune response markers in recent years. The higher the TMB of the tumor, the higher the immunogenicity of the tumor. Using systemic treatment with the Axl inhibitor bemcentinib in combination with PD-1 checkpoint blocker treatment, Huiyu Li et al. found that Axl achieves anti-PD-1-mediated growth control of STK11/LKB1 mutant NSCLC by expanding CD8⁺ T cells, the main executor of TCF1⁺PD-1⁺ (3).By analyzing the immunophenotype of 188 melanoma patients treated with ICB, Shen R et al. found that LAG-3 expression in peripheral blood cells could identify patients with poor prognosis after

ICB, and this research result has a guiding role for immunotherapy of LAG^+ immune melanoma patients (4).

Gene-expression markers are widely and equally comprehensive in assessing tumor response to ICI therapy. Jia K et al. showed that claudin-18 (CLDN18.2) positive gastric cancer (GC) has unique immune microenvironment characteristics, which makes CLDN18.2 positive GC have relatively fewer CD8/CD4 T cells expressing PD-1/ PD-L1. This results in poor survival of patients receiving anti-PD-1/ anti-PD-L1 therapy, indicating that CLDN18.2 may be a promising new therapeutic target (5). In addition, Shuai Wang et al. found that CD47 blockade significantly enhanced the ability of CD103⁺ DCs to uptake tumor DNA in the HCC microenvironment, thereby stimulating the cGAS-STING pathway and promoting the infiltration and activation of NK cells in HCC, suggesting the role of CD47 blockade in HCC treatment (6). Similarly, results of a phase I trial of an anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody (Hu5F9-G) conducted by Branimir I Sikic et al. in patients with solid tumors and Hodgkin lymphoma showed that Hu5F9-G was well tolerated in patients with solid tumors and lymphoma when administered using priming and maintenance dose regimens (7).

As a class of signaling cytokines, chemokines participate in the important process of tumor immune response by interacting with receptors to regulate immune infiltration and activation of host immune response. By analyzing the chemokine landscape and immune infiltration in metastatic melanoma samples using protein markers and RNA transcript imaging based on multiplex mass spectrometry flow cytometry, Tobias Hoch et al. found that CXCL9 and CXCL10-enriched tumor microenvironment (TME) contributes to the generation of a "hot" tumor microenvironment, It has a predictive effect on OS of melanoma patients (8).

References

1. Sun C, Mezzadra R, Schumacher TN. Regulation and function of the PD-L1 checkpoint. *Immunity* (2018) 48(3):434–52. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.014

2. Savas P, Virassamy B, Ye C, Salim A, Mintoff CP, Caramia F, et al. Single-cell profiling of breast cancer T cells reveals a tissue-resident memory subset associated with improved prognosis. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(7):986–93. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0078-7

3. Li H, Liu Z, Liu L, Zhang H, Han C, Girard L, et al. AXL targeting restores PD-1 blockade sensitivity of STK11/LKB1 mutant NSCLC through expansion of TCF1(+) CD8 T cells. *Cell Rep Med* (2022) 3(3):100554. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2022.100554

4. Shen R, Postow MA, Adamow M, Arora A, Hannum M, Maher C, et al. LAG-3 expression on peripheral blood cells identifies patients with poorer outcomes after immune checkpoint blockade. *Sci Trans Med* (2021) 13:608. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abf5107

In summary, the project "Novel markers of tumor immune response" highlights the important role of the exploration of new markers of tumor immune response in the prediction of tumor ICI treatment response, precision immune therapy, and prognosis of immunotherapy. This research direction provides great prospects for tumor immunotherapy.

Author contributions

SH drafted the manuscript. JP revised the manuscript. All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

5. Jia K, Chen Y, Sun Y, Hu Y, Jiao L, Ma J, et al. Multiplex immunohistochemistry defines the tumor immune microenvironment and immunotherapeutic outcome in CLDN18.2positive gastric cancer. *BMC Med* (2022) 20(1):223. doi: 10.1186/s12916-022-02421-1

6. Wang S, Wu Q, Chen T, Su R, Pan C, Qian J, et al. Blocking CD47 promotes antitumour immunity through CD103(+) dendritic cell-NK cell axis in murine hepatocellular carcinoma model. *J Hepatol* (2022) 77(2):467–78. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.03.011

7. Sikic BI, Lakhani N, Patnaik A, Shah SA, Chandana SR, Rasco D, et al. First-in-Human, first-in-Class phase I trial of the anti-CD47 antibody Hu5F9-G4 in patients with advanced cancers. *J Clin Oncol* (2019) 37(12):946–53. doi: 10.1200/JCO.18.02018

8. Hoch T, Schulz D, Eling N, Gomez JM, Levesque MP, Bodenmiller B. Multiplexed imaging mass cytometry of the chemokine milieus in melanoma characterizes features of the response to immunotherapy. *Sci Immunol* (2022) 7(70):k1692. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abk1692



A Novel M6A-Related Genes Signature Can Impact the Immune Status and Predict the Prognosis and Drug Sensitivity of Lung Adenocarcinoma

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

Reviewed by:

Li-xin Tang, Chongqing Public Health Medical Center, China Xiao-ju Zhang, Henan Province People's Hospital, China

*Correspondence:

Zhiwei Chen chenzhiwei@fjmu.edu.cn Huangyuan Li Ihy@fjmu.edu.cn Xinhua Lin Ixhfz12345@163.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 May 2022 **Accepted:** 01 June 2022 **Published:** 04 July 2022

Citation:

Wang X, Zhao C, Huang D, Liu Z, Liu M, Lin F, Lu Y, Jia J, Lin L, Lin X, Li H and Chen Z (2022) A Novel M6A-Related Genes Signature Can Impact the Immune Status and Predict the Prognosis and Drug Sensitivity of Lung Adenocarcinoma. Front. Immunol. 13:923533. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.923533 Xuewen Wang^{1†}, Chengfei Zhao^{2†}, Dandan Huang^{3†}, Zhoujie Liu⁴, Mengmeng Liu⁴, Fei Lin³, Yingyu Lu³, Jing Jia³, Liqing Lin³, Xinhua Lin^{3,5*}, Huangyuan Li^{1,6*} and Zhiwei Chen^{1,7*}

¹ Department of Preventive Medicine, School of Public Health, Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China, ² Department of Pharmacy, School of Pharmacy and Medical Technology, Putian University, Putian, China, ³ Department of Pharmaceutical Analysis, School of Pharmacy, Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China, ⁴ Department of Pharmacy, First Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China, ⁵ Key Laboratory of Nanomedical Technology (Education Department of Fujian Province), School of Pharmacy, Nano Medical Technology Research Institute, Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China, ⁶ Fujian Provincial Key Laboratory of Environment Factors and Cancer, School of Public Health, Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China, ⁷ Fuzhou Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Fuzhou, China

Lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD) is a primary cause of cancer-related death around the world and has a poor outcome and high incidence. Treatment options are, however, restricted. One of the most critical factors in cancer and metastasis is the N6methyladenine (m6A) alteration on RNA. This modification could alter gene expression and even function at numerous levels, such as the stability, translocation and translation of RNA splicing. This study aimed to construct an m6A-related genes signature to accurately predict the prognosis of LUAD patients. From TCGA datasets, the LUAD patient data and m6A-related genes were retrieved. LUAD patients' mutational features and differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were investigated. An univariate and LASSO model with m6Arelated genes were constructed for the prediction of outcomes in LUAD. It was possible to develop a prognostic nomogram that could quantitatively predict LUAD patients' overall survival chances at 1, 3, and 5 years. Research into biological processes and cell pathways was carried out using GSEA. This study found six m6A-related DEGs in LUAD patients, and three of these DEGs(HNRNPC, IGFBP3 and IGF2BP1) were linked to the clinical outcomes of LUAD patients. We found that the overall survival rate for all LUAD patients with high-risk subgroup was considerably lower. According to ROC curves, the prognostic signature demonstrated a high degree of accuracy in predicting future outcomes. In addition, we created a novel nomogram achieved great accuracy with this one as well. The researchers also found that the novel signature might favorably modulate the immune response, and high-risk scores samples were more susceptible to numerous chemotherapeutic medicines. Overall, we developed a m6A-related gene

prognostic signature that effectively predicted outcomes of LUAD patients and gave an immunological perspective for creating customized therapeutics.

Keywords: immune microenvironment, prognosis, lung adenocarcinoma, m6A related genes, nomogram

INTRODUCTION

1.76 million people die from lung cancer each year, making it the most common cause of death in the world (1). Worse still, lung cancer's incidence and death are both increasing (2). Lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD), which accounts for almost half of all kinds of lung cancer based on histology and prognosis, is on the rise, particularly in women and young adults (3). Overall LUAD survival remains dismal in spite of considerable advances in treatment modalities including surgical treatment, targeted therapy and early cancer identification (4, 5). LUAD cannot be detected early by current cytology and imaging screenings, despite their high sensitivity as cancer screening methods (6). Therefore, identifying reliable biomarkers for the prediction of the outcomes of LUAD patients is an absolute necessity.

More than 160 types of post-transcriptional chemical changes have been discovered in diverse RNAs, according to the 2017 MODOMICS report (7). N6-methyladenosine (m6A), firstly discovered in the 1970s, is the most prevalent and abundant posttranscriptional alteration found in eukaryotic mRNA, according to this research (8). Every component of the RNA metabolism is thought to be affected by M6A methylation (9, 10). Three types of enzymes control M6A modifications: "writers" (methyltransferases such as METTL3/ 14/16, RBM15/15B, KIAA1429 and WTAP), "readers" (YTH domain containing RNA binding proteins and heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins such as HNRNPA2B1, HNRNPC, YTHDC1 and YTHDF1/2/3) and "erasers". (demethylases, including FTO and ALKBH5) (11-13). M6A has been linked to a wide range of malignancies, and it was believed to be a key player in tumor development and progression (14-16). M6Arelated genes' potential as new biomarkers has also piqued the interest of researchers.

In this study, we aimed to construct an m6A-related genes signature to accurately predict the prognosis of LUAD patients. Our group used bioinformatics and statistics to create a m6Arelated gene prognostic signature based on data from TCGA database to reliably predict the outcomes of LUAD patients. An m6A-associated gene-based prognostic signature was discovered to have a high level of predictive power. Furthermore, a nomogram was developed to objectively predict the overall survival (OS) of LUAD patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chip Data

RNA-seq mRNA expression profiles and clinical information of TCGA-LUAD cohorts were downloaded from TCGA platform. Pairs of normal samples were initially extracted from TCGA-

LUAD cohorts using their barcodes. All datasets included consisted of 535 LUAD samples and 59 adjacent noncancerous samples. Then, FPKM values were converted into transcripts per million (TPM) values (TPM). Analysis of numerous samples from the same patients yielded an average expression value. **Supplementary Table 1** displays the clinical data of all LUAD patients. From the literature and from the m6Avar database, M6A-related genes that were linked to LUAD were collected (http://m6avar.renlab.org/) (**Supplementary Table 2**).

Cell Lines and Cell Transfection

All cell lines (16-HBE, NCI-H1299, NCI-H1703, NCI-H2126, NCI-H460, SPC-A1 and A549) were obtained from the Chinese Academy of Sciences (Shanghai, China). Cells were grown in RPMI 1640 nutrient solution (Gibco, USA). There was 10% FBS in all the media. All cell lines were grown in 5% CO_2 at 37°C for the duration of the study.

ComiFECT transfection reagent was used for the cell transfection (Comiike, Nantong, Jiangsu, China). Silent IGF2BP1-targeting siRNAs (si-NC) and negative controls were bought from Genomeditech Co., Inc.

RT-PCR

TRIzol[®] reagent (Invitrogen, Shanghai, China) was applied to extract the total RNA from LUAD cells, and 300 ng extracted RNAs were reverse transcribed into cDNA by the use of ReverTra Ace qPCR RT Kit (Toyobo, China). THUNDERBIRD SYBR[®] qPCR Mix (Toyobo, Japan) was used for quantitative PCR (Roche, Shanghai, China). The GAPDH was applied as an endogenous control mRNA for normalizing the expressions of targeting mRNAs. Each sample was examined three times. Data from curves was then gathered to confirm the specificity of the PCR. The relative expression fold change of miRNAs was calculated by the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} methods. Primer sequences were as follows: IGF2BP1, 5'-GCGGCCAGTTCTTGGTCAA-3' and 5'- TTGGGCACCGAATGTTCAATC-3'; GAPDH, 5'-ACAACTTTGGTATCGTGGAAGG -3' and 5'- GCCATCACG CCACAGTTTC -3'.

Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) Assay

Cell viabilities were examined by the use of the CCK-8 kit (FineTest, Wuhan Fine Biotech Co., Ltd, Wuhan, Hubei, China). After the transfections, 100 μ L cells (5×10³ cells per well) were seeded in 96-well plates. At 0, 24, 48, and 72 hours, 10 μ L of CCK-8 solution was added to each well. A microplate reader was applied to examine the absorbance at 450 nm after 1 hour of incubation.

Transwell Assay

NCI-H460 and NCI-H1299 cells transfected with si-IGF2BP1 and its corresponding control cells were seeded onto pre-treated

Matrigel. 500 μ L and 100 μ l of culture medium were added into the upper and lower chambers, respectively. 24 h later, the cells were stained with 0.1% crystal violet. Subsequently, a microscope was applied to observe cell staining.

Extraction of M6A-Related Gene Matrix and Identification of Differentially Expressed Genes (DEGs)

The expressing matrix of TCGA genes was selected to extract M6A-related genes expression patterns. The DEGs were discovered through the use of the R program 'limma', with the log2 fold-change (log2 FC) criterion of more than 1.5 and the false discovery rate (FDR) less than 0.05.

Selection of Potential Survival-Associated Genes

With the help of the survival packages, we ran a univariate cox analysis on all of the DEGs. In accordance with this classification, DEGs with p-values less than 0.05 were designated prognosticassociated genes and identified as candidate genes for further investigation as a result of the classification process.

Developments of a Prognostic Model

We employed LASSO to create a better risk score model in order to better forecast m6A genes and LUAD. In the next step, we used R's survival and glmnet packages to perform LASSO assays on TCGA's candidate genes. Finally, the genes and their coefficients were figured out. On the basis of the established prognostic model, LUAD patients were categorized into highrisk (median) and low-risk (median) groups. The OS differences were compared using Kaplan-Meier assays and the log-rank tests. The "survivalROC" packages were used to produce the time-dependent ROC curve, which was then used to test the predicted accuracy of the prognostic risk score mode of operation (17).

Cluster Analysis and Principal Component Analysis

The cluster analysis was used to construct a principal component analysis (PCA). In addition, clinical data were retrieved from LUAD specimens for further analysis. In the following step, the R software was used to conduct a correlation analysis between clinical features and clustering results. Once everything was finished up, the heatmap was constructed using the R computer language's ggplots package.

GSVA

R package "GSVA" was used to run GSVA on the gene profile in order to compare the differences in biological processes between low- and high-risk groupings of the risk score (18). It was possible to utilize the GSVA approach, which is nonparametric and unsupervised, to evaluate pathway changes or biological processes when an expression matrix sample was provided as input. "c2.cp.kegg v7.1 symbols" gene sets were utilized as the reference gene sets in this study.

Developments of a Novel Nomogram

The "rms" package in R was used to create a nomogram that included age, gender, pathological stage, and a predictive risk score model based on the TCGA cohort. The nomogram's accuracy was predicted. To test whether the model could be utilized as an independent indicator for predicting LUAD in LUAD, multivariate Cox regression was performed. Following the online ROC curves, the nomogram's AUC was determined to indicate the nomogram's prognostic value.

Tumor-Infiltrating Immune Cells (TICs) Profile

On 535 tumor and non-tumor samples, the CIBERSORT method was used to compute the relative amounts of 22 TICs in each LUAD sample; samples with P 0.05 were used for further investigation (19).

Evaluation of Drug Sensitivity

The 50% inhibitory concentration was known as the IC50. An R program called "pRRophetic" was used to determine the IC50 of 138 medications by using its dependencies such as "car," "ridge preprocessCore," "genefilter, and sva." (20). The "ggplot2" R package was used to generate the boxplot.

Functional Enrichment Analysis

ClusterProfiler, a R program, was used to perform pathway enrichment analyses for patients in the high- and low-risk groups using Gene Ontology (GO) and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) (21). In terms of statistical significance, GO keywords and KEGG pathways with P values less than 0.05 were found.

Statistical Analysis

R (version 3.6.1; R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) software was used to conduct statistical analysis. For the data matrix and all of the data processing, Perl was utilized. The "limma" R package was used to identify m6A-related genes that differed in expression. R packages "survival" and "survminer" were used to perform Cox regression and survival analysis. Using Kaplan-Meier analysis, we looked at the variations in survival rates between the two risk categories. LUAD's OS was predicted using an independent set of indicators found through a Cox regression study. The prognostic risk score mode and nomogram were tested for their predictive power using ROC curves. P 0.05 with a two-tailed test was deemed significant.

RESULTS

Identification of the m6A-Related DEGs in LUAD

Firstly, we downloaded the names of m6A-related genes, and then performed limma using TCGA datasets. The results showed that six m6A-related DEGs were identified between LUAD specimens and non-tumor specimens (**Figures 1A, B**). In addition, all seven genes were distinctly increased in LUAD specimens compared with non-tumor specimens, including IGFBP2, IGFBP3, IGF2BP1, YTHDF1, HNRNPC and LRPPRC (**Figure 1C**). Our findings suggested that the seven genes may be functional regulator in progression of LUAD.

Construction and Evaluation of an m6A-Related Genes Prognostic Signature

In TCGA datasets, we performed univariate assays using the six m6A-related DEGs to develop a prognostic signature for LUAD patients. DEG expression was found to be substantially linked with LUAD patient outcome (**Figure 2**). An overview of three m6A-related DEGs associated with poor prognosis was provided. The somatic mutation profile m6A-related gene alterations were found in 21 out of 561 LUAD samples, or a frequency of 3.74 percent, as shown in **Figure 3A**. For the sake of avoiding overfitting, LASSO assays were applied to exclude these strongly linked predictive DEGs, and three m6A-related genes were discovered. (**Figures 3B, C**). The risk score of each sample

was calculated by the use of the following: risk score = $(0.0310199095911482) \times HNRNPC+(0.00708641474163214) \times IGFBP3 + (0.102677930685888) \times IGF2BP1$. In order to separate LUAD samples completely, the risk score model was employed (low or high risk) (**Figures 3D, E**).

The Prognostic Value of Novel Risk Model in LUAD Patients

Prognostic risk-related signatures for LUAD patients were classified to low- and high-risk groups based on the median value of their risk scores in TCGA datasets (**Figures 4A, B**). Patients in the high-risk group had a considerably lower overall survival rate than those in the low-risk group, according to survival tests (**Figure 4C**). The risk score and stage of LUAD patients were found to be strongly linked with their OS in a univariate study (**Figure 4D**). More interestingly, both risk score and clinical stage were independent predictors of OS in multivariate assays, whereas risk score and stage were only linked with OS in the univariate study (**Figure 4E**). The overall predictive power of the risk model for overall survival in TCGA datasets was tested using a time-dependent ROC. AUC findings verified the







diagnostic usefulness of the tests and we observed that ROC assays may predict a highest accuracy at 1 year (**Figures 4F, G**). In addition, we explored the association between risk score and clinical factors in LUAD patients. We did not observe a distinct difference between risk score and gender and age (**Figures 5A, B**). However, we found that LUAD patients with advanced stages showed a higher value of risk score (**Figure 5C**). Our results revealed that the risk model could be used as a novel prognostic biomarker for LUAD patients.

A Nomogram Predicting Survivals

We developed a nomogram for predicting OS in LUAD samples using a predictive risk score model that took into account factors such as gender, age, and clinical stage (**Figure 6A**). The





FIGURE 4 | ROC analysis, risk score analysis, and survival analysis for LUAD's three-gene signature are discussed. (A) Patients' long-term survival rates in low- and high-risk groups (B) Distributions of risk scores. (C) Based on the entire TCGA cohort, the Kaplan-Meier curves of OS between low-risk and high-risk groups (D, E) Univariate and multivariate assays for the signature established by TCGA datasets. (F) ROC assays for different clinical factors and risk score. (G) Test results showed that the signature performed as expected in TCGA datasets.

nomogram's ability to reliably predict the OS of LUAD patients was demonstrated by the calibration curves at one year, three years, and five years, as shown in **Figure 6B**. Multiple Cox regression analyses showed that the prognostic risk score model

and the ages as well as the clinical-pathological stages were independent predictors of outcome (**Figures 6C, D**). The nomogram (AUC = 0.727) showed a superior predictive value than a single indicator (**Figure 6E**).





Assays of the Immune Microenvironment

Tumor immune cell infiltration is the movement of immune cells into tumor tissue from the circulation (22). Clinical outcomes are strongly linked to the presence of immune cells in tumors, which makes them ideal targets for new cancer treatments (23, 24). Further evidence that the immune microenvironment correlates with risk score was obtained by examining the percentage of tumor-infiltrating immune subsets using the CIBERSORT algorithm and constructing 21 different immune cell profiles in LUAD samples (Figures 7A, B). Heat map and Histogram showed the expressing pattern of tumor-infiltrating immune cells in LUAD samples and normal lung samples (Figures 7C, **D**). Patients in the high-risk group had higher ratios of T cells CD8, T cells CD4 memory resting, Monocytes, Macrophages M0 and Macrophages M1 and than those in the low-risk group. However, patients in the low-risk group had higher ratios of T cells CD4 memory activated, Macrophages M2, Dendritic cells resting, Dendritic cells activated and Mast cells resting (Figure 8A). Moreover, HLA, Type_II_IFN_Reponse and MHC_class_I were also activated in the low-risk group (Figure 8B).

Response to Chemotherapy Response

The correlation between chemoresistance and risk score was investigated since risk score was related to a bad outcome. As shown in **Figure 9** and **Supplementary Table 1**, we discovered that certain chemotherapy medicines had a greater sensitivity to high-risk score samples.

Gene Set Variation Analysis (GSVA)

It was done by using "c2.cp.kegg.v7.2" gene sets downloaded from the Molecular Signatures Database (MSigDB) to study the biological behavior of two groups. The high-risk score was found to have a higher concentration of tumor-related pathways (**Figure 10**).

Functional Correlation Analysis

We then compared the expressing patterns of the low and highrisk groups. To understand the function of dysregulated genes, DO pathway enrichment studies were performed. The results indicated that diseases enriched by the dysregulated genes were mainly associated with lung disease, non-small cell lung carcinoma, cell type benign neoplasm, urinary system cancer and obstructive lung disease (**Figure 11A** and **Supplementary Table 3**). GO assays revealed that the dysregulated genes were mainly enriched in humoral immune response, defense response to bacterium, hormone metabolic process, apical part of cell, apical plasma membrane, secretory granule lumen, receptor ligand activity and enzyme inhibitor activity (**Figure 11B** and **Supplementary Table 4**). KEGG assays indicated that the dysregulated genes were mainly enriched in Alcoholism (**Figure 11C**).

The Oncogenic Roles of IGF2BP1 in LUAD Growth

To study the function of IGF2BP1 in LUAD, we firstly performed RT-PCR to examine its expression in LUAD cell lines. As shown in **Figure 12A**, we found that IGF2BP1 expression was distinctly increased in LUAD cells, including



NCI-H1299, NCI-H1703, NCI-H2126, NCI-H460, SPC-A1 and A549, compared with 16-HBE. Moreover, we decreased IGF2BP1 expression in NCI-H460 and NCI-H1299 cells using siRNA, and RT-PCR confirmed the transfection efficiency (**Figure 12B**). In addition, CCK-8 assays confirmed

that silence of IGF2BP1 distinctly inhibited the proliferation of NCI-H460 and NCI-H1299 cells (**Figures 12C, D**). Finally, we also observed that knockdown of IGF2BP1 distinctly inhibited the migration of NCI-H460 and NCI-H1299 cells (**Figure 12E**).







DISCUSSION

Prognostic markers and therapeutic targets have been regularly discovered thanks to advances in high-throughput sequencing technologies over the past few decades (25, 26). As a result, we now know more about cancer. Reliable tumor immunotherapy response and prognostic biomarkers based on the intrinsic milieu of tumorgenesis are still extremely rare in LUAD (27, 28). Research into the mechanisms of action of these compounds is essential for their potential medicinal application. In eukaryotic cells, m6A is by far the most common RNA modification found within the RNA itself (10). RNA methylation in the m6A region appears to have an important role in cancer development, according to newly discovered data (29, 30).

Many M6A-related genes have recently been linked to the progression of various cancers. For instance, colorectal cancer metastatic tissues with increased METTL3 expression were related with a worse prognosis. Through a m6A-IGF2BP2-dependent pathway in colorectal cancer cells, METTL3 knockdown significantly decreased *in vitro* cell self-renewal, frequency of the stem cell population, and migration, as well as colorectal carcinoma tumorigenesis and metastasis (31). Chen et al. reported that hepatocellular carcinoma patients with high WTAP expression displayed a worse outcome, and WTAP expression could be an independent predictor of survival. WTAP increased hepatocellular carcinoma cell proliferation and tumor growth *in vitro* and *in vivo via* the m6A-HuR-dependent epigenetic silencing of ETS1 *in vitro* and *in vivo* (32). Importantly, Wang and his group reported that increasing



the cisplatin response by overexpressing IGFBP3 promoted apoptosis and confirmed that suppression is caused in part by inhibiting IGF1 signaling in vitro (33). These findings indicated the critical roles of M6A-related genes in the progression of various cancers. In this study, we analyzed TCGA datasets and identified six dysregulated M6A-related genes in LUAD. The results of Univariate indicated that only three M6A-related genes were survival-related genes, including HNRNPC, IGFBP3 and IGF2BP1. HNRNPC, IGFBP3, and IGF2BP1 were created as a three-gene prognostic signature that performed well in predicting the survivals of patients. With the addition of a few selected clinical and pathological parameters, the predictive power of this prognostic risk score model was significantly enhanced. Then, we chose IGF2BP1 to study its potential function. The results indicated that diseases enriched by the genes involved in the expression of GF2BP1 were mainly associated with lung disease, non-small cell lung carcinoma, cell type benign neoplasm, urinary system cancer and obstructive lung disease, suggesting that GF2BP1 may play an important role in the progression of LUAD. Then, functional assays revealed that IGF2BP1 knockdown suppressed the proliferation and invasion of LUAD cells, which may explain the reason that IGF2BP1 was associated with poor prognosis of LUAD patients.

To better understand carcinogenesis and cancer progression, researchers are increasingly focused on the tumor environment (TME), which has risen to prominence as a research hotspot in recent years (34, 35). In addition, emerging data suggests that tumor-infiltrating immune cells (TICs) and stromal components are strongly linked to the development of LUAD (36, 37). Carcinogenesis and development of cancer were greatly influenced by the tumor microenvironment, particularly the immunological component. It has been found that shifting the TME from a tumor-friendly to a tumor-suppressive state can benefit cancer treatment (38, 39). As a result, identifying the prospective therapeutic targets that contribute to the aforementioned process is an absolute necessity. In this study, we observed that high-risk score patients were enriched with inhibitory immunity cells. HLA and MHC class I activation, as well as inflammatory-promoting activity, were seen in patients with a high-risk score, indicating that individuals with a highrisk score can benefit from immunotherapy. On the other hand, to better understand the relevance of the predictive risk score model in LUAD, the variations in patients' responses to pharmacological therapy between low- and high-risk groups were studied. According to the preceding definitions, patients with high-risk scores showed a considerable stroma activation status, indicating chemoresistance.



Several issues remained in the current study. First, the number of patients was quite small. Second, the prognostic model has to be tested on a large number of different datasets in order to ensure its robustness. Third, some possible risk variables, including radiation and pathological characteristics, were not included in our nomogram. Finally, these prognostic M6A-related genes in LUAD need additional investigation to understand their function and processes.

CONCLUSION

A predictive signature based on three M6A-related genes was created to predict the overall survival of LUAD patients. Our

developed signature of three M6A-related genes gives higher clinical utility for predicting the prognosis of LUAD patients compared to the usual TNM staging approach. Our findings will lead to the developments of individualized cancer chemotherapy and immunotherapy in the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://portal.gdc. cancer.gov/, TCGA-LUAD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors made a significant contribution to the work reported, whether that is in the conception, study design, execution, acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation, or in all these areas; took part in drafting, revising or critically reviewing the article; gave final approval of the version to be published; have agreed on the journal to which the article has been submitted; and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial supports of the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81973083, 22074017 and 81703477), Natural Science Foundation of Fujian province (21J02034).

REFERENCES

- de Sousa VML, Carvalho L. Heterogeneity in Lung Cancer. Pathobiol J Immunopathol Mol Cell Biol (2018) 85:96-107. doi: 10.1159/ 000487440
- Alexander M, Kim SY, Cheng H. Update 2020: Management of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Lung (2020) 198:897–907. doi: 10.1007/s00408-020-00407-5
- Bade BC, Dela Cruz CS. Lung Cancer 2020: Epidemiology, Etiology, and Prevention. *Clinics Chest Med* (2020) 41:1–24. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccm.2019.10.001
- Wadowska K, Bil-Lula I, Trembecki Ł, Śliwińska-Mossoń M. Genetic Markers in Lung Cancer Diagnosis: A Review. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21134569
- Toumazis I, Bastani M, Han SS, Plevritis SK. Risk-Based Lung Cancer Screening: A Systematic Review. Lung Cancer (Amsterdam Netherlands) (2020) 147:154–86. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2020.07.007
- Zhou L, Zhang M, Li R, Xue J, Lu Y. Pseudoprogression and Hyperprogression in Lung Cancer: A Comprehensive Review of Literature. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2020) 146:3269–79. doi: 10.1007/s00432-020-03360-1
- Boccaletto P, Machnicka MA, Purta E, Piatkowski P, Baginski B, Wirecki TK, et al. MODOMICS: A Database of RNA Modification Pathways. 2017 Update. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2018) 46:D303–d307. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1030
- Sun T, Wu R, Ming L. The Role of M6a RNA Methylation in Cancer. Biomed Pharmacother Biomed Pharmacother (2019) 112:108613. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopha.2019.108613
- Zhang C, Fu J, Zhou Y. A Review in Research Progress Concerning M6a Methylation and Immunoregulation. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:922. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00922
- Jiang X, Liu B, Nie Z, Duan L, Xiong Q, Jin Z, et al. The Role of M6a Modification in the Biological Functions and Diseases. *Signal Transd Targeted Ther* (2021) 6:74. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00450-x
- Ma S, Chen C, Ji X, Liu J, Zhou Q, Wang G, et al. The Interplay Between M6a RNA Methylation and Noncoding RNA in Cancer. J Hematol Oncol (2019) 12:121. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0805-7
- Ma Z, Ji J. N6-Methyladenosine (M6a) RNA Modification in Cancer Stem Cells. Stem Cells (Dayton Ohio) (2020). doi: 10.1002/stem.3279
- Zhu W, Wang JZ, Xu Z, Cao M, Hu Q, Pan C, et al. Detection of N6 –methyladenosine Modification Residues (Review). *Int J Mol Med* (2019) 43:2267–78. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2019.4169.
- Brocard M, Ruggieri A, Locker N. M6a RNA Methylation, a New Hallmark in Virus-Host Interactions. J Gen Virol (2017) 98:2207–14. doi: 10.1099/ jgv.0.000910
- Zaccara S, Ries RJ, Jaffrey SR. Reading, Writing and Erasing mRNA Methylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2019) 20:608–24. doi: 10.1038/s41580-019-0168-5

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022.923533/ full#supplementary-material

 $\label{eq:score} \begin{array}{c} \text{Supplementary Figure 1} & \text{The association between risk score and} \\ \text{chemosensitivity.} \end{array}$

 $\label{eq:supplementary Table 1 | The clinical data of all LUAD patients from TCGA datasets.$

Supplementary Table 2 | M6A-related genes.

Supplementary Table 3 | DO pathway enrichment.

Supplementary Table 4 | GO pathway enrichment.

- Zhou Z, Lv J, Yu H, Han J, Yang X, Feng D, et al. Mechanism of RNA Modification N6-Methyladenosine in Human Cancer. *Mol Cancer* (2020) 19:104. doi: 10.1186/s12943-020-01216-3
- Heagerty PJ, Zheng Y. Survival Model Predictive Accuracy and ROC Curves. Biometrics (2005) 61:92–105. doi: 10.1111/j.0006-341X.2005.030814.x
- Hänzelmann S, Castelo R, Guinney J. GSVA: Gene Set Variation Analysis for Microarray and RNA-Seq Data. BMC Bioinf (2013) 14:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-7
- Newman AM, Liu CL, Green MR, Gentles AJ, Feng W, Xu Y, et al. Robust Enumeration of Cell Subsets From Tissue Expression Profiles. *Nat Methods* (2015) 12:453–7. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3337
- Geeleher P, Cox N, Huang RS. Prrophetic: An R Package for Prediction of Clinical Chemotherapeutic Response From Tumor Gene Expression Levels. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e107468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107468
- Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. Clusterprofiler: An R Package for Comparing Biological Themes Among Gene Clusters. *Omics J Integr Biol* (2012) 16:284–7. doi: 10.1089/omi.2011.0118
- Gajewski TF, Schreiber H, Fu YX. Innate and Adaptive Immune Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:1014–22. doi: 10.1038/ ni.2703
- O'Donnell JS, Madore J, Li XY, Smyth MJ. Tumor Intrinsic and Extrinsic Immune Functions of CD155. Semin Cancer Biol (2020) 65:189–96. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.11.013
- Tanaka A, Sakaguchi S. Targeting Treg Cells in Cancer Immunotherapy. Eur J Immunol (2019) 49:1140–6. doi: 10.1002/eji.201847659
- Zou J, Wang E. Cancer Biomarker Discovery for Precision Medicine: New Progress. Curr Med Chem (2019) 26:7655–71. doi: 10.2174/ 0929867325666180718164712
- Taniguchi N, Kizuka Y. Glycans and Cancer: Role of N-Glycans in Cancer Biomarker, Progression and Metastasis, and Therapeutics. *Adv Cancer Res* (2015) 126:11–51. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2014.11.001
- Bader JE, Voss K, Rathmell JC. Targeting Metabolism to Improve the Tumor Microenvironment for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Mol Cell* (2020) 78:1019–33. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2020.05.034
- Frankel T, Lanfranca MP, Zou W. The Role of Tumor Microenvironment in Cancer Immunotherapy. Adv Exp Med Biol (2017) 1036:51–64. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-319-67577-0_4
- Liu T, Wei Q, Jin J, Luo Q, Liu Y, Yang Y, et al. The M6a Reader YTHDF1 Promotes Ovarian Cancer Progression via Augmenting EIF3C Translation. Nucleic Acids Res (2020) 48:3816–31. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkaa048
- Xu R, Pang G, Zhao Q, Yang L, Chen S, Jiang L, et al. The Momentous Role of N6-Methyladenosine in Lung Cancer. J Cell Physiol (2021) 236:3244–56. doi: 10.1002/jcp.30136
- Li T, Hu PS, Zuo Z, Lin JF, Li X, Wu QN, et al. METTL3 Facilitates Tumor Progression via an M(6)A-IGF2BP2-Dependent Mechanism in Colorectal Carcinoma. Mol Cancer (2019) 18:112. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1038-7

- Chen Y, Peng C, Chen J, et al. WTAP Facilitates Progression of Hepatocellular Carcinoma via M6a-HuR-Dependent Epigenetic Silencing of ETS1. Mol Cancer (2019) 18:127. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1053-8
- Wang YA, Sun Y, Palmer J, Solomides C, Huang LC, Shyr Y, et al. IGFBP3 Modulates Lung Tumorigenesis and Cell Growth Through IGF1 Signaling. *Mol Cancer Res MCR* (2017) 15:896–904. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0390
- Wong-Rolle A, Wei HK, Zhao C, Jin C. Unexpected Guests in the Tumor Microenvironment: Microbiome in Cancer. Protein Cell (2021) 12:426–35. doi: 10.1007/s13238-020-00813-8
- McGuinn LA, Ghazarian AA, Ellison GL, Harvey CE, Kaefer CM, Reid BC, et al. Cancer and Environment: Definitions and Misconceptions. *Environ Res* (2012) 112:230–4. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2011.10.009
- Wang SS, Liu W, Ly D, Xu H, Qu L, Zhang , et al. Tumor-Infiltrating B Cells: Their Role and Application in Anti-Tumor Immunity in Lung Cancer. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2019) 16:6–18. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0027-x
- Guo X, Zhang Y, Zheng L, Zheng C, Song J, Zhang Q, et al. Global Characterization of T Cells in non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer by Single-Cell Sequencing. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:978–85. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0045-3
- Halfdanarson TR, Hogan WJ, Madsen BE. Emergencies in Hematology and Oncology. *Mayo Clin Proc* (2017) 92:609–41. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp. 2017.02.008

 Zhu Y, Ghosh P, Charnay P, Burns DK, Parada LF, et al. Neurofibromas in NF1: Schwann Cell Origin and Role of Tumor Environment. *Sci (New York NY)* (2002) 296:920–2. doi: 10.1126/science.1068452

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wang, Zhao, Huang, Liu, Liu, Lin, Lu, Jia, Lin, Lin, Li and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Ang2-Targeted Combination Therapy for Cancer Treatment

Na Liu[†], Mengfang Liu[†], Shengqiao Fu, Jinglei Wang[†], Haowen Tang[†], Adamu Danbala Isah, Deyu Chen^{*} and Xu Wang^{*}

Institute of Oncology, Affiliated Hospital of Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jian Song, University Hospital Münster, Germany

Reviewed by:

Fang-Yuan Dong, Fudan University, China Xin Yu Tian, Nanjing Drum Tower Hospital, China

*Correspondence:

Xu wang wangxu@ujs.edu.cn Deyu Chen cdeyu@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 21 May 2022 Accepted: 13 June 2022 Published: 08 July 2022

Citation:

Liu N, Liu M, Fu Wang J, Tang H, Isah AD, Chen D and Wang X (2022) Ang2-Targeted Combination Therapy for Cancer Treatment. Front. Immunol. 13:949553. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.949553 Angiopoietin-2 (Ang2), a member of the angiopoietin family, is widely involved in the process of vascular physiology, bone physiology, adipose tissue physiology and the occurrence and development of inflammation, cardiac hypertrophy, rheumatoid, tumor and other diseases under pathological conditions. Proliferation and metastasis of cancer largely depend on angiogenesis. Therefore, anti-angiogenesis has become the target of tumor therapy. Due to the Ang2 plays a key role in promoting angiogenesis and stability in vascular physiology, the imbalance of its expression is an important condition for the occurrence and development of cancer. It has been proved that blocking Ang2 can inhibit the growth, invasion and metastasis of cancer cells. In recent years, research has been constantly supplemented. We focus on the mechanisms that regulate the expression of Ang2 mRNA and protein levels in different cancers, contributing to a better understanding of how Ang2 exerts different effects in different cancers and stages, as well as facilitating more specific targeting of relevant molecules in cancer therapy. At the same time, the importance of Ang2 in cancer growth, metastasis, prognosis and combination therapy is pointed out. And finally, we will discuss the current investigations and future challenges of combining Ang2 inhibition with chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and radiotherapy to increase its efficacy in cancer patients. This review provides a theoretical reference for the development of new targets and effective combination therapy strategies for cancer treatment in the future.

Keywords: Ang2, Targeting therapy, Antiangiogenic therapy, Combination therapy, Cancer development

Abbreviations: Ang2, Angiopoietin-2; miRNA, microRNA; miRs, MicroRNAs; ceRNA, Competing endogenous RNA; EMT, Epithelial-mesenchymal transition; DARPP-32, Dopamine and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein Mr 32000; STAT3, Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; MDSC, Myeloid-derived suppressor cells; ADAM9, A disintegrin and metalloproteinase 9; VEGFA, Vascular endothelial growth factor A; PLAT, Plasminogen activator; BMAL1, Brain and muscle Arnt like 1; ISL2, Insulin Gene Enhancer Protein; CXCR4, C-x-c motif chemokine receptor 4; G-CSF, Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor; ER, Estrogen; ER+, Estrogen receptor-positive; CCM, Cerebral cavernous malformation; Ecs, Endothelial cells; KS, Kaposi's sarcoma; KSHV, Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus; CTGF, Connective tissue growth factor; TS, α-Tocopheryl succinate; MM, Multiple myeloma; VEGF, Vascular endothelial growth factor; LDIR, Low-dose ionizing radiation; HNSCC, Head and neck squamous cell carcinomas; CTLA-4, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein -4.

22

INTRODUCTION

Tumor cells have the characteristics of infinite proliferation, which will cause most tumor cells to be in hypoxia and nutrient-deficient microenvironment. At this time, the tumor will produce a large number of new blood vessels to provide nutrients and oxygen through the use of blood flow (Figure 1) (1-4). It can be seen that the process of new blood vessel formation is necessary for continued tumor growth and progression. antiangiogenic drugs such as bevacizumab and sorafenib are widely used in clinical practice (5, 6). By inhibiting the formation of cancer blood vessels, the blood supply of cancer cells is insufficient, which cannot meet the needs of growth and metastasis, thereby inhibiting the progression of cancer (5, 6). However, the efficacy of these drugs is limited, and their side effects include bleeding, thrombosis, etc. and drug resistance frequently occurs, therefore the discovery of new antiangiogenic targets has become an urgent problem to be solved (7-10). Angiogenesis is coordinated by pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors, and dysregulation can lead to pathological angiogenesis (8). Ang2 is the ligand of tyrosine-protein kinase receptor Tie-2, which is highly expressed in lung cancer, gastric cancer, colorectal cancer, glioma and other cancers, and also leads to the occurrence and development of cancer by promoting the abnormalization of blood vessels (Figure 1) (11-15). Studies have shown that Ang2 is not only a necessary condition for the angiogenesis of cancer cells, but also an indicator of its metastasis, invasion and poor prognosis (12, 15-18). In recent



FIGURE 1 | Schematic diagram of the effect of Ang2 dysregulation on cancer cells: The increase of Ang2 in cancer leads to vascular instability, increases leakiness of the vessels, limits immune cell trafficking, and finally promotes the proliferation, invasion and metastasis of cancer.

years, Ang2-related inhibitors have been continuously developed (**Table 1**), with the potential for anti-angiogenic and anti-tumor activities (25–29). At present, the combination of anti-angiogenesis therapy with chemotherapy, targeted therapy or immunotherapy has been approved for clinical application and has greatly improved the survival rates of cancer patients (5, 30, 31). Therefore, the prospect of Ang2-targeted combination therapy for cancer treatment is bright. This review mainly discusses the role of Ang2 in various cancers and points out possible potential combination treatment options.

DYSREGULATED ANG2 AND ITS ROLE IN CANCERS

Gastric Cancer

The symptoms of gastric cancer in the early stage are not obvious, and most patients are already in the middle and late stages when they first visit the doctor, with a very poor prognosis and high mortality (32–34). Further study on the molecular mechanism of growth, invasion and metastasis of gastric cancer provides a theoretical basis for effective treatment in the future. In recent years, antiangiogenic therapy for gastric cancer has been continuously developed, and many targeted angiogenesis inhibitors are in clinical trials (32, 34, 35).

The occurrence and development of gastric cancer are closely related to the regulation of angiogenesis by microRNA (miRNA) (36, 37). MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are important cancer regulators that function as oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes (37). Studies have shown that miRNAs are involved in the regulation of angiogenesis by regulating the expression of Ang2, and are targets of many cancer treatments (38).

In human umbilical vein endothelial cells and mouse lymph node endothelial cells, miRNA-542-3p inhibits the translation of Ang2 mRNA (37). Researchers added miR-542-3p to a tumorbearing mice to reduce angiogenesis, tumor growth and metastasis, suggesting that miR-542-3p inhibits tumor progression by weakening the angiogenic activity of Ang2 (37). MiR-218, as a tumor suppressor, inhibits the proliferation and invasion of gastric cancer cells by reducing Ang2 in gastric cancer (39). It is reported that miR-145-5p is low expressed in gastric cancer cells, but Ang2 is highly expressed (40). Further studies have proved that Ang2 is the target of miR-145-5p (40). When miR-145-5p was overexpressed in gastric cancer cells, the expression of Ang2 was significantly down-regulated and inhibiting NOD-LIKE-RECEPTOR signaling pathway which therefore inhibits the proliferation, invasion and metastasis of cancer cells (40). In addition, studies have shown that LINC00184 (the competing endogenous RNA (ceRNA)) directly binds to miR-145 and inhibits its expression, to promote the expression of Ang2 and induce the epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) characteristics of gastric cancer cells, and improve the carcinogenesis mediated by Ang2 (41). Dopamine and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein Mr-32000 (DARPP-32) can induce the expression of Ang2 in gastric cancer cells by regulating signal transducer and activator of

Treatment method/drugs	The main function	Cancer type	Stage	References
Nesvacumab (REGN910)	Human anti-ang2monoclonal antibody	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I first in human study	(19)
AMG 780	Angiopoletin 1 and -2 inhibitor	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I first in human study	(20)
AMG 386	Selective angiogenin inhibitors	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I first in human study	(21)
TAvi6	Target VEGF-A and Angiopoietin-2		Preclinical trial	(22)
CVX-241	Target VEGF-A and Angiopoietin-2	Breast cancer	Preclinical trial	(23)
Ang-2-VEGF-A CrossMab (RG7221, vanucizumab)	Target VEGF-A and Angiopoietin-2	Advanced solid tumors	Phase 2	(24)
MEDI3617	A human immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) kappa monoclonal antibody directed against human angiopoietin-2	Advanced melanoma	Phase I	(25)

TABLE 1 | Targeted inhibition of ang2 in cancer therapy.

transcription 3 (STAT3), promoting angiogenesis and mediating the occurrence and development of gastric cancer (42). Therefore, DARPP-32-STAT3 blocking may prevent the occurrence and development of gastric cancer (42).

From the above discussion, it can be seen that the expression of Ang2 in gastric cancer is regulated not only by miRNA, but also by ceRNA and DARPP-32. In general, all of these have the potential to mediate the proliferation, metastasis and invasion of gastric cancer cells by affecting their blood supply, indicating the feasibility of targeting Ang2 in the treatment of gastric cancer.

Lung Cancer

Lung cancer, as a disease with a high incidence in the world, has a very complex pathogenesis and mechanism and lacks clear diagnostic indicators and means at the early stage (43-45). Most patients are already at stage III or IV when diagnosed, and the survival rate is very low (46). Therefore, new biomarkers can help to screen lung cancer for early diagnosis and treatment. Ang2 not only participates in tumor angiogenesis but also plays a role in the immune environment of some tumors. Studies have shown that Ang2, Tie2 and Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) are involved in the immune escape of non-small cell carcinoma, the collection of clinical data shows that the high expression of ANGPT2/TIE2 + monocytic-MDSC in non-small cell carcinoma is closely related to its poor prognosis (47). Recent meta-data analysis showed that serum Ang2 expression in patients with lung cancer was significantly correlated with the progression and prognosis of lung cancer, and patients with high serum Ang2 expression had a poor prognosis (48). In addition, the abnormal expression of Ang2 is not only related to the stage of lung cancer but also closely related to its invasion, migration and prognosis. After Ang2 interference, the biological characteristics and EMT of lung cancer cells are inhibited, suggesting that Ang2 may be a novel molecular targeted therapy for lung cancer (49, 50). This may solve the current problem of metastatic treatment of lung cancer. After the operation of non-small cell carcinoma, the expression level of Ang2 in the serum of patients was detected to be increased, indicating that the angiogenesis capacity was also increased, which could not only increase the pre-repair of postoperative wound but also promote the distant metastasis and recurrence of cancer (51). This may also be one of the reasons for postoperative

recurrence of non-small cell carcinoma. Interestingly, the expression of Ang2 mRNA and protein levels was significantly correlated with the progression and clinical outcome of lung adenocarcinoma. However, this phenomenon was not observed in squamous cell carcinoma (52). It further illustrates the complexity of the regulatory mechanism of Ang2 in cancer.

Lung cancer patients have a high probability of brain metastasis and poor prognosis (53). Exploring the regulatory mechanism of brain metastasis is helpful to identify new therapeutic targets. Studies have shown that the overexpression of a disintegrin and metalloproteinase 9 (ADAM9) can promote the brain metastasis of lung cancer cells, further studies have shown that ADAM9 can promote the vascular remodeling of lung cancer cells and brain metastasis by increasing the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA), Ang2 and tissue plasminogen activator (PLAT) (54). These findings suggest that targeted inhibition of ADAM9, VEGFA, and Ang2 may be a new effective therapeutic strategy for lung cancer brain metastasis. ADAM9 regulates the expression of angiogenic factor Ang2, thereby controlling vascular remodeling and angiogenesis to regulate lung cancer brain metastasis (54).

VEGFA and ANGPT2 are the targets of anti-angiogenesis therapy, and whether the combined inhibition of ADAM9 with bispecific antibody (A2V CrossMab) against both Ang-2 and VEGF can reduce the morbidity and mortality of lung cancer brain metastasis has not been studied. We look forward to more research on multi-target therapy.

Glioma

Glioma, as an angiogenesis-dependent tumor, is the most common malignant tumor of the central nervous system. It has strong invasiveness, poor prognosis and easy recurrence after operation (55–57). There is great room for progress in the treatment strategy of glioma. At present, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, surgical treatment and immunotherapy have not solve the key event of high mortality of glioma patients (58). It is necessary to further explore new targets and treatment strategies.

Ang-2 is highly expressed in glioblastoma and is involved in a series of processes such as glioma development, invasion, prognosis and treatment resistance (56, 59–61). Rhythm gene BMAL1 (brain and muscle Arnt like 1) is considered to be a

tumor-promoting factor in glioma and plays a key role in the proliferation and migration of glioma cells (59). Studies have shown that BMAL1 is highly expressed in gliomas, and regulates the expression of Ang2 and VEGF by regulating HIF-1a under hypoxia, to participate in the formation of tumor microvessels and peritumoral edema (55). Strangely, when BMAL1 was knocked out, the expression of Ang2 did not change (55). This further indicates the complexity of Ang2 expression regulation. As previous studies have shown, it may be environmentdependent (62). Some studies have shown that the edema of glioblastoma can be alleviated by dexamethasone, and it is suggested that dexamethasone may alleviate brain edema and slow down the growth of gliomas by inhibiting the expression of Ang2 (63). In oligodendroglioma, it was found that under hypoxia, Insulin Gene Enhancer Protein (ISL2) induces angiogenesis by enhancing the expression of Ang2 to promote the growth, malignant transformation and invasion of oligodendroglioma (13, 56). These studies suggest that blocking Ang2-induced angiogenesis through targeted inhibition of ISL2 may be one of the effective strategies for the treatment of oligodendroglioma in the future (13). As an antiangiogenic therapy for glioblastoma, bevacizumab is commonly used, but its drug resistance often occurs. Ang2 is highly expressed in these drug-resistant gliomas (64). It is proposed that the combination of VEGF blocking and Ang-2 inhibition may overcome the resistance of bevacizumab to glioma treatment, suggesting that Ang2 may be a therapeutic target for bevacizumab resistant gliomas (64).

In short, the study on the regulation and expression mechanism of Ang2 in glioma will be beneficial to the future targeted treatment of glioma patients to improve their survival rate and prognosis.

Colorectal Cancer

Colorectal cancer is considered to be the second most common cancer in the world and the third most common cause of cancerrelated death. It has a high risk of recurrence and poor prognosis (65). Although the treatment of colorectal cancer has made progress with the continuous development of immunotherapy and gene-targeted therapy in recent years, the problems of metastatic diseases and drug resistance have not been solved (66). This highlights the necessity to develop new treatment strategies.

Recent studies have reported that RAS-ERK1/2 signaling induces the upregulation of Ang2 and c-x-c motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) in KRAS-mutated colorectal cancer cells, resulting in liver metastasis (67). The use of ERK inhibitors can downregulate Ang2 and CXCR4 to control the liver metastasis in colon cancer (67). It can be seen that Ang2 plays a key role in liver metastasis of colorectal cancer. Targeted inhibition of Ang2 or RAS-ERK1/2 axis can prevent and treat patients with liver metastasis of colorectal cancer (67). Interestingly, there is also evidence that Ang2 gene deletion may aggravate the progression of liver metastasis in mice (68). On the one hand, Ang2 deletion leads to enhanced bone marrow cell recruitment of granulocyte colonystimulating factor (G-CSF), which is conducive to more aggressive tumor growth and neoangiogenesis during liver colonization. On the other hand, it is the increase of compensatory VEGF caused by Ang2 deletion, which induces angiogenesis and promotes liver metastases (68). The reasons for the different results of these two studies may be the types of colorectal cancers studied are different, one is KRAS mutated, and the other is common undetected mutations. But both studies suggest that the role of Ang2 depends on the blood vessels of specific organs, as these changes in Ang2 expression were not observed in colorectal cancer lung metastases (67, 68). In addition, according to clinical studies, serum Ang2 levels in patients with colorectal cancer are associated with disease progression. Ang2 was significantly higher in colorectal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis than without peritoneal carcinomatosis and was negatively correlated with the survival rate of those patients (16). Additionally, Ang2 is an important predictor of mortality in patients with incurable stage IV colorectal cancer (12). Therefore, it may be a useful prognostic biomarker for colorectal cancer patients (12, 17).

In general, Ang2 is closely related to the occurrence, metastasis, and prognosis of colorectal cancer. Targeting Ang2 or regulating the signaling pathway or factors

of Ang2 in colorectal cancer may effectively inhibit the development of colorectal cancer.

Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is not only one of the most common malignant tumors in women but also one of the most common causes of death in women (69, 70). At present, there is no effective solution to the distant metastasis, recurrence and treatment resistance of breast cancer.

Clinical studies have shown that Ang2 can not only be used as a diagnostic indicator for the detection of early breast cancer, but also as an evaluation factor for the prognosis of breast cancer (71). In estrogen-deficient conditions, Ang2 promotes survival of estrogen receptor-positive (ER+)breast cancer through integrin 1 (72). More importantly, 2 is highly expressed in the recurrence and metastasis of (ER+) breast cancer patients treated with estrogen antagonists (72). In addition, in estrogen-deficient bone marrow endothelial niche, knockout Ang2 can attenuate tumor cell proliferation. Further research shows that estrogen regulates the proliferation of ER(+) breast cancers by regulating the expression of Ang2 in the bone marrow endothelial niche (72). These experimental results suggest that Ang2 may be a key target for preventing metastatic recurrence of breast cancer in endocrine therapy. At the same time, whether the combined use of estrogen antagonists and Ang2 antagonists can improve the survival rate of patients and reduce metastasis and recurrence requires a lot of research in the future.

Pancreatic Cancer

Pancreatic cancer is one of the most difficult cancers to treat and the worst prognosis in the world (73). We look forward to more research to explore the pathogenesis of pancreatic cancer and effective treatment options. In recent years, some scholars have proposed that miR-145, as a tumor suppressor of pancreatic cancer, inhibits the angiogenesis, growth and invasion of cancer cells by directly inhibiting the expression of Ang2 (74). It suggests that the inhibition of Ang2 expression by miR-145 indirect targeting may be an effective treatment for pancreatic cancer (74).

Ang2 in both pancreatic cancer and gastric cancer is regulated by miRNA, which mediates the occurrence and development of cancer, further indicating the importance of miRNA in Ang2 regulation.

Other Cancers

In cerebral cavernous malformation (CCM), CCM3 (also known as PDCD10) gene mutation promotes the progression of CCM (75). The study further showed that CCM3 reduced the secretion of Ang2 and prevented the development of CCM by inhibiting the UNC13B/VAMP3-dependent exocytosis of Ang2 in brain endothelial cells (ECs) (75). On the contrary, when CCM3 is mutated, Ang2 secreted by brain endothelial cells increases, thus accelerating the progress of CCM (75). In conclusion, the Ang2 secretion regulated by CCM3 in endothelial cells may be a new therapeutic target for cavernous malformation.

Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) is a vascular malignancy associated with Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) (76). Studies have shown that KSHV contributes to tumor growth by inducing ECs to release Ang2 to promote angiogenesis and inflammatory cell infiltration (77). Ang2 was detected to be highly expressed in KS, and studies further demonstrated that knockdown of Ang2 or use of Ang2 inhibitors AMG-386 and L1-10 blocked angiogenesis and tumor growth in the KS tumor model (77, 78). These findings provide a theoretical basis for the effective combination therapy of KS in the future.

Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) is a cysteine-rich protein. In osteosarcoma cells, it has been found that overexpression of CTGF can promote the expression of Ang2 and induce angiogenesis of osteosarcoma, providing sufficient blood supply to cancer cells and promoting their metastasis (79).

 α -Tocopheryl succinate (TS), an anticancer substance, inhibits tumor angiogenesis by reducing the expression of Ang2 and promoting vascular stabilization in mouse melanoma cells (80). In addition, the detection of Ang2 in melanoma patients showed that the expression of Ang2 in metastatic patients was higher than that in primary tumors (81).

Serum Ang2 is increased in multiple myeloma (MM) patients, especially in advanced patients, and is associated with disease progression (82, 83). It is suggested that Ang2 may be used as a prognostic indicator and a potential therapeutic target for multiple myeloma.

Of course, in addition to the malignant tumors discussed above, whether Ang2 still plays a different role in other tumors needs further exploration and research.

TARGETING ANG2 FOR CANCER TREATMENT

The expression of Ang2 is regulated by miRNA, ceRNA and DARPP-32 in gastric cancer, which affects the occurrence and development of gastric cancer. Of course, in addition to the above, whether there will be other factors regulating Ang2 needs

further research in the future. In general, targeting miR-542-3p, miR-145-5p, miR-218 LINC00184 and DARPP-32 to inhibit the expression of Ang2 in gastric cancer may be a new strategy for the treatment of gastric cancer, which requires a lot of research in the future. In brain metastasis of lung cancer, Ang2 regulated by ADAM9 plays an important role. Indirect inhibition of Ang2 expression by targeted inhibition of ADAM9 may prevent brain metastasis of lung cancer. In glioma, targeting BMAL1 or ISL2 to regulate the expression of Ang2 may be an effective treatment for glioma in the future. Similarly, the RAS-ERK1/2 signaling pathway in colorectal cancer, estrogen in breast cancer, miR-145 in pancreatic cancer and CCM3, KSHV, CGSF, and TS in other tumors may all be therapeutic targets.

According to the above discussion, there is no doubt that the expression of Ang2 in cancer is regulated by various factors (**Table 2**). We fully introduced the regulatory mechanism of Ang2 expression in different cancers and proposed potential targets to inhibit the occurrence and development of cancers by controlling Ang2 expression (**Figure 2**).

PROGRESS OF TARGETED INHIBITION ANG2 COMBINED WITH OTHER THERAPIES IN CANCER TREATMENT

Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy combined with anti-angiogenic therapy is constantly being developed and has been applied to colon cancer, gastric cancer and other cancers (5, 34). It is reported that the treatment effect of patients can be improved by adding bevacizumab to the chemotherapy regimen of metastatic colorectal cancer (such as 5-FU and irinotecan) to inhibit vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (84).

However, after receiving bevacizumab anti-angiogenesis treatment, patients will develop drug resistance, and the increased expression of Ang2 is closely related to patients' anti-bevacizumab resistance (84). Further studies have shown that high Ang-2 levels are associated with adverse clinical outcomes in patients with colorectal cancer treated with bevacizumab. Inhibition of Ang2 will increase resistance to VEGF signal-targeted therapy (84). Therefore, a bispecific antibody (CrossMab), that is, the combined inhibition of VEGF and Ang2, was proposed, which is currently considered to improve anti-angiogenic therapy (22). In addition, a bispecific antibody targeting VEGF and Ang-2 (CrossMab) in combination with chemotherapy was also evaluated in a model of drug-resistant colorectal cancer. The results showed that the bispecific antibody (CrossMab) combined with chemotherapy including 5-FU and irinotecan exhibited better therapeutic effect and addressed the limitations of single antiangiogenic therapy and chemotherapy (84). More surprisingly, studies have shown that bispecific antibody (A2V) combined with Ang2 and VEGFA blockade is more effective than monotherapy in renal cell carcinoma, metastatic breast cancer, and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (84-86).

MEDI3617, a selective Ang2 inhibitor, neutralizes Ang2 by blocking the interaction between Ang2 and Tie2 receptors and

TABLE 2 | Dysregulated Ang2 in cancer.

Cancer type	Regulatory factors	Effects on the expression of Ang2	Cancer Development	References
Gastric cancer	miRNA-542-3p	Ļ	Inhibit cancer cell proliferation, migration	(37)
	miR-218	\downarrow	Inhibit cancer cell proliferation and invasion	(39)
	miR-145-5p	\downarrow	Inhibit cancer cell proliferation, migration and invasion	(40)
	LINC00184	↑	Induced EMT characteristics of gastric cancer cells	(41)
	DARPP-32	↑	Promotes cancer cell proliferation, invasion and migration	(42)
Lung cancer	ADAM9	↑	Promotes cancer cell migration	(54)
Glioma	BMAL1	↑	Promotes cancer cell proliferation, invasion and migration	(55)
	ISL2	↑	Promotes cancer cell proliferation, invasion and migration	(13)
Colorectal cancer	RAS-ERK1/2	↑	Promotes cancer cell migration	(67)
Breast cancer	Estrogen	Ļ	Inhibit cancer cell proliferation	(72)
Pancreatic cancer	miR-145	Ļ	Inhibit cancer cell proliferation and invasion	(74)
Cerebral cavernous	CCM3	\downarrow	Inhibit cancer cell proliferation, migration and	(75)
malformation (CCM)			invasion	
Kaposi's sarcoma	Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV)	1	Promotes cancer cell proliferation, invasion and migration	(77)
Osteosarcoma	Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF)	↑	Promotes cancer cell migration	(79)
Melanoma	TS	\downarrow	Inhibit tumor angiogenesis	(80)

inhibits angiogenesis and tumor growth (26). Treating mice with MEDI3617 can inhibit angiogenesis in mouse tumor models. The combination of MEDI3617 with chemotherapy or bevacizumab leads to delayed tumor growth (26). In human tumor xenograft models, the application of Ang2 inhibitor combined with paclitaxel or carboplatin in advanced solid tumors is currently in phase I clinical trial (27). Overall, these clinical findings suggest that Ang2 as an anti-angiogenesis therapeutic target, combined with chemotherapy plays a synergistic role in the treatment of cancer.

Immunotherapy

Ang2 reduces the ability of the immune system (mainly T cells) to recognize and attack tumors by acting on immune cells (9, 87, 88). In addition, Ang2 can prevent immune cells from infiltrating into the tumor by destroying the stability of tumor blood vessels, leading to

vascular abnormalities and destroying blood flow (**Figure 1**) (9, 87, 88). Since Ang2 has immunomodulatory effect, its importance in immunotherapy can't be ignored. Immunotherapy, as a treatment for cancer, has emerged in recent years, but it will also be ineffective in some tumors. Research is also constantly adding how to better improve immunotherapy. Studies have shown that antiangiogenesis therapy can improve the effect of immunotherapy (7, 89–93). Targeted inhibition of VEGF and Ang2 reduces angiogenesis and normalizes abnormal vasculature (92). More importantly, it can improve tumor immune response and patient prognosis (92). In the mouse model of glioblastoma, the combination of dual anti-angiogenesis and PD-1 checkpoint therapy significantly prolonged the survival time and normalized the vascular system of glioblastoma mice compared with anti-angiogenesis therapy alone (61). At the same time, the increase of T cells not only reduced



immunosuppression but also induced stronger antitumor immune response and reduced glioma edema (61). Combined therapy not only eliminates the side effects of single antiangiogenic therapy but also enhances antitumor immunity through the synergistic effect of VEGF/Ang2 and PD-1 blockers (61, 86, 94). In addition, recent clinical trials have proved that MEDI3617 combined with tremelimumab (an IgG2 monoclonal antibody blocking cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein - (CTLA-4)) is safe in the treatment of patients with advanced melanoma, which significantly reducing the toxicity and side effects of single treatment (25). These studies provide strong support for co-targeting of angiogenesis and immune checkpoints in cancer therapy.

Radiotherapy

The effects of ionizing radiation on angiogenesis are complex, mainly depending on the dose of radiation (95). After locally advanced rectal cancer patients underwent low-dose ionizing radiation therapy at a dose below 0.8 Gy (called LDIR), the endothelial cell ECs around the tumor were activated, thereby up-regulating the expression of several pro-angiogenic genes such as Ang2, VEGFR1, VEGFR2, Induction of peritumoral angiogenesis (96, 97). In the early days, some scholars proposed the combined use of radiation and anti-angiogenic agents to treat cancer (98, 99). Studies have confirmed that the combination of antiangiogenic therapy and radiotherapy in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC) and nasopharyngeal carcinoma can not only overcome the side effects of separate treatment but also improve the curative effect (14, 100, 101). Interestingly, recent studies have shown that overexpression of Ang2 in mouse glioma models combined with radiochemotherapy can prevent the recurrence of glioblastoma (60). Therefore, the role of Ang2 in cancer treatment needs to be further explored to play a more accurate targeted therapy.

In general, targeting Ang2 inhibits the formation of blood vessels in cancercells, resulting ininsufficient bloods upplytocancercells, unable to meet the needs of growth and metastasis, thereby inhibiting cancer progression, while also increasing the sensitivity of radiotherapy and improving efficacy (14). However, there are many problems in the combined use of anti-angiogenic therapy and radiotherapy, such as the order of use of the two, the dose and time of radiation, the amount of vascular inhibitor, the route of administration, etc. These problems require a lot of clinical trials to study.

CONCLUSION

Antiangiogenic therapy is one of the important means of tumor treatment at present (102) It does not only block the nutrition and oxygen required by tumor cells but also normalize abnormal blood vessels and increase the sensitivity of radiotherapy and chemotherapy

REFERENCES

- Maishi N, Annan D, Kikuchi H, Hida Y, Hida K. Tumor Endothelial Heterogeneity in Cancer Progression. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11(10):1511. doi: 10.3390/cancers11101511
- 2. Giordo R, Wehbe Z, Paliogiannis P, Eid A, Mangoni A, Pintus G. Nano-Targeting Vascular Remodeling in Cancer: Recent Developments and

(9, 92). Bevacizumab, erlotinib, apatinib and other drugs are widely used in clinic, especially in combination with chemotherapy drugs, which significantly improves the curative effect in the treatment of colorectal cancer, small cell lung cancer and other cancers, but its side effects and drug resistance have not been solved (103-105). In recent years, Ang2 has become a new target of anti-angiogenesis therapy. In addition, Ang2 inhibition combined with chemotherapy, radiotherapy and immunotherapy has been proved to improve the effect of tumor treatment and overcome the limitations of single treatment. But there are still a lot of problems to be solved. For example, the sequence, duration, route of administration and dosage of the combination therapy. The expression of Ang2 is regulated by different mechanisms in different tumors, and even in different types of the same tumor. A better understanding of the mechanism of high Ang2 expression in cancer and the vascular changes mediated by it will help to address problems with current anti-angiogenesis in cancer therapy. Here, we mainly introduced that the expression of Ang2 in lung cancer, gastric cancer, glioma, colorectal cancer, breast cancer and other cancers is regulated by relevant signal pathways or factors, and proposed the possibility of targeting the inhibition of Ang2 with the signal pathways or factors that regulate the expression of Ang2. Therefore, in the future, we should further explore the role of Ang2 in cancer to maximize the efficacy for cancer patients. In addition, the optimal combination of targeting the inhibition of Ang2 with chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and immunotherapy would require a concerted effort.

Ang2 is not only involved in the pathology of many diseases, but also related to anti- angiogenesis and drug resistance, making it an ideal target. However, the mechanism of Ang2 in different cancers, even in different stages of the same cancer, needs further study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DC, XW and NL provided direction and guidance throughout the preparation of this manuscript. NL, ML and SF wrote, edited and revised the manuscript. HT, JW and AI participated in the collation of article tables. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China No: 32170910; Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province: BK20211124; Zhenjiang Key Research and Development Program: SH2021037.

Future Directions. Semin Cancer Biol (2022) \$1044-579X(22):00051-7. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2022.03.001

- Zhao Y, Adjei A. Targeting Angiogenesis in Cancer Therapy: Moving Beyond Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor. Oncologist (2015) 20:660–73. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0465
- de Marinis F, Bria E, Ciardiello F, Crinò L, Douillard J, Griesinger F, et al. International Experts Panel Meeting of the Italian Association of Thoracic

Oncology on Antiangiogenetic Drugs for Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Realities and Hopes. *J Thorac Oncol* (2016) 11:1153–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.03.015

- Garcia J, Hurwitz H, Sandler A, Miles D, Coleman R, Deurloo R, et al. Bevacizumab (Avastin[®]) in Cancer Treatment: A Review of 15 Years of Clinical Experience and Future Outlook. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2020) 86:102017. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2020.102017
- Abdelgalil A, Alkahtani H, Al-Jenoobi F. Sorafenib. Profiles Drug Substances Excipients Related Methodology. *Sci Direct* (2019) 44:239–66. doi: 10.1016/bs.podrm.2018.11.003
- Hu H, Chen Y, Tan S, Wu S, Huang Y, Fu S, et al. The Research Progress of Antiangiogenic Therapy, Immune Therapy and Tumor Microenvironment. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:802846. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.802846
- Mukherjee A, Madamsetty V, Paul M, Mukherjee S. Recent Advancements of Nanomedicine Towards Antiangiogenic Therapy in Cancer. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(2):455. doi: 10.3390/ijms21020455
- Leong A, Kim M. The Angiopoietin-2 and TIE Pathway as a Therapeutic Target for Enhancing Antiangiogenic Therapy and Immunotherapy in Patients With Advanced Cancer. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21(22):8689. doi: 10.3390/ijms21228689
- Iwamoto H, Abe M, Yang Y, Cui D, Seki T, Nakamura M, et al. Cancer Lipid Metabolism Confers Antiangiogenic Drug Resistance. *Cell Metab* (2018) 28:104–117.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.05.005
- Itatani Y, Kawada K, Yamamoto T, Sakai Y. Resistance to Anti-Angiogenic Therapy in Cancer-Alterations to Anti-VEGF Pathway. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19(4):1232. doi: 10.3390/ijms19041232
- Munakata S, Ueyama T, Ishihara H, Komiyama H, Tsukamoto R, Kawai M, et al. Angiopoietin-2 as a Prognostic Factor in Patients With Incurable Stage IV Colorectal Cancer. J Gastrointestinal Cancer (2021) 52:237–42. doi: 10.1007/s12029-020-00392-1
- 13. Qi L, Wang Z, Shao X, Li M, Chen S, Liu X, et al. ISL2 Modulates Angiogenesis Through Transcriptional Regulation of ANGPT2 to Promote Cell Proliferation and Malignant Transformation in Oligodendroglioma. Oncogene (2020) 39:5964–78. doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-01411-y
- Chen Z, Xu X. Combining Antiangiogenic Therapy and Radiation in Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma. Saudi Med J (2015) 36:659–64. doi: 10.15537/ smj.2015.6.11460
- Karabid N, Wiedemann T, Gulde S, Mohr H, Segaran R, Geppert J, et al. Angpt2/Tie2 Autostimulatory Loop Controls Tumorigenesis. *EMBO Mol Med* (2022) 14:e14364. doi: 10.15252/emmm.202114364
- Kim H, Yang Y, Byeon S, Jeong Y, Kwon J, Lee K, et al. E-Cadherin and Angiopoietin-2 as Potential Biomarkers for Colorectal Cancer With Peritoneal Carcinomatosis. *Anticancer Res* (2021) 41:4497–504. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.15260
- Jary M, Hasanova R, Vienot A, Asgarov K, Loyon R, Tirole C, et al. Molecular Description of ANGPT2 Associated Colorectal Carcinoma. *Int J Cancer* (2020) 147:2007–18. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32993
- Dreikhausen L, Blank S, Sisic L, Heger U, Weichert W, Jäger D, et al. Association of Angiogenic Factors With Prognosis in Esophageal Cancer. BMC Cancer (2015) 15:121. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1120-5
- Papadopoulos K, Kelley R, Tolcher A, Razak A, Van Loon K, Patnaik A, et al. A Phase I First-In-Human Study of Nesvacumab (REGN910), a Fully Human Anti-Angiopoietin-2 (Ang2) Monoclonal Antibody, in Patients With Advanced Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:1348–55. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1221
- Dowlati A, Vlahovic G, Natale R, Rasmussen E, Singh I, Hwang Y, et al. A Phase I, First-In-Human Study of AMG 780, an Angiopoietin-1 and -2 Inhibitor, in Patients With Advanced Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:4574–84. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2145
- Herbst R, Hong D, Chap L, Kurzrock R, Jackson E, Silverman J, et al. Safety, Pharmacokinetics, and Antitumor Activity of AMG 386, a Selective Angiopoietin Inhibitor, in Adult Patients With Advanced Solid Tumors. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27:3557–65. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.19.6683
- Scheuer W, Thomas M, Hanke P, Sam J, Osl F, Weininger D, et al. Anti-Tumoral, Anti-Angiogenic and Anti-Metastatic Efficacy of a Tetravalent Bispecific Antibody (TAvi6) Targeting VEGF-A and Angiopoietin-2. *mAbs* (2016) 8:562–73. doi: 10.1080/19420862.2016.1147640

- 23. Wu F, Man S, Xu P, Chow A, Paez-Ribes M, Lee C, et al. Efficacy of Cotargeting Angiopoietin-2 and the VEGF Pathway in the Adjuvant Postsurgical Setting for Early Breast, Colorectal, and Renal Cancers. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76:6988–7000. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0888
- Heil F, Babitzki G, Julien-Laferriere A, Ooi C, Hidalgo M, Massard C, et al. Vanucizumab Mode of Action: Serial Biomarkers in Plasma, Tumor, and Skin-Wound-Healing Biopsies. *Trans Oncol* (2021) 14:100984. doi: 10.1016/ j.tranon.2020.100984
- Ott PA, Nazzaro M, Pfaff KL, Gjini E, Felt KD, Wolff JO, et al. Combining CTLA-4 and Angiopoietin-2 Blockade in Patients With Advanced Melanoma: A Phase I Trial. *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9(11):e003318. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-003318
- 26. Leow C, Coffman K, Inigo I, Breen S, Czapiga M, Soukharev S, et al. MEDI3617, a Human Anti-Angiopoietin 2 Monoclonal Antibody, Inhibits Angiogenesis and Tumor Growth in Human Tumor Xenograft Models. Int J Oncol (2012) 40:1321–30. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2012.1366
- Hyman D, Rizvi N, Natale R, Armstrong D, Birrer M, Recht L, et al. Phase I Study of MEDI3617, a Selective Angiopoietin-2 Inhibitor Alone and Combined With Carboplatin/Paclitaxel, Paclitaxel, or Bevacizumab for Advanced Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24:2749–57. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-17-1775
- Parmar D, Apte M. Angiopoietin Inhibitors: A Review on Targeting Tumor Angiogenesis. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2021) 899:174021. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejphar.2021.174021
- Khan M, Aziz AA, Shafi NA, Abbas T, Khanani AM. Targeting Angiopoietin in Retinal Vascular Diseases: A Literature Review and Summary of Clinical Trials Involving Faricimab. *Cells* (2020) 9(8):1869. doi: 10.3390/cells9081869
- 30. Mei K, Qin S, Chen Z, Liu Y, Wang L, Zou J. Camrelizumab in Combination With Apatinib in Second-Line or Above Therapy for Advanced Primary Liver Cancer: Cohort A Report in a Multicenter Phase Ib/II Trial. J Immunother Cancer (2021) 9(3):e002191. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-002191
- Yi M, Jiao D, Qin S, Chu Q, Wu K, Li A. Synergistic Effect of Immune Checkpoint Blockade and Anti-Angiogenesis in Cancer Treatment. *Mol Cancer* (2019) 18:60. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0974-6
- Pellino A, Riello E, Nappo F, Brignola S, Murgioni S, Djaballah S, et al. Targeted Therapies in Metastatic Gastric Cancer: Current Knowledge and Future Perspectives. World J Gastroenterol (2019) 25:5773–88. doi: 10.3748/ wjg.v25.i38.5773
- Song Z, Wu Y, Yang J, Yang D, Fang X. Progress in the Treatment of Advanced Gastric Cancer. *Tumour Biol J Int Soc Oncodevelopmental Biol Med* (2017) 39:1010428317714626. doi: 10.1177/1010428317714626
- Joshi S, Badgwell B. Current Treatment and Recent Progress in Gastric Cancer. CA: Cancer J Clin (2021) 71:264–79. doi: 10.3322/caac.21657
- Blank S, Deck C, Dreikhausen L, Weichert W, Giese N, Falk C, et al. Angiogenic and Growth Factors in Gastric Cancer. J Surg Res (2015) 194:420–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2014.11.028
- Wang J, Ding Y, Wu Y, Wang X. Identification of the Complex Regulatory Relationships Related to Gastric Cancer From lncRNA-miRNA-mRNA Network. J Cell Biochem (2020) 121:876–87. doi: 10.1002/jcb.29332
- He T, Qi F, Jia L, Wang S, Song N, Guo L, et al. MicroRNA-542-3p Inhibits Tumour Angiogenesis by Targeting Angiopoietin-2. J Pathol (2014) 232:499–508. doi: 10.1002/path.4324
- Urbich C, Kuehbacher A, Dimmeler S. Role of microRNAs in Vascular Diseases, Inflammation, and Angiogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res* (2008) 79:581–8. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn156
- Tang S, Wang D, Zhang Q, Li L. miR-218 Suppresses Gastric Cancer Cell Proliferation and Invasion via Regulation of Angiopoietin-2. Exp Ther Med (2016) 12:3837–42. doi: 10.3892/etm.2016.3893
- Zhou K, Song B, Wei M, Fang J, Xu Y. ANGPT2/MiR-145-5p Suppresses the Proliferation, Migration and Invasion of Gastric Cancer Epithelial Cells via the NOD_LIKE_RECEPTOR Axis. Cancer Cell Int (2020) 20:416. doi: 10.1186/s12935-020-01483-6
- Piao H, Guo S, Jin H, Wang Y, Zhang J. LINC00184 Involved in the Regulatory Network of ANGPT2 via ceRNA Mediated miR-145 Inhibition in Gastric Cancer. J Cancer (2021) 12:2336–50. doi: 10.7150/jca.49138
- Chen Z, Zhu S, Hong J, Soutto M, Peng D, Belkhiri A, et al. Gastric Tumour-Derived ANGPT2 Regulation by DARPP-32 Promotes Angiogenesis. *Gut* (2016) 65:925–34. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308416

- Romaszko A, Doboszyńska A. Multiple Primary Lung Cancer: A Literature Review. Adv Clin Exp Med (2018) 27:725–30. doi: 10.17219/acem/68631
- 44. Bade B, Dela Cruz C. Lung Cancer 2020: Epidemiology, Etiology, and Prevention. Clinics Chest Med (2020) 41:1-24. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccm.2019.10.001
- Wu F, Wang L, Zhou C. Lung Cancer in China: Current and Prospect. Curr Opin Oncol (2021) 33:40–6. doi: 10.1097/CCO.000000000000703
- Nooreldeen R, Bach H. Current and Future Development in Lung Cancer Diagnosis. Int J Mol Sci (2021) 22(16):8661. doi: 10.3390/ijms22168661
- Lauret Marie Joseph E, Laheurte C, Jary M, Boullerot L, Asgarov K, Gravelin E, et al. Immunoregulation and Clinical Implications of ANGPT2/TIE2 M-MDSC Signature in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2020) 8:268–79. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0326
- Xu Y, Zhang Y, Wang Z, Chen N, Zhou J, Liu L. The Role of Serum Angiopoietin-2 Levels in Progression and Prognosis of Lung Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *Medicine* (2017) 96:e8063. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000008063
- Oztutgan T, Demirer E, Tas D, Uysal A, Caliskan T, Kucukodaci Z, et al. A Comparative Analysis of Angiopoietin 2 Immunohistochemical Staining in Various Stages of Lung Cancer. *Nigerian J Clin Pract* (2016) 19:725–9. doi: 10.4103/1119-3077.193406
- Dong Z, Chen J, Yang X, Zheng W, Wang L, Fang M, et al. Ang-2 Promotes Lung Cancer Metastasis by Increasing Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. Oncotarget (2018) 9:12705–17. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24061
- Zhou L, Lan H, Zhou Q, Yue J, Liu B. Plasma Angiopoietin-2 Is Persistently Elevated After Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Surgery and Stimulates Angiogenesis In Vitro. Medicine (2016) 95:e4493. doi: 10.1097/MD.0000 000000004493
- Qin S, Yi M, Jiao D, Li A, Wu K. Distinct Roles of VEGFA and ANGPT2 in Lung Adenocarcinoma and Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Cancer (2020) 11:153–67. doi: 10.7150/jca.34693
- Yousefi M, Bahrami T, Salmaninejad A, Nosrati R, Ghaffari P, Ghaffari S. Lung Cancer-Associated Brain Metastasis: Molecular Mechanisms and Therapeutic Options. *Cell Oncol (Dordrecht)* (2017) 40:419–41. doi: 10.1007/s13402-017-0345-5
- Lin C, Cho C, Bai S, Liu J, Kuo T, Wang L, et al. ADAM9 Promotes Lung Cancer Progression Through Vascular Remodeling by VEGFA, ANGPT2, and PLAT. Sci Rep (2017) 7:15108. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15159-1
- Wang F, Li C, Han F, Chen L, Zhu L. BMAL1 may be Involved in Angiogenesis and Peritumoral Cerebral Edema of Human Glioma by Regulating VEGF and ANG2. *Aging* (2021) 13:24675–85. doi: 10.18632/ aging.203708
- Kawashima T, Yashiro M, Kasashima H, Terakawa Y, Uda T, Nakajo K, et al. Viaoligodendrocytes Up-Regulate the Invasive Activity of Glioblastoma Cells the Angiopoietin-2 Signaling Pathway. *Anticancer Res* (2019) 39:577–84. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.13150
- Gusyatiner O, Hegi M. Glioma Epigenetics: From Subclassification to Novel Treatment Options. Semin Cancer Biol (2018) 51:50–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2017.11.010
- Xu S, Tang L, Li X, Fan F, Liu Z. Immunotherapy for Glioma: Current Management and Future Application. *Cancer Lett* (2020) 476:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.02.002
- Sie M, Wagemakers M, Molema G, Mooij J, de Bont E, den Dunnen W. The Angiopoietin 1/Angiopoietin 2 Balance as a Prognostic Marker in Primary Glioblastoma Multiforme. J Neurosurg (2009) 110:147–55. doi: 10.3171/ 2008.6.17612
- 60. Helaine C, Ferré AE, Leblond MN, Pérès EA, Bernaudin M, Valable S, et al. Angiopoietin-2 Combined With Radiochemotherapy Impedes Glioblastoma Recurrence by Acting in an Autocrine and Paracrine Manner: A Preclinical Study. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(12):3585. doi: 10.3390/cancers12123585
- 61. Di Tacchio M, Macas J, Weissenberger J, Sommer K, Bähr O, Steinbach J, et al. Tumor Vessel Normalization, Immunostimulatory Reprogramming, and Improved Survival in Glioblastoma With Combined Inhibition of PD-1, Angiopoietin-2, and VEGF. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7:1910–27. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0865
- Akwii RG, Sajib MS, Zahra FT, Mikelis CM. Role of Angiopoietin-2 in Vascular Physiology and Pathophysiology. *Cells* (2019) 8(5):471. doi: 10.3390/cells8050471

- Villeneuve J, Galarneau H, Beaudet M, Tremblay P, Chernomoretz A, Vallières L. Reduced Glioma Growth Following Dexamethasone or Anti-Angiopoietin 2 Treatment. *Brain Pathol (Zurich Switzerland)* (2008) 18:401– 14. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2008.00139.x
- 64. Scholz A, Harter P, Cremer S, Yalcin B, Gurnik S, Yamaji M, et al. Endothelial Cell-Derived Angiopoietin-2 Is a Therapeutic Target in Treatment-Naive and Bevacizumab-Resistant Glioblastoma. *EMBO Mol Med* (2016) 8:39–57. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201505505
- 65. Piawah S, Venook A. Targeted Therapy for Colorectal Cancer Metastases: A Review of Current Methods of Molecularly Targeted Therapy and the Use of Tumor Biomarkers in the Treatment of Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer* (2019) 125:4139–47. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32163
- Jin K, Ren C, Liu Y, Lan H, Wang Z. An Update on Colorectal Cancer Microenvironment, Epigenetic and Immunotherapy. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2020) 89:107041. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2020.107041
- Urosevic J, Blasco M, Llorente A, Bellmunt A, Berenguer-Llergo A, Guiu M, et al. ERK1/2 Signaling Induces Upregulation of ANGPT2 and CXCR4 to Mediate Liver Metastasis in Colon Cancer. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80:4668–80. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-4028
- Im J, Tapmeier T, Balathasan L, Gal A, Yameen S, Hill S, et al. G-CSF Rescues Tumor Growth and Neo-Angiogenesis During Liver Metastasis Under Host Angiopoietin-2 Deficiency. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 132:315–26. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27677
- Liang Y, Zhang H, Song X, Yang Q. Metastatic Heterogeneity of Breast Cancer: Molecular Mechanism and Potential Therapeutic Targets. Semin Cancer Biol (2020) 60:14–27. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.08.012
- Noor F, Noor A, Ishaq A, Farzeen I, Saleem M, Ghaffar K, et al. Recent Advances in Diagnostic and Therapeutic Approaches for Breast Cancer: A Comprehensive Review. *Curr Pharm design* (2021) 27:2344–65. doi: 10.2174/1381612827666210303141416
- Li P, He Q, Luo C, Qian L. Diagnostic and Prognostic Potential of Serum Angiopoietin-2 Expression in Human Breast Cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol (2015) 8:660–4.
- Han H, Kim B, Lee J, Kang S, Kim J, Cho N. Angiopoietin-2 Promotes ER+ Breast Cancer Cell Survival in Bone Marrow Niche. *Endocrine-related Cancer* (2016) 23:609–23. doi: 10.1530/ERC-16-0086
- Ansari D, Tingstedt B, Andersson B, Holmquist F, Sturesson C, Williamsson C, et al. Pancreatic Cancer: Yesterday, Today and Tomorrow. *Future Oncol* (*London England*) (2016) 12:1929–46. doi: 10.2217/fon-2016-0010
- Wang H, Hang C, Ou X, Nie J, Ding Y, Xue S, et al. MiR-145 Functions as a Tumor Suppressor via Regulating Angiopoietin-2 in Pancreatic Cancer Cells. Cancer Cell Int (2016) 16:65. doi: 10.1186/s12935-016-0331-4
- Jenny Zhou H, Qin L, Zhang H, Tang W, Ji W, He Y, et al. Endothelial Exocytosis of Angiopoietin-2 Resulting From CCM3 Deficiency Contributes to Cerebral Cavernous Malformation. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:1033–42. doi: 10.1038/nm.4169
- 76. Ye F, Zhou F, Nithianantham S, Chandran B, Yu X, Weinberg A, et al. Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Induces Rapid Release of Angiopoietin-2 From Endothelial Cells. J Virol (2013) 87:6326–35. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03303-12
- 77. Yu X, Sha J, Xiang S, Qin S, Conrad P, Ghosh SK, et al. Suppression of KSHV-Induced Angiopoietin-2 Inhibits Angiogenesis, Infiltration of Inflammatory Cells, and Tumor Growth. *Cell Cycle (Georgetown Tex.)* (2016) 15(15):2053–65. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2016.1196303
- Rossi A, Ferreira L, Cuevas-Nunez M, Wright J, De-Paula A, Basile J, et al. Angiopoietin-2 Is Expressed in Oral Kaposi's Sarcoma. J Oral Pathol Med (2017) 46:1011–4. doi: 10.1111/jop.12574
- Wang L, Tsai H, Cheng Y, Lin C, Huang Y, Tsai C, et al. CTGF Promotes Osteosarcoma Angiogenesis by Regulating miR-543/Angiopoietin 2 Signaling. *Cancer Lett* (2017) 391:28–37. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.01.013
- Hama S, Okamura Y, Kamei K, Nagao S, Hayashi M, Shizuka M, et al. α-Tocopheryl Succinate Stabilizes the Structure of Tumor Vessels by Inhibiting Angiopoietin-2 Expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2020) 521:947– 51. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.11.017
- Abdul Pari A, Singhal M, Hübers C, Mogler C, Schieb B, Gampp A, et al. Tumor Cell-Derived Angiopoietin-2 Promotes Metastasis in Melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80:2586–98. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-2660

- Pappa C, Alexandrakis M, Boula A, Thanasia A, Konsolas I, Alegakis A, et al. Prognostic Impact of Angiopoietin-2 in Multiple Myeloma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2014) 140:1801–5. doi: 10.1007/s00432-014-1731-2
- Belloni D, Marcatti M, Ponzoni M, Ciceri F, Veschini L, Corti A, et al. Angiopoietin-2 in Bone Marrow Milieu Promotes Multiple Myeloma-Associated Angiogenesis. *Exp Cell Res* (2015) 330:1–12. doi: 10.1016/ j.yexcr.2014.10.017
- Mueller T, Freystein J, Lucas H, Schmoll HJ. Efficacy of a Bispecific Antibody Co-Targeting VEGFA and Ang-2 in Combination With Chemotherapy in a Chemoresistant Colorectal Carcinoma Xenograft Model. *Molecules* (2019) 24(16):2865. doi: 10.3390/molecules24162865
- Bessho H, Wong B, Huang D, Tan J, Ong C, Iwamura M, et al. Effect of Ang-2-VEGF-A Bispecific Antibody in Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer Invest* (2015) 33:378–86. doi: 10.3109/07357907.2015.1047505
- Schmittnaegel M, Rigamonti N, Kadioglu E, Cassará A, Wyser Rmili C, Kiialainen A, et al. Dual Angiopoietin-2 and VEGFA Inhibition Elicits Antitumor Immunity That is Enhanced by PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade. *Sci Trans Med* (2017) 9(385):eaak9670. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. aak9670
- Ragusa S, Prat-Luri B, González-Loyola A, Nassiri S, Squadrito M, Guichard A, et al. Antiangiogenic Immunotherapy Suppresses Desmoplastic and Chemoresistant Intestinal Tumors in Mice. J Clin Invest (2020) 130:1199– 216. doi: 10.1172/JCI129558
- Kashyap A, Schmittnaegel M, Rigamonti N, Pais-Ferreira D, Mueller P, Buchi M, et al. Optimized Antiangiogenic Reprogramming of the Tumor Microenvironment Potentiates CD40 Immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2020) 117:541–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1902145116
- Georganaki M, van Hooren L, Dimberg A. Vascular Targeting to Increase the Efficiency of Immune Checkpoint Blockade in Cancer. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:3081. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03081
- Khan K, Kerbel R. Improving Immunotherapy Outcomes With Anti-Angiogenic Treatments and Vice Versa. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2018) 15:310–24. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2018.9
- Song Y, Fu Y, Xie Q, Zhu B, Wang J, Zhang B. Anti-Angiogenic Agents in Combination With Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: A Promising Strategy for Cancer Treatment. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1956. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.01956
- Fukumura D, Kloepper J, Amoozgar Z, Duda D, Jain R. Enhancing Cancer Immunotherapy Using Antiangiogenics: Opportunities and Challenges. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2018) 15:325–40. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2018.29
- 93. Martinez-Usatorre A, Kadioglu E, Boivin G, Cianciaruso C, Guichard A, Torchia B, et al. Overcoming Microenvironmental Resistance to PD-1 Blockade in Genetically Engineered Lung Cancer Models. *Sci Trans Med* (2021) 13(606):eabd1616. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abd1616
- 94. Wu X, Giobbie-Hurder A, Liao X, Connelly C, Connolly E, Li J, et al. Angiopoietin-2 as a Biomarker and Target for Immune Checkpoint Therapy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2017) 5:17–28. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0206
- Grabham P, Sharma P. The Effects of Radiation on Angiogenesis. Vasc Cell (2013) 5:19. doi: 10.1186/2045-824X-5-19
- 96. Gil Marques F, Poli E, Malaquias J, Carvalho T, Portêlo A, Ramires A, et al. Low Doses of Ionizing Radiation Activate Endothelial Cells and Induce Angiogenesis in Peritumoral Tissues. *Radiotherapy Oncol* (2020) 151:322–7. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2020.06.038

- Marques F, Carvalho L, Sousa J, Rino J, Diegues I, Poli E, et al. Low Doses of Ionizing Radiation Enhance Angiogenesis and Consequently Accelerate Post-Embryonic Development But Not Regeneration in Zebrafish. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10:3137. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-60129-9
- O'Reilly M. Radiation Combined With Antiangiogenic and Antivascular Agents. Semin Radiat Oncol (2006) 16:45–50. doi: 10.1016/j.semradonc. 2005.08.006
- Wachsberger P, Burd R, Dicker A. Tumor Response to Ionizing Radiation Combined With Antiangiogenesis or Vascular Targeting Agents: Exploring Mechanisms of Interaction. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) 9:1957–71.
- 100. Hsu H, Wall N, Hsueh C, Kim S, Ferris R, Chen C, et al. Combination Antiangiogenic Therapy and Radiation in Head and Neck Cancers. Oral Oncol (2014) 50:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.10.003
- 101. Kang M, Wang F, Liao X, Zhou P, Wang R. Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy Combined With Endostar has Similar Efficacy But Weaker Acute Adverse Reactions Than IMRT Combined With Chemotherapy in the Treatment of Locally Advanced Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma. *Medicine* (2018) 97:e11118. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000011118
- 102. Ghasemali S, Farajnia S, Barzegar A, Rahmati-Yamchi M, Baghban R, Rahbarnia L, et al. New Developments in Anti-Angiogenic Therapy of Cancer, Review and Update. Anti-cancer Agents Med Chem (2021) 21:3– 19. doi: 10.2174/1871520620666200817103219
- 103. Khan K, Wu F, Cruz-Munoz W, Kerbel R. Ang2 Inhibitors and Tie2 Activators: Potential Therapeutics in Perioperative Treatment of Early Stage Cancer. *EMBO Mol Med* (2021) 13:e08253. doi: 10.15252/ emmm.201708253
- 104. Shi S, Wang R, Chen Y, Song H, Chen L, Huang G. Combining Antiangiogenic Therapy With Adoptive Cell Immunotherapy Exerts Better Antitumor Effects in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Models. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e65757. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065757
- 105. Jácome A, Oliveira F, Lino F, Lima J. Effect of Adding Bevacizumab to Chemotherapy on Pathologic Response to Preoperative Systemic Therapy for Resectable Colorectal Liver Metastases: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin colorectal Cancer* (2021) 20:265–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.clcc.2021.05.006

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Liu, Liu, Fu Wang, Tang, Isah, Chen and Wang, This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Integrative Analysis From Multicenter Studies Identifies a WGCNA-Derived Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Signature for Ovarian Cancer

Songwei Feng^{1†}, Yi Xu^{1†}, Zhu Dai^{2†}, Han Yin¹, Ke Zhang¹ and Yang Shen^{1*}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Zhongda Hospital, School of Medicine, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ² State Key Laboratory of Bioelectronics, School of Biological Science and Medical Engineering, Southeast University, Nanjing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

Reviewed by:

Aierpati Maimaiti, First Affiliated Hospital of Xinjiang Medical University, China Shujun Li, Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University, China

*Correspondence:

Yang Shen shenyang@seu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 24 May 2022 **Accepted:** 06 June 2022 **Published:** 08 July 2022

Citation:

Feng S, Xu Y, Dai Z, Yin H, Zhang K and Shen Y (2022) Integrative Analysis From Multicenter Studies Identifies a WGCNA-Derived Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Signature for Ovarian Cancer. Front. Immunol. 13:951582. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.951582 Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are a major contributor to tumor stromal crosstalk in the tumor microenvironment (TME) and boost tumor progression by promoting angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. This study aimed to identify prognostic genes associated with CAFs that lead to high morbidity and mortality in ovarian cancer (OC) patients. We performed bioinformatics analysis in 16 multicenter studies (2,742 patients) and identified CAF-associated hub genes using the weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA). A machine learning methodology was used to identify COL16A1, COL5A2, GREM1, LUM, SRPX, and TIMP3 and construct a prognostic signature. Subsequently, a series of bioinformatics algorithms indicated risk stratification based on the above signature, suggesting that high-risk patients have a worse prognosis, weaker immune response, and lower tumor mutational burden (TMB) status but may be more sensitive to routine chemotherapeutic agents. Finally, we characterized prognostic markers using cell lines, immunohistochemistry, and singlecell sequencing. In conclusion, these results suggest that the CAF-related signature may be a novel pretreatment guide for anti-CAFs, and prognostic markers in CAFs may be potential therapeutic targets to inhibit OC progression.

Keywords: cancer-associated fibroblasts, WGCNA, ovarian cancer, prognosis, tumor microenvironment

INTRODUCTION

Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) play a key role in the tumor microenvironment (TME) and influence tumor progression and metastasis through multiple pathways, including remodeling of the extracellular matrix (ECM), producing growth factors, and promoting angiogenesis (1). Meanwhile, ovarian cancer (OC) is a heterogeneous disease characterized by a propensity for peritoneal spread. Due to the complex interconnected signaling network and the unique peritoneal TME, cancer cells can interact with CAFs, adipocytes, immune cells, and chemokines (2). As a result, tumor migration and immune evasion frequently occur in OC patients, and immunotherapy has little effect (3).

The ECM is composed and reconstituted by CAFs, a barrier that supports tumor cell invasion and inhibits infiltration of antitumor immune cells, thus leading to immune evasion and chemoresistance (4, 5). Several researchers have explored different CAF subgroups with varying CAF marker expressions, such as alpha-smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), fibronectin attachment protein (FAP), and pelleted growth factor receptor (PDGFR) (6, 7). For example, in oral cancer, WNT2⁺ CAFs were negatively correlated with CD8⁺ T-cell activity (8). In pancreatic cancer, knocking down α -SMA⁺ CAFs unexpectedly enhanced tumor infiltration and increased Regulatory T cells (Tregs) abundance, leading to enhanced disease progression and reduced survival rates in mice (9). In breast and colon cancer, DNA-based vaccines targeting FAP induced the killing of CAFs by CD8⁺ T cells (10). Therefore, targeting the CAF-mediated immunosuppressive stromal microenvironment in combination with immunotherapy is expected to improve immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) response (11).

Weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA) is a systematic bioinformatics algorithm that enables the integration of highly correlated genes into several modules (12). This is a novel method to explore the relationship between numerous genes and clinical phenotypes. WGCNA has been applied to identify CAF markers, such as in gastric cancer (13), bladder cancer (14), and renal cell carcinoma (15). However, to date, CAFs have not been analyzed by WGCNA in large-sample multicenter OC cohorts. In this study, we integrated 16 multicenter studies that included 2,742 patients with complete follow-up information for bioinformatics analysis. We explored the hub modules most relevant for CAF infiltration and identified COL16A1, COL5A2, GREM1, LUM, SRPX, and TIMP3 as prognostic CAF markers. Subsequently, CAF signatures capable of predicting prognosis and treatment response were constructed, and the predictive ability was validated in multiple cohorts. In addition, we characterized markers using cell lines, immunohistochemistry, and single-cell sequencing. In conclusion, our results imply that the CAF signature may be a novel anti-CAF therapeutic approach in OC.

METHODS

Datasets and Data Preprocessing

The fragments per kilobase of transcript per million mapped reads (FPKM) format RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) data with complete follow-up information of 372 samples were downloaded from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database (16). Except for the samples without survival follow-up information, we still retained the samples with other clinical information missing. The somatic mutation data were also acquired from TCGA database. The tumor mutational burden (TMB) value of each sample was calculated via the tmb algorithm in the "maftools" package (17). We performed log2 [transcripts per million (TPM) + 1] transformation on the above raw data (18). In the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database (19), we integrated the multiple datasets (RNA-seq or microarray) based on the GPL570 platform (GSE19829, GSE18520, GSE9891, GSE26193, GSE30161, and GSE63885; n = 597), GPL96 platform (GSE3149, GSE23554, GSE26712, and GSE14764; n = 409), GPL7759 platform (GSE13876, n = 415), GPL2986 platform (GSE49997, n = 194), and GPL14951 platform (GSE140082, n = 380). In addition, we downloaded antiprogrammed death-1 (PD-1) dataset (IMvigor, n = 348) and anti-PD-L1 dataset (GSE78220, n = 27) based on immunotherapy. Cell line RNA-seq data from 47 fibroblast origins and 37 OC origins were acquired from the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE) database (20). Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining images in OC tissues were downloaded from the Human Protein Atlas (HPA) database (21). Batch effects from meta-cohorts (GPL570 or GPL96) were corrected using the ComBat algorithm in the "sva" package (22). CAF markers were collected from previous references (23).

In conclusion, we integrated 16 multicenter studies and included 2,742 patients with complete follow-up information for our bioinformatics analysis.

Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts and Stromal Analysis

CAF abundances and stromal scores were computed using four methods: Estimate the Proportion of Immune and Cancer cells (EPIC) algorithm (24), xCell algorithm (25), microenvironment cell populations-counter (MCP-counter) algorithm (26), and Estimation of Stromal and Immune cells in Malignant Tumor tissues using Expression data (ESTIMATE) algorithm (27). We used "IOBR" package to invoke the above algorithm (28). The CAF abundances calculated by EPIC and MCP-counter were defined as phenotypic data for subsequent WGCNA. The data calculated by other algorithms were used for validation.

Weighted Gene Co-Expression Network Analysis

The "WGCNA" package (12) screened hub genes that were significantly associated with CAF scores. The expression profiles of the top 25% of the variance in the GPL570 meta-cohort and TCGA-OV cohort first were as the input. Then, according to our previous study (29), a soft threshold was determined, an adjacency matrix was clustered, and a hub module was determined. The strongest positive correlation was selected for further analysis by calculating the Pearson correlation coefficient between the modules and CAF scores. Then, we measured gene significance (GS) for each gene's traits and module membership (MM) in the hub module. Finally, genes in the module were screened as potential CAF-related genes using MM >0.6 and GS >0.6 as thresholds.

Enrichment Analysis

The h.all.v7.4.symbols gene set was downloaded from the MSigDB database (30) for enrichment analysis in "GSVA" package (31). The adj.P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) analyses were conducted using "clusterProfiler" package (32). The adj.P-value <0.05 and adj.q-value <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Construction and Validation of the Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Signature

The GPL570 meta-cohort with a larger sample size was used as the training cohort, and other cohorts were used as the validation cohort. Univariate Cox regression analysis was performed on

common hub genes in 16 multicenter studies (P-value <0.05). In the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression analysis (33), 1,000 iterations were performed to reduce the genes, and subsequently, the above genes were subjected to multivariate Cox regression analysis to obtain the coefficients. CAF risk score was derived using the same formula as in our previous study (34, 35). The OC patients in each cohort were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups, and the cutoff value for each cohort was used as the threshold.

Chemotherapy Response Predictions

The "pRRophetic" package (36) was used to calculate IC50 value (bleomycin, cisplatin, docetaxel, gemcitabine, doxorubicin, and etoposide) of different samples based on gene expression.

Single-Cell Sequencing Analysis

We analyzed single-cell RNA-sequencing (scRNA-seq) data (GSE118828) from OC tissues based on the Tumor Immune Single Cell Hub (TISCH) database (37), and the whole cells were annotated into six clusters: fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, endothelial, malignant, monocyte or macrophage (Mono/Macro), and conventional CD4 T cell (CD4Tconv).

Immunofluorescence Staining

In total, two formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue (primary tumors and recurrent tumors) blocks were selected from the Zhongda Hospital Southeast University. Immunofluorescence staining was also done by a commercial entity (Servicebio, Wuhan, Hubei, China). According to the company, detailed methods are available in a previous publication (38). Antibody staining order always remains the same, all slices with 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Servicebio, G1012) finally after dyeing. Monoclonal antibodies in immunofluorescence panels were CD8 (Servicebio, GB13068-2, 1:500), Foxp3 (Servicebio, GB112325, 1:3,000), and α -SMA (Servicebio, GB13044, 1:1,000). Slices were placed under a scanner to collect images, and image data were obtained using CaseViewer software.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the R software (v.4.0.1). The Wilcoxon test was applied for pairwise comparisons. The Kaplan–Meier analysis with the log-rank test was adopted for overall survival comparisons. More detailed statistical methods for transcriptome data processing are covered in the above section. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts and Stromal Score Could Be Considered Prognostic Markers for Ovarian Cancer

We integrated the multidatasets based on the GPL570 platform (GSE19829, GSE18520, GSE9891, GSE26193, GSE30161, and GSE63885), and the Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection (UMAP) analysis showed the distribution of each dataset before and after removal of batch effect (**Figures 1A, B**). The expression density plot also revealed that the batch effect of the

GPL570 meta-cohort was well removed (Figures 1C, D). Finally, we normalized the expression profiles of 597 samples with complete follow-up information (Figure 1E). Previous references have reported the ability of CAFs to recruit immunosuppressive cells, so we performed immunofluorescence staining using immunofluorescence in patients with primary tumors and in patients with recurrent tumors (39). Interestingly, there was a recruitment of Treg cells (green) around the CAF cells (pink) in patients with primary tumors (Figure 2A), especially in the recurrent samples, where a larger number of Treg cells clustered to the prominent part of the CAF cells (Figure 2B). CD8⁺ cells (red) were rarely seen around CAF cells in both samples. Subsequently, the CAF infiltration score was predicted by EPIC, xCell, and MCPcounter algorithms based on the GPL570 meta-cohort (n = 597) and TCGA-OV cohort (n = 372), and the stromal score was calculated by ESTIMATE algorithm. We divided all samples into a high CAF/stromal score group and a low CAF/stromal group according to the cutoff values of the scores calculated by the four bioinformatics algorithms. In the GPL570 meta-cohort, the results showed that higher CAF infiltration and stromal score were significantly associated with poorer overall survival (OS) in OC patients (Figure 2C). Similarly, it could also be used as a predictive biomarker in TCGA-OV cohort (Figure 2D). Our study defined the CAF abundances calculated by EPIC and MCP-counter as phenotypic data for subsequent WGCNA. The data calculated by other algorithms were used for validation.

Co-Expression Network of Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Scores

WGCNA was performed using the expression profiles of the top 25% of variance in the GPL570 meta-cohort and TCGA-OV cohort. The soft threshold power in the GPL570 meta-cohort was 3 (Figure 3A); similarly, the threshold for TCGA-OV cohort was also 3 (Figure 3B). Subsequently, dynamic module identification was performed in the different cohorts, with the number of genes per module not less than 50 (Figures 3C, D). For the GPL570 metacohort, 9 co-expression modules were clustered, with the brown module having the strongest positive correlation with CAFs_EPIC score (Cor = 0.88, P = 3e-208) and Fibroblasts_MCPcounter score (Cor = 0.9, P = 5e-234) (Figure 3E). For TCGA-OV cohort, the 9 co-expression modules were clustered, with the blue module having the strongest positive correlation with CAFs_EPIC score (Cor = 0.76, P = 2e-71) and Fibroblasts_MCPcounter score (Cor = 0.92, P = 3e-157) (Figure 3F). In the brown module, positive correlations between $CAFs_EPIC$ score (Cor = 0.96) and Fibroblasts_MCPcounter score (Cor = 0.97) were observed between MM and GS (Figure 3G); in the black module, positive correlations between CAFs EPIC score (Cor = 0.87) and Fibroblasts_MCPcounter score (Cor = 0.97) were also observed between MM and GS (Figure 3H). Finally, 120 genes in the brown module and 160 genes in the blue module were screened as potential CAF-related genes using MM > 0.6 and GS > 0.6 as thresholds.

Functional Analyses of Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Related Genes

The above CAF-related genes were overlapped and screened to 95 hub genes (Figure 4A). Regulation of small GTPase-mediated



signal transduction, extracellular matrix, collagen-containing extracellular matrix, and metallopeptidase activity were the main enriched GO terms (**Figure 4B**). Fatty acid degradation, glycolysis/ gluconeogenesis, regulation of lipolysis in adipocytes, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) signaling pathway, vascular smooth muscle contraction, and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP)/protein kinase G (PKG) signaling pathway were the mainly enriched KEGG pathways (**Figure 4C**).

Construction of the Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Based Signature

The GPL570 meta-cohort with a larger sample size was used as the training cohort, and TCGA-OV cohort was used as the validation group. Univariate Cox regression analysis was performed on common hub genes in the training cohort (**Figure S1**), with OS and survival time as dependent variables, and 63 prognostic genes (P < 0.05) were screened, and only some with P < 0.001 were shown in **Figure 4D**. The 63 prognostic genes were subjected to LASSO regression analysis to determine the minimum λ value (**Figure 4E**). Finally, 6 genes were identified for the CAF-based signature: CAF risk score = COL16A1 expression * 0.0924 + COL5A2 expression * 0.0031 + GREM1 expression * 0.0847 + LUM expression * 0.0069 + SRPX expression * 0.0649 + TIMP3 expression * 0.0425. The OC patients in each cohort were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups, and the cutoff for each cohort was used as the threshold

value (GPL570 meta-cohort = 1.257016302; TCGA-OV cohort = 0.415034301). Kaplan-Meier curves showed that patients in the high-risk group had worse OS than that of those in the low-risk group (**Figure 4F**). These results suggested that the CAF signature was the hub prognostic marker for OC patients.

Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Based Signature Genes Were Correlated With Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Markers

Spearman correlation analyses were performed between the CAF risk score and the CAF score predicted by the other methods (xCell, EPIC, ESTIMATE, and MCP-counter). Subsequently, we observed a strong and positive correlation between risk scores and CAF infiltration and stromal score in both GPL570 meta-cohort (**Figure 5A**) and TCGA-OV cohort (**Figure 5B**). Moreover, CAF marker genes from previous references had a higher expression in the high-risk group (**Figures 5C, D**). In addition, the expression levels of 6 genes in the signature also were highly and positively correlated with CAF marker expression (**Figures 5E, F**).

Multidimensional Validation in Multicenter Studies

To further validate the prognostic value of the CAF-based signature, we integrated the GPL96 meta-cohort (GSE3149, GSE23554, GSE26712, and GSE14764) according to the method described


above, which included a total of 409 patients (**Figure S2**). Meanwhile, the datasets based on GPL7759 (GSE13876, n = 415), GPL2986 (GSE49997, n = 194), and GPL14951 (GSE140082, n = 380) platforms were downloaded for external validation. The risk scores of each cohort were calculated with the same formula and stratified by their respective cutoff values (GPL96 meta-cohort = 0.976888643; GPL7759 cohort = 3.088372669; GPL2986 cohort = 0.147731773; GPL14951 cohort = 2.479072527). Unsurprisingly, risk score stratified patients by survival risk in multicenter studies, and OS was shorter in the high-risk group, such as in the GPL96 meta-cohort (**Figure 6A**, P = 0.004), GPL7759 cohort (**Figure 6B**, P = 0.006), GPL2986 cohort (**Figure 6C**, P < 0.001), and GPL14951 cohort (**Figure 6C**, P = 0.002).

Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Based Signature in the Role of Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy represented by PD-L1 and PD-1 blockade has undoubtedly become a breakthrough in cancer treatment, so we investigated whether the CAF-based signature could predict response to anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 based on two immunotherapy cohorts. In the anti-PD-L1 cohort (IMvigor210), the high-risk group had a higher percentage of stable disease (SD)/progressive disease (PD). In contrast, more patients in the low-risk group were in complete response (CR)/ partial response (PR) (**Figure 6E**). Moreover, patients with a low risk score exhibited a markedly prolonged survival (**Figure 6F**). In the anti-PD-1 cohort (GSE78220), the significant therapeutic advantages and clinical response in patients with a low score also were confirmed (**Figures 6H, I**). However, due to the small sample size of the anti-PD-1 cohort, there was no significant difference in survival time between different groups (**Figure 6J**).

Correlation Between the Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Based Signature and Somatic Variation

Preclinical research has shown that patients with higher TMB are associated with enhanced immunotherapy response and lasting clinical benefits when treated with immune checkpoint blockade. Therefore, we investigated the discriminatory ability of the CAF-based signature in the somatic mutation data of TCGA-OV cohort. Firstly, we screened the most differentially mutated genes in different risk groups, including *KMT2C*, *WDFY3*, *CACNA1S*, etc. (**Figure 7A(i)**). We found no significant differences between the two groups in CAF marker mutations, but *TNC* (15.0%) and *COL3A1* (11.7%) exhibited a higher frequency of mutations in the whole TCGA-OC cohort (**Figure 7A(ii**)). Subsequently, we observed that TMB values were higher in the low-risk group than those in the high-risk group (**Figure 7B**). However, Spearman analysis showed no statistically significant correlation between CAF risk score and TMB values (**Figure 7C**). However, TMB



independence and mean connectivity in TCGA-OV cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules before merging in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (D) Gene dendrogram and modules before merging in TCGA-OV cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules before merging in TCGA-OV cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules before merging in TCGA-OV cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules before merging in TCGA-OV cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules before merging in TCGA-OV cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and modules and CAF score in the GPL570 meta-cohort. (C) Gene dendrogram and GENE an

values were negatively correlated with stromal score and CAFactivating factors transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), suggesting that higher TMB might have intense tumor-killing effects *via* modulating a fibroblast-weak TME (40) (**Figure 7D**).

GSEA of the Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Based Signature

Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) was performed in two datasets (GPL570 meta-cohort and TCGA-OV cohort) to explore the pathways involved in different risk groups. Allograft rejection, apical junction, and epithelial-mesenchymal transition were significantly enriched (**Figures 8A, B**). The ssGSEA score also showed that the CAF risk score was positively correlated with TNFA signaling *via* nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-kappaB), hypoxia, and Wnt beta catenin signaling pathway (**Figures 8C, D**).

Sensitivity of Chemotherapy Between Different Risk Groups

Maintenance therapy and chemotherapy after debulking surgery for OC patients are crucial, and the mutation of the Breast Cancer Susceptibility Genes (BRCA) is relevant to the efficacy of olaparib. Therefore, we explored the distribution of mutations in the BRCA under different risk groups. BRCA1 may be more distributed in the high-risk group, but there was no significant difference in BRCA2. Interestingly, the combined BRCA mutation status and risk score allowed for better survival prediction (**Figures 9A, B**). In addition, Wilcoxon analysis revealed significant differences in IC50 values between different risk groups. Among them, high-risk patients may be more sensitive to bleomycin (**Figure 9C**), cisplatin (**Figure 9D**), docetaxel (**Figure 9E**), and gemcitabine (**Figure 9H**). Still, the



module. (B) GO enrichment analysis. (C) KEGG enrichment analysis. (D) Univariate Cox regression analysis of common hub genes (P < 0.001). (E) LASSO regression analysis. (F) Kaplan–Meier analysis of different cohorts. On the left is GPL570 meta-cohort; on the right is TCGA-OV cohort. CAFs, Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts; GO, Gene Ontology; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; LASSO, Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator.

IC50 values of doxorubicin (Figure 9F) and etoposide (Figure 9G) were not significantly different between groups.

Validation in Cell Lines, scRNA-Seq, and Immunohistochemistry

To validate that the CAF-related genes involved in the signature were the primary origins in CAFs, we performed a multidimensional validation, including cell lines, single-cell sequencing, and immunohistochemistry. We collected cell line RNA-seq data from 47 fibroblast origins and 37 OC origins. We found that all six genes (COL16A1, COL5A2, GREM1, LUM, SRPX, and TIMP3) were overexpressed in fibroblasts by the "limma" package (**Figure 10A**) and Wilcoxon test (**Figure 10B**). Meanwhile, we annotated the scRNA-seq into 6 clusters: fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, endothelial, malignant, Mono/Macro, and CD4Tconv (**Figure 10C**). The differential analysis results

showed that most CAF-related genes were highly expressed in fibroblasts or myofibroblasts, while lower expression was observed in malignant (**Figure 10D**). Moreover, the single-cell GSEA was consistent with the bulk-RNA GSEA, showing significant enrichment of upregulated genes of fibroblasts in the EMT pathway (**Figure 10E**). We analyzed IHC images from the HPA database, and the section showed that GREM1 and LUM proteins were deeply stained in the stroma (**Figure 10F**). Unfortunately, the other four genes did not have corresponding IHC images in the HPA database. These verifications implied that these six genes might be CAF-specific markers.

DISCUSSION

The CAF is regarded as an essential factor in promoting tumor progression by interacting with cancer cells in the TME (1).



Meanwhile, for a specific mesenchymal subtype of OC, it is characterized by frequent generation of desmoplastic stroma (41). The generation of desmoplastic stroma is associated with a lower OS and resistance to platinum (42). Consistently, we observed that higher CAF and stromal scores were associated with poorer OS in OC patients and represented a poorer immunotherapy response. This is the first study with a large sample and using WGCNA as a starting point for exploring markers associated with CAFs. A 6-gene prognostic (COL16A1, COL5A2, GREM1, LUM, SRPX, and TIMP3) signature was constructed and validated using Cox and LASSO regression algorithms. With the cutoff value as a threshold, we observed that patients with a high CAF risk score were more sensitive to numerous chemotherapeutic agents. Furthermore, we revealed that lower risk scores were associated with improved

immunotherapy outcomes and higher TMB value. Based on

our results, we propose an alternative mechanism by which

higher TMB may also enhance tumor killing by modulating

the microenvironment of stromal fibroblasts, similar to previous findings. It reported that cancer cells with high levels of somatic mutation are more easily recognized by the immune system (43). However, we need more *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments to elucidate the above crosstalk in the future.

Compared to the traditional differential gene expression (DEG) approach for screening hub CAF markers (44), we used different bioinformatics algorithms to assess the abundance of CAFs and biomarkers in each OC sample to ensure the robustness (EPIC and MCP-counter for WGCNA network construction; xCell and ESTIMATE for correlation validation). Similarly, to ensure the robustness of the prognostic signature, different cohorts were used for construction and validation (GPL570 meta-cohort for construction; TCGA-OV cohort, GPL96 meta-cohort, GPL7759 cohort, GPL2986 cohort, GPL14951 cohort, IMvigor210 cohort, and GSE78220 cohort for validation). With the above approach, we confirmed that our model closely correlated with CAF infiltration and CAF markers from references. Meanwhile, to differentiate



FIGURE 6 | Multidimensional validation for risk score. (A) Kaplan–Meier analysis in the GPL96 meta-cohort. (B) Kaplan–Meier analysis in the GPL7759 cohort. (C) Kaplan–Meier analysis in the GPL2986 cohort. (D) Kaplan–Meier analysis in the GPL14951 cohort. (E) Histogram of anti-PD-L1 response distribution in different risk groups. (F) Box plot of risk score in different anti-PD-L1 response groups. (G) Kaplan–Meier analysis in the anti-PD-L1 cohort. (H) Histogram of anti-PD-1 response distribution in different risk groups. (I) Box plot of risk score in different anti-PD-1 response groups. (J) Kaplan–Meier analysis in the anti-PD-1 cohort. PD-1, Programmed Death-1; PD-L1, Programmed Cell Death 1 Ligand.

identified genes from tumor cells to highlight gene heterogeneity in CAFs, we confirmed significantly higher expression in fibroblast cell lines, higher staining of proteins in the stroma, and higher mRNA expression of the CAFs at the single-cell level.

For the six genes involved in the risk signature, the relevant references have reported on the role in tumor cells and TME. COL16A1 was indicated in the study of Pan and Ma (45) to be involved in a risk model and could be considered a prognostic marker in OC patients. Renner et al. (46) sought to determine the ECM composition of benign fallopian tubes and the changes associated with tubal intraepithelial carcinomas and identified seven proteins that had not been identified in previous studies (COL2A1, COL4A5, COL16A1, elastin, LAMA5, annexin A2, and PAI1). Interestingly, they suggested that the seven proteins mentioned above accompany tubal intraepithelial carcinoma formation and cause ECM changes. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) cell lines were cocultured with their patient-matched CAFs in 2D and 3D in vitro models, and GREM1 was upregulated (47). In addition, related studies have also found that GREM1 binds to miR-205-5p (48) or miR-206 (49) to regulate metastasis of cervical cancer and non-small cell carcinoma. As part of the ECM, collagen family proteins, together with elastins, fibronectins, and laminins, play a key role in tissue organization, tissue resistance, and its primary shape. The collagen family, including COL5A2, is overexpressed in various types of epithelial cancers and is associated with poorer OS. Furthermore, inhibition of gene expression decreases cell proliferation and invasion (50, 51). SRPX, also known as SRPX1 (52), ETX1 (53), and DRS (54), is a suppressor that has been found to be downregulated in a range of human tumor cells and tissues. Unlike other soluble members of the Tissue Inhibition of Matrix Metalloproteinase (TIMP) family,













TIMP3 is tightly sequestered in the ECM. TIMP-3 is also the only TIMP capable of inhibiting tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), ADAMTS4, and ADAMTS5, as well as syndecan sheddase (55). Nevertheless, functional validation about the six genes involved in the risk signature in the CAFs of OC is not much, which requires us to conduct further experiments on the six CAF markers in the future.

In conclusion, the CAF risk score can be used in clinical practice to comprehensively evaluate the corresponding cellular infiltration of CAFs in patients to further define the immunophenotype. We have also demonstrated that risk score can be used to assess the clinicopathological characteristics of patients. Similarly, risk score also can be used as a biomarker to predict survival and the efficacy of adjuvant chemotherapy and the response to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 immunotherapy. More importantly, this study may help to leverage the future development of new drug combination strategies or new immunotherapeutic agents. Our findings provide new ideas to facilitate future individualized cancer immunotherapy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committees and Institutional Review Boards of Zhongda Hospital Southeast University (ZDSYLL187-

REFERENCES

- De P, Aske J, Dey N. Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Functions as a Road-Block in Cancer Therapy. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(20):5246. doi: 10.3390/ cancers13205246
- Ghoneum A, Afify H, Salih Z, Kelly M, Said N. Role of Tumor Microenvironment in the Pathobiology of Ovarian Cancer: Insights and Therapeutic Opportunities. *Cancer Med* (2018) 7(10):5047–56. doi: 10.1002/ cam4.1741
- Johnson RL, Cummings M, Thangavelu A, Theophilou G, de Jong D, Orsi NM. Barriers to Immunotherapy in Ovarian Cancer: Metabolic, Genomic, and Immune Perturbations in the Tumour Microenvironment. *Cancers* (*Basel*) (2021) 13(24):6231. doi: 10.3390/cancers13246231
- Lakins MA, Ghorani E, Munir H, Martins CP, Shields JD. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Induce Antigen-Specific Deletion of CD8 + T Cells to Protect Tumour Cells. Nat Commun (2018) 9(1):948. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03347-0
- Gamradt P, de la Fouchardière C, Hennino A. Stromal Protein-Mediated Immune Regulation in Digestive Cancers. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(1):146. doi: 10.3390/cancers13010146
- Shin K, Lim A, Zhao C, Sahoo D, Pan Y, Spiekerkoetter E, et al. Hedgehog Signaling Restrains Bladder Cancer Progression by Eliciting Stromal Production of Urothelial Differentiation Factors. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26 (4):521–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.001
- Yoshida GJ. Regulation of Heterogeneous Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts: The Molecular Pathology of Activated Signaling Pathways. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2020) 39(1):112. doi: 10.1186/s13046-020-01611-0

P04). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SF, YX, and ZD conceived and designed the study. SY was responsible for materials. SF drafted the article. SY, HY, and KZ revised the article critically. All authors had final approval of the submitted versions.

FUNDING

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 82072078), Jiangsu Province Key Research and Development Project (SBE2020741118), and Postgraduate Research & Practice Innovation Program of Jiangsu Province (SJCX22_0070).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022.951582/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Common hub genes in different dataset.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Normalization process based on the GPL97 platform dataset. (A) UMAP plot of the four datasets before normalization. (B) UMAP plot of the four datasets after normalization. (C) Expression density plot of the six datasets before normalization. (D) Expression density plot of the four datasets after normalization. (E) Expression distribution plots for the four datasets after normalization.

- Huang TX, Tan XY, Huang HS, Li YT, Liu BL, Liu KS, et al. Targeting Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Secreted WNT2 Restores Dendritic Cell-Mediated Antitumour Immunity. *Gut* (2022) 71(2):333–44. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322924
- Zhao X, Ding L, Lu Z, Huang X, Jing Y, Yang Y, et al. Diminished CD68+ Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Subset Induces Regulatory T-Cell (Treg) Infiltration and Predicts Poor Prognosis of Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Patients. Am J Pathol (2020) 190(4):886–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2019.12.007
- Duperret EK, Trautz A, Ammons D, Perales-Puchalt A, Wise MC, Yan J, et al. Alteration of the Tumor Stroma Using a Consensus DNA Vaccine Targeting Fibroblast Activation Protein (FAP) Synergizes With Antitumor Vaccine Therapy in Mice. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(5):1190–201. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-17-2033
- Raskov H, Orhan A, Gaggar S, Gögenur I. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts and Tumor-Associated Macrophages in Cancer and Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:668731. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.668731
- Langfelder P, Horvath S. WGCNA: An R Package for Weighted Correlation Network Analysis. *BMC Bioinf* (2008) 9:559. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-9-559
- Zheng H, Liu H, Li H, Dou W, Wang X. Weighted Gene Co-Expression Network Analysis Identifies a Cancer-Associated Fibroblast Signature for Predicting Prognosis and Therapeutic Responses in Gastric Cancer. Front Mol Biosci (2021) 8:744677. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2021.744677
- Liu B, Zhan Y, Chen X, Hu X, Wu B, Pan S. Weighted Gene Co-Expression Network Analysis can Sort Cancer-Associated Fibroblast-Specific Markers Promoting Bladder Cancer Progression. J Cell Physiol (2021) 236(2):1321–31. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29939

- Liu B, Chen X, Zhan Y, Wu B, Pan S. Identification of a Gene Signature for Renal Cell Carcinoma-Associated Fibroblasts Mediating Cancer Progression and Affecting Prognosis. Front Cell Dev Biol (2021) 8:604627. doi: 10.3389/ fcell.2020.604627
- Goldman MJ, Craft B, Hastie M, Repečka K, McDade F, Kamath A, et al. Visualizing and Interpreting Cancer Genomics Data via the Xena Platform. Nat Biotechnol (2020) 38(6):675–8. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0546-8
- Cibulskis K, Lawrence MS, Carter SL, Sivachenko A, Jaffe D, Sougnez C, et al. Sensitive Detection of Somatic Point Mutations in Impure and Heterogeneous Cancer Samples. *Nat Biotechnol* (2013) 31(3):213–9. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2514
- Wagner GP, Kin K, Lynch VJ. Measurement of mRNA Abundance Using RNA-Seq Data: RPKM Measure is Inconsistent Among Samples. *Theory Biosci* (2012) 131(4):281–5. doi: 10.1007/s12064-012-0162-3
- Barrett T, Edgar R. Gene Expression Omnibus: Microarray Data Storage, Submission, Retrieval, and Analysis. *Methods Enzymol* (2006) 411:352–69. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(06)11019-8
- Ghandi M, Huang FW, Jané-Valbuena J, Kryukov GV, Lo CC, McDonald ER 3rd, et al. Next-Generation Characterization of the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia. *Nature* (2019) 569(7757):503–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1186-3
- Uhlén M, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al. Proteomics. Tissue-Based Map of the Human Proteome. *Science* (2015) 347(6220):1260419. doi: 10.1126/science.1260419
- Leek JT, Johnson WE, Parker HS, Jaffe AE, Storey JD. The Sva Package for Removing Batch Effects and Other Unwanted Variation in High-Throughput Experiments. *Bioinformatics* (2012) 28(6):882–3. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ bts034
- Han C, Liu T, Yin R. Biomarkers for Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts. *biomark Res* (2020) 8(1):64. doi: 10.1186/s40364-020-00245-w
- 24. Racle J, de Jonge K, Baumgaertner P, Speiser DE, Gfeller D. Simultaneous Enumeration of Cancer and Immune Cell Types From Bulk Tumor Gene Expression Data. *Elife* (2017) 6:e26476. doi: 10.7554/eLife.26476
- Aran D, Hu Z, Butte AJ. Xcell: Digitally Portraying the Tissue Cellular Heterogeneity Landscape. *Genome Biol* (2017) 18(1):220. doi: 10.1186/ s13059-017-1349-1
- 26. Becht E, Giraldo NA, Lacroix L, Buttard B, Elarouci N, Petitprez F, et al. Estimating the Population Abundance of Tissue-Infiltrating Immune and Stromal Cell Populations Using Gene Expression. *Genome Biol* (2016) 17 (1):218. doi: 10.1186/s13059-016-1070-5
- Yoshihara K, Shahmoradgoli M, Martínez E, Vegesna R, Kim H, Torres-Garcia W, et al. Inferring Tumour Purity and Stromal and Immune Cell Admixture From Expression Data. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2612. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms3612
- Zeng D, Ye Z, Shen R, Yu G, Wu J, Xiong Y, et al. IOBR: Multi-Omics Immuno-Oncology Biological Research to Decode Tumor Microenvironment and Signatures. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:687975. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.687975
- Shen X, Yang Z, Feng S, Li Y. Identification of Uterine Leiomyosarcoma-Associated Hub Genes and Immune Cell Infiltration Pattern Using Weighted Co-Expression Network Analysis and CIBERSORT Algorithm. World J Surg Oncol (2021) 19(1):223. doi: 10.1186/s12957-021-02333-z
- Liberzon A, Birger C, Thorvaldsdóttir H, Ghandi M, Mesirov JP, Tamayo P. The Molecular Signatures Database (MSigDB) Hallmark Gene Set Collection. *Cell Syst* (2015) 1(6):417–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2015.12.004
- Hänzelmann S, Castelo R, Guinney J. GSVA: Gene Set Variation Analysis for Microarray and RNA-Seq Data. BMC Bioinf (2013) 14:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-7
- Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. Clusterprofiler: An R Package for Comparing Biological Themes Among Gene Clusters. OMICS (2012) 16(5):284–7. doi: 10.1089/omi.2011.0118
- Simon N, Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Regularization Paths for Cox's Proportional Hazards Model via Coordinate Descent. J Stat Software (2011) 39(5):1–13. doi: 10.18637/jss.v039.i05
- 34. Feng S, Yin H, Zhang K, Shan M, Ji X, Luo S, et al. Integrated Clinical Characteristics and Omics Analysis Identifies a Ferroptosis and Iron-Metabolism-Related lncRNA Signature for Predicting Prognosis and Therapeutic Responses in Ovarian Cancer. J Ovarian Res (2022) 15(1):10. doi: 10.1186/s13048-022-00944-y

- 35. Zhu Y, Feng S, Song Z, Wang Z, Chen G. Identification of Immunological Characteristics and Immune Subtypes Based on Single-Sample Gene Set Enrichment Analysis Algorithm in Lower-Grade Glioma. *Front Genet* (2022) 13:894865. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2022.894865
- Geeleher P, Cox N, Huang RS. Prrophetic: An R Package for Prediction of Clinical Chemotherapeutic Response From Tumor Gene Expression Levels. *PloS One* (2014) 9(9):e107468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107468
- 37. Sun D, Wang J, Han Y, Dong X, Ge J, Zheng R, et al. TISCH: A Comprehensive Web Resource Enabling Interactive Single-Cell Transcriptome Visualization of Tumor Microenvironment. Nucleic Acids Res (2021) 49(D1):D1420-30. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkaa1020
- Zhao S, Liang T, Zhang C, Shi D, Jiang W, Su C, et al. IL-27 Rα+ Cells Promoted Allorejection via Enhancing STAT1/3/5 Phosphorylation. J Cell Mol Med (2020) 24(18):10756–67. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.15700
- Pernot S, Evrard S, Khatib AM. The Give-And-Take Interaction Between the Tumor Microenvironment and Immune Cells Regulating Tumor Progression and Repression. Front Immunol (2022) 13:850856. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.850856
- Pietras K, Pahler J, Bergers G, Hanahan D. Functions of Paracrine PDGF Signaling in the Proangiogenic Tumor Stroma Revealed by Pharmacological Targeting. *PloS Med* (2008) 5(1):e19. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050019
- Tothill RW, Tinker AV, George J, Brown R, Fox SB, Lade S, et al. Novel Molecular Subtypes of Serous and Endometrioid Ovarian Cancer Linked to Clinical Outcome. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(16):5198–208. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-08-0196
- Verhaak RG, Tamayo P, Yang JY, Hubbard D, Zhang H, Creighton CJ, et al. Prognostically Relevant Gene Signatures of High-Grade Serous Ovarian Carcinoma. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(1):517–25. doi: 10.1172/JCI65833
- Miao D, Margolis CA, Vokes NI, Liu D, Taylor-Weiner A, Wankowicz SM, et al. Genomic Correlates of Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade in Microsatellite-Stable Solid Tumors. *Nat Genet* (2018) 50(9):1271–81. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0200-2
- 44. Kim MJ, Jung D, Park JY, Lee SM, An HJ. GLIS1 in Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Regulates the Migration and Invasion of Ovarian Cancer Cells. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23(4):2218. doi: 10.3390/ijms23042218
- Pan X, Ma X. A Novel Six-Gene Signature for Prognosis Prediction in Ovarian Cancer. Front Genet (2020) 11:1006. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.01006
- Renner C, Gomez C, Visetsouk MR, Taha I, Khan A, McGregor SM, et al. Multi-Modal Profiling of the Extracellular Matrix of Human Fallopian Tubes and Serous Tubal Intraepithelial Carcinomas. J Histochem Cytochem (2022) 70(2):151–68. doi: 10.1369/00221554211061359
- 47. Wiechee E, Magan M, Matic N, Ansell-Schultz A, Kankainen M, Monni O, et al. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Modulate Transcriptional Signatures Involved in Proliferation, Differentiation and Metastasis in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(13):3361. doi: 10.3390/ cancers13133361
- Kan J, Fu B, Zhou R, Zhou D, Huang Y, Zhao H, et al. He-Chan Pian Inhibits the Metastasis of non-Small Cell Lung Cancer via the miR-205-5p-Mediated Regulation of the GREM1/Rap1 Signaling Pathway. *Phytomedicine* (2022) 94:153821. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2021.153821
- Sun Q, Qi X, Zhang W, Li X. Knockdown of circRNA_0007534 Suppresses the Tumorigenesis of Cervical Cancer via miR-206/GREM1 Axis. Cancer Cell Int (2021) 21(1):54. doi: 10.1186/s12935-021-01749-7
- Ding YL, Sun SF, Zhao GL. COL5A2 as a Potential Clinical Biomarker for Gastric Cancer and Renal Metastasis. *Med (Baltimore)* (2021) 100(7):e24561. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000024561
- Ren X, Chen X, Fang K, Zhang X, Wei X, Zhang T, et al. COL5A2 Promotes Proliferation and Invasion in Prostate Cancer and Is One of Seven Gleason-Related Genes That Predict Recurrence-Free Survival. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:583083. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.583083
- Inoue Y, Ueda M, Tasaki M, et al. Sushi Repeat-Containing Protein 1: A Novel Disease-Associated Molecule in Cerebral Amyloid Angiopathy. Acta Neuropathol (2017) 134(4):605–17. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1720-z
- Iragavarapu S, Algeciras ME, Lee RK, Bhattacharya SK. ETX1 is Over-Expressed in the Glaucomatous Trabecular Meshwork. *Mol Vis* (2009) 15:2061–7.
- Tambe Y, Hasebe M, Kim CJ, Yamamoto A, Inoue H. The Drs Tumor Suppressor Regulates Glucose Metabolism *via* Lactate Dehydrogenase-B. *Mol Carcinog* (2016) 55(1):52–63. doi: 10.1002/mc.22258

55. Qi JH, Bell B, Singh R, Batoki J, Wolk A, Cutler A, et al. Sorsby Fundus Dystrophy Mutation in Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase 3 (TIMP3) Promotes Choroidal Neovascularization via a Fibroblast Growth Factor-Dependent Mechanism. Sci Rep (2019) 9(1):17429. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-53433-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of

the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Feng, Xu, Dai, Yin, Zhang and Shen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Analysis and Experimental Validation of Rheumatoid Arthritis Innate Immunity Gene CYFIP2 and Pan-Cancer

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

Reviewed by:

Zhi-Wei Guo, Southern Medical University, China Chunyan Wang, Shanxi Provincial Cancer Hospital, China Yaoming He, Jiangmen Central Hospital, China

*Correspondence:

Dingsheng Zha zdsuser@126.com Shan Zeng zs870103@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share the first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 27 May 2022 **Accepted:** 13 June 2022 **Published:** 11 July 2022

Citation:

Zhao Z, He S, Yu X, Lai X, Tang S, El Akkawi MM, Wang M, Yan H, Huang X, Zeng S and Zha D (2022) Analysis and Experimental Validation of Rheumatoid Arthritis Innate Immunity Gene CYFIP2 and Pan-Cancer. Front. Immunol. 13:954848. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.954848 ZhenYu Zhao^{1†}, ShaoJie He^{2†}, XinCheng Yu^{1†}, XiaoFeng Lai^{1†}, Sheng Tang³, El Akkawi Mariya M.⁴, MoHan Wang¹, Hai Yan⁵, XingQi Huang⁶, Shan Zeng^{7*} and DingSheng Zha^{1*}

¹ Department of Orthopaedics, The First Affiliated Hospital, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Orthopaedics, Panyu Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, ³ Department of Orthopedics, The Sixth Affiliated Hospital, South China University of Technology, Foshan, China, ⁴ Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, ZhuJiang Hospital of Southern Medical University, GuangZhou, China, ⁵ Department of Medicine, Flushing Hospital Medical Center, Flushing, NY, United States, ⁶ Department of Neurosurgery, General Hospital of Tianjin Medical University, China, ⁷ Department of Rheumatology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic, heterogeneous autoimmune disease. Its high disability rate has a serious impact on society and individuals, but there is still a lack of effective and reliable diagnostic markers and therapeutic targets for RA. In this study, we integrated RA patient information from three GEO databases for differential gene expression analysis. Additionally, we also obtained pan-cancer-related genes from the TCGA and GTEx databases. For RA-related differential genes, we performed functional enrichment analysis and constructed a weighted gene co-expression network (WGCNA). Then, we obtained 490 key genes by intersecting the significant module genes selected by WGCNA and the differential genes. After using the RanddomForest, SVM-REF, and LASSO three algorithms to analyze these key genes and take the intersection, based on the four core genes (BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS) that we found, we constructed an RA diagnosis. The nomogram model showed good reliability and validity after evaluation, and the ROC curves of the four genes showed that these four genes played an important role in the pathogenesis of RA. After further gene correlation analysis, immune infiltration analysis, and mouse gene expression validation, we finally selected CYFIP2 as the cut-in gene for pan-cancer analysis. The results of the pan-cancer analysis showed that CYFIP2 was closely related to the prognosis of patients with various tumors, the degree of immune cell infiltration, as well as TMB, MSI, and other indicators, suggesting that this gene may be a potential intervention target for human diseases including RA and tumors.

Keywords: rheumatoid arthritis, CYFIP2, GEO, WGCNA, pan-cancer, ST8SIA1, CIA mouse

INTRODUCTION

RA is a chronic, symmetrical, autoimmune disease that is aggressive and involves multiple joints in the body. The worldwide prevalence is approximately 5 per 1,000 and the incidence in women is usually 2 to 3 times higher than in men (1). RA is characterized by painful, morning stiffness, which leads to joint erosion and destruction, producing limb deformities. Some patients with RA may or subsequently develop manifestations involving organs other than joints, such as rheumatoid nodules in the skin, pericarditis, and interstitial lung lesions (2), making RA a multisystem disease. The diagnosis of RA is mainly based on clinical symptoms, signs, and laboratory and imaging tests. Therefore, it is easy to miss the diagnosis of early, atypical, or inactive RA. Recently, large-scale genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and meta-analyses have revealed common disease-associated variants in the population, and there is an increasing number of studies on genes and susceptibility to RA, increasing the possibilities for early diagnosis and clinical treatment of RA (3).

The etiology and pathogenesis of RA are complex, and the immune response occurs under the combined effect of multiple factors influenced by genetics, infection, and environment, causing synovitis. Studies have shown that the abnormal morphology and gene expression patterns of RA synovial fibroblasts (RASF) and macrophages (RASM) are key factors in the development of RA (4, 5). B cells secrete proteins such as rheumatoid factor (RF), anti-citrullinated protein antibodies (ACPA), and pro-inflammatory cytokines to form immune complexes with self-antigens to support RA (6).T cells differentiate into TH1, TH17, or Tfh and release lymphokines. In RA, the main function of T cells is to activate macrophages and fibroblasts, which differentiate into tissue-damaging cells (7). However, the mechanisms of gene and protein expression in the synovium associated with the pathogenesis of RA have not been elucidated.

The main treatments for RA are anti-inflammatory drugs, analgesic drugs, and DMARDs. The first two can only relieve the symptoms of RA but do not stop the further development of RA. Since the immune response is the main pathogenesis of RA, disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) have become the primary choice for RA. Although DMARDs have shown good efficacy in reducing RA, there is still a possibility of treatment failure with DMARDs for some patients (8). In the last decade, biologics have continued to enter clinical trials, and these drugs specifically target immune cells for immunomodulation and are used in conjunction with DMARDs for the treatment of RA (9). Whether DMARDs are used alone or in combination with new biologic agents, the optimal therapeutic options for RA are still under further investigation. Therefore, there is an urgent need to explore the signature genes that are closely related to the development of RA in order to provide better options for early diagnosis and treatment of RA.

In this article, we used the R tool and the limma package to statistically analyze the four data sets and analyze the differential expression of mRNAs. The WGCNA R package was then used to calculate the association of gene significance (GS) and module membership (MM), analyze the correlation between modules to construct a weighted gene co-expression network, and merge DEGs with key module genes for functional analysis. The feature genes were also identified by the algorithm, and LASSO regression analysis was performed to narrow down the range of feature genes. To further validate the selected signature genes, we used GSEA analysis, interaction analysis, ROC analysis, and studied the level of immune cell infiltration in the RA group, and finally calculated the relationship between signature genes and immunity. For further selection, by integrating multiple datasets, we aimed to screen the signature genes that play a key role in the development of RA and various cancers. Combining with the immune infiltration analysis and in vivo experiment, CYFIP2 was filtered out and verified via pancancer analysis, which illustrated a strong correlation with various tumors.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Data Processing and Download of the RA Dataset

GSE1919 (10), GSE55457 (11), GSE48780 (12), and GSE55235 (11) were downloaded from the Gene expression omnibus (Geo, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/) database, and information on these datasets is supplied in Table 1. "Limma" software was used to investigate mRNA expression differences (13). To account for false-positive results, adjusted P-values were examined in GEO. The R package ggord was used to depict the threshold mRNA differential expression screen, which was specified as "Adjusted P <0.05 and log2 (fold change) >0.5 or log2 (fold change)<-0.5." The R package pheatmap was used to create the expression heat maps. From the InnateDB database, a total of 2,308 immune genes involved in the innate immune response were obtained. The Cancer Genome Atlas provided RNA sequencing and clinical data for 33 different cancer types (TCGA). The GTEx database was used to collect normal tissue expression data, while the CCLE database was used to obtain the gene expression for several cancer cell lines.

Enhancement of Functionality

The data were evaluated using functional enrichment to confirm the possible functionalities of prospective targets. Gene ontology (GO) is a popular technique for assigning functions to genes, particularly molecular functions (MF), biological pathways (BP), and cellular components (CC). KEGG enrichment analysis can

 TABLE 1 | Information on microarray datasets obtained from Gene Expression

 Omnibus.

GEO Data set Platform RA Contrast GSE1919 GPL91 5 5 GSE55457 GPL96 13 10 GSE48780 GPL570 83 0 GSE55235 GPL96 10 10				
GSE1919 GPL91 5 5 GSE55457 GPL96 13 10 GSE48780 GPL570 83 0 GSE55235 GPL96 10 10	GEO Data set	Platform	RA	Control
GSE55457 GPL96 13 10 GSE48780 GPL570 83 0 GSE55235 GPL96 10 10	GSE1919	GPL91	5	5
GSE48780GPL570830GSE55235GPL961010	GSE55457	GPL96	13	10
GSE55235 GPL96 10 10	GSE48780	GPL570	83	0
	GSE55235	GPL96	10	10

be used to analyze gene functions as well as related high-level genomic functional information. The "GOplot" package and the "cluster profiler" in R were used to examine the GO function of prospective mRNAs and to enhance KEGG pathways to better understand the carcinogenic role of target genes (14).

Co-Expression Networks are Built

The WGCNA method aids in the investigation of gene set expression. Through the following main phases, the WGCNA R package was used at various stages for the development and modularization of various gene networks. To determine if there were any significant outliers, the samples were placed in clusters. Following that, automated networks were used to create coexpression networks. The modules used hierarchical clustering and dynamic tree cutting function detection. Module membership (MM) and gene significance (GS) were estimated to connect modules with clinical characteristics. Hub modules were designated as those with the highest Pearson module membership correlation (MM) and a p absolute value of 0.05. High module connection and clinical importance were denoted by MM >0.8 and GS >0.2, respectively. The gene information for the corresponding module was advanced for further investigation (15).

Identification of Distinct Genes

The above genes were used to isolate the feature genes that were used to diagnose RA. SVM is a regression or classificationsupervised machine learning technique that requires a training set with labels (16). SVM-RFE is a machine learning technique that trains a subset of features from different categories to shrink the feature set and find the most predictive features. To compute and choose linear models and keep the valuable variables, the "glmnet" package in R was used to perform minimum absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression. The binomial distribution variables were then used in the LASSO classification, coupled with one standard error lambda value for the minimum criterion (1-SE criterion) used to build the model, which has good performance but only 10 cross-validation variables. RandomForest was used to rank the genes, and their relative value above 0.25 was recognized as a typical chance cause (17). The intersection was then used to pick the most significant feature genes in this study using LASSO logistic regression, SVM-RFE, and RandomForest.

PPI (Protein–Protein Interaction) Network Construction

GeneMANIA (http://www.genemania.org) is a website for building protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks, which can be used to generate gene function predictions and locate genes with comparable effects. Physical interaction, co-expression, colocalization, gene enrichment analysis, genetic interaction, and site prediction are some of the bioinformatics methods used by the network integration algorithm. GeneMANIA was used to analyze PPI networks of signature genes in this study.

Diagnostic Column Line Graph Construction and Validation

We created a column line graph model to predict the recurrence of RA using the "rms" program. The "score" is the score of the relevant item below, and the "total score" is the sum of all the elements above. The predictive power of the line graph model was then assessed using calibration curves. Finally, decision curve analysis and clinical impact curves were used to assess the clinical utility of the model.

Curve Analysis of Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC)

We used the P ROC function in the R package to create Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves to determine the area under the curve (AUC) for screening signature genes and evaluating their diagnostic value (18).

Immune Infiltration Analysis by ssGSEA

To investigate the various levels of infiltration of immune cell types between RA tissue and normal tissue. To analyze the association between immune cells and distinctive genes, the "corrplot" package was used to obtain the Spearman rank correlation coefficient.

Analysis of Prognosis

Using deep forest plots, the "foresrplot" R program was used to perform univariate cox regression analysis and display p-values, HRs, and 95% CIs.

Analysis of Immune Infiltration

We used TIMER, XCELL, QUANTISEQ, MCPCOUNTER, and EPIC algorithms to explore the relationship between AXIN1 expression and immune invasion in all TCGA tumors.

For Systematic Collagen-Induced Arthritis (CIA) Mouse Setup, HE Staining, and IHC

The Animal Care & Ethics Committee of Jinan University's First Hospital approved all animal care and experimental operations. We also followed the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals that was established by the National Institutes of Health. The ARRIVE criteria were followed for reporting animal experiments (19, 20). Mice (n = 22) were given 200 g of bovine type II collagen (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA), diluted in acetic acid, and emulsified at a 1:1 ratio (vol/vol) in Forster's complete adjuvant intradermally at the tail vein. Mice were booster-immunized three weeks after the initial immunization with a 1:1 ratio (vol/vol) intraperitoneal injection of bovine type II collagen emulsified in incomplete Freund's adjuvant. From days 32 to 41 after the initial immunization, episodes of illness characterized by erythema and/or paw edema were seen. As previously described (21), mice were checked daily for indications of arthritis, and the severity of arthritis was graded on a scale of 0 to 3. The arthritis scores of the mice were determined for all four paws. The dimensions of the ankle

joints were measured with 0.01 mm accuracy with vernier calipers. All mice were given 110 mg/kg ketamine and 4.8 mg/ kg xylazine before having their hind limbs amputated and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. Tissues were decalcified in 8% formic acid and paraffin-embedded. Hematoxylin and eosin were used to stain 3 mm sections (H&E). A previously established scoring system was used to calculate inflammation rates (21).

Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemistry, synovial tissue sections were stripped and then incubated with 5% serum in PBS for 2 h to block nonspecific binding and with 3% H2O2 for 10 min to block endogenous peroxidase activity. The expression of CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1 was determined by staining with polyclonal rabbit antimouse CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1 antibodies overnight at 4°C. As controls, irrelevant isotype-matched antibodies were used. A polyclonal goat anti-rabbit antibody was detected with diaminobenzidine using goat anti-rabbit antibodies labeled with HRP.

Data and Statistical Analysis

Data collection and analysis complied with pharmacology's recommendations for experimental design and analysis (22). The in vitro experiments were conducted with a minimum of five independent experiments. Therefore, the results were expressed as mean + SEM. Blinding was used in the experimental procedures or treatment and data analysis. We normalized immunoblots, glucose uptake, and mRNA expression for quantitative analysis to reduce baseline variations between independent experiments. Comparing the two groups was done using Student's t-test. The one-way ANOVA was applied to three or more different groups. If F exceeded 0.05 and the variance in homogeneity was not significant, all results were discarded. Two post hoc tests were applied: Dunnett's post hoc test on each group compared with the control group or Sidak's post hoc test on multiple groups compared together. To analyze the data normalization, a nonparametric statistical analysis was performed. Data with nonparametric characteristics were analyzed with the Kruskal-Wallis test or Wilcoxon test two-sample. The statistical analyses of the data were conducted using SPSS 13.0 software. A P-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

DEG Screening and Data Preprocessing

The data are standardized in a box plot, where different colors represent different data sets, rows represent samples, and columns represent gene expression values in samples (Figure 1A). Figure 1B depicts the PCA results of multiple data sets before batch removal are displayed, where different colors represent different data sets. As shown in the diagram, three data sets are separated separately without any intersection. **Figure 1C** shows the PCA result diagram after batch removal. As shown in the diagram, the intersection of three data sets can be used as a batch of data for subsequent analysis. Under the criteria of P-adjustment <0.05 and log2 fold-change (FC) | >0.5, 891 genes were identified as DEGs, with 427 genes up-regulated and 464 genes down-regulated. **Figure 1D** shows volcano plots of DEGs as well as a heat map of the top 50 genes (**Figure 1E**).

DEGs Functional Enrichment Analysis

All DEGs were functionally enriched, and 15 GO keywords were exhibited in the GOCircle plot according to p <0.05 (**Supplementary Figure 1A**, **Supplementary Table1**). The findings revealed that the biological process (BP) enrichment was primarily connected to the positive cell-cell adhesion regulation, T-cell activation, lymphocyte differentiation, and cell-cell adhesion regulation. Enriched molecular function (MF) is related to cytokine receptor binding, cytokine binding, and cytokine receptor activity. Cellular component (CC) enrichment is related to the external side of the plasma membrane, membrane raft, and membrane microdomain. Hematopoietic cell lineage, Human T-cell leukemia virus 1 infection, Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation, and the chemokine signaling pathway were linked in KEGG analysis (**Supplementary Figure 1B, Supplementary Table 2**).

Weighted Gene Co-Expression Network Construction

The GSE1919 and GSE55457 datasets were retrieved from the GEO data, and 15 normal samples and 18 RA samples were preferred to cluster the samples and exclude the obviously aberrant samples by setting a threshold, as shown in Figure 2A. Then, as shown in Figure 2B, we set the soft threshold to 7 when $R^2 > 0.9$ and the average connectivity is high. After merging the strongly associated modules using a 0.25 clustering height limit (Figure 2C), 24 modules were identified for further study. The primed and merged modules were eventually displayed under the clustering tree (Figure 2D). The correlation between modules was examined next, and the results revealed that there was no significant association between them (Figure 2E). The reliability of module delineation was demonstrated by transcription correlation analysis within modules, which revealed no substantial linkage between modules (Figure 2F). The frontal correlations between ME values and clinical features were used to investigate the link between modules and clinical symptoms. The blue module was positively correlated with normal (r = 0.79, p = 5e-08) and negatively linked with RA (r = -0.79, p = 5e-0.8), while the turquoise module was negatively connected with normal (r = 0.8,p = 3e-08) and positively correlated with RA (r = -0.8, p = 3e-08) (Figure 2G). Clinically meaningful modules were identified. The results showed that blue and turquoise modules were highly linked with RA in the control MM versus GS scatter plot (Figure 2H) and the RA MM versus GS scatterplot (Figure 2I). All the genes in the two modules were examined further.



DEGs and Functional Analysis of Critical Module Genes

After overlapping critical module genes and DEG genes using a Venn diagram, we discovered 490 overlapping genes (**Figure 3A**). We performed functional analysis to learn more about the biological functions of the DEG genes in the modules. The results of DO analysis revealed that these DEGs were linked to lymphoblastic leukemia, hepatitis, germ cell cancer, and hematopoietic system disease (**Figure 3B**). GO enrichment analysis showed that module DEG genes have T-cell activation, regulation of cell-cell adhesion, positive regulation of cell activation, the external side of the plasma membrane, membrane raft, membrane microdomain, cytokine receptor binding, antigen binding, and immune receptor activity (**Figure 3C**). KEGG analysis was associated with cytokine–cytokine receptor interaction, chemokine signaling pathway, and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection (**Figure 3D**).

Selection of Feature Genes

We used three machine algorithms to identify feature genes: SVM-RFE (**Supplementary Table 3**) (**Figures 4A, B**); LASSO regression analysis to select 19 predicted genes from statistically significant univariate variables (**Figure 4C**) (**Supplementary Table 4**); and RandomForest combined with feature selection to determine the relationship between error rate, number of classification trees (**Figures 4D, E**) (**Supplementary Table 5**) and 31 genes with relative importance. We used a Venn diagram to find four genes that overlapped using the intersection of the three methods discussed above (**Figure 4F**).

Validation of Specific Gene Expression

We confirmed the expression of these four genes in RA using GSE1919 and GSE55447 data and found that BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS were all substantially elevated in RA **(Supplementary Figure 2A)**. Additionally, validation datasets (GSE48780 and GSE55235) indicated that BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS were substantially expressed in RA **(Supplementary Figure 2B)**. Gene correlations were also examined, as shown in **Figure 5**, BTN3A2, ST8SIA1, TYMS, and CYFIP2 were positively correlated, indicating that the four genes had a significant functional similarity.

Analysis of the Feature Genes Using GSEA

To better understand the role of signature genes in RA, we used GSEA to classify RA tissues into two categories based on the median expression of signature genes. Nucleotide metabolism, primary immunodeficiency, pyrimidine metabolism, and retinol metabolism were significantly enriched in the high BTN3A2 subgroup, whereas aldosterone-regulated sodium reabsorption, and HIF-1 signaling pathway, nitrogen metabolism, and renal cell carcinoma were significantly enriched in the low BTN3A2 subgroup (**Supplementary Figure 3A**). Cocaine addiction, glycerolipid hematopoietic cell lineage,i immune network for production, and primary immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the high CYFIP2 subgroup, whereas allograft rejection, the intestinal immune network for IgA production, nicotinate and nicotinamide metabolism, and primary immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the high CYFIP2 subgroup immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the high CYFIP2 subgroup, whereas allograft rejection, the intestinal immune network for IgA production, nicotinate and nicotinamide metabolism, and primary immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (**Supplementary** integrity enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (Supplementary) immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (Supplementary) immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (Supplementary) immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (Supplementary) immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (Supplementary) immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (Supplementary) (Supplementary) immunodeficiency were significantly enriched in the low CYFIP2 subgroup (Supplementary) (Supplementary)



FIGURE 2 | Construction of WGCNA co–expression network. (A) Sample clustering dendrogram with tree leaves corresponding to individual samples. (B) Soft threshold $\beta = 7$ and scale–free topological fit index (R2). (C) Clustered dendrograms were cut at a height of 0.25 to detect and combine similar modules. (D) Shows the original and combined modules under the clustering tree. (E) Collinear heat map of module feature genes. Red color indicates a high correlation, blue color indicates opposite results. (F) Clustering dendrogram of module feature genes. (G) Heat map of module–trait correlations. Red represents positive correlations and blue represent negative correlations. (H) MM vs. GS scatter plot of control. (I) MM vs. GS scatter plot of RA.



FIGURE 3 | Functional analysis of key module genes merged with DEGs. (A) Venn diagram of key module genes versus DEGs. (B) DO analysis. (C) GO analysis. (D) KEGG analysis.



Figure 3B). Ferroptosis, linoleic acid metabolism, nitrogen hematopoietic cell lineage, intestinal immune network for IgA production, primary immunodeficiency, Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation were significantly enriched in the high ST8SIA1 subgroup, while ferroptosis, linoleic acid metabolism, nitrogen hematopoietic cell lineage, intestinal immune network for IgA production, primary immunodeficiency, Th1 and (Supplementary Figure 3C). The high TYMS subgroup was highly enriched in immunodeficiency, Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation, whereas the low TYMS subgroup was significantly enriched in ABC transporters, circadian rhythm, glycolysis/ gluconeogenesis, and proximal tubule bicarbonate reclamation (Supplementry Figure 3D).

Trait Gene Interaction Analysis

We used the GeneMANIA database to create a PPI network for the signature genes (**Figure 6A**). To further investigate the function of the signature genes, GO/KEGG analysis was performed on 20 genes. Actin polymerization or depolymerization, Rac protein signal transduction, and control of Arp2/3 complex-mediated actin nucleation were the most abundant biological processes in this dataset. The cell leading edge, lamellipodium, and filopodium were the most abundant cellular components (CC). Furthermore, Rho GTPase binding, Ras GTPase binding, small GTPase binding, and Rac GTPase binding were connected to the enriched molecular functions (MF) (**Figure 6B**). The main enriched pathways, according to KEGG analysis, were the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton, pathogenic *Escherichia coli* infection, and Salmonella infection (**Figure 6C**).

Modeling and Testing of a RA Diagnostic Column Line Graph

We built RA diagnostic column line graph models for the signature genes (BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS) using the Rms package (Figure 7A) and evaluated their predictive power using calibration curves. The calibration curves revealed that the difference between the real and predicted RA risks was very minimal, indicating that the column line graph model RA is quite accurate (Figure 7B). The correctness of the model may also be confirmed using the ROC curve analysis (Figure 7C). The "column line graph" curve is higher than the gray line in decision curve analysis (DCA), and the "BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS" curve implies that patients can benefit from the column line graph model at a high-risk threshold of 0 to 1. The column line graph model provided a greater clinical benefit than the "BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS" curve (Figure 7D). Validation in the validation set (GSE48780 and GSE55235) also confirmed these findings (Figures 7E, F). To further validate the diagnostic value of BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS, we used receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. BTN3A2 (AUC: 0.841), CYFIP2 (AUC: 0.928), ST8SIA1 (AUC: 0.889), and TYMS (AUC: 0.844) were found to have similar AUC values (Figure 7G). The validation datasets (GSE48780 and GSE55235) also corroborated the following findings: TYMS (AUC: 741),



BTN3A2 (AUC: 0.858), CYFIP2 (AUC: 0.867), ST8SIA1 (AUC: 0.744) (**Figure 7H**). These findings imply that all major genes are involved in RA.

Immunological Infiltration in the RA Group and Healthy Controls Using ssGSEA Analysis of Immune Correlation

The immune infiltration association between RA patients and healthy controls was investigated further using ssGSEA. The results showed that immune cell infiltration in mast cells and RA was lower than in the control group after excluding the nonstatistical significant ones, and that immune cell infiltration and immune-related pathways in the rest of the RA group were higher than those in the control group (Figure 8A). We know that CYFIP2 was associated with aDCs, CCR, CD8+ T cells, check point, cytolytic activity, DCs, inflammation promoting, MHC class I, neutrophils, T-cell co-inhibition, T-cell costimulation, Tfh, Th1 cells, Th2 cells, TIL, and Type I IFN response and significantly positively correlated using the "corrplot" package to calculate the correlation between signature genes. BTN3A2 was negatively correlated with APC co-stimulation. CD8+ T cells, cytolytic activity, iDCs, inflammation promoting, Tfh, TIL, and Type I IFN response all had strong positive correlations with ST8SIA1 (Figure 8B). These characteristic genes may modulate the immune processes during the progression of RA.

Increased Expression of CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1 in Synovial Tissues of CIA Mice

To verify the expression of CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1 in RA synovium, we treated mouse synovium with IHC and found that CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1CIA mice were highly expressed in the synovium (**Figure 9**).

Pan-Cancer CYFIP2 Expression

Immunity genes were retrieved from the InnateDB database, and four signature genes were crossed to produce two overlapping genes (CYFIP2, ST8SIA1). We took the CYFIP2 gene to the next level of analysis after combining the ssGSEA results. Since the immune response is crucial not only in RA but also in cancer, we used overlapping immune genes to see if there is any link between the two diseases. CYFIP2 was identified to be highly expressed in BRCA, CHOL, HNSC, PRAD, THCA, and low expressed in BLCA, BRCA, COAD, ESCA, GBM, KICH, KIRC, KIRP, LUAD, LUSC, and PAAD in the TCGA data (Figure 10A). We also downloaded normal tissue data from the GTEx database and discovered that CYFIP2 was strongly expressed in BRCA, CHOL, COAD, DLBC, ESCA, HNSC, OV, PAAD, PCPG, PRAD, READ, SKCM, TGCT, THCA, and THYM, whereas it was weakly expressed in BLCA, CESC, GBM, KICH, KIRC, KIRP, LGG, LIHC, and LUAD (Figure 10B). As demonstrated in the data, CYFIP2 was expressed in the cell lines (Figure 10C).



KEGG analysis.

CYFIP2's Prognostic Value in Pan-Cancer

We looked into the relationship between CYFIP2 expression and pan-cancer patient prognosis, including overall survival (OS), disease-specific survival (DSS), and progression-free survival (PFS). In the OS analysis, cox regression of 33 tumors revealed that CYFIP2 expression was substantially linked with OS in six cancers: KIRC, LGG, PAAD, SKCM, and THYM as protective factors, and UCEC as a risk factor (**Figure 11A**). In the PFS study, cox regression of 33 tumors revealed that CYFIP2 expression was substantially linked with PFS in 6 malignancies, with protective factors in BRCA, HNSC, KIRC, LGG, and PAAD and risk factors in UCEC (**Figure 11B**). In the DSS analysis, Cox regression of 33 tumors revealed that CYFIP2 expression was substantially linked with DSS in 5 cancers: BLCA, KIRC, LGG, and PAAD were protective factors, whereas UCEC was a risk factor (**Figure 11C**).

Analysis of Immune Infiltration

To learn more about the role of CYFIP2 in tumor immune response, the connection between CYFIP2 expression and different levels of immune cell infiltration was calculated using the TIMER database. According to the findings, T-cell CD8+ in 18 tumors, T-cell CD4+ in 20 tumors, neutrophils in 23 tumors, myeloid dendritic cells in 19 tumors, myeloid dendritic cells in 12 tumors, and B cells in 23 malignancies were shown to be strongly connected. HNSC, LUSC, PAAD, SKCM, STAD, THCA, and THYM showed substantial positive correlations, while KICH and LGG showed significant negative correlations (**Figure 12A**). The connection between CYFIP2 levels and invading immune cells was also demonstrated using the xCELL algorithm (**Figure 12B**), the QUANTISEQ algorithm (**Figure 12C**), the MCPCOUNTER algorithm (**Figure 12D**), and the EPIC algorithm (**Figure 12E**).





The estimated scores of the stromal score and immune score were calculated using the ESTIMATE algorithm, and the findings revealed that the immune score was related to 13 cancers, while the stromal score was related to 16 tumors. The immunological scores were most closely linked to HNSC (R = 0.64), LGG (R = -0.59), and STAD (R = 0.5) among them. HNSC (R = 0.42), LGG (R = -0.45), and UVM (R = 0.48) had the strongest correlations with the stromal score. CYFIP2 levels and immunological checkpoints were shown to be highly associated in a range of cancers, with mostly positive correlations in UVM and mostly negative correlations in BLCA, BRCA, COAD, HNSC, and PRAD, which were mostly negatively connected in UVM.

MSI and TMB Analyses

In the TMB study, CYFIP2 was found to be negatively linked with BRCA, COAD, KIRC, LGG, LIHC, LUAD, PAAD, SARC, STAD, THYM, UCEC, and UVM. CYFIP2 was positively and adversely linked with COAD, DLBC, KICH, SARC, and STAD in the MSI analysis (**Supplementary Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA), a common systematic autoimmune disease, has gained increasing attention around the world recently. The main symptoms of RA include musculoskeletal



pain, swollen joints, and stiffness, which can severely impair motor function and quality of life (2). Usually, RA is characterized by inflammation of the tendon, resulting in the destruction of cartilage and bone (23). Clinical data have demonstrated that women, smokers, and patients with a family history are susceptible populations (23), which could not help raise the hypothesis that genes may play a critical role in the pathogenesis. Growing evidence has pointed out that RA is a multi-gene disorder with a substantial genetic component and approximately 60% heritability (3). However, the current common RA symptomatic therapy strategy is conventional disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs), mainly including methotrexate (MTX) and leflunomide (LEF), which are used to reduce inflammation and prevent disease progression (24). The extensive use of DMARDs in worldwide clinical treatment has also made drug-resistance become an issue recently, and new therapy approaches are urgently needed. Therefore, exploring novel genetic targets would provide us with a new insight into RA therapy and treatment strategies.

Recent decades have witnessed the rapid development of molecular research and bioinformatics techniques. By enrichment analysis through molecular function, biological processes, and cellular components, molecular biology could provide us with a comprehensive and further investigation of how gene variation and co-expression influence protein function and disease progression. Meanwhile, the emerging weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA) has gradually been used in the association between diseases along with related phenotypes and clusters (modules) of highly corrected genes (15). Several studies have illustrated the effects of the hub gene and underlying molecular mechanisms in RA patients through WGCNA analysis (25, 26). While comprehensive immune infiltration and related pathways are still deficient.

Given these, we developed a comprehensive and in-depth evaluation system to analyze and verify hub genes and molecular pathways involved in RA patients through bioinformatics, especially WGCNA and protein–protein interaction (PPI) techniques, aiming to broaden the horizons into physiopathology and molecular mechanisms of RA and provide novel therapeutic targets for clinical treatment.

In this study, we screened 891 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) and found 427 genes were upregulated and 464 were downregulated. Subsequent GO enrichment analysis showed all DEGs mainly associated with cell–cell adhesion, components of the plasma membrane, and cytokine receptor activity, while KEGG enrichment analysis showed some correlation with hematopoietic and T cells, along with chemokine signaling pathways. WGCNA analysis showed 33 cluster samples and 24 modules. No significant correlation verified the reliability of dividing parts. Critical machine algorithms and LAASO regression analysis found 4 hub genes, then validation datasets confirmed that BTN3A2, CYFIP2, ST8SIA1, and TYMS were highly expressed in RA, and the first three genes were highly similar in biological function.

Several research reported a certain association between the 4 hub genes and the process of RA to a certain extent. An article by Horsburgh et al. illustrated that CpG-specific methylation at RA might become a marker of treatment response. Most notably, one of the CpG sites in the BTN3A2 genes was strongly



FIGURE 9 | Expression of CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1 in the synovial membrane of CIA mice. (A, B) Immunohistochemical analysis of CYFIP2 expression in normal mouse synovium, ((A) original magnification ×40, (B) original magnification ×100). (C, D) Immunohistochemical analysis of CYFIP2 expression in the synovial membrane of CIA mice, ((C) original magnification ×40, (D) original magnification ×100). (E, F) Immunohistochemical analysis of ST8SIA1 expression in normal mouse synovium, ((E) original magnification ×40, (F) original magnification ×100). (G, H) Immunohistochemical analysis of ST8SIA1 expression in normal mouse synovium, ((E) original magnification ×40, (F) original magnification ×100). (G, H) Immunohistochemical analysis of ST8SIA1 expression in the synovial membrane of CIA mice, (G) original magnification ×40, (H) original magnification ×100).

associated with treatment response (27). Actually, as a crucial mediator in immune activation, butyrophilin subfamily 3 member A2 (BTN3A2) was widely investigated in cancer initiation and development, revealing a tight link between

immune infiltration and cancer development, especially in breast cancer (BRCA) and ovarian cancer (OV) (28). From a molecular aspect, there was also evidence demonstrated that epithelial BTN3A2 expression was significantly associated with a



higher density of infiltration T cells, particularly CD4+ cells (29), which was similar to our enriched outcome at some level. However, the exact prognostic value of BTN3A2 in RA patients still warrants further investigation. Meanwhile, as for the gene CYFIP2, there is also a lack of research about it in the field of RA. A meta-analysis unearthed that CYFIP2 was upregulated and validated in peripheral blood mononuclear cell samples of RA patients, creating a novel gene signature in RA diagnostic and therapeutic interventions (30). An investigation focused on the downregulation of CYFIP2 in clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) revealed that several immune markers were critically correlated with CYFIP2 expression, especially with CD4+ cells and CD8+ cells, which could act as a tumor suppressor gene in ccRCC and create a novel strategy in clinical treatment (31). Except for RCC, current research about CYFIP2 was mainly concentrated on neurons and encephalopathy (32, 33), and more attention should be paid to RA. Similar to CYFIP2, most research about ST8SIA1 mainly focused on cancer, revealing that ST8SIA1 regulated tumor

growth and metastasis by activating the FAK/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway in breast cancer (34, 35), or inhibited the progression and invasion of bladder cancer cells by suppressing the JAK/STAT signaling pathway (36). However, no evidence was found in the RA research.

Unlike the above three genes, there is already adequate literature about TYMS in RA research. Thymidylate synthase (TYMS) is an important enzyme in the *de novo* pyrimidine pathway responsible for DNA replication (37). To predict the response or toxicity of MTX in patients with RA, a study by Bae et al. conducted a meta-analysis that demonstrated no association between the TYMS polymorphism and non-responsiveness to or toxicity of MTX therapy (38). Another investigation pointed out that polymorphic variations in the TYMS genes indicated a better clinical response to combined DMARD regimens containing MTX (39), and Lima et al. revealed similar results (40). This contrary research means further, more comprehensive and in-depth investigation is warranted to make certain the association between TYMS and MTX.



To illustrate the action of hub genes in RA one step further, we conducted a GSEA analysis, and the results showed that the primary immunodeficiency was significantly enriched in the high-expression subgroup of all 4 hub genes, and the intestinal immune network for IgA was enriched in CYFIP2 high-expression and ST8SIA1 high-expression subgroups, while hematopoietic cell lineage, Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation were enriched in ST8SIA1 high-expression and TYMS high-expression subgroups at the same time. Subsequent ROC analysis showed that all hub genes played a critical role in RA, indicating a potential diagnostic value in clinical treatment.

Finally, further immune infiltration analysis showed the mast cells in the RA group were higher than those in the control group. Mast cells could stimulate osteoclast differentiation in monocytes and then stimulate osteoclastogenesis, which is a mechanism of inflammatory and tissue destruction effects in RA patients (41). The association between hub genes and immune cells was mainly concentrated on CD8+ T cells, inflammation promoting, Tfh, TIL, and type 1 IFN response, which agreed with previous studies (42, 43).

To further explore the core genes among the four key genes, we chose to download immune genes from the InnateDB database and found two overlapping genes (CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1) at the intersection of the four characteristic genes. After *in vitro* validation using RA mice, it was found that the expression levels of both genes were increased, which further confirmed our previous research inferences. Combined with ssGSEA analysis, CYFIP2 was highly correlated with more immune cells and immune response processes compared with ST8SIA1. Therefore, we used CYFIP2 as the target gene for further analysis. Interestingly, some existing studies point to a relationship between RA and a variety of cancers. On the one hand, RA has been pointed out to have a relationship with the risk of cancer, including lung cancer (44), lymphoma (45), and breast cancer (46, 47), on the other hand, immunosuppressive agents used in RA treatment have also been shown to increase cardiovascular disease and important factors in cancer risk (48, 49). Therefore, we further explored the role of the hub gene found in RA, CYFIP2, in pan–cancer.

In our study, CYFIP2 was a prognostic protective factor for KIRC, LGG, and PAAD, and a risk factor for UCEC, but there is still a lack of relevant studies to prove it. From the overall situation of the current research, CYFIP2 has been studied more in digestive system cancers. For example, the study by Mongroo et al. (50). showed that CYFIP2 is highly expressed in IMP-1 knockdown colon cancer cell lines. This high expression is very important. It may be an important part of preventing CRC tumor cell death, similarly, Vandamme T et al. also found the up-regulation of CYFIP2 in pancreatic cancer (51). In addition, CYFIP2 has also been found to affect lymphoma progression after undergoing epigenetic modifications (52). These studies have fully demonstrated that CYFIP2 plays an important role in human diseases. In addition, pan-cancerbased immune cell infiltration analysis also revealed that CYFIP2 is closely related to T-cell CD8+, T-cell CD4+ and neutrophils. These high infiltrating fractions of cells are consistent with the results we obtained in RA.

Even though this is a comprehensive and novel evaluation system to explore hub genes and related signaling pathways in RA patients, even in pan-cancer, there were also several limitations in our study. Firstly, although we performed validation of gene expression in mice, due to the innate



restrictions of bioinformatics techniques, more experiments *in vivo* or *in vitro via* human samples are warranted to confirm our results. Secondly, because our data are from a database, some aspects like sex, age, and complications are not considered in our research, and further clinical investigation is needed.

Conclusion

To explore specific hub genes for the association between immune infiltration and RA as well as pan-cancer, we conducted a comprehensive and in-depth analysis to analyze related genes and pathways. The 2 hub genes (CYFIP2 and ST8SIA1) we discovered would broaden our insights into molecular mechanisms and bring more potential therapeutic targets for clinical treatment, which also needs more research to verify and develop. For further pan-cancer analysis, CYFIP2 was considered the most potential target both in RA and 33 kinds of tumors, which may shed the hoping light on the therapy of human immune-related diseases and even cancer.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Experimental Animal Ethics Committee of Jinan University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZYZ, SJH, and XCY planned the research concept and designed it, made provisions for study material, collected data and analyzed them, wrote and approved the manuscript. XFL and ST searched for data and wrote programming code. MHW, MMA, and XQH collected pictures and graphs as well as edited them. SZ and DSZ collected data and analyzed them, wrote and approved, and helped correct the manuscript. All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This research is funded by the Shenzhen Key Laboratory of Musculoskeletal Tissue Reconstruction and Function Restoration and Shenzhen People's Hospital (Project number: ZDSYS20200811143752005), the Guangzhou Science and Technology Project (Grant No. 201904010060, Effect and

REFERENCES

- 1. Aletaha D, Smolen JS. Diagnosis and Management of Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Review. *Jama* (2018) 320(13):1360–72. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.13103
- Sparks JA. Rheumatoid Arthritis. Ann Internal Med (2019) 170(1):Itc1-itc16. doi: 10.7326/aitc201901010
- 3. Dedmon LE. The Genetics of Rheumatoid Arthritis. Rheumatol (Oxford England) (2020) 59(10):2661–70. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa232
- Elshabrawy HA, Chen Z, Volin MV, Ravella S, Virupannavar S, Shahrara S. The Pathogenic Role of Angiogenesis in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Angiogenesis* (2015) 18(4):433–48. doi: 10.1007/s10456–015–9477–2
- Mousavi MJ, Karami J, Aslani S, Tahmasebi MN, Vaziri AS, Jamshidi A, et al. Transformation of Fibroblast–Like Synoviocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis, From a Friend to Foe. *Auto– Immun highlights* (2021) 12(1):3. doi: 10.1186/ s13317–020–00145–x
- Yap HY, Tee SZ, Wong MM, Chow SK, Peh SC, Teow SY. Pathogenic Role of Immune Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Implications in Clinical Treatment and Biomarker Development. *Cells* (2018) 7(10):1–23. doi: 10.3390/ cells7100161
- Choy E. Understanding the Dynamics: Pathways Involved in the Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatol (Oxford England)* (2012) 51 Suppl 5:v3– 11. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kes113
- Mittal N, Mittal R, Sharma A, Jose V, Wanchu A, Singh S. Treatment Failure With Disease–Modifying Antirheumatic Drugs in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. *Singapore Med J* (2012) 53(8):532–6.
- Abbasi M, Mousavi MJ, Jamalzehi S, Alimohammadi R, Bezvan MH, Mohammadi H, et al. Strategies Toward Rheumatoid Arthritis Therapy, the Old and the New. J Cell Physiol (2019) 234(7):10018–31. doi: 10.1002/ jcp.27860
- Ungethuem U, Haeupl T, Witt H, Koczan D, Krenn V, Huber H, et al. Molecular Signatures and New Candidates to Target the Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Physiol Genomics* (2010) 42a(4):267–82. doi: 10.1152/ physiolgenomics.00004.2010
- Woetzel D, Huber R, Kupfer P, Pohlers D, Pfaff M, Driesch D, et al. Identification of Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoarthritis Patients by Transcriptome-Based Rule Set Generation. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2014) 16(2): R84. doi: 10.1186/ar4526
- Sun Y, Caplazi P, Zhang J, Mazloom A, Kummerfeld S, Quinones G, et al. Pilrα Negatively Regulates Mouse Inflammatory Arthritis. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2014) 193(2):860–70. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400045
- Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. Limma Powers Differential Expression Analyses for Rna–Sequencing and Microarray Studies. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43(7):e47. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv007
- Walter W, Sánchez-Cabo F, Ricote M. Goplot: An R Package for Visually Combining Expression Data With Functional Analysis. *Bioinf (Oxford England)* (2015) 31(17):2912–4. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv300
- Langfelder P, Horvath S. Wgcna: An R Package for Weighted Correlation Network Analysis. BMC Bioinf (2008) 9:559. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-9-559

mechanism of \$100A4 on collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) model in mice, the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Project number:81401766), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (Project number: 21619348), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Project number: 81901650), and the Science and Technology Projects in Guangzhou (Project number: 2021020200460).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022.954848/full#supplementary-material

- Huang ML, Hung YH, Lee WM, Li RK, Jiang BR. Svm–Rfe Based Feature Selection and Taguchi Parameters Optimization for Multiclass Svm Classifier. *TheScientificWorldJournal* (2014) 2014:795624. doi: 10.1155/2014/795624
- Ishwaran H, Kogalur UB. Consistency of Random Survival Forests. Stat probability Lett (2010) 80(>13–14<):1056–64. doi: 10.1016/j.spl.2010.02.020
- Robin X, Turck N, Hainard A, Tiberti N, Lisacek F, Sanchez JC, et al. Proc: An Open–Source Package for R and S+ to Analyze and Compare Roc Curves. BMC Bioinf (2011) 12:77. doi: 10.1186/1471–2105–12–77
- Kilkenny C, Browne W, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG. Animal Research: Reporting in Vivo Experiments: The Arrive Guidelines. Br J Pharmacol (2010) 160(7):1577–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00872.x
- McGrath JC, Lilley E. Implementing Guidelines on Reporting Research Using Animals (Arrive Etc.): New Requirements for Publication in Bjp. Br J Pharmacol (2015) 172(13):3189–93. doi: 10.1111/bph.12955
- Leung BP, Sattar N, Crilly A, Prach M, McCarey DW, Payne H, et al. A Novel Anti–Inflammatory Role for Simvastatin in Inflammatory Arthritis. *J Immunol* (*Baltimore Md* 1950) (2003) 170(3):1524–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.3.1524
- Curtis MJ, Bond RA, Spina D, Ahluwalia A, Alexander SP, Giembycz MA, et al. Experimental Design and Analysis and Their Reporting: New Guidance for Publication in Bjp. *Br J Pharmacol* (2015) 172(14):3461–71. doi: 10.1111/ bph.12856
- Lin YJ, Anzaghe M, Schülke S. Update on the Pathomechanism, Diagnosis, and Treatment Options for Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Cells* (2020) 9(4):1–25. doi: 10.3390/cells9040880
- Zhang KX, Ip CK, Chung SK, Lei KK, Zhang YQ, Liu L, et al. Drug–Resistance in Rheumatoid Arthritis: The Role of P53 Gene Mutations, Abc Family Transporters and Personal Factors. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2020) 54:59–71. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2020.08.002
- Li Z, Qi F, Li F. Identification of Drug Targets and Potential Molecular Mechanisms for Wantong Jingu Tablet Extract in Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis: Bioinformatics Analysis of Fibroblast–Like Synoviocytes. *Chin Med* (2020) 15:59. doi: 10.1186/s13020-020-00339-5
- Jing Y, Han D, Xi C, Yan J, Zhuang J. Identification of Cross–Talk and Pyroptosis–Related Genes Linking Periodontitis and Rheumatoid Arthritis Revealed by Transcriptomic Analysis. *Dis Markers* (2021) 2021:5074305. doi: 10.1155/2021/5074305
- Horsburgh S, Ciechomska M, O'Reilly S. Cpg-Specific Methylation at Rheumatoid Arthritis Diagnosis as a Marker of Treatment Response. *Epigenomics* (2017) 9(5):595-7. doi: 10.2217/epi-2017-0011
- Cai P, Lu Z, Wu J, Qin X, Wang Z, Zhang Z, et al. Btn3a2 Serves as a Prognostic Marker and Favors Immune Infiltration in Triple–Negative Breast Cancer. J Cell Biochem (2020) 121(3):2643–54. doi: 10.1002/jcb.29485
- Le Page C, Marineau A, Bonza PK, Rahimi K, Cyr L, Labouba I, et al. Btn3a2 Expression in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Is Associated With Higher Tumor Infiltrating T Cells and a Better Prognosis. *PloS One* (2012) 7(6):e38541. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038541
- 30. Afroz S, Giddaluru J, Vishwakarma S, Naz S, Khan AA, Khan N. A Comprehensive Gene Expression Meta-Analysis Identifies Novel Immune

Signatures in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. Front Immunol (2017) 8:74. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00074

- Tong J, Meng X, Lv Q, Yuan H, Li W, Xiao W, et al. The Downregulation of Prognosis- and Immune Infiltration–Related Gene Cyfip2 Serves as a Novel Target in Ccrcc. Int J Gen Med (2021) 14:6587–99. doi: 10.2147/ijgm.S335713
- Zhang Y, Kang HR, Han K. Differential Cell–Type–Expression of Cyfip1 and Cyfip2 in the Adult Mouse Hippocampus. *Anim Cells Syst* (2019) 23(6):380–3. doi: 10.1080/19768354.2019.1696406
- 33. Nakashima M, Kato M, Aoto K, Shiina M, Belal H, Mukaida S, et al. De Novo Hotspot Variants in Cyfip2 Cause Early-Onset Epileptic Encephalopathy. Ann Neurol (2018) 83(4):794–806. doi: 10.1002/ana.25208
- 34. Wan H, Li Z, Wang H, Cai F, Wang L. St8sia1 Inhibition Sensitizes Triple Negative Breast Cancer to Chemotherapy Via Suppressing Wnt/B–Catenin and Fak/Akt/Mtor. Clin Trans Oncol (2021) 23(4):902–10. doi: 10.1007/ s12094–020–02484–7
- Nguyen K, Yan Y, Yuan B, Dasgupta A, Sun J, Mu H, et al. St8sia1 Regulates Tumor Growth and Metastasis in Thbc by Activating the Fak–Akt–Mtor Signaling Pathway. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2018) 17(12):2689–701. doi: 10.1158/ 1535–7163.Mct–18–0399
- 36. Yu S, Wang S, Sun X, Wu Y, Zhao J, Liu J, et al. St8sia1 Inhibits the Proliferation, Migration and Invasion of Bladder Cancer Cells by Blocking the Jak/Stat Signaling Pathway. Oncol Lett (2021) 22(4):736. doi: 10.3892/ ol.2021.12997
- Muralidharan N, Misra DP, Jain VK, Negi VS. Effect of Thymidylate Synthase (Tyms) Gene Polymorphisms With Methotrexate Treatment Outcome in South Indian Tamil Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2017) 36(6):1253–9. doi: 10.1007/s10067–017–3608–7
- Bae SC, Lee YH. Tyms Polymorphisms and Responsiveness to or Toxicity of Methotrexate in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Z fur Rheumatol* (2018) 77(9):824–32. doi: 10.1007/s00393–018–0419–4
- 39. James HM, Gillis D, Hissaria P, Lester S, Somogyi AA, Cleland LG, et al. Common Polymorphisms in the Folate Pathway Predict Efficacy of Combination Regimens Containing Methotrexate and Sulfasalazine in Early Rheumatoid Arthritis. J Rheumatol (2008) 35(4):562–71.
- Lima A, Seabra V, Bernardes M, Azevedo R, Sousa H, Medeiros R. Role of Key Tyms Polymorphisms on Methotrexate Therapeutic Outcome in Portuguese Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. *PloS One* (2014) 9(10):e108165. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0108165
- Kim KW, Kim BM, Won JY, Min HK, Lee KA, Lee SH, et al. Regulation of Osteoclastogenesis by Mast Cell in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2021) 23(1):124. doi: 10.1186/s13075-021-02491-1
- Zhou S, Lu H, Xiong M. Identifying Immune Cell Infiltration and Effective Diagnostic Biomarkers in Rheumatoid Arthritis by Bioinformatics Analysis. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:726747. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.726747
- 43. Rana AK, Li Y, Dang Q, Yang F. Monocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Circulating Precursors of Macrophages and Osteoclasts and, Their Heterogeneity and Plasticity Role in Ra Pathogenesis. Int Immunopharmacol (2018) 65:348-59. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.10.016
- Kallberg H. Rheumatoid Arthritis and Lung Cancer: You Probably Heard It Before. J Rheumatol (2008) 35(9):1695–6.

- Macfarlane GJ, Black RJ. Rheumatoid Arthritis and Lymphatic Cancer. Eur J Cancer (Oxford Engl 1990) (1996) 32a(10):1630–2. doi: 10.1016/0959-8049 (96)00242–0
- 46. Vandamme T, Beyens M, Boons G, Schepers A, Kamp K, Biermann K, et al. Hotspot Daxx, Ptch2 and Cyfip2 Mutations in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. *Endocrine-related Cancer* (2019) 26(1):1–12. doi: 10.1530/erc-18–0120
- 47. Halldórsdóttir AM, Kanduri M, Marincevic M, Mansouri L, Isaksson A, Göransson H, et al. Mantle Cell Lymphoma Displays a Homogenous Methylation Profile: A Comparative Analysis With Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Am J Hematol (2012) 87(4):361–7. doi: 10.1002/ajh.23115
- Wadström H, Pettersson A, Smedby KE, Askling J. Risk of Breast Cancer Before and After Rheumatoid Arthritis, and the Impact of Hormonal Factors. Ann rheumatic Dis (2020) 79(5):581–6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis–2019–216756
- 49. D'Arcy ME, Beachler DC, Pfeiffer RM, Curtis JR, Mariette X, Seror R, et al. Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitors and the Risk of Cancer Among Older Americans With Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Cancer epidemiol Biomarkers Prev Publ Am Assoc Cancer Research cosponsored by Am Soc Prev Oncol* (2021) 30 (11):2059–67. doi: 10.1158/1055–9965.Epi–21–0125
- Mongroo PS, Noubissi FK, Cuatrecasas M, Kalabis J, King CE, Johnstone CN, et al. Imp–1 Displays Cross–Talk With K–Ras and Modulates Colon Cancer Cell Survival Through the Novel Proapoptotic Protein Cyfip2. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(6):2172–82. doi: 10.1158/0008–5472.Can–10–3295
- Singh N, Li CI. Impact of Rheumatoid Arthritis and Biologic and Targeted Synthetic Disease Modifying Antirheumatic Agents on Cancer Risk and Recurrence. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2021) 33(3):292–9. doi: 10.1097/ bor.0000000000000796
- Ozdede A, Yazıcı H. Cardiovascular and Cancer Risk With Tofacitinib in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *New Engl J Med* (2022) 386(18):1766. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc2202778

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer Z–WG declared a shared parent affiliation with the author MEA to the handling editor at the time of the review.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhao, He, Yu, Lai, Tang, El Akkawi, Wang, Yan, Huang, Zeng and Zha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY Bin Liu, University of Arizona, United States Fan Pan, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE

Ruiman Li liruimanssr@163.com Hong Zhou zhouhongjnu@foxmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 14 June 2022 ACCEPTED 27 June 2022 PUBLISHED 28 July 2022

CITATION

Zhou J, Huang G, Wong W-C, Hu D-h, Zhu J-w, Li R and Zhou H (2022) The impact of antibiotic use on clinical features and survival outcomes of cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Front. Immunol.* 13:968729. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.968729

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhou, Huang, Wong, Hu, Zhu, Li and Zhou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The impact of antibiotic use on clinical features and survival outcomes of cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors

Jiaxin Zhou^{1,2†}, Guowei Huang^{3†}, Wan-Ching Wong^{4†}, Da-hai Hu^{2†}, Jie-wen Zhu⁵, Ruiman Li^{1*} and Hong Zhou^{1*}

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ²International School, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ³Shunde Hospital Affiliated to Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Department of General Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ⁵College of Science and Engineering, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

Background: Nowadays, immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) have become one of the essential immunotherapies for cancer patients. However, the impact of antibiotic (ATB) use on cancer patients treated with ICIs remains controversial.

Methods: Our research included retrospective studies and a randomized clinical trial (RCT) with cancer patients treated with ICIs and ATB, from the public database of PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, Cochrane, clinical trials, and JAMA. The survival outcomes included progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS). Meanwhile, hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated, and subgroup analyses were performed to determine the concrete association between ATB use and the prognosis of cancer patients treated in ICIs.

Results: Our results revealed that ATB use was associated with poor survival outcomes, including OS (HR: 1.94, 95% CI: 1.68–2.25, p <0.001) and PFS (HR: 1.83, 95% CI: 1.53–2.19, p <0.001). The subgroup analysis learned about the association between ATB use and the prognosis of cancer patients with ICI treatment, including 5 cancer types, 3 kinds of ICI, 5 different ATP windows, broad-spectrum ATB class, and ECOG score. ATB treatment was associated with poor OS of non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), renal cell carcinoma (RCC), esophageal cancer (EC), and melanoma (MEL) in patients treated in ICIs, while non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and renal cell carcinoma (RCC) were associated with poor PFS. Meanwhile, it was strongly related to the ICI type and ATB window. Furthermore, it is firstly mentioned that the use of broad-spectrum ATB class was strongly associated with poor PFS.

Conclusion: In conclusion, our meta-analysis indicated that ATB use was significantly associated with poor OS and PFS of cancer patients treated with ICI immunotherapy, especially for patients with ATB use in the period of (–60 days; +30 days) near the initiation of ICI treatment. Also, different cancer types and the ICI type can also impact the survival outcome. This first reveals the strong relationship between the broad-spectrum ATB class and poor PFS. Still, more studies are needed for further study.

KEYWORDS

antibiotic, immune checkpoint inhibitor, PD-1, PD-L1, survival outcomes

Introduction

Working via the anti-tumor immune response, immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) have proved a promising therapeutic treatment in the clinic, which was designed to interfere with inhibitory pathways that naturally constrain T cell reactivity (1). ICIs reinvigorate anti-tumor immune responses by disrupting co-inhibitory T-cell signaling (2). In the last decade, ICIs have caused a major paradigm shift in cancer therapy. It has been approved for various cancers and has improved the survival outcome for many patients (3). However, although ICIs did improve the survival outcome of cancer treatment, the efficacy of the ICI drugs is still limited due to refractiveness, and there are still some uncertain points regarding ICI therapy (4). Additionally, the use of ICIs can induce unique side effects called immune-related adverse events, which can vary a lot in different individuals (5). Some patients exhibit an atypical treatment response pattern with new or enlarging lesions, which needs further observation to determine the process (6). The side effects of ICI therapy involve various organs and systems, including the thyroid and pituitary glands, skin, and digestive system and respiratory system, which can markedly affect the physiological function of organs and the quality of life of patients, even causing fatal consequences in some extreme cases (7). Thus, it is urgent and necessary to find the novel biomarkers to select the patients who can most benefit from the drugs that are in need of being identified.

Antibiotic (ATB) therapy has produced indispensable advances for patients with cancer, populations who are more easily get infected by bacterial because of treatmentrelated immune suppression. The derangement of the gut microbiota environment has been increasingly wellcharacterized because of the existence of tumor-specific immune tolerogenesis (8). However, the association between ATB use and the prognosis of cancer patients in ICI treatment remains controversial. Some studies have reported that antibiotic use can result in reduced efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors, which can be the consequence of dysbiosis of the intestinal microbiome, a main determinant of the cancer-immune set point of patients (9). Meanwhile, the perturbation of the gut microbiota has been indicated as a possible mechanism to explain the adverse effects attributed to antibiotic exposure in the context of ICI therapy (10). Some studies have found that exposure to antibiotic therapy can influence the probability of response to ICI and predict worse patient survival across malignancies (11). However, ATB use can eliminate the infection and improve the quality of infected patients. Therefore, it is necessary to determine whether ATB use affects the efficacy of ICI treatment and the prognosis of cancer patients.

To learn about the specific association between ATB use and ICI treatment of cancer patients and provide potential reference to clinic performance, the current meta-analysis was performed to clarify if ATB use will impact the survival outcome of cancer patients treated in ICIs, and whether any clinical factors could be used to predict the response of patients to ICIs.

Materials and methods

Literature searching strategy

Our meta-analysis protocol was submitted to the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO CRD 42022330156), and this research followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines. Electronic databases including PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, Cochrane Library, and Clinical Trials were searched using MeSH words obtained from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Furthermore, the reference lists of eligible reports were also searched to identify potentially relevant studies ("Antibiotics, Antitubercular" AND "Antibiotics, Antineoplastic" AND "Anti-Bacterial Agents") AND ("Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors" OR "Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors" (Pharmacological Action) OR "Immune Checkpoint Proteins") were used as the search query.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

These criteria were developed by all the authors. Inclusion criteria: (I) publications studied the ATB use in cancer patients with ICI treatment; (II) patients were divided into different groups, according to whether they were treated with ATB; (III) the studies should include standard and sufficient data; (IV) research data must be obtained independently by relative organizations; and (V) the publication language was English. Exclusion criteria: (I) duplicate publications and data; (II) relevant research data in the literature comes from public databases; (III) literature types are reviews, case reports, meeting abstracts, and basic experimental research literature; and (IV) literature language is not English.

Data extracting and quality assessment

From each of the included literature, the following data were collected: the name of author, publication year, country or area, the number of patients, study design, cancer type, ICI treatment, antibiotic treatment information (ATB window and drug type), median OS, median PFS, survival outcome (OS and PFS). Meanwhile, to learn about the concrete relationships between ATB treatment and clinical features of ICI-treated cancer patients, the baseline characteristics of patients, including gender, ICI line, cancer stage grade, and lung cancer, were also recorded. These data were reported in a standardized data extraction spreadsheet for further analysis. The quality assessment of eligible studies was done independently using the Newcastle–Ottawa scale.

Statistical analysis

The meta-analysis was conducted to calculate the pooled HRs with corresponding 95% Confidential Intervals (CIs) by using Review Manager 5.4 software for Mac. To avoid the potential heterogeneity affection, a random-effects model was chosen to analyze the survival outcome. Moreover, the dichotomous and generic inverse variance method models were adopted to analyze the extracted data. Statistical heterogeneity was assessed using the χ^2 test and the I² test, and publication bias was assessed by funnel plots. Statistical significance was considered in this study when p < 0.05.

Results

Study selection

The initial literature search identified 772 reports, including 409 reports from PubMed, 188 reports from the Web of Science, 103 reports from the Embase database, 24 from the Cochrane database, 30 from clinical trials, and 18 from the JAMA database. After removing duplicate reports, 678 pieces of literature were considered potentially eligible. Finally, according to the above including and excluding criteria, 45 articles were selected, including 12,493 patients. The survival outcomes were composed of progress-free survival outcomes (PFS) and overall survival (OS). The study selection flowchart isshown in Figure 1.

Baseline characteristics of included studies

The eligible studies included 12,493 patients and 13 kinds of cancer types: lung cancer, head and neck cancers, renal cell carcinoma, acute myelocytic leukemia, melanoma, urothelial carcinoma, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, liver cancer, porocarcinoma, digestive tract carcinoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma, cervical cancer, and cholangiocarcinoma. The publication year ranged from 2017 to 2022, and the studies were performed in 17 different areas. Among all the studies, five of them used randomized controlled trial (RCT) designs, while other studies were retrospective. Seventeen of the studies used only one kind of ICI, including PD-1 (programmed cell death protein 1) inhibitor, PD-L1 (programmed cell death 1 ligand 1) inhibitor, and CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4) inhibitor (PD-1 inhibitors: n = 12; PD-L1 inhibitors: n = 4; CTLA-4 inhibitors: n = 1). While four of them were not definite, the ICI therapy and the other research used a combination of different ICI treatments for at least two of them. The detailed information is shown in Table 1.

Analysis of ATB use and clinic features

In this study, we performed a meta-analysis between ATB use and clinic features, including ECOG score (\leq), PD-L1 expression (<1%), non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients, gender (male) and ICI therapy line (0–1 prior), which were shown in **Supplementary Material**. However, we did not observe a clear significant association of these factors (p >0.05), except for the ECOG score (\leq 1). Among all the eligible studies, 20 studies were chosen to analyze the relationship



between ATB use in ICI treatment and ECOG scores. The results showed that the cancer patients with ATB use in the clinic were associated with a lower ECOG score (\leq 1) in importance significance (HR: 0.69, 95% CI: 0.49–0.98, p = 0.04).

The association between ATB use and survival outcomes (OS + PFS)

Thirty-seven studies were selected to analyze overall survival (OS). The results revealed that ATB use was strongly associated with the increased risk of poor OS (HR: 1.94, 95% CI: 1.68–2.25, p <0.00001), shown in Figure 2A. However, a clear heterogeneity was observed in this analysis (I² = 84%). Moreover, 31 studies were selected to perform progression-free survival (PFS). The results shown in Figure 2B indicated that ATB use was significantly associated with worse PFS (HR: 1.83, 95% CI: 1.53–2.19, p <0.00001), but also with an obvious heterogeneity (I² = 86%).

Sensitivity analysis

For further verification to identify the association between ATB use and the survival outcomes (OS + PFS) in ICI-treated cancer patients, we performed the same analysis in randomized controlled trial studies as the sensitivity analysis. Three RCT studies were selected. It revealed a similar result as above, that in cancer patients treated with ICIs, ATB use was significantly related to poor OS (HR: 3.13, 95% CI: 1.25–7.84, p <0.001, $I^2 =$ 90%) and poor PFS (HR: 2.54, 95% CI: 1.38–4.68, p <0.001, $I^2 =$ 70%) (Figure 3).

In NSCLC, RCC, HCC, EC, and MEL, how does the ATB use impact the prognosis (OS + PFS) in patients treated in ICIs?

For cancer types, we chose NSCLC, RCC, HCC, EC, and MEL to observe. In the OS sub-group analysis, seventeen

TABLE 1 Basic characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis (n = 45).

Study	Year	Patients	Area	ICI type	ATB window	Method
A. Iglesias-Santamariía (12)	2019	102	Spain	CTLA-4, PD-1,PD-L1	(-28,28)	Retrospective cohort study
Akhil Kapoor (13)	2020	155	India	nivolumab	(-14,14)	Retrospective cohort study,
Aly-Khan A. Lalani (14)	2019	146	NK	PD-1, PD-L1	(-56,28)	Retrospective cohort study
Amit A Kulkarni (15)	2020	195	Caucasian, African, American, Others	Nivolumab Pembrolizumab Others	(-28,42)	Retrospective cohort study
Andrew F. Nyein (16)	2022	256	American	PD-1, PD-L1, CTLA-4	(-60,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Angelo Castello (17)	2021	50	Italy	PD-1,PL-L1	(-30,30)	RCT
Anne Schett (18)	2020	218	Switzerland	PD-1,PD-L1	(-60,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Arielle Elkrief (19)	2019	74	NK	PD-1, CTLA-4	(0,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Bertrand Routy (20)	2022	100	NK	PD-1,PL-L1	NK	RCT
C hogue (21)	2019	161	American	PD-1	(-90,0)	Retrospective cohort study
Coureche Kaderbhai (22)	2017	74	France	PD-1	(-90,0)	Retrospective cohort study
David J. Pinato (23)	2019	196	London	PD-L1	(-30,0)	RCT
Deniz Can Guve (24)	2021	93	Turkey	PD-1	(-90,90)	Retrospective cohort study
F. Barroín (25)	2019	140	Mexico	PD-L1	(0,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Florian Huemer (26)	2019	142	Austria	PD-1, PD-L1	(-30,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Florian Huemer (27)	2018	30	Austria	PD-1	(-30,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Hyunho Kim (28)	2019	234	Korea	CTLA-4, PD-1,PD-L1	(-60,0)	Retrospective cohort study
Jahan J. Mohiuddin (<mark>29</mark>)	2020	568	American	PD-1, CTLA-4	(-90,90)	Retrospective cohort study
Jhe-cyuan Guo (30)	2019	49	Taiwan	PD-1, PD-L1	(-60,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Jibran Ahmed (31)	2018	60	USA	PD-1,PD-L1	(-14,14)	Retrospective cohort study
Julia Ouaknine Krief (32)	2019	72	France	PD-1	(-60,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Jwa Hoon Kim (33)	2021	53	Korea	PD-1	(-30,0)	Retrospective cohort study
Ka Shing Cheung (34)	2021	412	China	PD-1, CTLA-4	(-30,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Katharina Pomej (35)	2021	206	Vienna	NK	(-30,0)	Retrospective cohort study
Kazuyuki Hamada (<mark>36</mark>)	2021	69	Japan	PD-1	(-21,21)	Retrospective cohort study
Kosuke Ueda (37)	2019	31	Japan	PD-1, CTLA-4	(-30,0)	Retrospective cohort study
L. Derosa (38)	2018	121	America	PD-L1	(-60,0)	Retrospective cohort study
Laura M. Chambers (39)	2021	101	USA	PD-L1	(-30,0)	Retrospective cohort study, RCT

(Continued)

Study	Year	Patients	Area	ICI type	ATB window	Method
Louis Gaucher (40)	2021	372	France	PD-1, CTLA-4	(0,60)	Retrospective cohort study
M. Chalabi (41)	2020	1,512	Netherlands	PD-L1	(-30,30)	Retrospective cohort study,
Megan Greally (42)	2019	161	American	PD-1,PD-L1, CTLA-4	(-60,0)	NK
Metges (43)	2018	798	NK	PD-1	(-60,30),(-60,150)	Retrospective cohort study
Min Jung Geum (44)	2021	140	NK	PD-1	NK	Retrospective cohort study
Nadina Tinsley (45)	2020	347	England	NK	(-14,42)	Retrospective cohort study
Nobuaki Ochi (46)	2021	531	Japan	PD-L1	(-60,60)	Retrospective cohort study
Petros Fessas (47)	2021	450	Europe, North America, Asia	PD-1,PD-L1	(-30,0)(0,30)(-30,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Pierre-Yves Cren (48)	2020	1,585	France	CTLA-4	(-60,60)	Retrospective cohort study
Po-Hsien Lu MS (49)	2020	340	Taiwan	PD-1, PD-L1,CTLA-4	(-30,0)	Retrospective cohort study
Quentin (50)	2021	212	France	PD-1	(-60,0)	Retrospective cohort study
Sha Zhao (51)	2019	109	China	PD-1/PD-L1	(-30,30)	Retrospective cohort study
Steven R. Hwang (52)	2020	62	USA	PD-1, CTLA-4	(-90,0)(0,90)	Retrospective cohort study
Taiki Hakozaki (53)	2020	70	Japan	PD-1/PD-L1	(-30,0)	RCT
Uqba Khan (<mark>9</mark>)	2021	414	American	PD-1,PD-L1, CTLA-4	(-84,84)	Retrospective cohort study
X. Mielgo Rubio (54)	NK	121	Spanish	PD-1	(-60,60)	Retrospective cohort study
Ying Jing (55)	2022	767	china	PD-1, PD-L1	(-90,90)	Retrospective cohort study

TABLE 1 Continued

NK, not known.

studies were selected for NSCLC, two studies were selected for RCC, two studies were selected for HCC, three studies were selected for EC, and four studies were selected for MEL. NSCLC (HR: 2.09, 95% CI: 1.69–2.58), RCC (HR: 1.81, 95% CI: 1.14–2.87), EC (HR: 2.80, 95% CI: 1.08–7.25), and MEL (HR: 1.94, 95% CI: 1.41–2.67) were shown to be strongly associated with poor OS. However, no significant relationship was observed for HCC. Moreover, four different cancer types were included in the PFS subgroup analysis, including NSCLC, RCC, HCC, and EC, which indicated that NSCLC (HR: 1.81, 95% CI: 1.47–2.24) and RCC (HR: 3.14, 95% CI: 2.16–4.58) cancer types were associated with poor PFS with a strong effect and HCC, whereas EC was not significantly related (Figure 4).

In cancer patients treated in PD-1 or PD-L1 ICI type, how does the ATB use impact the prognosis (OS + PFS)?

PD-1 inhibitor, PD-L1 inhibitor, and the combination of PD-1 inhibitor and PD-L1 inhibitor were selected to do the sub-analysis for ICI type. The results showed that all the three types showed a stronger effect on OS (PD-1 inhibitor: HR: 2.20, 95% CI: 1.87–2.60, p <0.00001, $I^2 = 25\%$; PD-L1 inhibitor: HR: 1.47, 95% CI: 1.19–1.82; combination of PD-1 inhibitor and PD-L1 inhibitor: HR: 2.30, 95% CI: 1.41–3.75). Meanwhile, the same inhibitor types were observed in the PFS sub-analysis, and only the PD-1 inhibitor (HR: 2.32, 95% CI: 1.83–2.95) and the combination of PD-1 inhibitor and PD-L1 inhibitor (HR: 1.81, 95% CI: 1.20–2.73) showed a significant relationship with PFS (Figure 5).

Study or Subgroup	log[Odds Ratio]	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019	-0.0202	0.0788	3.4%	0.98 [0.84, 1.14]	+
Akhil Kapoor 2020	0.5878	0.1574	3.0%	1.80 [1.32, 2.45]	
Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020	1.1632	0.2552	2.3%	3.20 [1.89, 5.42]	
Andrew F. Nyein 2022	0.3001	0.1531	3.1%	1.35 [1.00, 1.82]	
Angelo Castello 2021	0.47	0.3209	2.2%	1.60 [0.85, 3.00]	
Anne Schett 2020	0.9594	0.1642	3.0%	2.61 [1.89, 3.60]	
Arielle Elkrief 2019 Portrand Pouty 2022	0.6539	0.3614	2.0%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90]	
David I. Pinato 2019	2.0015	0.2108	2.9%	7.40 [4.90, 11.19]	
David J. Pinato(cATB) 2019	-0.1054	0.2282	2.7%	0.90 [0.58, 1.41]	
Deniz Can Guve 2021	0.8355	0.2684	2.4%	2.31 [1.36, 3.90]	
F. Barrón 2019	0.8329	0.2935	2.3%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09]	
Florian Huemer 2018	1.1712	0.3582	2.0%	3.23 [1.60, 6.51]	
Hyunho Kim 2019	0.5794	0.1337	3.2%	1.78 [1.37, 2.32]	-
Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020	0.5933	0.1376	3.1%	1.81 [1.38, 2.37]	-
Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019	1.6214	0.3784	1.9%	5.06 [2.41, 10.62]	
Jibran Ahmed 2018	1.0647	0.5432	1.3%	2.90 [1.00, 8.41]	
Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019	0.7885	0.2691	2.4%	2.20 [1.30, 3.73]	
Katharina Pomei 2021	0.5933	0.1829	2.3%	1 81 [1 26 2 59]	
Kazuyuki Hamada 2021	0.6881	0.3038	2.2%	1.99 [1.10, 3.61]	
L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018	1.4816	0.2042	2.8%	4.40 [2.95, 6.57]	
L. Derosa(RCC) 2018	1.2528	0.4494	1.6%	3.50 [1.45, 8.45]	
Laura M. Chambers 2021	0.1823	0.2093	2.8%	1.20 [0.80, 1.81]	
M. Chalabi 2020	0.2776	0.0852	3.4%	1.32 [1.12, 1.56]	-
Megan Greally 2019	0.2311	0.1438	3.1%	1.26 [0.95, 1.67]	<u>↓</u>
Min Jung Geum 2021	1.1969	0.243	2.6%	3.31 [2.06, 5.33]	
Nadina Tinsley 2020	0.3873	0.1359	3.2%	1.47 [1.13, 1.92]	-
Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Potros Essas 2021	0.3221	0.1124	3.3%	1.38 [1.11, 1.72]	
Pierre-Yves Cren 2020	0.5008	0.1269	3.2%	1.65 [1.29, 2.12]]_
Po-Hsien Lu Ms 2020	1.0647	0.4946	1.4%	2.90 [1.10, 7.65]	
Quentin 2021	0.7467	0.2203	2.7%	2.11 [1.37, 3.25]	- - -
Sha Zhao 2019	1.1087	0.3764	1.9%	3.03 [1.45, 6.34]	
Y Mielgo Rubio	1.4271	0.0014	1.1%	4.17 [1.28, 13.54]	
X. Micigo Rubio	0.0415	0.2705	2.470	1.50 [1.10, 5.20]	
Total (95% CI) Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.16$; Ch Test for overall effect: $Z = 8.77$	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001)	88 (P < 0	100.0% .00001); I ²	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] ² = 84% Odds Ratio	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control]
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ct Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup	hi ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio]	38 (P < 0 SE	100.0% .00001); I ² Weight	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI	0.01 0.1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio] -0.3711	88 (P < 0 SE 0.2117	100.0% .00001); I ² Weight 3.2%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 000 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio] -0.3711 0.6729	88 (P < 0 SE 0.2117 0.1905	100.0% .00001); I ² Weight 3.2% 3.3%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] ² = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85]	O.01 0.1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 00 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cr Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio] -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809	SE (P < 0 SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913	100.0% .00001); I ² Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ct Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Algeisas-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020	ni ² = 235.22, df = 5 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio] -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306	SE (P < 0 SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926	100.0% .00001); I ² Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02]	O.01 O.1 I IO IOO Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cr Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (NSCLC) 2020	h ² = 235.22, df = 5 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio] -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691	100.0% .00001); I ² Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41]	Olds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amgelo Castello 2021 Ange Schetlo 2021	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio] -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522	100.0% .00001); I ² Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5%	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{1.94} \; \textbf{[1.68, 2.25]} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \textbf{Odds Ratio} \\ \textbf{V, Random, 95\% CI} \\ \textbf{0.69} \; \textbf{[0.46, 1.04]} \\ \textbf{1.96} \; \textbf{[1.35, 2.85]} \\ \textbf{3.60} \; \textbf{[2.03, 6.37]} \\ \textbf{1.70} \; \textbf{[0.96, 3.27]} \\ \textbf{2.60} \; \textbf{[1.53, 4.41]} \\ \textbf{2.22} \; \textbf{[1.65, 2.99]} \end{array}$	O.01 O.1 1 1 0 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 3 5 5 4. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Amit A Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) log[Odds Ratio] -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876	100.0% .00001); i ² Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63]	O.01 O.1 I IO 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (NSCL) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (NSCL) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (NSCL) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (NSCL) 2020 Amit A Sutharni (NSCL) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elikrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 -0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.444	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23	100.0% .00001); i ² Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.1%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44]	O.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 000 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guye 2021	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.44	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157	100.0% .00001); i ² Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.1% 3.2%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio (V, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 2.62 [0.72, 2.57]	O.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 00ds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amgelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4886 0.4886	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157 0.3226	100.0% .00001); i ² Weight 3.2% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6%	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{1.94} \; \textbf{[1.68, 2.25]} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \textbf{Odds Ratio} \\ \textbf{V, Random, 95\% CI} \\ \textbf{0.69} \; \textbf{[0.46, 1.04]} \\ \textbf{1.96} \; \textbf{[1.35, 2.85]} \\ \textbf{3.60} \; \textbf{[2.03, 6.37]} \\ \textbf{1.70} \; \textbf{[0.96, 3.02]} \\ \textbf{2.70} \; \textbf{[0.96, 3.02]} \\ \textbf{2.20} \; \textbf{[1.65, 2.99]} \\ \textbf{3.57} \; \textbf{[1.67, 7.63]} \\ \textbf{1.55} \; \textbf{[0.99, 2.44]} \\ \textbf{2.24} \; \textbf{[1.47, 3.42]} \\ \textbf{1.63} \; \textbf{[0.87, 3.07]} \\ \textbf{2.74} \; \textbf{[1.62, 2.22]} \end{array}$	O.01 O.1 1 1 0 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetity: Tau ² = 0.16; CH Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.444 0.8056 0.4886 0.7766	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.233 0.2157 0.3226 0.2266	100.0% .00001); F Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.5% 2.3% 3.2% 2.6% 3.2% 2.6% 3.2%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.42 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 2.60 [0.77, 1.20] 2.67 [1.20] 2.67 [1.20] 2.67 [2.20] 2.67 [2.20] 2.7 [2	O.01 O.1 I IO 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.44 0.8056 0.7766 0.7766 0.0198	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3226 0.233 0.2157 0.3226 0.2606 0.1462	100.0% .00001); F Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.9% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.0% 3.0% 3.5%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio (V, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.30] 0.20 [0.77, 1.30] 1.02 [0.77	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Ch Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho 2019 Humbe Xie 2020	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 -0.7766	SE (P < 0 SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157 0.3226 0.2606 0.1462 0.1462 0.1707 0.1107	100.0% .00001); F Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.3% 2.3% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \hline \\ 0.000 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 0.09 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 0.00 \left[0.36, 2.85 \right] \\ 0.00 \left[0.36, 4.01 \right] \\ 0.20 \left[1.53, 4.41 \right] \\ 0.22 \left[1.65, 2.99 \right] \\ 0.57 \left[1.67, 7.63 \right] \\ 1.55 \left[0.99, 2.44 \right] \\ 0.24 \left[1.47, 3.42 \right] \\ 1.63 \left[0.87, 3.07 \right] \\ 0.17 \left[1.30, 3.62 \right] \\ 1.02 \left[0.77, 1.36 \right] \\ 0.70 \left[0.50, 0.92 \right] \end{array} $	O.01 O.1 1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cr Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amgelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.3306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.7766 0.4886 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157 0.3226 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2157 0.2266 0.2606 0.2157 0.2606 0.2117	100.0% .00001); F Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.5% 2.6% 3.2% 2.6% 3.0% 3.5% 3.4% 3.7%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 2.64] 0.70 [0.50, 0.98] 1.71 [1.36, 2.44] 2.94 [1.64] 2.94 [1.64] 2.94 [1.64] 2.94 [1.64] 2.94 [1.64] 2.95 [1.65] 2.95	O.01 O.1 i 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 000 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anie Elikref 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.43567 0.5394 1.3635 0.5394	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.2157 0.3226 0.2157 0.3226 0.2469 0.1707 0.1185 0.2469	100.0% .00001); I [*] 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.4% 3.7% 3.0%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio (V, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 0.70 [0.50, 0.98] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 00dds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amite Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Z019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Jibran Ahmed 2018	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157 0.3226 0.2606 0.1462 0.1462 0.1462 0.1462 0.2469 0.2469 0.2502 0.2502	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.0% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio <u>IV, Random, 95% CI</u> 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.8] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 0.70 [0.50, 0.98] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.62]	Olds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cr Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Juha Ouaknine Krief 2019 Junia Ouaknine Krief 2019	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.7766 0.04886 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.233 0.2157 0.3226 0.2606 0.1462 0.1707 0.1185 0.2469 0.2469 0.2462 0.24600 0.24600 0.24600 0.24600 0.24600000000000000000000000000000000000	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.3% 3.5% 2.3% 3.1% 3.2% 3.5% 2.3% 3.1% 3.2% 3.4% 3.7% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.67] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 0.70 [0.50, 0.98] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 1.60 [0.76, 3.25 £ 67]	O.01 O.1 i 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.4886 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.2157 0.3226 0.2469 0.2469 0.2502 0.2808 0.2769 0.2606	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.3% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.2% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \hline \\$	O.01 O.1 i 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Jglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hono Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.4886 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.3876 0.263 0.2157 0.3226 0.2606 0.1462 0.2606 0.1462 0.2606 0.2469 0.2502 0.3806 0.2769 0.3808 0.2769 0.3039 0.2769	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.5% 3.2% 3.5% 3.2% 3.5% 3.2% 3.5% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 1.72 [1.36, 2.16] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95] 3.50 [1.93, 6.55] 3.50 [1.94, 6.45]	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jiwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSLIKE ILED 2010	ni ² = 235.22, df = 3 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.444 0.8056 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 1.3635 0.47 1.3622 1.2528 1.1506	SE (P < 0 0.2117 0.2913 0.2923 0.2924 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.2630 0.2157 0.3226 0.2606 0.2469 0.2469 0.2502 0.3808 0.27602 0.27602	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.3% 3.5% 2.3% 3.2% 2.6% 3.2% 3.5% 3.2% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.7% 3.0% 3.9% 2.3% 3.0% 3.4% 3.9% 3.4% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	O.01 0.1 1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Deniz Can Guve 2021 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Xim 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4886 0.4486 0.4886 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.528 1.3506 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.2326 0.2606 0.3226 0.2606 0.1462 0.2406 0.1407 0.3226 0.2408 0.2502 0.2502 0.3808 0.2502 0.3808 0.2502 0.3808 0.2502 0.3808 0.2502 0.2705	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.9% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.8% 2.3% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.3% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ 2^{2} = 84\% \\ \hline \\ 0.69 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 0.69 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 1.96 \left[1.35, 2.85 \right] \\ 3.60 \left[2.03, 6.37 \right] \\ 1.70 \left[0.96, 3.02 \right] \\ 2.60 \left[1.53, 4.41 \right] \\ 2.22 \left[1.65, 2.99 \right] \\ 3.57 \left[1.67, 7.63 \right] \\ 1.55 \left[0.99, 2.44 \right] \\ 2.24 \left[1.47, 3.42 \right] \\ 1.63 \left[0.87, 3.07 \right] \\ 2.17 \left[1.30, 3.62 \right] \\ 1.02 \left[0.77, 1.36 \right] \\ 0.70 \left[0.50, 0.98 \right] \\ 1.71 \left[1.36, 2.16 \right] \\ 3.91 \left[2.41, 6.34 \right] \\ 1.60 \left[0.98, 2.61 \right] \\ 1.60 \left[0.76, 3.37 \right] \\ 4.04 \left[2.35, 6.95 \right] \\ 3.51 \left[1.84, 5.43 \right] \\ 6.52 \left[2.51, 1.69 \right] \\ 1.50 \left[1.02 \right] \\ 0.70 \left[1.52 \right] \\ \end{array}$	O.01 O.1 i 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RSCL) 2018	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4886 0.4886 0.4486 0.4886 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 1.3962 1.2528 1.1506 1.8746 0.4055 1.2528	EE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157 0.3226 0.2469 0.2606 0.1462 0.2606 0.1462 0.2606 0.2469 0.2502 0.2469 0.2502 0.3308 0.2765 0.3308 0.2765 0.3306 0.2765 0.3306 0.3306 0.2765 0.3306 0	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.5% 3.2% 3.2% 3.5% 3.2% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.7% 2.3% 3.7% 3.2% 3.	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio (V, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.0] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 0.70 [0.50, 0.38] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.96, 3.37] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95] 3.50 [1.93, 6.35] 3.16 [1.48, 5.43] 6.52 [2.51, 16.95] 1.50 [1.10, 2.05]	• 10 100 Favours [experimental]] Favours [control]] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Z019 Hyunho Z019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jua Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KoSuKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5397 1.3635 0.47 1.3635 0.47 1.3635 0.47 1.3622 1.2528 1.1506 0.8876 0.4055 1.314	SE (P < 0 .2117 0.2117 0.2926 0.2926 0.2591 0.2592 0.2691 0.2592 0.2691 0.2250 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2607 0.22502 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.22502 0.2606 0.22502 0.27502 0.27572	100.0% .00001); F 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.3% 3.5% 3.2% 2.6% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.0% 2.9% 1.9% 2.9% 1.9% 2.7% 2.9%	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	O.01 O.1 I I IO 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% CI) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; CF Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Pilorian Guey 2022 Deniz Can Guye 2021 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4886 0.4886 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.5394 1.3636 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47 0.47	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.2326 0.2606 0.3226 0.3226 0.2606 0.1462 0.2402 0.3226 0.2405 0.2405 0.2502 0.3808 0.2502 0.3808 0.2502 0.3808 0.2765 0.3808 0.2765 0.1574 0.3086 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.2502 0.3266 0.2502 0.3266 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.2502 0.3266 0.2502 0.2502 0.3266 0.3266 0.2502 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3266 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.30866 0.30866 0.3086 0.30866 0.30866 0.30866 0.30866 0.30866 0.3086	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.3% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ &$	O.01 O.1 I I 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Jglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Periz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jula Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jua Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 Megan Greally 2019 Nadina Tickay 2020	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4866 0.4866 0.4866 0.4866 0.4866 0.4866 0.4885 0.4776 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 1.3962 1.2528 1.1506 1.8746 0.4055 1.1314 -0.4088 0.0953 0.437	EE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2916 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157 0.3226 0.2469 0.2606 0.1462 0.2606 0.1462 0.2765 0.2469 0.2302 0.2765 0.3308 0.2765 0.3308 0.2765 0.3308 0.3086 0.3308 0.2765 0.1574 0.3086 0.3086 0.3086 0.3086 0.2765 0.1574 0.3086 0.3086 0.2765 0.1574 0.3086 0.2765 0.3086 0.3086 0.2765 0.3086 0.3086 0.3086 0.3086 0.2765 0.3086 0.3086 0.3086 0.3086 0.3086 0.2765 0.3086 0.3086 0.2765 0.3086 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.2765 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3276 0.3086 0	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.6% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.7% 2.3% 3.0% 3.5% 2.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio (V, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.0] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 0.70 [0.50, 0.38] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.96, 3.37] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95] 3.50 [1.30, 6.35] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 3.16 [1.48, 5.43] 6.52 [2.51, 16.95] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 3.10 [1.69, 5.68] 0.96 [0.66, 1.39] 1.10 [0.85, 1.43] 1.40 [1.4, 7.43]	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Z019 Hyunho Z019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2021 Katatharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 Katharina Pomej 202	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.444 0.8056 0.7866 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3655 0.47 0.5394 1.3655 0.47 0.5394 1.3655 0.47 0.5394 1.3655 0.47 0.5394 1.3655 0.47 0.5394 1.3655 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.47 0.5394 0.5394 0.5397	SE (P < 0 .2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2591 0.2591 0.2592 0.2591 0.2592 0.2592 0.2592 0.2592 0.2592 0.2691 0.2202 0.2691 0.2202 0.2692 0.2202 0.2692 0.2257 0.2250 0.2459 0.2259 0.2259 0.2369 0.2359 0.2459 0.2259 0.2579 0.2259 0.2369 0.2459 0.2759 0.2759 0.2759 0.2759 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.2769 0.32769 0.32769 0.32769 0.32769 0.32769 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.3895 0.2395 0.2357 0.3895 0.3895 0.2357 0.2357 0.2357 0.2357 0.3257 0.3895 0.3895 0.23577 0.23577 0.23577 0.23577 0.2357 0.23577 0.23577 0	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 2.6% 3.0% 2.9% 1.9% 2.7% 2.9% 1.9% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup A. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Pilorian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Xim 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Jher-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 Megan Greally 2019 Nadina Tinsley 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4886 0.4886 0.7766 0.198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.47 0.4371 0.4371 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372 0.4372	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.2691 0.1522 0.2606 0.3876 0.2606 0.1602 0.2606 0.1602 0.2606 0.1602 0.2606 0.1607 0.1707 0.1185 0.2609 0.2502 0.3036 0.3036 0.2502 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.3036 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.3036 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2020 0.2000 0.20200 0.20200000000	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 2.9% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.3% 2.9% 3.5% 3.3% 2.9% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ 2^{2} = 84\% \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 0.69 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 0.69 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 1.96 \left[1.35, 2.85 \right] \\ 3.60 \left[2.03, 6.37 \right] \\ 1.70 \left[0.96, 3.02 \right] \\ 2.60 \left[1.53, 4.41 \right] \\ 2.22 \left[1.65, 2.99 \right] \\ 3.57 \left[1.67, 7.63 \right] \\ 1.55 \left[0.99, 2.44 \right] \\ 2.24 \left[1.47, 3.42 \right] \\ 1.63 \left[0.87, 3.07 \right] \\ 2.17 \left[1.30, 3.62 \right] \\ 1.02 \left[0.77, 1.36 \right] \\ 0.70 \left[0.50, 0.98 \right] \\ 1.71 \left[1.36, 2.16 \right] \\ 3.91 \left[2.41, 6.34 \right] \\ 1.60 \left[0.98, 2.61 \right] \\ 1.60 \left[0.76, 3.37 \right] \\ 4.04 \left[2.35, 6.95 \right] \\ 3.50 \left[1.93, 6.35 \right] \\ 3.50 \left[1.93, 6.35 \right] \\ 3.50 \left[1.93, 6.35 \right] \\ 3.50 \left[1.02, 0.44 \right] \\ 3.10 \left[1.69, 5.68 \right] \\ 0.96 \left[0.66, 1.39 \right] \\ 1.00 \left[0.85, 1.43 \right] \\ 1.40 \left[1.11, 1.77 \right] \\ 1.14 \left[0.95, 1.34 \right] \\ 1.07 \left[0.62, 0.96 \right] \\ 0.76 \left[0.62 \right] 0.96 \\ 0.76 \left[0.98 \right] \\ 0.75 \left[0.92 \right] 0.97 \\ 0.96 \left[0.95 \right] \\ 0.97 \left[0.92 \right] \\ 0.97 \left[0.95 \right] \\ 0.97 $	Oll Oll Oll Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Godds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Periz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 Megan Greally 2019 Nadina Tinsley 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Petros Fessas 2021 Ouentin 2021	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 1.3726 1.3942 1.3962 1.2528 1.1506 1.8746 0.4055 1.1314 -0.0408 0.0953 0.3372 0.3372 0.3372 0.3372 0.3372	EE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2926 0.2926 0.2926 0.2926 0.2926 0.237 0.2157 0.3226 0.1462 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2606 0.2609 0.2765 0.2609 0.2765 0.2009 0.2009 0.2009 0.2769 0.2009 0.2009 0.2009 0.2009 0.2769 0.20000000000	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.5% 2.3% 3.2% 2.6% 3.2% 2.6% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.3% 2.3% 3.6% 3.3% 2.8% 3.6% 3.3% 3.6% 3.7% 3.3% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.7% 3.8% 3.6% 3.7% 3.8% 3.6% 3.7% 3.8% 3.9% 3.5% 3.9% 3.5% 3.2% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.2% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio (V, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 30] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 0.70 [0.50, 0.98, 2.61] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.78, 3.77] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95] 3.50 [1.93, 6.35] 1.50 [1.02, 2.04] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 6.52 [2.51, 16.95] 1.50 [1.02, 2.64] 3.10 [1.69, 5.68] 0.96 [0.66, 1.39] 1.10 [0.85, 1.43] 1.40 [1.11, 1.77] 1.44 [0.95, 1.43] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 0.90 [1.4, 2.75] 0.50 [1.02, 2.64] 1.00 [0.75, 1.63] 1.00 [0.75, 1.63] 1.01 [0.85, 1.43] 1.04 [1.11, 1.77] 1.44 [0.95, 1.38] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 0.90 [1.4, 2.75] 0.90 [1.4, 2.75] 0.9	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Jglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Jjbe-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jjbran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jula Ouaknine Krief 2019 L Derosa(RCC) 2018 L Derosa($h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.7866 0.7866 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.4396 1.3526 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.4055 1.314 -0.4088 0.3372 0.3372 0.3371 -0.2877 0.6419	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2926 0.2691 0.252 0.3876 0.2157 0.3226 0.2601 0.2157 0.3226 0.2502 0.3676 0.2469 0.2570 0.32765 0.1574 0.389 0.1835 0.1835 0.1835 0.1835 0.1835 0.1835 0.1896 0.1896 0.1897 0.1898 0.1898 0.1899 0.1315	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 3.4% 3.6% 3.0% 3.0% 2.7% 2.9% 1.9% 2.7% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.6% 3.6% 3.7% 3.8% 3.7%	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ &$	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 3 Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Hyunho Xim 2019 Jher-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharian Pomej 2021 Katayuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 Megan Greally 2019 Nadina Tinsley 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Petros Fessas 2021 Quentin 2021 Sha Zhao 2019	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 -0.3711 -0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4886 0.7866 0.4886 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 1.1314 -0.4055 1.1314 -0.4055 1.1314 -0.4051 1.3372 0.3372 0.3372 0.3372 0.3372 0.3372	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.2606 0.1602 0.2606 0.1602 0.2606 0.1602 0.2606 0.1602 0.2602 0.3808 0.2765 0.1574 0.3086 0.03866 0.03866 0.16122 0.3266	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.1% 3.2% 2.3% 3.0% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7% 3.3% 2.9% 3.5% 2.3% 3.5% 2.3% 3.5% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 0.69 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 0.69 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 0.69 \left[0.46, 1.04 \right] \\ 1.96 \left[1.35, 2.85 \right] \\ 3.60 \left[2.03, 6.37 \right] \\ 1.70 \left[0.96, 3.02 \right] \\ 2.60 \left[1.53, 4.41 \right] \\ 2.22 \left[1.65, 2.99 \right] \\ 3.57 \left[1.67, 7.63 \right] \\ 1.55 \left[0.99, 2.44 \right] \\ 2.24 \left[1.47, 3.42 \right] \\ 1.53 \left[0.87, 3.07 \right] \\ 2.17 \left[1.30, 3.62 \right] \\ 1.02 \left[0.77, 1.36 \right] \\ 1.02 \left[0.70, 1.36 \right] \\ 1.02 \left[0.70, 1.36 \right] \\ 1.01 \left[0.76, 3.37 \right] \\ 4.04 \left[2.35, 6.95 \right] \\ 3.50 \left[1.93, 6.35 \right] \\ 3.51 \left[1.64, 5.43 \right] \\ 6.52 \left[2.51, 16.95 \right] \\ 1.50 \left[1.02, 2.04 \right] \\ 3.10 \left[1.69, 5.68 \right] \\ 0.96 \left[0.66, 1.39 \right] \\ 1.04 \left[0.85, 1.43 \right] \\ 1.04 \left[0.75, 1.38 \right] \\ 0.70 \left[0.51, 0.38 \right] \\ 1.05 \left[0.76, 3.87 \right] \\ 1.04 \left[1.11, 1.77 \right] \\ 1.14 \left[0.95, 1.38 \right] \\ 0.75 \left[0.63, 0.89 \right] \\ 1.00 \left[1.41, 2.56 \right] \\ 3.21 \left[1.70, 5.7 \right] \\ 1.57 \left[1.67 \right] \\ 1.57 \left[1.57 \right] \\ 1.57 $	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% Cl) Heterogenetiy: Tau ² = 0.16; Cf Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 S Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Filorian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 KoSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RSCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 Megan Greally 2019 Nadina Tinsley 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Petros Fessas 2021 Quentin 2021 Steven P. Hware 2020	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.4486 0.4486 0.4486 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.477 0.5394 1.3635 1.3595 1.3596 1.3594 1.3665 1.3594 1.3665 1.3594 1.3665 1.3594 1.3596 1.3594 1.3596 1.3597 0.477 0.477 0.477 0.477 0.477 0.477 0.479 1.3962 1.3114 -0.0408 0.0953 0.3372 0.3372 0.3119 -0.2877 0.6419 1.394 1.309	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2913 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.23 0.2157 0.3226 0.1425 0.2606 0.1462 0.2606 0.1485 0.2609 0.3308 0.2769 0.3308 0.33200 0.33200 0.33200 0.33200 0.33200 0.3320000000000	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 2.9% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.1% 3.2% 2.6% 3.0% 3.5% 2.3% 3.0% 3.0% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.	1.94 [1.68, 2.25] 2 = 84% Odds Ratio (V, Random, 95% CI 0.69 [0.46, 1.04] 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 3.57 [1.67, 7.63] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 30] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 0.70 [0.50, 0.98, 2.61] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.78, 3.7] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95] 3.50 [1.93, 6.35] 1.50 [1.02, 2.16] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 6.52 [2.51, 16.95] 1.50 [1.02, 2.64] 3.10 [1.69, 5.68] 0.96 [0.66, 1.39] 1.10 [0.85, 1.43] 1.40 [1.11, 1.77] 1.41 [0.95, 1.83] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 1.90 [1.41, 2.56] 3.51 [1.70, 5.76] 3.51 [1.70, 5.76] 3.51 [1.70, 5.76] 3.51 [1.70, 5.76] 3.51 [1.56, 7.27] 3.51 [1.56, 7.27] 3.51 [1.56, 7.57] 3.51 [1.56, 7.57] 3.55 [0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] 100 Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Total (95% CI) Heterogenetiv: Tau ² = 0.16; CF Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 B Study or Subgroup Al. Jglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Jyla-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jjlbran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 L. Derosa($h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.44 0.8056 0.786 0.786 0.786 0.786 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 0.47 0.5394 1.3635 1.314 -0.465 1.3144 -0.0408 0.0953 0.3372 0.3191 -0.2877 0.6419 1.394 1.209 0.2151	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2926 0.2691 0.252 0.3876 0.2157 0.3226 0.2469 0.2469 0.2469 0.2606 0.462 0.7469 0.3080 0.3121 0.3121 0.3121	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.5% 3.1% 3.2% 2.3% 3.5% 3.4% 3.0% 3.	$\begin{array}{r} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ &$	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Total (95% CI) Heterogenetix: Tau ² = 0.16; CF Test for overall effect: Z = 8.77 S Study or Subgroup Al. Iglesias-Santamaría 2019 Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Arielle Elkrief 2019 Bertrand Routy 2022 Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Kustharina Pomej 2021 Katharina Pomej 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Steven 2020 Steven R. Hwang 2020 X. Mielgo Rubio	$h^2 = 235.22, df = 3$ 7 (P < 0.00001) -0.3711 -0.6729 1.2809 0.5306 0.9555 0.7975 1.2728 0.444 0.8056 0.4856 0.4856 0.7766 0.0198 -0.3567 0.5394 1.3635 0.477 0.47 1.3962 1.2528 1.1506 1.8746 0.4755 1.1314 -0.0408 0.0953 0.3372 0.3772 0.3772 0.3772 0.3772 0.3772 0.3772 0.3772 0.3772 0.3772 0.37	SE 0.2117 0.1905 0.2926 0.2691 0.1522 0.3876 0.2606 0.3876 0.3260 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3460 0.3450 0.3520 0.34540000000000000000000000000000000000	100.0% Weight 3.2% 3.3% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.3% 3.5% 3.2% 2.6% 3.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.4% 3.7% 3.0% 2.9% 1.9% 2.9% 1.9% 2.7% 2.9% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 2.7% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \left[1.68, 2.25 \right] \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI

FIGURE 2

The forest plot showing the relationship between ATB use and OS, PFS in cancer patients treated with ICIs. Overall survival (OS), progress-free survival (PFS); CI, confidential interval; Random, random-effects model; The random-effects model was adopted. (A) Overall survival (OS). (B) Progress-free survival (PFS). (A) Relationship between ATB use and OS in cancer patients treated with ICIs. (B) Relationship between ATB use and PFS in cancer patients treated with ICIs. (B) Relationship between ATB use and PFS in cancer patients treated with ICIs.

•				Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	log[Odds Ratio]	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% Cl
Angelo Castello 2021	0.47	0.42	29.1%	1.60 [0.70, 3.64]	-+ -
Bertrand Routy 2018	0.84	0.19	35.7%	2.32 [1.60, 3.36]	
David J. Pinato 2019	2	0.21	35.2%	7.39 [4.90, 11.15]	-
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	3.13 [1.25, 7.84]	-
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 =$	0.58; Chi ² = 20.83,	df = 2	2 (P < 0.0)	$(0001); I^2 = 90\%$	
J					0 0 1 10 10
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01)				0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control]
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01)				Favours [experimental] Favours [control]
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01)			Odds Patio	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control]
Test for overall effect: B Study or Subgroup	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01) log[Odds Ratio]	SE	Weight	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Test for overall effect: Study or Subgroup Angelo Castello 2021	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01) log[Odds Ratio] 0.95	SE 0.27	Weight 35.4%	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 2.59 [1.52, 4.39]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Test for overall effect: B Study or Subgroup Angelo Castello 2021 Bertrand Routy 2018	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01) log[Odds Ratio] 0.95 0.44	SE 0.27 0.23	Weight 35.4% 38.2%	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 2.59 [1.52, 4.39] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% Cl
Test for overall effect: Study or Subgroup Angelo Castello 2021 Bertrand Routy 2018 David J. Pinato 2019	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01) log[Odds Ratio] 0.95 0.44 1.62	SE 0.27 0.23 0.41	Weight 35.4% 38.2% 26.3%	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 2.59 [1.52, 4.39] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 5.05 [2.26, 11.29]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Test for overall effect: B Study or Subgroup Angelo Castello 2021 Bertrand Routy 2018 David J. Pinato 2019 Total (95% CI)	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01) log[Odds Ratio] 0.95 0.44 1.62	SE 0.27 0.23 0.41	Weight 35.4% 38.2% 26.3% 100.0%	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 2.59 [1.52, 4.39] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 5.05 [2.26, 11.29] 2.54 [1.38, 4.68]	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
Test for overall effect: B Study or Subgroup Angelo Castello 2021 Bertrand Routy 2018 David J. Pinato 2019 Total (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	Z = 2.44 (P = 0.01) log[Odds Ratio] 0.95 0.44 1.62 0.20; Chi ² = 6.76, 6	SE 0.27 0.23 0.41 df = 2	Weight 35.4% 38.2% 26.3% 100.0% (P = 0.03	Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI 2.59 [1.52, 4.39] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 5.05 [2.26, 11.29] 2.54 [1.38, 4.68] b); I ² = 70%	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours [experimental] Favours [control] Odds Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI

What is the relationship between ATB use and survival outcome (OS + PFS) of patients according to different ATB windows?

was adopted. (A) Overall survival (OS). (B) progress-free survival (PFS).

The selected ATB window included (-60 days, +30 days), (-60 days, 0 day), (-30 days, 30 days), (-30 days, 0 day), (0 day, +30 days) for OS subgroup analysis and (-60 days, +30 days), (-60 days, 0 day), (-30 days, 30 days), (0 day, +30 days) were selected for PFS subgroup analysis. All of these groups were shown to be significantly associated with poor survival outcomes. We also performed the PFS subgroup analysis for using ATB treatment during ICI treatment, and no significant relation was observed (Figure 6).

In broad-spectrum ATB class, the relationship of ATB use and PFS

The analysis between the use of broad-spectrum ATB class and PFS of ICI treated cancer patients was also performed, as shown in Figure 7, which was the first mentioned in this research. The result, with no heterogeneity ($I^2 = 0$), revealed that this class was strongly related to poor PFS (HR: 1.86, 95% CI: 1.44–2.41) Figure 8.

ECOG score and OS

No significant difference was observed between higher ECOG score and OS, compared with lower ECOG score (\leq 1) (HR: 0.49, 95% CI: 0.09–2.76, p = 0.42).

Assessment of publication bias

The publication bias for this research was evaluated by funnel plots, which were collected and shown in the Supplementary Material. There was no obvious publication bias in this research. Newcastle-Ottawa scale scores from 6 to 9 (Table 2). The heterogeneity value also indicated a low publication bias (Table 3).

Discussion

This research is the most comprehensive study on the effect of antibiotic use on the clinical features and survival outcomes of cancer patients treated with ICIs, compared with previous metaanalysis until now. In this meta-analysis, from 45 studies with 12,493 patients, the effects of ATB use on OS, PFS, and clinical features were included to study the impacts of ATB use on

Amit & Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020	1 1632 0 2601	1.2%	3 20 [1 80 5 4 2]	1	
Andrew F. Nyein 2022	0 3001 0 1531	1.2%	1 35 [1 00 1 82]	-	
Angelo Castello 2021	0.47 0.3209	1.1%	1.60 [0.85, 3.00]	—	
Anne Schett 2020	0.9594 0.1642	1.5%	2.61 [1.89, 3.60]		
Florian Huemer 2018	1.1712 0.3582	1.0%	3.23 [1.60, 6.51]		
Florian Huemer 2019	-0.1054 0.2884	1.2%	0.90 [0.51, 1.58]		
Hyunho Kim 2019	0.5794 0.1337	1.6%	1.78 [1.37, 2.32]		
Kazuvuki Hamada 2021	0.7885 0.2691	1.2%	2.20 [1.30, 3.73]		
L. Derosa(RCC) 2018	1.4816 0.2042	1.4%	4.40 [2.95, 6.57]		
M. Chalabi 2020	0.2776 0.0852	1.7%	1.32 [1.12, 1.56]	-	
Min Jung Geum 2021	1.1969 0.243	1.3%	3.31 [2.06, 5.33]		
Nobuaki Ochi 2021	0.3221 0.1124	1.6%	1.38 [1.11, 1.72]		
Po-Hsien Lu Ms 2020	1.0647 0.4946	0.7%	2.90 [1.10, 7.65]		
Sna Znao 2019 Taiki Hakozaki 2020	1.1087 0.3764	0.9%	3.03 [1.45, 6.34]		
X. Mielgo Rubio	0.6419 0.2789	1.2%	1.90 [1.10, 3.28]		
Subtotal (95% CI)		20.7%	2.09 [1.69, 2.58]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.13; Chi ² =	= 71.08, df = 16 (P < 0.00	0001); I ²	= 77%		
Test for overall effect: $Z = 6.79$ (P	< 0.00001)				
в					
Alv-Khan A. Lalani 2019	0.3646 0.2532	1.3%	1.44 [0.88. 2.37]	+	
Deniz Can Guve 2021	0.8355 0.2684	1.2%	2.31 [1.36. 3.90]		
Subtotal (95% CI)		2.5%	1.81 [1.14, 2.87]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.04; Chi ² =	= 1.63, df = 1 (P = 0.20);	$I^2 = 39\%$			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.51$ (P	= 0.01)				
^					
				1	
Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019	1.6214 0.3784	0.9%	5.06 [2.41, 10.62]		
Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Megan Greatly 2019	0.2311 0.1438	1.1%	1 26 [0 95 1 67]	-	
Subtotal (95% CI)	0.2511 0.1450	3.6%	2.80 [1.08, 7.25]		
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.63$ · Chi ² =	20.42 df = 2 (P < 0.00)	$(11) \cdot 1^2 = 0$	0.00/		
neterogeneity. rau = 0.05, enr =	20.42, ui = 2 (i < 0.000)	JI), I – :	10%		
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P	= 0.03)	51), 1 = 1	10%		
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P	= 0.03)	51), 1 – .	90%		
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P	= 0.03)	1.0%			
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P · D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David L Bipto 2010	0.6539 0.3614	1.0%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90]	 	_
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jaban I. Mohiuddin 2020	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376	1.0% 0.6% 1.6%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38 2.37]	 	-
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12]	 	-
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI)	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1. 6% 4.7%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 23.7] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67]	 	_
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P · D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² =	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08);	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% I ² = 55%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67]		-
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001)	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1. 6% 4.7% I ² = 55%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67]		_
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001)	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% I ² = 55%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67]		_
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Meterogeneity Control of Co	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001)	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1 ² = 55%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67]	 ←	_
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% I ² = 55%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.90]	↓ 	-
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1 ² = 55%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07]	 ●	-
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606	$\begin{array}{c} 1.0\%\\ 0.6\%\\ 1.6\%\\ 1.6\%\\ 4.7\%\\ l^2=55\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.5\%\\ 1.3\%\\ 1.3\%\\ 1.5\%\\ 1.3\%\\ 1.5\%\end{array}$	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.26 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62]	 	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.7766 0.2606 0.7766 0.2606	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 4.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.8%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.26 [1.55, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1 42 2.16]	 	
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7768 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.3% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.2%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.66 [0.76, 3.37]	 	-
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.7% 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.4%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.64 [0.76, 3.37] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43]	 	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Florian Huemer 2019 Florian Huemer 2019 Florian Huemer 2019 Fluan Autom 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuski (Ochi 2023	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5038 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.4055 0.1574	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1. ² = 55%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.62 [0.76, 3.37] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04]		-
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouakinne Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.455 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956	$\begin{array}{c} 1.0\%\\ 0.6\%\\ 1.6\%\\ 4.7\%\\ 4.7\%\\ 1.5\%\\ 1.7\%\\ 1.5\%\\ 1.7\%\\ 1.8\%\\ 1.8\%\\ 1.8\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.7\%\\ 1.9\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.9\%\\ 1.3\%\end{array}$	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.92 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.54 [0.95, 1.38] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76]		
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarn((NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrio 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.8% 1.8% 1.2% 1.3% 1.2% 1.3%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [11.0, 2.04] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.14 [0.95, 1.38] 3.12 [1.70, 5, 1.38] 3.12 [1.70, 5, 4.43]		
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Tves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Ange Castello 2021 Ange Castello 2021 Ange Castello 2021 Florian Huemer 2019 Florian Huemer 2019 Florian Huemer 2019 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI)	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.3% 1.8% 1.2% 1.4% 1.2% 1.4% 1.4% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.50 [1.0, 2.04] 1.50 [1.0, 2.04] 3.16 [1.48, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 3.60 [1.40, 4.83] 1.81 [1.47, 2.24]		
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 5.55 (P	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.477 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1 ² = 55% 1.4% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.3% 1.8% 1.2% 1.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.9% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.62 [0.44, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 3.60 [1.40, 4.83] 1.81 [1.47, 2.24] 73%		
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.07$ (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouakinne Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 S. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 5.55 (P	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158 = 44.64, df = 12 (P < 0.00 < 0.00001)	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% 1.8% 1.3% 1.8% 1.4% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.14 [0.95, 1.38] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 2.60 [1.44, 83] 1.81 [1.47, 2.24] 73%		-
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F, Barrón 2019 Houran Event 2019 Houran Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouakinne Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 5.55 (P	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158 = 44.64, df = 12 (P < 0.00 < 0.00001)	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.94] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.40 [0.95, 1.38] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 2.60 [1.40, 4.83] 1.81 [1.47, 2.24] 73%		
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Sazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 5.55 (P	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3128 - 44.64, df = 12 (P < 0.00 < 0.00001)	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.4% 1.5% 1.4% 1.5% 1.6% 1.6% 1.5% 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.4%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.70 [0.96, 3.02] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 3.13] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 4.83] 3.181 [1.47, 2.24] 73%		
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P D Arielle Elkrief 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F, Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 5.55 (P F Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Deniz Can Guve 2021 KOSIIKE (EFA 2019	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.477 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4055 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158 • 44.64, df = 12 (P < 0.00 < 0.00001) 1.2809 0.2913 0.8056 0.2157 1 8246 0 4875	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% 1.8% 1.3% 1.8% 1.4% 1.9% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.9% 001); l ² =	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.95 [1.5, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.03 [1.63, 2.16] 1.65 [1.02, 1.38] 3.16 [1.44, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 3.16 [1.44, 5.43] 1.51 [1.47, 2.24] 73% 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42]		
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 5.55 (P F Amit A Kulkarni (RCC) 2020 Deniz Can Guve 2021 KOSUKE UEDA 2019	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.477 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 0.4955 0.1574 0.1319 0.0956 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158 = 44.64, df = 12 (P < 0.00 < 0.00001) 1.2809 0.2913 0.8056 0.2157 1.8746 0.4875 1.1314 0.3086	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.6% 1.4% 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.8% 1.3% 1.3% 1.8% 1.8% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.6% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 1.9% 1.3% 1.8% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.6% 0.0% 0.0% 1.6% 0.0%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.95 [1.5, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 1.51 [1.44, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.41 [0.55, 1.38] 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 6.52 [2.51, 16.95] 3.10 [1.69, 5.68]		
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P Test for overall effect: Z = 2.11 (P David J. Pinato 2019 Jahan J. Mohiuddin 2020 Pierre-Yves Cren 2020 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.05; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 4.07 (P E Amit A Kulkarni(NSCLC) 2020 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 F. Barrón 2019 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2018 Florian Huemer 2019 Hyunho Kim 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 X. Mielgo Rubio Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 5.55 (P	0.6539 0.3614 2.0149 0.5762 0.5933 0.1376 0.5008 0.1269 = 6.64, df = 3 (P = 0.08); < 0.0001) 0.5306 0.2926 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.4886 0.3226 0.7766 0.2606 0.0198 0.1462 0.5394 0.1185 0.47 0.3808 1.1506 0.2765 1.1394 0.3121 0.9555 0.3158 = 44.64, df = 12 (P < 0.01 < 0.00001) 1.2809 0.2913 0.8056 0.2157 1.8746 0.4875 1.1314 0.3086	1.0% 0.6% 1.6% 1.6% 4.7% 1.5% 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% 1.6% 0001); l ² =	1.92 [0.95, 3.90] 7.50 [2.42, 23.20] 1.81 [1.38, 2.37] 1.65 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.95 [1.29, 2.12] 1.94 [1.41, 2.67] 1.95 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 2.17 [1.30, 3.62] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.71 [1.36, 2.16] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.50 [1.10, 2.04] 1.40 [0.55, 1.38] 3.12 [1.70, 5.48] 1.81 [1.47, 2.24] 73% 3.60 [2.03, 6.37] 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 6.52 [2.51, 16.95] 3.10 [1.69, 5.68] 3.14 [2.164, 4.58]		

FIGURE 4

The subgroup analysis between ATB use and cancer prognosis (OS + PFS) of RCC and NSCLC cancer patients treated with ICIs. (A) The relationship between ATB use and OS of NSCLC patients treated with ICIs. (B) The relationship between ATB use and PFS of RCC patients treated with ICIs. (C) The relationship between ATB use and OS of esophagus cancer patients treated with ICIs. (D) The relationship between ATB use and OS of melanoma patients treated with ICIs. (E) The relationship between ATB use and PFS of NSCLC patients treated with ICIs. (F) The relationship between ATB use and PFS of RCC patients treated with ICIs. (F) The relationship between ATB use and PFS of RCC patients treated with ICIs. (F) The relationship between ATB use and PFS of RCC patients treated with ICIs.
Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019	0.3646 0.2532	1.3%	1.44 [0.88, 2.37]	+
Angelo Castello 2021	0.47 0.3209	1.1%	1.60 [0.85, 3.00]	
Anne Schett 2020	0.9594 0.1642	1.5%	2.61 [1.89, 3.60]	
Bertrand Routy 2022	0.84 0.19	1.4%	2.32 [1.60, 3.36]	
Elorian Hugman 2019		1.4%	7.40 [4.90, 11.19]	
lhe-Cyuan Guo 2019	1.6214 0.3784	0.9%	5 06 [2 41, 10 62]	
Petros Fessas 2021	-0.0408 0.1063	1.6%	0.96 [0.78, 1.18]	+
Sha Zhao 2019	1.1087 0.3764	0.9%	3.03 [1.45, 6.34]	
Taiki Hakozaki 2020	1.4271 0.6014	0.5%	4.17 [1.28, 13.54]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		11.8%	2.30 [1.41, 3.75]	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.53$; Chi ² Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.36$ (P = 104.81, df = 9 ($P < 0.0(P = 0.0008)$)0001); F	= 91%	
Akhil Kapoor 2020	0.5878 0.1574	1.5%	1.80 [1.32, 2.45]	
Deniz Can Guve 2021	0.8355 0.2684	1.2%	2.31 [1.36, 3.90]	
FIORIAN HUEMER 2018 Hyunbo Kim 2019	1.1712 0.3582	1.0%	3.23 [1.60, 6.51] 1 78 [1 37 2 32]	
Iulia Ouaknine Krief 2019	0.7885 0.2691	1.2%	2.20 [1.30. 3.73]	
Jwa Hoon Kim 2021	1.3558 0.2939	1.1%	3.88 [2.18, 6.90]	
Kazuyuki Hamada 2021	0.6881 0.3038	1.1%	1.99 [1.10, 3.61]	— - —
Min Jung Geum 2021	1.1969 0.243	1.3%	3.31 [2.06, 5.33]	
Quentin 2021 X Mielgo Rubio		1.3%	2.11 [1.37, 3.25]	
Subtotal (95% CI)	0.0419 0.2789	12.6%	2.20 [1.87. 2.60]	•
;				I
F. Barrón 2019	0.8329 0.2935	1.1%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093	1.1% 0.8% 1.4%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% Cl)	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 F = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004)	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; l ² = 50%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 F = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004)	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; ² = 50%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 F = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) 0.6729 0.1905 0.0555 0.2551	$1.1\% \\ 0.8\% \\ 1.4\% \\ 1.7\% \\ 1.6\% \\ 6.6\% \\ 0.6\% \\ 1.7\% \\ $	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82]	 ◆
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Ange Schett 2020	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 F = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) 0.6729 0.1905 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.6% 6.6% ; $l^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 (0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 F = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) 0.6729 0.1905 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.44 0.23	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $I^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] (1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44]	↓
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.1\%\\ 0.8\%\\ 1.4\%\\ 1.7\%\\ 1.6\%\\ \textbf{6.6\%}\\ ;\ \textbf{I}^2=50\%\\ 1.7\%\\ 1.5\%\\ 1.7\%\\ 1.6\%\\ 1.8\%\end{array}$	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 5 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) 0.6729 0.1905 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.44 0.23 0.0198 0.1462 1.3635 0.2469 0.47 0.2762	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $l^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.8% 1.5%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 5 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.92, 2.11]	↓
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) 0.6729 0.1905 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.44 0.23 0.0198 0.1462 1.3635 0.2469 0.47 0.2502 -0.2877 0.0866	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $I^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.8% 1.5% 1.5% 1.9%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly–Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe–Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI)	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.6% 6.6% ; $I^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.4%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.35; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 2.84 ($\begin{array}{c} 0.8329 & 0.2935 \\ 1.2528 & 0.4494 \\ 0.1823 & 0.2093 \\ 0.2776 & 0.0852 \\ 0.3221 & 0.1124 \\ \end{array}$ = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) $\begin{array}{c} 0.6729 & 0.1905 \\ 0.9555 & 0.2691 \\ 0.7975 & 0.1522 \\ 0.44 & 0.23 \\ 0.0198 & 0.1462 \\ 1.3635 & 0.2469 \\ 0.47 & 0.2502 \\ -0.2877 & 0.0866 \\ 1.1394 & 0.3121 \\ \end{array}$ = 95.66, df = 8 (P < 0.000 (P = 0.004)	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $l^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.8% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.3% 1.5%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 1.02 [0.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73] = 92%	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Angelo Castello 2021 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.35; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 2.84 (0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) 0.6729 0.1905 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.44 0.23 0.0198 0.1462 1.3635 0.2469 0.47 0.2502 -0.2877 0.0866 1.1394 0.3121 = 95.66, df = 8 (P < 0.000 P = 0.004)	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $l^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.8% 1.5% 1.9% 1.3% 1.4.4% 0001); $l^2 = 50\%$	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 4 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73] = 92%	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.35; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 2.84 (Deniz Can Guve 2021 E Barrón 2019	0.8329 0.2935 1.2528 0.4494 0.1823 0.2093 0.2776 0.0852 0.3221 0.1124 = 8.03, df = 4 (P = 0.09); P = 0.0004) 0.6729 0.1905 0.9555 0.2691 0.7975 0.1522 0.44 0.23 0.0198 0.1462 1.3635 0.2469 0.47 0.2502 -0.2877 0.0866 1.1394 0.3121 = 95.66, df = 8 (P < 0.000 P = 0.004) 0.8056 0.2157 0.4886 0.2326	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $I^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.8% 1.5% 1.8% 1.5% 1.3% 1.4% 1.4% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.6% 1.7% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 4 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73] = 92%	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.35; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 2.84 (Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Julia Quaknine Krief 2019	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8329 & 0.2935 \\ 1.2528 & 0.4494 \\ 0.1823 & 0.2093 \\ 0.2776 & 0.0852 \\ 0.3221 & 0.1124 \end{array}$	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $l^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.6% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.3% 1.4% 1.5% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.6% 1.3% 1.4% 1.2% 1.6% 1.2% 1.6% 1.2%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 5 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73] = 92% 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessa 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.35; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 2.84 (Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8329 & 0.2935 \\ 1.2528 & 0.4494 \\ 0.1823 & 0.2093 \\ 0.2776 & 0.0852 \\ 0.3221 & 0.1124 \end{array}$	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.6% 6.6% ; $ ^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.6% 1.4% 1.6% 1.4% 1.6% 1.4% 1.4% 1.6% 1.2% 1.4% 1.4% 1.6% 1.4% 1.6% 1.5% 1.2%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.12, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 5 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73] = 92% 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.35; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 2.84 (Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8329 & 0.2935 \\ 1.2528 & 0.4494 \\ 0.1823 & 0.2093 \\ 0.2776 & 0.0852 \\ 0.3221 & 0.1124 \end{array}$	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.6% 6.6% ; $ ^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.6% 1.3% 1.4% 1.4%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.2, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 5 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73] = 92% 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43]	
F. Barrón 2019 L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Laura M. Chambers 2021 M. Chalabi 2020 Nobuaki Ochi 2021 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.03; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 3.52 (Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019 Angelo Castello 2021 Anne Schett 2020 Bertrand Routy 2022 Florian Huemer 2019 Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019 Jibran Ahmed 2018 Petros Fessas 2021 Sha Zhao 2019 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.35; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 2.84 (Deniz Can Guve 2021 F. Barrón 2019 Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019 Jwa Hoon Kim 2021 Kazuyuki Hamada 2021 Quentin 2021	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8329 & 0.2935 \\ 1.2528 & 0.4494 \\ 0.1823 & 0.2093 \\ 0.2776 & 0.0852 \\ 0.3221 & 0.1124 \end{array}$	1.1% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.6% 6.6% ; $I^2 = 50\%$ 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% 1.6% 1.8% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.6% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 1.2%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09] 3.50 [1.45, 8.45] 1.20 [0.80, 1.81] 1.32 [1.2, 1.56] 1.38 [1.11, 1.72] 1.47 [1.19, 1.82] 4 4 4 4 5 4 1.96 [1.35, 2.85] 2.60 [1.53, 4.41] 2.22 [1.65, 2.99] 1.55 [0.99, 2.44] 1.02 [0.77, 1.36] 3.91 [2.41, 6.34] 1.60 [0.98, 2.61] 0.75 [0.63, 0.89] 3.12 [1.70, 5.76] 1.81 [1.20, 2.73] = 92% 2.24 [1.47, 3.42] 1.63 [0.87, 3.07] 1.60 [0.76, 3.37] 4.04 [2.35, 6.95] 3.16 [1.84, 5.43] 1.90 [1.41, 2.56] 2.90 [1.41, 2.56] 3.91	

FIGURE 5

The subgroup analysis between ATB use and different immune checkpoint inhibitors of cancer patients treated with ICIs. (A) The association between ATB use and OS in cancer patients treated with the combination of PD-1 inhibitor and PD-L1 inhibitor. (B) The association between ATB use and OS in cancer patients treated with PD-1 inhibitor. (C) The association between ATB use and OS in cancer patients treated with PD-L1 inhibitor. (D) The association between ATB use and PFS in cancer patients treated with the combination of PD-1 inhibitor. (E) The association between ATB use and PFS in cancer patients treated with PD-L1 inhibitor. (E) The association between ATB use and PFS in cancer patients treated with PD-1 inhibitor.

	Α				
	Jwa Hoon Kim 2021	1.3558 0.2939	1.1%	3.88 [2.18, 6.90]	
	Laura M. Chambers 2021	0.8286 0.238	1.3%	2.29 [1.44, 3.65]	
	Megan Greally 2019	0.8755 0.1438	1.5%	2.40 [1.81, 3.18]	-
	Po-Hsien Lu Ms 2020	1.0647 0.4946	0.7%	2.90 [1.10, 7.65]	·
	Taiki Hakozaki 2020 Subtotal (95% CI)	1.4271 0.6014	0.5% 5.2%	4.17 [1.28, 13.54] 2.61 [2.11, 3.23]	
	Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.00$: Chi ²	= 3.11, df $= 4$ (P $= 0.54$);	$l^2 = 0\%$	2101 [2111, 5125]	•
	Test for overall effect: $Z = 8.81$ (I	P < 0.00001)	. 0,0		
	В				
	Angelo Castello 2021	0.47 0.3209	1.1%	1.60 [0.85, 3.00]	
	F. Barron 2019 Elorian Huemer 2019	0.8329 0.2935	1.1%	2.30 [1.29, 4.09]	
	Katharina Pomei 2021	0.5933 0.1829	1.4%	1.81 [1.26, 2.59]	
	M. Chalabi 2020	0.2776 0.0852	1.7%	1.32 [1.12, 1.56]	-
	Petros Fessas 2021	-0.0408 0.1063	1.6%	0.96 [0.78, 1.18]	+
	Sha Zhao 2019	1.1087 0.3764	0.9%	3.03 [1.45, 6.34]	
	Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.08$. Chi ²	= 22.25 df = 6 (P = 0.00)	9.1% 1)· l ² = 7	1.45 [1.11, 1.90] 73%	-
	Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.72$ (I	P = 0.007	1), 1 = 7	5,0	
	С				
	Anne Schett 2020	0.9594 0.1642	1.5%	2.61 [1.89, 3.60]	
	Hyunno Kim 2019 Julia Quaknine Krief 2019	0.5794 0.1337	1.6%	1.78 [1.37, 2.32]	
	Pierre-Yves Cren 2020	0.5008 0.1269	1.6%	1.65 [1.29, 2.12]	-
	Quentin 2021	0.7467 0.2203	1.3%	2.11 [1.37, 3.25]	
	Subtotal (95% CI)		7.2%	1.97 [1.65, 2.35]	•
	Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² Test for overall effect: Z = 7.57 (I	= 5.64, df = 4 (P = 0.23); P < 0.00001)	$I^2 = 29\%$	6	
	D				
	Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019	0.3646 0.2532	1.3%	1.44 [0.88, 2.37]	
	Florian Huemer 2018	1 1712 0 3582	1.5%	3 23 [1 60 6 51]	·
	Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019	1.6214 0.3784	0.9%	5.06 [2.41, 10.62]	
	Nobuaki Ochi 2021	0.3221 0.1124	1.6%	1.38 [1.11, 1.72]	
	Petros Fessas 2021	-0.0408 0.1063	1.6%	0.96 [0.78, 1.18]	+
	Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.13$: Chi ²	= 27.95, df $= 5$ (P < 0.00	7.9% 01): $l^2 =$	82%	-
	Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.81$ (I	P = 0.005)			
	E				
	Arielle Elkrief 2019	0.6539 0.3614	1.0%	1.92 [0.95, 3.90]	↓
	L. Derosa(NSCLC) 2018	0 0	2.0/0	Not estimable	
	L. Derosa(RCC) 2018	1.2528 0.4494	0.8%	3.50 [1.45, 8.45]	
	Subtotal (95% CI)		1.8%	2.44 [1.38, 4.34]	◆
	Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.01$; Chi^2	= 1.08, df = 1 (P = 0.30);	$I^2 = 7\%$		
	rest for overall effect: Z = 3.05 (I	r = 0.002)			
FIGURE 6					
In different A	TB windows, the subgroup anal	ysis between ATB use a	ind OS	of cancer patients treated wit	h ICIs. (A) ATB window (–30 days, 0
day); (B) ATB	window (–30 days, 30 days); (C	:) ATB window (–60 day	/s, 0 da	ys); (D) ATB window (–60 day	s, 30 days); and (E) ATB window (0 days,
30 day).					

cancer patients treated with ICI therapy, with RCT analysis as verification. Based on OS analysis and PFS analysis, we performed several subgroup analyses from 5 aspects, cancer type (NSCLC, RCC, HCC, EC, and MEL), ICI therapy type (PD-1, PD-L1), ATB window (-60 days, +30 days), ATB class (broad-spectrum ATB class) and ECOG score (2–5 vs 0–1).

Our findings revealed that the ATB use was related with worse OS and PFS, which was similar with previous study (6). ATB treatment is commonly performed in clinic for cancer patients, who are more susceptible to getting infected, but the ATBs can alter the composition and diversity of the gut microbiota. Therefore, ATB use can significantly impact the efficacy of ICIs. In subgroup analysis, for various cancer types, we analyzed non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), renal cell carcinoma (RCC), hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), esophageal cancer (EC), and melanoma (MEL). All of the five cancer types were shown to be at a higher risk of poor OS except HCC, while only NSCLC and RCC were shown to be at a higher risk of poor PFS. Among all the five types, EC was at the highest risk (HR = 2.8) in OS analysis, and RCC was at the highest risk in PFS analysis, even higher than 3 (HR = 3.14). Interestingly, in PFS analysis, no significant association was

Α				
Angelo Castello 2021	0.9555 0.2691	1.5%	2.60 [1.53, 4.41]	
F. Barrón 2019	0.4886 0.3226	1.3%	1.63 [0.87, 3.07]	+
Florian Huemer 2019	0.0198 0.1462	1.8%	1.02 [0.77, 1.36]	+
Katharina Pomej 2021	1.2528 0.3039	1.4%	3.50 [1.93, 6.35]	
Petros Fessas 2021	-0.2877 0.0866	1.9%	0.75 [0.63, 0.89]	
Sha Zhao 2019	1.1394 0.3121	1.3%	3.12 [1.70, 5.76]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		9.1%	1.73 [1.02, 2.96]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.38; Chi ² =	= 56.13, df = 5 (P < 0.00)	0001); I ² =	= 91%	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.02$ (P	= 0.04)			
				,
D				
Anne Schett 2020	0.7975 0.1522	1.7%	2.22 [1.65, 2.99]	
Hyunho Kim 2019	0.5394 0.1185	1.8%	1.71 [1.36, 2.16]	-
Julia Ouaknine Krief 2019	0.47 0.3808	1.2%	1.60 [0.76, 3.37]	
Quentin 2021	0.6419 0.1522	1.7%	1.90 [1.41, 2.56]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		6.5%	1.88 [1.61, 2.19]	•
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.00$; Chi ² =	= 1.98, df = 3 (P = 0.58);	$l^2 = 0\%$		
Test for overall effect: $Z = 8.09$ (P	< 0.00001)			
				I
с				
Aly-Khan A. Lalani 2019	0.6729 0.1905	1.7%	1.96 [1.35, 2.85]	
Florian Huemer 2018	0.7766 0.2606	1.5%	2.17 [1.30, 3.62]	
Jhe-Cyuan Guo 2019	1.3635 0.2469	1.5%	3.91 [2.41, 6.34]	
Nobuaki Ochi 2021	0.1319 0.0956	1.9%	1.14 [0.95, 1.38]	-
Subtotal (95% CI)		6.5%	2.03 [1.17, 3.51]	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.27$; Chi ² =	= 27.23, df = 3 (P < 0.00	001); I ² =	= 89%	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.53$ (P	= 0.01)			
				I
D				
D Arialla Elleriat 2010	1 2720 0 2076	1 20/		
	1.2728 0.3870	1.2%	5.57 [1.07, 7.05]	
L. Derosa (NSCLC) 2018	0.4055 0.1574	1.7%		
L. Derosa(RCC) 2018 Subtatal (05% CI)	1.1314 0.3086	1.4%	3.10 [1.69, 5.68]	
	7 40 16 0 (0 0 00)	4.270	2.30 [1.30, 4.30]	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.20$; Chi ² =	= 7.42, dt = 2 (P = 0.02);	$1^{2} = 73\%$	b	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.82$ (P	= 0.005)			
FIGURE 7				

In different ATB window, the subgroup analysis between ATB use and PFS of cancer patients treated with ICIs. (A) ATB window (-30 days, 30 days); (B) ATB window (-60 days, 0 days); (C) ATB window (-60 days, 30 days); (D) ATB window (0 days, 30 days).



TABLE 2 Basic characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis (n = 51).

Study	Cancer type	Median PFS (ATB vs non-ATB)	Median OS (ATB vs non-ATB)	NOS score
A. Iglesias-Santamariía (12)	locally advanced/metastatic cancer	4.3 months vs. 5.8 months	11.7 months vs. 14.5 months,	7
Akhil Kapoor (13)	Lung cancer, head and neck cancer, others	3.6 months vs 1.7 months	3.9 months vs 9.2 months	6
Aly-Khan A. Lalani (14)	mRCC	7.2 months vs NK	12.0 months vs NK	7
Amit A Kulkarni (15)	NSCLC, RCC, AML	1.5 months vs 4.0 months	3.0 months vs 12.0 months	7
Andrew F. Nyein (16)	NSCLC	NK	NK	6
Angelo Castello (17)	NSCLC	4.1 months vs 12.4 months	11.3 months vs 15.3 months	8
Anne Schett (18)	NSCLC	1.9 months vs 3.8 months	7.9 months vs 23.6 months	8
Arielle Elkrief (19)	melanoma	2.4 months vs 7.3 months	7.5 months vs 18.3 months	8
Bertrand Routy (20)	NSCLC, RCC, urothelial carcinoma	3.5 months vs 4.1 months	11.5 months vs 20.6 months	8
C Hogue (21)	NSCLC	NK	NK	6
Coureche Kaderbhai (22)	NSCLC	NK	NK	7
David J. Pinato (23)	Primary lung, Clear cell renal cell carcinoma, Primary head and neck squamous cell carcinoma Malignant melanoma, Transitional cell carcinoma	NK	14.6 months vs NK	7
Deniz Can Guve (24)	RCC	23.75 ± 4.41 months	8.44 ± 1.61 months	8
F. Barroín (25)	NSCLC	1.9 months vs 2.7 months	2.04 months vs 12.42 months	9
Florian Huemer (26)	NSCLC	3.8 months vs 4.0 months	14.6 months vs 11.2 months	8
Florian Huemer (27)	NSCLC	2.9 months vs 3.1 months	7.5 months vs 15.1 months	9
Hyunho Kim (28)	Non-small-cell lung carcinoma	2 months vs 4 months	5 months vs 17 months	8
Jahan J. Mohiuddin (29)	melanoma	NK	27.4 months vs 43.7 months	7
Jhe-cyuan Guo (30)	ESCC	1.3 months vs 2.8 months	3.0 months vs 10.4 months	8
Jibran Ahmed (31)	Lung cancer, Renal cancer Hepatocellular cancer Head and neck cancer Urothelial cancer Malignant melanoma	NK	24 weeks vs 89 weels	7
Julia Ouaknine Krief (32)	non-small cell lung cancer	1.8 months vs 3 months	5.1 months vs 13.3 months	9
Jwa Hoon Kim (33)	Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma	1.9 months vs NK	6.4 months vs NK	8
Ka Shing Cheung (34)	hepatocellular carcinoma	NK	NK	7
Katharina Pomej (35)	HCC	3.5 months vs 4.8 months	4.7 months 11.4 months	8
Kazuyuki Hamada (36)	NSCLC	NK	8.12 months vs 28.7 months	8
Kosuke Ueda (37)	RCC	2.8 months vs 18.4 months	NK	8
L. Derosa (38)	NSCLC,RCC	1.9 months vs 7.4 months	17.3 months vs 30.6 months	9
Laura M. Chambers (39)	Endometrial carcinoma Cervical carcinoma; Cvarian carcinoma	7.3 months vs NK	11.6 months vs NK	7
Louis Gaucher (40)	Lung, Melanoma, Renal and urothelial, Head and neck, Hodgkin's lymphoma, Digestive, Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, Adenocarcinoma of unknown primary, Squamous cell carcinoma of unknown, Porocarcinoma	43.0 months vs 96.9 months	36.1 months vs 86.3 months	9
M. Chalabi (41)	NSCLC	NK	8.5 months vs 11.0 months	7

Cancer type	Median PFS (ATB vs non-ATB)	Median OS (ATB vs non-ATB)	NOS score	
Advanced Esophagogastric Cancer	1.2 months vs 1.8 months	2.0 months vs 6.4 months	8	
malignant melanoma and lung cancer	NK	NK	6	
NSCLC	NK	NK	7	
melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, renal cell carcinoma	3.1 months vs 6.3 months	10.4 months vs 21.7 months	8	
nonesmall-cell lung cancer	3.5 months vs 3.5 months	11.7 months vs 16.1 months	8	
HCC	4.4 months vs 7.2 months	15.4 months vs 16.4 months	7	
advanced melanoma	7.3 months vs 2.4 months	15.4 months vs 14.5 months	8	
NSCLC	8.87 months vs 15.17 months	4.03 days vs 12.3 months	7	
non-small cell lung carcinoma, melanoma, upper airway carcinoma, digestive tract carcinoma renal cell carcinoma	NK	NK	6	
NSCLC	3.7 months vs 9.6 months	6 months vs 21.9 months	8	
Hodgkin lymphoma	NK	NK	6	
NSCLC	5.2 months vs NK	16.2 months vs NK	7	
NK	NK	NK	6	
NSCLC	NK	NK	6	
Lung cancer, Liver cancer, Esophageal cancer, Head and neck cancer, Cholangiocarcinoma, Cervical cancer, Lymphoma, Sarcoma,	NK	NK	6	
	Cancer type Advanced Esophagogastric Cancer malignant melanoma and lung cancer NSCLC melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, renal cell carcinoma nonesmall-cell lung cancer HCC advanced melanoma NSCLC non-small cell lung carcinoma, melanoma, upper airway carcinoma, digestive tract carcinoma renal cell carcinoma NSCLC Hodgkin lymphoma NSCLC NK NSCLC Lung cancer, Liver cancer, Esophageal cancer, Head and neck cancer, Cholangiocarcinoma, Cervical cancer, Lymphoma, Sarcoma, Other	Cancer typeMedian PFS (ATB vs non-ATB)Advanced Esophagogastric Cancer1.2 months vs 1.8 monthsmalignant melanoma and lung cancerNKNSCLCNKmelanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, renal cell carcinoma3.1 months vs 6.3 monthsnonesmall-cell lung cancer, renal cell carcinoma3.5 months vs 3.5 monthshCC4.4 months vs 7.2 monthsadvanced melanoma7.3 months vs 2.4 monthsNSCLC8.87 months vs 15.17 monthsnon-small cell lung carcinoma, melanoma, upper airway carcinoma, digestive tract carcinomaNKNSCLC3.7 months vs 9.6 monthsNSCLC3.7 months vs 9.6 monthsNSCLCS.2 months vs 9.6 monthsNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNGLNCCCNKNSCLCNKNGLNGLNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKNSCLCNKLung cancer, Head and neck cancer, Cholangiocarcinoma, Cervical cancer, Head and neck cancer, Lymphoma, Sarcoma, Other	Cancer typeMedian PFS (ATB vs non-ATB)Median OS (ATB vs non-ATB)Advanced Esophagogastric Cancer1.2 months vs 1.8 months2.0 months vs 6.4 monthsmalignant melanoma and lung cancerNKNKNSCLCNKNKmelanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, renal cell carcinom3.1 months vs 6.3 months10.4 months vs 21.7 monthsnonesmall-cell lung cancer, renal cell carcinom3.5 months vs 3.5 months11.7 months vs 16.1 monthsnonesmall-cell lung cancer4.4 months vs 7.2 months15.4 months vs 16.4 monthsadvanced melanoma7.3 months vs 2.4 months15.4 months vs 14.5 monthsNSCLC8.87 months vs 15.17 month4.03 days vs 12.3 monthsnon-small cell lung carcinoma, melanoma, upper airway carcinoma, erenal cell carcinomaNKNKNSCLC3.7 months vs 9.6 months6 months vs 21.9 monthsNSCLCS.2 months vs NK16.2 months vs NKHodgkin lymphomaNKNKNSCLCNKNKNSCLCNKNKIndigentive tract carcinomaNKIndigentive tract carcinomaNKNKIndigentive tract carcinoma, Liver cancer,NKNK	

NK, not known.

observed between EC and PFS of cancer patients treated in ICIs (p = 0.06), with only three eligible studies and high heterogeneity, which could be a focus of future research. HCC was shown not to be significantly associated with both OS and PFS, but with only two studies, which needs more studies for further verification. Various cancer types have different impacts on the human body. For the gut environment, a favorable gut microbiota can enhance antigen presentation and T-cell function related to the systemic and anti-tumor immune response, which was demonstrated in a mouse experiment (7). The diversity of gut microbiota increases from infancy to adulthood and decreases in the elderly, with metabolic, defensive, and trophic functions (56). Induction and regulation of the adaptive immune system is one of the essential aspects of the gut microbiota trophic function, and intestinal immunity is the largest and most complex part of the overall immune system of the human body, with at least 80% of all antibodies produced in the intestinal mucosa for adults (57). Thus, ATB use may reduce the efficacy of ICI immunotherapy through altering the diversity and composition of the gut microbiota, which still needs more evidence to prove.

For ICI therapy type, we selected PD-1 inhibitor type, PD-L1 inhibitor type, and the combination of both PD-1 inhibitor and PD-L1 inhibitor. The results revealed that the PD-1 inhibitor and the combination were strongly associated with a higher risk of poorer prognosis, while PD-L1 was shown to be out of meaningful relationship with PFS. Interestingly, we found that the HR value of the combination was quite lower than the HR value of the PD-1 inhibitor alone, which may indicate that the PD-L1 inhibitor matters a lot in this process. Rounis and his team analyzed 66 patients who received PD-1 inhibitors or PD-L1 inhibitors and found that ATB administration did not affect the survival outcome of ICI patients, but prolonged ATB use was related to poor survival (58). This contradiction may be attributed to different varieties, such as the amount of study population, cancer type, and ATB type. In our research, it was indicated that different ATB windows had effects on the survival outcome of ICI patients, when the ATB window was in the period between 60 days before ICI initiation and 30 days after ICI initiation. Especially when ATB window was (-30 days,0 day) of ICI initiation, the risk was the highest in OS analysis (HR = 2.61), with no heterogeneity (I2 = 0). When ATB window

TABLE 3 Subgroup analysis of ECOG, cancer type, ICI type, and ATB window based on OS (overall survival) and PFS (progress-free survival).

Esophageal	2.80 (1.0
cancer	7.25)
	Melanoma
ICIs type	PD-1 inhib
	PD-L1
	inhibitor
	PD-(L)1
	inhibitor
ATB window	
(-30,0)	
(-30,30)	
(-60,0)	
(-60,30)	
(0,30)	
during	
Broad-spectrum A	ТВ

frontiersin.org

gr	οι	ιþ	dſ	Id

Subgroup		05									PFS									
		(OR, 95% CI)	No. of studies	No. of studies	No. of studies	No of patients	p	Н	etero	geneit	ty		(OR, 95% CI)	No. of studies	No. of patients	р		Hete	eroge	neity
			Tau ²			Chi ²	df	I2 (%)	p					Tau ²	Chi ²	df	I2 (%)	р		
ECOG		0.94 (0.33, 2.66)	3	654	0.91	1.12	24.19	2	92	<0.001										
Cancer type	NSCLC	2.09 (1.69, 2.58)	17	4,155	< 0.001	0.13	71.08	16	77	< 0.001	1.81 (1.47, 2.24)	13	2,032	< 0.001	0.1	44.64	12	73		
	RCC	1.81 (1.14, 2.87)	2	239	0.01	0.04	1.63	1	39	0.2	3.14 (2.16, 4.58)	4	440	< 0.001	0.05	4.78	3	37		
HCC	1.30 (0.70,	2	655	0.41	0.18	8.98	1	89	0.003	1.58 (0.35,	2	655	0.55	1.14	23.77	1	96	< 0.001		
	2.41)									7.13)										
Esophageal	2.80 (1.08,	3	270	0.03	0.63	20.42	2	90	<0.001	2.54 (0.96,	3	270	0.06	0.18	31.78	2	94	<0.001		
cancer	7.25)									6.69)										
	Melanoma	1.94 (1.41, 2.67)	4	2,441	< 0.001	0.05	6.64	3	55	0.08										
ICIs type	PD-1 inhibitor	2.20 (1.87, 2.60)	10	1,312	< 0.001	0.02	12.01	9	25	0.21	2.32 (1.83, 2.95)	7	767	< 0.001	0.03	9.22	6	35		
	PD-L1	1.47 (1.19, 1.82)	5	1,062	< 0.001	0.03	8.03	4	50	0.09	1.42 (0.95, 2.13)	4	893	0.09	0.12	12.02	3	75		
	inhibitor																			
	PD-(L)1	2.30 (1.41, 3.75)	10	1,678	< 0.001	0.53	104.81	9	91	< 0.001	1.81 (1.20, 2.73)	9	1,332	0.004	0.35	95.66	8	92		
	inhibitor																			
ATB window		2.61 (2.11, 3.23)	5	732	< 0.001	0	3.11	4	0	0.54	1.73 (1.02, 2.96)	6	1,096	0.04	0.38	56.13	5	91		
(-30,0)		1.45 (1.11, 1.90)	7	2,608	0.007	0.08	22.25	6	73	0.001	1.88 (1.61, 2.19)	4	703	< 0.001	0	1.98	3	0		
(-30,30)		1.97 (1.65, 2.35)	5	2,447	< 0.001	0.01	5.64	4	29	0.23										
(-60,0)																				
(-60,30)		1.63 (1.16, 2.30)	6	1,461	0.005	0.13	27.95	5	82	<0.001	2.03 (1.17, 3.51)	4	756	0.01	0.27	27.23	3	89		
(0,30)		2.44 (1.38, 4.34)	3	269	0.002	0.01	1.08	1	7	0.3	2.38 (1.30, 4.36)	3	195	0.005	0.20	7.42	2	73		
during											1.07 (0.53, 2.15)	3	397	0.85	0.32	14.58	2	86		
Broad-spectrum	ATB		3								1.86 (1.44, 2.41)	3	255	< 0.001	0	0.28	3	0		

< 0.001 0.19

0.16 0.007

< 0.001

< 0.001 0.58

< 0.001

0.02 < 0.001 0.96

was (0 day, +30 days) of ICI initiation, the risk was the highest in the PFS analysis (HR = 2.38). Some studies have already revealed that the short-term decrease in bacterial richness after treatment in ATB (59). Meanwhile, the status of gut microbiota can recover to a baseline within 3 months after ATB discontinuation (60). So, using ATB treatment is essential, which can significantly influence the survival outcome of cancer patients on ICI therapy. Also, we also found the relationship of clinic feature, it was revealed that patients with a lower ECOG score (\leq 1) were more pretended to undergo ATB treatment. While the other aspects (PD-1 inhibitor type, NSCLC, gender type, cancer stage, and ICI line therapy) were observed to have no significant association.

Until now, the concrete mechanisms of how the use of antibiotics can impact the ICI therapy efficiency for cancer patients are still unknown, but some studies have shown that it may also be associated with the tumor microenvironment (61). An intact commensal microbiota is necessary for cancer therapy, which can mediate therapy effects through modulating the myeloid-derived cell functions in the tumor microenvironment. For example, in one experiment with ATB-treated mice, the tumor-infiltrating myeloid-derived cells responded poorly to the therapy, leading to lower cytokine production and tumor necrosis after CpG-oligonucleotide treatment, and it also showed deficient production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and cytotoxicity after chemotherapy (62). Another research has indicated that ATB may change the equilibrium of commensal bacteria, conducive for ICB efficacy, which may result in possible resistance to ICIs (63). Meanwhile, the local microbiota was demonstrated to make up an important part of the tumor microenvironment in many types of cancer, which may be affected by ATB use (64). Many researchers have proved that local bacterial dysbiosis can cause a proinflammatory immune response and thereby promote cancer growth (65).

Compared with the previous meta-analysis, our research is the most comprehensive, which included the largest number of studies, the largest population, and studied the most comprehensive aspects of subgroup analysis. Yu et al. (66) and Jiang et al. (67) performed a similar meta-analysis, although their subgroup was not as comprehensive as ours. Lurienne et al. (68) and Chen et al. (69) only included NSCLC patients with great limitations. The research by Elkrief (70) missed relative statistical analysis. However, there are still several limitations to our current study. First, the heterogeneity of the included research cannot be ignored. Different responses to drugs, different intervals of administration, and different individual cancer status can result in high heterogeneity. Second, the included studies did not provide enough details. Although we recorded the baseline characteristics of the population and performed the subgroup analysis, some concrete aspects are still unclear, such as infection type and infection site. The subgroup analysis for the ICI type lacked CTLA-4 inhibitor,

which was inadequate. Thirdly, most of the studies were retrospective, and only five of the studies contained randomized controlled trials.

Conclusion

In this research, it was revealed that ATB use was strongly associated with worse OS and PFS in cancer patients treated with ICI immunotherapy, especially during the period between 60 days before ICI initiation and 30 days after ICI initiation, which indicated that ATBs should be used cautiously and strictly to avoid a worse survival outcome. The immunotherapy inhibitor type and ATB class can also impact the prognosis. Moreover, it was found that different cancer types are also essentially associated with a survival outcome, including NSCLC, RCC, EC, and MEL. Still, more studies are needed to find the concrete mechanism between ATB use and ICIs and further improve the clinical treatment.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

JZ conceived the project and wrote the manuscript. GH, W-CW, D-hH, J-wZ, and HZ participated in data analysis. HT participated in language editing. RL and HZ reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was partially supported by the Guangdong Province Medical Science and Technology Research Fund Project (A2021056), funded by the Special Fund for Scientific Research and Cultivation of Shunde Hospital Affiliated to Jinan University (202101011); and the Guangdong Innovation and Entrepreneurship Training Program for Undergraduate (S202110559091X, S202210559078).

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Taiwen Li and Shirley Liu from Harvard University for helpful suggestions.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Hargadon KM, Johnson CE, Williams CJ. Immune checkpoint blockade therapy for cancer: an overview of FDA-approved immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2018) 62:29–39. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.06.001

2. Jenkins RW, Barbie DA, Flaherty KT. Mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. Br J Cancer (2018) 118(1):9-16. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.434

3. Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. *Nature* (2017) 541(7637):321-30. doi: 10.1038/nature21349

4. Baba Y, Nomoto D, Okadome K, Ishimoto T, Iwatsuki M, Miyamoto Y, et al. Tumor immune microenvironment and immune checkpoint inhibitors in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Sci* (2020) 111(9):3132-41. doi: 10.1111/cas.14541

5. Nakamura Y. Biomarkers for immune checkpoint inhibitor-mediated tumor response and adverse events. *Front Med* (2019) 6:119. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00119

6. Yu Y, Zheng P, Gao L, Li H, Tao P, Wang D, et al. Effects of antibiotic use on outcomes in cancer patients treated using immune checkpoint inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Immunother* (2021) 44(2):76–85. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000346

7. Routy B, Le Chatelier E, Derosa L, Duong CP, Alou MT, Daillère R, et al. Gut microbiome influences efficacy of PD-1–based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors. *Science* (2018) 359(6371):91–7. doi: 10.1126/science.aan3706

8. Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Viaud S, Vétizou M, Daillère R, Merad M, et al. Cancer and the gut microbiota: an unexpected link. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(271):271ps1. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3010473

9. Khan U, Ho K, Hwang EK, Peña C, Brouwer J, Hoffman K, et al. Impact of use of antibiotics on response to immune checkpoint inhibitors and tumor microenvironment. *Am J Clin Oncol* (2021) 44(6):247-53. doi: 10.1097/COC.00000000000813

10. Pinato DJ, Gramenitskaya D, Altmann DM, Boyton RJ, Mullish BH, Marchesi JR, et al. Antibiotic therapy and outcome from immune-checkpoint inhibitors. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):1–8. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0775-x

11. Routy B, Chatelier EL, Derosa L, Duong CPM, Alou MT, Daillère R, et al. Gut microbiome influences efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors. *Science* (2018) 359(6371):91-7. doi: 10.1126/science.aan3706

12. Iglesias-Santamaría A. Impact of antibiotic use and other concomitant medications on the efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with advanced cancer. *Clin Transl Oncol* (2020) 22(9):1481–90. doi: 10.1007/s12094-019-02282-w

13. Kapoor A, Noronha V, Patil VM, Joshi A, Menon N, Mahajan A, et al. Concomitant use of antibiotics and immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with solid neoplasms: retrospective data from real-world settings. *Ecancermedicalscience* (2020) 14:1038. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2020.1038

14. Lalani AA, Xie W, Braun DA, Kaymakcalan M, Bossé D, Steinharter JA, et al. Effect of antibiotic use on outcomes with systemic therapies in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Eur Urol Oncol* (2020) 3(3):372–81. doi: 10.1016/j.euo.2019.09.001

15. Kulkarni AA, Ebadi M, Zhang S, Meybodi MA, Ali AM, DeFor T, et al. Comparative analysis of antibiotic exposure association with clinical outcomes of chemotherapy versus immunotherapy across three tumour types. *ESMO Open* (2020) 5(5):e000803. doi: 10.1136/esmoopen-2020-000803

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary Material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.968729/full#supplementary-material

16. Nyein AF, Bari S, Hogue S, Zhao Y, Maller B, Sha S, et al. Effect of prior antibiotic or chemotherapy treatment on immunotherapy response in non-small cell lung cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2022) 22(1):101. doi: 10.1186/s12885-022-09210-2

17. Castello A, Rossi S, Toschi L, Lopci E. Impact of antibiotic therapy and metabolic parameters in non-small cell lung cancer patients receiving checkpoint inhibitors. *J Clin Med* (2021) 10(6):247–53. doi: 10.3390/jcm10061251

 Schett A, Rothschild SI, Curioni-Fontecedro A, Krähenbühl S, Früh M, Schmid S, et al. Predictive impact of antibiotics in patients with advanced non small-cell lung cancer receiving immune checkpoint inhibitors : Antibiotics immune checkpoint inhibitors in advanced NSCLC. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol (2020) 85(1):121–31. doi: 10.1007/s00280-019-03993-1

19. Elkrief A, El Raichani L, Richard C, Messaoudene M, Belkaid W, Malo J, et al. Antibiotics are associated with decreased progression-free survival of advanced melanoma patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Oncoimmunology* (2019) 8(4):e1568812. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2019.1568812

20. Routy B, Le Chatelier E, Derosa L, Duong CPM, Alou MT, Daillère R, et al. Gut microbiome influences efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors. *Science* (2018) 359(6371):91–7. doi: 10.1126/science.aan3706

21. Hogue C, Kuzel TM, Borgia JA, Marwaha G, Bonomi PD, Fidler MJ, et al. P2.04-69 impact of antibiotic usage on survival during checkpoint inhibitor treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). *J Thorac Oncol* (2019) 146 (6):1534–46.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.08.1574

22. Kaderbhai C, Richard C, Fumet JD, Aarnink A, Foucher P, Coudert B, et al. Antibiotic use does not appear to influence response to nivolumab. *Anticancer Res* (2017) 37(6):3195–200. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000346

23. Pinato DJ, Howlett S, Ottaviani D, Urus H, Patel A, Mineo T, et al. Association of prior antibiotic treatment with survival and response to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in patients with cancer. *JAMA Oncol* (2019) 5 (12):1774–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.2785

24. Guven DC, Acar R, Yekeduz E, Bilgetekin I, Baytemur NK, Erol C, et al. The association between antibiotic use and survival in renal cell carcinoma patients treated with immunotherapy: a multi-center study. *Curr Probl Cancer* (2021) 45 (6):100760. doi: 10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2021.100760

25. Barrón F, Arrieta O, Cardona A, Ruiz-Patiño A, Barrón ZZ, Rojas L, et al. Relevance of antibiotic use on clinical activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors in Hispanic patients with advanced NSCLC (CLICAP-ABs) EP1. *Technol Cancer Res Treat* (2019) 04-46. doi: 10.1177/15330338211033498

26. Huemer F, Lang D, Westphal T, Gampenrieder SP, Hutarew G, Weiss L, et al. Baseline absolute lymphocyte count and ECOG performance score are associated with survival in advanced non-small cell lung cancer undergoing PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. *J Clin Med* (2019) 8(7):1572–79. doi: 10.3390/jcm8071014

27. Huemer F, Rinnerthaler G, Westphal T, Hackl H, Hutarew G, Gampenrieder SP, et al. Impact of antibiotic treatment on immune-checkpoint blockade efficacy in advanced non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9(23):16512–20. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24751

28. Kim H, Lee JE, Hong SH, Lee MA, Kang JH, Kim IH. The effect of antibiotics on the clinical outcomes of patients with solid cancers undergoing immune checkpoint inhibitor treatment: a retrospective study. *BMC Cancer* (2019) 19(1):1100. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6267-z

29. Mohiuddin JJ, Chu B, Facciabene A, Poirier K, Wang X, Doucette A, et al. Association of antibiotic exposure with survival and toxicity in patients with

melanoma receiving immunotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst (2021) 113(2):162–70. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djaa057

30. Guo JC, Lin CC, Lin CY, Hsieh MS, Kuo HY, Lien MY, et al. Neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio and use of antibiotics associated with prognosis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients receiving immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Anticancer Res* (2019) 39(10):5675–82. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.13765

31. Ahmed J, Kumar A, Parikh K, Anwar A, Knoll BM, Puccio C, et al. Use of broad-spectrum antibiotics impacts outcome in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7(11):e1507670. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1507670

32. Ouaknine Krief J, Helly de Tauriers P, Dumenil C, Neveux N, Dumoulin J, Giraud V, et al. Role of antibiotic use, plasma citrulline and blood microbiome in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with nivolumab. *J Immunother Cancer* (2019) 7(1):176. doi: 10.3390/jcm10061251

33. Kim JH, Ahn B, Hong SM, Jung HY, Kim DH, Choi KD, et al. Real-world efficacy data and predictive clinical parameters for treatment outcomes in advanced esophageal squamous cell carcinoma treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Cancer Res Treat* (2022) 54(2):505–16. doi: 10.4143/crt.2020.1198

34. Cheung KS, Lam LK, Seto WK, Leung WK. Use of antibiotics during immune checkpoint inhibitor treatment is associated with lower survival in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Liver Cancer* (2021) 10(6):606–14. doi: 10.1159/000518090

35. Pomej K, Balcar L, Scheiner B, Semmler G, Meischl T, Mandorfer M, et al. Antibiotic therapy is associated with worse outcome in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma treated with sorafenib. *J Hepatocell Carcinoma* (2021) 8:1485–93. doi: 10.2147/JHC.S317957

36. Hamada K, Yoshimura K, Hirasawa Y, Hosonuma M, Murayama M, Narikawa Y, et al. Antibiotic usage reduced overall survival by over 70% in nonsmall cell lung cancer patients on anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. *Anticancer Res* (2021) 41(10):4985–93. doi: 1016/j.jtho.2019.08.1574

37. Ueda K, Yonekura S, Ogasawara N, Matsunaga Y, Hoshino R, Kurose H, et al. The impact of antibiotics on prognosis of metastatic renal cell carcinoma in Japanese patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Anticancer Res* (2019) 39(11):6265–71. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11680

38. Derosa L, Hellmann MD, Spaziano M, Halpenny D, Fidelle M, Rizvi H, et al. Negative association of antibiotics on clinical activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with advanced renal cell and non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann Oncol* (2018) 29(6):1437–44. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.2785

39. Chambers LM, Michener CM, Rose PG, Reizes O, Yao M, Vargas R. Impact of antibiotic treatment on immunotherapy response in women with recurrent gynecologic cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* (2021) 161(1):211–20. doi: 10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2021.100760

40. Gaucher L, Adda L, Séjourné A, Joachim C, Guillaume C, Poulet C, et al. Associations between dysbiosis-inducing drugs, overall survival and tumor response in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2021) 13:17588359211000591. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.08.2131

41. Chalabi M, Cardona A, Nagarkar DR, Dhawahir Scala A, Gandara DR, Rittmeyer A, et al. Efficacy of chemotherapy and atezolizumab in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer receiving antibiotics and proton pump inhibitors: pooled *post hoc* analyses of the OAK and POPLAR trials. *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31 (4):525–31. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.01.006

42. Greally M, Chou JF, Chatila WK, Margolis M, Capanu M, Hechtman JF, et al. Clinical and molecular predictors of response to immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with advanced esophagogastric cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(20):6160–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3603

43. Metges J-P, Michaud E, Deniel Lagadec D, Marhuenda F, Chaslerie A, Grude F. Impact of anti-infectious and corticosteroids on immunotherapy: Nivolumab and pembrozilumab follow-up in a French study. *Am Soc Clin Oncol* (2018) 19(1):1100. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy288.087

44. Geum MJ, Kim C, Kang JE, Choi JH, Kim JS, Son ES, et al. Broad-spectrum antibiotic regimen affects survival in patients receiving nivolumab for non-small cell lung cancer. *Pharm (Basel)* (2021) 14(5):162–70. doi: 10.3390/ph14050445

45. Tinsley N, Zhou C, Tan G, Rack S, Lorigan P, Blackhall F, et al. Cumulative antibiotic use significantly decreases efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors in patients with advanced cancer. *Oncologist* (2020) 25(1):55–63. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2019-0160

46. Ochi N, Ichihara E, Takigawa N, Harada D, Inoue K, Shibayama T, et al. The effects of antibiotics on the efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer differ based on PD-L1 expression. *Eur J Cancer* (2021) 149:73–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2021.02.040

47. Fessas P, Naeem M, Pinter M, Marron TU, Szafron D, Balcar L, et al. Early antibiotic exposure is not detrimental to therapeutic effect from immunotherapy in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Liver Cancer* (2021) 10(6):583–92. doi: 10.1159/000519108

48. Cren PY, Bertrand N, Le Deley MC, Génin M, Mortier L, Odou P, et al. Is the survival of patients treated with ipilimumab affected by antibiotics?

an analysis of 1585 patients from the French national hospital discharge summary database (PMSI). *Oncoimmunology* (2020) 9(1):1846914. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2020.1846914

49. Lu PH, Tsai TC, Chang JW, Deng ST, Cheng CY. Association of prior fluoroquinolone treatment with survival outcomes of immune checkpoint inhibitors in Asia. J Clin Pharm Ther (2021) 46(2):408–14. doi: 10.1111/jcpt.13298

50. Giordan Q, Salleron J, Vallance C, Moriana C, Clement-Duchene C. Impact of antibiotics and proton pump inhibitors on efficacy and tolerance of anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:716317. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.716317

51. Zhao S, Gao G, Li W, Li X, Zhao C, Jiang T, et al. Antibiotics are associated with attenuated efficacy of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapies in Chinese patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2019) 130:10–7. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.01.017

52. Hwang SR, Higgins A, Castillo Almeida NE, LaPlant B, Maurer MJ, Ansell SM, et al. Effect of antibiotic use on outcomes in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2021) 62(1):247–51. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2020.1827250

53. Hakozaki T, Richard C, Elkrief A, Hosomi Y, Benlaïfaoui M, Mimpen I, et al. The gut microbiome associates with immune checkpoint inhibition outcomes in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2020) 8 (10):1243–50. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-20-0196

54. Mielgo Rubio X, Aguado C, Sereno M, Chara L, Cabezón L, Velastegui A, et al. Early antibiotic use affects the efficacy of first line immunotherapy in lung cancer patients but route of administration seems to be decisive. *J Thorac Oncol* (2019). ELSEVIER SCIENCE INC STE 800, 230 PARK AVE, NEW YORK, NY 10169 USA. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.01.015

55. Jing Y, Chen X, Li K, Liu Y, Zhang Z, Chen Y, et al. Association of antibiotic treatment with immune-related adverse events in patients with cancer receiving immunotherapy. *J ImmunoTher Cancer* (2022) 10(1):e003779. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-003779

56. Ramirez J, Guarner F, Bustos Fernandez L, Maruy A, Sdepanian VL, Cohen H. Antibiotics as major disruptors of gut microbiota. *Front Cell Infection Microbiol* (2020) 10. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.572912

57. Brandtzaeg P. Function of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue in antibody formation. *Immunol Investigations* (2010) 39(4-5):303-55. doi: 10.3109/08820131003680369

58. Rounis K, Makrakis D, Papadaki C, Monastirioti A, Vamvakas L, Kalbakis K, et al. Prediction of outcome in patients with non-small cell lung cancer treated with second line PD-1/PDL-1 inhibitors based on clinical parameters: results from a prospective, single institution study. *PLoS One* (2021) 16(6):e0252537. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0252537

59. Raymond F, Déraspe M, Boissinot M, Bergeron MG, Corbeil J. Partial recovery of microbiomes after antibiotic treatment. *Gut Microbes* (2016) 7(5):428–34. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1216747

60. Huang X-Z, Gao P, Song Y-X, Xu Y, Sun J-X, Chen X-W, et al. Antibiotic use and the efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors in cancer patients: a pooled analysis of 2740 cancer patients. *Oncoimmunology* (2019) 8(12):e1665973. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2019.1665973

61. Khan U, Ho K, Hwang EK, Peña C, Brouwer J, Hoffman K, et al. Impact of use of antibiotics on response to immune checkpoint inhibitors and tumor microenvironment. *Am J Clin Oncol* (2021) 44(6):247–53. doi: 10.1097/COC.00000000000813

62. Iida N, Dzutsev A, Stewart CA, Smith L, Bouladoux N, Weingarten RA, et al. Commensal bacteria control cancer response to therapy by modulating the tumor microenvironment. *science* (2013) 342(6161):967–70. doi: 10.1126/science.1240527

63. Gong J, Chehrazi-Raffle A, Placencio-Hickok V, Guan M, Hendifar A, Salgia R. The gut microbiome and response to immune checkpoint inhibitors: preclinical and clinical strategies. *Clin Trans Med* (2019) 8(1):1–14. doi: 10.1186/s40169-019-0225-x

64. Wong-Rolle A, Wei HK, Zhao C, Jin C. Unexpected guests in the tumor microenvironment: microbiome in cancer. *Protein Cell* (2021) 12(5):426–35. doi: 10.1007/s13238-020-00813-8

65. Abreu MT, Peek RMJr. Gastrointestinal malignancy and the microbiome. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 146(6):1534–46.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.001

66. Yu Y, Zheng P, Gao L, Li H, Tao P, Wang D, et al. Effects of antibiotic use on outcomes in cancer patients treated using immune checkpoint inhibitors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Immunother* (2021) 44(2):76–85. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000346

67. Jiang S, Geng S, Chen Q, Zhang C, Cheng M, Yu Y, et al. Effects of concomitant antibiotics use on immune checkpoint inhibitor efficacy in cancer patients. *Front Oncol* (2022) 12:823705. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.823705

68. Lurienne L, Cervesi J, Duhalde L, de Gunzburg J, Andremont A, Zalcman G, et al. NSCLC immunotherapy efficacy and antibiotic use: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Thorac Oncol* (2020) 15(7):1147–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.03.002

69. Chen H, Han KD, He ZJ, Huang YS. How to choose a survival period? the impact of antibiotic use on OS or PFS in NSCLC patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Technol Cancer Res Treat* (2021) 20:15330338211033498. doi: 10.1177/15330338211033498

70. Elkrief A, Derosa L, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L, Routy B. The negative impact of antibiotics on outcomes in cancer patients treated with immunotherapy: a new independent prognostic factor? *Ann Oncol* (2019) 30(10):1572–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz206

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jian Song, University Hospital Münster, Germany

REVIEWED BY

Yun Qiu, The First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-Sen University, China Zhiyuan Zhang, Fudan University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yueming Sun sunyueming@njmu.edu.cn Xiaowei Wang wxw0213@njmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 03 May 2022 ACCEPTED 07 July 2022 PUBLISHED 04 August 2022

CITATION

Yang S, Zhou J, Chen Z, Sun Q, Zhang D, Feng Y, Wang X and Sun Y (2022) A novel m7G-related IncRNA risk model for predicting prognosis and evaluating the tumor immune microenvironment in colon carcinoma. *Front. Oncol.* 12:934928. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.934928

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Yang, Zhou, Chen, Sun, Zhang, Feng, Wang and Sun. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A novel m7G-related lncRNA risk model for predicting prognosis and evaluating the tumor immune microenvironment in colon carcinoma

Sheng Yang^{1†}, Jiahui Zhou^{1†}, Zhihao Chen^{1†}, Qingyang Sun¹, Dongsheng Zhang¹, Yifei Feng¹, Xiaowei Wang^{1*} and Yueming Sun^{2*}

¹First Clinical Medical College, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ²Department of General Surgery, First Affiliated Hospital, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

N7-Methylguanosine (m7G) modifications are a common type of posttranscriptional RNA modifications. Its function in the tumor microenvironment (TME) has garnered widespread focus in the past few years. Long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) played an essential part in tumor development and are closely associated with the tumor immune microenvironment. In this study, we employed a comprehensive bioinformatics approach to develop an m7G-associated IncRNA prognostic model based on the colon adenocarcinoma (COAD) database from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database. Pearson's correlation analysis was performed to identify m7G-related lncRNAs. Differential gene expression analysis was used to screen IncRNAs. Then, we gained 88 differentially expressed m7G-related IncRNAs. Univariate Cox analysis and Lasso regression analysis were performed to build an eight-m7G-related-IncRNA (ELFN1-AS1, GABPB1-AS1, SNHG7, GS1-124K5.4, ZEB1-AS1, PCAT6, C1RL-AS1, MCM3AP-AS1) risk model. Consensus clustering analysis was applied to identify the m7G-related IncRNA subtypes. We also verified the risk prediction effect of a gene signature in the GSE17536 test set (177 patients). A nomogram was constructed to predict overall survival rates. Furthermore, we analyzed differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between high-risk and low-risk groups. Gene Ontology (GO) analysis and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway enrichment analysis were conducted with the analyzed DEGs. At last, single-sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA), CIBERSORT, MCP-COUNTER, and Estimation of STromal and Immune cells in MAlignant Tumor tissues using Expression data (ESTIMATE) algorithms were utilized to discover the relationship between the risk model and the TME. Consequently, the m7G-related IncRNA risk model for COAD patients could be a viable prognostic tool and treatment target.

KEYWORDS

colon carcinoma, N7-methylguanosine(m7G), long noncoding RNA(LncRNA), risk model, tumor immune microenvironment

Introduction

Colon carcinoma is a frequently diagnosed malignant tumor worldwide, accounting for 10% of all cancer cases worldwide. Colon cancer ranks third among all carcinomas in terms of mortality, and the incidence ratio ranked third in all carcinomas (1). According to world epidemiological data, approximately 1.9 million new cases of colorectal cancer were diagnosed, with 935,000 deaths, in the proportion of around 1/10 of all (2). In China, the incidence rate and mortality rate of colon cancer have been increasing in recent decades. In recent years, great improvements have been made in surgical techniques, chemotherapy, and molecular targeted therapy, leading to an increased survival rate in patients with localized colon cancer (3). Surgery remains to be considered the main treatment modality for those diagnosed with early colon carcinoma (stage I and II) (4); surgery, neoadjuvant radiotherapy, and adjuvant chemotherapy are mainly for those with stage III/IV or stage II which is high risk (5). However, colorectal mortality and the number of deaths from colon cancer per year are still high (6), the potential molecular mechanisms of colon cancer has not been clear (7), and molecular biomarkers for evaluating the survival of this cancer and risk models for evaluating prognosis are still lacking. Therefore, it is imperative to develop a novel model for evaluating the prognosis of patients with colon cancer in order to further ameliorate their prognosis (8).

N5-Methylcytidine (m5C), N6-methyladenosine (m6A), and m7G are some of the common RNA modifications (9). Studies on m5C and m6A research are relatively more than those on m7G, with detailed research on their mechanisms. In recent years, a number of studies on m7G have gradually increased, thus making m7G modifications the next research hotspot of RNA modification. According to extant literature findings (10), tRNA guanine N7 methyltransferase, which belongs to the Sadenosylmethionine (SAM)-dependent RNA methyltransferase family, catalyzes m7G modification. In addition, m7G is also involved in many RNA metabolic processes in the human body, including transcription, mRNA splicing, and translation (11).

As is known to all, long non-encoding RNA (lncRNA) modulates gene transcription and posttranscriptional modification, whose expression is important in human carcinogenesis. According to the recent report, several cancer-related lncRNAs, such as lncRNA MALAT1 in prostate cancer, lncRNA HOTAIR and lncRNA ANRI (12)in cervical cancer, and lncRNA zinc finger protein (ZNF) in gastric cancer, have recently been discovered and their biological involvement in carcinogenesis verified (13). At present, m7G-related lncRNA has not been reported in the literature. Moreover, lncRNA expression is often maladjusted in various cancers and can predict prognosis (14). Therefore, we constructed an m7G-related lncRNA model and investigated its correlation with colon cancer prognosis.

The components of the TME are important for tumor development and metastasis (15). Adipocytes, fibroblasts,

immunological cells, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), and muscle endothelial cells are primarily found in the TME, all of which mediate paracrine signals to the surrounding (16). The TME, which affects tumor growth, includes immune cells (17). The tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) plays an essential role in tumor-immune interaction which could respond to treatment directly (18). Tumor-infiltrating immune cells are also significant in tumor growth, in immunotherapy response, and in predicting patient survival (19).

In our study, we built and validated an eight-m7G-relatedlncRNA prognostic risk model. The prognosis of patients was predicted *via* the Kaplan–Meier (KM) chart, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve, univariate and multivariate Cox analysis, and nomogram. Through the enrichment analysis of high and low risks, the relevant functions and pathways are obtained. Lastly, we investigated the association with both risk score and immune infiltration using the results of enrichment analysis. The flowchart is displayed in Figure 1.

Materials and methods

Data collection and analysis

Information of 459 patients was obtained on TCGA website (https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov/repository). Then, we used Perl software to reannotate the Ensemble Genes ID by aligning to gencode.v22 (www.gencodegenes.org/human/release_22.html). A total of 19,712 mRNAs and 14,805 lncRNAs were identified in the COAD dataset. Twenty-seven m7G-related genes were gained by searching the keyword "7-methylguanosine" on the official website of GSEA (http://www.gsea-msigdb.org/gsea/ msigdb/search.jsp) and referring to a relevant review (20). Then, using R language software, the expression matrix of m7G-related genes was obtained, and the differential expression analysis was carried out with limma package to obtain 21 meaningful (P < 0.05) m7G-related DEGs. Finally, the visualization results of box diagram, vioplot, and heat diagram were made using the R software package (pheatmap, reshape2, ggpubr, vioplot).

Construction of a protein–protein interaction network

The protein-protein interaction (PPI) network was created utilizing the online STRING website (cn.string-db.org). The 21 m7G-related DEGs were input into the gene list, homo sapiens were selected, and the medium confidence was set to 0.400. Then, we hid the disconnected nodes of the network and adjusted the position of each node. The barplot package was used to visualize the number of node connection genes, and the counts of connections ≥ 8 were defined as the hub gene.



Differentially expressed M7Grelated lncRNAs

The lncRNAs gained from the COAD database were filtered out, and the differential expression analysis was carried out with the limma package, obtaining 4,745 m7G-related differentially expressed lncRNAs with significance (P < 0.05, |FC| > 1.5). Through the correlation analysis between m7G-related differential genes and the lncRNA expression level in COAD samples, the lncRNAs related to m7G were identified. Based on the correlation coefficient >0.30 as well as P < 0.05, 1,020 lncRNAs related to m7G were identified. Then, we downloaded the GSE17536 database on the official website of GEO (www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/geo/), obtaining the expression matrix and clinical information with the R software package (GEOquery). Reannotation with the GPL570 annotation file was performed to obtain the expression matrix of each symbol. Intersection with the lncRNAs annotated by TCGA was done, finding 1,240 identical lncRNAs. Finally, 88 differentially expressed m7G-related lncRNAs were obtained by intersecting the three types of lncRNAs.

Construction of the prognostic m7Grelated lncRNA risk model

Univariate Cox analysis was performed to obtain 11 prognosis-related lncRNAs (P < 0.05) from these 88 differentially expressed m7G-related lncRNAs in order to check their prognostic significance. In addition, through 1,000-fold cross-validation, the Lasso Cox regression method was used to identify the ideal penalty parameter lambda and the relevant coefficient criterion based on the minimal criterion. Thus, an eight-lncRNA prognostic risk model was built. Then, we obtained the risk score by the following formula: risk score = coef (lncRNAn)*expr (lncRNAn). In the COAD database and

GSE17536 dataset, this method was used to compute the risk score of each patient.

Cluster analysis

Cluster analysis was performed on 452 samples of the COAD data set based on eight lncRNAs in the prognosis model using "ConensusClusterPlus" software package to determine m7G-related molecular subtypes. The number k of clusters was set to 2 to 10, and the "ConensusClusterPlus" program calculated the average contour width of the common member matrix. KM analysis was plotted to estimate the prognosis among different groups, and log-rank test was utilized.

Validation of the prognostic risk model

We unified the expression amount, survival time, survival status, risk score, and risk level of the eight lncRNAs in each TCGA sample (n = 452) into a table as the training set. The eight lncRNAs in GSE17536 (n = 177) were used as the test set. The prognostic significance of the training set was verified using the test set. A KM plot was utilized to analyze the risk prognosis, and the log-rank test was performed. Moreover, the ROC curve was also drawn using the timeROC program. Then, we utilized the pheatmap package to draw the risk curve, survival state diagram, and risk heat map. The Rtsne and ggplot2 packages were employed for t-SNE as well as principal component analysis (PCA). Finally, the risk score was combined with the clinical characters (age, gender, TNM stage, and grade) of the two data sets for univariate and multivariate Cox analyses, then visualized it with a forest map.

Nomogram construction and calibration

We further analyzed the clinical characteristics (age, TNM stage, and risk score) that were meaningful (P < 0.05) by univariate Cox analysis to study their clinical value in predicting patient survival. We applied the "RMS" tool to create a nomogram that predicted the 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates of COAD patients. We also plotted the calibration curves in the same calibration chart to assess the accuracy of the nomogram. Finally, the decision curve analysis (DCA) curve was drawn using the ggDCA program, which was also utilized to assess the prediction ability of the nomogram and other clinical parameters.

Gene set enrichment analysis

The link between risk group and Gene Ontology (GO) was investigated using gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) after TCGA samples were separated into high- and low-risk score groups. For each analysis, 1,000 gene set permutations were done. The enrichment function was chosen based on the following criteria: the gene collection was enriched and evaluated using the clusterProfiler software with a false discovery rate (FDR) of 0.25 and a NOM p value of 0.05. The top five functions enriched by two groups were visualized with an enrichment lot to obtain multiple GSEA diagrams. After that, differential expression analysis of two groups was performed to find DEGs between the two groups. GO and KEGG with the clusterProfiler package were performed to enrich and analyze the DEGs. Then, utilizing the enrichplot and ggplot2 packages, the enrichment results were shown as a barplot, bubble diagram, chord diagram, and cluster circle diagram.

Association with immune cells and function

Single-sample GSEA (ssGSEA) was applied to examine the differences in immune cell activity, immunological function, and immune route between two groups in the training set and depicted it with a boxplot. The marker genes of different kinds of immune cells could be found in the previous literature (21). The immune score, stromal score, estimated score, and tumor purity were determined using the ESTIMATE program and visualized using a heat map and violin plot. To acquire the composition of invading immune cells in each sample in the training set, the CIBERSORT package was filtered (P 0.05), and the risk score and immune cells were assessed using Pearson correlation. From COAD expression data, the likely MCPcounter package was run to estimate the abundance of immune and non-immune stromal cells, and a violin diagram was drawn to depict the abundance difference between the two groups.

RNA extraction and qRT-PCR

In order to further confirm the differential expression of the eight lncRNAs, we extracted RNA from fresh frozen tissues with TRIzol reagent (Takara, Japan) and detected the expression level of the eight lncRNAs by qRT-PCR. The cDNA was produced utilizing the PrimeScript RT Master Mix (Takara, Japan) and the designed primers (RiboBio, China). The related GAPDH mRNA expression was identified as an internal control. We collected 24 pairs of fresh colon cancer and adjacent tissues from the Colorectal Center of Jiangsu Provincial People's Hospital from 2020 to 2021. $2^{-\Delta\Delta}$ CT was used to represent the expression. The primer sequences are displayed in Supplementary Table 1. Each PCR reaction was carried out three times.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using R version 4.1.2. The "WilcoxTest" function in the limma package was used to

calculate the difference between two preselected groups or paired samples. The correlation between two parameters was evaluated *via* Pearson correlation analysis. The expression matrices of COAD and GSE17536 were batch corrected with the sva package. The survival package was used for KM, univariate, and multivariate Cox regression analyses to calculate the risk ratio, P value, and risk confidence interval. The P value of KM survival curves was calculated by the log-rank test. The glmnet package was used to calculate the optimal penalty parameter lambda and the related coefficient criterion of the Lasso Cox regression algorithm. P < 0.05 was regarded as statistical significance.

Results

Identification of differentially expressed m7G-related IncRNAs in COAD patients

Initially, we obtained 27 m7G-related genes from the official website of GSEA and previous reviews. Combined with the mRNA expression matrix of TCGA, we obtained the expression of these 27 genes in 521 COAD samples. There were 41 paracancerous samples and 480 tumor samples in 521 samples. The difference in expression between tumor samples and normal samples was evaluated. The Wilcox test (P < 0.05) was used to test. We found that among the 27 m7G-related genes, the expressions of METTL1, WDR4, NSUN2, DCPS,

NUDT3, NUDT4, AGO2, EIF4E, EIF4E1B, GEMIN5, LARP1, NCBP1, NCBP2, EIF3D, and EIF4A1 increased, the expressions of NUDT10, NUDT11, NUDT16, CYPIP1, EIF4E3, and EIF4G3 decreased, and there was no difference in the expressions of DCP2, EIF4E2, IFIT5, LSM1, NCBP2L, and SNUPN. Then we visualized the 27 genes with a violin map (Figure 2A) and made a heat map of 21 differentially expressed genes (Figure 2B). Then we used the online website STRING, input the 21 genes into the gene list, and selected Homo sapiens. The medium confidence was set to 0.400. The disconnected nodes of the network were hidden, and the position of each node was adjusted. Then we exported a PPI network diagram (Figure 2C) and TSV file. We utilized the barplot package to visualize the number of node connection genes (Figure 2D) and defined the genes whose counts of connections ≥ 8 as hub genes. The following hub genes were EIF4E, EIF4A1, EIF4E1B, NCBP1, NCBP2, EIF4E3, and EIF4G3. We also visualized the expression of 21 genes with the corrplot package (Figure 2E). Moreover, we removed the normal samples from the lncRNA expression matrix, extracted lncRNAs whose expression was >0.5, and then conducted Pearson correlation analysis based on these 21 genes to screen (|cor| > 0.3, P < 0.05) 1,020 m7G-related lncRNAs. Additionally, 14,805 lncRNAs of TCGA were analyzed for differential expression based on tumor samples and adjacent samples (P < 0.05, | FC | > 1.5). We also obtained the expression matrix of GSE17536 and found 1,240 same lncRNAs as TCGA. Finally, 1,020 m7G-related lncRNAs (cor-lncRNA), 4,745 differentially expressed lncRNAs (diff-lncRNA), and 1,240 identical lncRNAs



FIGURE 2

Differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (A) Violin plot showing the differential expression of 27 m7G-related genes between tumor and normal tissues from the COAD. (B) Heat map of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes between tumor and normal tissues (P < 0.05). The PPI network (C) and number of interaction nodes (D) of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E) Pearson correlation analysis of 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes. (E

(GSE17536 lncRNA) were intersected to obtain 88 differentially expressed m7G-related lncRNAs, which were visualized by a Venn diagram (Figure 3A).

Construction of a risk model for COAD patients

Initially, we obtained 27 m7G-related genes from the official website of GSEA and previous reviews. Combined with the mRNA expression matrix of TCGA, we obtained the expression of these 27 genes in 521 COAD samples. There were 41 paracancerous samples and 480 tumor samples in 521 samples. The differential expression between tumor samples and normal samples was analyzed and tested by Wilcox test (P < 0.05). We found that among the 27 m7G-related genes, the expressions of METTL1, WDR4, NSUN2, DCPS, NUDT3, NUDT4, AGO2, EIF4E, EIF4E1B, GEMIN5, LARP1, NCBP1, NCBP2, EIF3D, and EIF4A1 increased, the expressions of NUDT10, NUDT11, NUDT16, CYPIP1, EIF4E3, and EIF4G3 decreased, and there was no difference in the expressions of DCP2, EIF4E2, IFIT5, LSM1, NCBP2L, and SNUPN. Then we visualized the 27 genes with a violin map (Figure 2A) and made a heat map of 21 differentially expressed genes (Figure 2B). Then we used the online website STRING, input the 21 genes into the

gene list, and selected human sapiens. The medium confidence was set to 0.400. The disconnected nodes of the network were hidden, and the position of each node was adjusted. Then we exported a PPI network diagram (Figure 2C) and TSV file. We utilized the barplot package to visualize the number of node connection genes (Figure 2D) and defined the genes whose counts of connections ≥ 8 as hub genes. The hub genes were EIF4E, EIF4A1, EIF4E1B, NCBP1, NCBP2, EIF4E3, and EIF4G3. Firstly, the expression matrices of 1,240 identical IncRNAs of TCGA and GSE17536 were obtained respectively, and then the sva package was used for batch correction. We combined the 88 differentially expressed m7G-related lncRNAs with the batch-corrected database to obtain the expression of these 88 lncRNAs in TCGA and GSE17536. Then, we downloaded the clinical data of TCGA and GSE17536, removed the paracancerous samples, and combined them with the expression samples. Finally, 452 TCGA samples and 177 GSE17536 samples with both clinical data (overall survival time and event) and expression were obtained. To discover the prognostic significance of these 88 differentially expressed m7G-associated lncRNAs, univariate Cox analysis (P < 0.05) was used for obtaining 11 prognosis-related lncRNAs (ELFN1-AS1, GABPB1-AS1, SNHG7, PTOV1-AS2, LINC01138, GS1-124K5.4, ZEB1-AS1, PCAT6, SNHG15, C1RL-AS1, MCM3AP-AS1). The 11 lncRNAs were visualized by a forest map



FIGURE 3

Construction of the prognostic m7G-related lncRNAs risk model. (A) Venn diagram of cor-lncRNA, diff-lncRNA, and GSE17536lncRNA. (B) Forest map of 11 prognostic m7G-related lncRNAs by univariate Cox analysis (P < 0.05). (C) The correlation between 21 differentially expressed m7G-related genes and 11 prognostic m7G-related lncRNAs. The red color represents a positive correlation; the blue color represents a negative correlation. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, and ***P < 0.001. (D) 1,000 cross-validation to determine the optimal penalty parameter lambda (λ). (E) Lasso regression of the 11 m7G-related lncRNAs. (F) The Sankey diagram displayed the relationship between the m7G regulators mRNA expression and the m7G-related lncRNAs.

(Figure 3B). Additionally, the correlation of 11 lncRNAs and 21 DEGs was analyzed, and the correlation diagram (Figure 3C) was drawn with the corrplot package. Moreover, we performed Lasso regression analysis on these 11 lncRNAs (Figures 3D, E). We determined the optimal penalty parameter lambda and calculated the corresponding coefficient criterion based on the minimum criterion through 1,000-fold cross-validation. Thus, an eight-lncRNA (ELFN1-AS1, GABPB1-AS1, SNHG7, GS1-124K5.4, ZEB1-AS1, PCAT6, C1RL-AS1, MCM3AP-AS1) prognostic risk model was constructed. The following formula was used to determine the risk score: risk score = (0.1248634928)618*ELFN1-AS1 expression) + (0.138884459768606*GABPB1-AS1 expression)+(0.271466216016284*SNHG7 expression) + (0.0620449890746169*GS1-124K5.4 expression)+(0.643398387 399806*ZEB1-AS1 expression) + (0.344100469251062*PCAT6 expression)+(0.0756308955064826*C1RL-AS1 expression) + (0.170192664397879 *MCM3AP-AS1 expression). Then we analyzed the correlation of the eight lncRNAs and made the correlation circle diagram (Supplementary Figure 1). Meanwhile, a differential expression box plot was made in combination with the lncRNA expression matrix of TCGA (Supplementary Figure 2A). Furthermore, the expression levels of these eight lncRNAs in 24 frozen paired tissues were tested by qRT-PCR. It was found that they were upregulated in different degrees in tumor tissues (Supplementary Figure 2B). Lastly, the correlation between the eight lncRNAs and the target genes was represented by a Sankey diagram (Figure 3F). Positive stands for positive correlation and negative stands for negative correlation.

Identification of m7G-associated clusters and prognostic analysis between clusters

Firstly, we made a further cluster analysis of eight lncRNAs based on the risk model. Cluster analysis was performed on 452 samples of the COAD data set using the "ConsensusClusterPlus" package to determine m7G-associated molecular subtypes. The number k of clusters was selected from 2 to 10 (Figure 4B), and the "ConsensusClusterPlus" program calculated the average contour width of the matrix (Figure 4A). After careful selection, the best K value was 3 and the samples were divided into three clusters. At last, we analyzed the survival of three clusters and plotted the KM curve (Figure 4C). The corresponding p value obtained by the log-rank test was 0.007. There were significant differences in survival among the three subgroups. with cluster1 having a worse prognosis than clusters 2 and 3.

Validation using the GSE17536 set

Initially, we identified TCGA database (n = 452) as the training set and the GSE17536 database as the test set for verification. We plotted the KM curve (Figures 4D, F) and ROC curve (Figures 4E, G) of the training set and the test set. The P value of the training set (P < 0.001) and test set (P = 0.018) was obtained by the log-rank test. The HR of the training set was 2.876 and 95% CI: 1.935–4.275, while the HR of the test set was



FIGURE 4

Identification of m7G-associated clusters and prognostic analysis between clusters. (A) The consensus matrix (k = 3) of 452 COAD samples by Consensus Cluster analysis. (B) The relative change in area under the CDF curve for k = 2-10. The KM plot showing overall survival in three clusters (C), training set (D), and test set (F). The ROC curve of the training set (D) and test set (F). The 1-, 3-, and 5-year ROC analyses of risk score in the training set (E) and test set (G).

1.774 and 95% CI: 1.121-2.808. The risk score's area under the ROC curve (AUC) value was examined to determine its specificity and sensitivity in predicting patient prognosis in the two data sets. In the training set, the AUC values for the 1-, 3-, and 5-year risk scores were 0.671, 0717, and 0.692, whereas the AUC values in the test set were 0.679, 0.617, and 0.648. The risk score and survival status of COAD patients (Figure 5A) and GSE17536 patients (Figure 5B) were displayed using a risk curve, scatter plot, and risk heat map. We also made an expression heat map of clinicopathological features (TMN stage, stage, age, gender), clusters, and risk score based on TCGA database (Figure 5C). Additionally, the Rtsne package and ggplot2 package were used for t-SNE analysis of the training set (Figure 5E)and test set (Figure 5G). The scatterplot3d package was used to make 3D images of PCA analysis of the training set (Figure 5D) and test set (Figure 5F). It was demonstrated that the two groups of the training set and test set were heterogeneous. Moreover, we further subdivided each clinicopathological feature (TMN stage, stage, age, gender) and analyzed the survival of the risk scores of each subgroup (Figure 6A). The KM curve showed

that the subgroups with significant survival (P < 0.05) in two groups are the younger (age less than 65)or older (age greater than 65)patients, male or female, stage III-IV groups, T III-IV groups, N0 or N I-II groups, and M0 (patients without any metastasis) groups. Subsequently, we utilized univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses to see if the risk scores obtained by the two risk models may well be employed as an independent COAD prognostic signature. Univariate Cox regression analysis showed that age (HR: 1.027, 95% CI: 1.007-1.047, P = 0.009), T stage (HR: 2.975, 95% CI: 1.929-4.589, P < 0.001), N stage (HR: 2.045, 95% CI: 1.580-2.646, P < 0.001), M stage (HR: 4.375, 95% CI: 2.778-6.890, P < 0.001), and the risk score (HR: 3.373, 95% CI: 2.196–5.180, P < 0.001) in the training set were significantly positively associated with OS (Figure 6B). The grade (HR: 2.004, 95% CI: 1.249-3.216, P = 0.004) and risk score (HR: 4.413, 95% CI: 2.127-9.156, P < 0.001) of the test set were significantly positively correlated with OS (Figure 6D). Multivariate analysis of significant factors in univariate analysis showed that age (HR: 1.038, 95% CI: 1.017-1.058, P < 0.001), T stage (HR: 1.982, 95% CI: (1.213-3.237, P = 0.006), N stage (HR: 1.399, 95% CI: 1.040-



Validation of the prognostic risk model. Scatter plot revealing the risk score distribution of high risk and low risk and the relationship between survival time and risk score based on the training set (A) and test set (B). Heat map displaying the differential expression of the eight prognostic m7G-related IncRNAs in the high- or low-risk group. (C) Heat map showing clinicopathological features (TMN stage, stage, age, gender) and differences in the expression of eight lncRNAs in the high- and low-risk groups. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, and ***P < 0.001. The 3D scatter plot of PCA results of the training set (D) and test set (F). The t-SNE analysis of the training set (E) and test set (G).



1.881, P < 0.001), M stage (HR: 2.589, 95% CI: 1.501–4.467, P < 0.001), and risk score (HR: 2.948, 95% CI: 1.801–4.826, P < 0.001) were significantly associated with OS in COAD (Figure 6C), whereas the grade (HR: 2.135, 95% CI: 1.311–3.475, P = 0.002) and risk score (HR: 4.538, 95% CI: 2.187–9.418, P < 0.001) of the GSE17536 dataset were significantly positively correlated with OS (Figure 6E), suggesting that these two parameters can be used as independent prognostic factors. The risk score was found to be a useful independent predictor of outcome, outperforming other clinicopathological characteristics such as TMN stage, stage, age, sex, and grade.

Formulation and examination of a nomogram

First of all, we created a nomogram comprising clinical characteristics of TMN stage, age, and risk score depending on the outcomes of univariate and multivariate Cox analyses

(Figure 6F). We obtained the total score of a patient according to his clinical information, which could be used for assessing the prognosis of patients. Next, we also plotted the calibration curves (Figure 6G). The higher the number of curves of the three calibration curves close to the standard curve, the more accurate the prediction of the nomogram was. In addition, we performed the DCA (Figure 7A). The benefits of the nomogram were much higher than those of the extreme curves, according to the image results. The nomogram curve was higher than other clinical features (age, TNM stage) and risk score curve, indicating that the nomogram was more reliable in predicting survival rate. Finally, we made the ROC curve (Figure 7B) of multiple clinical factors (age, TNM stage, risk, and nomogram) and calculated the area under the ROC curve (AUC). We found that the AUC values of risk, nomogram, age, and TNM stage were 0.668, 0790, 0.606, 0.642, 0.683, and 0.666, respectively. When the AUC values of the nomogram and other clinical factors were compared, the nomogram was found to have a significantly higher AUC value, implying that the nomogram was a good prognostic predictor.



Gene set enrichment analysis

First of all, the COAD samples (n = 452) were divided into high- and low-risk groups. The connection between GO and risk group was investigated using GSEA. The following conditions were used to filter the enrichment function: NOM P < 0.05, FDR < 0.25. The top five functions enriched in the high-risk group were GOBP_NEGATIVE_REGULATION_ OF_PLATELET_DERIVED_GROWTH_FACTOR_RECEP TOR_SIGNALING_PATHWAY, GOBP_NEUROPEPTIDE_S IGNALING_PATHWAY, GOBP_REVERSE_CHOLES TEROL_TRANSPORT, GOMF_DNA_BINDING_TRANS CRIPTION_REPRESSOR_ACTIVITY, and GOMF_RNA_ BINDING_INVOLVED_IN_POSTTRANSCRIPTIONAL_ GENE_SILENCING, and those enriched in the low-risk group were GOBP_ADAPTIVE_IMMUNE_RESPONSE, GOBP_ HUMORAL_IMMUNE_RESPONSE, GOBP_IMMUNE_ RESPONSE_REGULATING_SIGNALING_PATHWAY, GOBP_RESPONSE_TO_BACTERIUM, and GOCC_ IMMUNOGLOBULIN_COMPLEX groups which were visualized with an enrichment lot to obtain multiple GSEA diagrams (Figure 7C). The high-risk group was shown to be mostly linked to DNA transcription and RNA posttranscriptional

modification, while the low-risk group was mostly linked to immunological infiltration. Next, we used the sva package to batch correct the same 16,397 mRNAs of TCGA and GSE17536, obtaining the corrected expression matrix. Then we used differential expression analysis to find 67 genes that were differentially expressed between the two groups (P<0.05, | FC | > 1.5). Then, we ran GO and KEGG enrichment analyses. The top 10 molecular functions (MF), biological process (BP), and cellular components (CC) according to their enrichment score were visualized by the barplot (Figure 7D), bubble diagram (Figure 7E), and chord diagram (Figure 7F). The DEGs were mainly enriched in "antimicrobial humoral immune response mediated by antimicrobial peptide", "antimicrobial humoral response", "humoral immune response", "response to molecule of bacterial origin", "response to lipopolysaccharide", "cellular response to lipopolysaccharide", "cellular response to molecule of bacterial origin", "neutrophil chemotaxis", and other functions by differentially expressed genes. The top 30 KEGG pathways were visualized by the barplot (Supplementary Figure 3A), bubble diagram (Supplementary Figure 3B), and cluster circle diagram (Supplementary Figure 3C). The DEGs enriched in "IL-17 signaling pathway", "rheumatoid arthritis", "viral protein interaction with cytokine and cytokine receptor", "toll-like receptor signaling pathway", "influenza A", "legionellosis", "cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction" and "pertussis" were mainly activated.

Immune infiltration analysis of the risk model

The results of the GSEA showed that the low-risk category was mostly associated with immunological infiltration, according to GSEA outcomes. As a result, we discovered the association in risk score and the immune infiltration microenvironment. To begin, the infiltration of 16 immune cells and the scores of 13 immunological functions were analyzed utilizing the ssGSEA method. In comparison to the high-risk group, the low-risk group had stronger immune cell infiltration (Figure 8A) and more immunerelated functions or pathways (Figure 8B). Secondly, COAD samples with a CIBERSORT output p value less than 0.05 were screened using the CIBERSORT algorithm for research. A bar graph was used for illustrating the percentage of 22 immune cells in 220 samples (Supplementary Figure 4). Only neutrophils and dendritic cells resting were negatively connected (P < 0.05) in the correlation analysis between these 22 immune cells and risk score (Figure 8C). In addition, based on COAD expression data, the MCPcounter software was applied to calculate the content of 10 categories of immune and stromal cells, and the violin diagram (Figure 8D) was created to demonstrate the abundance difference between the two groups. The low-risk group had considerably more cytotoxic lymphocytes, monocytic lineage, myeloid dendritic cells, and natural killer cells (NK cells) than the high-risk group (P < 0.05). Moreover, we obtained the immune score, stromal score, estimated score, and tumor purity of every patient using the ESTIMATE algorithm according to the proportion of immune and stromal cells in the TME. Then, based on the immune score, interstitial score, estimated score, tumor purity, cluster, and risk group, the score heat map of 29 immune cells and functions obtained by ssGSEA was made (Figure 8E). Furthermore, we detected the expression differences of 24 major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules in two groups and visualized them with a box diagram (Figure 8F). We discovered that the expression in the low-risk group was significantly greater than in the high-risk group. Finally, we examined the expression differences of 10 common immune checkpoint molecules (PDCD1, CD274, PDCD1LG2, CTLA4, LAG3, SIGLEC7, HAVCR2, LILRB2, VSIR, and FCGR3A) in two groups and made a box plot (Supplementary Figure 5). We discovered that CD274, PDCD1LG2, LAG3, SIGLEC7, HAVCR2, LILRB2, and FCGR3A were significantly overexpressed in the low-risk group.

Discussion

As everyone knows, colon cancer is one of the most common digestive tract carcinomas, with high malignancy and



FIGURE 8

Immune infiltration analysis of the prognostic m7G-related IncRNA risk model. The infiltrating levels of 16 immune cell types (A) and 13 immune functions (B) in high-risk and low-risk groups estimated by ssGSEA. (C) The correlation of immune score and risk score calculated by CIBERSORT. (D) The violin diagram revealing the abundance of 10 types of immune and stromal cells between two groups *via* MCPcounter. (E) Heat map of 29 immune cells and functions displaying the difference of the immune score, stromal score, estimated score, and tumor purity in two groups through ESTIMATE. (F) Box plot of 24 MHC molecules' expression level in two groups. ns, not significant, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, and ***P < 0.001.

invasiveness, as well as a high incidence and fatality rate (22). As a result, researching prognostic markers in colon cancer is crucial (23). lncRNA is also important in the genesis and progression of colon cancer. For instance, the lncRNA MALAT1, which is upregulated in colon carcinoma, may accelerate colon cancer cell growth (24). CCAT1 and CCAT2 have also been reported to be closely related to colorectal cancer (25). According to the existing literature reports, the number of prognostic models constructed by using the public database COAD is increasing. For instance, m6A-associated lncRNAs are potential prognostic biomarkers of colon cancer (26), prognostic risk model of pyroptosis-associated lncRNAs (27), and establishment and validation of the ferroptosis-related lncRNA prognostic signature (28). In addition, RNA modification is involved in the biosynthesis, metabolism, and structural stability of RNA molecules, which is highly related to tumors (29). Overall, this is the first study in colon cancer to develop an m7G-related lncRNA risk model for predicting patient prognosis. Furthermore, this prognostic model is strongly correlated with clinicopathological factors, immune cells, and immune-related functions. Consequently, it could be utilized to guide immune targeted therapy and predict patient survival.

In our research, the prognostic model we constructed included eight lncRNAs, namely, ELFN1-AS1, GABPB1-AS1, SNHG7, GS1-124K5.4, ZEB1-AS1, PCAT6, C1RL-AS1, and MCM3AP-AS1. ELFN1-AS1 may improve colon cancer cell growth and migration while activating ERK and the epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) pathway (30). Small nuclear RNA host gene 7 (SNHG7) is highly expressed in gastric and thyroid cancer and is associated with tumor stage and overall survival (31, 32). By overexpressing zinc finger enhancerbinding protein (ZEB1), ZEB1-AS1 was able to accelerate osteosarcoma and prostate cancer progression (33, 34). In addition, prostate cancer-associated transcript 6 (PCAT6) could promote the oncogenesis and angiogenesis of triplenegative breast cancer by regulating VEGFR2 (35). AKT/βcatenin/c-Myc pathway was activated by C1RL-AS1 to promote the cancerous behavior in stomach adenocarcinoma cells (36). Moreover, by affecting the miR-194-5p/FOXA1 axis, MCM3AP-AS1 has been shown to increase hepatocellular cancer growth (37). However, there are few reports concerning GABPB1-AS1 and GS1-124K5.4 in tumors. In summary, these IncRNAs were critical in the tumorigenesis and progression of tumors. Therefore, using lncRNA to construct our prognostic model seemed feasible and convincing.

Next, based on the GSEA outcomes of two groups, the highrisk group was mainly related to RNA modification, whereas the low-risk group was primarily enriched in immune cells and function. Based on the existing research, we have found some lncRNAs that could be identified as immunomodulatory factors, including lncRNA-COX2, THRIL, lncRNA-EPS, and MORRBID (38). Colon cancer was infiltrated by various immune cells, including tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs), CD8T cells, and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) (39). In our study, the risk score of lncRNAs was associated with immune cells including neutrophils, resting dendritic cells, cytotoxic lymphocytes, monocytic lineage, myeloid dendritic cells, and NK cells. Their abundance was much greater in the low-risk group than in the high-risk group. Moreover, we also used R programs like ESTIMATE and ssGSEA to assess the level of immunological infiltration. To summarize, the tumor immune infiltration microenvironment was found to be strongly associated with our risk model.

Of course, our research also have many deficiencies. First of all, the AUC values of the 1-, 3-, and 5-year risk scores of the training set and test set were basically <0.7. The accuracy for prediction was not very high; thus, the risk model needed to be improved. For example, we could set more strict screening criteria of FC value and P value in differential expression analysis. In univariate Cox analysis, the threshold of P could be set to 0.001, filtering out better prognostic lncRNAs. Secondly, the validation training set was only verified by the retrospective data of GEO. We should also verify its long-term clinical value through more prospective studies. Additionally, we also discovered the association among risk score and immune cells, immune function, immune score, and MHC molecules. Referring to a recent study, the greater the tumor mutation load, the worse the prognosis of patients (40). Immune infiltration in tumors was an important prognostic marker of immunotherapeutic response (41). Therefore, it is important to study the relationship between tumor mutation burden and the response of immunotherapy. Last but not least, the eight lncRNAs in the model needed further experimental verification in vivo and in vitro to test their role in the tumorigenesis and progression of colon cancer.

Conclusion

According to the transcriptome expression matrix and clinical data of TCGA, we created a prognostic risk model consisting of eight m7G-related lncRNAs for COAD patients. Next, we also verified the prognostic model according to the expression matrix and clinical data of the GSE17536 dataset. This predictive risk model was shown to have independent prognostic significance and could effectively predict the OS rate for COAD patients. Furthermore, our research has provided a deeper understanding of the association between this prognostic model and the tumor-immune microenvironment. Finally, the m7G-related lncRNA risk model may help us identify possible COAD signatures or therapeutic targets.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee of First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

SY and JZ designed the study. YS and XW collected and analyzed the data of TCGA and GEO data. SY and ZC performed the experiments. XW validated our method of data processing and statistical analysis. SY and JZ drafted the manuscript. YS secured funding for the study. XW and YS reviewed and supervised the study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Jiangsu Provincial Natural Science Foundation for Basic Research, China (Grant No. BK20201491)

References

1. Hao Y, Chen Y, He X, Yu Y, Han R, Li Y, et al. Polymeric nanoparticles with rosresponsive prodrug and platinum nanozyme for enhanced chemophotodynamic therapy of colon cancer. *Adv Sci (Weinh)* (2020) 7(20):2001853. doi: 10.1002/advs.202001853

2. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71(3):209– 49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

3. Lu H, Shi T, Wang M, Li X, Gu Y, Zhang X, et al. B7-H3 inhibits the IFNgamma-dependent cytotoxicity of Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cells against colon cancer cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2020) 9(1):1748991. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2020.1748991

4. Thean LF, Blocker C, Li HH, Lo M, Wong M, Tang CL, et al. Enhancerderived long non-coding RNAs CCAT1 and CCAT2 at rs6983267 has limited predictability for early stage colorectal carcinoma metastasis. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11 (1):404. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-79906-7

5. Long X, Deng Z, Li G, Wang Z. Identification of critical genes to predict recurrence and death in colon cancer: integrating gene expression and bioinformatics analysis. *Cancer Cell Int* (2018) 18:139. doi: 10.1186/s12935-018-0640-x

6. Yuan Y, Chen J, Wang J, Xu M, Zhang Y, Sun P, et al. Development and clinical validation of a novel 4-gene prognostic signature predicting survival in colorectal cancer. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:595. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00595

7. Liu J, Yang S, Wang Z, Chen X, Zhang Z. Ubiquitin ligase A20 regulates p53 protein in human colon epithelial cells. *J BioMed Sci* (2013) 20:74. doi: 10.1186/1423-0127-20-74

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank TCGA and GEO as public databases, providing free data for relevant research. We acknowledge the Core Facility of Jiangsu Provincial People's Hospital for its help in the detection of experimental samples. We thank Bullet Edits Limited for the linguistic editing and proofreading of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.934928/full#supplementary-material

8. Zhu J, Kong W, Xie Z. Expression and prognostic characteristics of ferroptosisrelated genes in colon cancer. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22. doi: 10.3390/ijms22115652

9. Wang X, Xie H, Ying Y, Chen D, Li J. Roles of N(6) -methyladenosine (m(6) a) RNA modifications in urological cancers. *J Cell Mol Med* (2020) 24(18):10302–10. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.15750

10. Thongdee N, Jaroensuk J, Atichartpongkul S, Chittrakanwong J, Chooyoung K, Srimahaeak T, et al. TrmB, a tRNA m7G46 methyltransferase, plays a role in hydrogen peroxide resistance and positively modulates the translation of katA and katB mRNAs in pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2019) 47(17):9271–81. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkz702

11. Zhang SY, Zhang, S W, Zhang T, Fan XN, Meng J. Recent advances in functional annotation and prediction of the epitranscriptome. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J* (2021) 19:3015–26. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2021.05.030

12. Ma F, An K, Li Y. Silencing of long non-coding rna-hcg18 inhibits the tumorigenesis of gastric cancer through blocking pi3k/akt pathway. *Onco Targets Ther* (2020) 13:2225–34. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S240965

13. Zhu T, Wang Z, Wang G, Hu Z, Ding H, Li R, et al. Long non-coding RNA ZFAS1 promotes the expression of EPAS1 in gastric cardia adenocarcinoma. *J Adv Res* (2021) 28:7–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jare.2020.06.006

14. Wu Y, Hu L, Liang Y, Li J, Wang K, Chen X, et al. Up-regulation of lncRNA CASC9 promotes esophageal squamous cell carcinoma growth by negatively regulating PDCD4 expression through EZH2. *Mol Cancer* (2017) 16(1):150. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0715-7

15. Zhang K, Corsa CA, Ponik SM, Prior JL, Piwnica-Worms D, Eliceiri KW, et al. The collagen receptor discoidin domain receptor 2 stabilizes SNAIL1 to facilitate breast cancer metastasis. *Nat Cell Biol* (2013) 15(6):677–87. doi: 10.1038/ncb2743

16. Park J, Euhus DM, Scherer PE. Paracrine and endocrine effects of adipose tissue on cancer development and progression. *Endocr Rev* (2011) 32(4):550–70. doi: 10.1210/er.2010-0030

17. Hung MH, Lee JS, Ma C, Diggs LP, Heinrich S, Chang CW, et al. Tumor methionine metabolism drives T-cell exhaustion in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):1455. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21804-1

18. Grabovska Y, Mackay A, O'Hare P, Crosier S, Finetti M, Schwalbe EC, et al. Pediatric pan-central nervous system tumor analysis of immune-cell infiltration identifies correlates of antitumor immunity. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):4324. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18070-y

19. Racle J, de Jonge K, Baumgaertner P, Speiser DE, Gfeller D. Simultaneous enumeration of cancer and immune cell types from bulk tumor gene expression data. *Elife* (2017) 6. doi: 10.7554/eLife.26476

20. Tomikawa C. 7-methylguanosine modifications in transfer RNA (tRNA). Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19(12). doi: 10.3390/ijms19124080

21. Bindea G, Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Waldner M, Obenauf AC, et al. Spatiotemporal dynamics of intratumoral immune cells reveal the immune landscape in human cancer. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):782–95. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.003

22. Li JB, Liu ZX, Zhang R, Ma SP, Lin T, Li YX, et al. Sp1 contributes to overexpression of stanniocalcin 2 through regulation of promoter activity in colon adenocarcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* (2019) 25(22):2776–87. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i22.2776

23. Ogino S, Nosho K, Irahara N, Shima K, Baba Y, Kirkner GJ, et al. Prognostic significance and molecular associations of 18q loss of heterozygosity: a cohort study of microsatellite stable colorectal cancers. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27(27):4591–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.22.8858

24. Liang Y, Rong X, Luo Y, Li P, Han Q, Wei L, et al. A novel long non-coding RNA LINC00355 promotes proliferation of lung adenocarcinoma cells by down-regulating miR-195 and up-regulating the expression of CCNE1. *Cell Signal* (2020) 66:109462. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2019.109462

25. Ou C, Sun Z, He X, Li X, Fan S, Zheng X, et al. Targeting YAP1/LINC00152/ FSCN1 signaling axis prevents the progression of colorectal cancer. *Adv Sci* (*Weinh*) (2020) 7(3):1901380. doi: 10.1002/advs.201901380

26. Zhang H, Zhao L, Li S, Wang J, Feng C, Li T, et al. N6-methylandenosinerelated lncrnas in tme are potential prognostic biomarkers in colon cancer. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:697949. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.697949

27. Xia F, Yan Y, Shen C. A prognostic pyroptosis-related lncrnas risk model correlates with the immune microenvironment in colon adenocarcinoma. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:811734. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.811734

28. Cai HJ, Zhuang ZC, Wu Y, Zhang YY, Liu X, Zhuang JF, et al. Development and validation of a ferroptosis-related lncRNAs prognosis signature in colon cancer. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci* (2021) 21(5):569–76. doi: 10.17305/bjbms.2020.5617

29. Noma A, Sakaguchi Y, Suzuki T. Mechanistic characterization of the sulfurrelay system for eukaryotic 2-thiouridine biogenesis at tRNA wobble positions. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2009) 37(4):1335–52. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn1023 30. Dong L, Ding C, Zheng T, Pu Y, Liu J, Zhang W, et al. Extracellular vesicles from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells treated with siRNA against ELFN1-AS1 suppress colon adenocarcinoma proliferation and migration. *Am J Transl Res* (2019) 11(11):6989–99.

31. Gao M, Liu L, Zhang D, Yang Y, Chang Z. Long non-coding RNA NEAT1 serves as sponge for miR-365a-3p to promote gastric cancer progression *via* regulating ABCC4. *Onco Targets Ther* (2020) 13:3977-85. doi: 10.2147/ OTT.S245557

32. Samimi H, Sajjadi-Jazi SM, Seifirad S, Atlasi R, Mahmoodzadeh H, Faghihi MA, et al. Molecular mechanisms of long non-coding RNAs in anaplastic thyroid cancer: a systematic review. *Cancer Cell Int* (2020) 20:352. doi: 10.1186/s12935-020-01439-w

33. Gao J, Yuan Y, Zhang L, Yu S, Lu J, Feng J, et al. Inhibition of ZEB1-AS1 confers cisplatin sensitivity in breast cancer by promoting microRNA-129-5p-dependent ZEB1 downregulation. *Cancer Cell Int* (2020) 20:90. doi: 10.1186/s12935-020-1164-8

34. Zhou M, Guo X, Wang M, Qin R. The patterns of antisense long non-coding RNAs regulating corresponding sense genes in human cancers. *J Cancer* (2021) 12 (5):1499–506. doi: 10.7150/jca.49067

35. Dong F, Ruan S, Wang J, Xia Y, Le K, Xiao X, et al. M2 macrophage-induced lncRNA PCAT6 facilitates tumorigenesis and angiogenesis of triple-negative breast cancer through modulation of VEGFR2. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11(9):728. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-02926-8

36. Zhen-Hua W, Yi-Wei G, Li-Qin Z, Jie-Yun Z, Zhe G, Wei-Jian G. Silencing of LncRNA C1RL-AS1 suppresses the malignant phenotype in gastric cancer cells *via* the AKT/beta-Catenin/c-Myc pathway. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1508. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01508

37. Wang Y, Yang L, Chen T, Liu X, Guo Y, Zhu Q, et al. A novel lncRNA MCM3AP-AS1 promotes the growth of hepatocellular carcinoma by targeting miR-194-5p/FOXA1 axis. *Mol Cancer* (2019) 18(1):28. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0957-7

38. Agarwal S, Vierbuchen T, Ghosh S, Chan J, Jiang Z, Kandasamy RK, et al. The long non-coding RNA LUCAT1 is a negative feedback regulator of interferon responses in humans. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):6348. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-20165-5

39. Bai YP, Shang K, Chen H, Ding F, Wang Z, Liang C, et al. FGF-1/-3/FGFR4 signaling in cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes tumor progression in colon cancer through erk and MMP-7. *Cancer Sci* (2015) 106(10):1278–87. doi: 10.1111/ cas.12745

40. Kurokawa M, Ghosh SK, Ramos JC, Mian AM, Toomey NL, Cabral L, et al. Azidothymidine inhibits NF-kappaB and induces Epstein-Barr virus gene expression in burkitt lymphoma. *Blood* (2005) 106(1):235–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3748

41. Kohlhapp FJ, Broucek JR, Hughes T, Huelsmann EJ, Lusciks J, Zayas JP, et al. NK cells and CD8+ T cells cooperate to improve therapeutic responses in melanoma treated with interleukin-2 (IL-2) and CTLA-4 blockade. *J Immunother Cancer* (2015) 3:18. doi: 10.1186/s40425-015-0063-38Legend

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Yunlong Pan, First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, China Qiu Xinguang, First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yi-feng Tian tianyifengsl@126.com Shi Chen

wawliwali@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 01 June 2022 ACCEPTED 08 July 2022 PUBLISHED 05 August 2022

CITATION

Hu J-f, Wang Z-w, Liao C-y, Chen Z-w, Kang F-p, Lin C-f, Lin T-s, Huang L, Tian Y-f and Chen S (2022) Induced expression of CCL19 promotes the anti-tumor ability of CAR-T cells by increasing their infiltration ability. *Front. Immunol.* 13:958960. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.958960

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Hu, Wang, Liao, Chen, Kang, Lin, Lin, Huang, Tian and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Induced expression of CCL19 promotes the anti-tumor ability of CAR-T cells by increasing their infiltration ability

Jian-fei Hu^{1†}, Zu-wei Wang^{1†}, Cheng-yu Liao^{1†}, Zhi-wen Chen¹, Feng-ping Kang¹, Cai-feng Lin^{1,2}, Tian-sheng Lin², Long Huang^{1,2}, Yi-feng Tian^{1,2*} and Shi Chen^{1,2*}

¹Shengli Clinical Medical College of Fujian Medical University, Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China, ²Department of Hepatopancreatobiliary Surgery, Fujian Provincial Hospital, Fuzhou, China

Background: Chimeric antigen receptor-engineered T cell (CAR-T) therapy has shown promising potential for anti-cancer treatment. However, for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), the lack of infiltrative ability of these CAR-T cells leads to sub-optimal treatment outcome.

Methods: Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 19 (CCL19), the expression of which is regulated by the nuclear factor of activated T cell pathway, was transfected into targeting mesothelin CAR-T cells (mesoCAR-N19) using NFAT regulating element. It was expressed in activated CAR-T cells by OKT3 or mesothelin+tumor cells but not in inactive cells. The migratory ability of these CAR-T cells was then measured. Subsequently, functional identification of these CAR-T cells was performed *in vivo*. In addition, the tumor lytic activity and proliferation of the CAR-T cells were measured *in vitro*. The degree of CAR-T cell infiltration and distribution into the PDAC tumors was examined using the immunohistochemical staining of hCD3 and the detection of CAR gene copy number by quantitative PCR. Finally, the functional assessment of chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 7 knock-out was performed in the CAR-T cells.

Results: Through *in vitro* Transwell assays, it was demonstrated that mesoCAR-N19 can be specifically expressed in CAR-T cells activated by tumor cells compared with conventional mesothelin CAR-T (mesoCAR) cells. We also observed that upregulating the expression of CCL19 can increase the recruitment of additional T cells. *In vivo* studies subsequently revealed that this highly specific recruitment of T cell infiltration is associated with enhanced tumor-suppressive activities downstream.

Conclusion: Induced expression of CCL19 can promote the anti-tumor ability of CAR-T cells by increasing their infiltrative ability. This study potentially uncovered novel method of activating CAR-T cells to enhance their infiltrative capacities, which offers a novel direction for PDAC treatment.

KEYWORDS

pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, mesothelin, nuclear factor of the activated T cell (NFAT), chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 19 (CCL19), chimeric antigen receptorengineered T cell (CAR-T)

Introduction

Pancreatic cancer (PC) is considered to be a highly aggressive malignancy that has a poor prognosis, the 5-year survival rate of which is <10% (Data collected in 2016) (1). The majority of PC cases are of the pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) subtype (2). Typical treatment methods for PDAC, such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy, are unable to significantly improve patient survival (1, 2). Therefore, development of more precise and effective treatment strategies, including those of immunotherapy and adaptive immune cell therapy, is in urgent demand (3, 4).

Over the past decade, chimeric antigen receptor-modified Tcell (CAR-T) therapy has been proposed to be a potential treatment method for various malignancies such as NHL. Briefly, CAR is a fusion protein that contains an antigenrecognizing domain [single-chain variable fragment (scFv)], a hinge and transmembrane domain and several signaling domains (5). For the treatment of hematological malignancies, CAR-T has yielded highly satisfactory therapeutic effects. In diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (6, 7), the objective response rate (ORR) of CAR-T therapy can reach over 60%, whereas for multiple myeloma, the ORR of CAR-T therapy has been shown to reach over 90% (8, 9). However, in solid tumor treatment, CAR-T treatment has not been as effective (10, 11). For the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma (12, 13), malignant glioma (14, 15) and ovarian cancer (16), CAR-T therapy has not resulted in efficacies comparable to that of leukemia. This discrepancy has been reported to be attributed to several factors. The degree of infiltration by these CAR-T cells has been observed to be poor (15, 17). In addition, the heterogeneity of the tumor tissues served as another obstacle (18, 19). The chemotaxis of CAR-T cells has not been as efficient in these solid tumors, which was inhibited further by the tumor microenvironment (17, 20-22). PC has a number of viable biomarkers with high levels of specificity, including mesothelin (23, 24) and HER2 (25, 26). However, for advanced PC, CAR-T therapy has been able to result in tumor suppression at the primary lesion due to poor infiltration and chemotaxis (16, 27).

To address this form of CAR-T cell tropism, memory T cell infiltration was increased by overexpressing the chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 19 (CCL19) in CAR-T cells (28). CCL19 is a chemokine ligand for chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 7 (CCR7), which is highly expressed on memory T cells and

mature antigen-presenting cells (29). Physiologically CCL19 is expressed in the T zones in the lymph node, which enables mature fibroblasts to recruit memory T cells and mature antigen-presenting cells to activate T cells (30). Therefore, if CCL19 expression is chronically upregulated by CAR-T, then chemotaxis may become inefficient, since these CAR-T would then also home towards other tissues non-specifically instead of exclusively to the tumor tissues.

In this study, we conditionally expressed CCL19 in CAR-T cells targeting mesothelin using the nuclear factor of the activated T cell (NFAT) signaling pathway. After the CAR-T cells reach the tumor tissue and are activated by the antigen, the NFAT signaling pathway is then activated and triggers CCL19 expression. Subsequently, CCL19 expression is restricted inside the tumor tissue, which then promotes memory CAR-T infiltration into the tumor tissue.

Materials and methods

Cell culture

Briefly, 293T cells (cat. no. CRL-3216) were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) and cultured with Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM; cat. no. 11995-065; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; cat. no. 10099-141; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.). BXPC-3 (CRL-1687, ATCC) and AsPC-1 (CRL-1682, ATCC) cells were obtained from ATCC and cultured in RPMI-1640 medium (cat. no. 11875093; Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.) supplemented with 10% FBS. Human T cells were obtained from Allcells (cat. no. PB009-CD3-F). Both of the cells were cultured in 5% CO_2 at 37°C.

Lentivirus preparation

The CAR and its promotor were designed as shown in Figure 1A. The genes and their promoters were fully synthesized and inserted into the lentiviral plasmid vector pLVX-IRES-GFP. For lentivirus particle packaging, this core lentiviral plasmid and two helper plasmids, pMD2.G and psPAX-2 were co-transfected into 293T cells using Lipofectamine 3000 (cat. no. L3000008;ThermoFisher



Scientific, Inc.) transfection reagent. After 48 h, the supernatant was harvested and the lentivirus was concentrated according to the protocols of Lenti-X Concentrator (cat. no. 631232; Takara Bio, Inc.).

CAR-T cell preparation

Human T-cells were activated by the DynabeadsTM Human T-Activator CD3/CD28 (cat. no. 11161D; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.) and cultured for 24 h. Subsequently, the lentivirus was added with a multiplicity of infection of 2. The cells were cultured with X-VIVO-15 (Lonza Group, Ltd.) with 100 IU/ml interleukin (IL)-2 (cat. no. 200-02; PeproTech China). The medium was changed every 2 days and the cells were cultured for 10 days after activation.

ELISA

To stimulate mesothelin CAR-T (mesoCAR) cells into expressing CCL19 in mesoCAR-N19 cells, we activated mesoCAR-N19 CAR-T cells using PHA (sigma, 11249738001) or tumor cells. The PHA-L concentration was kept at a 500-fold dilution, whereas the ratio of CAR-T cells to tumor cells in the co-culture was 1:1. The co-culture stimulation time with tumor cells or PHA-L was 6 h at 37°C. The cell supernatant was then collected afterwards and assayed using the Human CCL19/MIP- 3β Doust ELISA (cat. no. DY361; R&D systems, Inc.) according to the manufacturer's protocols. For the mouse plasma samples, blood samples were collected through the eye socket and centrifuged at 500 \times g for 10 min at room temperature, after which the supernatant was collected and assayed using the Human CCL19/MIP-3 β DuoSet ELISA according to the manufacturers' protocols.

Flow cytometry

In total, 1×10^6 cells were placed in a tube and centrifuged at 500 ×g for 5 min at room temperature, before the supernatant was discarded. The cells were then resuspended with phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) containing 2% bovine serum albumin, after which 1 µg antibody was added to the tube, followed by incubation for 30 min at 4°C. To this solution, 1 ml PBS solution was added before the mixture was centrifuged at 500 ×g for 5 min at room temperature. The supernatant was then discarded and the cells were resuspended with 200 µl PBS before flow cytometry (CantoII, BD). The antibodies used were as follows: CCR7 (cat. no. 557734; BD Biosciences), CCL19 (cat. no. 566523; BD Biosciences), mesothelin (cat. no. 530203; Biolegend, Inc.), streptavidin (cat. no. 554067; BD Biosciences) and protein L (cat. no. RPL-P81Q7).

Cytotoxicity

CAR-T cells and target or non-target cells were first mixed in a graded ratio, whilst equivalent densities of either CAR-T cells alone or tumor cells alone were used as corresponding controls. After co-culturing for 4 h at 37°C, the 96-well plates were centrifuged at 500 ×g for 5 min at room temperature before 50 μ l of this supernatant solution was subjected to lactate dehydrogenase quantification using the CytoTox 96[®] Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay (cat. no. G1780; Promega Corporation). After reading the optical density value at 490 nm using a microplate reader, the cytotoxicity was calculated according to the following equation: Cytotoxicity (%) = (Experimental group - T-cell only - tumor only-3 × medium control)/tumor_{max}-tumor_{auto}.

Transwell assays

We used Transwell plates (cat. no. 3414; Corning, Inc.) for the present study. Carboxyfluoresceinsuccinimidyl ester (CFSE)labeled or unlabeled CAR-T cells were added to the upper chamber (1×10^5 cells/well) in RPMI 1640 medium. By contrast, the lower chamber contained pre-coated immobilized OKT3 (5 µg/ml) or AsPC-1 cells (1×10^5 cells) in RPMI 1640 medium supplement 2% FBS. The concentration of CCL19 was 10 ng/ml.

Cytokine assay

For the detection of cytokines released after CAR-T cell coculturing with AsPC-1 cells, we mixed CAR-T cells with BxPC-3 or AsPC-1 cells for 18 h in RPMI 1640 medium supplement 2% FBS. After this, the supernatant was collected before six types of cytokines were tested using the Human Th1/Th2 Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) Kit (cat. no. 551809; BD Biosciences). Cytokine detection were performed by flow cytometry (BD FACSCantoTM II; BD Biosciences) and analyzed by the Flowjo software.

CFSE assay

The cells were labeled with the CellTraceTM CFSE Cell Proliferation Kit (cat. no. 65-0850-84; ThermoFisher Scientific, Inc.) according to the manufacturer's protocols. After labeling, the CAR-T cells were co-cultured with Aspc-1 tumor cells at a 1:1 ratio for 2 days at 37°C, followed by staining of the cells with an anti-human CD3 antibody (Biolegend, 300311) and analyses by Flow cytometry.

Cas9/CRISPR gene editing

The T cells were activated and transduced with lentivirus as previously described. In total, 2×10^6 CAR-T cells were electroporated, 50pM CAS9 protein (Novoprotein, E365) and 300 pM single guide

(sg) RNA were incubated together for 10 min at 25°C to obtain Cas9/ sgRNA ribonucleoprotein. CAR-T cells were resuspended in 20 μ IP3 Buffer(Lonza Group, Ltd.), combined with RNP and electroporated using a 4D-NucleofectorTM(Lonza Group, Ltd.) with pulse code E0115. Next, CAR-T cells were cultured with T cell medium as previously described for 4-5 days. The sgRNA targeting sequence in the CCR7 gene was 5'-CGCAACTTTGAGCGCAACA-3' (CRISPRD HSPD0000007879).

Mouse experiments

Nod Scid γ mice aged 6 weeks were purchased from Shanghai Model Organisms Center, Inc, All mice were female. To obtain the pancreatic tumor xenograft model, 2×10⁶AsPC-1 cells in 100 µl PBS were injected into the right flank of mice with Matrigel (Corning, Inc.). When the mean tumor volumes reached 300 mm³, we injected 2×10⁶ CAR-T or 5×10⁵ CAR-T cells suspended in 200 µl PBS, into the mice by tail vein injection before changes in tumor volume were observed every 7 days. The tumor volumes were monitored by caliper measurement and the volumes were calculated as follows: Volume = (length × width²)/2.

For *in vivo* imaging experiments, 2×10^6 AsPC-1-lucferase cells suspended in100 µl PBS were injected into the right flank of mice with Matrigel (Corning, Inc.).After CAR-T treatment, the images of mice were captured using IVIS[®]Lumina SeriesIII (PerkinElmer, Inc.) after luciferin (*In vivo* grade) treatment. The mice were sacrificed with an overdose of 10% pentobarbital sodium (100 mg/kg; intraperitoneal injection) and death was confirmed by the disappearance of heartbeat. The mouse experiments were approved by the Animal Research and Care Committee of Fujian Provincial Hospital, Shengli Clinical Medical College of Fujian Medical University (Fuzhou, China) and performed in accordance with the NIH guidelines for Laboratory Animals and established Institutional Animal Use and Care protocols at the Fujian Provincial Hospital, Shengli Clinical Medical College of Fujian Medical University.

IHC staining and quantitative PCR

Immunohistochemistry was performed on paraformaldehyde-fixed and paraffin-embedded samples. The tumors were excised using a microtome and stained according to standard procedures. The sections were stained with an antihuman CD3 antibody (cat. no. ab16669; Abcam) and then with HRP-conjugated Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (cat. no. ab6721; Abcam).

For qPCR, the genomic DNA was extracted by using the TIANamp Genomic DNA Kit (cat. no. DP304; Tiangen Biotech Co., Ltd.). qPCR assay was performed according to standard procedures. The primer and probe sequences were as follows:

Forward, 5'- CTGGCTGCAGTACGTGATTC-3' and reverse, 5'-GGCCTCGAACTCTCCCACC-3' and probe, 5' fluorescein amidites-GATCCCGAGCTTCGGGTTGGAAGT-TAMRA 3'.

Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was performed with using the GraphPad Prism software 9.2 (GraphPad Software, Inc.). Oneway ANOVA and two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post hoc* test or t-tests unpaired were performed for different conditions. Statistical significance was represented by the following P-values: ****P<0.0001,***P<0.001, **P<0.01 and *P<0.05 or no statistical significance (ns).

Results

CAR-T preparation and phenotype

The lentiviral structures are shown in Figure 1A. In brief, the targeting mesothelin CAR (mesoCAR) construct was generated using a tandem construct encoding SS1 ScFv domain that was fused using the CD8 hinge and the 4-1BB and CD3 ζ intracellular signaling regions. In addition, the co-expression system of CCL19 and mesoCAR was created by fusing the mesoCAR with human CCL19 cDNA using a 2A peptide to produce the mesoCAR-CCL19 construct. The conditional NFAT signaling-

inducible expression of CCL19 was controlled by an NFATbinding motif linked to a minimal IL-2 promoter (mesoCAR-N19). The expression of CAR in these CAR-T cells is shown in Figures 1B, C. When compared with that in mesoCAR, the transfection efficiency of CAR in mesoCAR-CCL19 and mesoCAR-N19 cells was significantly lower. This difference may have been caused by the larger gene insertions that took place in themesoCAR-CCL19 and mesoCAR-N19 constructs. However, there was no memory phenotypic difference among the three CAR-T cell subtypes (Figure 1D).

CCL19 expression

Next, we detected CCL19 levels in the supernatant. As shown in Figure 2A, CCL19 secretion could not be detected in the untransfected (NT-T) or mesoCAR cells. However, unlike mesoCAR-CCL19 cells, which showed markedly increased CCL19 secretion, CCL19 could only be weakly detected in the supernatant of mesoCAR-N19 cells. This difference could be attributed to the hypothesis that the NFAT promoter is inactive. Therefore, we measured the levels of CCL19 secreted by the CAR-T cells with and without PHA-L treatment for 6 h. As shown in Figure 2B, CCL19 secretion was significantly higher in the mesoCAR-N19 group stimulated with PHA compared with those in mesoCAR-N19 not stimulated with PHA. By contrast, CCL19 secretion in the mesoCAR-CCL19 cells was not significantly different between the PHA-treated and untreated



Identification of C-C motif chemokine ligand 19 (CCL19) expression. (A) Resting CCL19 secretion level measured by ELISA; (B) Detection of CCL19 secretion in chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cells before and after activation with PHA-L by ELISA; (C) Detection of mesothelin expression in the cancer cell lines; (D) Detection of CCL19 expression in CAR-T cells after co-culturing with AsPC-1 cells by ELISA; (E) Expression of CCL19 at different time points after co-culturing with AsPC-1 cells as detected by flow cytometry; (F) Correlation analysis of mesothelin expression and CCL19 secretion. Error bars represent the mean \pm standard deviation (n = 6). ***P<0.001; ns, no significance.

groups. Subsequently, we investigated whether CCL19 expression in the mesoCAR-N19 cells can be induced by mesothelin-positive or negative tumor cells. Mesothelin expression levels were measured using flow cytometry (Figure 2C). Mesothelin expression was detected in AsPC-1 cells at high levels but not in BxPC-3. After co-culturing with AsPC-1 or BxPC-3 for 6 h, we collected the culture supernatant before measuring the CCL19 content using ELISA (Figure 2D). In the mesoCAR-N19 cells, CCL19 secretion could be induced by AsPC-1 but not by BxPC-3 cells. To investigate the CAR-T CCL19secretion kinetics, we next co-cultured the CAR-T cells with mesothelin-positive AsPC-1cells and sampled them for CCL19 secretion at multiple time points using flow cytometric analysis. As shown in Figure 2E, CCL19 secretion started at 2 h after co-culturing, before the highest levels of secretion were maintained for 24 h and gradually declining after 24 h. The decrease may have been due to the complete clearance of the tumor cells. By contrast, mesoCAR-CCL19 cells consistently released high levels of CCL19, which only decreased slightly after 24 h. This was most likely due to the deteriorating culture conditions. To investigate the correlation between mesothelin expression and CCL19 secretion, we constructed eight cell lines with differential mesothelin expression levels based on the BxPC-3 cell line. CAR-T cells were then co-cultured with these tumor cells for 16 h, before the concentration of CCL19 secreted into the supernatant was detected. In the mesoCAR-N19 group, CCL19 secretion showed a positive correlation with the levels of mesothelin expression, but not mesoCAR-CCL19 group (Figure 2F). Altogether, these results suggest that NFAT signaling-regulated CCL19 can be induced by tumor cell-surface mesothelin *in vitro*.

Chemotaxis of CCL19

CCR7 is a known receptor for CCL19 that is expressed on the surfaces of memory T cells and can mediate T cell chemotaxis toward areas of high CCL19 concentrations. Therefore, to assess ifCCL19 can recruit memory CAR-T cells, we performed a Transwell assay. The experimental schematic is shown in Figure 3A. In a 6.5-µm Transwell plate, serum-free RPMI 1640 culture medium containing a gradient concentration of CCL19 was added to the lower chamber, whereas CAR-T cells suspended in serum-free RPMI1640 media were added into the upper chamber. After 4 h, cells in the lower chamber were counted and collected for flow cytometry analysis. The results are presented in Figures 3B, C. There was no significant difference in the number of migratory cells in the lower chamber, since the proportion of the memory T cell population was similar in the groups. The CCR7 expressionpositivity rate of the recruited cells in the lower chamber was significantly higher compared with that of the pre-experimental period in all the groups. Next, we assessed whether CCL19 secreted by the CAR-T cells serves a recruitment function. Since the mesoCAR-N19 cells can only release CCL19 in the activated state, we constructed two activation models, namely the coated



FIGURE 3

Migratory ability of the chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cells. (A) Schematic diagram of the experimental principle; (B) CAR-T cell migration and quantification; (C) C-C motif chemokine receptor 7 expression on cells undergoing migration detected by flow cytometry; (D) Schematic diagram of the experimental principle; (E) CAR-T cell migration and quantification; (F) Detection of C-C motif chemokine ligand 19 (CCL19) concentration in the upper and lower chambers by ELISA; (G) Schematic diagram of the experimental principle; (H) CAR-T cell migration and quantification; (I) Detection of CCL19 concentration in the upper and lower chambers by ELISA. Migration efficiency was calculated as cells undergoing migration/total number of cells in the upper chamber. Error bars represent the mean \pm standard deviation (n = 6). **P<0.01; ***P<0.001; ns, no significance.

OKT3 antibody model and the tumor cell stimulation model. The experimental models are shown in Figures 3D, G. A total of 8 h before the start of the experiment, we replaced the CAR-T cell culture medium with a RPMI 1640 medium without 2% FBS to avoid residual CCL19. The CAR-T cells to be added to the upper chambers were then stained with CFSE before the lower chamber was treated with coated OKT3 antibodies or mesothelin-positive tumor cells. An equivalent number of unlabeled CAR-T cells were added directly to the lower chamber whereas an equivalent number of CFSE-labeled CAR-T cells were added to the upper chamber. In total, 6 h later, cells from the lower chamber were collected for flow cytometry analysis and the number of CFSE-positive cells was counted. The results are presented in Figures 3E, H. MesoCAR-N19 cells demonstrated a potent chemoattractant ability compared with control group and mesoCAR-CCL19 group in both models tested, namely with OKT3 antibodies and with mesothelinpositive tumor cells, whilst cells in the other groups did not show significant recruitment ability relative to the inactivated state. In particular, mesoCAR-CCL19 cells, which chronically express CCL19, did not increase recruitment capacity. This may be due to the absence of a CCL19 gradient between the upper and lower chambers. Therefore, we collected the supernatants from the upper and lower chambers for ELISA, the results of which are depicted in Figures 3F, I. Only mesoCAR-N19 cells demonstrated a CCL19 concentration difference. In the mesoCAR-CCL19 group, despite the higher CCL19

concentrations, there was no significant difference in the concentrations between the upper and lower chambers. These findings suggest that mesoCAR-N19 cells can effectively release CCL19 in sites of activation to recruit other T cells.

In vivo tumor suppression

To evaluate the potential tumor-suppressive efficiency of mesoCAR-N19 cells, we used the AsPC-1 cell line xenograft mouse model (Figure 4A). Changes in tumor volume were shown in Figure 4B. We found that the tumor suppression efficiency of mesoCAR-N19 cells was significantly higher compared with that of mesoCAR and mesoCAR-CCL19 cells in the initial stage (Figure 4B). The plasma CCL19 profile in the mice is shown in Figure 4C. Significantly higher levels of CCL19 secretion could be detected in both the mesoCAR-CCL19 and mesoCAR-N19 groups but not in the control or mesoCAR groups. CCL19 secretion in the mesoCAR-CCL19 group was significantly higher compared with that in the mesoCAR-N19 group, which maybe because mesoCAR-N19 tended to be only activated in the tumor tissue site. After tumor recession, traceable quantities of CCL19 expression could be detected in serum in the mesoCAR-CCL19 group but not in the mesoCAR-N19 group, although the presence of CD3-positive T cells could be detected in peripheral blood by flow cytometry in both of these CAR-T groups (Figure 4D). In addition, in peripheral blood, the CD3-



FIGURE 4

Analysis of chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cell function *in vivo*. (A) Schematic diagram of the experimental design; (B)Tumor volume measurements; (C) Changes in C-C motif chemokine ligand 19 levels in the mouse plasma as measured using ELISA; (D) Detection of CD3-positve cells using flow cytometry on day 40. (E) Images of tumors after CAR-T treatment; (F) Bioluminescence images and luminescence curve; (G) Mouse survival presented as Kaplan-Meier curves. In (B, C), the error bars represent the mean \pm SD whereas in (F) the error bars represent the means \pm standard error of the mean (n =6). **p<0.01

positivity rates in the mesoCAR-CCL19 and mesoCAR-N19 groups were significantly higher compared with that in the mesoCAR group. This may be caused by the mesoCAR-CCL19 and mesoCAR-N19 cells exhibiting superior CAR-T cell recruitment capabilities compared with those of mesoCAR cells due to the expression of CCL19. As a result, after these CAR-T cells were activated and proliferate, the number of CAR-T cells in the bloodstream would be higher compared with that of mesoCAR. To further compare the tumor suppressive effects of mesoCAR-N19 and mesoCAR-CCL19 CAR-T cells in vivo, we reduced the number of CAR-T cells injected to 5×10⁵. MesoCAR-N19 cells showed significantly more potentoncolytic effects compared with those by mesoCAR-CCL19 cells (Figures 4E, F). In addition, the mesoCAR-N19 cells significantly prolonged the survival of mice compared with that in mice injected with NT-T and mesoCAR-CCL19 cells (Figure 4G). These results suggest that mesoCAR-N19 cells confer superior tumor suppressive effects compared with conventional CARs.

Assessment of the impact of CCL19 on **CAR-T** function

In vivo experiments have shown that CAR-T expressing CCL19 can consistently and conditionally exert beneficial tumor-suppressive effects. Therefore, we next attempted to

investigate if CCL19 is able to regulate the physiology of CAR-T itself. We assessed the killing activity of mesoCAR cells in the presence or absence of CCL19 at a final concentration of 50 ng/ ml against mesothelin-positive cell lines. The presence of CCL19 in mesoCAR cells did not affect their mesothelin-positive tumor cell Aspc-1 killing activity over 4 h (Figure 5A). Subsequently, we tested the killing activity of the three CAR-TS against AsPC-1 cells over a 4-h period. There was no significant difference among the three CAR-T groups without CCL19 supplement (Figure 5B). In addition, cytokine release was measured. The type and quantity of cytokine released from each group of CAR-T cells are shown in Figures 5C-H. There was no significant difference in the effects of CCL19 on three group CAR-T cells. In addition, CCL19 did not significantly enhance the proliferative ability of the CAR-T cells that did not encounter the tumor cells, where there was no significant difference in the proliferation rate among the groups (Figure 6A). We next labeled CAR-T cells with CFSE before co-culturing them with mesothelin-positive tumor cells for 2 days to estimate the rate of CAR-T cell division (Figure 6B). The results showed that neither the addition of CCL19 nor the overexpression of CCL19 could increase the rate of T cell division (Figures 6C, D). These results suggest that CCL19 itself cannot increase the killing activity of CAR-T on the tumor cells. Therefore, the potent tumor-suppressive effects of CAR-T cells expressing CCL19 are unlikely to be directly derived from CCL19.



Chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cell activity assays in vitro. (A) Killing activity assay of the mesothelin CAR-T cells with different concentrations of C-C motif chemokine ligand 19 on AsPC-1 cells by LDH assay; (B) Killing activity of CAR-T cells on theAsPC-1 cell line without CCL19; Secretion of (C) interleukin (IL)-2, (D) IL-4, (E) IL-6, (F) IL-10, (G) tumor necrosis factor-α and (H) interferon-yafter co-culturing the CAR-T cells with tumor cells, respectively (n = 3).



Effect of CCL19 on the distribution of T cells *in vivo*

The AsPC-1 tumor xenograft mouse model was used to assess the distribution of T cells. When the tumor volume reached ~300 mm³, we injected the CAR-T cells through the tail vein. Days later, we extracted the mouse liver, lung and tumor tissues to determine their mass before dividing them into two groups. One group was used for the immunohistochemical study of CD3 cell infiltration, whereas the other was used for analyzing the copy number of the CAR gene after genome extraction (Figure 6A). Both groups of CAR-T cells expressing CCL19 showed rapid infiltration in the tumor tissues. Specifically, mesoCAR-N19 cells exhibited significantly higher degrees of tumor infiltration compared with those in the other groups. By contrast, in the lung and liver tissues, mesoCAR exhibited higher levels of residency. MesoCAR-N19 also demonstrated a greater ability to specifically infiltrate the tumor tissues compared with that by mesoCAR-CCL19 cells (Figures 7A-D).

To verify that the stronger tumor suppressive effects of mesoCAR-N19 cells was mediated through enhanced tumor homing, the CCR7 expression was knocked down in the CAR-T cells by Cas9/CRISPR before the CAR⁺CCR7⁻ cells were sorted (CCL19-KO and N19-KO). CCR7 expression was first measured by flow cytometry (Figure 8A). After the CCR7 expression was knocked out, it could not be detected in cell surface by flow cytometry. The killing activity by CAR-T cells (mesoCAR-

CCL19, mesoCAR-N19, CCL19-KO and N19-KO) of AsPC-1 cells was assessed. As Figure 8B shows, the capacity of cell killing was not significantly different among the CAR-T cell groups. After CCR7expression was knocked out, the migratory capacity of the CAR-T cells (mesoCAR-CCL19, mesoCAR-N19, CCL19-KO and N19-KO) were evaluated (Figure 3E). As Figure 8C shows, activated N19-KO cells by OKT3 in the lower chamber could not improve the migration rate of CAR-T cells in the upper chamber.

Furthermore, *in vivo* tumor experiments were performed. Briefly, AsPC-1 cells were injected subcutaneously. After the mean tumor volume reached $>300 \text{ mm}^3$, $5 \times 10^5 \text{ CAR-T}$ cells were injected intravenously and tumor volume was measured once a week. As Figure 8D shows, the tumor suppressive activity of N19-KO cells was significantly weaker compared with that of mesoCAR-N19 cells but had no significant difference with that of CCL19-KO cells. These observations suggest that mesoCAR-N19 cells can attract additional CAR-T cells to the tumor to facilitate suppression by enhancing infiltration into the tumor tissues.

Discussion

In this study, we designed a CAR-T targeting mesothelincoexpressing CCL19 downstream of an inducible expression system regulated by NFAT signaling. Furthermore, we compared the infiltrative capabilities and killing abilities of these CAR-T cells with those of the mesoCAR-T cells without



CCL19 expression in addition to those of chronically CCL19expressing CAR-T cells as controls. Both types of CAR-Ts overexpressing CCL19 (mesoCAR-CCL9 and mesoCAR-N19) exhibited higher tumor infiltration abilities when compared with those by conventional CAR-T (mesoCAR-T). However, mesoCAR-N19 cells had higher tumor-specific infiltration ability and superior killing effects on the tumor compared with those by mesoCAR-CCL9 cells.



Functional assessment of C-C motif chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7) knockout in chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cells. (A) CCR7 expressing detection on surface of wild type or CCR7 knockout CAR-T cells; (B) Tumor cell lysis assessment *in vitro* at 5 ET ratio(n = 6); (C) Migratory capacity estimation using Transwell assays (n = 6); (D) Tumor suppression curve; (E) Mouse survival presented as Kaplan-Meier curves (n = 6). Error bars represent the mean \pm standard deviation (n = 6). **P<0.01;***P<0.001; ns, no significance.

For the treatment of solid tumors with CAR-T cell therapy, the level of CAR-T cell infiltration is critical for determining the therapeutic outcome (10, 17). However, CAR-T infiltration into solid tumors has been poor owing to the lack of effective chemokines for inducing CAR-T tropism in the tumor tissues (31). Inducing the expression of chemokines in CAR-T cells to promote additional CAR-T cell infiltration has been proposed to be a feasible approach. It has been previously shown that overexpressing CCL19 in CAR-T cells can promote the infiltration of CAR-T cells and other immune cell types such as dendritic cell to enhance therapeutic effects (28, 32). However, at the initial stages following CAR-T cell transfusion, the destination of CAR-T cells is not tumor-specific. In particular, after intravenous administration, CAR-T cells were found to preferentially enter the pulmonary circulation before homing to various secondary lymph nodes throughout the body (33). Therefore, if the CAR-T cells were programmed to chronically overexpress CCL19, it would not be able to efficiently recruit other CAR-T cells or immune cells to specifically infiltrate the tumor tissue. Therefore, use of an inducible signaling pathway, namely the NFAT signaling pathway which is necessary signaling for T cell activated, to regulate CCL19 expression was attempted for the present study. The rationale is that only CAR-T cells that have successfully infiltrated into the tumor tissues can be activated by the tumor cells and release CCL19 to recruit other immune cells for infiltration. A similar experimental design has been previously applied to CAR-T cells expressing IL-12 (34). Since mesothelin is also weakly expressed in the normal tissues, such as the peritoneum and pericardium, off-target toxicity has been observed in previous clinical studies testing mesothelin CAR-T cells (35). If CAR-T or other immune cells can be specifically recruited to the tumor tissues, then this off-target toxicity can theoretically be alleviated.

CCL19 is mainly expressed in cells in the lymph node and is used to recruit memory T cells and mature antigen-presenting cells. In terms of CAR-T cells, it has been proposed that cells with a memory phenotype tend to have a high proliferative capacities and resistance to depletion *in vivo*. Therefore, there is frequently an association between the size of the memory cell population and beneficial therapeutic effects in hematoma treatment (36). In the case of solid tumors, since memory CAR-T cells express CCR7, they may tend to home to lymph nodes but fail to infiltrate into the tumor tissue *in vivo*. Therefore, in the present study, conditionally-expressed CCL19 could facilitate the recruitment of CAR-T cells. In particular, memory CAR-T cells may infiltrate into sites with high CCL19 concentration to augment the suppressive effects in the tumor.

In addition, another factor limiting the use of CAR-T cells in the clinic is the time required for CAR-T cell preparation. This process typically takes 17 days, which is dominated by the expansion of CAR-T cells required to obtain clinically sufficient doses (37). For solid tumors, the general dose of CAR-T cells needs to be higher compared with that for lymphomas, which is mainly due to insufficient CAR-T infiltration. In the present study, inducing the expression of CCL19 effectively directed the chemotactic CAR-T cells to specifically infiltrate the PC tumor tissue. This infiltration can potentially lower the CAR-T dose required in the clinical setting. The reduction in the preparation cost may also improve the therapeutic effects because of the shortened time period required for CAR-T cell division and differentiation.

In summary, the NFAT-regulated expression of CCL19 in mesothelin-targeting CAR-T cells in the present study was able to effectively lyse the PC tumor cells. Furthermore, these cells can precisely release CCL19 in the tumor tissues to recruit additional memory T cells, including memory CAR-T cells, to infiltrate inside the PC tumor tissues for enhancing the tumor suppressive effects.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Ethics committee of Fujian Provincial Hospital.

Author contributions

Conception and design: LH, YT and SC. Experiments: JH, ZW and CyL. Acquisition and analysis of data: JH, ZW, CyL, ZC, FK and CfL. Interpretation of data: TL and LH. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The present study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (#82173250 to SC), Joint Funds for the innovation of science and technology, Fujian Province (#2018Y9098 to SC), High-level hospital foster grants from Fujian Provincial Hospital (#2019HSJJ13 to SC), Education and Scientific Research Foundation of Fujian Province (#2060402 to SC), Fujian Provincial Health and Family Planning Research Medical Inovation Project (#2019-cx-3 to SC), Fujian Medical Innovation Project (#2020CXA001 to YT) and Fujian Natural Science Foundation (#2020J011097 to YT), Fujian Province Health and Middle-aged and Young Scientific Research Major Project (#2021ZQNZD001 TOSC).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Ansari D, Tingstedt B, Andersson B, Holmquist F, Sturesson C, Williamsson C, et al. Pancreatic cancer: yesterday, today and tomorrow. *Future Oncol* (2016) 12:1929–46. doi: 10.2217/fon-2016-0010

2. Goral V. Pancreatic cancer: Pathogenesis and diagnosis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev (2015) 16:5619-24. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2015.16.14.5619

3. Gupta R, Amanam I, Chung V. Current and future therapies for advanced pancreatic cancer. J Surg Oncol (2017) 116:25–34. doi: 10.1002/jso.24623

4. Ilic M, Ilic I. Epidemiology of pancreatic cancer. World J Gastroenterol (2016) 22:9694–705. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i44.9694

5. Feins S, Kong W, Williams EF, Milone MC, Fraietta JA. An introduction to chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell immunotherapy for human cancer. *Am J Hematol* (2019) 94:S3–9. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25418

6. Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Miklos DB, Jacobson CA, et al. Axicabtagene ciloleucel CAR T-cell therapy in refractory Large b-cell lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* (2017) 377:2531–44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1707447

7. Wang M, Munoz J, Goy A, Locke FL, Jacobson CA, Hill BT, et al. KTE-X19 CAR T-cell therapy in relapsed or refractory mantle-cell lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 382:1331–42. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1914347

8. Cohen AD, Garfall AL, Stadtmauer EA, Melenhorst JJ, Lacey SF, Lancaster E, et al. B cell maturation antigen-specific CAR T cells are clinically active in multiple myeloma. *J Clin Invest* (2019) 129:2210–21. doi: 10.1172/JCI126397

 Raje N, Berdeja J, Lin Y, Siegel D, Jagannath S, Madduri D, et al. Anti-BCMA CAR T-cell therapy bb2121 in relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med (2019) 380:1726–37. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1817226

10. Martinez M, Moon EK. CAR T cells for solid tumors: New strategies for finding, infiltrating, and surviving in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:128. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00128

11. Newick K, O'Brien S, Moon E, Albelda SM. CAR T cell therapy for solid tumors. *Annu Rev Med* (2017) 68:139–52. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-062315-120245

12. Dai H, Tong C, Shi D, Chen M, Guo Y, Chen D, et al. Efficacy and biomarker analysis of CD133-directed CAR T cells in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a single-arm, open-label, phase II trial. *Oncoimmunology* (2020) 9:1846926. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2020.1846926

13. Shi D, Shi Y, Kaseb AO, Qi X, Zhang Y, Chi J, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-Glypican-3 T-cell therapy for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: Results of phase I trials. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26:3979–89. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-3259

14. Brown CE, Badie B, Barish ME, Weng L, Ostberg JR, Chang WC, et al. Bioactivity and safety of IL13Ralpha2-redirected chimeric antigen receptor CD8+ T cells in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21:4062–72. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0428

15. O'Rourke DM, Nasrallah MP, Desai A, Melenhorst JJ, Mansfield K, Morrissette JJD, et al. A single dose of peripherally infused EGFRvIII-directed CAR T cells mediates antigen loss and induces adaptive resistance in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9:eaaa0984. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa0984

16. Beatty GL, O'Hara MH, Lacey SF, Torigian DA, Nazimuddin F, Chen F, et al. Activity of mesothelin-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells against pancreatic carcinoma metastases in a phase 1 trial. *Gastroenterology* (2018) 155:29–32. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.03.029

17. Rodriguez-Garcia A, Palazon A, Noguera-Ortega E, Powell DJ Jr., Guedan S. CAR-T cells hit the tumor microenvironment: Strategies to overcome tumor escape. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1109. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01109

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

18. Kailayangiri S, Altvater B, Wiebel M, Jamitzky S, Rossig C. Overcoming heterogeneity of antigen expression for effective CAR T cell targeting of cancers. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12:1075. doi: 10.3390/cancers12051075

19. Majzner RG, Mackall CL. Tumor antigen escape from CAR T-cell therapy. Cancer Discov (2018) 8:1219–26. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0442

20. Poorebrahim M, Melief J, Pico de Coana Y, LW S, Cid-Arregui A, Kiessling R. Counteracting CAR T cell dysfunction. *Oncogene* (2021) 40:421-35. doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-01501-x

21. Ramakrishna S, Barsan V, Mackall C. Prospects and challenges for use of CAR T cell therapies in solid tumors. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2020) 20:503–16. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2020.1738378

22. Saka D, Gokalp M, Piyade B, Cevik NC, Arik Sever E, Unutmaz D, et al. Mechanisms of T-cell exhaustion in pancreatic cancer. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12 (8). doi: 10.3390/cancers12082274

23. Hassan R, Ho M. Mesothelin targeted cancer immunotherapy. Eur J Cancer (2008) 44:46-53. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2007.08.028

24. Le K, Wang J, Zhang T, Guo Y, Chang H, Wang S, et al. Overexpression of mesothelin in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). *Int J Med Sci* (2020) 17:422–7. doi: 10.7150/ijms.39012

25. Chou A, Waddell N, Cowley MJ, Gill AJ, Chang DK, Patch AM, et al. Clinical and molecular characterization of HER2 amplified-pancreatic cancer. *Genome Med* (2013) 5:78. doi: 10.1186/gm482

26. Feng K, Liu Y, Guo Y, Qiu J, Wu Z, Dai H, et al. Phase I study of chimeric antigen receptor modified T cells in treating HER2-positive advanced biliary tract cancers and pancreatic cancers. *Protein Cell* (2018) 9:838–47. doi: 10.1007/s13238-017-0440-4

27. Beatty GL, Haas AR, Maus MV, Torigian DA, Soulen MC, Plesa G, et al. Mesothelin-specific chimeric antigen receptor mRNA-engineered T cells induce anti-tumor activity in solid malignancies. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:112–20. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0170

28. Adachi K, Kano Y, Nagai T, Okuyama N, Sakoda Y, Tamada K. IL-7 and CCL19 expression in CAR-T cells improves immune cell infiltration and CAR-T cell survival in the tumor. *Nat Biotechnol* (2018) 36:346–51. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4086

29. Forster R, Davalos-Misslitz AC, Rot A. CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:362–71. doi: 10.1038/nri2297

30. Yan Y, Chen R, Wang X, Hu K, Huang L, Lu M, et al. CCL19 and CCR7 expression, signaling pathways, and adjuvant functions in viral infection and prevention. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2019) 7:212. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00212

31. Mollica Poeta V, Massara M, Capucetti A, Bonecchi R. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: New targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:379. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00379

32. Tokunaga Y, Sasaki T, Goto S, Adachi K, Sakoda Y, Tamada K. Enhanced anti-tumor responses of tumor antigen-specific TCR-T cells genetically engineered to produce IL-7 and CCL19. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2022) 21:138–48. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-21-0400

33. Adusumilli PS, Cherkassky L, Villena-Vargas J, Colovos C, Servais E, Plotkin J, et al. Regional delivery of mesothelin-targeted CAR T cell therapy generates potent and long-lasting CD4-dependent tumor immunity. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:261ra151. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3010162

34. Zhang L, Kerkar SP, Yu Z, Zheng Z, Yang S, Restifo NP, et al. Improving adoptive T cell therapy by targeting and controlling IL-12 expression to the tumor environment. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:751–9. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.313

35. Tanyi JL, Stashwick C, Plesa G, Morgan MA, Porter D, Maus MV, et al. Possible compartmental cytokine release syndrome in a patient with recurrent
ovarian cancer after treatment with mesothelin-targeted CAR-T cells. J Immunother (2017) 40:104–7. doi: 10.1097/CJI.000000000000160

36. Fraietta JA, Lacey SF, Orlando EJ, Pruteanu-Malinici I, Gohil M, Lundh S, et al. Determinants of response and resistance to CD19 chimeric antigen receptor

(CAR) T cell therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:563–71. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0010-1

37. Vormittag P, Gunn R, Ghorashian S, Veraitch FS. A guide to manufacturing CAR T cell therapies. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* (2018) 53:164–81. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2018.01.025

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY

Jing-dong Zhou, Jiangsu University Affiliated People's Hospital, China Qi Shen, The First Affiliated Hospital of South University of Science and Technology of China, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Xin Du xind_gdph2020@163.com;

miyadu@hotmail.com Jianyu Weng wengjianyu1969@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 22 May 2022 ACCEPTED 14 July 2022 PUBLISHED 08 August 2022

CITATION

Geng S, Xu R, Huang X, Li M, Deng C, Lai P, Wang Y, Wu P, Chen X, Weng J and Du X (2022) Dynamics of PD-1 expression are associated with treatment efficacy and prognosis in patients with intermediate/high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes under hypomethylating treatment. *Front. Immunol.* 13:950134. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.950134

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Geng, Xu, Huang, Li, Deng, Lai, Wang, Wu, Chen, Weng and Du. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Dynamics of PD-1 expression are associated with treatment efficacy and prognosis in patients with intermediate/highrisk myelodysplastic syndromes under hypomethylating treatment

Suxia Geng[†], Ruohao Xu[†], Xin Huang, Minming Li, Chengxin Deng, Peilong Lai, Yulian Wang, Ping Wu, Xiaomei Chen, Jianyu Weng^{*} and Xin Du^{*}

Department of Hematology, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences, Guangzhou, China

Hypomethylating agents (HMAs) are widely used in patients with higher-risk MDS not eligible for stem cell transplantation. However, the general response rate by HMAs is lesser than 50% in MDS patients, while the relapse rate is high. Emerging evidence indicates that demethylating effects committed by HMAs may facilitate the up-regulation of a range of immune checkpoints or cancer suppressor genes in patients with MDS, among which the programmed death protein 1 (PD-1) and its ligands are demonstrated to be prominent and may contribute to treatment failure and early relapse. Although results from preliminary studies with a limited number of enrolled patients indicate that combined administration of PD-1 inhibitor may yield extra therapeutic benefit in some MDS patients, identifications of this subgroup of patients and optimal timing for the anti-PD-1 intervention remain significant challenges. Dynamics of immune checkpoints and associated predictive values during HMAtreatment cycles remained poorly investigated. In this present study, expression levels of immune checkpoints PD-1 and its ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 were retrospectively analyzed by quantitative PCR (Q-PCR) in a total of 135 myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) cohort with higher-risk stratification. The prognostic value of dynamics of these immune checkpoints during HMA cycles was validated in two independent prospective cohorts in our center (NCT01599325 and NCT01751867). Our data revealed that PD-1 expression was significantly higher than that in younger MDS patients (age \leq 60) and MDS with lower IPSS risk stratification (intermediate risk-1). A significantly upregulated expression of PD-1 was seen during the first four HMA treatment cycles in MDS patients, while similar observation was not seen concerning the expression of PD-L1 or PD-L2. By utilizing binary logistic regression and receiver operating characteristic (ROC) models, we further identified that higher or equal to 75.9 PD-1 expressions after 2 cycles of HMA treatment is an independent negative prognostic factor in predicting acute myeloid leukemia (AML) transformation and survival. Collectively, our data provide rationales for monitoring the expression of PD-1 during HMA treatment cycles, a higher than 75.9 PD-1 expression may identify patients who will potentially benefit from the combined therapy of HMA and PD-1 inhibitors.

KEYWORDS

Myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS), programmed death protein 1 (PD-1), programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), programmed death-ligand 2 (PD-L2), hypomethylating agent (HMA)

Introduction

Myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) are a heterogeneous group of clonal hematopoietic stem cell diseases characterized by bone marrow failure, dysplasia of myeloid cell linage, and a high risk of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) transformation (1). Hypomethylating agents (HMAs) such as decitabine and azacitidine are the current standard of care for patients with higher-risk MDS (1). Despite prolonged survival achieved when patients respond to HMA, the overall response rate (ORR) remains low, and the duration of response is often transient (2). According to the revised prognostic scoring system of MDS (IPSS-R), median overall survival (OS) ranges from 3.0 years for the intermediate-risk group to 0.8 years for the very high-risk group in MDS, with progression to AML accounting for almost half of deaths (3).

The pathogenesis of MDS remains poorly understood. Studies have revealed the involvement of both hematopoietic cell-intrinsic events (such as age-related mutations) and extrinsic alternations (such as immune deregulation and proinflammatory microenvironment) (4–6). More recently, emerging evidence emphasizes an immune evasion mechanism in the pathogenesis of MDS. Dysfunctional T cells may contribute to the disease progression of MDS and be preferentially associated with a higher risk of AML transformation (7, 8). Negative immune regulatory factors have been proposed to contribute to a protective microenvironment for malignant cells and are associated with a higher risk of AML transformation (9–11).

Immune checkpoint proteins, expressed on different cell subsets with the ability to initiate immune responses either by their activation or inhibition, have been considered a vital part of immune evasion in multiple cancers. The programmed death protein 1 (PD-1) immune checkpoint is considered one of the central mediators of immune tolerance in multiple tumors (12). PD-1 binds two ligands, programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) and PD-L2. PD-L1 is the primary ligand expressed on T and primary B cells, which induces co-inhibitory signals in activated T cells. Furthermore, PD-L1 is expressed in multiple tumor types that deliver negative signals, inhibiting anti-tumor immunity (4). PD-L2 expression is mainly restricted to antigen-presenting cells, such as dendritic cells and macrophages (13). The combined therapy of HMA with PD-1 inhibitors may be of potential therapeutic value in treating patients with higher-risk or relapsed/refractory MDS. Yet another important consideration in the design of an HMA-based combination is the timing of administration of checkpoint inhibitors (14). Evaluation of dynamics of immune checkpoint proteins during HMA treatment cycles may provide rational intervention time points for the combined use of PD-1 inhibitors. However, studies on the dynamics of these checkpoint markers in MDS patients treated with HMA are still limited (15).

To evaluate the dynamics and prognostic value of immune checkpoints PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in HMA treatment cycles, a total of 135 patients with intermediate/high-risk MDS were enrolled and retrospectively investigated in this present study. Our data identified elevated expression of PD-1 post-HMA treatment may serve as a prognostic marker for inferior survival and AML transformation. Inhibition of the post-HMA elevation of PD-1 may be of potential benefit in higherrisk MDS.

Materials and methods

Patients

One hundred thirty-five newly diagnosed and treatmentnaïve MDS patients, including 93 males and 42 females, were enrolled in the Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital from April 2008 to March 2016. For the evaluation of baseline PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-2, expression levels of these immune checkpoints were analyzed in a 102-patient cohort (baseline cohort) under untreated conditions. An additional age- and riskmatched 33-patient cohort from 2 prospective trials serve as the validation cohort to investigate the dynamics and predictive

value of the immune checkpoint factors during HMA cycles (16). Treatments for these patients are azacitidine $75 \text{mg/m}^2/\text{day}$ subcutaneously (SC) for 7 days every 28 days (NCT01599325, n=16) and decitabine 15mg/m² as a continuous intravenous infusion within 3 hours, repeated every 8 hours for 3 consecutive days (NCT01751867, n=17). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients. The present retrospective study was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee of Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital. Diagnoses were conducted according to the French-American-British classification and re-classified according to the 2016 edition of WHO classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. The median age of the enrolled patients was 60 (15-84) years. All patients were classified as the intermediate/high-risk group according to the international prognostic scoring system (IPSS) (17). As the revised edition of the international scoring system (IPSS-R) has re-classified the prognosis of MDS into 5 prognosis-based stratifications (18), we re-calculated the scores of MDS patients according to each edition of IPSS systems and compared risk-based stratifications. Results revealed that the utilization of IPSS-R did not significantly change the intermediate/high-risk entity of these enrolled MDS patients (Supplemental Table 1). Thus, the IPSS- stratifications were kept and utilized in the subsequent risk-based analysis. Karyotypes were classified according to the new comprehensive cytogenetic scoring system for primary MDS and oligoblastic acute myeloid leukemia (19). All baseline characteristics, including sex ratio, median age, bone marrow (BM) blast percentage, WHO classification, and IPSS risk stratification, remained similar between the baseline and the validation cohort (Table 1).

RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Whole bone marrow mononuclear cells (MNCs) were collected from patients at the time points of pre-treatment, after the 2nd (C2), the 4th HMA cycle (C4), and the 6th HMA treatment cycle (C6). Total RNA was extracted with TRIzol (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The quality of extracted RNA was analyzed using a 0.8% agarose gel stained with Goldview. RNA (~1 μ g) was synthesized into the first single-strand cDNA with random hexamer primers using the PrimeScriptTM RT Reagent Kit (TaKaRa) for subsequent quantitative PCR assays.

Quantitative PCR (Q-PCR)

Quantification of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 transcripts was performed by real-time PCR (TaqMan) with the ABI 7500 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) as previously described (20). The internal control gene ABL1 was used for normalization of the Q-PCR results to compensate for variations in the quality and quantity of RNA and cDNA (21). PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 Q-PCR primers and probes were designed by Primer Express software and synthesized by Life Technologies (Supplemental Table 2). The amplification efficiency of the primers and probes was determined. ABL1 plasmids standard $(1\times10^6, 1\times10^5, 1\times10^4, 1\times10^3, and 1\times10^2$ copies/µl) were made. The amplification efficiency of the target genes was close to that of the ABL1 reference gene; thus, they shared a set of standards.

Q-PCR reactions for the cDNA samples, DNA standards, and water as negative control were conducted in a total volume of 20 μ L, including 10 μ L 2× FastStart Universal Probe Master (ROX) (Roche, Mannheim, Germany), 300 nM of each primer, and 200 nM probe. The thermal cycler parameters were as follows: 2 minutes at 50°C, 10 minutes at 95°C, and 45 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds and 62°C for 1 minute. The expression levels of the target genes are indicated as "(copy number of the target gene/copy number of the internal reference*100) %" with comparisons between different samples. All PCR assays were performed in duplicate and reported as means.

Flow cytometry

Cell surface staining for flow cytometry was performed using the following antibodies: CD3-AF700 (clone UCHT1, BD), CD4-APC-H7 (clone RPA-T4, BD), CD8-APC-H7 (clone SK1, BD) and PD-1-BV421 (clone EH12.2H7, Biolegend). Isotypematched antibodies, labeled with the proper fluorochromes, were used as negative controls. Cells were analyzed using a BD Fortessa flow cytometer (BD Biosciences), and data analysis was performed with Flowjo 10.6 software as previously described (22).

Targeted gene sequencing

Targeted gene sequencing of a 13-gene panel of hotspot mutations was performed using whole bone marrow mononuclear cells (MNCs) at diagnosis. These hot mutations including TET2, TP53, DNMT3A, and ASXL1 were listed. (Supplemental Table 3).

Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS software (version 19.0; IBM Corp.) and presented with mean ± SEM. Differences in PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 expression between two groups were analyzed using Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney u-test. Differences among multiple groups were determined by oneway or two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test. For comparisons between paired samples, paired t-test was applied.

	Baseline cohort (n=102)	Validation cohort (n=33)	P value
Sex, n (%)			0.58
Male	69 (66.7%)	24 (72.7%)	
Female	33 (32.3%)	9 (27.3%)	
Median age (year)	60 (15-84)	61 (38-73)	0.67
2016 WHO classification, n (%)			0.61
RAEB1	42 (41.2%)	16 (48.5%)	
RAEB2	25 (24.5%)	12 (36.4%)	
MLD	35 (34.3%)	5 (15.2%)	
Hemoglobin (g/L)	72 (49-116)	68 (42-49)	0.34
Leukocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	2.4 (0.69-11.90)	2.3 (0.88-11.75)	0.82
Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L)	71 (11-391)	68 (14-340)	0.51
Neutrophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	1.07 (0.22-11.31)	0.97 (0.35-10.03)	0.61
Blast% (bone marrow)	5% (1%-18%)	5% (1%-16.5%)	0.36
Cytogenetics, n (%)			0.82
Good	59 (57.8%)	19 (57.6%)	
Intermediate	28 (27.5%)	8 (24.2%)	
Poor	6 (6.0%)	2 (6.1%)	
Very poor	1 (1.0%)	1 (3.0%)	
unassessable	8 (8.0%)	3 (9.1%)	
IPSS risk group, n (%)			0.42
Int-1	46 (45.1%)	11 (33.3%)	
Int-2	32 (31.4%)	13 (39.4%)	
High	24 (23.5%)	9 (27.3%)	

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of enrolled patients.

Spearman correlation analysis was used to analyze correlations. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare data between two paired groups. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were used to evaluate factors' sensitivity and specificity in predicting AML transformation events. A binary logistic regression model was used to investigate the predictive value of factors in predicting AML transformation events. A p-value lower than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Baseline and subgroup expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in MDS

Of 135 enrolled patients in this study, 58 patients (58/135, 43.0%) were diagnosed with refractory anemia with excess blast 1 (MDS-EB1), 37 patients (37/135, 27.4%) with MDS-EB2, and 40 patients (40/135, 29.6%) with MDS with multilineage dysplasia (MDS-MLD). The median age of enrolled patients was 60 (15-84) years. All patients were assessed and were classified into the intermediate/high-risk group according to the international prognostic scoring system (IPSS) (17). To test the reliability of the Q-PCR method in investigating checkpoint expression in BM, paired Q-PCR and flow cytometry assays for PD-1 were performed using MNC samples at diagnosis from nine patients with MDS. A median

of 11.69% (7.22%-20.25%) MNCs were positive for PD-1 expression by flow cytometry (FCM) assays (Figure 1A), while the median Q-PCR expression for PD-1 in these samples was 29.72 (5.06-47.88). Pearson's correlation analysis indicated that PD-1 expression levels by FCM assays correlated with those from Q-PCR assays (R = 0.6181, P = 0.007) (Figure 1B). Thus, these results confirmed the feasibility of the Q-PCR method in evaluating immune checkpoint expression in MNC samples. For mutation profiling, targeted gene sequencing of a 13-gene panel of hotspot mutations was performed using whole bone marrow mononuclear cells (MNCs) at diagnosis. These hot mutations including TET2, TP53, DNMT3A, and ASXL1 were listed. (Supplemental Table 3). Generally, a high frequency of hotspot mutations was detected in 92.3% (48/58) patients, with the most frequent mutations seen in SF3B1 (21.2%), SRSF2 (19.2), TET2 (19.2%), and ASXL1 (17.3%) (Figure 1C). By profiling the expression levels of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in MNCs from MDS and normal individuals, a significantly elevated expression of PD-1 was seen in MDS samples compared with normal samples (58.77 ± 3.820 vs. 31.95 ± 3.692, P = 0.007) (Figure 1D). In contrast, the expression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 in MDS patients was not significantly different from healthy individuals (Figures 1E, F).

Next, PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 expression levels in MDS subgroups were investigated. BM samples from both the young MDS cohort (age ≤ 60 years) and older MDS cohort (age > 60 years) displayed significantly higher PD-1 expression than that

112



in the normal cohort, while those young MDS patients were associated with a slightly higher PD-1 expression than in older MDS patients (64.49 ± 5.592 vs. 52.91 ± 5.147 , P = 0.13) (Figure 2A). Expression levels of PD-L1 and PD-L2 remained similar across age-based subgroups in the MDS cohorts

(Figures 2B, C). For expression levels of these immune checkpoints in IPSS-based MDS subgroups, PD-1 expression was significantly higher in the intermediate-1 risk MDS than that in normal samples (59.17 ± 7.484 vs. 31.95 ± 3.692 , P = 0.02), and slightly higher in the intermediate-2 (48.38 ± 5.862 vs.



FIGURE 2

Baseline expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in age-based and risk-based MDS subgroups (A–C) Normalized baseline expression levels of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in healthy individuals, young MDS (age \leq 60 years), and older MDS (age>60 years). (D–F) Normalized baseline expression levels of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in healthy individuals and patients with intermediate-1, intermediate-2, and high-risk stratification. Results were presented as mean \pm SEM of independent cases. *P < 0.05. ***P < 0.001.

 31.95 ± 3.692 , P = 0.06) and high-risk group (50.67 ± 12.91 vs. 31.95 ± 3.692 , P = 0.12) (Figure 2D). Expression levels of PD-L1 and PD-L2 were not significantly up-regulated in MDS patients with intermediate-1 or intermediate-2 risk groups. Interestingly, a trend of lower expression of PD-L1 (23.35 ± 10.84 vs. 31.95 ± 3.692 , P = 0.11) and PD-L2 (3.523 ± 0.479 vs. 7.847 ± 2.286 , P = 0.08) were seen in those BM samples from MDS patients from the high-risk group.

Dynamics of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 expression in HMA treatment cycles

To elucidate the dynamics of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 expression and potential predictive value during HMA treatment cycles, expression levels of these immune checkpoints at timepoints of pre-treatment (baseline), after the 2^{nd} cycle (C2), 4^{th} cycle (C4) and 6^{th} cycle (C6) of HMA treatment were analyzed. Furthermore, treatment response and survival data were extracted and analyzed in an additional 33-patient cohort of intermediate/high-risk MDS from two clinical trials (NCT01599325 and NCT01751867). In the validation cohort, 51.5% of patients (17/33) were treated with decitabine,

while 48.5% (16/33) received azacitidine. HMA dosages and treatment schedules could be seen in our previous report (16). The median number of treatment cycles was 12 (3-21), and 57.6% of patients (19/33) acquired at least 1 clinical response to HMA (CR/mCR/HI) according to the IWG 2006 criteria (23).

Compared with the expression at pre-treatment condition, PD-1 levels significantly increased after the first 2 cycle (C2) of HMA treatment (66.38 \pm 7.709 vs. 42.74 \pm 7.405, P = 0.03), then gradually decreased after the 4^{th} (47.58 ± 7.408 vs. 61.23 ± 9.304, P = 0.05) and 6th (47.58 ± 7.408 vs. 42.74 ± 7.405, P = 0.65) HMA cycles (Figure 3A). Similar trends of up/down-regulated PD-L1 and PD-L2 were also seen in these MDS patients, while these differences did not reach statistical significance during HMA treatment cycles (Figures 3B, C). To investigate whether PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 dynamics were associated with treatment efficacies, MDS patients were classified as HMA responders or HMA non-responders according to the IWG 2006 criteria (23). Expression of these markers at time points of pre-treatment (baseline), C2, C4, and C6 were analyzed and compared between the two groups (Figures 3D-F). Generally, the expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 fluctuated through treatment cycles. Expression of PD-1 increased in most HMA non-responders after the 2nd treatment (12/14, 85.7%) and



FIGURE 3

Dynamics of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 expression in HMA treatment cycles. (A-C) Pre-treatment and post-treatment expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in HMA treatment cycles in MDS patients who received at least 2-cycle of HMA treatment. (D-F) Dynamic expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in HMA treatment cycles in HMA responders and HMA non-responders. (G-I) Dynamic expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in HMA treatment cycles in HMA responders and HMA non-responders. (G-I) Dynamic expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in HMA treatment cycles in HMA responders and HMA non-responders. (G-I) Dynamic expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in HMA treatment cycles in HMA responders and HMA non-responders.

remained higher than that in those HMA responders (78.58 \pm 8.302 vs. 55.28 \pm 6.340, P = 0.06). After the 4th cycle of HMA treatment, PD-1 expression decreased in most HMA responders (13/19, 68.4%), while the PD-1 expression remained at elevated levels in half of the HMA non-responders (7/14, 50.0%) (Figure 3D). However, no difference was observed concerning the expression of PD-L1 or PD-L2 between HMA responders and non-responders through HMA cycles (Figures 3E, F).

PD-1 dynamics in HMA treatment cycles were associated with the risk of AML transformation

Patients with higher-risk MDS faced a higher risk of AML transformation (1, 18). In this study, 17 patients progressed to AML in the validation cohort (17/33, 51.5%), with a median leukemia-free survival (LFS) of 24.0 months. Subgroup analysis was performed in patients with AML transformation (AML-t, n=17) and patients without AML transformation (MDS, n=16). Expression of these markers at time points of baseline, C2, C4, and C6 was analyzed. The median expression of PD-1 significantly increased at C2 (76.39 \pm 16.419 vs. 46.12 \pm 12.315, P = 0.04) and C4 (71.22 \pm 24.915 vs. 46.12 \pm 12.315, P = 0.05) than the baseline PD-1 expression in the AML-t subgroup, then decreased at C6. By utilizing paired t-test analysis between subgroups, the AML-t group displayed significantly higher expression levels of PD-1 at C2 (81.92 ± 17.482 vs. 54.21 ± 14.315, P = 0.03) and C4 (74.31 ± 21.294 vs. 43.987 ± 11.411, P = 0.05) than the that in the non-transformed group (Figure 3G). No correlation was seen between the incidence of AML transformation and the expression of PD-L1 or PD-L2 in the HMA treatment cycles (Figures 3H, I). These data indicated a potential prognostic value of post-HMA dynamics of PD-1 expression in predicting AML transformation events in higher-risk MDS patients.

Up-regulated PD-1 after the 2nd treatment cycle predicts long-term survival after HMA treatment

Next, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) models were further utilized to validate the sensitivity and specificity of expression levels of immune checkpoints in predicting AML transformation events. By enrolling expression levels of these checkpoints at baseline, C2, and C4, the specificity and sensitivity of each factor in predicting AML transformation events were calculated and displayed. Generally, most checkpoints failed to display values predicting AML transformation events (Figures 4A, B). However, PD-1 expressions at C2 were associated with a significant value to predicted AML transformation, which yielded an area under the

ROC curve (AUC) of 0.747 (0.520-0.895), with a cut-off value of 75.9 and a sensitivity/specificity ratio of 0.72/0.77 (P < 0.05) (Figure 4B). By using the calculated PD-1 cut-off value of 75.9 at C2 as a factor and re-classifying MDS patients into high PD-1 expression group (\geq 75.9, n=17) and low PD-1 expression group (<75.9, n=16), a binary logistic regression analysis enrolling PD-1 C2 expression, ORR, gender cytogenetics, and age was performed. Generally, high PD-1 expression at C2 was significantly associated with a higher risk of AML transformation (HR:6.919; 95%CI:1.213-39.47, P=0.03). Meanwhile, abnormal cytogenetics also predicted the AML transformation events in the present MDS cohort (HR: 6.863; 95%CI: 0.895-52.607, P=0.06), while the factors of ORR events (HR: 1.045; 95%CI: 0.169-6.447, P=0.962), female gender (HR: 1.151; 95%CI: 0.047-1.341, P=0.896) and elder age (HR: 1.191; 95%CI: 0.130-4.101, P=0.845) did not reach a statistic significance in the logistic regression model (Figure 4C).

To further validate the long-term prognostic value of PD-1 after the 2nd HMA treatment cycle, a univariate survival analysis was performed between the high PD-1 expression group and the low PD-1 expression group. Four patients were still alive at the last follow-up, with a median follow-up of 23.4 months in the whole cohort. Median leukemia-free survival (LFS) was 27.0 months in the low PD-1 group, whereas in the high PD-1 group was 18.0 months (HR: 2.25; 95%CI: 1.04-6.45; log-rank test, P=0.05) (Figure 5A). For overall survival, 2-year OS in the low PD-1 group was 93.8% (15/16), whereas in the high PD-1 group was 88.2% (15/17). Those MDS patients in the low PD-1 group were associated with significantly longer estimated OS than that in the high PD-1 group (38.0 vs. 20.0 months; HR:2.590; 95%CI: 1.13-5.92, P = 0.02) (Figure 5B).

Discussion

The treatment response/resistance mechanisms after HMA cycles were not fully understood until now. Existing data indicated that dysregulated gnomic-wide methylation is closely involved in the development and progression of MDS (24). Thus, demethylation and reactivation of silenced tumorsuppressing genes are initially considered pivotal mechanisms during the treatment cycles of HMA and other HMA-based treatment schemes (25, 26). With emerging evidence indicating a wider range of cellular/molecular regulations by HMAs, induced expression of tumor antigens (27) and enhancement of effective T cells (28) may represent parallel mechanisms. However, despite prolonged survival in patients who have responded to HMA, the overall response rate (ORR) to HMAs remains low (~50%), and the duration of treatment response is often transient (2). Loss of response frequently happens within 2 years after the first administration of HMAs, with no standard-of-care options for patients after treatment



failure. Expected survival for these patients remains dismal (29).

progression. Based on updated concepts, HMAs demethylate a range of immune checkpoints with negative prognostic values in multiple cancers (30–32). Enhanced expression of PD-1, PD-L1, PD-L2, CTLA-4, and other immune checkpoints after HMA

On the other hand, emerging evidence indicates a "sideeffect" of HMAs underlying treatment failure and disease



HMA. (B) OS by PD-1 expression at C2 in MDS patients treated with HMA.

treatment potentially contributes to an immunosuppressive bone marrow/peripheral environment in MDS patients (15, 33). Moreover, a recent study by Liu, Y.C., et al. revealed that HMAs strikingly enhance the expression of SALL4 (a welldescribed oncogene) by demethylation in its CpG island within the 5' untranslated region in a group of MDS. This demethylating effect on SALL4 was then confirmed to associate with an inferior clinical outcome (34–36).

In this context, many combined therapies using HMA with novel drugs were designed for long-term synergistic effects and prolonged survival in treating MDS (26, 37). These combinations included HMA plus immune checkpoint inhibitors (anti-PD-1/PD-L1) (38, 39), HMA plus histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi) (40, 41), and HMA plus immunosuppressive agent (lenalidomide) (42, 43) and others. Combining HMA with immune checkpoint inhibitors is designed primarily to sensitize the antitumoral immune response of these therapies. However, although some HMAbased combined therapies have demonstrated a favorable response rate in patients with higher-risk MDS, survival benefit was not achieved in these trials. At the same time, non-neglectable toxicities were frequently noted (38, 39). A recent head-to-head study by Zeidan, A.M., et al. revealed the combination of azacitidine plus durvalumab (a PD-L1 inhibitor) leads to up to 89.5% grade 3-4 hematologic adverse events (AEs) in higher-risk MDS, while the incidence of grade 3-4 AEs remains 68.3% in patients treated with single azacitidine (39). Thus, a more rationally designed medication timing and dosage of these combinations will be especially important. Evaluation of baseline and dynamic expression of immune checkpoints during HMA treatment cycles may provide evidence for patient selection and rational timing for an anti-PD-1 intervention. However, the dynamics of immune checkpoints in HMA treatment cycles remain largely uninvestigated in patients with MDS (15), especially in those patients with higher IPSS stratification.

In previous studies, Yang et al. showed that the mRNA expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 was increased in CD34+ cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells from MDS patients (15). Kondo et al. found that PD-1 expression on CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+ T cells was significantly increased in MDS patients (44). Similar to these reports, our data revealed a significantly elevated baseline expression of PD-1 in the bone marrow of patients with MDS (Figure 1A). However, expression levels of PD-L1 and PD-L2 in the MDS cohort remained similar to the normal individuals (Figures 1E, F). In contrast with the observation from Yang et al. (15), our result showed that PD-1 expression was slightly higher in high-risk MDS patients of younger age (Figure 2A), and the expression level of PD-L1 and PD-L2 remained similar between age-based MDS subgroups (Figures 2B, C).

Interestingly, although the expression levels of PD-1 in MDS were generally upregulated, it seemed that there were discrepant

expression levels of immune checkpoints within risk-based subgroups in higher-risk MDS. Patients with intermediate-1 risk stratification always displayed with highest median expression levels of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2. In contrast, the expression levels decreased when the IPSS risk score increased and remained lowest in the high-risk MDS (Figures 2D-F). A recent study has revealed time- and dose-dependent upregulation of immune checkpoints in CD34+ cells in vitro (15). Similar to this observation, our data indicated a post-HMA up-regulation of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in MDS patients. Median expression of PD-1 was significantly up-regulated after 2 cycles of HMA treatment, then gradually decreased during continuous HMA treatment (Figure 3A). The potential mechanism of these immune checkpoints' up-regulation may be attributed to the demethylation effect by HMA on the transcripts (15, 33). In contrast, the mechanism of decrease of these markers after continuous administration of HMA remains unknown.

Next, clinical correlations between dynamics of immune checkpoints and clinical outcomes were seen by monitoring the expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in each MDS patient. Unlike the previous studies, which reported a clinical correlation of baseline expression of PD-1 in MDS patients (15), our data indicated that only the upregulation of PD-1 after the 2nd cycle of HMA treatment was associated with inferior ORR in higherrisk MDS patients. At the same time, similar observations were not seen concerning the baseline expression of PD-1 (Figure 3D). For long-term survival, MDS patients with intermediate/high-risk stratification faced a higher risk of AML transformation and AML-related mortality (3). Our data indicated that those MDS patients who eventually progressed to AML displayed a significantly higher PD-1 expression of PD-1 after the 2nd cycle of HMA treatment (Figure 3G). To further elucidate the predictive value of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 at each timepoint in HMA treatment cycles, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were used to evaluate the potential sensitivity and specificity of factors in predicting AML transformation event. Similar to the results above, the baseline expression of PD-1, PD-L1 and PD-L2 was not associated with a significant value in predicting AML transformation events. Only the PD-1 expression after the 2nd HMA treatment was associated with significant specificity and sensitivity in predicting AML transformation (Figure 4B). The optimal cut-off of the PD-1 expression after the 2nd HMA treatment cycle was compromised at 75.9, with a sensitivity/specificity of 0.72/0.77. An additional binary logistic regression model further validated the prognostic value of the 75.9 cut-off of PD-1 (Figure 4C). At last, by binarily grouping MDS patients into the low PD-1 group and high PD-1 group using this calculated cut-off, significant inferior LFS and OS were confirmed in the high PD-1 group (Figure 5).

In summary, this present study identified discrepant expression profiles of immune checkpoints in age- and riskbased MDS subgroups. Our data provide detailed dynamics of up-regulation of PD-1 after HMA treatment and further identified the \geq 75.9 PD-1 expression as an independent negative prognostic factor in higher-risk MDS patients. At last, evaluation of the bone marrow PD-1 expression after the 2nd cycle of HMA treatment may identify patients who will benefit from the combined therapy of HMA and PD-1 inhibitors.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by institutional ethics committee of Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

XD, JW, SG, and RX designed the research, participated in data analysis and interpretation, and drafted the manuscript. SG, XH, RX, YW, and PL performed the Real-time PCR, flow cytometry, and targeted gene sequencing analysis. CD, ML, XC, XH, and PW contributed to patients and provided blood samples. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Thiele J, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM, et al. The 2016 revision to the world health organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. *Blood* (2016) 127(20):2391–405. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-643544

2. Zeidan AM, Stahl M, Hu X, Wang R, Huntington SF, Podoltsev NA, et al. Long-term survival of older patients with MDS treated with HMA therapy without subsequent stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2018) 131(7):818–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-10-811729

3. Nachtkamp K, Stark R, Strupp C, Kündgen A, Giagounidis A, Aul C, et al. Causes of death in 2877 patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. *Ann Hematol* (2016) 95(6):937–44. doi: 10.1007/s00277-016-2649-3

4. Warlick ED, Miller JS. Myelodysplastic syndromes: the role of the immune system in pathogenesis. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2011) 52(11):2045–9. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2011.584002

5. Wei Y, Chen R, Dimicoli S, Bueso-Ramos C, Neuberg D, Pierce S, et al. Global H3K4me3 genome mapping reveals alterations of innate immunity signaling and overexpression of JMJD3 in human myelodysplastic syndrome CD34+ cells. *Leukemia* (2013) 27(11):2177–86. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.91

6. Li N, Wu P, Wang Z, Shen Y, Zhang L, Xue F, et al. Smoking-related cancer death among men and women in an ageing society (China 2020-2040): a population-based modelling study. *Tob Control* (2021). doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2020-056444

Funding

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82070128, 82070176), Guangdong Natural Science Foundation (2021A1515011436, 2019A1515010094), and Guangdong Provincial Science and Technology Projects (2017B020230004).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.950134/full#supplementary-material

7. Xiao L, Qi Z, Qiusheng C, Li X, Luxi S, Lingyun W. The use of selective immunosuppressive therapy on myelodysplastic syndromes in targeted populations results in good response rates and avoids treatment-related disease progression. *Am J Hematol* (2012) 87(1):26–31. doi: 10.1002/ajh.22184

8. Castelli R, Cassin R, Cannavò A, Cugno M. Immunomodulatory drugs: new options for the treatment of myelodysplastic syndromes. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk* (2013) 13(1):1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2012.09.016

 Lucas N, Duchmann M, Rameau P, Noël F, Michea P, Saada V, et al. Biology and prognostic impact of clonal plasmacytoid dendritic cells in chronic myelomonocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(10):2466–80. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0447-3

10. Kordasti SY, Ingram W, Hayden J, Darling D, Barber L, Afzali B, et al. CD4 +CD25high Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). *Blood* (2007) 110(3):847–50. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-01-067546

11. Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(3):162–74. doi: 10.1038/nri2506

12. Zhang C, Wu S, Xue X, Li M, Qin X, Li W, et al. Anti-tumor immunotherapy by blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway with recombinant human PD-1-IgV. *Cytotherapy* (2008) 10(7):711-9. doi: 10.1080/14653240802320237

13. Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:677–704. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.immunol.26.021607.090331

14. Ok CY, Young KH. Checkpoint inhibitors in hematological malignancies. J Hematol Oncol (2017) 10(1):103. doi: 10.1186/s13045-017-0474-3

15. Yang H, Bueso-Ramos C, DiNardo C, Estecio MR, Davanlou M, Geng QR, et al. Expression of PD-L1, PD-L2, PD-1 and CTLA4 in myelodysplastic syndromes is enhanced by treatment with hypomethylating agents. *Leukemia* (2014) 28 (6):1280–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.355

16. Xu R, Chen X, Deng C, Wu P, Li M, Geng S, et al. A retrospective study comparing azacitidine with decitabine in Chinese patients with refractory anemia with excess blast based on two clinical trials in a single center. *Am J Transl Res* (2019) 11(7):4533–41.

17. Greenberg P, Cox C, LeBeau MM, Fenaux P, Morel P, Sanz G, et al. International scoring system for evaluating prognosis in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood* (1997) 89(6):2079-88. doi: 10.1182/blood.V89.6.2079

18. Greenberg PL, Tuechler H, Schanz J, Sanz G, Garcia-Manero G, Solé F, et al. Revised international prognostic scoring system for myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood* (2012) 120(12):2454–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-420489

19. Schanz J, Tüchler H, Solé F, Mallo M, Luño E, Cervera J, et al. New comprehensive cytogenetic scoring system for primary myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and oligoblastic acute myeloid leukemia after MDS derived from an international database merge. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30(8):820–9. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2011.35.6394

20. Wu P, Geng S, Weng J, Deng C, Lu Z, Luo C, et al. The hENT1 and DCK genes underlie the decitabine response in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. *Leuk Res* (2015) 39(2):216–20. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2014.08.016

21. Beillard E, Pallisgaard N, van der Velden VH, Bi W, Dee R, van der Schoot E, et al. Evaluation of candidate control genes for diagnosis and residual disease detection in leukemic patients using 'real-time' quantitative reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RQ-PCR) - a Europe against cancer program. *Leukemia* (2003) 17(12):2474–86. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403136

22. Xu I, Liu I, Yao D, Zeng X, Zhang Y, Lai J, et al. PD-1 and TIGIT are highly Co-expressed on CD8(+) T cells in AML patient bone marrow. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:686156. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.686156

23. Cheson BD, Greenberg PL, Bennett JM, Lowenberg B, Wijermans PW, Nimer SD, et al. Clinical application and proposal for modification of the international working group (IWG) response criteria in myelodysplasia. *Blood* (2006) 108(2):419–25. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-10-4149

24. XZhou JD, Zhang TJ, Xu ZJ, Deng ZQ, Gu Y, Ma JC, et al. Genome-wide methylation sequencing identifies progression-related epigenetic drivers in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11(11):997. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-03213-2

25. Gore SD, Baylin S, Sugar E, Carraway H, Miller CB, Carducci M, et al. Combined DNA methyltransferase and histone deacetylase inhibition in the treatment of myeloid neoplasms. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(12):6361–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0080

26. Chandhok NS, Lewis R, Prebet T. Hypomethylating agent based combinations in higher risk myelodysplastic syndrome. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2020) 61(5):1012–27. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2019.1697812

27. Almstedt M, Blagitko-Dorfs N, Duque-Afonso J, Karbach J, Pfeifer D, Jäger E, et al. The DNA demethylating agent 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine induces expression of NY-ESO-1 and other cancer/testis antigens in myeloid leukemia cells. *Leuk Res* (2010) 34(7):899–905. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2010.02.004

28. Goodyear O, Agathanggelou A, Novitzky-Basso I, Siddique S, McSkeane T, Ryan G, et al. Induction of a CD8+ T-cell response to the MAGE cancer testis antigen by combined treatment with azacitidine and sodium valproate in patients with acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplasia. *Blood* (2010) 116(11):1908–18. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-11-249474

29. Bewersdorf JP, Zeidan AM. Management of higher risk myelodysplastic syndromes after hypomethylating agents failure: are we about to exit the black hole? *Expert Rev Hematol* (2020) 13(10):1131–42. doi: 10.1080/17474086.2020.1819233

30. Hino R, Kabashima K, Kato Y, Yagi H, Nakamura M, Honjo T, et al. Tumor cell expression of programmed cell death-1 ligand 1 is a prognostic factor for malignant melanoma. *Cancer* (2010) 116(7):1757–66. doi: 10.1002/cncr.24899

31. Zhou T, Xu D, Tang B, Ren Y, Han Y, Liang G, et al. Expression of programmed death ligand-1 and programmed death-1 in samples of invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast and its correlation with prognosis. *Anticancer Drugs* (2018) 29(9):904–10. doi: 10.1097/CAD.0000000000000683

 Lafuente-Sanchis A, Zúñiga Á, Estors M, Martínez-Hernández NJ, Cremades A, Cuenca M, et al. Association of PD-1, PD-L1, and CTLA-4 gene expression and clinicopathologic characteristics in patients with non-Small-Cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer (2017) 18(2):e109–16. doi: 10.1016/ j.cllc.2016.09.010

33. Ørskov AD, Treppendahl MB, Skovbo A, Holm MS, Friis LS, Hokland M, et al. Hypomethylation and up-regulation of PD-1 in T cells by azacytidine in MDS/AML patients: A rationale for combined targeting of PD-1 and DNA methylation. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(11):9612–26. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3324

34. Liu YC, Kwon J, Fabiani E, Xiao Z, Liu YV, Follo MY, et al. Demethylation and up-regulation of an oncogene after hypomethylating therapy. *N Engl J Med* (2022) 386(21):1998–2010. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2119771

35. Garcia-Manero G, Ribrag V, Zhang Y, Farooqui M, Marinello P, Smith BD. Pembrolizumab for myelodysplastic syndromes after failure of hypomethylating agents in the phase 1b KEYNOTE-013 study. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2022), 1–9. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2022.2034155

36. Gil-Perez A, Montalban-Bravo G. Management of myelodysplastic syndromes after failure of response to hypomethylating agents. Ther Adv Hematol (2019) 10:2040620719847059. doi: 10.1177/2040620719847059

37. Lee P, Yim R, Yung Y, Chu HT, Yip PK, Gill H. Molecular targeted therapy and immunotherapy for myelodysplastic syndrome. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22 (19):10232. doi: 10.3390/ijms221910232

38. Chien KS, Kim K, Nogueras-Gonzalez GM, Borthakur G, Naqvi K, Daver NG, et al. Phase II study of azacitidine with pembrolizumab in patients with intermediate-1 or higher-risk myelodysplastic syndrome. *Br J Haematol* (2021) 195 (3):378–87. doi: 10.1111/bjh.17689

39. Zeidan AM, Boss I, Beach CL, Copeland WB, Thompson E, Fox BA, et al. A randomized phase 2 trial of azacitidine with or without durvalumab as first-line therapy for higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood Adv* (2022) 6(7):2207–18. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2021005487

40. Garcia-Manero G, Montalban-Bravo G, Berdeja JG, Abaza Y, Jabbour E, Essell J, et al. Phase 2, randomized, double-blind study of pracinostat in combination with azacitidine in patients with untreated, higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. *Cancer* (2017) 123(6):994–1002. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30533

41. Keng MK, Khaled SK, Cooper B, Warlick ED, Ramies D, Mappa S, et al. Planned interim analysis of a phase 2 study evaluating the combination of pracinostat, a histone deacetylase inhibitor (HDACi), and azacitidine in patients with High/Very high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). *Blood* (2018) 132:4362. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-112741

42. Kenealy M, Hertzberg M, Benson W, Taylor K, Cunningham I, Stevenson W, et al. Azacitidine with or without lenalidomide in higher risk myelodysplastic syndrome & low blast acute myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica* (2019) 104(4):700–9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.201152

43. Adès L, Duployez N, Guerci-Bresler A, Laribi K, Peterlin P, Vey N, et al. A randomised phase II study of azacitidine (AZA) alone or with lenalidomide (LEN), valproic acid (VPA) or idarubicin (IDA) in higher-risk MDS or low blast AML: GFM's "pick a winner" trial, with the impact of somatic mutations. *Br J Haematol* (2022).

44. Kondo A, Yamashita T, Tamura H, Zhao W, Tsuji T, Shimizu M, et al. Interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha induce an immunoinhibitory molecule, B7-H1, via nuclear factor-kappaB activation in blasts in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood* (2010) 116(7):1124–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-12-255125

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY

Rongxin Zhang, Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, China Lihong Ye, Nankai University, China Yulong Liang, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE

Hao Zhang haolabcancercenter@163.com Yexi Chen yxchen3@stu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 19 May 2022 ACCEPTED 14 July 2022 PUBLISHED 08 August 2022

CITATION

Dong H, Xie C, Yao Z, Zhao R, Lin Y, Luo Y, Chen S, Qin Y, Chen Y and Zhang H (2022) PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell signatures predict prognosis and immunotherapy response in patients with breast cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 13:947841. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.947841

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Dong, Xie, Yao, Zhao, Lin, Luo, Chen, Qin, Chen and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell signatures predict prognosis and immunotherapy response in patients with breast cancer

Hongmei Dong^{1†}, Chaoyu Xie^{1†}, Zhimeng Yao^{1,2†}, Ruijun Zhao^{3†}, Yusheng Lin^{1,4,5}, Yichen Luo¹, Shuanglong Chen¹, Yanfang Qin⁶, Yexi Chen^{7*} and Hao Zhang^{2,7,8*}

¹Institute of Precision Cancer Medicine and Pathology, School of Medicine, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of General Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ³Department of Breast Surgery, The Third Hospital of Nanchang, Nanchang, China, ⁴Department of Hematology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands, ⁵Graduate School, Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, China, ⁶Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ⁶Department of General Surgery, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, China, ⁸Institute of Precision Cancer Medicine and Pathology, School of Medicine, and Minister of Education Key Laboratory of Tumor Molecular Biology, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

Background: Poor immunogenicity and extensive immunosuppressive T-cell infiltration in the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) have been identified as potential barriers to immunotherapy success in "immune-cold" breast cancers. Thus, it is crucial to identify biomarkers that can predict immunotherapy efficacy. Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O (PTPRO) regulates multiple kinases and pathways and has been implied to play a regulatory role in immune cell infiltration in various cancers.

Methods: ESTIMATE and single-sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA) were performed to uncover the TIME landscape. The correlation analysis of PTPRO and immune infiltration was performed to characterize the immune features of PTPRO. Univariate and multivariate Cox analyses were applied to determine the prognostic value of various variables and construct the PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell signatures (PTSs). The Kaplan–Meier curve and the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve were used to estimate the performance of PTS in assessing prognosis and immunotherapy response in multiple validation datasets.

Results: High PTPRO expression was related to high infiltration levels of CD8⁺ T cells, as well as macrophages, activated dendritic cells (aDCs), tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), and Th1 cells. Given the critical role of CD8⁺ T cells in the TIME, we focused on the impact of PTPRO expression on CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration. The prognostic PTS was then constructed using the TCGA training dataset. Further analysis showed that the PTS exhibited favorable

prognostic performance in multiple validation datasets. Of note, the PTS could accurately predict the response to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs).

Conclusion: PTPRO significantly impacts CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration in breast cancer, suggesting a potential role of immunomodulation. PTPRO-based PTS provides a new immune cell paradigm for prognosis, which is valuable for immunotherapy decisions in cancer patients.

KEYWORDS

breast cancer, PTPRO, prognosis, immune cell, TILs, immunotherapy response indicator, PTPRO-related CD8+ T-cell marker genes signature

Introduction

Immunotherapy emerged as a new promising therapeutic approach for breast cancer, especially in triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC), and has been approved in combination with chemotherapy, radiation, and targeted therapeutics (1, 2). However, most types of cancers are recognized as "cold" tumors characterized by poor immunogenicity and T-cell dysfunction in the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME), which have been considered obstacles to immunotherapy efficacy. TNBC is more responsive to immunotherapy than other breast cancer subtypes as it has more tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), higher expression of programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1) on tumor and immune cells, and a higher number of non-synonymous mutations (3, 4). Although TNBC has a greater response rate to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) than other breast cancer subtypes, monotherapy response rates remain extremely low, with only 5% of unselected patients responding and 23% of PD-L1-positive patients responding (5, 6). Currently, three validated biomarkers (mismatch repair deficiency, PD-L1, and TILs) have been adopted for selecting patients and predicting clinical benefit from single-agent ICIs (2, 7). However, the coordination between cancer cells and the immune system in breast cancer is a dynamic, evolving, and complex biological process, which needs to discover more comprehensive immune-related biomarkers (2). Therefore, identifying effective indicators of immunotherapy response is critical for immunotherapy in breast cancers.

Tumor-infiltrating $CD8^+$ T cells are associated with the clinical benefit of ICI therapy in many cancers (8). However, given that $CD8^+$ T cells become dysfunction states (tolerance, ignorance, anergy, and exhaustion, respectively) during cancer development, most patients are unable to maintain a long-term response to immunotherapy (9). Currently, there is not any effective indicator to predict which patients will respond, even though much effort has been made. The mechanisms that determine clinical response to immunotherapy remain largely

unknown. Emerging technologies (such as spatially resolved transcriptomics, bulk and single-cell transcriptomics, singlenucleus RNA-seq, and epigenetic profiling) have allowed us to initially characterize the features of CD8⁺ T-cell heterogeneity and the regulatory mechanisms of CD8⁺ T-cell differentiation and dysfunction (9, 10). More recently, CD8⁺ tissue-resident memory T (T_{RM}) cells were revealed by single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) on breast cancer T cells (11). These T-cell subsets are characterized by high expression levels of immune checkpoint molecules and effector proteins and contribute to patient prognosis and response to anti-PD-1 therapy in TNBC (11, 12). The scRNA-seq has provided important insights into the features of T_{RM} cells, and hence can aid in the development of effective immunotherapy targeting T cells; however, the molecular basis of T-cell dysfunction states in breast cancer remains elusive (11). It is necessary to refine the indicators that allow for the identification of CD8⁺ T-cell phenotypes and to explore the regulatory mechanisms of CD8⁺ T cells, especially in other breast cancer subtypes except for TNBC (11, 13, 14).

The protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) catalyze the dephosphorylation of specific target protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) as a common means of regulating cellular signal transduction and play an important regulatory role in immune cell signaling (15, 16). Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O (PTPRO), a member of the PTP family, has been reported that it can function as a tumor suppressor and prognostic factor in various cancers (16-19). Furthermore, downregulation of PTPRO by aberrant hypermethylation in various cancer types, including lung cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), breast cancer, esophageal cancer, and leukemia, suggests that it may be a therapeutic candidate for epigenetic therapy (20-24). Additionally, given the regulatory functions of PTPRO in immune cells, we and other groups have begun to focus on the roles of PTPRO in tumor immunity (16). Our recent study indicated that tumor-derived exosomal PTPRO could ameliorate the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (ITM) and inhibit breast tumor cell metastasis by resetting tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) (25). We also found that PTPRO could predict patient prognosis and be significantly associated with the immune infiltrate of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) (26). Another study further confirmed that PTPRO is a therapeutic target and promotes the infiltration of immune cells including CD8⁺ T cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, and neutrophils in pancreatic cancer (27). However, little is known about PTPRO's role in the immunotherapy response in breast cancer. In this study, we provide evidence that PTPRO as a potential immune indicator and PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell signatures (PTSs) can be used to predict prognosis and immunotherapy response in breast cancer patients.

Materials and methods

Data collection and reprocessing

The RNA-seq data contained 130 patient samples (from the series GSE65194), and 251 patient samples (from the series GSE3494) were obtained from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database. ScRNA-seq profiling of two primary TNBCs was obtained from GSE110686. The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) breast cancer RNA-seq profiling [in the form of fragments per kilobase million (FPKM)], mutation data, and corresponding clinicopathological data were obtained from TCGA database. RNA-seq expression data of 3,273 breast cancer samples (GSE96058) in the form of log₂ (FPKM + 0.1) and corresponding clinicopathological characteristics were obtained from the GEO database. RNA-seq profiling of 1,904 breast cancer samples (METABRIC) and corresponding clinicopathological characteristics were derived from the cBioPortal. The profiling in the form of FPKM or log₂ (FPKM + 0.1) was converted into transcripts per kilobase million (TPM) values and was further log2transformed $[\log_2 (TPM + 0.1)]$ (28).

Associations between PTPRO and the infiltration of immune cells

The "ESTIMATE" R package was utilized to calculate the immune scores, stromal scores, and ESTIMATE scores, respectively, which can be used to evaluate the abundance of immune cells and stromal cells in the breast cancer microenvironment. The infiltration and function of immune cells were quantified by single-sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA) *via* the "gsva" R package. Among the GSE65194 and GSE3494 datasets with complete gene expression data, samples based on PTPRO expression were divided into high (upper 50%) and low (lower 50%) expression groups, respectively.

Patients

Breast cancer patients (n = 30) were obtained from the Cancer Hospital affiliated to Shantou University Medical College, undergoing surgical treatment at the Department of Surgery, during the period from 2010 to 2013. All patients received primary treatment by surgery followed by adjuvant radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or hormone therapy. The mean age of the patients was 50 years (range: 20–75 years). The clinical research protocols of this study were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Shantou University Medical College (IRB serial number: #04-070). Written informed consent was obtained from the patients in accordance with the principles expressed in the Declaration of Helsinki.

Immunohistochemical analysis

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining was performed as previously described (18, 19). In brief, 4-µm sections from representative breast cancer tumor tissue were cut from formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded specimens and underwent deparaffinization, rehydration, endogenous peroxidase blocking, and antigen retrieval. The following primary antibodies were used: PTPRO (Cat# sc-365654, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), and CD8 (Cat# ab101500, Abcam, Cambridge, UK). Furthermore, the primary antibodies were incubated at 4°C overnight. Then, the sections were incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies at room temperature for 1 h, followed by color development with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate kit (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark). The nuclei were counterstained with hematoxylin.

The percentage of PTPRO expression in the tumor cells was scored using the following scales: 0, negative; 1, $\leq 10\%$; 2, 11%–50%; 3, 51%–75%; and 4, >75%. The intensity of staining was scored using the following scales: 1, weak staining; 2, moderate staining; and 3, strong staining. The percentage (*P*) and intensity (*I*) of the cytoplasm or membrane expression were multiplied to generate a numerical score (*S* = *P***I*), which was modified from previous studies (19).

Identification of PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell marker genes

The "Seurat" and "SingleR" packages were used to analyze the scRNA-seq data (29). Cells with a number of detectable genes less than 200 and genes detected less than 3 cells were moved. We performed principal component analysis (PCA) with 1,500 variable genes to cluster the single cells followed by t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (t-SNE) with the first 20 PCA components using the RunPCA and RunTSNE functions, respectively. The "SingleR" R package was utilized for cell-type annotation, which works by comparing the transcriptome of every single cell with reference datasets. Absolute \log_2 fold change > 0.5 and an adjusted P < 0.05 were used to define the marker genes. After that, expression correlation assays between PTPRO with CD8⁺ T-cell marker genes were conducted using Spearman's coefficient correlation among the TCGA dataset.

Construction and validation of a prognostic signature in breast cancer

The cases from the TCGA breast cancer datasets were included for the construction of the prognostic model. Univariate Cox analysis of overall survival (OS) was complemented to screen PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell marker genes with prognostic values. The multivariate Cox proportional hazards model was established using statistically significant genes from the univariate Cox analysis. The independent prognostic factors were evaluated by the multivariate Cox proportional hazard regression model. The risk scores of the patients were established as follows: risk score = $\beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_2 x_3$... + $\beta_i x_i$. In this formula, x_i was the expression value of each gene obtained from the prognostic model, while β_i was the corresponding coefficient. The Kaplan-Meier method was used for survival analysis, and the samples were divided into high and low groups according to the median value of the risk score. The prognostic model's prediction capability was quantified by the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve using the Rpackage "timeROC" (30).

Construction of the nomogram

Based on the results of the multivariable Cox regression analysis, a nomogram integrating clinicopathological parameters (including age, stage, TNM stage, and risk score) was developed through the R package "rms." All of these points are added up for each individual to generate a total point, which can predict the 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival probability of breast cancer patients. The calibration curve was plotted to evaluate the nomogram's discrimination. The predictive accuracy of the nomogram was quantified by the concordance index (C-index).

Genomic and clinical datasets with anti-PD-L1 therapy

A urothelial carcinoma cohort (298 cases with complete clinical characteristics) that received the anti-PD-L1 therapy from the IMvigor210 cohort was used to analyze and explore the predictive accuracy of the prognostic signature (31). RNA- seq profiling and the corresponding clinicopathological characteristics were obtained from the Creative Commons 3.0 License. The count value was transformed into the log_2 (TPM + 1) value.

Statistical analysis

Student's t-tests were used to compare the normal distributions between two groups, and the Wilcoxon rank-sum test was performed to compare the non-normal distributions between two groups. The prognostic factors were evaluated via the univariate and multivariate Cox regression models, and further construction of the prognostic model was established through the "survival" and "survminer" R packages. The multivariable analysis model was constructed with variables with a P-value < 0.15 in the univariable analysis (32). Then, in the multivariate model, 11 candidate genes (P-value < 0.15) were selected because correlations can play an important role to build better prognostic models (33). In the TCGA, METABRIC, GSE96058, and IMvigor210 datasets, patients were grouped according to high or low risk based on median risk scores (34). Survival analysis was measured using the Kaplan-Meier method. Then, the log-rank test was performed to analyze the significance of disparity. The "timeROC" R package was performed to evaluate the accuracy of the prognostic model. The "ClusterProfiler," "org.Hs.eg.db," and "enrichplot" R packages were utilized for the GSEA analysis. The statistical analysis was performed using R software (version 4.1.0). P-value <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

Results

The role of PTPRO on breast cancer tumor microenvironment

As shown in Figure 1, the TCGA cohort was used as the training cohort, with 1,034 patients having a survival time of more than 30 days included. The METABRIC and GSE96058 cohorts were viewed as the external validation cohorts, consisting of 1,904 and 3,069 patients with survival data, respectively. To investigate the influence of PTPRO on the TIME, we explored the correlation between PTPRO expression and immune cell distribution. Through ESTIMATE, we found that samples with low PTPRO had significantly lower immune scores than the high PTPRO samples (Supplementary Figure S1A, GSE65194; Supplementary Figure S1B, GSE3494). We further evaluated the correlation between PTPRO and immune status and found that the enrichment scores for 16 immune cell types and 13 immune-related pathways were lower in the PTPRO-low group than in the PTPRO-high group, indicating that patients in the PTPRO-high group may have better immune status and immune function (Figure 2A, Supplementary Figure



S1C, GSE65194; Figure 2B, Supplementary Figure S1D, GSE3494). Notably, in two GEO cohorts, five immune cell types, namely, CD8⁺ T cells, macrophages, activated dendritic cells (aDCs), TILs, and Th1, were found to be significantly more abundant in the PTPRO-high group (Figure 2C). It is well known that CD8⁺ T cells are the central subpopulation of cytotoxic T cells, which are primarily responsible for eliminating tumor cells (35). Given the importance of CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration in the TIME, the relationship between CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration levels and PTPRO expression was further investigated. The results showed that PTPRO expression was significantly positively related to CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration levels in the TISIDB database (Figure 2D). Furthermore, we performed the IHC staining assay to analyze PTPRO and CD8 expression in 30 human breast cancer tissues (Figure 2E). Tumor infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells was significantly higher in tumors with higher PTPRO expression than in tumors with low PTPRO expression (r = 0.914; P < 0.001) (Supplementary Figure S1E). Collectively, these results suggest that PTPRO plays an essential role in mediating the reprogramming of TIME, thereby suppressing tumor progression.

Construction of prognostic PTPROrelated PTS

Given that TIME's immune profile, including CD8⁺ T-cellrelated genes, has been shown to correlate with prognosis (36, 37), and based on PTPRO's regulatory role in promoting CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration, we further investigated the association between CD8⁺ T-cell-related genes and PTPRO. By analyzing the scRNA-seq data from the GSE110686 cohort, 127 CD8⁺ Tcell marker genes were confirmed (Figure 3A, Supplementary Figure S2A). Among them, 56 CD8⁺ T-cell-related genes were subsequently identified to be significantly associated with PTPRO (filtering thresholds were set as R > 0.3, P < 0.05) in the TCGA dataset (Supplementary Table 1). Next, the TCGA breast cancer dataset was used as the training cohort to evaluate the prognostic value of the above 56 genes. A total of 31 genes (SRGN, SERPINB9, ICOS, CD74, TNFRSF1B, CXCR6, BIRC3, TIGIT, CTLA4, APOBEC3G, TRAC, CD69, SIRPG, GZMA, CD52, CST7, RGS1, CD8A, GZMK, SPOCK2, ZNF683, GBP2, CCL5, HCST, NKG7, KLRB1, CTSW, CD8B, TRGC2, PGAM1, and PIM2) were found to contribute to the OS as revealed by the univariate Cox proportion hazards regression analysis (Supplementary Figure S2B). A multivariate Cox regression analysis revealed that 11 candidate genes were determined and subsequently used to create a prognostic signature (i.e., PTS) (Figure 3B). The PTS risk score for predicting prognosis was calculated using the formula: PTS risk score = TNFRSF1B expression × (0.5385) + BIRC3expression \times (-0.2625) + TIGIT expression \times (0.2949) + APOBEC3G expression \times (-0.2651) + CD69 expression \times (0.3853) + RGS1 expression \times (-0.1672) + CCL5 expression \times (-0.3752) + NKG7 expression \times (0.4308) + KLRB1 expression \times (-0.6283) + CTSW expression \times (-0.2624) + PGAM1 expression \times (0.2686) (Supplementary Table 2).

The corresponding PTS risk scores were calculated for each breast cancer patient in the training cohort (Figure 3C). The median value of the PTS risk score was used as the cutoff value to divide patients into low-risk (n = 517) and high-risk (n = 517) groups. The distribution of PTS risk score and patient survival status revealed that patients with high risk died sooner than those with low risk (Figure 3D). Consistently, patients with high risk had a significantly shorter OS than patients with low risk (P < 0.001, Figure 3E). ROC analysis was performed to interpret the predictive performance of PTS risk score, and the results showed that the AUCs for 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS were 0.700, 0.713, and 0.688, respectively (Figure 3F). Furthermore, GSEA showed that immune-related gene sets were enriched in patients with low-risk score (Supplementary Figure S2C). Therefore, our findings suggest that PTS risk score has a high specificity and sensitivity for predicting the OS of breast cancer patients.

Validation of the prognostic value of PTS risk score

To evaluate the robustness of the PTS, we tested its predictive power in two independent validation cohorts from the METABRIC and GSE96058 datasets. Risk scores were calculated for patients in two cohorts using the same formula generated in the training cohort (Figures 4A, B). Similar to the



training cohort, patients with high risk died sooner than those with low risk (Figures 4C, D). Patients were then separately classified into high-risk groups (METABRIC, n = 951; GSE96058, n = 1,534) and low-risk groups (METABRIC, n = 952; GSE96058, n = 1,535) based on the median values of the risk score. Patients in the low-risk group had a significantly better OS than those with high risk (METABRIC, P < 0.001; GSE96058, P < 0.001) (Figures 4E, F). Moreover, the AUCs for 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS of this classifier were 0.647, 0.523, and 0.532 in METABRIC and 0.633, 0.633, and 0.616 in GSE96058, respectively (Figures 4G, H), further confirming the prognostic role of the PTS.

Independence of the PTS risk score from other clinical characteristics

In order to better understand the utility of the PTS in predicting the OS of breast cancer patients, the risk score and clinical features were integrated into the univariate and multivariate analyses (Figure 5). The multivariate analysis revealed that low-risk score remained significantly associated with favorable OS even after adjusting for other clinical characteristics. The risk score for OS was 1.891 (95% CI = 1.547–2.312, P < 0.001; Figure 5A) in the TCGA training set, 2.122 (95% CI = 1.296–3.475, P = 0.003; Figure 5B) in the METABRIC validation set, and 1.289 (95% CI = 1.076–1.544, P = 0.006; Figure 5C) in the GSE96058 validation set. Together,



FIGURE 3

Construction of the PTPRO-related CD8⁺ T-cell signature (PTS) in the training set. (A) t-SNE plot depicted various cell types. (B) The prognostic signature was developed by multivariate analysis of candidate genes that were associated with the overall survival (OS) of breast cancer patients in the training set. (C) Breast cancer patients in the training set were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups based on the median value of the risk score. (D) Breast cancer patients' survival status and risk score distribution in the training set. (E) Kaplan–Meier curve analysis of OS between the high-risk and low-risk groups in the training set. (F) ROC curves of the risk score to predict the 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS in the training set.

these data strongly demonstrate that the prognostic signature derived from PTPRO-associated immunomodulators was an independent predictor of OS in breast cancer patients.

Construction and evaluation of a prognostic nomogram

Based on the findings of multivariate analysis, we constructed a nomogram model employing clinical factors, such as risk score, age, and stage. By calculating the score of the aforementioned variables for each patient, we can predict the individuals' 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS probability (Supplementary Figure S3A). The calibration curves further revealed that the nomogram performed well in predicting breast cancer patients' survival (Supplementary Figures S3B–D). The C-index of the nomogram was 0.747, which shows that it has a good capacity for discrimination.

The prognostic value of PTS in patients with anti-PD-L1 therapy

To investigate the potential clinical efficacy of PTS in immunotherapy, we examined the distribution of checkpoint-



Validation of the prognostic value of risk score in independent cohorts. Breast cancer patients in the training set were separated into high-risk and low-risk groups based on the median value of risk score in the METABRIC cohort (A) and the GSE96058 cohort (B). Breast cancer patients' survival status and risk score distribution in the METABRIC cohort (C) and the GSE96058 cohort (D). Kaplan–Meier curves of OS between the high-risk and low-risk groups in the METABRIC cohort (E) and the GSE96058 cohort (F). ROC curves showed the performance of risk score in predicting the 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS in the METABRIC cohort (G) and the GSE96058 cohort (H).

related genes (*LAG3*, *HAVCR2*, *PDCD1LG1*, *IDO1*, *TIGIT*, *PDCD1*, *PD-L1*, and *CTLA-4*) and tumor mutation burden (TMB) in different PTS subgroups and found that *LAG3*, *PDCD1LG1*, *IDO1*, *TIGIT*, *PDCD1*, *PD-L1*, and *CTLA-4* were upregulated in patients with low risk in the TCGA training set (Supplementary Figure S4A), while TMB was higher in patients

with high risk (Supplementary Figure S4B). Furthermore, we evaluated the predictive value of TMB by ROC analysis in the IMvigor210 cohort (urothelial carcinoma dataset), and we did observe that TMB does not outperform at a predictive advantage (Supplementary Figure S4C). Since anti-PD-L1 immunotherapy has emerged as a promising anticancer treatment (38), we next



investigated the prognostic value of the risk score for immunotherapy in the IMvigor210 cohort of patients treated with anti-PD-L1. Patients with high risk who received atezolizumab had significantly shorter OS than patients with low risk (Figure 6A). Moreover, the AUCs for the 8-, 16-, and 24-month OS of this classifier were 0.597, 0.612, and 0.834 in the IMvigor210 cohort (Figure 6B), respectively. Patients with low risk had better immunotherapeutic responses (Figures 6C, D). Therefore, rather than TMB, the predictive value of PTS in immunotherapy may benefit from the upregulation of the checkpoint-related genes.

Discussion

Here, we found that phosphatase PTPRO exhibits potential as an immune modulator, and PTPRO-based PTS is an independent prognostic indicator for prognosis and associated with immunotherapeutic responses. We first used ESTIMATE and ssGSEA to determine whether PTPRO expression is associated with the levels of CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration in breast cancer immune infiltrates. Then, using scRNA-seq data, we identified 56 CD8⁺ T-cell-related genes that were significantly associated with PTPRO. Furthermore, 11 candidate genes (*TNFRSF1B, BIRC3, TIGIT, APOBEC3G, CD69, RGS1, CCL5, NKG7, KLRB1, CTSW*, and *PGAM1*) were identified and used to build the risk model. Finally, the PTS-based risk score was used to predict prognosis and immunotherapeutic response, and it performed well in multiple validation datasets.

CD8⁺ T cells are one of the major effector cells in immunotherapy. However, when T cells are exposed to cancer antigens repeatedly, they differentiate into dysfunctional states (39, 40). Furthermore, T-cell receptor (TCR)-mediated signaling pathways are required for the establishment and progression of T-cell dysfunction (39, 40). Earlier studies have already proven that coordinated interactions between PTKs and PTPs play a key role in



response (PR), and stable disease (SD)].

TCR-mediated signaling and then affect immune responses (41). Additionally, PD-L1-mediated immunosuppression is controlled largely by the activation of EGFR, MEK/ERK, NF-KB, PI3K/Akt, COX2/mPGES1/PGE2, JAK/STAT1, or JAK/STAT3 pathways, some of which are regulated by PTPRO (16, 42, 43). Therefore, our previous and other findings suggest that PTPRO, as an immunosuppressor, regulates immune infiltrates, shedding new light on immunotherapy (26, 27, 44). In this study, 11 PTPROrelated CD8⁺ T-cell marker genes were chosen to construct a PTPRO-based risk score. Our results showed that patients with low-risk scores had a significantly longer OS than those with highrisk scores in the METABRIC and GSE96058 datasets. Moreover, we established a prognostic nomogram based on the risk score and several important clinical variables for predicting individuals' survival probability. The calibration curves revealed a higher consistency between the actual and predicted values for 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS.

We also investigated the prognostic value of risk score in anti-PD-L1 therapy to see if it can accurately predict the potential clinical efficacy of immunotherapy. We found that checkpoint-related genes (*LAG3*, *PDCD1LG1*, *IDO1*, *TIGIT*, *PDCD1*, *PD-L1*, and *CTLA-4*) were upregulated in patients with low risk in the TCGA training set. High TMB is associated with longer survival in patients treated with ICIs in multiple cancer types (45). We found that patients in the high-risk group had higher TMB levels in this study. Furthermore, in the IMvigor210 cohort, TMB had a poor predictive value. According to a recent study, high TMB only predicts PD-L1 blockade responsiveness in approximately 25% of several cancer types where high TMB correlates with CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration of the tumor (46). Numerous studies have shown that high TMB does not correlate with CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration and overall response rates (ORR) to ICIs in glioma, TNBC and prostate cancer (47). Due to the lack of broad ICI approval, a biomarker to optimize patient selection is most urgently needed. Furthermore, we found that the predictive value of risk score in immunotherapy response was validated in the IMvigor210 cohort, that is, a high-risk score predicted poorer survival and a poor response to immunotherapy. As a result of our findings, the predictive value of PTS in immunotherapy may benefit from increased expression of checkpoint-related genes rather than TMB. With technological advancements, a large number of high-dimensional databases and bioinformatics tools will emerge in the future, and PTPRO-based PTS warrants further extension and

investigation. Furthermore, this is a retrospective study based on omics data, which requires additional experimental validation, particularly the regulatory effect of PTPRO on CD8⁺ T-cell markers or immune infiltration.

In summary, we found that PTPRO may play a role in antitumor immunity regulation. The immune indicator PTPRObased PTS-related risk score can pre-evaluate the response to immunotherapy. We conclude that patients with low-risk breast cancer, as defined by high CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration and elevated expression of checkpoint-related genes, should have a better prognosis and clinical benefit from either monotherapy or combined immunotherapy.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Shantou University Medical College (IRB serial number: # 04–070). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

HZ and HD conceived and designed the study. CX, ZY, YSL, and SC performed the data analysis and wrote the manuscript. YCL, YQ, YC, and RZ collected the data and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the work and approved it for publication.

Funding

The work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81802404 to HD); Natural Science

References

1. Emens LA. Breast cancer immunotherapy: Facts and hopes. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(3):511–20. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-3001

2. Franzoi MA, Romano E, Piccart M. Immunotherapy for early breast cancer: too soon, too superficial, or just right? *Ann Oncol* (2021) 32(3):323–36. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.11.022

3. Bianchini G, Balko JM, Mayer IA, Sanders ME, Gianni L. Triple-negative breast cancer: challenges and opportunities of a heterogeneous disease. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2016) 13(11):674–90. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.66

Foundation of Guangdong Province of China (2021A1515012522, 9151018004000000, and 2022A1515010925 to HZ; 2021A1515011028 and 2022A1515011739 to HD); Science and Technology Planning Project of Guangdong Province of China (2019A030317024 to HZ); Special Project on the Integration of Industry, Education and Research of Guangdong Province (2011A090100024 to HZ); Jinan University Innovation and Entrepreneurship Fund for College Students (202010559081 and 202110559097 to HZ); and Flagship Specialty Construction Project General Surgery (Funding no. 711003).

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the members of H. Zhang's laboratory for their technical help and discussion.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.947841/full#supplementary-material

6. Adams S, Schmid P, Rugo HS, Winer EP, Loirat D, Awada A, et al. Pembrolizumab monotherapy for previously treated metastatic triple-negative

^{4.} Emens I.A. Immunotherapy in triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer J (2021) 27(1):59–66. doi: 10.1097/PPO.0000000000497

^{5.} Adams S, Loi S, Toppmeyer D, Cescon DW, De Laurentiis M, Nanda R, et al. Pembrolizumab monotherapy for previously untreated, PD-L1-positive, metastatic triple-negative breast cancer: cohort b of the phase II KEYNOTE-086 study. *Ann Oncol* (2019) 30(3):405–11. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy518

breast cancer: cohort a of the phase II KEYNOTE-086 study. Ann Oncol (2019) 30 (3):397-404. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy517

7. Yi M, Jiao D, Qin S, Chu Q, Wu K, Li A. Synergistic effect of immune checkpoint blockade and anti-angiogenesis in cancer treatment. *Mol Cancer* (2019) 18(1):60. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0974-6

8. Zheng L, Qin S, Si W, Wang A, Xing B, Gao R, et al. Pan-cancer single-cell landscape of tumor-infiltrating T cells. *Science* (2021) 374(6574):abe6474. doi: 10.1126/science.abe6474

9. Philip M, Schietinger A. CD8(+) T cell differentiation and dysfunction in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol (2022) 22(4):209–23. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00574-3

10. van der Leun AM, Thommen DS, Schumacher TN. CD8(+) T cell states in human cancer: insights from single-cell analysis. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2020) 20(4):218–32. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0235-4

11. Byrne A, Savas P, Sant S, Li R, Virassamy B, Luen SJ, et al. Tissue-resident memory T cells in breast cancer control and immunotherapy responses. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17(6):341–8. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-0333-y

12. Savas P, Virassamy B, Ye C, Salim A, Mintoff CP, Caramia F, et al. Singlecell profiling of breast cancer T cells reveals a tissue-resident memory subset associated with improved prognosis. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(7):986–93. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-018-0078-7

13. Gebhardt T, Palendira U, Tscharke DC, Bedoui S. Tissue-resident memory T cells in tissue homeostasis, persistent infection, and cancer surveillance. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 283(1):54–76. doi: 10.1111/imr.12650

14. Reading JL, Galvez-Cancino F, Swanton C, Lladser A, Peggs KS, Quezada SA. The function and dysfunction of memory CD8(+) T cells in tumor immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2018) 283(1):194–212. doi: 10.1111/imr.12657

15. Alonso A, Sasin J, Bottini N, Friedberg I, Friedberg I, Osterman A, et al. Protein tyrosine phosphatases in the human genome. *Cell* (2004) 117(6):699–711. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.05.018

16. Xie F, Dong H, Zhang H. Regulatory functions of protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O in immune cells. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:783370. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.783370

17. Kang MM, Shan SL, Wen XY, Shan HS, Wang ZJ. Tumor-suppression mechanisms of protein tyrosine phosphatase O and clinical applications. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* (2015) 16(15):6215–23. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2015.16.15.6215

18. Dong H, Ma L, Gan J, Lin W, Chen C, Yao Z, et al. PTPRO represses ERBB2-driven breast oncogenesis by dephosphorylation and endosomal internalization of ERBB2. *Oncogene* (2017) 36(3):410-22. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.213

19. Dong H, Du L, Cai S, Lin W, Chen C, Still M, et al. Tyrosine phosphatase PTPRO deficiency in ERBB2-positive breast cancer contributes to poor prognosis and lapatinib resistance. *Front Pharmacol* (2022) 13:838171. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.838171

20. Motiwala T, Kutay H, Ghoshal K, Bai S, Seimiya H, Tsuruo T, et al. Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor-type O (PTPRO) exhibits characteristics of a candidate tumor suppressor in human lung cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101(38):13844–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405451101

21. Motiwala T, Ghoshal K, Das A, Majumder S, Weichenhan D, Wu YZ, et al. Suppression of the protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O gene (PTPRO) by methylation in hepatocellular carcinomas. *Oncogene* (2003) 22(41):6319–31. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206750

22. You YJ, Chen YP, Zheng XX, Meltzer SJ, Zhang H. Aberrant methylation of the PTPRO gene in peripheral blood as a potential biomarker in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Cancer Lett* (2012) 315(2):138–44. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.08.032

23. Huang YT, Li FF, Ke C, Li Z, Li ZT, Zou XF, et al. PTPRO promoter methylation is predictive of poorer outcome for HER2-positive breast cancer: indication for personalized therapy. *J Transl Med* (2013) 11:245. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-245

24. Stevenson WS, Best OG, Przybylla A, Chen Q, Singh N, Koleth M, et al. DNA Methylation of membrane-bound tyrosine phosphatase genes in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Leukemia* (2014) 28(4):787–93. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.270

25. Dong H, Xie C, Jiang Y, Li K, Lin Y, Pang X, et al. Tumor-derived exosomal protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O polarizes macrophage to suppress breast tumor cell invasion and migration. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:703537. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.703537

26. Gan J, Zhang H. PTPRO predicts patient prognosis and correlates with immune infiltrates in human clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Transl Cancer Res* (2020) 9(8):4800–10. doi: 10.21037/tcr-19-2808

27. Hou X, Du J, Fang H. PTPRO is a therapeutic target and correlated with immune infiltrates in pancreatic cancer. *J Cancer* (2021) 12(24):7445–53. doi: 10.7150/jca.64661

28. Chong W, Shang L, Liu J, Fang Z, Du F, Wu H, et al. m(6)A regulator-based methylation modification patterns characterized by distinct tumor microenvironment immune profiles in colon cancer. *Theranostics* (2021) 11 (5):2201–17. doi: 10.7150/thno.52717

29. Aran D, Looney AP, Liu L, Wu E, Fong V, Hsu A, et al. Reference-based analysis of lung single-cell sequencing reveals a transitional profibrotic macrophage. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20(2):163–72. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0276-y

30. Moons KG, Altman DG, Reitsma JB, Ioannidis JP, Macaskill P, Steyerberg EW, et al. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): explanation and elaboration. *Ann Intern Med* (2015) 162(1):W1-73. doi: 10.7326/M14-0698

31. Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGFbeta attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. *Nature* (2018) 554(7693):544–8. doi: 10.1038/nature25501

32. Jaroszynski A, Schlegel TT, Zaborowski T, Zapolski T, Zaluska W, Janion-Sadowska A, et al. The value of ventricular gradient for predicting pulmonary hypertension and mortality in hemodialysis patients. *Sci Rep* (2022) 12(1):456. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-04186-8

33. Bansal A, Pepe MS. When does combining markers improve classification performance and what are implications for practice? *Stat Med* (2013) 32(11):1877–92. doi: 10.1002/sim.5736

34. Wang T, Dai L, Shen S, Yang Y, Yang M, Yang X, et al. Comprehensive molecular analyses of a macrophage-related gene signature with regard to prognosis, immune features, and biomarkers for immunotherapy in hepatocellular carcinoma based on WGCNA and the LASSO algorithm. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:843408. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.843408

35. St Paul M, Ohashi PS. The roles of CD8(+) T cell subsets in antitumor immunity. Trends Cell Biol (2020) 30(9):695-704. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2020.06.003

36. Rai S, Inoue H, Sakai K, Hanamoto H, Matsuda M, Maeda Y, et al. Decreased expression of T-cell-associated immune markers predicts poor prognosis in patients with follicular lymphoma. *Cancer Sci* (2022) 113(2): 660–73. doi: 10.1111/cas.15224

37. Sun Y, Wu J, Yuan Y, Lu Y, Luo M, Lin L, et al. Construction of a promising tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells gene signature to improve prediction of the prognosis and immune response of uveal melanoma. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:673838. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.673838

38. Wu Y, Chen W, Xu ZP, Gu W. PD-L1 distribution and perspective for cancer immunotherapy-blockade, knockdown, or inhibition. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2022. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02022

39. McLane LM, Abdel-Hakeem MS, Wherry EJ. CD8 T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection and cancer. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2019) 37:457–95. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-041015-055318

40. Verdon DJ, Mulazzani M, Jenkins MR. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of CD8(+) T cell differentiation, dysfunction and exhaustion. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(19):7357. doi: 10.3390/ijms21197357

41. Shaw A, Thomas ML. Coordinate interactions of protein tyrosine kinases and protein tyrosine phosphatases in T-cell receptor-mediated signalling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (1991) 3(5):862–8. doi: 10.1016/0955-0674(91)90061-3

42. Hsu JM, Li CW, Lai YJ, Hung MC. Posttranslational modifications of PD-L1 and their applications in cancer therapy. *Cancer Res* (2018) 78(22):6349–53. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-1892

 Prima V, Kaliberova LN, Kaliberov S, Curiel DT, Kusmartsev S. COX2/ mPGES1/PGE2 pathway regulates PD-L1 expression in tumor-associated macrophages and myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114(5):1117–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1612920114

44. Zhang W, Liu Y, Yan Z, Yang H, Sun W, Yao Y, et al. IL-6 promotes PD-L1 expression in monocytes and macrophages by decreasing protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(1):e000285. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2019-000285

45. Samstein RM, Lee CH, Shoushtari AN, Hellmann MD, Shen R, Janjigian YY, et al. Tumor mutational load predicts survival after immunotherapy across multiple cancer types. *Nat Genet* (2019) 51(2):202-6. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0312-8

46. Borst J, Busselaar J, Bosma DMT, Ossendorp F. Mechanism of action of PD-1 receptor/ligand targeted cancer immunotherapy. *Eur J Immunol* (2021) 51 (8):1911–20. doi: 10.1002/eji.202048994

47. McGrail DJ, Pilie PG, Rashid NU, Voorwerk L, Slagter M, Kok M, et al. High tumor mutation burden fails to predict immune checkpoint blockade response across all cancer types. *Ann Oncol* (2021) 32(5):661–72. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.02.006

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY

Xiaolei Li, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University, China Ting Zhuang, Xinxiang Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Jiajun Du dujiajun@sdu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 03 June 2022 ACCEPTED 22 July 2022 PUBLISHED 11 August 2022

CITATION

Liu J, Shen H, Gu W, Zheng H, Wang Y, Ma G and Du J (2022) Prediction of prognosis, immunogenicity and efficacy of immunotherapy based on glutamine metabolism in lung adenocarcinoma. *Front. Immunol.* 13:960738. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.960738

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Liu, Shen, Gu, Zheng, Wang, Ma and Du. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (**CC BY**). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Prediction of prognosis, immunogenicity and efficacy of immunotherapy based on glutamine metabolism in lung adenocarcinoma

Jichang Liu^{1†}, Hongchang Shen^{2†}, Wenchao Gu^{3,4}, Haotian Zheng¹, Yadong Wang¹, Guoyuan Ma^{1,5} and Jiajun Du^{1,5*}

¹Institute of Oncology, Shandong Provincial Hospital, Cheeloo College of Medicine, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ²Department of Oncology, Shandong Provincial Hospital affiliated to Shandong First Medical University, Jinan, China, ³Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology, University of Tsukuba, Ibaraki, Japan, ⁴Department of Diagnostic Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, Gunma University Graduate School of Medicine, Maebashi, Japan, ⁵Department of Thoracic Surgery, Shandong Provincial Hospital, Cheeloo College of Medicine, Shandong University, Jinan, China

Background: Glutamine (Gln) metabolism has been reported to play an essential role in cancer. However, a comprehensive analysis of its role in lung adenocarcinoma is still unavailable. This study established a novel system of quantification of Gln metabolism to predict the prognosis and immunotherapy efficacy in lung cancer. Further, the Gln metabolism in tumor microenvironment (TME) was characterized and the Gln metabolism-related genes were identified for targeted therapy.

Methods: We comprehensively evaluated the patterns of Gln metabolism in 513 patients diagnosed with lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD) based on 73 Gln metabolism-related genes. Based on differentially expressed genes (DEGs), a risk model was constructed using Cox regression and Lasso regression analysis. The prognostic efficacy of the model was validated using an individual LUAD cohort form Shandong Provincial Hospital, an integrated LUAD cohort from GEO and pan-cancer cohorts from TCGA databases. Five independent immunotherapy cohorts were used to validate the model performance in predicting immunotherapy efficacy. Next, a series of single-cell sequencing analyses were used to characterize Gln metabolism in TME. Finally, single-cell sequencing analysis, transcriptome sequencing, and a series of *in vitro* experiments were used to explore the role of EPHB2 in LUAD.

Results: Patients with LUAD were eventually divided into low- and high-risk groups. Patients in low-risk group were characterized by low levels of Gln metabolism, survival advantage, "hot" immune phenotype and benefit from immunotherapy. Compared with other cells, tumor cells in TME exhibited the most active Gln metabolism. Among immune cells, tumor-infiltrating T cells

exhibited the most active levels of Gln metabolism, especially CD8 T cell exhaustion and Treg suppression. EPHB2, a key gene in the model, was shown to promote LUAD cell proliferation, invasion and migration, and regulated the Gln metabolic pathway. Finally, we found that EPHB2 was highly expressed in macrophages, especially M2 macrophages. It may be involved in the M2 polarization of macrophages and mediate the negative regulation of M2 macrophages in NK cells.

Conclusion: This study revealed that the Gln metabolism-based model played a significant role in predicting prognosis and immunotherapy efficacy in lung cancer. We further characterized the Gln metabolism of TME and investigated the Gln metabolism-related gene EPHB2 to provide a theoretical framework for anti-tumor strategy targeting Gln metabolism.

KEYWORDS

lung adenocarcinoma, glutamine metabolism, prognosis, tumor microenvironment, immunotherapy, EphB2

Introduction

Lung cancer remains the leading cause of cancer-related death worldwide (1). Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) accounts for 85% of lung cancers, with lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD) constituting half of all cases of NSCLC (2). Notwithstanding the advances in treatment strategies, the fiveyear survival rate of patients with LUAD remains limited. In recent years, immunotherapy showed significant efficacy in LUAD, while drug resistance and recurrence due to tumor heterogeneity still limit the efficacy of immunotherapy (3, 4).

Abbreviations: Gln, glutamine; LUAD, Lung Adenocarcinoma; TME, Tumor microenvironment; TCGA, The Cancer Genome Atlas; DEGs, Differentially expressed genes; GEO, Gene-Expression Omnibus; NK cells, Natural killing cells; NSCLC, Non-small Cell Lung Cancer; OS, overall survival; TPM, transcripts per kilobase million; FPKM, Fragments Per Kilobase of exon model per Million mapped fragments; MSigDB, Molecular Signatures Database; ROC, receiver operating characteristic; GSVA, Gene Set Variation Analysis; ssGSEA, Single sample gene set enrichment analysis; MAF, mutation annotation format; TMB, tumor mutation burden; IPS, Immunophenoscore; ACT, adoptive T cell therapy; TIDE, Tumor immune dysfunction and exclusion; INFG, interferon gamma; MDSCs, Myeloidderived suppressor cells; MSI, Microsatellite instability; CAF, cancer associated fibroblast; TAM, Tumor-Associated Macrophages; GEPIA, Gene Expression Profiling Interactive Analysis; CNV, copy number variations; DCs, Dendritic cells; TILs, Tumor infiltrated lymphocytes; APC, antigenpresenting cell; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; PCA, Principal Components Analysis; AIC, Akaike information criterion; ICI, Immune checkpoint inhibitor; UMAP, Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection; GO, Gene ontology; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes.

Therefore, it is essential to comprehensively investigate the mechanisms underlying the differential response to immunotherapy and develop tools to predict prognosis and immunotherapy efficacy.

Recent investigations revealed that oncogenic transformation induces a well-characterized metabolic phenotype in tumor cells, which in turn affects the tumor environment (TME) (5). TME is composed of distinct cell populations in a complex matrix, which is characterized by inefficiencies of oxygen and nutrition delivery due to limited or poorly differentiated vasculature. In order to meet the energy demands, rapidly proliferating cancer cells compete with immune cells for nutrients required to manifest anti-tumor effects, thus creating an immune suppressive environment. In this harsh TME, infiltrating immune cells are forced to undergo relevant metabolic adaptations, which in turn disrupt the antitumor effects of immune cells (6, 7). Therefore, therapeutic strategies that target tumor metabolism and thus modulate or improve immune cell metabolism to enhance inflammation are extremely promising. However, tumor cells share a large number of metabolic pathways with inflammatory immune cells, which makes metabolic blocking strategies often counterproductive (8). Therefore, targeting the appropriate metabolic pathway to block tumor metabolism and activate inflammatory immunity is essential to improve immunotherapy. Targeting Gln metabolism is one of the optimal choices available.

As the most abundant amino acid in circulation, glutamine (Gln) is rapidly consumed by cultured tumor cells (9). Gln is commonly used to maintain TCA flux in cellular aerobic glycolysis, or as a source of citrate for lipid synthesis in reductive carboxylation. Besides, glutaminolysis also promotes

survival of proliferating cells by suppressing oxidative stress and maintaining the integrity of mitochondrial membrane (10). Gln is an energy source required by both tumor and immune cells. However, inflammatory antitumor immune cells do not appear to rely on or even reject Gln metabolism, which is particularly evident in macrophages (11, 12). Compared with naïve macrophages, M2 macrophages exhibit strong dependence on Gln, while pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages can be induced by suppressed Gln metabolism. Therefore, Gln metabolism represents a potential target to convert tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) from M2 to M1 phenotype, thereby enhancing the anti-tumor inflammatory immune response (13). In addition, Gln metabolism is also involved in the differentiation of Th1 cells and the activation of effector T cells (13, 14). These findings suggest that targeting Gln metabolism can potentially remodel TME and improve immunotherapy efficacy. In fact, recent studies reported that extensive blockade of Gln metabolism significantly improves the anti-tumor effect of anti-PD-1, accompanied by enhanced cytotoxic function of effector T cells due to metabolic reprogramming (15). In LUAD, although targeting Gln metabolism in combination with immunotherapy is extremely promising, the landscape of Gln metabolism in TME is still not fully known. Therefore, we performed this study for a systematic analysis of Gln metabolism and immunotherapy in LUAD.

Our study comprehensively evaluated the expression of Gln metabolism-related genes. Based on these genes, 514 patients with LUAD from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) were clustered using a consensus clustering algorithm and eventually a scoring system was constructed for predicting overall survival (OS) and immunotherapy efficacy. An integrated Gene-Expression Omnibus (GEO) cohort including 719 patients with LUAD and 32 cohorts of pan-cancer from TCGA were used to validate the predictive performance of the risk model. Five independent immunotherapy cohorts were identified to validate the predictive performance for immunotherapy efficacy. Multiple single-cell sequencing data were used to describe the Gln metabolism landscape of various cell types in TME. Finally, using in vitro experiments based on second-generation sequencing and public single-cell sequencing analysis, we investigated the regulation of biological behavior and signaling pathways of LUAD cells by EPHB2, a key gene related to Gln metabolism, which is also significantly enriched and plays an essential role in M2 macrophages.

Materials and methods

Data source and preprocessing

Public gene expression data (fragments per kilobase million, FPKM) and full clinical annotations were respectively retrieved from TCGA (https://cancergenome.nih.gov/) and GEO (https://

www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/) databases. The FPKM values of LUAD were transformed into transcripts per kilobase million (TPM). The training cohort included 513 patients with LUAD from TCGA while 6 eligible LUAD cohorts (GSE13213, GSE37745, GSE31210, GSE3141, GSE30219, GSE50081) from GEO dataset represented the validating cohort of our study, which consisted of 719 patients with LUAD. Pan-cancer gene expression data were extracted from TCGA for further validation.

An individual cohort with 33 LUAD specimens from Shandong Provincial Hospital was set as a validating cohort. Besides, 22 tumor specimens and 11 normal specimens from Shandong Provincial Hospital were used to perform differential expression analysis and survival analysis of EPHB2.

Consensus molecular clustering based on Gln metabolism-related genes

73 Gln metabolism-related genes were extracted from Molecular Signatures Database (MSigDB, http://www.gseamsigdb.org/gsea/msigdb/index.jsp). These genes are listed in Supplementary Materials. A consensus clustering algorithm was used to classify LUAD cohorts into distinct GlnClusters and test the corresponding stability based on survival-related Gln genes. ConsensuClusterPlus package was used to perform the above steps and 1000 repetitions were conducted to guarantee the corresponding stability.

Identification of DEGs and construction of geneClusters

Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) among 3 GlnClusters were identified using "limma" package in R with an adjusted P value< 0.001 and a |logFC|>1. Survival-related DEGs were identified *via* univariate cox regression analysis, and patients with LUAD were classified into distinct geneClusters based on selected DEGs using R package "ConsensuClusterPlus".

Construction and validation of a prognostic risk model

Survival-related DEGs were sequentially subjected to Lasso Cox regression analysis and multivariate Cox regression analysis. Ten genes were finally identified and involved in the construction of the prognostic risk model, including EPHB2, CAV2, RTN2, SCPEP1, UNC5D, FURIN, PITPNC1, CH25H, RGS20 and TSPAN11. The risk score was calculated following the formula:

Risk score =
$$\sum (Expi * Coefi)$$

Coefi and Expi denote the risk coefficient and gene expression, respectively. Based on the median risk score of training cohort, patients from training and validating cohorts were divided into low-risk and high-risk groups, respectively. Kaplan–Meier survival analysis was followed by the generation of receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves involving lowand high-risk groups.

Enrichment analysis and functional annotation

Gene Set Variation Analysis (GSVA) enrichment was performed to explore the heterogeneity of various biological processes using "GSVA" package. Hallmark gene sets "h.all.v7.4.symbols.gmt" extracted from MSigDB database were used for GSVA. R package "ClusterProfiler" was applied to perform functional annotation. Single sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA) was performed to calculate the score of Gln metabolism based on 73 previously extracted Gln metabolism-related genes.

Mutation and drug susceptibility analysis

The mutation annotation format (MAF) from the TCGA database was generated using R package "maftools" and the somatic mutations of LUAD in low- and high-risk groups were plotted. The tumor mutation burden (TMB) of each patient with LUAD in the TCGA cohort was also calculated. Drug sensitivity analysis was performed with R package "pRRophetic". A parliament plot was developed to demonstrate drug sensitivity of low- and high-risk groups using the website HIPLOT (https://hiplot.com.cn/).

TME landscape analyses

Single sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA) was performed to calculate and compare the enrichment scores of infiltrating immune cells and immune function (16, 17). Immune score, ESTIMATE score and stromal score were calculated using the ESTIMATE algorithm (18). Data of T cell dysfunction, T cell exclusion and TIDE scores were obtained from TIDE website (http://tide.dfci.harvard.edu/). A correlation heatmap of 10 genes in the risk model and 4 panels of immune function were also downloaded from the TIDE website (19). Immunophenoscore (IPS) of patients in TCGA was obtained from The Cancer Immunome Atlas (https://tcia.at/).

Immunotherapy datasets

Five immunotherapeutic cohorts were used to validate the prediction of immunotherapy efficacy using the risk model: melanoma treated with adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) (GSE100797) (20); melanoma treated with pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 antibody (GSE78220) (21); melanoma treated with anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1 therapy (GSE91061) (22); NSCLC treated with nivolumab or pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 antibody (GSE126044) (23); and advanced urothelial cancer treated with atezolizumab, an anti-PD-L1 antibody (IMvigor210 cohort) (24). The response and benefit of TCGA cohort were calculated based on the TIDE website (http://tide. dfci.harvard.edu/) by integrating TIDE score, INFG, MSI score, CD274, Merck18, CD8, MDSC, CAF and TAM M2.

Establishment and validation of a nomogram scoring system

A predictive nomogram was constructed using R package "rms", which consisted of risk, age and stage. The total score of each patient was calculated based on each variable matched score. The calibration plot was used to assess the predictive value between the predicted 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS rates and the actual results observed. Time-dependent ROC curves were plotted to assess the prediction of 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS by the nomogram.

Single-cell RNA-seq analysis and online website analysis

GSE111907 was used to evaluate the degree of Gln metabolism in malignant, pan-immune cells, endothelial and fibroblast cells. GSE117570, GSE131907, GSE99254 and GSE127465 were analyzed in the website scTIME Portal (http://sctime.sklehabc.com/unicellular/home) (25). The degree of Gln metabolism was calculated using ssGSEA based on 73 identified Gln metabolism-related genes.

The differential expression analysis of 10 pan-cancer genes was performed online at Gene Expression Profiling Interactive Analysis (GEPIA, http://gepia.cancer-pku.cn/).

Transcriptome sequencing

Transcriptome sequencing was performed in EPHB2-siRNA treated PC-9 cells using the Illumina NovaSeq platform with Annoroad Gene Technology. The differentially expressed genes were identified with FC > 2 and P< 0.05.

RNA extracting and real-time PCR

Following manufacturer's protocol, the total RNA of LUAD specimens or cells was extracted using the AG RNAex Pro Reagent (Accurate Biotechnology (Hunan) Co., Ltd China). The cDNA was synthesized after reverse transcription using Evo M-MLVRT Master Mix kit (Accurate Biotechnology (Hunan) Co., Ltd China). The relative gene expression was detected using the SYBR Premix Ex Tap kit (Accurate Biotechnology (Hunan)Co., Ltd China) and normalized to the expression using 18S. The primers are listed in Supplementary Table 1.

Cell culture and reagents

Human PC-9, A549 and THP-1 cell lines were purchased from Procell Life Science & Technology Co., Ltd. PC-9 and THP-1 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS, and A549 cells were maintained in F12K (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS. The cell lines were cultured at 37°C in a humidified incubator containing 5% CO₂.

EPHB2 knockdown

PC-9 cells were plated at a density of 3*10⁵ per 60 mm dish. After 24 h culture, the medium was changed to fresh medium. The PC-9 cells were transfected with EPHB2-short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) or control-siRNA purchased from TransheepBio (Shanghai, China), accompanied by jetPRIME[®] transfection reagent (PolyPlus transfection, Illkirch, France). The transfected cells were cultured for at least 24 h in 10% FBS RPMI 1640 medium. The sequences of the EPHB2 siRNA were as follows: 5'GGGAAAUACAAGGAAUAUU3' (si1), 5'CGCUUUCUAGAGGACGAUA3' (si2), 5'GGAGUUU GCCAAGGAAAUU3' (si3) and 5'GAUGAUGAUGGAGGA CAUU3' (si4).

Proliferation assay

Cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 1500 cells per well. After at least 6 hours, the first dish was fixed with 10% cold trichloroacetic acid for at least 24 hours, and the other plates were fixed every 24 hours. After washing and drying, the plates were stained with Sulforhodamine B sodium salt (SRB) (Sigma, USA) for 20 minutes and washed with 1% (vol/vol) acetic acid. After drying, 150 μ L of 10 mmol/L Tris was added and the absorbance was measured using the microplate reader (Thermo Fisher, USA) at 562 nm. The results were analyzed with GraphPad Prism 8.0.2.

Colony formation assay

Cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of 500 cells per well and cultured at 37°C for two weeks. Subsequently, the plates were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 minutes. Finally, 0.1% crystal violet was used to stain the plates. The colonies were counted with ImageJ software (Wayne Rasband, National Institutes of Health, USA).

Wound healing assay

Cells were seeded in 12-well plates and monolayers were scratched with a pipette tip until 95% confluence. The cells were subsequently photographed every 12 hours and the migrated areas were calculated using ImageJ software.

Transwell assay

Cells (4×10⁴) were seeded in the upper chamber in RPMI 1640 without FBS. The lower chamber was filled with 600 μ L of RPMI 1640 medium containing 20% FBS. After 24 hours of incubation, the cells were fixed and stained with crystal violet. The cells in the upper chamber were removed, the migrated cells were photographed and counted with ImageJ software.

THP-1 polarization

THP-1 cells were seed into 6-well plates and treat with PMA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) for 48 h. Then cells were treated with IL-4 (20 ng/ml; PeproTech) for 24h to induce M2-phenotype polarization.

Immunofluorescence (IF)

IF assay was implemented according to the methods described previously (26). The primary antibodies included EPHB2 (1:100, 2D12C6, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and CD206 (1:100,24595, Cell Signaling Technology).

Western blot analysis

Protein samples were dissolved in lithium dodecyl sulfate (LDS) sample buffer (Invitrogen). Equivalent amounts of total protein extract were separated on 10% SDS-PAGE gels (90 V for 30 min and 120 V for 60 min) and transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membranes. The transfer was carried out at 100 V for 2 h using a Bio-Rad transfer apparatus. Membranes were then blocked

for 1 h at room temperature in 5% BSA solution. Appropriate primary antibody was incubated overnight at 4°C. The primary antibodies were listed as followed: Akt, p-Akt (Ser473), ERK1/2 and p-ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) (Cell Signaling Technology, USA: 1:1000); GAPDH and EPHB2 (Santa Cruz, USA: 1:1000).

Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis of this study was performed using R-4.1.2 software. For quantitative data, the statistical significance of normally distributed variables was estimated by the Student's t-test, and non-normally distributed variables were analyzed using the Wilcoxon rank sum test. Comparisons between more than two groups were made using the Kruskal-Wallis test and one-way analysis of variance as non-parametric and parametric methods, respectively. Kaplan-Meier survival analysis was performed with the R package "Survminer". Statistical significance was set as P< 0.05.

Results

Landscape of genetic variation of Gln metabolism-related genes in LUAD

The overall design of our study is shown in the flow chart (Figure 1). Seventy-three Gln metabolism genes were identified from MSigDB and published articles. Based on univariate Cox regression analysis, 21 survival-related Gln metabolism genes were selected for further analyses (Figure 2A). A waterfall chart was plotted to show the somatic mutations of the 21 genes and the highest rate of somatic mutations in CPS1 (Figure 2B). The location of copy number variations (CNV) on chromosomes is shown in Figure 2C. The frequency of CNV amplification and deletion is displayed in Figure 2D. Differential expression analysis revealed that 13 genes were significantly upregulated in tumor, while 4 genes were downregulated (Figure 2E). The correlation network showed expression correlation between the 21 survival-related genes (Figure 2F).

Construction of distinct GlnClusters

Based on survival-related Gln metabolism genes, 513 patients with LUAD from TCGA were stratified into 4 distinct patterns, which were defined as GlnClusters (Figure 3A). PCA revealed significant differences in Gln metabolism genes between the 4 clusters (Figure 3B). Survival analysis revealed improved prognosis of patients in cluster C4 and poor overall survival in cluster C1 (Figure 3C). Most of the Gln metabolism genes were significantly upregulated in clusters C1 and C2, followed by cluster C3, which implied relatively active Gln metabolism.

Alternatively, cluster C4 showed reduced Gln metabolism with widespread low expression of Gln metabolism-related genes (Figure 3D).

We also analyzed the infiltrating immune cells and immunerelated functions in different clusters. Interestingly, the abundance of most infiltrating immune cells gradually increased from clusters C1 to C4, which was inversely proportional to the Gln metabolic activity, including various DCs (aDCs, DCs, iDCs and pDCs), mast cells, neutrophils, T helper cells and TILs (Figure 3E). Simultaneously, APC costimulation, HLA, T cell co-stimulation and type II IFN response showed trends suggesting highly active antigen presentation and antitumor immunity (Figure 3F).

Construction of geneClusters based on DEGs

The 237 DEGs among 4 GlnClusters were screened out (P value< 0.001, |logFC|>1) and intersected with GEO validating cohort. Univariate Cox regression analysis of these DEGs was performed and 35 survival-related DEGs were identified for further analysis (Figure 4A). Based on the 35 DEGs, 513 patients were divided into 3 geneClusters. Compared with geneClusters B and C, the geneCluster A exhibited significant survival disadvantage (Figure 4B). PCA analysis revealed obvious differences in dimensions between distinct geneClusters (Figure 4C). A heatmap illustrated that the DEGs were significantly different between distinct geneClusters, and most DEGs were upregulated in geneCluster A (Figure 4D). Corresponding to the survival disadvantage, geneCluster A also exhibited a lower abundance of most infiltrating immune cells and immune functions (Figures 4E, F). In summary, geneCluster A can be defined as immune "cold" phenotype.

Development and validation of a risk model

To construct a more convenient scoring model for clinical prediction, we performed Lasso regression analysis of the identified 35 survival-related DEGs and 18 Gln metabolism-related genes remained based on the minimum partial likelihood deviance (Figure 5A). Subsequently, we performed multivariate Cox regression analysis of the 18 genes based on Akaike information criterion (AIC) value and 10 Gln metabolism-related genes were finally obtained, including EPHB2, CAV2, RTN2, SCPEP1, UNC5D, FURIN, PITPNC1, CH25H, RGS20 and TSPAN11 (Figure 5B). Based on the results of multivariate Cox regression analysis, a risk model was constructed based on the formula:

Risk score =
$$\sum (Expi*coefi)$$



Coefi and Expi denote the risk coefficient and gene expression, respectively.

Based on the median of risk score in training cohort, patients with LUAD from training (TCGA) and validating (integrated GEO) cohorts were divided into low- and high-risk groups, respectively. A heatmap demonstrated a high abundance of Gln metabolism-related genes in the low-risk group, suggesting the activation of Gln metabolism (Figure 5C). The Kaplan–Meier survival curves demonstrated a significant survival advantage of patients in the low-risk group compared with patients in the high-risk group in training (Figure 5D) and validating cohorts (Figure 5F), respectively. The area under the ROC curves (AUCs) were 0.714, 0.705 and 0.685 in TCGA training cohort and 0.701, 0.674 and 0.662 in GEO validating cohort for predicting 1-, 3-, 5-year survival times, respectively, which revealed the excellent performance of the model in predicting overall survival of patients with LUAD (Figures 5E,G). Besides, an individual validating cohort with 33 LUAD patients from Shandong Province Hospital was used to validate the risk model. Consistently, patients in the low-risk group revealed a significant survival advantage, compared with high-risk group (Figure 5H). The ROC curves indicate the excellent performance of the risk score in predicting prognosis (Figure 51). Figure 5J illustrates the distribution of patients diagnosed with LUAD in four GlnClusters, three geneClusters and two risk groups. Compared with GlnClusters C1, C2 and C3, patients in



GlnCluster C4 exhibited significantly lower risk scores (Figure 5K). Patients in geneCluster A exhibited the highest risk scores, while patients in geneCluster B showed the lowest risk score (Figure 5L).

The distribution of risk scores (Supplementary Figures 1A, B), survival status (Supplementary Figures 1C, D) and gene expression (Supplementary Figures 1E, F) in training and validating cohorts are presented. PCA revealed discernible dimensions between high- and low-risk groups in training and validating cohorts, respectively (Supplementary Figures 1G, H).

TMB and drug susceptibility analysis

To investigate the correlation between risk score and TMB, Spearman correlation analysis was performed and significant positive correlation was found between risk score and TMB (R = 0.22, P< 0.001, Figure 6A). Patients in high-risk group had higher levels of TMB than in low-risk group (Figure 6B). After integrating TMB scores, patients with LUAD from TCGA were divided into four groups. Survival analysis revealed that patients with high TMB and low risk exhibited significant survival advantage, followed by the group with high TMB + low risk and low TMB + high risk, sequentially. The group with low TMB and high risk showed significant survival disadvantage (Figure 6C). The variation in the distribution of somatic mutations between low- and high-risk groups was investigated in the TCGA-LUAD cohort. Patients in high-risk group displayed significantly higher frequencies of somatic mutations compared with patients with low risk scores, especially in TP53 (53% vs 34%), TTN (49% vs 32%), MUC16 (43% vs 35%), RYR2 (40% vs 27%), CSMD3 (41% vs 26%) and LRP1B (36% vs 21%) (Figures 6D, E). We further performed drug sensitivity analysis to predict IC_{50} of 136 chemotherapy drugs (Figure 6F). Our results revealed that 84 drugs had lower IC_{50} values in the high-risk group, indicating sensitivity. Alternatively, patients in low-risk group were sensitive to 18 drugs. Together, these results provide a standard of reference for treatment stratification of patients with LUAD.

Distribution of Gln metabolism and risk scores

To determine the correlation between risk score and clinical characteristics, we evaluated the differences in risk score among different subgroups based on survival status, stage and TNM stage. Patients in alive, stage I, stage T1 and stage N0 exhibited lower risk scores compared with other groups, while there was



Distinct Gln metabolism-related patterns. (A) Consensus clustering matrix for k = 4. (B) Principal component analysis (PCA) for the transcriptome profiles of four clusters. (C) Survival analyses for four different clusters based on 513 LUAD patients from TCGA. (D) Heatmap of prognosis-related Gln metabolism regulators in four clusters. (E) The abundance of tumor infiltrating immune cells in four clusters. (F) The difference of immune functions between four clusters. "*" means that p < 0.05; "**" means that p < 0.01; "***" mea

no difference in risk score across M stages (Figures 7A-E). To further investigate the distribution of Gln metabolism, we performed ssGSEA to calculate the value of Gln metabolism based on 73 Gln-related genes identified. Similar to the risk score, dead patients had higher levels of Gln metabolism (Figure 7F). In addition, the level of Gln metabolism was significantly and positively correlated with stages T, N and M, with higher stage implying higher Gln metabolism (Figures 7G-J). We next analyzed the differences in Gln metabolism between low- and high-risk groups. The heatmap revealed significant upregulation of prognostic Gln metabolism-related genes in the high-risk group (Figure 7K). Consistently, patients with higher risk scores revealed higher levels of Gln metabolism (Figure 7L). In conclusion, Gln metabolism and risk scores were significantly correlated, and both were positively associated with malignant progression of LUAD.

Evaluation of TME and prediction of immunotherapy efficacy in high- and low-risk groups

To further investigate the functional characteristics, we performed GSVA enrichment analysis of the two groups (Figure 8A). The results showed that bile acid metabolism was significantly upregulated in the low-risk group. Alternatively, the KRAS signaling pathway was inhibited in the low-risk group. In addition, various carcinogenic pathways were activated in the high-risk group, suggesting a possible positive correlation with Gln metabolism, such as TGF- β signaling, hypoxia, glycolysis, EMT, PI3K-AKT-MTOR signaling, DNA repair, MYC signaling and E2F targets.

To further explore the correlation between risk score and TME, we analyzed the differential abundance of immune-



infiltrating cells and immune function to characterize the landscape of TME. Various immune cells involved in antigen presentation, processing and tumor killing were present at higher levels of abundance in the low-risk group, such as aDCs, B cells, DCs, iDCs, NK cells, T helper cells, Th1 cells and TIL (Figure 8B). Correspondingly, the low-risk group also showed active signaling of antigen recognition, processing and presentation, and antitumor effects, including APC co-stimulation, HLA, T cell co-stimulation and type II IFN response (Figure 8C). Besides, the low-risk group showed a higher expression of immune checkpoints, revealing possible benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) therapy. The risk score was also positively correlated with other carcinogenic pathways, such as nucleotide excision repair, DNA damage repair, mismatch repair and DNA replication (Figure 8D). A low risk score was also significantly correlated with a high immune score and ESTIMATE score, indicating increased abundance of infiltrating immune cells (Figure 8E). In summary, the lowrisk group can be defined as a "hot" immune phenotype, associated with highly infiltrated antitumor immune cells and upregulated antitumor pathways.

To further investigate the correlation between risk score and efficacy of immunotherapy, we calculated the TIDE score. Patients with a low risk exhibited higher levels of T cell dysfunction and a lower level of T cell exclusion and TIDE score (Figure 8F). We further evaluated the association between the expression of each gene and several immunotherapy-related features, including T cell dysfunction, ICB response outcome, phenotypes in genetic screens and cell types promoting T cell exclusion (Figure 8G). Higher IPS was also exhibited by patients in the low-risk group compared with those in the high-risk



group, which indicated that patients with a low-risk score were more sensitive to immunotherapy (Figures 8H–K). To fully validate the accuracy of risk score in predicting the efficacy of immunotherapy, multiple independent immunotherapy cohorts in the published literature were used to validate immunotherapy efficacy and prognosis. Melanoma treated with adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) (Figures 9A–C), melanoma treated with pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 antibody (Figures 9D–F), melanoma treated with anti-CTLA4 and ant-PD1 therapy (Figures 9G–I), NSCLC treated with nivolumab or pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 antibody (Figures 9J–L), advanced urothelial cancer treated with atezolizumab, an anti-PD-L1 antibody (Figures 9M–O) were used to validate the performance of risk score in predicting prognosis and efficacy of immunotherapy. Patients with a low-risk score were more sensitive to immunotherapy (Figures 9A, D, G, J, M). Further, patients in the low-risk group had a significant survival advantage compared with those in the high-risk group (Figures 9B, E, H, K, N), and the predictive performance was tested using ROC curves (Figures 9C, F, I, L, O). The response to anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA4 therapy was calculated using the TIDE website based on TCGA cohort (Figures 9P–S). Patients in the low-risk group were established as responders to immunotherapy (Figures 9P, Q). By contrast, patients in the high-risk group were shown to be less likely to benefit from anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA4 immunotherapy (Figures 9R, S).



Prognostic validation of risk score in pan-cancer

To further validate the performance of risk score in predicting prognosis of other tumors, we performed a survival analysis of patients in the high- and low-risk groups involving 32 types of tumors in TCGA other than LUAD (Figure 10A). Patients in the low-risk group had a significant survival advantage in 22 tumors, including bladder urothelial carcinoma (BCLA, p = 0.001), cervical squamous cell carcinoma and endocervical adenocarcinoma (CESC, p = 0.004), cholangiocarcinoma (CHOL, p = 0.017), colon adenocarcinoma (COAD, p = 0.001), lymphoid neoplasm diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBC, p = 0.02), glioblastoma multiforme (GBM, p = 0.003), head and neck


squamous cell carcinoma (HNSC, p< 0.001), kidney renal clear cell carcinoma (KIRC, p< 0.001), kidney renal papillary cell carcinoma (KIRP, p< 0.001), acute myeloid leukemia (AML, p = 0.007), brain lower grade glioma (LGG, p< 0.001), liver hepatocellular carcinoma (LIHC, p<0.001), mesothelioma (MESO, p = 0.005), pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PAAD, p< 0.001), pheochromocytoma (PCPG, p = 0.013), sarcoma (SARC, p = 0.002), skin cutaneous melanoma (SKCM, p< 0.001), thyroid carcinoma (THCA, p = 0.003), thymoma (THYM, p = 0.022), uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma (UCEC, p< 0.001), uterine carcinosarcoma (UCS, p = 0.017) and uveal melanoma (UVM, p< 0.001). The ROC curves were performed to evaluate the prognostic performance of pan-cancer risk scores (Supplementary Figure 2). The AUC values are presented in Figure 10B.

Development of a nomogram to predict survival

Considering the inconvenience of risk score in predicting OS in patients with LUAD, a nomogram was developed to predict 1-

, 3-, and 5-year OS rates by integrating the risk score, age and clinicopathological parameters (Figure 11A). The performance of the constructed nomogram in TCGA-LUAD cohort was comparable to an ideal model (Figure 11B). We further constructed ROC curves to evaluate the performance of nomogram, risk, stage and age in predicting 1-, 3- and 5-year OS (Figures 11C-E). The nomogram always showed the best performance in predicting the 1-, 3- and 5-year OS rates, followed by risk and stage.

Analysis of Gln metabolism at the level of single cell

To investigate the differences in Gln metabolic activity of various cell types in LUAD, we performed an in-depth analysis of public single-cell sequencing data of lung cancer. We developed a heatmap to present the expression of Gln metabolism-related genes in four types of major cells that constitute the TME, including flow-sorted malignant cells, endothelial cells, immune cells and fibroblasts (Figure 12A). Gln metabolism-related genes were most significantly



Characteristic of TME between low- and high-risk group. (A) GSVA enrichment analyses based on the Hallmarker gene sets showed the states of biological processes in low- and high-risk groups. (B) The abundance of tumor infiltrating immune cells in low- and high-risk groups. (C) The difference of immune functions between low- and high-risk groups. (D) Correlation between risk score and tumor-related functions. (E) Differences of ESTIMATE score, stromal score and immune score between low- and high-risk score. (F) Differences of T cell dysfunction, exclusion and TIDE in low- and high-risk score. (G) Enrichment of 10 selected genes in T cell dysfunction level, ICB response outcome, phenotypes in genetic screens and cell types promoting T cell exclusion. Difference of IPS with CTLA4- and PD-1+ (H), CTLA4- and PD-1+ (K) between low- and high-risk group. "*" means that p < 0.05; "**" means that p < 0.01; "***"

upregulated in malignant cells, followed by fibroblasts, while the lowest expression of Gln metabolism was observed in immune cells (Figure 12A). The ssGSEA revealed the highest level of Gln metabolism in malignant cells, and the least activity of Gln metabolism in infiltrating immune cells (Figure 12B).

To further investigate the differences in Gln metabolism of infiltrating immune cells in the TME, 208506 lung



FIGURE 9

Prediction of immunotherapy efficacy by the risk model. Response to ACT (A), survival analyses (B) and ROC curves of predicting prognosis (C) between low- and high-risk groups in melanoma cohort (GSE100797). Response to anti-PD-1 therapy (D), survival analyses (E) and ROC curves of predicting prognosis (F) between low- and high-risk groups in melanoma cohort (GSE78220). Response to anti-CTLA4 and ant-PD1 therapy (G), survival analyses (H) and ROC curves of predicting prognosis (I) between low- and high-risk groups in melanoma cohort (GSE91061). Response to anti-PD-1 therapy (J), survival analyses (K) and ROC curves of predicting prognosis (L) between low- and high-risk groups in NSCLC cohort (GSE126044). Response to anti-PD-L1 therapy (M), survival analyses (N) and ROC curves of predicting prognosis (O) between low- and high-risk groups in advanced urothelial cancer cohort (IMvigor210 cohort). (P) Difference of responder between low- and high-risk group of LUAD in TCGA. (Q) Difference of risk score between responder and non-responder of LUAD in TCGA. (R) Difference of benefits between low- and high-risk group of LUAD in TCGA. (S) Difference of risk score between benefit and no benefit of LUAD in TCGA.





adenocarcinoma cells from 58 specimens were clustered and defined into 10 cell types, including B lymphocytes, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, mast cells, myeloid cells, NK cells, oligodendrocytes, T lymphocytes, and undetermined cells (Figure 12C). Cell type fraction of each sample is presented in Figure 12D. A heatmap was plotted to show the expression of key regulators of Gln metabolism (Figure 12E). Compared with other cells, T lymphocytes exhibited the most active Gln metabolism. To further validate our findings, 9705 NSCLC cells from GSE117570 were also clustered and defined (Figure 12F). Cell composition is presented in Figure 12G. Consistently, the key regulators of Gln metabolism were significantly overexpressed in a variety of T cells, revealing a relatively active Gln metabolism in infiltrating T cells (Figure 12H). Subsequently, we used single-cell sequencing data of T cells (GSE99254) to investigate the heterogeneity of Gln metabolism in various types of T cells in NSCLC (Figure 12I). Based on ssGSEA, exhausted CD8 T cells (C6-LAYN) and suppressive Tregs (C9-CTLA4) were shown to express the most active Gln metabolism compared with other

T cells (Figure 12J). Interestingly, exhausted CD8 T cells and suppressive Tregs are also key target cells for immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) therapy.

EPHB2 affects the biological behaviors of LUAD cells *in vitro*

We performed differential expression analysis of the 10 genes in pan-cancer risk score (Supplementary Figure 3). Among the 10 genes, EPHB2 showed the most significant difference between normal and tumor cells of all cancers and was significantly overexpressed in tumors. However, the biological role of EPHB2 in LUAD was rarely studied. We subsequent performed a series of experiments to elucidate the role of EPHB2 in LUAD.

The expression of EPHB2 in 22 LUAD specimens and 11 normal specimens was detected and EPHB2 was highly expressed in LUAD specimens (Figure 13A). Patients with high expression of EPHB2 showed worse overall survivals compared with low EPHB2 group (Figure 13B).

148



FIGURE 12

Characteristic of Gln metabolism in TME. (A) Expression of identified Gln metabolism regulators in malignant cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts and pan-immune cells. (B) Difference of Gln metabolism levels in malignant cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts and pan-immune cells. (C) The distribution of immune cell clusters in UMAP plot of GSE131907. (D) Cell type fraction of each sample in GSE131907. (E) Expression of key Gln metabolism regulators in immune cells of GSE131907. (F) The distribution of immune cell clusters in UMAP plot of GSE131907. (F) The distribution of immune cells of GSE117570. (G) Cell type fraction of each sample in GSE117570. (I) The distribution of T cell clusters in UMAP plot. (J) Level of Gln metabolism in 16 distinct T cells. "**" means that p < 0.01; ""***" means that p < 0.001; no significance.



FIGURE 13

EPHB2 affects the biological behaviors of LUAD cells *in vitro*. (A) Expression of EPHB2 in normal and tumor specimens. (B) Survival analyses between low and high EPHB2 groups in LUAD cohorts. Expression of EPHB2 with treatment of Gln-replete and Gln-deprived in A549 cell line (C) and PC-9 cell line (D). (E) QRT-PCR was performed to detect the efficiency of EPHB2-siRNA transfection. (F) Growth curves of PC-9 cells treated with EPHB2 knockdown was developed using SRB assay. (G) Colony formation assay was conducted to detect the proliferation of PC-9 cells. (H) Transwell assay was performed to detect the invasion of PC-9 cells with treatment of EPHB2 knockdown. (I) The cell migration of EPHB2 knockdown was detected by wound healing assay in PC-9 cells. (J) Expression of PD-L1 with treatment of Gln-replete medium, Gln-deprived medium for 12h and Gln-deprived medium for 24h. (K) A volcano map to exhibit differential expressed genes between normal and EPHB2 knockdown treated PC-9 cells. (L) GO and KEGG enrichment analysis between normal and EPHB2 knockdown treated PC-9 cells. (Ser473), ERK1/2, P-ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) were detected by western blotting in EPHB2 knockdown treated PC-9 cells. (N) Expression of key Gln metabolism regulators in normal and si-EPHB2 treated PC-9 cells. "*" means that p < 0.001; "***" means that p < 0.01;

To validate the association between EPHB2 and Gln metabolism, we used Gln-deprived/replete medium to culture A549 and PC-9 cells. The expression of EPHB2 was significantly downregulated by Gln-deprived medium in A549 and PC9 (Figures 13C, D). We further designed siRNA for EPHB2 knockdown and transfected siRNA into PC9 cells. The siRNA-1 and siRNA-4 were selected for further investigation due to the greater than 70% transfection efficiency (Figure 13E). The SRB assay was performed to test the cell proliferation, and the knockdown of EPHB2 significantly inhibited the proliferation of PC9 cells (Figure 13F). The number of cell clones was decreased in PC9 cells with EPHB2 knockdown (Figure 13G). Transwell assay was performed to investigate the cell invasion: EPHB2 knockdown significantly reduced the invasion of PC9 cells (Figure 13H). EPHB2 knockdown also promoted migration of PC9 cells in wound healing assay (Figure 13I). In conclusion, knockdown of EPHB2 significantly inhibited cell proliferation, migration and invasion. In addition, surprisingly, the removal of Gln significantly upregulated the PD-L1 expression of PC9 cells, which may indicate the potential therapeutic role of combining Gln metabolism inhibitors with PD-L1 inhibitors (Figure 13J).

To explore the regulation of downstream signaling by EPHB2, we knocked down EPHB2 in PC9 cells, followed by transcriptome sequencing, which revealed 565 DEGs, which were screened out with FC > 2 and P< 0.05, including 296 upregulated genes and 269 downregulated genes (Figure 13K). GO and KEGG enrichment analysis was performed to identified regulated pathways (Figure 13L). EPHB2 was mainly associated with cell communication, cellular metabolic process, regulation of immune, regulation of cell death, cytokine-mediated signaling pathway, response to amino acids, TNF signaling pathway, MAPK pathway and regulation of IL-1ß and IL-8 production (Figure 13L). Simultaneously, AKT pathway and ERK pathway were verified to be down-regulated when EPHB2 was knocked out, suggesting that EPHB2 is involved in the regulation of these pathways (Figure 13M). Besides, 11 key Gln metabolism-related genes were downregulated after treating with EPHB2 knockdown (Figure 13N). In particular, the key regulators of Gln metabolism, SLC7A7, GLS, ALDH5A1 and GLUL were significantly downregulated, which indicated significant correlation between EPHB2 and Gln metabolism.

Effect of EPHB2 on infiltrating immune cells of TME

To investigate the expression and role of EPHB2 in immune cells, we selected single cell sequencing data of NSCLCs (GSE127465) for further analysis by clustering and defining 53215 cells into 21 types using algorithm Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection (UMAP) (Figure 14A). EPHB2 was found to be mainly enriched in M0 and M2 macrophages, especially in M2 macrophages, suggesting that EPHB2 may

function mainly in macrophages (Figure 14B). The cell type fraction of each sample is shown in Figure 14C, with M2 constituting almost the highest proportion. We further analyzed the correlation between EPHB2 expression in M0/M2 and the composition of infiltrating immune cells. The expression of EPHB2 in M0 macrophages was significantly and positively correlated with abundance of infiltrating M2 macrophages, which indicated that EPHB2 may be involved in the polarization of M2 macrophages (Figure 14D). Besides, the expression of EPHB2 in M2 macrophages was negatively correlated with the abundance of activated NK cells and resting NK cells (Figures 14E, F). These results suggest that EPHB2 may be associated with cell communication between M2 macrophages and NK cells. The interaction network of infiltrating immune cells showed that M2 macrophages exhibited the most extensive interactions with other immune cells (Figure 14G). The ligand-receptor interaction between M2 macrophages and activated NK cells is presented in Figure 14H. Similarly, the ligand-receptor interaction between M2 macrophages and resting NK cells was also investigated (Figure 14I). To verify the distribution of EPHB2 in macrophages M0 and M2, we induced THP-1 cells into macrophages M0 and M2, and detected the expression of EPHB2 by qPCR (Figure 14J). Compared with M0 macrophages, M2 macrophages showed a significant upregulation of EPHB2, accompanied by significant upregulation of the markers of M2. We further used Glndeprived medium to culture M0 and M2 macrophages and found that Gln deprivation significantly downregulated EPHB2 expression in M0 macrophages, but did not affect the expression in M2 macrophages (Figure 14K). Besides, we also found that EPHB2 was significantly co-expressed with the M2 macrophage marker CD206 in LUAD tissues via immunofluorescence (Figure 14L). These results suggest that EPHB2 also plays a huge role in macrophages.

Discussion

Although targeting cancer metabolism to enhance immunotherapy responsiveness is highly promising, the heterogeneity and crosstalk of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and immune cells in TME lead to disruption of normal metabolic pathways in immune cells by strategies to inhibit/alter cancer metabolism (27). Therefore, it is critical to target the appropriate metabolic pathways and molecules to kill tumors without interfering with or even promoting anti-tumor immunity. However, recent studies have shown that JHU083, a broad-spectrum inhibitor of Gln metabolism, effectively kills tumor cells while activating the anti-tumor effects of CD8+ T cells, thereby significantly enhancing the efficacy of anti-PD-1 immunotherapy (15). Meanwhile, another study reported that targeting Gln metabolism increased antitumor immunity in



FIGURE 14

Effect of EPHB2 on infiltrating immune cells of TME. (A) The distribution of immune cell clusters in UMAP plot. (B) The expression of EPHB2 in distinct clusters of immune cells. (C) Cell type fraction of each sample. (D) Correlation analysis between expression of EPHB2 in macrophages M0 and composition of infiltrating macrophages M2. Correlation analysis between expression of EPHB2 in macrophages M2 and composition of infiltrating activated NK cells (E) and resting NK cells (F). (G) Correlation network between tumor infiltrating immune cells. (H) The ligand-receptor interaction between macrophages M2 and activated NK cells. (I) The ligand-receptor interaction between macrophages M2 and resting NK cells. (J) Expression of EPHB2 and macrophages M2 markers in macrophages M0 and M2. (K) Expression of EPHB2 in normal macrophages M0, M2 and Gln-deprived macrophages M0, M2. (L) Co-localization between EPHB2 and CD206 detected by IF in LUAD specimen. "**" means that p < 0.01; "****" means that p < 0.001; ns, no significance.

mouse models by upregulating mitochondrial metabolism of CTLs in NSCLC (28, 29). These studies make Gln metabolism an ideal target for improving tumor immunotherapy, but related multi-omics systematic studies are still extremely rare in LUAD and even in other tumors.

Herein, we first defined four patterns based on prognosisrelated regulators of Gln metabolism. The four clusters exhibited significantly different prognostic features, Gln metabolism and TME. The immune phenotype gradually changes from "cold" to "hot" sequentially, from clusters C1 to C4, accompanied by an upregulation of the abundance of infiltrating immune cells and activation of the anti-tumor immune pathway. Notably, the "hot" immune phenotype in different clusters is often associated with a survival advantage and low levels of Gln metabolism. Gln is a common metabolic substrate in tumor and immune cells (9), and therefore tumor cells can reduce the anti-tumor effect of Gln-dependent immune cells, such as T cells and DCs, by competing for and depleting Gln. Gln metabolism was shown to mediate the activation of DCs, and coincidentally, low levels of Gln metabolism and highly enriched DCs were present concurrently in cluster C4, followed by upregulation of APC co-stimulation and HLA. These suggest activation of the antigen presenting pathway, which may contribute to the significant upregulation of TIL and T cell co-stimulation in cluster C4. Based on DEGs, patients with LUAD were further classified into three geneClusters. Similar to the previous clusters, the immune phenotype also showed a transition from "cold" to "hot" from geneClusters A to C, and exhibited a similar TME landscape. In addition to DCs, various helper T cells exhibited significant differences, including Th1 and Th2 cells. Studies have shown that Gln deficiency alters Th1 differentiation and converts CD4+ T cells to a Treg phenotype (30). In addition, genetic deletion of the Gln transporter protein ASCT2 impaired Th1 production and function (31). In the group with low Gln metabolism, CD4+ T cells may acquire additional Gln and thus promote Th1 cell differentiation and activation. Th1 mediates anti-tumor immunity mainly by expressing CD40L and secreting cytokines such as INFy and IL-2 to recruit and activate macrophages and cytotoxic T cells, which may be involved in the upregulation of TIL, macrophages and type II IFN response in geneCluster C (32). In addition, we found that low Gln metabolism in tumors may drive the Th1/Th2 balance toward Th1, which favored anti-tumor immunity (33).

Based on prognosis-related DEGs, we developed a risk score and divided patients with LUAD into low- and high-risk groups. Similarly, the low-risk group was defined as "hot" immunophenotype, corresponding to a survival advantage and lower levels of Gln metabolism, while the high-risk group showed the opposite effect. In the low-risk group, the low levels of tumor Gln metabolism may imply a weaker competitive depletion of Gln, thus allowing immune cells to acquire further Gln and activate anti-tumor effects, which may explain the upregulation of anti-tumor immune cells or pathways such as DCs, TIL, Th1 cells, NK cells, APC co-stimulation, T-cell co-stimulation and type II IFN response. "Hot" immune phenotype was shown to benefit strongly from immunotherapy, which was also validated by the levels of immune checkpoints, TIDE, IPS and immunotherapy cohorts. Patients in low-risk group benefited significantly from immunotherapy, especially following ACT therapy of melanoma cohort and anti-PD-1 antibody treatment of NSCLC cohort. Deletion of glutaminase enhanced the effector differentiation of CAR-T cells (34). Alternatively, no further studies are available to demonstrate that Gln metabolic blockade improves the efficacy of ACT therapy. Although extensive blockade of Gln metabolism has been shown to significantly enhance the efficacy of anti-PD-1 therapy, corresponding studies in LUAD are still lacking. Therefore, the constructed risk model not only facilitates the differentiation of the efficacy of immunotherapy, but also provides an important reference for Gln blockade combined with immunotherapy. In addition, the risk model was used to significantly differentiate patient prognosis in 23 different cancers, indicating the generalizability of the model.

Gln metabolism was shown to be involved in multiple cancer progression as shown in our study. Gln metabolism was significantly and positively correlated with TNM and stage (Figures 7G-J). We performed single-cell sequencing analysis to describe the landscape of Gln metabolism in TME. Consistent with previous results, tumor cells exhibited significantly activated Gln metabolism compared with immune cells or fibroblasts. However, in two independent single-cell sequencing analyses of LUAD, T cells exhibited relatively higher active Gln metabolism compared with other immune cells. Although Gln metabolism has been reported to be involved in T cell differentiation and activation, the landscape of Gln metabolism in tumor-infiltrating T cells remains elusive (30). Therefore, we further extracted and analyzed single-cell sequencing data targeting lung cancer-infiltrating T cells. Surprisingly, exhausted CD8 T cells and suppressive Tregs exhibited the most active Gln metabolism compared with other 14 types of T cells, and represent key target cells in anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA4 immunotherapy, respectively (35, 36). These results suggest the feasibility of utilizing Gln metabolism inhibitors combined with immunotherapy. Indeed, due to the robust plasticity of T cell metabolism, the blockade of Gln metabolism increases T cell proliferative capacity and anticancer activity, in addition to preventing exhaustion via T cell metabolic reprogramming (15).

To further characterize the genes used in the model, we performed differential pan-cancer analysis, showing that EPHB2 is most differentially and highly expressed in the vast majority of tumors (Supplementary Figure 3). EphB2 is a significant member of the Eph receptor family, which has been verified to regulate the

10.3389/fimmu.2022.960738

malignant progression of various tumors through different signaling pathways. In hepatocellular carcinoma, EPHB2 enhances cancer stem cell properties and drive sorafenib resistance by activating SRC/AKT/GSK3B/B-catenin signaling cascade. Moreover, EPHB2 mediated malignant progression of medulloblastoma by regulating ERK, P38 and mTOR pathway (37, 38). Although studies have shown that EPHB2 is involved in the malignant progression of various cancers, its role in LUAD has yet to be investigated (37). In the present study, we found that EPHB2 was closely associated with malignant progression of LUAD, promoting proliferation, invasion and migration of LUAD cells. Simultaneously, EPHB2 has been verified to be involved in the regulation of AKT pathway and ERK pathway, which may be the potential mechanism for promoting the malignant progression of LUAD by EPHB2. Interestingly, Gln deprivation significantly downregulated EPHB2 expression, and knockdown of EPHB2 in turn downregulated key regulators of Gln metabolism, such as GLS, GLUL, SLC7A7 and GLUD1. Meanwhile, the results of enrichment analysis after transcriptome sequencing showed that EPHB2 was associated with cellular metabolic regulation and response to amino acid stimulus. Therefore, we speculate that EPHB2 may be involved in the Gln metabolic pathway, which has yet to be reported.

Based on transcriptome sequencing analysis, EPHB2 was also significantly associated with cell communication and immune regulation. Although previous studies reported that EPHB2 promoted monocyte activation and T-cell migration, studies investigating the regulation of tumor immunity by EPHB2 are still unavailable (39, 40). In our study, we found that EPHB2 was mainly enriched in macrophages, especially in M2 types. EPHB2 expression in M0 macrophages enhanced the levels of M2 macrophages, and the expression of EPHB2 in M2 macrophages reduced the composition of activated and resting NK cells (Figure 14). These results suggest that EPHB2 may promote M2like polarization and also mediate the interactions between M2 macrophages and NK cells, which in turn suppress NK cell infiltration or proliferation. Previous studies revealed that the expression of EPHB2 was significantly correlated with transdifferentiation of monocytes into macrophages by upregulating CCL2 and IL-8 (40). However, no previous study explored the function of EPHB2 in M2 macrophages, which was precisely the focus of our study. Previous research revealed that Gln metabolism positively regulated M2-like polarization of macrophage, which may be the potential mechanism of regulating M2-like polarization by EPHB2 (13).

However, our study did not elucidate the mechanism of EPHB2 in LUAD cells and M2 macrophages, which will be addressed in future studies.

In conclusion, based on the regulators of Gln metabolism, we finally constructed a Gln metabolism-related risk model to

accurately predict the prognosis of patients with LUAD and even multiple cancers as well as the efficacy of multiple immunotherapies. In addition, we described the Gln metabolism of cells in TME at the single-cell level. Finally, EPHB2, a Gln metabolism-related molecule in the model was shown to promote the malignant progression of LUAD cells and also play an essential role in M2 macrophages.

Data availability statement

The data presented in the study are deposited in the GEO repository, accession number GSE209973.

Ethics statement

Our research obtained approval from Biomedical Research Ethic Committee of Shandong Provincial Hospital (SWYX: NO.2022-262).

Author contributions

JD contributed to the designing and supervising the study, and correspondence. Co-authors JL and HS analyzed the data and completed the manuscript. WG, HZ, YW, and GM helped to search for references and offered guidelines of statistical methods. All authors have read and approved the final version to be published.

Funding

This work is supported by Natural Science Foundation of Shandong Province (Grant No. ZR2020QH215) and Clinical Medicine Science and Technology Innovation Plan of Jinan (Grant No. 202134042).

Acknowledgments

We expressed our sincere thanks to the research groups of Prof. Xin Gao (State Key Laboratory of Experimental Hematology, National Clinical Research Center for Blood Diseases, Institute of Hematology and Blood Diseases Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Tianjin, China) for providing help with single-cell sequencing analysis.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel R, Torre L, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68(6):394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492

2. Sivakumar S, Lucas F, McDowell T, Lang W, Xu L, Fujimoto J, et al. Genomic landscape of atypical adenomatous hyperplasia reveals divergent modes to lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77(22):6119–30. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1605

3. Topalian S, Taube J, Anders R, Pardoll D. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2016) 16 (5):275–87. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.36

4. Topalian S, Hodi F, Brahmer J, Gettinger S, Smith D, McDermott D, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *The New Eng J Med.* (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200690

5. Vander Heiden M, DeBerardinis R. Understanding the intersections between metabolism and cancer biology. *Cell* (2017) 168(4):657-69. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.12.039

6. DeBerardinis R, Chandel N. Fundamentals of cancer metabolism. *Sci Adv* (2016) 2(5):e1600200. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600200

7. Pavlova N, Thompson C. The emerging hallmarks of cancer metabolism. *Cell Metab* (2016) 23(1):27–47. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006

8. Bader J, Voss K, Rathmell J. Targeting metabolism to improve the tumor microenvironment for cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Cell* (2020) 78(6):1019–33. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2020.05.034

9. Lukey M, Katt W, Cerione R. Targeting amino acid metabolism for cancer therapy. *Drug Discovery Today* (2017) 22(5):796-804. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2016.12.003

10. Ananieva E. Targeting amino acid metabolism in cancer growth and antitumor immune response. *World J Biol Chem* (2015) 6(4):281–9. doi: 10.4331/ wjbc.v6.i4.281

11. Ivashkiv L. Epigenetic regulation of macrophage polarization and function. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34(5):216–23. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2012.11.001

12. O'Neill L, Pearce E. Immunometabolism governs dendritic cell and macrophage function. J Exp Med (2016) 213(1):15–23. doi: 10.1084/jem.20151570

13. Liu P, Wang H, Li X, Chao T, Teav T, Christen S, et al. α -ketoglutarate orchestrates macrophage activation through metabolic and epigenetic reprogramming. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(9):985–94. doi: 10.1038/ni.3796

14. Araujo L, Khim P, Mkhikian H, Mortales C, Demetriou M. Glycolysis and glutaminolysis cooperatively control T cell function by limiting metabolite supply to n-glycosylation. *eLife* (2017) 6. doi: 10.7554/eLife.21330

15. Leone R, Zhao L, Englert J, Sun I, Oh M, Sun I, et al. Glutamine blockade induces divergent metabolic programs to overcome tumor immune evasion. *Sci* (*New York NY*) (2019) 366(6468):1013–21. doi: 10.1126/science.aav2588

16. Charoentong P, Finotello F, Angelova M, Mayer C, Efremova M, Rieder D, et al. Pan-cancer immunogenomic analyses reveal genotype-immunophenotype relationships and predictors of response to checkpoint blockade. *Cell Rep* (2017) 18 (1):248–62. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.019

17. Mariathasan S, Turley S, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGF β attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. *Nature* (2018) 554(7693):544–8. doi: 10.1038/nature25501

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2022.960738/full#supplementary-material

18. Chakraborty H, Hossain A. R package to estimate intracluster correlation coefficient with confidence interval for binary data. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* (2018) 155:85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2017.10.023

19. Fu J, Li K, Zhang W, Wan C, Zhang J, Jiang P, et al. Large-Scale public data reuse to model immunotherapy response and resistance. *Genome Med* (2020) 12 (1):21. doi: 10.1186/s13073-020-0721-z

20. Lauss M, Donia M, Harbst K, Andersen R, Mitra S, Rosengren F, et al. Mutational and putative neoantigen load predict clinical benefit of adoptive T cell therapy in melanoma. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):1738. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01460-0

21. Hugo W, Zaretsky J, Sun L, Song C, Moreno B, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. *Cell* (2016) 165(1):35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.065

22. Riaz N, Havel J, Makarov V, Desrichard A, Urba W, Sims J, et al. Tumor and microenvironment evolution during immunotherapy with nivolumab. *Cell* (2017) 171(4):934–49.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.028

23. Cho J, Hong M, Ha S, Kim Y, Cho B, Lee I, et al. Genome-wide identification of differentially methylated promoters and enhancers associated with response to anti-PD-1 therapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *Exp Mol Med* (2020) 52(9):1550–63. doi: 10.1038/s12276-020-00493-8

24. Necchi A, Joseph R, Loriot Y, Hoffman-Censits J, Perez-Gracia J, Petrylak D, et al. Atezolizumab in platinum-treated locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma: post-progression outcomes from the phase II IMvigor210 study. *Ann Oncol* (2017) 28(12):3044–50. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx518

25. Hong F, Meng Q, Zhang W, Zheng R, Li X, Cheng T, et al. Single-cell analysis of the pan-cancer immune microenvironment and scTIME portal. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2021) 9(8):939–51. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-20-1026

26. Zhou L, Fan R, Luo Y, Zhang C, Jia D, Wang R, et al. A metabolism-related gene landscape predicts prostate cancer recurrence and treatment response. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:837991. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.837991

27. Martínez-Reyes I, Chandel N. Cancer metabolism: looking forward. Nat Rev Cancer (2021) 21(10):669–80. doi: 10.1038/s41568-021-00378-6

28. Vardhana S, Hwee M, Berisa M, Wells D, Yost K, King B, et al. Impaired mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation limits the self-renewal of T cells exposed to persistent antigen. *Nat Immunol* (2020) 21(9):1022–33. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0725-2

29. Scharping N, Rivadeneira D, Menk A, Vignali P, Ford B, Rittenhouse N, et al. Mitochondrial stress induced by continuous stimulation under hypoxia rapidly drives T cell exhaustion. *Nat Immunol* (2021) 22(2):205–15. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-00834-9

30. O'Neill L, Kishton R, Rathmell J. A guide to immunometabolism for immunologists. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16(9):553-65. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.70

31. Nakaya M, Xiao Y, Zhou X, Chang J, Chang M, Cheng X, et al. Inflammatory T cell responses rely on amino acid transporter ASCT2 facilitation of glutamine uptake and mTORC1 kinase activation. *Immunity* (2014) 40(5):692– 705. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.04.007

32. Romagnani S. Type 1 T helper and type 2 T helper cells: functions, regulation and role in protection and disease. *Int J Clin Lab Res* (1991) 21 (2):152-8. doi: 10.1007/BF02591635

33. Hirahara K, Nakayama T. CD4+ T-cell subsets in inflammatory diseases: beyond the Th1/Th2 paradigm. *Int Immunol* (2016) 28(4):163–71. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxw006

34. Johnson M, Wolf M, Madden M, Andrejeva G, Sugiura A, Contreras D, et al. Distinct regulation of Th17 and Th1 cell differentiation by glutaminase-dependent metabolism. *Cell* (2018) 175(7):1780–95.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.001

35. Tang F, Du X, Liu M, Zheng P, Liu Y. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies in cancer immunotherapy: selective depletion of intratumoral regulatory T cells or checkpoint blockade? *Cell Biosci* (2018) 8:30. doi: 10.1186/s13578-018-0229-z

36. Thommen D, Schumacher T. T Cell dysfunction in cancer. Cancer Cell (2018) 33(4):547–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.012

37. Liu W, Yu C, Li J, Fang J. The roles of EphB2 in cancer. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2022) 10:788587. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2022.788587

38. Bhatia S, Hirsch K, Bukkapatnam S, Baig N, Oweida A, Griego A, et al. Combined EphB2 receptor knockdown with radiation decreases cell viability and invasion in medulloblastoma. *Cancer Cell Int* (2017) 17:41. doi: 10.1186/s12935-017-0409-7

39. Alfaro D, Muñoz J, García-Ceca J, Cejalvo T, Jiménez E, Zapata A. Alterations in the thymocyte phenotype of EphB-deficient mice largely affect the double negative cell compartment. *Immunology* (2008) 125(1):131–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02828.x

40. Braun J, Hoffmann S, Feldner A, Ludwig T, Henning R, Hecker M, et al. Endothelial cell ephrinB2-dependent activation of monocytes in arteriosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis Vasc Biol* (2011) 31(2):297–305. doi: 10.1161/ ATVBAHA.110.217646

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Wenjie Shi, Pius-Hospital Oldenburg, Germany Mingxin Yu, China Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Jing Chen angelcq@zju.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 30 June 2022 ACCEPTED 27 July 2022 PUBLISHED 16 August 2022

CITATION

Chen J, Wu L, Yang H, Zhang X, Xv S and Qian Q (2022) Establishment of three heterogeneous subtypes and a risk model of low-grade gliomas based on cell senescence-related genes. *Front. Immunol.* 13:982033. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.982033

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen, Wu, Yang, Zhang, Xv and Qian. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Establishment of three heterogeneous subtypes and a risk model of low-grade gliomas based on cell senescencerelated genes

Jing Chen^{1*†}, Lingjiao Wu^{2†}, Hanjin Yang³, XiaoChen Zhang¹, SuZhen Xv¹ and Qiong Qian¹

¹Department of Medical Oncology, The First Affiliated Hospital of College of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, ²Collaborative Innovation Center for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, State Key Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital, College of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, ³Department of Pathology, The First Affiliated Hospital of College of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

Background: Cellular senescence is a key element in the occurrence and progression of a variety of tumors. As a result, cellular senescence-related markers can be categorized based on the prognosis status of patients. Due to the heterogeneity and the complexity of the tumor microenvironment (TME), the long-term effectiveness of low-grade glioma (LGG) treatment remains a clinical challenge. Consequently, developing and refining effective treatment approaches to aid with LGG management is critical.

Methods: Based on the expressions of cell senescence-related genes (CSRGs) acquired from the cellAge database, consensus clustering was utilized to identify stable molecular subtypes. Clinical features, immune infiltration, route modifications, and genetic changes of various subtypes were also assessed. Following that, the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression and univariate Cox regression analysis were used for developing the cell senescence-related risk score (CSRS) model. Finally, a correlation study of the CSRS model with molecular, immunological, and immunotherapy parameters was performed.

Results: C1, C2, and C3, are the three senescence-related subtypes that were identified. Patients belonging to the C1 subtype had poor prognoses and a substantial proportion of them was in the grade G3. The differentially expressed genes (DEGs) among the three subtypes were used to develop the CSRS model. In both the training and independent validation cohort, the model had a high area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve in predicting the overall survival (OS) of patients. As a result, this model can predict clinical features and responses to immunotherapy in a variety of patients and it is a potential independent prognostic factor for LGG.

Conclusion: This research discovered three LGG subtypes related to cell senescence and created a CSRS model for six genes. Cell senescence was highly associated with unfavorable prognosis in LGG. The CSRS model can be used to predict the prognosis of patients and identify patients who would benefit from immunotherapy.

KEYWORDS

low-grade glioma, cell senescence, tumor microenvironment, molecular subtypes, prognostic model

Introduction

Low-grade glioma (LGG) is a common central nervous system tumor that typically consists of World Health Organization grades II and III and is less malignant than glioblastoma (GBM) (1). LGG has recently been shown to have molecular traits that can help with diagnosis and treatment. IDH1, IDH2, TP53, EGFR, and ATRX mutations, 1p/19q co-deletion, and MGMT promoter methylation are all known prognostic markers for LGG patients. These genetic characteristics, on the other hand, are unable to accurately predict survival outcomes. Despite advancements in LGG therapies such as surgical resection, adjuvant chemotherapy, postoperative radiation, and immunotherapy (2), patients with LGG still have a low overall survival rate. Therefore, studying the underlying molecular mechanisms of LGG initiation and progression for identifying effective biomarkers is crucial to optimizing LGG diagnosis and treatment regimes.

Cell senescence is a sustained proliferative arrest hallmarked by changes in cell shape, gene expression, heterochromatin formation, and metabolic activity caused by excessive stressinducing stimuli (3). Following the identification of various cell senescence-related markers, cellular senescence has been detected in several malignancies in recent years. Cell senescence serves two purposes. On the one hand, because their proliferative capacity is reduced, senescent tumor cells can impede carcinogenesis (4). Furthermore, tumorigenic Ras expression is linked to the presence of senescent cells in diverse cancer lesions (5). In precancerous lesions, inactivation of tumor suppressors promotes cell senescence. Moreover, VO-OHpic, a phosphate and tension homology deleted on chromosome ten (PTEN) inhibitor, also promotes cell senescence and reduces carcinogenesis (6). On the other hand, senescent cells often have oncogenic properties. The senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) has been observed, and it can affect the tumor microenvironment in both the autocrine environment and paracrine manner. In mammary epithelial cells, senescent human fibroblasts can induce the formation of precancerous and malignant mammary epithelial cells (7). The CXCR2 ligands GRO- and IL-8 can drive malignant melanocytes to develop by expressing high levels of CXC chemokine receptor 2 (CXCR2) (8, 9). Senescent stromal cells can aid cancer cell metastasis by promoting epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (10). As a result, cell senescence is important for tumor progression, tumor pathway modulation, and immunotherapeutic responses. As a result, identifying cell senescence-related genetic traits can aid in a more thorough investigation of the mechanisms underlying the link between LGG progression and cellular senescence. Several systems biology approaches are currently available for identifying biomarkers and constructing genetic signatures linked to the prognosis of patients with LGG. Tan et al. looked at immune-related genes in LGG and discovered six genetic markers that could help diagnose LGG and predict patient prognoses (11). Bai et al. examined N6-adenosine methylation (m6A) methylation-regulated genes in LGG and built a prognostic model based on their findings, to improve prognosis prediction accuracy in LGG patients (12).

Abbreviations: AUC, area under ROC curve; CAF, cancer-associated fibroblast; CDF, cumulative distribution function; CGGA, Chinese Glioma Genome Atlas; CSRS, cell senescence risk score; CTLs, cytotoxic T lymphocytes; DCA, decision curve analysis; DEGs, differentially expressed genes; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition; ESTIMATE, Estimation of STromal and Immune cells in MAlignant Tumours using Expression data; FC, fold change; FDR, false discovery rate; GBM, glioblastoma; GSEA, gene set enrichment analysis; IC50, the biochemical half maximal inhibitory concentration; ICIs, immune checkpoint inhibitors; LASSO, least absolute shrinkage and selection operator; LGG, low grade glioma; m6A, N6adenosine methylation; MDSCs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; OIS, oncogene-induced senescence; OS, overall survival; PTEN, phosphate and tension homology deleted on chromsome ten; ROC, receiver operation curve; RS, replicative senescence; SASP, senescence-associated secretory phenotype; SIPS, stress-induced premature senescence; ssGSEA, single sample gene set enrichment analysis; TAMs, tumor-associated macrophages; TCGA, The Cancer Genome Atlas; TIDE, Tumor Immune Dysfunction and Exclusion; TIS, treatment-induced senescence; TME, tumor microenvironment; WHO, The World Health Organization.

Using Cox regression analysis, Liu et al. created a ten-gene signature for LGG (13). Young people with LGG, on the other hand, have a terrible prognosis. As a result, more stable prognostic models, as well as particular markers, must be investigated.

In this research, we studied stable molecular subtypes according to cell senescence-related genes (CSRGs) by constant clustering and carried out a comparison of pathway and immune features among subtypes. Afterward, differential expression analysis and LASSO were used to find prognosis-related CSRGs. Moreover, we made a cell senescence-related risk score (CSRS) model that can help in the treatment of LGG and aid in developing personalized treatment strategies for affected people.

Materials and methods

Data collection and pre-processing

The LGG dataset (TCGA–LGG) was gathered from The Cancer Genome Atlas and comprised RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) data and clinical information from 506 samples (TCGA). The Chinese Glioma Genome Atlas (CGGA, http://www.cgga.org.cn/) was also retrieved to obtain "mRNAseq 693 (batch1)" and "mRNAseq 325 (batch2)." By combining two batches of RNA-seq data, a total of 408 LGG samples (CGGA cohort) were included in this study. Following that, the TCGA–LGG and CGGA cohorts were employed as the training and validation sets, respectively. In addition, the cellAge database (https://genomics.senescence.info/cells/) yielded 279 CSRGs.

Molecular typing of CSRGs

To classify data into distinct kinds, consistency matrices were created using the ConsensusClusterPlus R package's consistency clustering function (14). The samples' molecular subtypes were determined using CSRG expression data. Then, using the "km" method and "canberra" as the metric distance, 500 bootstraps were run, with each bootstrapping operation involving 80 percent of the patients in the training set. To establish the molecular subtypes of the samples, the number of clusters was varied from 2 to 10, with the ideal number established by computing the consistency matrix and the consistency cumulative distribution function.

Lasso Cox regression analysis

A shrinkage estimation algorithm is the Lasso method. It constructs a penalty function that decreases some coefficients while setting others to zero, resulting in a more refined model. As a result, it preserves the benefit of subset shrinking and is a biassed estimator for multicollinear data. As a result, it is possible to pick variables while estimating parameters, allowing it to better tackle the multicollinearity problem in regression analysis. The Lasso Cox regression was carried out in this work with the help of the R package glmnet (15).

Construction and evaluation of the CSRS model

The coxph function in the survival R package (https://mran. microsoft.com/web/packages/survival/index.html) was used to perform a univariate Cox analysis of CSRGs in the TCGA-LGG and CGGA cohorts, yielding two sets of CSRGs closely linked to the prognosis of LGG patients, and the overlapping genes were chosen for further analysis with the criterion of P value less than 0.05. Then, across the three categories previously identified, differently expressed CSRGs were discovered. Lasso regression was used to minimize the number of genes to produce prognosis-related CSRGs. The MASS package's stepAIC was applied to further compress the number of prognostic CSRGs. StepAIC starts with the most complicated model and removes one variable at a time to reduce the AIC, with a smaller AIC value indicating a better model that achieves a sufficient fit with fewer parameters. In addition, each patient's CSRS was calculated using the following equation: $CSRS=\Sigma\beta i \times Expi$, where Expi is the level of gene expression of prognosis-related CSRGs and β is the Cox regression coefficient of corresponding genes. CSRS score was converted to z-score. We set z-score = 0 as a cut-off to classify samples into high- (z-score > 0) and low-risk (z-score < 0) groups. Furthermore, the Kaplan-Meier (KM) algorithm was utilized for plotting the survival curves for subsequent prognostic studies. Finally, we used a log-rank test for determining the value of differences.

Single-sample gene set enrichment analysis

The R package GSVA (16) was used to perform a singlesample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGESA) on the gene expression profiles corresponding to LGG samples in the TCGA–LGG cohort to examine the association between CSRS and biological functions in various samples. The scores of each sample on various functions were then measured (i.e., ssGSEA scores for each sample corresponding to each function). Finally, we calculated the correlations between these functions and CSRS.

Patient response to different immunotherapies and drugs

To predict the clinical responsiveness of patients in the highand low-CSRS groups to immune checkpoint inhibitors, the Tumor Immune Dysfunction and Exclusion (TIDE) algorithm was utilized (17). The TIDE algorithm probed into the M2 subtype of cancer-associated fibroblast (CAF), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and tumor-associated macrophages as three cell types that reduced T-cell infiltration in cancers (TAMs). To avoid immune evasion, this algorithm used two different mechanisms: a malfunction score for tumor-infiltrating cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) and an exclusion score for the immunosuppressive factor CTL. Immune escape is more likely with a higher TIDE prediction score, implying that patients are less likely to benefit from immunotherapy. Moreover, we measured the half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) of the drug using the pRRophetic R package (18) to observe the sensitivity of patients in the high- and low-CSRS groups to different chemotherapeutic agents and targeted drugs.

Gene set enrichment analysis

In distinct biological processes, GSEA can reveal pathways of various molecular subtypes. GSEA was used in this investigation with all candidate gene sets from the Hallmark database (19), and FDR<0.05 was set as the criterion of substantial enrichment.

Cell abundance in TME

The relative abundance of 22 immune cells in LGG was quantified using the CIBERSORT algorithm (20)(https://cibersort.stanford.edu/). The fraction of immune cells was also determined with the help of the Estimation of STromal and Immune cells in MAlignant Tumours Using Expression Data (ESTIMATE) software (21).

Statistical analysis

R (https://www.r-project.org/, version 3.6.3) was used for all statistical studies and data visualization. P < 0.05 represented a significant difference, and all estimated P-values were two-tailed.

Results

Identification of three cell senescencerelated molecular subtypes of LGG

Initially, we carried out a univariate cox analysis (P < 0.05) on CSRGs from both TCGA–LGG and CGGA datasets to get 115 genes strongly linked to LGG patients' prognoses. Afterward, by consistent clustering, we grouped 506 LGG samples. Cluster number was optimized using the cumulative

distribution function (CDF), and the CDF delta area curve suggested that the outcomes of clustering were stable when the number of clusters was 3 (Figures 1A, B). Consequently, the number (k) was selected as three to get three molecular subtypes (Figure 1C). We further studied the prognostic features of these three molecular subtypes. We observed a remarkable difference in patient prognosis between the three molecular subtypes in the TCGA-LGG cohort (Figure 1D), the best prognosis was observed in patients of the C3 subtype and patients of the C1 subtype showed the worst prognosis. Moreover, the mortality of patients in the C1 subtype was greatly enhanced in comparison with those in the C3 subtype (Figure 1E). Afterward, using the same strategy, molecular typing was carried out on samples in the CGGA cohort and we observed similar a remarkable difference in the prognosis of patients belonging to these three molecular subtypes (Figures 1F, G), which aligned with the outcomes from the TCGA-LGG training set. Then, a comparison was done between the CSRSs in the various molecular subtypes in the TCGA-LGG and CGGA cohorts (Figures 1H, I). Remarkable differences were observed in CSRSs of various molecular subtypes, the lowest CSRS was observed in the C1 subtype and the highest in the C3 subtype.

Differences in clinicopathological characteristics among three molecular subtypes

The TCGA dataset was used for comparing the differences in clinical features among the three subgroups. There was no discernible gender difference between the three categories. However, the C1 subtype had a higher number of patients in the G3 grade, whereas the C2 and C3 subtypes had a higher proportion of patients in the G2 grade. In terms of IDH mutations, the C2 and C3 subtypes had the highest frequency of patients with mutations. Furthermore, the C3 subtype had a considerably larger number of individuals with 1p19q codeletion than the C1 and C2 subtypes. Individuals with the C2 and C3 subtypes also had considerably more MGMT promoter methylation events than patients with the C1 subtype (Figure S1A). Patients who experienced both IDH mutations and 1p19q co-deletion also had the greatest prognosis, with a median OS of 8 years. Patients with an IDH mutation but no 1p/19q deletion (astrocytoma) had a median survival time of 6.4 years. Furthermore, patients with IDH wild-type LGG had a median OS of 1.7 years, which was comparable to those with IDH wildtype glioblastoma and commensurate with the prognosis of patients with the C3 subtype. In the CGGA cohort, differences in age, gender, grade, IDH mutation, 1p19q co-deletion, and MGMT promoter methylation were compared (Figure S1B). In the CGGA cohort, differences in age and gender were not significant.



Differences in mutational characteristics among three molecular subtypes

We analyzed the mutational profiles of various molecular subtypes further for revealing the possible underlying mechanisms used in the classification of cell senescence-related subtypes. In this report, data on the molecular properties in the TCGA–LGG cohort was retrieved from previous research on pan-cancer (22). The cellular senescence subtypes were linked with measures of DNA damage, such as the fraction of genome altered, homologous recombination defects, aneuploidy, tumor mutation burden, and the number of segments. Moreover, patients of the C3 subtype had lower scores of aneuploidies, number of segments, fraction altered, homologous recombination defects, and tumor mutation burden (Figure 2A). Additionally, further molecular subtypes were provided in the above study. Therefore, these six molecular subtypes were compared with our three molecular subtypes (Figure 2B). More "Codel" molecular subtypes were discovered in the C3 subtype and more "G-CIMP-high" molecular subtypes in the C2 subtype. Furthermore, LGG was sorted into six molecular subtypes based on 160 different immune signatures in the above study, the best prognosis was observed in patients of immunoassay subtype C3 and the worst prognosis was seen in subtypes C4 and C6. Hence, a comparison of these six immunomolecular subtypes was carried out with the three molecular subtypes. We defined and observed that the C4 subtype of the immuno-molecular subtypes occupied more of the C1 subtypes (Figure 2C). Additionally, the connection between gene mutations and molecular subtypes was studied and a strong correlation was identified. In LGG, ATRX, CIC, IDH1, TP53, and TTN genes went through numerous somatic mutations. The IDH1 gene among them had a higher frequency of mutations in C2 and C3 subtypes, and patients with IDH1/2 mutations showed a better prognosis. Moreover, the TP53 gene had the highest mutation frequency in the C subtype, followed by the C1 subtype (Figure 2D).



Differences in immune characteristics among three molecular subtypes

To better understand the differences in the immunological milieu of patients belonging to distinct molecular subtypes, the degree of immune cell infiltration of patients in the TCGA-LGG cohort was measured using the expression levels of genes in immune cells. CIBERSORT was used to calculate the relative abundance of 22 immune cell types (Figure 3A), and most immune cell subtypes differed significantly. Immune cell infiltration was measured using ESTIMATE (Figure 3B), and patients belonging to the C1 subtype had a considerably higher

"ImmuneScore" and immune cell infiltration degree than patients belonging to other subtypes. Finally, the immune infiltration degree of samples in the CGGA cohort was examined (Figures 3C, D), and a similar phenomenon was observed as in the TCGA cohort. Moreover, EPIC analysis also displayed the similar result with CIBERSORT analysis (Figures 3E, F).

Pathway analysis of different molecular subtypes

We performed GSEA on all candidate gene sets from the Hallmark database (19) to find out the differentially activated



pathways (DAPs) in different molecular subtypes. The C1 subtype was considerably enriched in 27 DAPs in the TCGA cohort, while 35 DAPs were significantly enriched in the CGGA cohort (Figures 4A, B). In addition, in different LGG cohorts, aberrant routes between C1 and C3 subtypes were compared (Figure 4B). Immune-related pathways such as interferon-gamma, interferon-alpha, allograft rejection, and inflammatory response were the most common DAPs. E2F targets, G2M checkpoint, and Myc targets v1 were also active, as were some cell cycle-related pathways (Figure 4C). Following that, DAPs between C1 and C2, C1 and C3 subtypes, and C2 and C3 subtypes in different TCGA-LGG cohorts were compared (Figure 4D). Immunomodulatory pathways, cell cycle-related pathways, and numerous critical tumor-related pathways, including P53, hypoxia, and EMT, were

all active in patients with the C1 subtype. As a result, CSRGs might have an important role in both the immunosuppressive and malignant microenvironments (TME).

Identification of DEGs associated with cell senescence-related subtypes

CSRGs were used to identify three separate molecular subtypes that were significant in the univariate analysis. Following that, with the criterion of FDR < 0.05 and $|\log_2FC| > 1$, the limma package was utilized for calculating the differentially expressed CSRGs (DECSRGs) across C1 and non-C1, C2, and non-C2, and C3 and non-C3 molecular subtypes. By



looking for DECSRGs in different molecular subtypes, a total of 21 genes were discovered. For gene number reduction in the risk model, Lasso regression was employed to compress these 21 CSRGS even more. The number of independent variables whose coefficients tended to zero gradually rose as the lambda increased, as illustrated in Figure S2A, and the number of independent variables whose coefficients tended to zero gradually increased as the lambda increased. The confidence intervals under each lambda were assessed after the model was built using 10-fold cross-validation (Figure S2B). When lambda = 0.0317, the model was at its best. As a result, the target genes for the subsequent analyses were chosen from a list of eight genes with lambda = 0.0317. We also used the Akaike information criterion (AIC) to run a stepwise multivariate regression analysis based on these eight genes. AIC considers the model's statistical fit as well as the number of parameters required to fit it. The MASS package's stepAIC technique starts with the most complicated model and removes one variable at a time to reduce the AIC, with a smaller AIC value indicating a better model that achieves a sufficient fit with fewer parameters.

Finally, six genes were identified as prognosis-related CSRGs: thymosin beta 4 (TMSB4X), cyclin-dependent kinase 6 (CDK6), forkhead box M1 (FOXM1), insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-5 (IGFBP5), integrin beta 4 (ITGB4), and IGFBP3 (Figure S2C).

Construction and validation of the clinical prognostic model

We used the expression levels and coefficients of six CSRGs to develop a prognostic model related to cellular senescence. Each sample's CSRS was measured and normalized based on the CSRS calculation equation. Afterward, the samples were sorted into high- and low-risk (CSRS) groups as per the normalized cutoff value (0). The CSRS distribution of patients in the TCGA– LGG cohort is illustrated in Figure 5A. The mortality rate of patients in the high-risk group was high with a shorter survival time. Consequently, the worse prognosis of patients was related to high CSRSs. Furthermore, six genes had greatly increased



expression levels with increasing CSRSs. Furthermore, ROC analysis for prognostic classification was done with the help of R package timeROC (23) and quantified the one-, three-, and five-year prognostic predictive effectiveness (Figure 5B), and the model had high AUC values (one-, three-, and five-year AUC values of 0.87, 0.84, and 0.75, respectively). Finally, the KM curve indicated a significant difference in survival between patients in the high- and low-CSRS groups (P < 0.0001), showing that the overall survival of patients having higher CSRSs was worse in the training cohort (Figure 5C). In addition, a validation analysis was done in the CCGA cohort to confirm the strength of the CSRS model. The CSRSs of patients in the CCGA cohort were identified similarly and the analysis outcomes are demonstrated in Figures 5D, E. Similar outcomes were seen in the validation cohort, patients with high CSRSs had a poor prognosis, and patients with low CSRSs had a better prognosis (P < 0.0001).

CSRS distribution in different clinicopathological characteristics and patient prognosis

The CSRS distribution in the TCGA–LGG cohort was examined amongst different groups. Grade, IDH Mutation, IDH/codel subtype, and MGMT promoter methylation all showed significant differences in CSRS score in both two cohorts (Figures S3A, B). We also looked at the differences in CSRS between molecular subtypes, finding that patients with the C1 and C3 subtypes had the highest and lowest CSRS, respectively. The prognostic difference between our established high- and low-risk categories in the TCGA–LGG cohort was also evaluated, with the results indicating that our risk groupings were reliable (Figure S3C).

Differences in immune/pathway characteristics between different SRS groups

To better understand the changes in the immunological milieu, researchers analyzed the relative abundance of 22 immune cells in the TCGA–LGG cohort's high- and low-CSRS groups (Figure 6A). The relative abundance of immune cells in the two groups differed significantly. ESTIMATE was also used to measure immune cell infiltration (Figure 6B). Patients with a high CSRS had considerably greater "ImmuneScore" and levels of immune cell infiltration than those with a low CSRS. Similar findings were also reported in the CGGA cohort (Figures 6C, D). The link between CSRS and 22 immune cells was then investigated (Figure 6E). CSRS was found to have a remarkable association with B cell naive, plasma cells, naive CD 4 T cells, M0 macrophages, and M1 macrophages. Moreover, we performed ssGSEA for calculating the correlation coefficient of these pathways with CSRS (Figure 6F) and filter out the

pathways with a correlation coefficient greater than 0.6. Most of these pathways, like the p53 signaling pathway, JAK-STAT signaling pathway, and ECM receptor interaction had a positive relationship with CSRS. Moreover, a major positive correlation was observed between CSRS and necroptotic score (P = 1.35e-33, R = 0.5) (Figure 6G). Finally, the link between the age of the patients and CSRS was measured and a major positive association was observed between CSRS and age (P =0.013, R = 0.11) (Figure 6H).

Differences in immunotherapy/ chemotherapy efficacy between different CSRS groups

The differences in immunotherapy sensitivity across patients in different CSRS groups in the TCGA-LGG cohort were investigated further. The difference in immune checkpoint expression between the two CSRS groups was first compared



FIGURE 6

Differences in immune/pathway properties between different CSRS groups. (A) Proportion of immune cells in the TCGA–LGG cohort; (B) Proportion of immune cells in the CGGA cohort; (C) Proportion of immune cells in the TCGA–LGG cohort measured using the ESTIMATE software; (D) Proportion of immune cells in the CGGA cohort calculated using the ESTIMATE software; (E) Correlation analysis of 22 immune cells with cellular CSRS in the TCGA–LGG cohort; (F) Correlation analysis outcomes of KEGG pathways with a correlation coefficient greater than 0.6 with CSRS; (G) Correlation analysis of CSRS with prognosis-related CSRS in the TCGA–LGG cohort; (H) Correlation analysis of age with prognosis-related CSRS in the TCGA–LGG cohort. (ns, no significance. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.0001).

(Figure 7A). The expression of most immune checkpoint genes differed between the two CSRS groups. Immune checkpoint gene expression was found to be considerably higher in the high-CSRS groups than in the low-CSRS groups. Following that, the immunotherapy efficacy differences between the two CSRS groups were compared. The TIDE program was used to evaluate the clinical effects of immunotherapy on the two categories of patients. No significant differences in MDSC, dysfunction, exclusion, or TIDE scores were found in the TCGA-LGG cohort, as illustrated in Figure 7B. The response of patients in the two CSRS groups in the TCGA-LGG cohort to traditional chemotherapy medications such as Temozolomide, Bleomycin, Cisplatin, Cyclopamine, and Bleomycin, as well as targeted therapies such as A-443654, AZD6482, and GDC0941, was also studied. Cisplatin, A-443654, and Bleomycin were more sensitive in the high-CSRS group, whereas AZD6482, Cyclopamine, and GDC0941 were more sensitive in the low-CSRS group (Figure 7C).

CSRS-nomogram improves the accuracy of patient prognosis and survival prediction

Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses of CSRS and clinicopathological features in the TCGA-LGG cohort revealed that CSRS was the most important prognostic predictor, with age being an independent prognostic factor (Figures 8A, B). Following that, a nomogram including CSRS and age was created (Figure 8C). The most significant impact on survival prediction was CSRS. The calibration curve was used to further assess the model's prediction accuracy (Figure 8D). Furthermore, the one-, three-, and five-year prediction calibration curves nearly coincided with the standard curve, indicating that the nomogram performed well in terms of prediction. Furthermore, decision curve analysis (DCA) was used to verify the model's robustness, and both CSRS and nomogram yielded much more advantages than the extreme curves. Furthermore, when compared to age, both the nomogram



FIGURE 7

Differences in immunotherapy/chemotherapy effectiveness among two different CSRS groups. (A) Differentially expressed immune checkpoints between two CSRS groups in the TCGA–LGG cohort; (B) Differences in TIDE analysis outcomes among two CSRS groups in the TCGA–LGG cohort; (C) Box plots of the estimatedIC50 for Temozolomide, Bleomycin, Cisplatin, Cyclopamine, A-443654, AZD6482, GDC0941, and Bleomycin in TCGA–LGG cohort. (ns, no significance. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ***P < 0.0001).



and the CSRS had a better ability to predict prognosis (Figures 8E, F).

Discussion

In clinical practice, the long-term efficacy of LGG therapy has been a significant issue due to the instability of LGG and the complexity of TME. Therefore, we need to develop and optimize the appropriate therapeutic interventions urgently. With the development of microarray technology and RNA-seq, many research studies have used gene expression profiles to categorize tumors. Predictive models according to gene expression profiles using mathematical and statistical modeling techniques have tremendous clinical potential. Cells undergo different types of senescence depending on the type of stress and/ or stimulus, including stress-induced premature senescence (SIPS), oncogene-induced senescence (OIS), replicative senescence (RS), paracrine senescence (PS), treatment-induced senescence (TIS) and epigenetics-induced senescence (EIS) (24). Senescent cells collect in various organs and tissues with different physiological and pathological functions (25). Many preclinical studies prove that chemotherapy and radiotherapy cause senescent cells to accumulate in normal tissues as well as tumors. Though, senescent cells in tumors can partially stimulate metastasis, tumor recurrence, and resistance to

therapy by expressing a secretory phenotype linked with aging. Moreover, senescent cells in normal tissues can worsen the side effects caused as a result of certain chemotherapies or radiation. Therefore, cellular senescence can be an important target for the treatment of cancer due to its several roles (26).

506 and 408 LGG samples were acquired from TCGA and CGGA, respectively, for this study. Based on the expression of 115 prognosis-related CSRGs, HCC samples from each cohort were divided into three subtypes, with significant differences in OS between the three subtypes. The clinicopathological, genetic, route, and immunological aspects of the three subgroups were then compared. The C1 subtype had a worse prognosis, had the largest prevalence of TP53 gene alterations, and had a significant degree of immune cell infiltration, with a large proportion of them in the G3 stage. Immunomodulatory and cell cycle pathways were also active in these patients. As a result, CSRGs may be important in the immunosuppressive microenvironment and TME. Finally, differential analysis of and LASSO found a total of six prognosis-related CSRGs, including TMSB4X, CDK6, FOXM1, IGFBP5, ITGB4, and IGFBP3.

CDK6 is a major component of the cell cycle that drives the transition from the G1 to the S phase by phosphorylating and inactivating the retinoblastoma protein (27). Activation of the YAP–CDK6 pathway may slow down the aging of the brain as well as the resulting neurodegenerative diseases (28). Dysregulated CDK6 promotes the senescence bypass during tumorigenesis and

progression and its inhibition restores the senescence response in tumor cells (29). Akt/Fox M1 signaling pathway-mediated MYBL2 upregulation promotes the progression of human glioma (30) and is a probable candidate gene for molecular targeted therapy and a biomarker for glioma-related radiation therapy. In breast cancer, FOXM1 has a role in response to DNA damage, genotoxic drug resistance, and DNA damage-induced senescence (31). IGFBP-5 is elevated during cellular senescence in response to the tumor suppressor p53 activation; this mechanism mediates interleukin-6/gp130-induced PS of human fibroblasts, irradiation-induced PS of human endothelial cells, and RS of human endothelial cells independent of IGF-I and IGF-II (32). ITGB4 is a structural adhesion molecule and clears airway epithelial cells by activating the p53 pathway in vitro and in vivo, and its deficiency results in senescence (33). Interfering with the NTN4-ITGB4 connection or using inhibitors of the AKT pathway concurrently with temozolomide may protect against temozolomide-induced senescence in glioblastoma and improve therapeutic efficiency (34). IGFBP3 is a hypoxia-inducible gene that regulates multiple cellular processes, such as senescence, apoptosis, cell proliferation, and EMT (35). Domenico et al. identified IGFBP-3 as one of the genes linked with senescence genes in human gliomas (36). Though the link between the progression of TMSB4X and LGG was not reported, and it is required to explore in detail.

Based on prognosis-related SCRGs, a clinical prognostic CSRS model was developed in this work. The model exhibited great robustness and sustained prediction accuracy in independent datasets, regardless of clinicopathological features. Furthermore, this model exhibited a high prediction accuracy and excellent survival prediction power, demonstrating significant efficacy in predicting the OS of LGG patients and describing the clinical characteristics of distinct individuals. The CSRS algorithm assigned each sample a unique risk score and divided patients into different risk groups. Patients in the high-CSRS group had a worse prognosis than those in the low-CSRS group, confirming our hypothesis. Furthermore, in the TCGA-LGG and CGGA cohorts, significant differences in the distribution of CSRS were detected amongst clinicopathological feature groupings. Patients in the high-CSRS group had a considerably higher "ImmuneScore" than those in the low-CSRS group, and the expression of most immune cells differed significantly between the two groups. Cisplatin, A-443654, and Bleomycin sensitivity were also higher in the high-CSRS group.

Conclusion

The identification of three cell senescence-related molecular subtypes helped to understand the crosstalk between cell senescence and LGG development. Cell senescence had an association with activated tumor-related pathways and immune infiltration. Cell senescence was highly associated with unfavorable prognosis, which may contribute to LGG development. High cell senescence score was significantly correlated with poor prognosis and high CSRS score. In addition, the CSRS model, a classifier, was constructed and verified. This model exhibited great robustness and stable prediction performance in independent datasets, regardless of clinicopathological features. Furthermore, this model exhibited a high prediction accuracy and significant survival prediction power, which aids in prognosis prediction and the selection of optimal treatment for patients. Overall, the synergistic effect of pro-and anti-aging therapies in cancer can be used to design novel therapeutic techniques.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

All authors contributed to this present work: JC designed the study, LW acquired the data. HY and XZ drafted the manuscript, SX and QQ revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The present study was supported by the Natural Sciences Fund of Zhejiang Province (LGF22H160019).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.982033/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Ostrom QT, Bauchet L, Davis FG, Deltour I, Fisher JL, Langer CE, et al. The epidemiology of glioma in adults: A "state of the science" review. *Neuro-oncology.* (2014) 16(7):896–913. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nou087

2. Jiang T, Nam DH, Ram Z, Poon WS, Wang J, Boldbaatar D, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of adult diffuse gliomas. *Cancer letters*. (2021) 499:60–72. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.10.050

3. Herbert B, Pitts AE, Baker SI, Hamilton SE, Wright WE, Shay JW, et al. Inhibition of human telomerase in immortal human cells leads to progressive telomere shortening and cell death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci United States America*. (1999) 96(25):14276–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.25.14276

4. Michaloglou C, Vredeveld LC, Soengas MS, Denoyelle C, Kuilman T, van der Horst CM, et al. BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. *Nature*. (2005) 436(7051):720–4. doi: 10.1038/nature03890

5. Gorgoulis VG, Halazonetis TD. Oncogene-induced senescence: the bright and dark side of the response. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2010) 22(6):816-27. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2010.07.013

6. Alimonti A, Nardella C, Chen Z, Clohessy JG, Carracedo A, Trotman LC, et al. A novel type of cellular senescence that can be enhanced in mouse models and human tumor xenografts to suppress prostate tumorigenesis. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120(3):681–93. doi: 10.1172/JCI40535

7. Parrinello S, Coppe JP, Krtolica A, Campisi J. Stromal-epithelial interactions in aging and cancer: senescent fibroblasts alter epithelial cell differentiation. *J Cell science*. (2005) 118(Pt 3):485–96. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01635

8. Schadendorf D, Möller A, Algermissen B, Worm M, Sticherling M, Czarnetzki BM. IL-8 produced by human malignant melanoma cells *in vitro* is an essential autocrine growth factor. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950).* (1993) 151 (5):2667–75.

9. Norgauer J, Metzner B, Schraufstätter I. Expression and growth-promoting function of the IL-8 receptor beta in human melanoma cells. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950).* (1996) 156(3):1132–37.

10. Laberge RM, Awad P, Campisi J, Desprez PY. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition induced by senescent fibroblasts. *Cancer Microenviron Off J Int Cancer Microenviron Society*. (2012) 5(1):39–44. doi: 10.1007/s12307-011-0069-4

11. Tan YQ, Li YT, Yan TF, Xu Y, Liu BH, Yang JA, et al. Six immune associated genes construct prognostic model evaluate low-grade glioma. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:606164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.606164

12. Bai Z, Wang X, Zhang Z. Establishment and validation of a 5 m6A RNA methylation regulatory gene prognostic model in low-grade glioma. *Front Genet* (2022) 13:655169. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2022.655169

13. Liu W, Zou J, Ren R, Liu J, Zhang G, Wang M. A novel 10-gene signature predicts poor prognosis in low grade glioma. *Technol Cancer Res Treat* (2021) 20:1533033821992084. doi: 10.1177/1533033821992084

14. Wilkerson MD, Hayes DN. ConsensusClusterPlus: a class discovery tool with confidence assessments and item tracking. *Bioinf (Oxford England)*. (2010) 26 (12):1572–3. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btq170

15. Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Regularization paths for generalized linear models *via* coordinate descent. *J Stat Software* (2010) 33(1):1–22. doi: 10.18637/jss.v033.i01

16. Hänzelmann S, Castelo R, Guinney J. GSVA: gene set variation analysis for microarray and RNA-seq data. *BMC Bioinf* (2013) 14:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-7

17. Jiang P, Gu S, Pan D, Fu J, Sahu A, Hu X, et al. Signatures of T cell dysfunction and exclusion predict cancer immunotherapy response. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(10):1550–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0136-1

18. Geeleher P, Cox N, Huang RS. pRRophetic: an r package for prediction of clinical chemotherapeutic response from tumor gene expression levels. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(9):e107468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107468

19. Liberzon A, Birger C, Thorvaldsdóttir H, Ghandi M, Mesirov JP, Tamayo P. The molecular signatures database (MSigDB) hallmark gene set collection. *Cell systems.* (2015) 1(6):417–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2015.12.004

20. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with CIBERSORT. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ)*. (2018) 1711:243–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1_12

21. Yoshihara K, Shahmoradgoli M, Martínez E, Vegesna R, Kim H, Torres-Garcia W, et al. Inferring tumour purity and stromal and immune cell admixture from expression data. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2612. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3612

22. Thorsson V, Gibbs DL, Brown SD, Wolf D, Bortone DS, Ou Yang TH, et al. The immune landscape of cancer. *Immunity*. (2018) 48(4):812-30.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.023

23. Blanche P, Dartigues JF, Jacqmin-Gadda H. Estimating and comparing time-dependent areas under receiver operating characteristic curves for censored event times with competing risks. *Stat Med* (2013) 32(30):5381–97. doi: 10.1002/sim.5958

24. Hu D, Yuan S, Zhong J, Liu Z, Wang Y, Liu L, et al. Cellular senescence and hematological malignancies: From pathogenesis to therapeutics. *Pharmacol Ther* (2021) 223:107817. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2021.107817

25. Roger L, Tomas F, Gire V. Mechanisms and regulation of cellular senescence. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(23):13173. doi: 10.3390/ijms222313173

26. Prasanna PG, Citrin DE, Hildesheim J, Ahmed MM, Venkatachalam S, Riscuta G, et al. Therapy-induced senescence: Opportunities to improve anticancer therapy. J Natl Cancer Institute. (2021) 113(10):1285–98. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djab064

27. Gao X, Leone GW, Wang H. Cyclin d-CDK4/6 functions in cancer. Adv Cancer Res (2020) 148:147-69. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2020.02.002

28. Xu X, Shen X, Wang J, Feng W, Wang M, Miao X, et al. YAP prevents premature senescence of astrocytes and cognitive decline of alzheimer's disease through regulating CDK6 signaling. *Aging Cell* (2021) 20(9):e13465. doi: 10.1111/ acel.13465

29. Bourdeau V, Ferbeyre G. CDK4-CDK6 inhibitors induce autophagymediated degradation of DNMT1 and facilitate the senescence antitumor response. *Autophagy*. (2016) 12(10):1965–6. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2016.1214779

30. Zhang X, Lv QL, Huang YT, Zhang LH, Zhou HH. Akt/FoxM1 signaling pathway-mediated upregulation of MYBL2 promotes progression of human glioma. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res CR*. (2017) 36(1):105. doi: 10.1186/s13046-017-0573-6

31. Khongkow P, Karunarathna U, Khongkow M, Gong C, Gomes AR, Yagüe E, et al. FOXM1 targets NBS1 to regulate DNA damage-induced senescence and epirubicin resistance. *Oncogene*. (2014) 33(32):4144–55. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.457

32. Sanada F, Taniyama Y, Muratsu J, Otsu R, Shimizu H, Rakugi H, et al. IGF binding protein-5 induces cell senescence. *Front endocrinol.* (2018) 9:53. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00053

33. Yuan L, Du X, Tang S, Wu S, Wang L, Xiang Y, et al. ITGB4 deficiency induces senescence of airway epithelial cells through p53 activation. *FEBS J* (2019) 286(6):1191–203. doi: 10.1111/febs.14749

34. Li L, Hu Y, Ylivinkka I, Li H, Chen P, Keski-Oja J, et al. NETRIN-4 protects glioblastoma cells FROM temozolomide induced senescence. *PLoS One* (2013) 8 (11):e80363. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080363

35. Natsuizaka M, Kinugasa H, Kagawa S, Whelan KA, Naganuma S, Subramanian H, et al. IGFBP3 promotes esophageal cancer growth by suppressing oxidative stress in hypoxic tumor microenvironment. *Am J Cancer Res* (2014) 4(1):29–41.

36. Coppola D, Balducci L, Chen DT, Loboda A, Nebozhyn M, Staller A, et al. Senescence-associated-gene signature identifies genes linked to age, prognosis, and progression of human gliomas. *J geriatric Oncol* (2014) 5(4):389–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jgo.2014.08.003

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Xilong Ou, Southeast University, China Ying Ma, Tianjin Medical University Cancer Institute and Hospital, China Chen Xue, Zhejiang University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiaohua Shi sxhsz@sina.com Haojie Huang huanghaojie@smmu.edu.cn Huanhai Xu xhh19992000@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

[‡]These authors share senior authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 18 June 2022 ACCEPTED 25 July 2022 PUBLISHED 16 August 2022

CITATION

Zhang D, Wu S, Pan S, Wang M, Wang Z, He Z, Zhang G, Cui F, Song Y, Li W, Shi X, Huang H and Xu H (2022) Single-cell sequencing reveals heterogeneity between pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with prognostic value. *Front. Immunol.* 13:972298. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.972298

Single-cell sequencing reveals heterogeneity between pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with prognostic value

Deyu Zhang^{1†}, Suna Wu^{2†}, Shubo Pan^{3†}, Meiqi Wang^{4†}, Zhen Wang⁵, Zixuan He¹, Guanghao Zhang¹, Fang Cui¹, Yihang Song¹, Wanshun Li¹, Xiaohua Shi^{3*†}, Haojie Huang^{1*†} and Huanhai Xu^{2*†}

¹Department of Gastroenterology, First Affiliated Hospital, Naval Medical University, Shanghai, China, ²Department of Gastroenterology, Yueqing People's Hospital, Wenzhou, China, ³Department of Gastroenterology, Affiliated Suzhou Science and Technology Town Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Suzhou, China, ⁴Academy of Medical Sciences, Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China, ⁵Department of Pancreatic Surgery, First Affiliated Hospital, Naval Medical University, Shanghai, China

Pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma (ASPC) is a rare subtype of pancreatic cancer with lethal malignancy, and few studies have focused on the heterogeneity of ASPC. Here, we performed a single-cell sequencing procedure on pancreatic tumor tissue from an ASPC patient and a patient with high-grade intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN). Through the combined analysis of single-cell sequencing data from five pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) patients, one IPMN patient, and one ASPC patient in a public database, we identified 11 main types of cells, including macrophages, B cells, cancer stem cells, ductal cells, fibroblasts, endo/stellate cells, neutrophils, acinar cells, T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells, and mast cells. Then, the different characteristics and differentiation paths of the immune microenvironment among IPMN, ASPC, and PDAC in macrophages, T cells, and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) were identified through multiple bioinformatics analyses. Two novel special cancer-associated fibroblasts were identified as nCAFs and imCAFs. Then, cancer cells in duct cells were identified using the infercnv software. Two ASPC-specific subgroups of cancer cells with squamous cell features were identified. Finally, the identified specific CAFs and cancer cells were mapped to TCGA-PAAD cohort through the cibersoftx software. All of these identified subgroups were calculated to have a significant prognostic value in pancreatic cancer patients. These findings will promote the clinical application of single-cell sequencing data of pancreatic cancer and deepen our understanding of ASPC.

KEYWORDS

single cell sequencing, pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, heterogeneity, prognostic value

Introduction

Pancreatic cancer is one of the most malignant solid tumors. In 2018, it affected 450,000 people worldwide, and there were more than 40,000 related deaths. The overall 5-year survival rate of pancreatic cancer is less than 3.5%, indicating that it is a serious threat to the lives and health of patients worldwide (1). The major subtype of pancreatic cancer is pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) (2). Pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma (ASPC) is a rare subtype of malignant pancreatic tumor that accounts for 0.6%–4% of pancreatic exocrine tumors, with a reported incidence of 0.38%–10%. The mortality rate of pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma is significantly higher than that of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, and the prognosis of patients is extremely poor, with a median survival of only 4.4–13.1 months, and only a few patients survived for more than 1 year (3).

The histopathological characteristics of ASPC include the mixed presence of adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma tissues, and the squamous cell carcinoma component accounts for at least 30% of the total tissues (4). Squamous cell carcinoma tissues are mostly located in the center of the tumor and are prone to liquefaction necrosis in the early stage of ASPC. After collecting and analyzing 1,745 ASPC cases, Caitlin et al. reported that the proportion of squamous cell carcinoma in tumor tissue is not significantly correlated with the overall survival of patients (5). A series of studies illustrated that compared with PDAC, ASPC tumors are likely to have large diameters, occurring in the body part or tail part of the pancreas (4, 6). Lymph node or other organ metastasis and tumor embolus formation can occur at an early stage, along with liver metastasis and portal vein invasion.

Due to the low morbidity of ASPC, studies on this subtype are rare, and many aspects remain unclear. The most controversial aspect is the origin of ASPC. Pancreatic epithelial tissue does not contain a squamous component, and the origin of ASPC could be complicated. There are several hypotheses about the initial origin of ASPC. 1) A widely accepted hypothesis posits that after chronic inflammatory stimulation or biliary duct obstruction, pancreatic duct columnar epithelium cells undergo metaplasia to the squamous-like epithelium and then evolve into ASPC (7). 2) Tissue collision theory suggests that two histologically different tumor cells, i.e., columnar-like and squamous-like tumors, appear independently in the pancreas and peripheral tissue and subsequently form ASPC (8). 3) After carcinogen stimulation, pancreatic stem cells differentiate separately to form adenocarcinoma or squamous cell carcinoma, and then, these two components combine into ASPC (9). Studies focusing on the ASPC tumor microenvironment using single-cell sequencing analysis are also rare, and there is only one study related to ASPC. Xin et al. reported single-cell sequencing results from one ASPC sample, demonstrating that epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-associated ligand-receptor pairs are activated in ductalstromal cell communications (10). However, their study lacked a depiction of the ASPC tumor microenvironment and a comparison between PDAC and ASPC.

Moreover, intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) is a papillary cystic tumor that originates from the main and or branch pancreatic ducts with the capability of secreting mucus. It has been recognized as a classical precancerous lesion in pancreatic cancer with a canceration rate of about 30% (11). Some studies illustrated that ASPC could originate from IPMN (12). However, the evolution path between IPMN and PDAC or ASPC is yet to be elucidated.

In the current study, single-cell sequencing was performed on pancreatic tumor tissue from an ASPC patient and a patient with high-grade intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm. A combined analysis was conducted of single-cell sequencing data from five PDAC patients, one high-grade IPMN patient, and one ASPC patient, which were obtained from a public database. Eleven main types of cells, including macrophages, B cells, cancer stem cells, ductal cells, fibroblasts, endo/stellate cells, neutrophils, acinar cells, T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and mast cells, were identified. Then, the different characteristics and differentiation paths of the immune microenvironment among IPMN, ASPC, and PDAC in macrophages, T cells, and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) were identified through multiple bioinformatics analyses. Two novel special cancerassociated fibroblasts were identified as nCAFs and imCAFs. Then, cancer cells in duct cells were identified using infercny software. Two ASPC-specific subgroups of cancer cells with squamous cell features were identified. Finally, the identified specific CAFs and cancer cells were mapped to TCGA-PAAD cohort through the cibersoftx software. All of these identified subgroups were calculated to have a significant prognostic value in pancreatic cancer patients. These findings will promote the clinical application of single-cell sequencing data of pancreatic cancer and deepen our understanding of ASPC.

Materials and methods

Patients and involved samples

Between January 2020 and March 2021, one ASPC pancreatic sample and one IPMN pancreatic sample were harvested in Changhai Hospital, Shanghai, during Whipple surgery. The diagnosis of IPMN and ASPC was made according to the intraoperative pathological diagnosis. Written informed consent was acquired from all patients. The Ethics Committee of Changhai Hospital, Shanghai, approved the current study. Another two pancreatic cancer cohorts were acquired from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/), including GSE155698 and GSE165399. First, five PDAC samples (PDAC1–PDAC5) from GSE155698 were acquired (13). Then, one ASPC sample and one IPMN sample were acquired from GSE165399 (10).

Single-cell sequencing procedure

Chromium Single Cell 3' Reagent v3 kits were used to prepare libraries according to the manufacturer's protocol. Single-cell suspensions were loaded onto the Chromium Single Cell Controller Instrument (10x Genomics, Pleasanton, CA, USA) to generate single-cell gel beads in emulsions (GEMs). After the generation of GEMs, reverse transcription reactions were performed. Then, cDNA was amplified, fragmented, endrepaired, A-tailed, index adapter ligated, and subjected to library amplification. Every library was sequenced on a NovaSeq 6000 platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA), and 150-bp pairedend reads were generated. The Cell Ranger software pipeline (version 3.1.0) provided by 10x Genomics was used to demultiplex cellular barcodes, map reads to the genome and transcriptome using the STAR aligner, and downsample reads as required to generate normalized aggregate data across samples, producing a matrix of gene counts versus cells.

Quality control and data correction

Quality control and data correction for single-cell samples were based on the number of detected genes, the number of detected molecules, and the percentage of mitochondrial, ribosomal, and hemoglobin genes from each single-cell sample. In detail, for all of the datasets, including our local datasets GSE155698 and GSE165399, samples with fewer than 1,000 genes, more than 3,000 genes, fewer than 200 molecules, more than 1% mitochondrial genes, and more than 2% ribosomal genes were removed. The remaining data in the three datasets were later used to produce a combined dataset.

Removal of batch effect, integration, dimensionality reduction, clustering and visualization, and cluster annotation

After quality control, Seurat R package v4.0.2 was used to process the data (14). Harmony, an integration algorithm, was used to integrate the abovementioned three datasets and perform dimensionality reduction (15). Then, the NormalizeData() function was used to normalize the count data in the RNA assay by the LogNormalize method. With the help of the sharing nearest neighbor (SNN) modularity optimization-based clustering algorithm and Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection (UMAP) algorithm, all cells were expressed in two-dimensional coordinates for visualization.

Calculation and display of differentially expressed genes

The FindAllMarkers() and FindMarkers() functions of the scran package were used to perform the Wilcoxon test between pairs of cell clusters to find the genes specifically expressed in each cluster. According to the calculation results, the ggplot2 and heatmap packages were used to visually display the heat, violin, and bubble maps.

Identification of significantly related pathways in different neutrophil cell types

To assess whether the gene set is enriched in a neutrophil cell subpopulation, the 'irGSEA' package (https://github.com/ chuiqin/irGSEA/) in R software was used. This package was used to score individual cells using multiple gene set enrichment methods and generate a multiple gene set enrichment score matrix. Then, the Wilcoxon test was used to calculate the differentially expressed gene sets of each cell subpopulation in the enrichment fraction matrix of each gene set. Some specific enriched pathways were marked and visualized in single plots.

Pseudotime analysis

Monocle2 (http://cole-trapnell-lab.github.io/monoclerelease) was used to execute the single-cell trajectory analysis utilizing DDR-Tree and default parameters. Marker genes of the Seurat (version 4.0.2) clustering result and raw expression counts of the cell passed filtering were selected. On the basis of pseudotemporal analysis, the branch expression analysis model (BEAM Analysis) was used to analyze branch fate-determining genes.

Analysis of cell differentiation trajectory

Monocle2 was used to order cells along the trajectories based on the pseudotime in the mesenchyme cells. The expression matrix of the mesenchymal cells derived from the Seurat object was submitted to Monocle3. The new_cell_data_set() function was used to create a cds object and perform dimensionality reduction, cell clustering, and differentiation trajectory inference.

Chromosome copy number variation analysis

The inferCNV (V1.6.0) method with recommended parameters for 10x data was used to illustrate the diverse patterns of chromosome copy number variation in tumor cell clusters. The macrophage cells were used as the reference.

The cancer genome atlas pancreatic cancer data acquisition

Pancreatic cancer sequencing data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA-PAAD) database were screened. The standardized RNA-sequence counts and clinical files were downloaded from TCGA data portal on 18 March 2022. A total of 180 samples with complete clinical follow-up information were obtained.

Subtypes from single-cell sequencing estimation in TCGA-PAAD bulk sequencing data and Kaplan–Meier survival curve analysis

The downloaded TCGA data and subtype matrix acquired from Seurat analysis were uploaded to cibersoftx (https:// cibersortx.stanford.edu/runcibersortx.php). The relative enrichment score of target subtypes in TCGA data was acquired through cibersoftx deconvolution analysis. The enrichment score of each sample in TCGA-PAAD was combined with their prognostic data (survival times). For the integrated dataset, Kaplan–Meier survival curves of different subtype gene sets in the dataset were drawn with the best cutoff using the Survival package. The OS rate from diagnosis to death or the last follow-up was calculated.

Results

Cell clustering of the landscape combined with intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, and pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma

After quality filtration, 45,238 cells were obtained for subsequent analysis; 0.05 was chosen to display the subgroup in the initial analysis (Figures 1A, B). The cells were catalogued into distinct cell lineages annotated with canonical marker gene expression (Figure 1C). As a result, macrophages, T\$NK cells, B cells, cancer stem cells, ductal cells, fibroblasts, endo/stellate cells, neutrophils, acinar cells, dendritic cells, and mast cells were identified (Figure 1D). The highly expressed genes in each cluster are shown in Figure 1E. In summary, there are a greatly increased proportion of cancer stem cells and duct cells in ASPC tissue, indicating that the phenotype of ASPC cancer cells is more malignant than that of PDAC cells. The proportion of B cells, NK cells, and T cells in ASPC tissue was significantly less than that in PDAC tissue, revealing that the infiltration of immune cells could be difficult in ASPC (Figure 1F).

M2-like macrophages tend to progress in the tumor microenvironment of pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma

The cluster tree plot shows different resolution ratios, and 0.5 was chosen for subsequent analysis (Figures 2A, B). To make the correct annotation, the marker genes of the macrophage subgroup were based on a previous study on the definition of macrophage subtypes from Zhang et al. (16). C1QB and C1QC were used to identify C1QC+ TAMs. SPP1, CXCL2, and INHBA were used to identify INHBA+ monocytes. According to Zhang's study, these two kinds of macrophages are defined as M2 macrophages and are related to immune inactivation in the tumor microenvironment. FCN1 and S100A8 were used to identify FCN+ monocytes. This kind of macrophage represents an initial stage of macrophage chemotaxis from peripheral blood to the pancreatic tumor region. S100A8 and S100A12 were used to identify a subgroup related to M1 macrophages with antitumor activation. CD1C was used to identify conventional DCs (cDCs), and RACK1 and MAZB1 were used to identify plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) (Figures 2C, D). As shown in the bar plot, M1-like macrophages show a significant decrease in ASPC compared to PDAC. Additionally, M2-related macrophages, including INHBA+ monocytes and C1QC+ tumor-associated macrophages, were significantly increased in ASPCs, followed by a reduction in juvenile macrophages in the tumor microenvironment (FCN+ monocytes) (Figures 2E, F). C1QC+



tumor-associated macrophages and INHBA+ monocytes showed a significant reduction in inflammation-related pathways, including the interferon alpha pathway, IL-6 pathway, and interferon gamma pathway (Figure 2G). Pseudotime analysis confirmed that FCN+ monocytes are the initial stage of all macrophages. Then, the monocytes could transfer to M1-like macrophages. Finally, during survival in the tumor microenvironment, macrophages tended to differentiate



FIGURE 2

(A) Cluster tree of subgroup amounts at different resolution ratios. (B) UMAP cluster plot shows the divided subgroup before annotation.
(C) Expression of each marker in each subgroup. (D) UMAP cluster plot shows the divided subgroup after annotation. (E) Bar graph of the proportion of each identified subgroup in each sample. (F) Bar graph of the proportion of each identified subgroup in each group. (G) GSVA plot showing the differentially enriched pathways in each identified subgroup. (H, I) Pseudotime analysis of these annotated groups. UMAP, Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection; GSVA, gene set variation analysis.

into two subtypes of M2 macrophages, INHBA+ monocytes and C1QC+ tumor-associated macrophages (Figure 2H).

T cells in pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma tissue show a widely inactivated phenotype compared to pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

The cluster tree plot shows different resolution ratios, and 0.2 was chosen for subsequent analysis (Figures 3A, B). As shown in Figure S1 and Figures 2C, D, groups 0 and 3 were identified as naïve CD8+ T cells (XCL1 and XCL2). Group 1 was identified as CD4+ central memory T cells (CD4+ Tcm, CCR7 CD40LG). Groups 2 and 4 were identified as NK (natural killer) cells (NKG7). Group 5 was identified as Treg (Foxp3). Group 7 was identified as NKT cells because of the double-positive expression of CD3 and NKG7. However, group 6 could not be defined, and the reason may be the sequencing error and unidentified double cells. The proportion of naïve CD8+ T cells showed a great increase in ASPC tissue, and CD4+ TCM

cells were increased in PDAC tissue, followed by an ascending proportion of NKT cells (Figure 3E). Gene set variation analysis (GSVA) shows that NK cells and CD4+ CTM cells have a wide activation of pathways. In contrast, naïve CD8+ T cells were widely inactive (Figure 3F). Interestingly, CD8+ naïve T cells were enriched in the epithelial-mesenchymal transition pathway, indicating that CD8+ naïve T cells could promote a malignant phenotype in pancreatic cancer (Figure 3G). Pseudotime analysis indicated that the transition between IPMN and ASPC in T cells and NK cells could be minor, and the T cells and NK cells in PDAC could be different from ASPC and IPMN.

Two novel subtypes of cancerassociated fibroblasts are identified with inactivation or full activation phenotype

The cluster tree plot shows different resolution ratios, and 0.5 was chosen for subsequent analysis (Figures 3A, B). The whole CAF cells were divided into eight groups. According to the



FIGURE 3

(A) Cluster tree of lymphocyte subgroup amounts at different resolution ratios. (B) UMAP cluster plot shows the divided subgroup before annotation. (C) Heatmap shows the significantly expressed genes in each cluster. (D) UMAP cluster plot shows the divided subgroup after annotation. (E) Bar graph of the proportion of each identified subgroup in each group. (F) Histogram showing the number of different enriched pathways in each identified subgroup. (G) GSVA plot showing the terms of different enriched pathways in each identified subgroup. (H, I) Pseudotime analysis of these annotated groups in ASPC, IPMN, and PDAC. UMAP, Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection; GSVA, gene set variation analysis; ASPC, pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma; IPMN, intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm; PDAC, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.

classical definition of CAF subtypes (17), the main subtypes of CAFs are myofibroblastic CAFs (myCAFs) and inflammatory CAFs (iCAFs). MyCAFs mainly perform fibrogenesis, and ATCA2 and TGFB1 are the marker genes of myCAFs. ICAFs have more competence to react to inflammatory responses and produce a large series of inflammatory cytokines. The marker genes of iCAFs that were selected in this study were CXCL14, IGF1, IL6, CXCL5, and IGHG1. As shown in Figure 4C, according to the expression of myCAFs and iCAFs, four CAF subtypes were identified, including two common CAF and two novel CAF subtypes. For two common CAF subtypes, groups 1, 3, 4, and 5 were iCAFs, and group 6 was a myCAF. For two novel CAF subtypes, group 2 was identified as imCAFs because gene markers from both iCAFs and myCAFs were activated, and groups 0 and 7 were identified as nCAFs because gene markers from both iCAFs and myCAFs were inactivated (Figures 4C, D). Then, a significant increase in imCAFs in PDAC compared to ASPC was observed (Figure 4E). Additionally, in line with the definition of each kind of CAF, the amount of activated pathways in GSVA showed an ascendant tendency from non-reactive CAFs to imCAFs (Figure 4F). Moreover, nCAFs showed a wide range of downregulated inflammatory pathways, and



FIGURE 4

(A) Cluster tree of lymphocyte subgroup amounts at different resolution ratios. (B) UMAP cluster plot shows the divided subgroup before annotation. (C) Expression of each marker in each subgroup. (D) UMAP cluster plot shows the divided subgroup after annotation. (E) Bar graph of the proportion of each identified subgroup in each group. (F) Histogram showing the number of different enriched pathways in each identified subgroup. (G) GSVA plot showing the terms of different enriched pathways in each identified subgroup. (G) GSVA plot showing the terms of different enriched pathways in each identified subgroup. (H) Gene set score of the inflammatory pathway. (J) Pseudotime analysis of these annotated groups in ASPC, IPMN, and PDAC. UMAP, Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection; GSVA, gene set variation analysis; ASPC, pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma; IPMN, intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm; PDAC, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.

imCAFs were active in multiple inflammatory pathways (Figures 4G-I). These results reveal different characteristics of CAF subtypes, and nCAF could be insensitive to chemotherapy and targeted therapy. Finally, pseudotime analysis revealed the evolutionary characteristics of CAFs (Figure 4J). ICAFs could be the initial phenotype of CAFs, and the microenvironment of PDAC is enriched with non-reactive CAFs compared with ASPCs.

Cancer cells have different characteristics between pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

Then, the heterogeneity of cancer cells among IPMN, ASPC, and PDAC was identified and portrayed. To identify and confirm cancer cells in duct cells and cancer stem cells, the infercny procedure was performed. Macrophages were chosen as the normal cell control, and these three types of cells were divided into 14 groups (Figures 5A, B). The UMAP plot shows the different distributions between PDAC and ASPC (Figure 5C). According to the infercny plot, subgroups 5, 6, and 8 were identified as normal ductal cells and were excluded from our subsequent studies. Then, by staining for squamous epithelium markers (including KRT5, KRT6A, SFN, and KRT14) and columnar epithelium markers (including EPCAM and KRT8), groups 3, 7, and 10 were identified as squamous cancer cells, and groups 5, 6, and 8 were identified as adenocarcinoma cells (Figures 5D, E). The different proportions of subgroups among IPMN, PDAC, and ASPC confirmed that groups 3, 7, and 10 were significantly enriched in the ASPC group and ASPC samples (Figures 5F, G).

According to the GSVA results, proliferation-related pathways, including the G2M checkpoint pathway and mitotic pathway, were enriched in group 7, indicating that group 7 could be the promoter of ASPC carcinogenesis. Cancer-related pathways, including the epithelial-mesenchymal transition pathway and angiogenesis, were enriched in group 1, indicating that group 1 plays a pivotal role in PDAC development (Figure 5H). Pseudotime analysis shows that the differentiation paths in PDAC and ASPC are different. Both of them could develop from IPMN, and then the paths of ASPC and PDAC are divided. Finally, ASPC could be divided into two subtypes. One subtype contained less adenocarcinoma than the other (Figure 5I-K).

The identified subgroup of PACS in cancer cells and cancer-associated fibroblasts has great prognostic value in pancreatic cancer patients

Finally, the prognostic value of our identified subgroup in cancer cells and CAFs was explored. As described in the

Materials and Methods section, the seurat matrix of each subgroup was extracted and uploaded to the cibersoftx software. Then, the count matrix of bulk RNA sequencing data acquired from TCGA-PAAD was also uploaded to the cibersoftx software. The estimated proportion of each subgroup was calculated in TCGA data by a deconvolution algorithm. Combined with survival outcomes, high expression of ASPCspecific cancer cell subtypes (combined expression of groups 3, 7, and 10) or identified nCAF subgroup in pancreatic cancer patients was correlated with poor clinical outcomes (Figures 6A, E). High expression of the identified iCAF subgroup, myCAF subgroup, or imCAF subgroup was associated with favorable clinical outcomes (Figures 6B-D).

Discussion

As described in the Introduction, pancreatic cancer is a common kind of malignant tumor with high morbidity and mortality worldwide. The main kind of pancreatic cancer is PDAC, which accounts for nearly 80% of the morbidity of pancreatic cancer (1). Additionally, pancreatic cystic tumors are considered to be the precursors of pancreatic cancer, among which the most common is IPMN. Most IPMNs are low-grade heteroplastic hyperplasia, but some IPMNs are malignant and can develop into pancreatic adenocarcinoma with a worse prognosis (18). Bernard et al. (19) performed single-cell RNA sequencing on 5,403 cells from two low-grade IPMN, two high-grade IPMN, and two pancreatic cancer specimens and analyzed the heterogeneity changes in epithelial cells and the tumor microenvironment during cancer development. They reported that both oncogenic gene expression and tumor suppressor gene expression were unregulated in low-grade IPMN. However, the expression of these tumor suppressor genes disappeared in high-grade IPMN and PDAC. Additionally, they also reported that during the process of high-grade IPMN progression to PDAC, iCAFs are upregulated and often accompanied by the formation of an immune escape microenvironment. Some studies have focused on the investigation of heterogeneous PDAC compared to normal pancreatic tissue. Peng et al. used single-cell transcriptome sequencing to explore the internal heterogeneity of pancreatic cancer and regulators in the progression of PDAC. This study reports two types of ductal cell subsets with different malignant gene expression profiles, including the ductal cell subsets with unique proliferative characteristics. In addition, this study demonstrated the role of abnormal pathways such as Wnt and Notch in pancreatic cancer and identified new genes such as EGLN3, MMP9, and FOS KLF5 and other transcription factors involved in carcinogenesis (20). In our current research, some new phenotypes and characteristics were identified between high-grade IPMN and PDAC. PDAC tissues exhibit an inflammatory phenotype in the tumor microenvironment,



PDAC, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.

especially in macrophages, and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition pathway is enriched in PDAC-related cancer cells.

The most interesting finding in our current analysis is the exploration of heterogeneity between ASPC and PDAC. In fact, our current study is not the first to focus on the singlecell pattern of ASPC. Xin et al. reported single-cell sequencing results from one ASPC sample, demonstrating that EGFRassociated ligand-receptor pairs are activated in ductalstromal cell communications (10). However, their study has some questions that need to be explored. First, their study


lacked a depiction of the ASPC tumor microenvironment, and the sample size was too short in this study to draw a concrete conclusion. Second, as described in the Introduction, the origin of ASPC has yet to be fully clarified, and some studies have illustrated the potential correlation between PDAC and ASPC (7, 8). Based on differential transcription factor expression of samples with >40% cellularity from resectable primary pancreatic cancer, Bailey et al. described four subtypes using machine learning methods, including squamous, pancreatic progenitor, immunogenic, and aberrantly differentiated endocrine exocrine. Among them, the squamous subtype has notable pan-squamous features, including a significant association with ASPC histology (21). These findings illustrated that ASPC has a potential relationship with squamous-like PDAC. However, both ASPC and PDAC samples were not included in their study simultaneously. In our study, we performed single-cell sequencing in one ASPC tissue and one high-grade IPMN tissue. Then, we involved the ASPC and IPMN samples from the study of Xin et al. (10) and five PDAC samples from the study of Steele et al. (13). The immune-related microenvironment is different between PDAC and ASPC. Specifically, M1-like macrophages show a significant decrease in ASPC compared to PDAC. M2-related macrophages, including INHBA+ monocytes and C1QC+ tumor-associated macrophages, were significantly increased

in ASPC, following a reduction in juvenile macrophages in the tumor microenvironment (FCN+ monocytes). However, the proportion of naïve CD8+ T cells shows a great increase in ASPC tissue, and CD4+ TCM cells are increased in PDAC tissue, followed by an ascending proportion of NKT cells. These results indicate the complex heterogeneity of the immune-related microenvironment in ASPC and PDAC.

Another interesting finding in our research is that we identified two novel subtypes of CAFs. According to the classical definition of CAF subtypes (17), the main subtypes of CAFs are myCAFs and iCAFs. MyCAFs mainly perform fibrogenesis. ICAFs have more competence to react to inflammatory responses and produce a large series of inflammatory cytokines. However, in our current study, we identified two novel CAFs. One subtype is named 'imCAF' because this subgroup expresses both fibrogenesis-related genes and genes related to inflammatory cytokines. Another subtype is named 'nCAF' because this subgroup expressed neither fibrogenesis-related genes nor genes related to inflammatory cytokines. Then, we observed a significant increase in imCAFs in PDAC compared to ASPC, indicating that PDAC could have better chemoreactivity than ASPC.

Our study also analyzed the origin of ASPC at single-cell resolution. There are several hypotheses about the initial origin of ASPC: 1) after chronic inflammatory stimulation

or biliary duct obstruction, pancreatic duct columnar epithelium cells undergo metaplasia to the squamous-like epithelium and then evolve into ASPC, and this hypothesis is widely accepted by scholars worldwide (7). 2) Tissue collision theory: two histologically different tumor cells, columnar-like and squamous-like tumors, appear independently in the pancreas and peripheral tissue and subsequently form ASPC (8). 3) After carcinogen stimulation, pancreatic stem cells differentiate separately to form adenocarcinoma or squamous cell carcinoma, and then, these two components combine into ASPC (9). By comparing the potential differentiation path between IPMN to PDAC and IPMN to ASPC, our analysis strongly supported the first hypothesis because we observed an early separation of the differentiation path between IPMN to PDAC and IPMN to ASPC. This finding could deepen our understanding of carcinogenesis in ASPC.

However, this study also has some limitations. Firstly, the results in this study are based on bioinformatics analysis of our clinical samples without immunofluorescence validation. Further validation in immunofluorescence could strengthen our findings. Secondly, the number of enrolled samples is small. More samples are needed for further research.

Conclusion

In conclusion, we examined the microenvironmental changes among IPMN, PDAC, and ASPC during ASPC progression from a single-cell perspective.

Two novel special cancer-associated fibroblasts were identified as nCAFs and imCAFs. Then, two ASPC-specific subgroups of cancer cells with squamous cell features were identified. Finally, the identified specific CAFs and cancer cells were mapped to TCGA-PAAD cohort through the cibersoftx software. All of these identified subgroups were calculated to have a significant prognostic value in pancreatic cancer patients. These findings provide valuable information to understand the critical microenvironment underlying PDAC and ASPC and demonstrate potential therapeutic targets for pancreatic cancer.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://ngdc.cncb.ac. cn/, PRJCA010063.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of First affiliated Hospital, Naval medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

HX, HH and XS designed the whole study and provided financial support. DZ, SW, SP, MW, ZW, ZH, GZ and FC collected tumor tissue and developed the codes, drew the plots. DZ, YS, and WL wrote the original draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We thank OE Biotech Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China), for providing single-cell RNA-seq and Dr. Yongbing Ba for assistance with bioinformatics analysis.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.972298/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1 The expression of gene markers of each T-cell subtype.

References

1. Mizrahi J, Surana R, Valle J, Shroff R. Pancreatic cancer. Lancet (2020) 395 (10242):2008–20. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30974-0

2. Betriu N, Bertran-Mas J, Andreeva A, Semino C. Syndecans and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Biomolecules* (2021) 11:349. doi: 10.3390/biom11030349

3. Hue J, Katayama E, Sugumar K, Winter J, Ammori J, Rothermel L, et al. The importance of multimodal therapy in the management of nonmetastatic adenosquamous carcinoma of the pancreas: Analysis of treatment sequence and strategy. *J Surgery* (2021) 169(5):1102–9. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2020.11.026

4. Boyd C, Benarroch-Gampel J, Sheffield K, Cooksley C, Riall T. 415 patients with adenosquamous carcinoma of the pancreas: A population-based analysis of prognosis and survival. *J Surg Res* (2012) 174(1):12–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2011.06.015

5. Hester C, Augustine M, Choti M, Mansour J, Minter R, Polanco P, et al. Comparative outcomes of adenosquamous carcinoma of the pancreas: An analysis of the national cancer database. *J Surg Oncol* (2018) 118(1):21–30. doi: 10.1002/jso.25112

6. Katz M, Taylor T, Al-Refaie W, Hanna M, Imagawa D, Anton-Culver H, et al. Adenosquamous versus adenocarcinoma of the pancreas: a population-based outcomes analysis. J Gastrointestinal Surgery: Off J Soc Surg Alimentary Tract (2011) 15(1):165–74. doi: 10.1007/s11605-010-1378-5

7. Kardon D, Thompson L, Przygodzki R, Heffess C. Adenosquamous carcinoma of the pancreas: A clinicopathologic series of 25 cases. *Modern Pathol: an Off J United States Can Acad Pathol Inc.* (2001) 14(5):443–51. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3880332

8. Trikudanathan G, Dasanu C. Adenosquamous carcinoma of the pancreas: a distinct clinicopathologic entity. *South Med J* (2010) 103(9):903–10. doi: 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3181ebadbd

9. Simone C, Zuluaga Toro T, Chan E, Feely M, Trevino J, George T. Characteristics and outcomes of adenosquamous carcinoma of the pancreas. *Gastrointestinal Cancer Res: GCR* (2013) 6(3):75–9. doi: 10.1200/jco.2013. 31.4_suppl.311

10. Zhao X, Li H, Lyu S, Zhai J, Ji Z, Zhang Z, et al. Single-cell transcriptomics reveals heterogeneous progression and EGFR activation in pancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma. *Int J Biol Sci* (2021) 17(10):2590–605. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.58886

11. Xu B, Zheng W, Jin D, Ding W, Lou W, Ramsohok L. Predictive value of serum carbohydrate antigen 19-9 in malignant intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms. *World J Surgery* (2011) 35(5):1103–9. doi: 10.1007/s00268-011-1003-0

12. Martínez de Juan F, Reolid Escribano M, Martínez Lapiedra C, Maia de Alcantara F, Caballero Soto M, Calatrava Fons A, et al. CDKN2APancreatic adenosquamous carcinoma and intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm in a germline mutation carrier. *World J Gastrointestinal Oncol* (2017) 9(9):390–6. doi: 10.4251/wjgo.v9.i9.390

13. Steele NG, Carpenter ES, Kemp SB, Sirihorachai VR, The S, Delrosario L, et al. Multimodal mapping of the tumor and peripheral blood immune landscape in human pancreatic cancer. *Nat Cancer* (2020) 1(11):1097–112. doi: 10.1038/s43018-020-00121-4

14. Hafemeister C, Satija R. Normalization and variance stabilization of singlecell RNA-seq data using regularized negative binomial regression. *Genome Biol* (2019) 20(1):296. doi: 10.1186/s13059-019-1874-1

15. Korsunsky I, Millard N, Fan J, Slowikowski K, Zhang F, Wei K, et al. Fast, sensitive and accurate integration of single-cell data with harmony. *Nat Methods* (2019) 16(12):1289–96. doi: 10.1038/s41592-019-0619-0

16. Zhang L, Li Z, Skrzypczynska K, Fang Q, Zhang W, O'Brien S, et al. Singlecell analyses inform mechanisms of myeloid-targeted therapies in colon cancer. *Cell* (2020) 181(2):442–59.e29. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.048

17. Kanzaki R, Pietras K. Heterogeneity of cancer-associated fibroblasts: Opportunities for precision medicine. *Cancer Sci* (2020) 111(8):2708-17. doi: 10.1111/cas.14537

18. Rezaee N, Barbon C, Zaki A, He J, Salman B, Hruban R, et al. Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) with high-grade dysplasia is a risk factor for the subsequent development of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *HPB* (2016) 18 (3):236–46. doi: 10.1016/j.hpb.2015.10.010

19. Bernard V, Semaan A, Huang J, San Lucas F, Mulu F, Stephens B, et al. Single-cell transcriptomics of pancreatic cancer precursors demonstrates epithelial and microenvironmental heterogeneity as an early event in neoplastic progression. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(7):2194–205. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-18-1955

20. Peng J, Sun BF, Chen CY, Zhou JY, Chen YS, Chen H, et al. Single-cell RNAseq highlights intra-tumoral heterogeneity and malignant progression in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cell Res* (2019) 29(9):725–38. doi: 10.1038/s41422-019-0195-y

21. Bailey P, Chang D, Nones K, Johns A, Patch A, Gingras M, et al. Genomic analyses identify molecular subtypes of pancreatic cancer. *Nature* (2016) 531 (7592):47–52. doi: 10.1038/nature16965

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhang, Wu, Pan, Wang, Wang, He, Zhang, Cui, Song, Li, Shi, Huang and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY

Liying Zhao, Southern Medical University, China Liang Shang, Shandong Provincial Hospital, China Yinan Shi, Shanxi Provincial Cancer Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Shi Chen chensh47@mail.sysu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 25 June 2022 ACCEPTED 22 July 2022 PUBLISHED 16 August 2022

CITATION

OuYang L-Y, Deng Z-J, You Y-F, Fang J-M, Chen X-J, Liu J-J, Li X-Z, Lian L and Chen S (2022) SIRGs score may be a predictor of prognosis and immunotherapy response for esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma. *Front. Immunol.* 13:977894. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.977894

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 OuYang, Deng, You, Fang, Chen, Liu, Li, Lian and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

SIRGs score may be a predictor of prognosis and immunotherapy response for esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma

Li-Ying OuYang^{1†}, Zi-Jian Deng^{2,3,4†}, Yu-Feng You^{5†}, Jia-Ming Fang^{2,3,4}, Xi-Jie Chen^{2,3,4}, Jun-Jie Liu^{2,3,4}, Xian-Zhe Li^{2,3,4}, Lei Lian^{2,3,4} and Shi Chen^{2,3,4*}

¹Department of Intensive Care Unit, Sun Yat-Sen University Cancer Center, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, The Sixth Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, ³Guangdong Institute of Gastroenterology, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Colorectal and Pelvic Floor Diseases, Guangzhou, China, ⁵School of Medicine, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China

Background: Esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma (EGJA) is a special malignant tumor with unknown biological behavior. PD-1 checkpoint inhibitors have been recommended as first-line treatment for advanced EGJA patients. However, the biomarkers for predicting immunotherapy response remain controversial.

Methods: We identified stromal immune-related genes (SIRGs) by ESTIMATE from the TCGA-EGJA dataset and constructed a signature score. In addition, survival analysis was performed in both the TCGA cohort and GEO cohort. Subsequently, we explored the differences in tumor-infiltrating immune cells, immune subtypes, immune-related functions, tumor mutation burden (TMB), immune checkpoint gene expression, immunophenoscore (IPS) between the high SIRGs score and low SIRGs score groups. Finally, two validation cohorts of patients who had accepted immunotherapy was used to verify the value of SIRGs score in predicting immunotherapy response.

Results: Eight of the SIRGs were selected by LASSO regression to construct a signature score (SIRGs score). Univariate and multivariate analyses in the TCGA and GEO cohort suggested that SIRGs score was an independent risk factor for the overall survival (OS) and it could increase the accuracy of clinical prediction models for survival. However, in the high SIRGs score group, patients had more immune cell infiltration, more active immune-related functions, higher immune checkpoint gene expression and higher IPS-PD1 and IPS-PD1-CTLA4 scores, which indicate a better response to immunotherapy. The external validation illustrated that high SIRGs score was significantly

associated with immunotherapy response and immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) can improve OS in patients with high SIRGs score.

Conclusion: The SIRGs score may be a predictor of the prognosis and immune-therapy response for esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma.

KEYWORDS

esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma, SIRGs score, prognosis, immunotherapy, tumor microenvironment

Introduction

Esophagogastric junction carcinoma is a kind of malignant tumor with a special location and unknown biological behaviors (1). Compared with distal gastric cancer (GC), esophagogastric junctional adenocarcinoma (EGJA) has lower differentiation and higher malignancy (2, 3). Unfortunately, most EGJA patients in China are in an advanced stage when diagnosed, with poor chemosensitivity and poor prognosis, with a 5-year survival rate of $14\% \sim 22\%$ (4). Therefore, it is very important to explore new treatment methods other than surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy for EGJA.

Immunotherapy is widely used in digestive tract malignancies, especially gastric cancer and esophageal cancer (5-7). However, at present, there are obvious differences in the understanding of this tumor between Europe, America and East Asia (8). In clinical studies in Europe, EGJA is often classified as esophageal cancer (9, 10), while in Asia, it is classified as gastric cancer (11). Although several biomarkers have been shown to predict the efficacy of the PD-1 inhibitor, none of them have been accurate enough (12). As a new therapeutic strategy, treatment aimed at the tumor microenvironment (TME) has attracted public attention (13). The TME is composed of a variety of cell types, including the matrix, blood vessels, secretory factors, surrounding matrix and the internal environment of tumor cells. It plays an important role in the occurrence, development and invasion of tumors (14, 15). As the TME is mainly determined by the genomic landscape of tumors (16), some algorithms, such as Estimation of Stromal and Immune cells in Malignant Tumor tissues using Expression data (ESTIMATE) and Tumor IMmune Estimation Resource (TIMER) methods (17, 18), have been developed to predict tumor purity and estimate the abundance of tumor-infiltrating immune cells based on the gene expression profile. Many studies have applied these big-data-based algorithms to various tumors, including cutaneous melanoma (19), prostate cancer (20), glioblastoma (21), and breast cancer (22), and validated their effectiveness; however, their utility in EGJA has not been investigated.

In our study, we employed the ESTIMATE algorithm to handle the RNA dataset downloaded from the TCGA database. We calculated the immune and stromal scores to identify the SIRGs to construct a signature for predicting the immunotherapy efficacy in EGJA.

Materials and methods

Gene expression datasets

We downloaded the transcriptome expression profiles and the clinicopathological data from the TCGA database. We calculated immune and stromal scores for each sample. Validation data were downloaded from the GEO database, including GSE66229 and GSE84437. Both of these groups of patients had the following clinicopathological characteristics: sex, age, tumor staging, etc.

Differential expression analysis

We divided the patients into a high/low immune score group and a high/low stromal score group, which were evaluated by the ESTIMATE algorithm. Then, we identified differentially expressed genes (DEGs) by the "limma" package of R (4.1.0) in different immunoscore groups. A false discovery rate (FDR) <0.05 and a |log2-fold change |> 1 were screening criteria. The stromal-related DEGs were confirmed by the same methods. The genes that were co-upregulated/downregulated by the immune group and stromal group were selected as stromal-immune related genes (SIRGs).

Pathway and function enrichment analysis

We used R software to explore the specific molecular mechanisms through Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto

Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) enrichment analyses for SIRGs using the "clusterProfiler" package.

Survival analysis and construction of the SIRGs prognostic signature and SIRGs score-based nomogram

We used univariate Cox regression analysis to identify prognostic SIRGs. The SIRGs with p<0.05 were included in least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) analysis to avoid overfitting (glmnet package). After screening by LASSO analysis, 8 selected IRGSs were used to construct a signature: SIRGs score = level of gene a * coefficient a + level of gene b * coefficient b + level of gene c * coefficient c + + level of gene n * coefficient. All EGJA patients were classified into high SIRGs group and low SIRGs group according to median SIRGs scores. Kaplan-Meier analysis and multivariate Cox regression were conducted to evaluate the efficiency of the SIRGs score in predicting prognosis (survival package).

In addition, SIRGs scores and clinical characteristics were included to construct a nomogram using the "RMS" package. Discrimination was verified by the Harrell concordance index (C-index) and area under the ROC curves (AUCs).

Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) and single-sample GSEA (ssGSEA)

GSEA was carried out in high and low SIRGs groups by the package "org.Hs.eg.db" (23). To compare the state of immune function between high and low SIRGs group's patients, ssGSEA was used to evaluate the 29 immune signature gene sets in each EGJA patient by the package "GSVA" (24, 25).

TME-associated analysis

We calculated 22 types of infiltrating immune cells, including B cells, CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells and so on, by using the R script from CIBERSORT. Then, we divided these 110 EGJA patients into 4 immune subtypes according to the characteristics of immune cell infiltration by unsupervised clustering.

Tumor mutation burden (TMB) analysis

The mutation data was downloaded from TCGA (https:// portal.gdc.cancer.gov/). The TMB score for each patient was calculated and analyzed using the "maftools" package. We exclude 3 patients without mutation data before TMB analysis.

Predicting patient response to immunotherapy

We compared the expression of immune checkpoints and their ligands in different SIRGs score groups. The immunophenoscore (IPS) was obtained without bias by analyzing the expression of four categories of immunogenicitydetermining genes: effector cells, immunosuppressive cells, MHC molecules, and immunomodulators. IPS was calculated on a range of 0–10 according to z scores representing gene expression in cell types. IPS was positively associated with the immunotherapeutic response. We downloaded the IPS for EGJA patients from the Cancer Immunome Atlas (TCIA, https://tcia. at/home).

Statistical analysis

Clinicopathological factors associated with prognosis were determined by univariate and multivariate Cox regression. Kaplan–Meier survival curves were drawn by the package "survminer", and differences in survival between the two groups were determined using the log-rank test. Statistical significance was set at two-sided p<0.05. Data were analyzed using SPSS v.22.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and R version 4.1.0.

Results

Identification of SIRGs by immunoscore and stromalscore

The clinicopathological characteristics of 110 EGJA patients from the TCGA database are shown in Table 1. The ESTIMATE algorithm is applied for inferring the infiltration of immune cells and stromal cells in the microenvironment, and the results were revealed by immunescore and stromalscore. We separated the patients into the high-immunoscore group and the lowimmunoscore group based on the median immunoscore. For comparison, there were 981 upregulated genes and 144 downregulated genes in the high immunescore EGJA patients (Figure 1A). Additionally, we divided these patients into highstromalscore and low-stromalscore groups according to the median stromalscores. There were 1359 upregulated genes and 108 downregulated genes in the high-stromalscore EGJA patients (Figure 1B). As shown in the Venn diagram (Figure 1C), we defined overlapping genes that were up- or downregulated in the stromal and immune groups as stromalimmune related genes (SIRGs). We further used GO and KEGG pathway enrichment to analyze these SIRGs. The results demonstrated that immune response, plasma membrane,

TABLE 1	Clinical	characteristics	of	EGJA	and	GC	patients.
---------	----------	-----------------	----	------	-----	----	-----------

Variables	TCGA-EJGA cohort (n=110)	GEO-GC cohort (n=733)
Age (mean ± SD, years)	64.9 ± 10.9	60.8 ± 11.5
Gender		
Male	72(65.5%)	495(67.5%)
Female	38(34.5%)	238(32.5%)
T stage		
T1-T2	35(31.8%)	237(32.3%)
T3-T4	75(68.2%)	496(67.7%)
unknown	0(0%)	0(0%)
N stage		
N0	32(29.1%)	118(16.1%)
N+	78(70.9%)	615(83.9%)
unknown	0(0%)	0(0%)
M stage		
M0	102(92.7%)	273(26.4%)
M1	8(7.3%)	27(2.6%)
unknown		433(100%)
Stage		
Ι	19(17.3%)	31(4.2%)
II	34(30.9%)	97(13.2%)
III	45(40.9%)	95(13.0%)
IV	12(10.9%)	77(10.5%)
unknown	0(0%)	433(59.1%)
SIRGs score (mean ± SD)	0.34 ± 0.41	0.27 ± 0.16

MHC class II receptor activity and another immune-related gene ontology were enriched (Figure 1D, E). The tumor-related stromal cell may participate in tumor progression, metastasis and chemotherapy response to further influence prognosis (26). We also found that the stromalscore was correlated with T stage and TNM stage, and EGJA patients in the high stromalscore group had higher T stage and TNM stage (Figure 1F). Survival analysis showed that EGJA patients with high stromalscore had a poorer prognosis than those with low stromalscore (p=0.037), which are consistent with the results of other researches (27–29). However, there was no significant survival difference between high immunescore patients and low immunoscore patients (Figure 1G, p=0.279).

Survival analysis of SIRGs and gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA)

We further explored the prognostic value of these 617 SIRGs. Univariate Cox analysis showed that 122 of them were associated with the prognosis of the EGJA patients, as shown in Supplementary S1. To avoid overfitting, a further LASSO analysis identified that 8 of 122 genes were core prognostic factors for EGJA patients (Figures 2A, B). We further used multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis to construct a predictive model: SIRGs score=(0.1582*CFP)+ (-0.06340*ZDHHC11) +(0.05201*ASB5)+(0.09763*LILRA4)+ (0.002203*FRZB)+(0.004185*PTGDR)+(0.5599*LRRC55)+ (0.1443*FCN1). The contribution of 8 core SIRGs on the overall survival are shown in Figure 2C. CFP (p<0.001), ASB5 (p=0.008), LILRA4 (p=0.001), FRZB (p=0.002), PTGDR (p=0.001), LRRC55 (p<0.001) and FCN1 (p<0.001) were prognostic risk factors for the EGJA patients. Among them, only ZDHHCC11(p=0.030) was a prognostic protective factor. These 8 SIRGs of Kaplan–Meier survival curves are show in Supplementary S2.

Furthermore, GO- and KEGG-related GSEA in the high SIRGs score group revealed that activation of multiple immune responses was enriched in GO biological processes (GOBP) and that cell adhesion molecules, chemokine signaling pathways and cytokine–cytokine receptor interactions were enriched in KEGG pathways (Figures 2D, E). In the low SIRGs score group, the GSEA enrichment focused on cornification, epidermal cell differentiation and epidermal development in GOBP and cell cycle, glutathione metabolism and olfactory transduction in KEGG (Figures 2F, G).

We calculated the SIRGs score of the 110 EGJA patients by this formula and ranked the SIRGs score (Figure 3A). The dot plot in Figure 3B shows the distribution of SIRGs score and overall survival time. Then, we divided them into a high SIRGs score group and a low SIRGs score group according to the median value. The heatmap in Figure 3C illustrates the expression patterns of 8 SIRGs in the low and high SIRGs score groups. Kaplan-Meier analysis showed that the prognosis of the low SIRGs score group was better than that of the high SIRGs score group (Figure 3D, p=0.009).

We used the GEO gastric cancer database to validate this formula. A total of 733 gastric cancer patients from GSE66229 and GSE84437 were involved to calculate the SIRGs score. We also divided these patients into a GEO high SIRGs score group and a GEO low SIRGs score group. There were 367 and 366 patients in these two groups, respectively. We also ranked the SIRGs score, and the results are shown in Figure 3E. The distribution of SIRGs score and overall survival time were exhibited in Figure 3F. The expression patterns of 8 SIRGs showed as heatmap in Figure 3G. Kaplan–Meier analysis showed that the prognosis of the GEO low SIRGs score group was better than that of the GEO high SIRGs score group (Figure 3H, p=0.006). The median survival of these two groups was 67 months and 120 months, respectively.

SIRGS-score-based nomogram model to predict the prognosis of EGJA patients

Univariate and multivariate Cox analyses indicated that age and SIRGs score were independent prognostic factors for the



TCGA-EGJA patients (Figures 4A, B) and GEO-GC patients (Table 2). However, TNM stage is widely considered a prognostic factor. Therefore, we also included TNM stage in the nomogram model (Figure 4C). The C-index of this model

was 0.798. The AUCs of the 1-year and 3-year OS for the nomogram were 0.798 and 0.740, respectively. The prognostic test efficacy of the nomogram model containing the SIRGs score was better than that of the TNM staging (0.553



and 0.558) or the SIRGs score alone (0.756 and 0.654) (Figures 4D, E).

Exploring the role of SIRGs in tumor immune cell infiltration, immune typing and immune function

The effect of immunotherapy for malignant tumors is often closely related to the tumor microenvironment. Tumorinfiltrating immune cells play essential roles in the TME. We further calculated the 22 types of tumor-infiltrating immune cells in 110 EGJA patients by CIBERSORT (30) (Figure 5A). The relationships of 22 types of infiltrating immune cells to each other are presented in the correlation matrix (Figure 5B). Then, these patients were divided into four immune types by unsupervised clustering algorithms according to infiltrating immune cells (Figure 5C). Moreover, in category D, we found that CD8+ T cells increased significantly, as did activated CD4+ T cells and NK cells (Figure 5D). Both stromal score and immunoscore were also significantly increased in category D (Figure 5D). We explored the distribution of these 4 categories in different SIRGs score groups. We found that in the high SIRGs score group, the



proportion of type D accounted for 45%, which was much higher than that of the low SIRGs score group (Figure 5E, p=0.001). Subsequently, we explored the immune states between the high- and low SIRGs score groups by calculating the enrichment scores with ssGSEA. In total, 29 immune signature gene sets associated with immune status were analyzed. As Figure 5F shows, all 29 immune-state scores were higher in the high SIRGs score group, which suggested that those patients' immune functions were more active.

The relationship between SIRGs score and tumor mutation burden (TMB)

As EGJA is a disease that features highly somatic alterations, we further detected the relationship between the SIRGs score and the TMB. The top 30 mutated genes in the high and low SIRGs score groups are shown in Figures 6A, B. We found that the mutations of ARID1A, ADAMTS1 and CSMD3 were high in the high SIRGs score group and rarely demonstrated in the low



score and TNM stage.

TABLE 2 Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses of overall survival for 733GC patients in the GEO cohort.

	Univariate Analysis		Multivariate Analysis		
	HR [95%CI]	P value	HR [95%CI]	P value	
Age	1.016 [1.007 - 1.026]	0.001	1.018 [1.008 - 1.028]	< 0.001	
Sex		0.464			
male	Reference				
female	0.920 [0.735 - 1.151]				
T stage		0.023		0.079	
T1-T2	Reference		Reference		
T3-T4	1.310 [1.038 - 1.653]		1.237 [0.975 - 1.570]		
N stage		0.004		0.004	
N0	Reference		Reference		
N+	1.584 [1.162 - 2.159]		1.582 [1.160 - 2.157]		
SIRGs score	2.709 [1.464 - 5.010]	0.001	2.599 [1.386 - 4.872]	0.003	



SIRGs group (Figures 6C, D). Moreover, the distribution of the SIRGs score was balanced in the high- and low-TMB groups (Figure 6E). Similarly, the OS showed no differences in the TMB groups (Figure 6F).

The SIRGs score could be a predictive biomarker for immunotherapy

Our next step was to test whether the SIRGs score can be used as a biological target to predict the effectiveness of immunotherapy. We first examined the expression of immune checkpoints. The results showed that the expression of PDL1, CTLA4, HAVCR2 LAG3, TIGIT, and PD1 in the high SIRGs score group was increased significantly (Figures 7A–F). The IPS plays an essential role in evaluating the response to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) therapy. The IPS-PD1 and IPS-PD1-CTLA4 scores were higher in the high SIRGs score group (Figure 7G). Therefore, the above results indicate that EGJA patients with high SIRGs score may be more sensitive to immunotherapy. More importantly, we included 281 advanced clear cell renal cell carcinoma patients and 85 melanoma patients receiving immunotherapy for validation. In advanced clear cell renal cell carcinoma validation cohort, 29.0% of patients achieved complete response (CR) or partial response (PR) in the high SIRGs group (Figure 7H, p=0.030), which significantly improved the high SIRGs score patients' OS (Figure 7I, P=0.048). In other words, patients in the low SIRGs group were not sensitive to immunotherapy, with only 14% CR/PR patients. Therefore, in the immunotherapy cohort, the low SIRGs patients' prognosis was worse. Similarly, in melanoma cohorts (GSE78220 and GSE91061), 43.8% of patients with high



profile of EGJA patients in low SIRGs score groups; (C) The summary of mutation in high SIRGs score groups; (D) The summary of mutation in low SIRGs score groups; (E) The distribution of TMB in low- and high-SIRGs score group; (F) The association of TMB and OS.

SIRGs score reached CR/PR, with only 22.2% CR/PR patients in low SIRGs group (p=0.036, Figure 7J). The Kaplan–Meier survival analysis illustrated that there was a trend of better OS in high SIRGs group (p=0.063, Figure 7K).

Discussion

EGJA is a malignant tumor in a special location. Different countries and regions have different treatment principles. Some studies in Europe and the United States have combined EGJA with esophageal cancer for research (31). While in Asia, clinical

trials mostly combine EGJA and gastric cancer (32). Therefore, the biological characteristics of EGJA need to be further studied. However, immunotherapy has shown promising results in both esophageal cancer and gastric cancer (5). However, not all EGJA patients can benefit from immunotherapy. At present, there is still no good indicator to evaluate whether patients can benefit from immunotherapy before treatment, especially patients with EGJA. Studies have shown that the prognosis of gastric cancer patients and the effect of immunotherapy are related to the tumor immune microenvironment (13, 33). The stromal and immune cells crosstalk with cancer cells in tumor microenvironment. In the past, few researches fully considered



two SIRGs score groups in melanoma cohort; (K) The association between SIRGs score and OS in melanoma a cohort.

the overall landscape of the infiltrating stromal and immune cells at the same time in tumor microenvironment. Therefore, we hope to construct a signature through stromal-immune related genes to predict the survival and immunotherapeutic effect of EGJA patients.

The ESTIMATE score is used to infer the infiltration of immune cells and stromal cells in the microenvironment of solid tumor tissues through the transcriptome data of tumor samples (17). Therefore, the SIRGs determined by ESTIMATE may be an important factor affecting the immune microenvironment. After calculating the stromal score and immune score of EGJA patients from TCGA, we identified 618 SIRGs. The results of KEGG and GO enrichment analyses suggested that the enriched pathways and functions are related to immunity, implying that the imbalance of these genes may cause changes in the immune microenvironment. Subsequently, we selected 122 SIRGs closely

related to prognosis for LASSO regression and obtained the following 8 core genes: CFP, ZDHHC11, ASB5, LILRA4, FRZB, PTGDR, LRRC55 and FCN1. Then, we constructed the signature named SIRGs score through Cox regression analysis. Among them, CFP is a tumor prognostic marker associated with immune infiltration in gastric and lung cancer (34). ZDHHC11 can regulate the innate immune response to DNA viruses (35).

Further survival analysis confirmed that the SIRGs score can effectively predict the prognosis of this group of EGJA patients as an independent prognostic factor. As some studies have reported, the prognosis of EGJA was similar to that of GC, so to evaluate the postoperative prognosis of EGJA, they should be considered a part of GC instead of esophageal cancer (EC) (36, 37). In order to acquire sufficient cases to validate the SIRGs in predicting prognosis, we selected 733 GC patients as validation cohort. The results suggested that this score was also verified in gastric cancer data from GEO. Therefore, we can more effectively predict the prognosis of EGJA patients by TNM staging combined with the SIRGs score. These results suggest that this SIRGs score may be closely related to the biological behavior of the tumor itself and plays a unique role by changing the composition of the tumor microenvironment.

To further evaluate the relationship between the SIRGs score and the immune microenvironment, we used CIBERSORT to evaluate the infiltration abundance of 22 immune cells in the immune microenvironment of EGJA patients. Then, we divided them into four subtypes by unsupervised clustering. In theory, patients with more infiltrated and activated immune cells in the TME may have better immunotherapeutic effects (38). In subtype D, the infiltration of CD8+ T cells was more obvious than that of the other three subtypes, and activated CD4+ T cells and NK cells were also significantly increased. The immune and stromal scores were also higher in type D, suggesting that immune therapy may be more sensitive. In contrast, type C has fewer infiltrated CD8+ T cells and other immune cells and lower immune and stromal scores, which often indicates that the effect of immunotherapy is worse. Further analysis found that there were significant differences between high SIRGs score and low SIRGs score patients in the distribution of types C and D. High SIRGs score patients were mainly concentrated in subtype D, while low SIRGs score patients were mainly concentrated in subtype C. In addition, ssGSEA of immune-related functions showed that almost all immune-related functions in the high SIRGs score group were more active than those in the low SIRGs score group. Given the above, high SIRGs score patients with a "hot" immune microenvironment tend to have a relatively higher response rate to immunotherapy. However, we also found that the prognosis of EGJA patients with more obvious immune infiltration and more active immune function was worse. We speculate that this is due to the immune escape of tumor cells. Tumor cells and the TME are interdependent and antagonistic (39). The immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment is defined as the

immunosuppressive part of the TME. Immune cells in the TME can always recognize and remove tumor cells in time. Immune escape means that tumor cells can avoid the recognition and attack of the immune system through various mechanisms to continue to grow and proliferate in the body (40). The immunosuppressive microenvironment consists of various immunosuppressive cells, immunosuppressive cytokines and various immune checkpoint molecules, which play an important role in tumor cell immune escape (41). As Figure 5D shows, gamma delta T cells, as a kind of immunosuppressive cell (42), were also upregulated in the TME of high SIRGs score patients. Current studies suggest that the upregulated expression of PD-L1 and CTLA4 on the surface of tumor cells plays a key role in the ability of tumor cells to escape from the host immune system. Therefore, we further compared the expression of immune checkpoint genes in tumor tissues of the high SIRGs score group and the low SIRGs score group and found that PD-L1, CTLA-4, HAVCR2, LAG3, TIGIT and PDCD1 were also upregulated in the high SIRGs score group. Therefore, even if these patients had more obvious immune cell infiltration and the prognosis was still worse due to immune escape of the tumor, such patients might achieve better results after receiving immune checkpoint blockade treatment. Pornpimol Charoentong et al. used a random forest approach to identify determinants of immunogenicity and developed an immunophenoscore (IPS) based on the infiltration of immune subsets and the expression of immunomodulatory molecules (43). The IPS is a robust method for predicting anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. It has been validated in independent cohorts. Furthermore, we investigated the relationship between IPS and different SIRGs score in EGJA patients. The results showed that the IPS-PD1 and IPS-PD1-CTLA4 scores were higher in the high SIRGs score group, indicating that they were more able to benefit from anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-1 plus anti-CTLA4 immunotherapy. The important role of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in the therapy of some refractory tumors has been confirmed. However, in our study, IPS-PD1-CTLA4 scores also significantly improved in the high SIRGs group, suggesting that the SIRGs score may be able to identify EGJA patients who can benefit from PD-1/PD-L1 + CTLA4 inhibitor treatment. Checkmate 142, a phase II randomized controlled trial, demonstrated that nivolumab plus low-dose ipilimumab can significantly improve the disease control rate in metastatic colorectal cancer. However, the results regarding nivolumab in combination with ipilimumab in advanced GC or EGJA from Checkmate649 have not yet been published. The SIRGs score in our study may have predictive value to some extent.

To further confirm the efficacy of the SIRGs score, we selected two external cohorts of patients receiving immunotherapy for verification (44). In the advanced clear cell renal cell carcinoma cohort, 29% percent of the 31 patients in the high SIRGs group achieved complete response/partial response

(CR/PR), while only 14% percent of 250 patients achieved CR/ PR in the low SIRGs score group, and the p value of the chisquare test was 0.030. Kaplan–Meier survival curves revealed that the OS of high SIRGs score patients was better than that of low SIRGs score patients, with log-rank p=0.048, implying that immunotherapy may reverse the poor prognosis of high SIRGs score patients. The similar results were found in melanoma cohorts (GSE78220 and GSE91061). It was demonstrated that patients with high SIRGs score can significantly benefit from immunotherapy (p=0.036). Although the difference of Kaplan– Meier survival curves did not reach statistical significance (p=0.063), there was a trend towards better OS with immunotherapy in high SIRGs group. The deficiency may be attributed to insufficient sample in this cohort.

However, our research still has some limitations. First, we focused on one kind of malignant tumor at a specific site, so the overall number of cases and sequencing data are very limited. Second, the current obtainable cohort based on high-throughput sequencing to explore the efficacy of immunotherapy is very limited. We could only select another type of tumor for validation but not EGJA patients, and the number of cases in the validation group was also small. We should use EGJA cohort with immunotherapy for further verification in the future. Third, there is still a lack of some basic experiments to further explore the roles of these eight genes in changing the tumor microenvironment, which needs further research and exploration. Finally, in order to identify the cut-off value of SIRGs for distinguishing between high and low SIRGs group patients, we need include a large number of EGJA patients with immunotherapy for analysis in the future.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the SIRGs score we constructed can effectively predict the prognosis of EGJA patients and prompt the tumor microenvironment of patients, providing a predictive role for the use of immunotherapy.

Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/ and https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov/. The accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Author contributions

SC was responsible for the design of this study. L-YO, Z-JD, and Y-FY analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. J-MF, X-JC, J-JL, and X-ZL collected and cleaned the data. LL provided some suggestions for modification. All authors contributed to the article and approved to submit the final manuscript.

Funding

This study Supported by Guangzhou Science and Technology Project (grant number 201803010040), Fund of the Sixth Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University (grant number P20200217202309876) and National Key Clinical Discipline.

Acknowledgments

We sincerely appreciate for public databases, such as GEO and TCGA.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2022.977894/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Ichihara S, Uedo N, Gotoda T. Considering the esophagogastric junction as a 'zone'. *Digestive Endoscopy* (2017) 29 Suppl 2:3–10. doi: 10.1111/den.12792

2. Liu K, Zhang W, Chen X, Chen X, Yang K, Zhang B, et al. Comparison on clinicopathological features and prognosis between esophagogastric junctional

adenocarcinoma (Siewert II/III types) and distal gastric adenocarcinoma: Retrospective cohort study, a single institution, high volume experience in China. *Medicine* (2015) 94(34):e1386. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000001386

3. Ito H, Inoue H, Odaka N, Satodate H, Suzuki M, Mukai S, et al. Clinicopathological characteristics and optimal management for esophagogastric junctional cancer; a single center retrospective cohort study. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res CR* (2013) 32(1):2. doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-32-2

4. Huang Q. Carcinoma of the gastroesophageal junction in Chinese patients. World J Gastroenterol (2012) 18(48):7134-40. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i48.7134

5. Janjigian YY, Shitara K, Moehler M, Garrido M, Salman P, Shen L, et al. Firstline nivolumab plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for advanced gastric, gastro-oesophageal junction, and oesophageal adenocarcinoma (CheckMate 649): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet (London England)* (2021) 398(10294):27–40. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00797-2

6. Boku N, Ryu MH, Kato K, Chung HC, Minashi K, Lee KW, et al. Safety and efficacy of nivolumab in combination with s-1/capecitabine plus oxaliplatin in patients with previously untreated, unresectable, advanced, or recurrent gastric/gastroesophageal junction cancer: interim results of a randomized, phase II trial (ATTRACTION-4). Ann Oncol (2019) 30(2):250–8. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy540

7. Shitara K, Van Cutsem E, Bang YJ, Fuchs C, Wyrwicz L, Lee KW, et al. Efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab or pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy vs chemotherapy alone for patients with first-line, advanced gastric cancer: The KEYNOTE-062 phase 3 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol* (2020) 6 (10):1571–80. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.3370

8. Gertler R, Stein HJ, Loos M, Langer R, Friess H, Feith M. How to classify adenocarcinomas of the esophagogastric junction: as esophageal or gastric cancer? *Am J Surg Pathol* (2011) 35(10):1512–22. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3182294764

9. Anker CJ, Dragovic J, Herman JM, Bianchi NA, Goodman KA, Jones WE3rd, et al. Executive summary of the American radium society appropriate use criteria for operable esophageal and gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma: Systematic review and guidelines. *Int J Radiat oncol Biol Physics* (2021) 109 (1):186–200. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2020.08.050

10. Rice TW, Ishwaran H, Hofstetter WL, Kelsen DP, Apperson-Hansen C, Blackstone EH. Recommendations for pathologic staging (pTNM) of cancer of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction for the 8th edition AJCC/UICC staging manuals. *Dis Esophagus* (2016) 29(8):897–905. doi: 10.1111/dote.12533

11. Japanese Gastric Cancer Association. Japanese gastric cancer treatment guidelines 2018 (5th edition). *Gastric Cancer* (2021) 24(1):1–21. doi: 10.1007/s10120-020-01042-y

12. Gibney GT, Weiner LM, Atkins MB. Predictive biomarkers for checkpoint inhibitor-based immunotherapy. *Lancet Oncol* (2016) 17(12):e542–51. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30406-5

13. Pitt JM, Marabelle A, Eggermont A, Soria JC, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Targeting the tumor microenvironment: removing obstruction to anticancer immune responses and immunotherapy. *Ann Oncol* (2016) 27(8):1482–92. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw168

14. Lei X, Lei Y, Li JK, Du WX, Li RG, Yang J, et al. Immune cells within the tumor microenvironment: Biological functions and roles in cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Letters* (2020) 470:126–33. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.11.009

15. Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Sci (New York NY)* (2011) 331(6024):1565–70. doi: 10.1126/science.1203486

16. Tamborero D, Rubio-Perez C, Deu-Pons J, Schroeder MP, Vivancos A, Rovira A, et al. Cancer genome interpreter annotates the biological and clinical relevance of tumor alterations. *Genome Med* (2018) 10(1):25. doi: 10.1186/s13073-018-0531-8

17. Yoshihara K, Shahmoradgoli M, Martínez E, Vegesna R, Kim H, Torres-Garcia W, et al. Inferring tumour purity and stromal and immune cell admixture from expression data. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2612. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3612

18. Li T, Fan J, Wang B, Traugh N, Chen Q, Liu JS, et al. TIMER: A web server for comprehensive analysis of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77(21):e108–e10. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0307

19. Huang L, Chen H, Xu Y, Chen J, Liu Z, Xu Q. Correlation of tumorinfiltrating immune cells of melanoma with overall survival by immunogenomic analysis. *Cancer Med* (2020) 9(22):8444–56. doi: 10.1002/cam4.3466

20. Zhang T, Wang Y, Dong Y, Liu L, Han Y, Wang H, et al. Identification of novel diagnostic biomarkers in prostate adenocarcinoma based on the stromalimmune score and analysis of the WGCNA and ceRNA network. *Dis Markers* (2022) 2022:1909196. doi: 10.1155/2022/1909196

21. Zhao R, Li B, Zhang S, He Z, Pan Z, Guo Q, et al. The N(6)-Methyladenosine-Modified pseudogene HSPA7 correlates with the tumor microenvironment and predicts the response to immune checkpoint therapy in glioblastoma. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:653711. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.653711

22. Chen X, Chen DG, Zhao Z, Balko JM, Chen J. Artificial image objects for classification of breast cancer biomarkers with transcriptome sequencing data and convolutional neural network algorithms. *Breast Cancer Res BCR* (2021) 23(1):96. doi: 10.1186/s13058-021-01474-z

23. Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci United States America* (2005) 102(43):15545–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506580102

24. Barbie DA, Tamayo P, Boehm JS, Kim SY, Moody SE, Dunn IF, et al. Systematic RNA interference reveals that oncogenic KRAS-driven cancers require TBK1. *Nature* (2009) 462(7269):108–12. doi: 10.1038/nature08460

25. Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGF β attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. *Nature* (2018) 554(7693):544–8. doi: 10.1038/nature25501

26. Stein Y, Aloni-Grinstein R, Rotter V. Mutant p53-a potential player in shaping the tumor-stroma crosstalk. J Mol Cell Biol (2019) 11(7):600-4. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/mjz071

27. Mao M, Yu Q, Huang R, Lu Y, Wang Z, Liao L. Stromal score as a prognostic factor in primary gastric cancer and close association with tumor immune microenvironment. *Cancer Med* (2020) 9(14):4980–90. doi: 10.1002/cam4.2801

28. Panayiotou H, Orsi NM, Thygesen HH, Wright AI, Winder M, Hutson R, et al. The prognostic significance of tumour-stroma ratio in endometrial carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* (2015) 15:955. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1981-7

29. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

30. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with CIBERSORT. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ)* (2018) 1711:243–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1_12

31. Rice TW, Gress DM, Patil DT, Hofstetter WL, Kelsen DP, Blackstone EH. Cancer of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction-major changes in the American joint committee on cancer eighth edition cancer staging manual. *CA: Cancer J Clin* (2017) 67(4):304–17. doi: 10.3322/caac.21399

32. Xu RH, Zhang Y, Pan H, Feng J, Zhang T, Liu T, et al. Efficacy and safety of weekly paclitaxel with or without ramucirumab as second-line therapy for the treatment of advanced gastric or gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (RAINBOW-asia): a randomised, multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2021) 6(12):1015–24. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(21)00313-7

33. Jiang Y, Wang H, Wu J, Chen C, Yuan Q, Huang W, et al. Noninvasive imaging evaluation of tumor immune microenvironment to predict outcomes in gastric cancer. *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31(6):760–8. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.03.295

34. Cui G, Geng L, Zhu L, Lin Z, Liu X, Miao Z, et al. CFP is a prognostic biomarker and correlated with immune infiltrates in gastric cancer and lung cancer. J Cancer (2021) 12(11):3378–90. doi: 10.7150/jca.50832

35. Liu Y, Zhou Q, Zhong L, Lin H, Hu MM, Zhou Y, et al. ZDHHC11 modulates innate immune response to DNA virus by mediating MITA-IRF3 association. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2018) 15(10):907–16. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.146

36. Suh YS, Han DS, Kong SH, Lee HJ, Kim YT, Kim WH, et al. Should adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction be classified as esophageal cancer? a comparative analysis according to the seventh AJCC TNM classification. *Ann Surgery* (2012) 255(5):908–15. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31824beb95

37. Liu K, Feng F, Chen XZ, Zhou XY, Zhang JY, Chen XL, et al. Comparison between gastric and esophageal classification system among adenocarcinomas of esophagogastric junction according to AJCC 8th edition: a retrospective observational study from two high-volume institutions in China. *Gastric Cancer* (2019) 22(3):506–17. doi: 10.1007/s10120-018-0890-2

38. Li B, Severson E, Pignon JC, Zhao H, Li T, Novak J, et al. Comprehensive analyses of tumor immunity: implications for cancer immunotherapy. *Genome Biol* (2016) 17(1):174. doi: 10.1186/s13059-016-1028-7

39. Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T Cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. *Sci (New York NY)* (2015) 348(6230):74–80. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa6204

40. Zhang J, Dang F, Ren J, Wei W. Biochemical aspects of PD-L1 regulation in cancer immunotherapy. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2018) 43(12):1014–32. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2018.09.004

41. Zhang Y, Xu J, Zhang N, Chen M, Wang H, Zhu D. Targeting the tumour immune microenvironment for cancer therapy in human gastrointestinal malignancies. *Cancer Letters* (2019) 458:123–35. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.05.017

42. Lo Presti E, Pizzolato G, Corsale AM, Caccamo N, Sireci G, Dieli F, et al. $\gamma\delta$ T cells and tumor microenvironment: From immunosurveillance to tumor evasion. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1395. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01395

43. Charoentong P, Finotello F, Angelova M, Mayer C, Efremova M, Rieder D, et al. Pan-cancer immunogenomic analyses reveal genotype-immunophenotype relationships and predictors of response to checkpoint blockade. *Cell Rep* (2017) 18 (1):248–62. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.019

44. Braun DA, Hou Y, Bakouny Z, Ficial M, Sant' Angelo M, Forman J, et al. Interplay of somatic alterations and immune infiltration modulates response to PD-1 blockade in advanced clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Nat Med* (2020) 26 (6):909–18. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0839-y

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Qi-Dong Xia, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, China Song Xu, Tianjin Medical University General Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Xiangmin Tong tongxiangmin@163.com Ying Wang nancywangying@163.com Yanchun Li Ivcmed@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 01 June 2022 ACCEPTED 20 July 2022 PUBLISHED 16 August 2022

CITATION

Li H, Xu B, Du J, Wu Y, Shao F, Gao Y, Zhang P, Zhou J, Tong X, Wang Y and Li Y (2022) Autophagy-related prognostic signature characterizes tumor microenvironment and predicts response to ferroptosis in gastric cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 12:959337. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.959337

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Xu, Du, Wu, Shao, Gao, Zhang, Zhou, Tong, Wang and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Autophagy-related prognostic signature characterizes tumor microenvironment and predicts response to ferroptosis in gastric cancer

Haoran Li^{1†}, Bing Xu^{2†}, Jing Du^{1†}, Yunyi Wu¹, Fangchun Shao³, Yan Gao¹, Ping Zhang¹, Junyu Zhou¹, Xiangmin Tong^{1*}, Ying Wang^{4*} and Yanchun Li^{4*}

¹Laboratory Medicine Center, Department of Clinical Laboratory, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital (Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College), Hangzhou, China, ²Department of Clinical Laboratory, Hangzhou Women's Hospital, Hangzhou, China, ³Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital (Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College), Hangzhou, China, ⁴Department of Central Laboratory, Affiliated Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China

Background: Gastric cancer (GC) is an important disease and the fifth most common malignancy worldwide. Autophagy is an important process for the turnover of intracellular substances. Autophagy-related genes (ARGs) are crucial in cancer. Accumulating evidence indicates the clinicopathological significance of the tumor microenvironment (TME) in predicting prognosis and treatment efficacy.

Methods: Clinical and gene expression data of GC were obtained from The Cancer Genome Atlas and Gene Expression Omnibus databases. A total of 22 genes with differences in expression and prognosis were screened from 232 ARGs. Three autophagy patterns were identified using an unsupervised clustering algorithm and scored using principal component analysis to predict the value of autophagy in the prognosis of GC patients. Finally, the relationship between autophagy and ferroptosis was validated in gastric cancer cells.

Results: The expression of ARGs showed obvious heterogeneity in GC patients. Three autophagy patterns were identified and used to predict the overall survival of GC patients. These three patterns were well-matched with the immunophenotype. Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes and Gene Ontology enrichment analyses showed that the biological functions of the three autophagy patterns were different. A scoring system was then set up to quantify the autophagy model and further evaluate the response of the patients to the immunotherapy. Patients with high autophagy scores had a more severe tumor mutation burden and better prognosis. High autophagy scores were accompanied by high microsatellite instability. Patients with high autophagy scores had significantly higher PD-L1 expression and increased survival. The

experimental results confirmed that the expression of ferroptosis genes was positively correlated with the expression of autophagy genes in different autophagy clusters, and inhibition of autophagy dramatically reversed the decrease in ferroptotic cell death and lipid accumulation.

Conclusions: Autophagy patterns are involved in TME diversity and complexity. Autophagy score can be used as an independent prognostic biomarker in GC patients and to predict the effect of immunotherapy and ferroptosis-based therapy. This might benefit individualized treatment for GC.

KEYWORDS

autophagy, gastric cancer, tumor microenvironment, microsatellite instability, prognosis, ferroptosis

Introduction

Gastric cancer (GC) is the fifth most common cancer worldwide and the third most common cause of cancer-related death. The estimated number of GC cases exceeds one million annually (1). The most important GC risk factor is *Helicobacter pylori* infection; age and a diet high in salt intake are also associated with GC (2–5). GC is usually diagnosed by endoscopy. Surgery or endoscopic resection remains a powerful treatment option (6). GC is mostly found in late stages. Tumor heterogeneity and immune response are due to abnormalities in the tumor microenvironment (TME). Therefore, the prognosis of patients cannot be guaranteed. Although several different molecular classification systems for GC have been proposed in the past decade (7, 8), effective precision treatment strategies still need to be explored.

Autophagy is the process of transporting damaged, denatured, or senescent proteins and organelles in cells to lysosomes for digestion and degradation. Autophagy plays a key role in regulating organismal development and maintaining homeostasis and quality control of proteins and organelles (9). Under normal physiological conditions, autophagy helps cells maintain their homeostatic state (10). During stress, autophagy prevents the accumulation of toxic or carcinogenic proteins and inhibits carcinogenesis. Once a tumor is formed, autophagy provides abundant nutrients for cancer cells and promotes tumor growth (11). Additionally, autophagy is increasingly investigated as a molecular target for cancer therapy. Our recent study demonstrated that excess autophagy results in autophagic cell death (12). However, autophagy plays two roles in tumorigenesis and development. The impact of autophagy on cancer depends on a variety of factors, such as TME, cancer type and stage, and genetic background (13). This reflects the intricate regulatory relationship of autophagy in tumors, which needs to be further clarified through more extensive studies. Ferroptosis is a regulated form of cell death that is morphologically, biochemically, and genetically distinct from apoptosis, necrosis, and autophagy (14). In recent years, research on ferroptosis in cancer has grown rapidly, providing prospects for its application in cancer therapy (15). The interaction between ferroptosis and tumor-related signaling pathways has potential applications in systemic therapy, radiotherapy, and immunotherapy. Targeting GC cells by stimulating ferroptosis through various targets has become a potential therapeutic strategy for gastric cancer (16). In addition, the sensitivity of tumors to ferroptosis therapy has become an important condition for judging the prognosis of patients (15).

The TME is an important component of tumor tissues, including various immune cells, stromal cells, and extracellular components. The composition of resident cell types within the TME and their associated inflammatory pathways differ among cancer patients. These changes correlate with clinical outcomes in various malignancies, including gastric, lung, and breast cancers (17). As malignant tumors develop, they interact with the metabolites of TME, and autophagy is activated in this process to provide nutrients to the tumor (18). Growing evidence indicates the clinicopathological significance of TME in predicting tumor treatment and its prognostic effects (19, 20). Currently, due to technical limitations, only a single autophagy-related gene (ARG) is evaluated in most tumor studies. The characteristics of antitumor mechanisms are by no means explained by one gene, but rather reflect the highly coordinated interaction of numerous genes. Therefore, a comprehensive understanding of the TME mediated by multiple ARGs is required.

In the present study, we identified the role of ARGs in GC progression and predicted the overall survival (OS) of GC patients using a combined analysis of The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) databases. Importantly, we

report a potential role of cell autophagy patterns in assessing tumor TME, providing important insights for understanding the underlying mechanisms of gastric carcinogenesis and predicting response to immunotherapy and ferroptosis-based therapy.

Materials and methods

Data sources

RNA sequencing transcriptome profiling and clinical data of samples, including 343 GC and 30 normal control samples, were downloaded from TCGA database (available online: https:// portal.gdc.cancer.gov/). Moreover, GSE84437 (433 samples) with clinical information of stomach adenocarcinoma was downloaded from the GEO database (available online: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/). A total of 232 ARGs were obtained from the Human Autophagy Database (available online: http:// www.autophagy.lu/index.html). One hundred twenty-one ferroptosis-verified driver genes were obtained from the FerrDb database (available online: http://www.datjar. com:40013/bt2104/), as described previously (21).

Mutation analysis of ARGs

Mutation frequencies and oncoplot waterfall plots of ARGs in gastric cancer patients were generated by the "maftools" package. The locations of copy number variation (CNV) alterations in ARGs on 23 chromosomes were mapped using the "RCircos" package in R software.

Identification and functional annotation of differentially expressed genes

Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between the different autophagy clusters were identified using the "limma" package in R with an adjusted p-value of <0.001. Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) analysis and Gene Ontology (GO), including biological process (BP), cellular component (CC), and molecular function (MF) categories, were performed with the "ggplot2" package in R software to further explore the potential functions of autophagy-related DEGs (22).

Immune infiltration, tumor mutation burden, and microsatellite instability analysis

We used the ssGSEA (single-sample gene-set enrichment analysis) algorithm to quantify the relative abundance of each cell infiltration in the gastric cancer TME. Correlations between prognostic ARGs and immune filtering were analyzed using a TME-filtered immune cell gene set with diverse human immune cell subtypes, including activated CD8 T cells, activated dendritic cells, giant natural killer T cells, and regulatory T cells. In tumor mutation burden (TMB) and microsatellite instability (MSI) analyses, Spearman correlation analysis was used to calculate the correlation between high- and low-autophagy score groups. MSI status was classified as microsatellite stable (MSS), MSI-low (MSI-L, one marker unstable), and MSI-high (MSI-H, over two markers unstable).

The establishment of an autophagy scoring model and prognostic analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to evaluate the autophagy gene signature of each gastric cancer patient, which we termed as autophagy score. Patients were divided into the high-score group and low-score group based on the maximally selected rank statistics determined by the "survminer" R package. We used Kaplan–Meier survival curves to identify the ability of the model to distinguish different clusters of patients to determine the efficiency of the model.

Cell viability assay

BGC823 cells were seeded into 96-well plates in DMEM (Gibco, Carlsbad, CA, USA), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco, USA), 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 μ g/ ml streptomycin at a density of 2 × 10⁴ cells/well. Cells were treated with bafilomycin A1 (BafA1, 40 nm), chloroquine (CQ, 25 μ M), and 3-methyladenine (3MA, 2 mM) in the presence or absence of erastin for 36 h. Then, 10 μ l of Cell Counting Kit-8 (Beyotime) reagent was added to each well and incubated for 2 h at 37°C. The absorbency was measured at 450 nm using a plate reader, and the percentage viability was calculated.

BODIPY staining

BGC823 cells in culture were collected in a chamber confocal dish and incubated with boron dipyromethene (BODIPY 581/ 591) (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at a concentration of 5 μ M, and nuclei were counterstained with DAPI for 10 min. Quantification of lipid bodies was performed using ImageJ.

Ethics statement

Ethical approval was not required, as there is no patient recruitment and absence of animal trials for this study.

Statistical analyses

The correlation coefficient between TME and ARG expression in filtered immune cells was calculated by Spearman and differential expression analyses. Continuous variables were compared between two groups through the Wilcoxon rank-sum test. Classified variables were compared between two groups by chi-square test. One-way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis test were used to conduct difference comparisons of three or more groups. The R package of "survminer" was used to determine the cutoff point for each dataset subgroup. The survival curves for the prognostic analysis were generated via the Kaplan-Meier method, and log-rank tests were utilized to identify the significance of differences. The waterfall function of the maftools package was used to present the mutation landscape in patients with high and low autophagy scores in TCGA-STAD cohort. All statistical analyses were performed using R version 4.1.0. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

Results

Defining expression of ARGs in GC

A total of 232 ARGs were obtained from the Human Autophagy database. A heatmap involving TCGA-STAD cohort revealed differences in the expression profiles of 148 ARGs in normal and tumor tissues (Figure 1A). Univariate Cox regression analysis of these DEGs revealed that 22 ARGs were significantly associated with TCGA-STAD prognosis (Supplementary Table 1). Figure 1B presents the incidence of somatic mutations in the 22 ARGs in GC. The TP53 gene displayed the highest mutation frequency (44%), followed by the DAPK1 and CASP8 genes, among the 22 ARGs. We considered the relationship between TP53 mutations and ARG expression, in light of the highest mutation frequency in TP53. The expression levels of eight ARGs were significantly correlated with TP53 mutation status (Figure S1). We then investigated somatic copy number alterations in these ARGs. Copy number changes were evident in all 22 ARGs. More than half of the 22 ARGs had copy number amplification, while CNV deletion frequencies, such as BAG3 and PINK1, were widespread (Figure 1C). Figure 1D shows the location of CNV alterations in these ARGs on the chromosomes. We further compared the mRNA expression levels between GC and normal tissues. The expression of 13 ARGs was increased, while the expression of nine ARGs was decreased in tumors compared with normal tissues in GC (Figure 1E). More specifically, compared to normal tissues, the expression of CNV-increased autophagy modulators in GC tissues (such as CASP8 and CXCR4) was significantly increased. Conversely, the expression of CNV-deficient autophagy modulators of GC tissues (such as BNIP3 and EEF2) was reduced, suggesting that CNV variation may be a cause for the regulation of ARG expression. Additionally, the expression levels of 22 ARGs were associated with survival in GC patients (Figure S2), suggesting that ARGs were involved in the development of GC and had the potential to predict patient prognosis.

Identification of the autophagy clusters

We created a queue using the GEO and TCGA datasets along with OS data and clinical information to construct a more precise autophagy cluster with prognostic significance. The autophagy network diagram showed that the expression of most ARGs was positively correlated, with some genes being negatively correlated (Figure 2A). Subsequently, we identified three different regulation patterns using the unsupervised clustering method (Figure S3). The survival advantage of clusters B and C was higher than that of cluster A (Figure 2B).

Infiltration characteristics of TME cells under different autophagy modification patterns

To explore the differences in biological behavior among these three patterns, we performed GSVA enrichment analysis (Figures 2C, D). Autophagy cluster A was markedly enriched in stromal and carcinogenic activation pathways, such as TGFB signaling pathway, ECM receptor interaction, cell adhesion, and MAPK signaling pathways. Autophagy cluster B was significantly associated with biological metabolism. Autophagy cluster C presented enrichment pathways associated with immune full activation, including the activation of chemokine signaling, JAK-STAT signaling, T-cell receptor signaling, and Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Subsequent analysis of TME cell infiltration showed that autophagy cluster C was remarkably rich in innate immune cell infiltration, including natural killer cells, macrophages, MDSCs, monocytes, and immature B cells. The three autophagy modification patterns showed significantly different infiltration characteristics of TME cells (Figure 3A). PCA revealed significant differences in the autophagy modification profiles between the three subtypes (Figure 3B). Comparison of the clinicopathological features of GC revealed significant differences in the expression of ARGs and clinicopathological characteristics (Figure 3C). Among these autophagy-related DEGs, the intersection of the three autophagy clusters A, B, and C confirmed 1,337 DEGs (Figure 3D). To clarify the function of these DEGs, pathways were analyzed using GO and KEGG databases. The 1,137 DEGs were mainly involved in T-cell activation, positive regulation of cell adhesion, extracellular matrix organization, extracellular structure



Landscape of genetic and expression variation of ARGs in gastric cancer. (A) mRNA expression profiles of 148 differentially expressed ARGs in TCGA-STAD cohort. (B) The mutation frequency of ARGs in gastric cancer patients of TCGA-STAD cohort. The upper bar graph shows TMB; the right bar graph shows the proportion of each variant type. (C) The CNV variation frequency of each ARG based on CNV variation. (D) The location of CNV alteration of ARGs on 23 chromosomes. (E) Expression distributions of ARGs between normal (green) and tumor (red) tissues. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.



organization, and collagen-containing extracellular matrix (Figure 3E and S4A). Moreover, KEGG pathway analysis suggested that these DEGs were mainly involved in cell adhesion molecules, cytokine-cytokine receptor interactions, cell adhesion molecules, chemokine signaling pathways, and focal adhesion (Figures S4B, C). Then, 632 differentially expressed and prognostic genes were screened out from the three autophagy clusters and used for the subsequent analysis.

Construction of autophagy gene signature and functional annotation

Consistent with the clustering grouping of autophagy modification patterns, the unsupervised clustering algorithm also divided the patients into three distinct autophagy modification genomic phenotypes depending on the 632 prognostic genes (gene clusters 1, 2, and 3; Figure S5). The



heat map of the genetic modification patterns revealed that most genes were expressed at low levels in gene cluster B and were highly expressed in gene cluster C (Figure 4A). The findings indicate the presence of three distinct autophagy modification patterns in GC. Kaplan–Meier curves showed that patients with gene cluster 3 had the worst prognosis, whereas patients in cluster 2 showed a favorable prognosis (Figure 4B). The three autophagy gene clusters showed significant differences in the expression of ARGs, consistent with the three autophagy clusters (Figure 4C). Considering the individual heterogeneity and complexity of autophagy, we developed an autophagy score based on principal component analysis to quantify autophagy modification patterns in individual GC patients. Then, we divided the patients into high-score group and low-score



group. An alluvial diagram was used to visualize the flow of the autophagy score fraction construction (Figure 4D). We then conducted immune correlation analysis. The autophagy score was significantly positively correlated with CD4 T immune cells

and neutrophils and negatively correlated with activated B immune cells and macrophages (Figure 4E). Differences were evident in autophagy scores among the autophagy clusters and also among the three gene clusters. Autophagy cluster A showed

Autophagy molecular subtypes and prognosis

Next, we tried to further determine the value of autophagy score in predicting the prognosis of GC patients. The prognosis of patients in the low autophagy score group was poorer than that of patients in the high autophagy score group (Figure 5A). In addition, Spearman correlation analysis demonstrated that the autophagy score was positively associated with TMB, which reflects the total number of mutations carried by tumor cells and is related to tumor recognition by immune cells (Figure 5B). We explored the association of TMB with different autophagy scores. TMB in the high autophagy score group was greater, indicating a better response to immunotherapy (Figure 5C). Survival analysis of TMB in GC revealed that the prognosis of the high-TMB group was better than that of the low-TMB group (Figure 5D). As expected, the TMB survival curve combined with the autophagy score showed that patients in the high tumor mutation group and high autophagy score group had the best prognosis (Figure 5E). As shown in Figures 5F, G, the high autophagy score group had a higher TMB frequency than the low autophagy score group (total genes rate 97.37% versus 83.87%). These results indicate the value of the autophagy score in predicting the prognosis of GC patients and reflect the effect of immunotherapy to a certain extent.

Role of autophagy score in GC immunotherapy and chemotherapy

Immunotherapy can increase the survival rate of patients with multiple types of tumors. Therefore, it is important to determine which patients could respond better to immunotherapy. Survival analysis revealed that death of GC patients occurred mainly in the low autophagy score group (Figure 6A). Moreover, the autophagy score was lower in patients who died of GC (Figure 6B). Stratified analysis of the autophagy score for the GC patients showed that the high autophagy score group had a better prognosis than the low autophagy score group of T1-2 and T3-4 (Figures 6C, D). MSI has been associated with the development of tumors. MSI-high (MSI-H) patients are more sensitive to immunotherapy (23). In the present study, the high autophagy score was accompanied by the MSI-H state, while a low autophagy score was accompanied by a microsatellite stable state (Figures 6E, F). Immunotherapy targeting PD1 and PD-L1 has improved survival in cancer (24). In this study, GC patients with high autophagy scores displayed

significantly high PD-L1 expression, suggesting a potential benefit of anti-PD-L1 immunotherapy (Figures 6G, H).

Ferroptosis in different autophagy subtypes in GC patients

Ferroptosis, a novel form of regulated cell death, is associated with iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation (25, 26). Our recent studies demonstrated that achieving ferroptosis via ferroptosisinducing drugs is emerging as a new alternative therapy modality (27-29). Moreover, in our previous study, autophagy accelerates the degradation of ferritin, increases the unstable iron pool, promotes the accumulation of cellular reactive oxygen species, and ultimately leads to ferroptosis (30). Therefore, we extracted 121 ferroptosisverified driver genes from the FerrDb database and analyzed the association of these genes in our established autophagy model in GC patients. As expected, in GC patients, these ferroptosis-verified driver genes showed differential expression in different autophagy clusters (Figure 7A). Surprisingly, the heat map showed that ferroptosis-verified driver genes were reduced in gene cluster B and highly expressed in gene cluster C, which was consistent with the expression level of ARG (Figures 4A and 7B). In addition, three gene clusters showed significant differences in the expression of ferroptosis-verified driver genes (Figure 7C). We can conclude that the expression of genes related to ferroptosis was positively correlated with the expression of ARGs.

Validation of functional phenotypes in GC cell lines

We wonder whether the autophagy cluster model could predict the sensitivity to ferroptosis-inducing therapy. BGC823 cells were induced to undergo ferroptosis with erastin *in vitro*. Of note, a significant reduction in cell viability by erastin treatment was observed, but cell viability was significantly reversed by different autophagy inhibitors, including BafA1, CQ, and 3MA (Figure 8A). We also detected the generation of lipid reactive oxygen species (ROS) by BODIPY, a classical ferroptosis maker (16). The fluorescence results showed a large amount of lipid ROS accumulation in BGC823 cells under the treatment of erastin, while the presence of autophagy inhibitors dramatically ameliorated the accumulation of lipid ROS (Figures 8B, C). These results suggest that detection of autophagy typing can predict tumor susceptibility to ferroptosis therapy.

Discussion

Growing evidence suggests that autophagy plays an integral role in inflammation, innate immunity, and antitumor activity by degrading damaged organelles and excess proteins (31, 32). Autophagy has various roles in various cancers. Historically, the



The relationship between autophagy score and tumor somatic mutation. (A) Survival analysis of the patients with high autophagy scores and low autophagy scores. (B) Spearman correlation analysis of the autophagy score and TMB. (C) TMB in different autophagy score groups. (D) Survival analysis of low or high TMB in gastric cancer patients. (E) Survival analysis of TMB combined with autophagy score in gastric cancer patients. (F) The waterfall plot of somatic mutation features established with high autophagy score. (G) The waterfall plot of somatic mutation features established with low autophagy score.

role of autophagy in tumorigenesis may have been misunderstood. The clinical use of autophagy inhibitors may not have a positive effect on cancer patients but may promote tumorigenesis (33). Little is known about the phenomenon of autophagy in GC cells, and the

mechanism between autophagy and GC remains controversial. However, studies in animal models have shown that the inhibitory effect of autophagy on tumors may be greater than its facilitation in cells with impaired apoptotic machinery (34). In this



The role of autophagy score in immunotherapy and chemotherapy. (A, B) Stratified analysis of autophagy scores in gastric cancer patients according to survival status. (C, D) Stratified analysis of autophagy scores in gastric patients according to the T stage. (E) Relationships between autophagy score and MSI. (F) Stratified analysis of autophagy scores in gastric patients according to MSI. (G, H) Expression levels of PD-L1 and PD1 in two distinct groups.



FIGURE 7

Expression levels of ferroptosis-verified driver genes in different autophagy patterns. (A) Clinicopathological features and expression levels of 121 ferroptosis-verified driver genes in three autophagy clusters. (B) Clinicopathological features and expression levels of 121 ferroptosis-verified driver genes in three autophagy gene clusters. (C) The differential expression of ferroptosis-verified driver genes among different gene clusters. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***<p.0.001.

study, we identified 22 ARGs and classified them into three clusters. Moreover, combining the filtering properties of TME cells in different clusters of ARGs generated data that improve the understanding of TME antitumor immune responses in GC.

We observed that the three clusters of autophagy patterns were significantly correlated with immune activation and other pathways. Cluster A was characterized by immunosuppression, corresponding to the immune desert phenotype. Cluster B was characterized by the activation of innate immunity and matrix, corresponding to an immune-excluded phenotype. Cluster C was characterized by the activation of adaptive immunity, corresponding to the immune inflammatory phenotype. The latter phenotype corresponds to the "hot tumor", in which CD4 and CD8 T cells are expressed in the tumor parenchyma. The immune-excluded phenotype has abundant immune cells that do not penetrate the parenchyma of these tumors but which remain in the matrix surrounding the tumor cells. The immune desert phenotype corresponds to the "cold tumor", with no T cells in the tumor parenchyma or stroma (35, 36). Our results were consistent with these definitions, confirming that different patterns of autophagy are important in shaping the



antitumor immune response in different TME landscapes. Cluster C featured the activation of chemokines, T-cell receptors, and Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. All these pathways contribute to the involvement of cluster C in immune inflammation typing. Therefore, it was not surprising that cluster C activated innate immunity and resulted in a better survival curve.

Similar to the clustering results of the three modes of autophagy, three gene clusters were identified based on the DEGs among the three autophagy clusters, which were also significantly associated with stroma and immune activation. This confirmed that autophagy is involved in the composition and structure of the TME landscape. Therefore, analysis of autophagy patterns will help understand the characteristics of TME cell infiltration. In this study, we established a scoring system to assess autophagy patterns in patients with GC. Autophagy scores were higher for the autophagy patterns of the immune-excluded phenotype. The autophagy score was significantly positively correlated with CD4 T immune cells, neutrophils, and macrophages, suggesting that the autophagy score could be used to assess tumor autophagy patterns and immunophenotypes. In addition, the gene mutation frequency in the high autophagy score group was higher than the total gene mutation frequency in the low autophagy score group. Patients in the high autophagy score group also had better survival rates

across the different cancer stages. Furthermore, we found that autophagy patterns influenced the therapeutic effect of the immune checkpoint blockade. The autophagy score was markedly correlated with MSI status and PD-L1 expression, which might be a more effective predictor of immunotherapy.

Previous studies have demonstrated that Beclin1, LC3, and P62/ SQSTM1 are autophagy-related markers with prognostic values in GC (37-39). Compared with normal mucosal epithelial cells, the expression of BNIP3 is increased in malignant gastric epithelial cells than in normal mucosal epithelial cells, suggesting that BNIP3 expression may play a role in GC development (40). However, the molecular mechanisms of many other ARGs in GC are not yet fully understood. Therefore, considering ARGs as a whole to construct a tumor prediction model will be an effective method to study autophagy and tumor development. Assessing tumor-driver mutations is a key basis for cancer diagnosis and treatment (41). We observed that patients with high autophagy scores had significantly higher frequencies of TTN, MUC16, and ARID1A mutations than patients with low autophagy scores. Moreover, the TTN mutation spectrum serves as a predictor of MSI-H and the mutational load in the TTN also represents a high TMB state (42). In the present study, the proportion of patients with MSI-H was higher in those with high autophagy scores. This suggests a complex interplay between autophagy patterns and immune genes in TMB.

The concept of ferroptosis-suppressing tumors has become widely accepted, with FDA-approved drugs identified as ferroptosis inducers and the potential of ferroptosis as a new promising approach to killing therapy-resistant cancers (43). Past studies have emphasized that the regulation of ferroptosis is autophagy-dependent and involves multiple autophagy-related molecular factors in the process of ferroptosis (44). Our results found that the expression of ferroptosis genes was positively correlated with the expression of autophagy genes in GC patients. Furthermore, inhibition of autophagy significantly reversed the decline in cell viability and lipid accumulation caused by ferroptosis. Therefore, we have reason to believe that our established autophagy analysis can predict the sensitivity of GC patients to ferroptosis treatment.

This study has some limitations that need to be acknowledged. As all analyses were based on data from public databases, extensive *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments are still required to support our findings. Thus, further studies should be performed to prove the relationship between autophagy and GC in the future.

In conclusion, we performed comprehensive and systematic bioinformatics analyses of GC patients and identified 22 ARGs to analyze their application in GC. The findings establish an autophagy scoring system for GC patients. Our findings concerning the association between autophagy score and clinicopathological features indicate that the autophagy score could serve as an independent prognostic biomarker in GC patients. The autophagy score can also predict the effect of immunotherapy and ferroptosisbased treatment in GC patients, providing new insights for guiding the precise treatment of such patients.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

YL conceptualized and refined this work. YW designed *in vitro* experiments, XT designed the bioinformatics experiments. HL, BX, and JD analyzed the results and drafted the manuscript. HL, YYW, FS, and YG compiled the data. BX, JD, PZ, and JZ combined and examined the data. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 82102938), Zhejiang Public Welfare Technology Application Research Project (Grant Nos. LGF19H080006, LGF21H010008, LGF20H080005), and Medical and Health Science and Technology Project of Zhejiang Province (Nos. 2021KY842, 2021KY483, 2021KY077, 2022KY503, 2022KY046, 2022KY236, 2022KY074).

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge TCGA and GEO databases for their assistance, and the contributors for uploading valuable and meaningful resources.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.959337/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68(6):394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492

2. Chen S-Y, Zhang R-G, Duan G-C. Pathogenic mechanisms of the oncoprotein CagA in h. pylori-induced gastric cancer (Review). Oncol Rep (2016) 36(6):3087-94. doi: 10.3892/or.2016.5145

3. Yaghoobi M, McNabb-Baltar J, Bijarchi R, Hunt RH. What is the quantitative risk of gastric cancer in the first-degree relatives of patients? a meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol* (2017) 23(13):2435–42. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i13.2435

4. Murphy G, Dawsey SM, Engels EA, Ricker W, Parsons R, Etemadi A, et al. Cancer risk after pernicious anemia in the US elderly population. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2015) 13(13):2282–9.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.05.040

5. Tsugane S, Sasazuki S. Diet and the risk of gastric cancer: review of epidemiological evidence. *Gastric Cancer* (2007) 10(2):75-83. doi: 10.1007/s10120-007-0420-0

6. Smyth EC, Nilsson M, Grabsch HI, van Grieken NC, Lordick F. Gastric cancer. Lancet. (2020) 396(10251):635–48. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31288-5

7. Tan IB, Ivanova T, Lim KH, Ong CW, Deng N, Lee J, et al. Intrinsic subtypes of gastric cancer, based on gene expression pattern, predict survival and respond differently to chemotherapy. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 141(2):476–85, 485.e1-11. doi: 10.4016/32808.01

8. Lei Z, Tan IB, Das K, Deng N, Zouridis H, Pattison S, et al. Identification of molecular subtypes of gastric cancer with different responses to PI3-kinase inhibitors and 5-fluorouracil. *Gastroenterology*. (2013) 145(3):554–65. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.05.010

9. Levine B, Kroemer G. Biological functions of autophagy genes: A disease perspective. Cell (2019) 176(1-2):11-42. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.09.048

10. Ouyang C, You J, Xie Z. The interplay between autophagy and apoptosis in the diabetic heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2014) 71:71–80. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.10.014

11. Mathew R, Karantza-Wadsworth V, White E. Role of autophagy in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2007) 7(12):961–7. doi: 10.1038/nrc2254

12. Yang C, Li Y, Hu W, Wang X, Hu J, Yuan C, et al. TEOA promotes autophagic cell death via ROS-mediated inhibition of mTOR/p7086k signaling pathway in pancreatic cancer cells. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:734818. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.734818

13. Li X, He S, Ma B. Autophagy and autophagy-related proteins in cancer. *Mol Cancer* (2020) 19(1):12. doi: 10.1186/s12943-020-1138-4

14. Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, et al. Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. *Cell.* (2012) 149(5):1060–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042

15. Liang C, Zhang X, Yang M, Dong X. Recent progress in ferroptosis inducers for cancer therapy. *Adv Mater* (2019) 31(51):e1904197. doi: 10.1002/adma.201904197

16. Zhang H, Deng T, Liu R, Ning T, Yang H, Liu D, et al. CAF secreted miR-522 suppresses ferroptosis and promotes acquired chemo-resistance in gastric cancer. *Mol Cancer* (2020) 19(1):43. doi: 10.1186/s12943-020-01168-8

17. Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGF β attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. *Nature*. (2018) 554(7693):544–8. doi: 10.1038/nature25501

18. Katheder NS, Khezri R, O'Farrell F, Schultz SW, Jain A, Rahman MM, et al. Microenvironmental autophagy promotes tumour growth. *Nature.* (2017) 541 (7637):417–20. doi: 10.1038/nature20815

19. Zeng D, Zhou R, Yu Y, Luo Y, Zhang J, Sun H, et al. Gene expression profiles for a prognostic immunoscore in gastric cancer. *Br J Surg* (2018) 105(10):1338–48. doi: 10.1002/bjs.10871

20. Jiang Y, Zhang Q, Hu Y, Li T, Yu J, Zhao L, et al. ImmunoScore signature: A prognostic and predictive tool in gastric cancer. *Ann Surg* (2018) 267(3):504–13. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002116

21. Xia Q-D, Sun J-X, Liu C-Q, Xu J-Z, An Y, Xu M-Y, et al. Ferroptosis patterns and tumor microenvironment infiltration characterization in bladder cancer. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2022) 10:832892. doi: 10.3389/ fcell.2022.832892

22. Xia Q-D, Sun J-X, Xun Y, Xiao J, Liu C-Q, Xu J-Z, et al. SUMOylation pattern predicts prognosis and indicates tumor microenvironment infiltration characterization in bladder cancer. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:864156. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.864156

23. Cristescu R, Lee J, Nebozhyn M, Kim K-M, Ting JC, Wong SS, et al. Molecular analysis of gastric cancer identifies subtypes associated with distinct clinical outcomes. Nat Med (2015) 21(5):449-56. doi: 10.1038/ nm.3850

24. Daassi D, Mahoney KM, Freeman GJ. The importance of exosomal PDL1 in tumour immune evasion. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2020) 20(4):209–15. doi: 10.1038/ s41577-019-0264-y

25. Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, Sun X, Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, et al. Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. *Autophagy.* (2016) 12(8):1425-8. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2016.1187366

26. Li Y, Wang X, Huang Z, Zhou Y, Xia J, Hu W, et al. CISD3 inhibition drives cystine-deprivation induced ferroptosis. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12(9):839. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-04128-2

27. Du J, Wang X, Li Y, Ren X, Zhou Y, Hu W, et al. DHA exhibits synergistic therapeutic efficacy with cisplatin to induce ferroptosis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma *via* modulation of iron metabolism. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12 (7):705. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-03996-y

28. Ren X, Li Y, Zhou Y, Hu W, Yang C, Jing Q, et al. Overcoming the compensatory elevation of NRF2 renders hepatocellular carcinoma cells more vulnerable to disulfiram/copper-induced ferroptosis. *Redox Biol* (2021) 46:102122. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2021.102122

29. Li Y, Xia J, Shao F, Zhou Y, Yu J, Wu H, et al. Sorafenib induces mitochondrial dysfunction and exhibits synergistic effect with cysteine depletion by promoting HCC cells ferroptosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2021) 534:877–84. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.10.083

30. Du J, Wang T, Li Y, Zhou Y, Wang X, Yu X, et al. DHA inhibits proliferation and induces ferroptosis of leukemia cells through autophagy dependent degradation of ferritin. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2019) 131:356–69. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.12.011

31. White E. The role for autophagy in cancer. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(1):42-6. doi: 10.1172/JCI73941

32. Karsli-Uzunbas G, Guo JY, Price S, Teng X, Laddha SV, Khor S, et al. Autophagy is required for glucose homeostasis and lung tumor maintenance. *Cancer Discovery* (2014) 4(8):914–27. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0363

33. Nassour J, Radford R, Correia A, Fusté JM, Schoell B, Jauch A, et al. Autophagic cell death restricts chromosomal instability during replicative crisis. *Nature*. (2019) 565(7741):659–63. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0885-0

34. Li G-H, Lin X-L, Zhang H, Li S, He X-L, Zhang K, et al. Corrigendum to "Ox-lp(a) transiently induces HUVEC autophagy *via* an ROS-dependent PAPR-1-LKB1-AMPK-mTOR pathway" [Atherosclerosis 243 (1) (2015) 223-235]. *Atherosclerosis.* (2016) 250:189. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.01.045

35. Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. *Nature*. (2017) 541(7637):321-30. doi: 10.1038/nature21349

36. Gajewski TF, Woo S-R, Zha Y, Spaapen R, Zheng Y, Corrales L, et al. Cancer immunotherapy strategies based on overcoming barriers within the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2013) 25(2):268–76. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2013.02.009

37. Zhao E, Feng I, Bai I, Cui H. NUCKS promotes cell proliferation and suppresses autophagy through the mTOR-Beclin1 pathway in gastric cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2020) 39(1):194. doi: 10.1186/s13046-020-01696-7

38. Yoshioka A, Miyata H, Doki Y, Yamasaki M, Sohma I, Gotoh K, et al. LC3, an autophagosome marker, is highly expressed in gastrointestinal cancers. *Int J Oncol* (2008) 33(3):461–8. doi: 10.3892/ijo_00000028

39. Mohamed A, Ayman A, Deniece J, Wang T, Kovach C, Siddiqui MT, et al. P62/Ubiquitin IHC expression correlated with clinicopathologic parameters and outcome in gastrointestinal carcinomas. *Front Oncol* (2015) 5:70. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2015.00070

40. Lee SH, Jeong EG, Yoo NJ, Lee SH. Mutational and expressional analysis of BNIP3, a pro-apoptotic bcl-2 member, in gastric carcinomas. *APMIS.* (2007) 115 (11):1274–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0643.2007.00795.x

41. Martínez-Jiménez F, Muiños F, Sentís I, Deu-Pons J, Reyes-Salazar I, Arnedo-Pac C, et al. A compendium of mutational cancer driver genes. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2020) 20(10):555–72. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-0290-x

42. Oh J-H, Jang SJ, Kim J, Sohn I, Lee J-Y, Cho EJ, et al. Spontaneous mutations in the single gene represent high tumor mutation burden. *NPJ Genom Med* (2020) 5:33. doi: 10.1038/s41525-019-0107-6

43. Hassannia B, Vandenabeele P, Vanden Berghe T. Targeting ferroptosis to iron out cancer. Cancer Cell (2019) 35(6):830-49. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.04.002

44. Liu J, Kuang F, Kroemer G, Klionsky DJ, Kang R, Tang D. Autophagydependent ferroptosis: Machinery and regulation. *Cell Chem Biol* (2020) 27(4):420– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.02.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jian Song, University Hospital Münster, Germany

REVIEWED BY Lele Zhu, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States Ling Yin, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States Yi Sun, Zhejiang University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Hanxiang An anhanxiang@xmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 14 June 2022 ACCEPTED 01 August 2022 PUBLISHED 18 August 2022

CITATION

Huang T, Li J, Liu X, Shi B, Li S and An H-X (2022) An integrative pancancer analysis revealing the difference in small ring finger family of SCF E3 ubiquitin ligases. *Front. Immunol.* 13:968777. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.968777

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Huang, Li, Liu, Shi, Li and An. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

An integrative pan-cancer analysis revealing the difference in small ring finger family of SCF E3 ubiquitin ligases

Tingting Huang^{1,2†}, Jiwei Li^{3†}, Xinli Liu¹, Bingbing Shi⁴, Shiqin Li⁵ and Han-Xiang An^{1*}

¹Department of Medical Oncology, Xiang'an Hospital of Xiamen University, Xiamen, China, ²Department of Medical Oncology, Xiamen Key Laboratory of Endocrine-Related Cancer Precision Medicine, Xiamen, China, ³Department of Respiratory, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Xiang'an Hospital of Xiamen University, Xiamen, China, ⁴Department of Critical Care Medicine, The Affiliated Hospital of Putian University, Putian, China, ⁵Department of Gastroenterology, Xiamen Branch, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Xiamen, China

Background: The SCF (Skp1-cullin-F-box proteins) complex is the largest family of E3 ubiquitin ligases that mediate multiple specific substrate proteins degradation. Two ring-finger family members RBX1/ROC1 and RBX2/RNF7/ SAG are small molecular proteins necessary for ubiquitin ligation activity of the multimeric SCF complex. Accumulating evidence indicated the involvement of RBX proteins in the pathogenesis and development of cancers, but no research using pan-cancer analysis for evaluating their difference has been directed previously.

Methods: We investigated RBX1/2 expression patterns and the association with clinicopathological features, and survivals of cancer patients obtained from the TCGA pan-cancer data. The binding energies of RBX1/2-CUL1 complexes were preliminarily calculated by using molecular dynamics simulations. Meanwhile, we assessed their immune infiltration level across numerous databases, including TISIDB and Timer database.

Results: High expression levels of RBX1/2 were observed in most cancer types and correlated with poor prognosis of patients analyzed. Nonetheless, exceptions were observed: RBX2 expression in KICH was higher than normal renal tissues and played a detrimental role in KICH. The expression of RBX1 was not associated with the prognostic risk of KICH. Moreover, the combination of RBX1 and CUL1 expression is more stable than that of RBX2 and CUL1. RBX1/2 expression showed their own specific characteristics in tumor pathological stages and grades, copy number variation and immune components.

Conclusions: These findings not only indicated that the difference of RBX1/2 might result in varying degrees of tumor progression, but also suggested that they might serve as biomarkers for immune infiltration in cancers, shedding new light on therapeutics of cancers.

KEYWORDS

pan-cancer, ring-finger proteins, SCF complex, prognosis, immune infiltration, difference

Introduction

The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) is the major proteolytic system that degrades accumulated or misfolded proteins for cellular homeostasis (1, 2). It operates through the presentation of ubiquitin to the substrate proteins using a covalent modification pattern, which involves a series of multienzymes, i.e., Ubiquitin (Ub)-activating enzyme (E1), Ub-conjugating enzyme (E2) and Ub ligase (E3) (3). Among the three enzymes, the E3 ubiquitin ligases play a pivotal role in determining specificity of substrate proteolysis (4, 5). Based on the structural characteristics, E3 enzyme can be divided into four categories: RING E3s, HECT E3s, U-box E3s and RBR E3s (4). The SCF multisubunit complex, the most common RING E3s composing of a scaffold protein cullin1, a Ring protein (RBX1 or RBX2), an adaptor protein and a substrate receptor protein, is the largest family of E3s that promote the degradation of about 20% of UPS-regulated proteins (6, 7).

RBX1/2 usually ubiquitously expressed in human tissues, such as heart, colon, skeletal muscle, and testes (8, 9). RBX proteins can promote ubiquitin transfer from the E2 to the substrates and further enhances cullins activity, therefore, they constitute the catalytic cores of SCF complexes (10). Previous studies have confirmed that RBX proteins were found to be functionally non-redundant. Deletion of RBX1 in mice results in early embryo death (E7.5) due to proliferation failure in a wildtype RBX2 background, whereas inactivation of RBX2 causes late embryo death (E11.5-12.5) associated with cardiovascular defects (11, 12). Although both RBX proteins are highly conservative at protein level, share similar ring finger domain structure, their effect on the regulation of substrate degradation may vary (11). RBX1 mainly mediates proteolysis, including cell cycle regulators (e.g., cell cycle inhibitor p21/p27/p53/p57, and cyclin A/D/E), transcription factors (e.g., E2F1, FOXO1, myc, and c-Jun), DNA replication factor CDT1, and others. RBX2 promotes ubiquitination and degradation of a number of protein substrates, including c-Jun, DEPTOR, HIF-1a, IkBa, NF1, NOXA, p27 and procaspase-3, to degrade different substrates causing various phenotypes (13-16).

To be specific in cancers, RBX1 was shown to be highly expressed in bladder, gastric, prostate and renal cancer (17–19). Notably, RBX2, is rarely expressed in normal tissues, but highly expressed in lung, liver, gastric and renal cancer (20–22). Previous studies on the Ring finger family have focused on the

oncogenic function and degradation ability of RBX1 and RBX2 in specific tumors, respectively, which provides a limited understanding of their role in SCF E3s. However, the difference of RBX members in pan-cancer has not been described. To explore the effect of RBX1/2 on the overall picture of SCF complex and in the tumor evolution, we comprehensively analyzed their difference in pan-cancer using the TCGA database in the present study. Their diversities were reflected in the following aspects including mRNA level, protein level, pathological features, prognosis and copy number variation, immune infiltration level.

Materials and methods

Evaluation the two cullin1-based complexes by binding free energy simulations

The CUL1-RBX1 and CUL1-RBX2 complexes were obtained from the Protein Data Bank (RCSB PDB www.rcsb.org) database (23). The molecular dynamic simulation for the CUL1-RBX1/2 complex used PDB ID: 1LDJ and 7 ONI as the templates. A molecular dynamic simulation was performed for the two complexes in a water environment (310 K temperature) with the force field charmm36-feb2021.ff using GROMACS software (24). The binding affinity was calculated using g_mmpbsa and the PyMOL software was used for visualization (25).

The cancer genome atlas pan-cancer data

We used the UCSC Xena (https://xenabrowser.net/) to download TCGA pan-cancer data, including survival data, clinical data, stemness score (RNA based) and immune subtype (26). RBX1/2 expression was integrated by Perl software. We used the Wilcox test to assess the difference between normal and tumor tissues. P value less than 0.05 is considered as difference. A heatmap and box plot were illustrated by the R-package "ggpubr" and "pheatmap", respectively. Furthermore, Correlation analysis among Ring finger family genes was performed by R-package "corrplot".

Clinicopathologic features and survival analysis of expression of Ring finger members

UALCAN was used to analyze the RBX-proteins expression in several cancers, including BRAC, OV, UCEC and PAAD (27). *P< 0.05, **P< 0.01, and ***P< 0.001. Additionally, we obtained box plots of the RBX1/2 expression in different pathological grades and stages *via* the TISIDB database (28) (http://cis.hku.hk/TISIDB/index.php). Survival analysis of RBX1/2 was used for the "survival" and "survminer" R package. A difference of p less than 0.05 was statistically significant. Meanwhile, we downloaded the TCGA pan-cancer mRNA expression and survival data to conduct the Cox analysis for illustrating the association between RBX1/2 expression and the survival of patients.

RBX1/2 CNV profile in pan-cancer based on GSCA

Gene Set Cancer Analysis (GSCA) platform is a web server that integrated multiomics data based on TCGA database (29) (http://bioinfo.life.hust.edu.cn/web/GSCA/). Based on CNV module, the proportion of RBX1/2 heterozygous/homozygous and amplification/deletion, Spearman correlation between RBX1/2 mRNA expression and CNV, and the survival difference between their CNV and wild type were displayed in pan-cancer.

Correlation analysis of Ring finger family gene expression with immune components in pan-cancer

The correlation between Ring finger family expression and immune subtypes of different cancer types were explored via the TISIDB database. Furthermore, we selected four types of cancers (COAD, GBM, LIHC, LUAD) to analyze the relationship between RBX1/2 and immune infiltration using Timer database (30)(https://cistrome.shinyapps.io/timer/). Moreover, the associations of RBX1/2 levels with 47 common immune checkpoint genes selected were also evaluated. R software was used to calculate the correlation between RBX1/2 expression and TMB/MSI and the Fmsb R package was used for visualization. Then, we performed the tumor microenvironment analysis for obtaining the estimate score profile by using the "estimate" R package, and the Spearman correlation test for conducting the correlation analysis between RBX1/2 expression and immune score, estimate score, stromal score, DNAss, RNAss and tumor purity in pan-cancer.

Cell culture

All human breast cancer cell lines (MDA-231, BT-474, MCF-7) and normal breast epithelial cell (MCF-10A), lung cancer cell lines (H1975, A549, PC9) and normal lung epithelial cell (BEAS-2B), colorectal cancer cell lines (HCT116, SW480, SW620) and normal colon epithelial cell (HCoEpic), renal cancer cell lines (Caki-1, 786-O, 769-P) and normal renal tubular epithelial cell (HK-2) were purchased from the American Type Tissue Collection (ATCC) and cultured according to the manufacturer's instructions.

qRT-PCR analysis

cDNA reverse transcription and fluorescence quantitative PCR amplification were performed using SPARKscript IISYBR Green qRT-PCR Kit (Shandong Sparkjade Biotechnology Co., Ltd.) as previously reported (31). The primers used were as follows: RBX1 forward, 5'-TTGTGGTTGATAAC TGTGCCAT -3',

- RBX1 reverse, 5'-GACGCCTGGTTAGCTTGACAT -3'; RBX2 forward, 5'-TGGAAGACGGAGAGGAAACCT -3', RBX2 reverse, 5'-TGAGGGAGAACATCTTGTCGC -3' β-Actin forward, 5'- CGTGCGTGACATTAAGGAGAAG -3',
- β -Actin reverse, 5'- GGAAGGAAGGCTGGAAGAGTG -3';.

All genes were normalized to β -actin, and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method was applied to evaluate the relative levels of genes. The comparison between the experimental group and the normal group was performed using the Dunnett's t test. P less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Molecular dynamics simulations and free energy calculations of the CUL1-RBX1 and CUL1-RBX2 complexes

The SCF complexes are Ring-type E3s that composited of cullin1, SKP1, RBX1/2 and a member of the F-box protein family. Although the abundance of SCF is increased by the variety of F-box proteins, they share the two ring components RBX1 and RBX2 (32–34). RBX1 is constitutively expressed and induced upon mitogen, whereas RBX2 is stress-inducible and induced upon UV, TPA or ROS (14). In this study, we separately calculated the binding affinity of CUL1-RBX1 and CUL1-RBX2 complexes to rough compare stability of SCF complex formed by

RBX1/2. The binding energy calculated by the former was -262.59 kJ/mol and the latter was -146.8 kJ/mol (Supplementary Figures 1A, B). The result displayed the combination of RBX1 and CUL1 may be more stable than that of RBX2 and CUL1, suggesting that RBX1 is more likely to form stable SCF complexes to degrade more substrates.

Expression of RBX1/2 in various types of cancers and association with pathological characteristics

We performed a scale analysis of the expression of RBX1/2 from the TCGA database and found that they are highly expressed in most cancers. However, there were a few apparent exceptions in the 18 types of cancers, a lower RBX1

expression was detected in KICH compare to the matches normal tissues, whereas RBX2 was under expressed in COAD and READ in addition to KICH (Figure 1A). To validate the differences of RBX1/2 expression, we analysed transcriptional expression of these both genes in various tumor cell lines of four common types of cancer (breast, lung, colorectal and renal cancer) and normal cells. Except for the expression of RBX1 in lung cancer and RBX2 in COAD, the experimental results are basically consistent with the bioinformatics analysis (Supplementary Figure 2).

Further analysis revealed that there were significant difference of Ring finger genes expression comparing primary tumor to adjacent normal tissues, for example, RBX2 expression in COAD tissues was lower than adjacent non-COAD tissues, while RBX1 was in the opposite situation. The difference of RBX2 expression between LUSC and adjacent tissues was much



The mRNA expression patterns of RBX1/2 in cancers. (A) Comparison of RBX1/2 expression between tumor and normal samples. (B) Heatmap showing the difference of RBX1/2 gene expression in 18 cancer types from TCGA database. The red and green indicate the high or low expression, respectively. (C) Boxplot illustrating the distribution of RBX1/2 gene expression in various cancer. (D) The correlation between RBX1 and RBX2. The blue dot indicated the positive correlation. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.
more obvious than that of RBX1 (Figure 1B). Meanwhile, the overall expression level of RBX2 was higher than that of RBX1 in pan-cancer (Figure 1C). We also analyzed that RBX1 and RBX2 are the two genes with significant positive correlation (Correlation coefficient = 0.49, Figure 1D).

We investigated the RBX-proteins expression levels in BRCA, OV, UCEC and PAAD (Figure 2A). The results showed RBX2 expression in BRCA and OV was lower than in normal tissues, while RBX1 expression had no significant difference on the above tumors. Moreover, there was no difference on RBX2 expression in PAAD, however, RBX1 expression was higher in matched normal tissues. Another interesting phenomenon that RBX-proteins expression in UCEC was exact opposite and statistically significant was also illustrated. We showed RBX1/2 expression with pathological grades of KIRC, LIHC, LGG and UCEC using TISIDB database (Figure 2B), revealing that there were no differences in the association between RBX1 expression and clinical grades in LIHC and UCEC, whereas RBX2 expression has statistical significance in association with pathological grade of KIRC, LIHC and UCEC. We also observed the significant correlation between RBX1/2 expression and the pathological stages of several cancers including KIRC, KIRP, LIHC and PAAD (Figure 2C). The expression of RBX1 was not related to the stage of LIHC and PAAD, while RBX2 was in the opposite situation. Moreover, the association with RBX1/2 expression and KIRP stages was completely opposite, RBX1 was significantly correlated with the stages of KIRP. In conclusion, different expression patterns of RBX1/2 in various cancer types may lead to different characterization of tumors.

Prognostic value of RBX1/2 across cancer types

The survival analysis of TCGA database presented a correlation between Ring finger family gene expression and prognosis in several cancers, showing that higher RBX1 expression was associated with poor OS in ACC (P<0.001), KIRC (P=0.011), LIHC (P=0.008), and UVM (P<0.001) (Figure 3A), whereas higher RBX2 expression was linked to poor prognosis in KICH (P=0.025), KIRC (P=0.001), LAML (P=0.026), LGG (P=0.043), LIHC (P=0.005) and PAAD (P=0.038) (Figure 3B). Interestingly, RBX1 had a protective role in OV (P=0.002), PCPG (P=0.014), suggesting RBX1 may exert tumor suppressor effect in OV and PCPG (Figure 3A).

We further investigated prognosis risk of the Ring finger family genes in pan-cancer by COX analysis (Figure 4). Our results indicated that RBX1 played a detrimental role in ACC, KIRC, LIHC and UVM (HR>1, P<0.05). On the other hand, RBX1 had a protective role in LGG, PCPG and CESC (HR<1, P<0.05). RBX2 acted as a detrimental prognostic factor in ACC,

KICH, KIRC, LIHC and PAAD (HR>1, *P*<0.05). In contrast, RBX2 was a protective prognostic factor in CESC (HR<1, P<0.05). We have enumerated three tumors of the highest incidence (breast, colorectal and lung cancer) to perform comprehensive prognosis analysis with RBX1/2 expression by the PrognoScan database (35) (Table 1). RBX1 and RBX2 were the high-risk genes in breast cancer (RFS). Notably, RBX2 acted as a detrimental prognostic factor in colorectal cancer (OS, DFS) and lung cancer (OS, RFS). However, RBX1 had no significant relation with the prognosis in above cancers. The difference between RBX1 and RBX2 may lead to different tumor outcomes.

RBX1/2 CNV profile in pan-cancer based on GSCA analysis

We summarized RBX1/2 CNV landscape in 33 cancer types by using the GSCA database, respectively (Figure 5). The highest heterozygous amplification ratio (45.71%) for RBX1 was found in LUSC, whereas the heterozygous amplification ratio of RBX2 presented a higher level of state in several cancers (>50%) including CESC, HNSC, LUSC and OV. Furthermore, a relatively higher heterozygous deletion ratio (>50%) for RBX1 was found in MESO, OV and UCS. However, RBX2 showed a heterozygous deletion ratio of more than 50% only in PCPG. The homozygous amplification of RBX2, had a significant proportion in some specific cancers containing CESC, ESCA, HNSC, LUSC and OV, for example, RBX2 homozygous amplification in LUSC was accounted for about 20% (Figure 5A). We also explored the association between RBX1/2 CNV and their mRNA expression (Figure 5B). Except for CHOL, DLBC, KICH, KIRC, LAML, PRAD, READ, THYM and UVM, the rest 24 cancer types were statistically significant for the correlation between RBX1 CNV and its mRNA expression. In addition to DLBC, LAML and THCA, RBX2 CNV had also a statistical significance with its mRNA expression in most cancers (Figure 5B). Subsequently, the profile of survival between the two members associated gene set CNV groups in the selected cancers was also summarized. The results suggested that wide type RBX1 had all statistical significance on OS, PFS, DFS and DFI in UCEC and KIRP. However, wide type RBX2 had all statistical significance on above four survival indicators only in UCEC (Figure 5C).

RBX1/2 expression is related to immune subtypes in cancers

Previous studies determined that RBX1 and RBX2 were involved in immunomodulatory processes (19, 36), therefore, we compared the relationships between RBX1/2 expression and immune subtypes through the TISIDB database (Figure 6).



RBX1/2 expression based on tumor types and individual pathological grades and stages. (A) RBX-proteins expression in BRCA, OV, UCEC and PAAD. ns is considered as no statistical difference, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001. Up or down arrow represented the expression of tumor samples more or less than the corresponding normal samples, respectively. (B) The expression levels of RBX1/2 were analyzed by tumor pathological grades (grade1, grade2, grade3, grade4) of KIRC, LIHC, LGG and UCEC. P value less than 0.05 is considered as difference. (C) The expression levels of RBX1/2 were analyzed by tumor pathological stages (stage I, stage II, stage III, and stage IV) of KIRC, KIRP, LIHC and PAAD. P value less than 0.05 is considered as difference.

Immune subtypes were classified into six types, including C1 (wound healing), C2 (IFN-gamma dominant), C3 (inflammatory), C4 (lymphocyte depleted), C5 (immunologically quiet) and C6 (TGF-b dominant). Our

analyses showed that RBX1 expression in the immune subtypes of BLCA, UCEC and UVM had no statistical significance, while RBX2 expression in above three cancers was closely related with those immune subtypes. Conversely,



Kaplan-Meier survival curves comparison of high and low expression of Ring finger family gene in pan-cancer. (A) OS survival curves of RBX1 in different cancers: ACC, p<0.001; KIRC, p=0.011; LIHC, p=0.008; UVM, p<0.001; OV, p=0.002; PCPG, p=0.014. (B) OS survival curves of RBX2 in different cancers: KICH, p=0.025; KIRC, p=0.001; LAML, p=0.026; LGG, p=0.043; LIHC, p=0.005; PAAD, p=0.038.

RBX2 expression had no correlation with the COAD immune subtypes. Of interest, taking KIRC as the example, RBX1 showed high expression in C2 and C6 types, however, RBX2 expression on C1 immune subtype was the highest in KIRC. Furthermore, we investigated the association with RBX1/2 expression and immune subtypes in the TCGA pan-cancer data, illustrating that the expression of RBX1 was lowest in the C3 immune subtype, while RBX2 was lowest in the C5 immune subtype (Supplementary Figure 3). Based on the above results, we concluded that RBX1/2 expression differs in immune subtypes of various tumor cancers.

Association between RBX1/2 mRNA expression and immune infiltration in pan-cancer

Studies indicated that RBX1 expression are associated with the immune suppressive function of Treg cells, and T-cell deficiency, and RBX2 could trigger a series of immune responses, suggesting they may play important roles in regulating immune cells (37, 38). We found a strong correlation between RBX1/2 expression and the levels of immune infiltration in COAD, GBM, LIHC and LUAD by



analysis of the TIMER database (Figure 7). The expression of RBX1 was in connection with the infiltration of B cell, CD4⁺ T cells and neutrophils in above four cancers (Figure 7A). With regard to RBX2, the infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells and macrophages have a positive correlation with RBX2 in COAD and LIHC (Figure 7B). We also conducted the co-expression analysis to further explore the association between RBX1/2 expression and immune checkpoints in pan-cancer using the TCGA database. As shown in Figure 8A, RBX1 was positively correlated with these immune markers in SARC, TCGT and

UVM, whereas the positive association between RBX2 mRNA and immune checkpoints existed in LGG and LIHC (Figure 9A). Interestingly, we found that RBX1 was positively correlated with the expression levels of PD1 (PDCD1) and CTLA-4 in BRCA, KIRP, LIHC, SARC, TCGT, THCA and UVM (Figure 8A). RBX2 had a closely tie with the expression level of PD-L1 (CD274) in BLCA, COAD, HNSC, KIRC, LAML, LIHC, OV, PCPG, PRAD, SKCM, TGCT and THCA (Figure 9A). These results indicated that RBX1/2 might regulate different immune response in various cancer types.

TABLE 1 Ring finger family gene expression was related to the prognosis of different cancers in PrognoScan.

Gene	Dataset	Cancer type	Endpoint	Number	COX P-value	HR	95% CI (low-high)
RBX1	GSE1456	Breast cancer	RFS	159	0.026281	1.01	1.13-6.70
RBX1	GSE7378	Breast cancer	DFS	54	0.602293	0.33	0.40-4.92
RBX1	GSE17537	Colorectal cancer	OS	55	0.992477	-0.01	0.26-3.73
RBX1	GSE17536	Colorectal cancer	DFS	145	0.707538	0.19	0.44-3.36
RBX1	GSE13213	Lung cancer	OS	117	0.051215	0.76	1.00-4.63
RBX1	GSE31210	Lung cancer	RFS	204	0.082506	0.81	0.90-5.58
RBX2	GSE1456	Breast cancer	RFS	159	0.002736	1.32	1.58-8.81
RBX2	GSE7378	Breast cancer	DFS	54	0.046315	-0.96	0.15-0.98
RBX2	GSE17537	Colorectal cancer	OS	55	0.041411	1.20	1.05-10.58
RBX2	GSE17536	Colorectal cancer	DFS	145	0.043114	1.07	1.03-8.20
RBX2	GSE13213	Lung cancer	OS	117	0.000608	1.12	1.62-5.83
RBX2	GSE31210	Lung cancer	RFS	204	0.000007	1.64	2.52-10.58

RFS, relapse free survival; DFS, Disease Free Survival; OS, overall survival; HR, hazard ratio; CI, Confidence Interval.



RBX1/2 expression is related to tumor mutational burden, microsatellite instability and tumor microenvironment

Further analysis found that RBX1 expression was positively correlated with TMB in ACC, BRCA, STAD and UCEC, but negatively correlated with ESCA, THCA and THYM, as seen in Figure 8B. However, RBX2 expression had no relation with TMB in ACC, ESCA, THCA and THYM (Figure 9B). We also found that the RBX1 had a positive association with MSI in BRCA, DLBC, HNSC, KIRC, KIRP, LGG, LIHC, PRAD, SARC, SKCM, STAD and THCA, but had a negative association with CESC, LUSC and TGCT, as seen in Figure 8C. Similarly, correlation analysis between RBX2 expression and MSI was also performed (Figure 9C). In HNSC, KIRC, LIHC, PRAD, READ, SKCM, STAD, THCA and UCEC, RBX2 expression was positively related to MSI, whereas the expression of RBX2 has a negative relationship with GBM (Figure 9C).

To obtain a more comprehensive analysis of the relationship between Ring finger family and immune components, we applied the estimate algorithm to evaluate the stromal and immune scores in 33 cancer types. RBX1/2 existed statistically significance in stromal, immune, and estimate scores (Supplementary Figures 4A-C). Besides, they had a significantly positive or negative correlation with DNAss, RNAss and tumor purity in pan-cancer (Supplementary Figures 4D-F). These results suggested RBX1/2 may be involved in different immune processes in various cancer types.



The relationship between RBX1/2 expression and pan-cancer immune subtypes. (A) Correlation of RBX1 expression and immune subtypes in BRCA, COAD, LIHC, LUAD, KIRC, STAD, UCEC and UVM. (B) Correlation of RBX2 expression and immune subtypes in BRCA, COAD, LIHC, LUAD, KIRC, STAD, UCEC and UVM. P value less than 0.05 is considered as difference.

Discussion

Previous studies have systematically provided a comprehensive overview on the alterations of SCF E3 ubiquitin ligases in the pathogenesis and development of cancers (39, 40). RBX1/2 were overexpressed in a number of primary cancer tissues, including carcinoma of lung, liver, breast, colon, and renal. Sun Y et al. has demonstrated that inactivation of either RBX1 or RBX2 inhibits carcinogenesis *via* various mechanisms, including apoptosis and senescence (17, 41, 42). However, two other studies found that only RBX2 overexpression was correlated with the poor prognosis in lung

cancer (21); as well as high RBX1 expression was related to poor survival only in KIRC patients and high RBX2 expression had a close relation with poor prognosis in all three types of RCC (22, 43). At present, the comparison of Ring finger family in the same cancer is rare. The underlying mechanisms by which they contribute to different outcomes in cancer patients remains largely unknown. Therefore, we focused on their differences in mRNA level, protein level, pathological parameters, prognosis and etc. by the pan-cancer analysis in this study Supplementary Table 1. Our result showed that RBX1/2 reflected their characteristics respectively in the observation indicators mentioned, for example, RBX2 expression is more



differentially expressed than RBX1 in LUSC, which may be one of the reasons that only RBX2 expression is associated with lung cancer prognosis.

Accumulating evidence suggests that the E3s dysfunction can contribute to adverse immune response (44–46). Previously, several studies have observed that RBX1 can promote ubiquitin degradation of HBx-induced PD-L1 protein in HCC cells (47). Meanwhile, RBX2-dependent neddylation played a significant role in the regulation of T-cell responses (38). Thus, there is a dire need for exploring the relationship of RBX1/2 expression and immune components. Using bioinformatics methods, we elucidated the immunological role of the Ring finger family across cancers and provided in first time the gene expression and genetic alteration of RBX1/2 in the regulation of different



immune components including their association with PD-L1 expression. This result showed RBX1/2 may be attractive biomarkers of immunotherapy efficacy.

We investigated and integrated information based on bioinformatics and public databases, however, there were still some limitations in the present study. First, whether the Ring finger family is harmful or beneficial remains contradictory because of some conflicting findings from different databases. Second, despite the finding that they were closely associated with immune infiltration and prognosis, we were unable to determine whether these two molecules affected patient survival through immune infiltration. Finally, whether differences in RBXproteins are a decisive factor in the stability of the SCF complex in pan-cancer needs to be further clarified.

In summary, our results revealed that the important role of Ring finger members in the SCF complex, and the expression profile of RBX1/2 in pan-cancer. Moreover, strong correlations between RBX1/2 and disease prognosis and immune components were proved in the present study. Clinical immune markers, such as PD-1, CTLA-4 and PD-L1, have



been confirmed to be closely associated with Ring finger family in a variety of cancers. These findings may provide insights for further investigation of the Ring finger family genes as potential targets in pan-cancer.

Data availability statement

The data that support the findings of our study are openly available from the TCGA, UALCAN, TISIDB, PrognoScan, GSCALite and Timer database at (https://tcgadata.nci.nih.gov/ tcga/,http://ualcan.path.uab.edu/, http://cis.hku.hk/TISIDB/index. php, http://www.abren.net/PrognoScan/, http://bioinfo.life.hust. edu.cn/web/GSCALite/, https://cistrome.shinyapps.io/timer/).

Author contributions

All authors read and approved the final manuscript. HA designed the overall study and revised the paper. TH and JL drafted the manuscript and performed the data analysis. BS, XL and SL participated in the data collection. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version

Funding

This project is supported by the grand "Peking Medical and Health Foundation." Nr.: F3142C

Acknowledgments

We thank the databases of the TCGA, UALCAN, TISIDB, PrognoScan, GSCALite, Timer for the availability of the data.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Park J, Cho J, Song EJ. Ubiquitin-proteasome system (Ups) as a target for anticancer treatment. *Arch Pharm Res* (2020) 43(11):1144-61. doi: 10.1007/s12272-020-01281-8

2. LaPlante G, Zhang W. Targeting the ubiquitin-proteasome system for cancer therapeutics by small-molecule inhibitors. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(12):3079. doi: 10.3390/cancers13123079

3. Li X, Elmira E, Rohondia S, Wang J, Liu J, Dou QP. A patent review of the ubiquitin ligase system: 2015-2018. *Expert Opin Ther Pat* (2018) 28(12):919–37. doi: 10.1080/13543776.2018.1549229

 Ardley HC, Robinson PA. E3 ubiquitin ligases. Essays Biochem (2005) 41:15– 30. doi: 10.1042/eb0410015

5. Berndsen CE, Wolberger C. New insights into ubiquitin E3 ligase mechanism. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2014) 21(4):301–7. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2780

 Zheng N, Schulman BA, Song L, Miller JJ, Jeffrey PD, Wang P, et al. Structure of the Cull-Rbx1-Skp1-F Boxskp2 scf ubiquitin ligase complex. *Nature* (2002) 416 (6882):703–9. doi: 10.1038/416703a

7. Jackson PK, Eldridge AG. The scf ubiquitin ligase: An extended look. *Mol Cell* (2002) 9(5):923–5. doi: 10.1016/s1097-2765(02)00538-5

8. Huang Y, Duan H, Sun Y. Elevated expression of Sag/Roc2/Rbx2/Hrt2 in human colon carcinomas: Sag does not induce neoplastic transformation, but antisense sag transfection inhibits tumor cell growth. *Mol Carcinog* (2001) 30 (1):62–70. doi: 10.1002/1098-2744(200101)30:1%3C62::AID-MC1014% 3E30.CO;2-A

9. Sun Y, Tan M, Duan H, Swaroop M. Sag/Roc/Rbx/Hrt, a zinc ring finger gene family: Molecular cloning, biochemical properties, and biological functions. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2001) 3(4):635–50. doi: 10.1089/15230860152542989

10. Duda DM, Olszewski JL, Tron AE, Hammel M, Lambert LJ, Waddell MB, et al. Structure of a glomulin-Rbx1-Cul1 complex: Inhibition of a ring E3 ligase through masking of its E2-binding surface. *Mol Cell* (2012) 47(3):371–82. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.05.044

11. Wei D, Sun Y. Small ring finger proteins Rbx1 and Rbx2 of scf E3 ubiquitin ligases: The role in cancer and as cancer targets. *Genes Cancer* (2010) 1(7):700–7. doi: 10.1177/1947601910382776

12. Tan M, Davis SW, Saunders TL, Zhu Y, Sun Y. Rbx1/Roc1 disruption results in early embryonic lethality due to proliferation failure, partially rescued by simultaneous loss of P27. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2009) 106(15):6203–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812425106

13. Sun Y, Li H. Functional characterization of Sag/Rbx2/Roc2/Rnf7, an antioxidant protein and an E3 ubiquitin ligase. *Protein Cell* (2013) 4(2):103–16. doi: 10.1007/s13238-012-2105-7

14. Zhou W, Wei W, Sun Y. Genetically engineered mouse models for functional studies of Skp1-Cul1-F-Box-Protein (Scf) E3 ubiquitin ligases. *Cell Res* (2013) 23(5):599-619. doi: 10.1038/cr.2013.44

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.968777/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1

The summarization of alterations of RBX1 and RBX2 in all types of cancers. These statistical data are mainly from online databases and R package processed.

15. He H, Gu Q, Zheng M, Normolle D, Sun Y. Sag/Roc2/Rbx2 E3 ligase promotes uvb-induced skin hyperplasia, but not skin tumors, by simultaneously targeting c-Jun/Ap-1 and P27. *Carcinogenesis* (2008) 29(4):858–65. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgn021

16. Tan M, Gallegos JR, Gu Q, Huang Y, Li J, Jin Y, et al. Sag/Roc-scf betatrcp E3 ubiquitin ligase promotes pro-Caspase-3 degradation as a mechanism of apoptosis protection. *Neoplasia* (2006) 8(12):1042-54. doi: 10.1593/ neo.06568

17. Jia L, Soengas MS, Sun Y. Roc1/Rbx1 E3 ubiquitin ligase silencing suppresses tumor cell growth *Via* sequential induction of G2-m arrest, apoptosis, and senescence. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(12):4974–82. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-08-4671

18. Migita K, Takayama T, Matsumoto S, Wakatsuki K, Tanaka T, Ito M, et al. Prognostic impact of ring box protein-1 (Rbx1) expression in gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* (2014) 17(4):601–9. doi: 10.1007/s10120-013-0318-y

19. Wu Q, Zhou X, Li P, Ding M, You S, Xu Z, et al. Roc1 promotes the malignant progression of bladder cancer by regulating p-I κ b α /Nf-Kb signaling. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2021) 40(1):158. doi: 10.1186/s13046-021-01935-5

20. Jia L, Yang J, Hao X, Zheng M, He H, Xiong X, et al. Validation of Sag/Rbx2/ Roc2 E3 ubiquitin ligase as an anticancer and radiosensitizing target. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(3):814–24. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-09-1592

21. Li H, Tan M, Jia L, Wei D, Zhao Y, Chen G, et al. Inactivation of Sag/Rbx2 E3 ubiquitin ligase suppresses Krasg12d-driven lung tumorigenesis. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(2):835–46. doi: 10.1172/jci70297

22. Wang Y, Tan M, Li H, Li H, Sun Y. Inactivation of sag or Roc1 E3 ligase inhibits growth and survival of renal cell carcinoma cells: Effect of bim. *Transl Oncol* (2019) 12(6):810–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2019.03.002

23. Jiménez-García B, Teixeira JMC, Trellet M, Rodrigues J, Bonvin A. Pdbtools web: A user-friendly interface for the manipulation of pdb files. *Proteins* (2021) 89(3):330–5. doi: 10.1002/prot.26018

24. Van Der Spoel D, Lindahl E, Hess B, Groenhof G, Mark AE, Berendsen HJ. Gromacs: Fast, flexible, and free. *J Comput Chem* (2005) 26(16):1701–18. doi: 10.1002/jcc.20291

25. Mooers BHM. Shortcuts for faster image creation in pymol. Protein Sci (2020) 29(1):268-76. doi: 10.1002/pro.3781

26. Goldman MJ, Craft B, Hastie M, Repečka K, McDade F, Kamath A, et al. Visualizing and interpreting cancer genomics data *Via* the xena platform. *Nat Biotechnol* (2020) 38(6):675–8. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0546-8

 Chandrashekar DS, Bashel B, Balasubramanya SAH, Creighton CJ, Ponce-Rodriguez I, Chakravarthi B, et al. Ualcan: A portal for facilitating tumor subgroup gene expression and survival analyses. *Neoplasia* (2017) 19(8):649–58. doi: 10.1016/ j.neo.2017.05.002 28. Ru B, Wong CN, Tong Y, Zhong JY, Zhong SSW, Wu WC, et al. Tisidb: An integrated repository portal for tumor-immune system interactions. *Bioinformatics* (2019) 35(20):4200–2. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btz210

29. Liu CJ, Hu FF, Xia MX, Han L, Zhang Q, Guo AY. Gscalite: A web server for gene set cancer analysis. *Bioinformatics* (2018) 34(21):3771-2. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty411

30. Li T, Fan J, Wang B, Traugh N, Chen Q, Liu JS, et al. Timer: A web server for comprehensive analysis of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77 (21):e108–e10. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-17-0307

31. Dou XW, Liang YK, Lin HY, Wei XL, Zhang YQ, Bai JW, et al. Notch3 maintains luminal phenotype and suppresses tumorigenesis and metastasis of breast cancer *Via* trans-activating estrogen receptor-A. *Theranostics* (2017) 7 (16):4041–56. doi: 10.7150/thno.19989

32. Ho MS, Tsai PI, Chien CT. F-box proteins: The key to protein degradation. J BioMed Sci (2006) 13(2):181–91. doi: 10.1007/s11373-005-9058-2

33. Kuang P, Tan M, Zhou W, Zhang Q, Sun Y. Sag/Rbx2 E3 ligase complexes with Ubch10 and Ube2s E2s to ubiquitylate B-Trcp1 *Via* K11-linkage for degradation. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:37441. doi: 10.1038/srep37441

34. Tan M, Zhao Y, Kim SJ, Liu M, Jia L, Saunders TL, et al. Sag/Rbx2/Roc2 E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for vascular and neural development by targeting Nf1 for degradation. *Dev Cell* (2011) 21(6):1062–76. doi: 10.1016/ j.devcel.2011.09.014

35. Mizuno H, Kitada K, Nakai K, Sarai A. Prognoscan: A new database for meta-analysis of the prognostic value of genes. *BMC Med Genomics* (2009) 2:18. doi: 10.1186/1755-8794-2-18

36. Tan M, Zhu Y, Kovacev J, Zhao Y, Pan ZQ, Spitz DR, et al. Disruption of Sag/Rbx2/Roc2 induces radiosensitization by increasing ros levels and blocking nf-kappab activation in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2010) 49 (6):976–83. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.05.030

37. Wu D, Li H, Liu M, Qin J, Sun Y. The Ube2m-Rbx1 neddylation-Cullin-Ring-Ligase proteins are essential for the maintenance of regulatory T cell fitness. *Nat Commun* (2022) 13(1):3021. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-30707-8 38. Mathewson ND, Fujiwara H, Wu SR, Toubai T, Oravecz-Wilson K, Sun Y, et al. Sag/Rbx2-dependent neddylation regulates T-cell responses. *Am J Pathol* (2016) 186(10):2679–91. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.06.014

39. Thompson LL, Rutherford KA, Lepage CC, McManus KJ. The scf complex is essential to maintain genome and chromosome stability. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22 (16):8544. doi: 10.3390/ijms22168544

40. Yumimoto K, Yamauchi Y, Nakayama KI. F-box proteins and cancer. Cancers (Basel) (2020) 12(5):1249. doi: 10.3390/cancers12051249

41. Zhang S, Shen Y, Li H, Bi C, Sun Y, Xiong X, et al. The negative cross-talk between Sag/Rbx2/Roc2 and Apc/C E3 ligases in regulation of cell cycle progression and drug resistance. *Cell Rep* (2020) 32(10):108102. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108102

42. Tan M, Li H, Sun Y. Inactivation of Sag/Rbx2/Roc2 E3 ubiquitin ligase triggers senescence and inhibits kras-induced immortalization. *Neoplasia* (2015) 17 (1):114–23. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2014.11.008

43. Altintas E, Kaynar M, Celik ZE, Celik M, Kilic O, Akand M, et al. Expression of ring box-1 protein and its relationship with fuhrman grade and other clinical-pathological parameters in renal cell cancer. *Urol Oncol* (2020) 38(1):6.e17–22. doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2019.09.019

44. Ye P, Chi X, Cha JH, Luo S, Yang G, Yan X, et al. Potential of E3 ubiquitin ligases in cancer immunity: Opportunities and challenges. *Cells* (2021) 10(12):3309. doi: 10.3390/cells10123309

45. Zhang Y, Li LF, Munir M, Qiu HJ. Ring-domain E3 ligase-mediated hostvirus interactions: Orchestrating immune responses by the host and antagonizing immune defense by viruses. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1083. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01083

46. Ottina E, Panova V, Doglio L, Kazachenka A, Cornish G, Kirkpatrick J, et al. E3 ubiquitin ligase Hectd2 mediates melanoma progression and immune evasion. *Oncogene* (2021) 40(37):5567–78. doi: 10.1038/s41388-021-01885-4

47. Chen Z, Chen Y, Peng L, Wang X, Tang N. 2,5-dimethylcelecoxib improves immune microenvironment of hepatocellular carcinoma by promoting ubiquitination of hbx-induced pd-L1. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(2):e001377. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001377

Glossary

RBX1/ROC1	ring box protein 1
RBX2/SAG/ RNF7	rign box protein 2
CUL1	cullin1
OS	overall Survival
DFS	disease Free Survival
DSS	disease specific survival
RFS	relapse free survival
DMFS	distant Metastasis-Free Survival
PFS	progression-Free-Survival
DFI	disease free interval
CNV	copy number variation
TMB	tumor mutational burden
MSI	microsatellite instability
ACC	adrenocortical carcinoma
BLCA	bladder urothelial carcinoma
BRCA	breast invasive carcinoma
CESC	cervical squamous cell carcinoma and endocervical adenocarcinoma
CHOL	cholangiocarcinoma
COAD	colon adenocarcinoma
DLBC	lymphoid neoplasm diffuse large b-cell lymphoma
ESCA	esophageal carcinoma
GBM	glioblastoma multiforme
HNSC	head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
KICH	kidney chromophobe
KIRC	kidney renal clear cell carcinoma
KIRP	kidney renal papillary cell carcinoma
LAML	acute myeloid leukemia
LGG	brain lower grade glioma
LIHC	liver hepatocellular carcinoma
LUAD	lung adenocarcinoma
LUSC	lung squamous cell carcinoma
MESO	mesothelioma
OV	ovarian serous cystadenocarcinoma
PAAD	pancreatic adenocarcinoma
PCPG	pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma
PRAD	prostate adenocarcinoma
READ	rectum adenocarcinoma
SARC	sarcoma
SKCM	skin cutaneous melanoma
STAD	stomach adenocarcinoma
TGCT	testicular germ cell tumors
THYM	thymoma
THCA	thyroid carcinoma
UCS	uterine carcinosarcoma
UCEC	uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma
UVM	uveal melanoma

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY Haitao Luo, University of Jinan, China Gao Ke, Foshan Chancheng Central Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Hanwei Chen docterwei@sina.com Yuguang Li lyg_py@126.com Jianhao Li 18922238032@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 15 June 2022 ACCEPTED 22 July 2022 PUBLISHED 18 August 2022

CITATION

He J, Shen J, Luo W, Han Z, Xie F, Pang T, Liao L, Guo Z, Li J, Li Y and Chen H (2022) Research progress on application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology to the tumor immune microenvironment, autoimmune diseases, and infectious diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 13:969808. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.969808

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 He, Shen, Luo, Han, Xie, Pang, Liao, Guo, Li, Li, and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Research progress on application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology to the tumor immune microenvironment, autoimmune diseases, and infectious diseases

Jinhua He^{1†}, Jian Shen^{1†}, Wenfeng Luo^{1†}, Zeping Han^{1†}, Fangmei Xie¹, Ting Pang¹, Liyin Liao¹, Zhonghui Guo¹, Jianhao Li^{2*}, Yuguang Li^{3*} and Hanwei Chen^{1,4*}

¹Central Laboratory, Central Hospital of Panyu District, Guangzhou, China, ²Institute of Cardiovascular Medicine, Central Hospital of Panyu District, Guangzhou, China, ³Administrative Office, He Xian Memorial Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Medical Imaging Institute of Panyu, Central Hospital of Panyu District, Guangzhou, China

Single-cell omics is the profiling of individual cells through sequencing and other technologies including high-throughput analysis for single-cell resolution, cell classification, and identification as well as time series analyses. Unlike multicellular studies, single-cell omics overcomes the problem of cellular heterogeneity. It provides new methods and perspectives for in-depth analyses of the behavior and mechanism of individual cells in the cell population and their relationship with the body, and plays an important role in basic research and precision medicine. Single-cell sequencing technologies mainly include single-cell transcriptome sequencing, single-cell assay for transposase accessible chromatin with high-throughput sequencing, singlecell immune profiling (single-cell T-cell receptor [TCR]/B-cell receptor [BCR] sequencing), and single-cell transcriptomics. Single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing can be used to obtain a large amount of single-cell gene expression and immunomics data at one time, and combined with transcriptome sequencing and TCR/BCR diversity data, can resolve immune cell heterogeneity. This paper summarizes the progress in applying single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology to the tumor immune microenvironment, autoimmune diseases, infectious diseases, immunotherapy, and chronic inflammatory diseases, and discusses its shortcomings and prospects for future application.

KEYWORDS

single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing, autoimmune diseases, infectious diseases, Chronic inflammatory diseases, Tumor immune microenvironment

Introduction

The immune repertoire (IR) refers to the sum of B and T lymphocytes with functional diversity in an individual's circulatory system at any point in time (1). T and B cells mediate the cellular and humoral immune responses of the body, and recognize and bind antigens through T-cell receptors (TCRs) and B-cell receptors (BCRs) on their respective surfaces to clear pathogens or tumor cells in vivo (2). IR sequencing (IR-seq) targets T and B lymphocytes. Multiplex PCR or 5'-rapid amplification of cDNA (complementary Deoxyribonucleic acid) ends was used to amplify the complementarity-determining region (CDR) that determines the diversity of TCR or BCR, combined with high-throughput sequencing technology, to comprehensively assess the diversity of the immune system and explore the relationship between the IR and disease (3). IR-seq technology mainly includes single-cell TCR and BCR sequencing; a schematic illustration is shown in Figure 1.

Single-cell TCR sequencing by high-throughput sequencing technologies allows detection of the target after amplification and recognition of surface T-cell antigen, analysis of its diversity, and before and after T-cell antigen recognition, can reflect the body's physiological and pathological conditions by detecting changes in T-cell mediated immune responses. Single-cell TCR sequencing can be used to study the transcription and interrelationships of different T-cell clones, thus revealing deeper T-cell functional specificity (4). Single-cell TCR sequencing detects the heavy and light BCR chains after targeted amplification by high-throughput sequencing technology, and comprehensively analyzes the rearranged base sequences of the BCR gene and abundance of each sequence. It is used to study the transcription and interrelationship of different B-cell clones, suggesting a deeper level of B-cell functional specificity, and thus explaining humoral immune response tolerance and high-frequency mutations in B-cell response recognition antigen-related abnormalities (5).

Single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology has the technical advantages of high throughput, high resolution, and comprehensive information, and has been comprehensively applied research of the tumor immune microenvironment, autoimmune diseases, infectious diseases, immunotherapy, chronic inflammation, and other diseases.

Tumor immune microenvironment

Normal karyotype acute myeloid leukemia (NK-AML) is a highly heterogeneous malignancy that exists in a complex immune microenvironment. Understanding tumor-infiltrating T cells is critical for advancing immunotherapy and improving outcomes in patients with this disease. In one study, single-cell sequencing was performed on bone marrow cells from 5 patients with NK-AML (M4/M5) and 1 normal donor. The results showed that mucosa-associated constant T cells (MAITs) were preferentially enriched and likely to be clonally amplified in the NK-AML patients, providing valuable insights into the immune microenvironment of NK-AML (6). In another study, single-cell sequencing was used to analyze 45,000 immune cells from 8 breast cancer patients, as well as matched normal breast tissue, blood, and lymph nodes. The results showed that there was a continuous activation model in T cells and a macrophage polarization model that did not conform to cancer. Understanding immune cell phenotypes in the tumor microenvironment is of great significance in revealing the mechanisms of cancer progression and immunotherapy response (7). In patients with early-stage breast cancer, the degree of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) was associated with the response to chemotherapy and overall survival. Eighteen patients with early-stage breast cancer were treated preoperatively with cryoablation, single-dose anti-CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein), or cryoablation plus ipilimumab. Single-cell sequencing results showed that in basal tumor tissue, T-cell density as measured by TCR sequencing was associated with TIL degree score as measured by hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining. This provides a new direction for further research using TCR sequencing as a biomarker of T-cell response to treatment and cry immunotherapy for early-stage breast cancer (8). Severe immune-related adverse events (irAEs) occur in up to 60% of melanoma patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs). TCR sequencing has been used to examine the T-cell repertoire in peripheral blood samples from melanoma



10.3389/fimmu.2022.969808

patients receiving antitumor therapy. The results showed that the abundance of CD4 memory T cells is associated with the development of severe irAEs; thus, the distribution of related circulating T-cell characteristics induced by ICIs is of great significance for improving clinical diagnosis and management (9). In one study, single-cell RNA combined with TCR sequencing was used to detect "tumor-matched" (TM) CD8+ T cells in the blood of patients with melanoma, using TCR as a molecular barcode. The results showed that TM cells showed higher activation compared to mismatched T cells in the blood and were less depleted than matched cells in the tumor, which has great potential for monitoring anti-tumor CD8+ T cell responses in the blood (10). The detection of TILs is the key to developing immunotherapy and predicting its clinical response in cancer. TCR sequencing analysis of 5,063 T cells isolated from the peripheral blood, tumors, and nearby normal tissues of 6 patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) showed that depleted CD8+ T cells and regulatory T cells (Tregs) were preferentially enriched and clonally amplified in HCC. The expression of layilin was upregulated in activated CD8+ T cells and Tregs and inhibited CD8+ T-cell function in vitro (11). In exhausted T cells and Tregs of liver cancer tissue, its TCRs are reused. The proportion of T cells containing the same TCR is higher in HCC tissues than in peripheral blood and normal tissues, suggesting that clone amplification occurs in exhausted T cells and Tregs in HCC tissues (12). CD4+ T cells have tumorspecific states, and multiple cytotoxic CD4+ T cells have been cloned and amplified. These CD4+ T cells kill autologous tumors in a major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II-dependent manner and are inhibited by Tregs. In addition, the gene expression profile of cytotoxic CD4+ T cells in tumor tissues is associated with the clinical response of metastatic bladder cancer patients treated with anti- programmed death-ligand 1 therapy (13). The number of cytotoxic T cells and clonicity of the TCR are

decreased in patients with squamous cell carcinoma after organ transplantation. Phenotypic function identification of T cells with these TCRs can promote the personalized treatment of skin squamous cell carcinoma with strong immunity (14). Tumor cells from nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) patients show a high degree of intratumor and intertumor heterogeneity, and are characterized by T-cell clones and extended distribution of individual tumors, providing insights into the mechanisms by which immune cells clear tumors and improving NPC targeting and immunotherapy (15). CD8+ TILs and their TCR libraries may be the basis of antitumor immune responses in different hosts, which may have important implications for the development of personalized immunotherapies for cancer (16). T-cell large granular lymphocytic leukemia (T-LGLL) is a lymph proliferative disease characterized by the clonal expansion of terminal differentiation effector and memory cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). Abnormalities in cell survival and apoptotic gene programming and significant downregulation of CD8+T cell apoptotic genes are prominent features of T-LGLL cells (17). The studies on single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology applied to tumors are summarized in Table 1.

Infectious diseases

A total of 41,718 CD3+ T cells have been identified in tuberculosis pleural effusion (TPE), and no difference in distribution has been observed in the CDR3 of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. The hydrophobicity of CDR3 is changed in CD8+ T cells, and T cell receptor beta variable 4-1 (TRBV4-1) is preferentially expressed in TPE; the CD4+ T cell subpopulation may be important for protective immunity against tuberculosis (18). Previously, CD4+ T cells reactivated by cytomegalovirus (CMV) structural protein pp65 were isolated from human peripheral blood with significant

TABLE 1 Summary of the application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology in tumor research.

Disease	Technology	Significance	Reference
Acute myeloid leukemia	scRNA-Seq+ scTCR-Seq	Reveal tumor immune microenvironment	(<u>6</u>)
Breast Cancer	scRNA-Seq+ scTCR-Seq	Reveal tumor immune microenvironment	(7, 8)
Melanoma	scTCRSeq+ scRNA-Seq	Provide clues for disease diagnosis and clinical management; monitor the ability of the blood to respond to anti-tumor CD8 $^+$ T cells	(9, 10)
Liver Cancer	scTCR-Seq	Reveal tumor immune microenvironment	(11, 12)
Bladder Cancer	scTCR-Seq	Predict clinical response to anti-PD-L1 therapy	(13)
Squamous cell carcinoma	scRNA-Seq+ scTCR-Seq	Facilitate personalized treatment of SCC	(14)
Nasopharyngeal carcinoma	scTCR-Seq	Improve targeted therapy and immunotherapy for NPC	(15)
Scale-cell carcinoma of head and neck	scRNA-Seq+ scTCR-Seq	Guide personalized cancer immunotherapy	(16)
large granular lymphocyte leukemia T cells	scRNA-Seq+ scTCR-Seq	Reveal tumor immune microenvironmen	(17)

heterogeneity and potential function. Tregs were the largest population of these reactivated cells. CD4+ CTL1 and CD4+ CTL2 cells reactivated by CMV were cloned and amplified; they share a large TCR library. This study provides clues regarding the function and interaction of CD4+ T-cell subsets during CMV infection (19). The dynamics and diversity of T-cell immune libraries in human immunodeficiency virus-negative pneumocystis pneumonia remain unclear. Single-cell sequencing in the lung tissues of mice infected with pneumocystis showed a decrease in TCR diversity of CD4+ T cells and an increase in CD8+ T cell diversity in mice infected with pneumocystis, providing clues to the mechanism of the host's adaptive immune response to pneumocystis (20). Different T cell clones have been amplified in COVID-19 patients. Further analyses of the VJ gene(V-variable,Jjoining) mix have revealed that among COVID-19 patients, 6 VJ pairs are significantly increased and 139 pairs are significantly reduced. These results contribute to further elucidating the mechanism of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-COV-2)-induced immune responses (21). BCR diversity is significantly reduced in COVID-19 patients, and the CDR3 sequence of the BCR heavy chain is similar to that of healthy controls. Among all cloned BCRs, IgG isotypes have the most frequent class-switching recombination events and the highest rate of somatic super mutation, especially IgG3. This has important implications for elucidating the immune response mechanism of SARS-COV-2 infection (22). A characterization of peripheral blood T and B cell variation in COVID-19 patients shows that humoral immune response and T cell immune memory were positively correlated with disease severity (23). Asymptomatic COVID-19 patients showed an increase in CD56briCD16- natural killer (NK) cells and upregulation of interferon - γ in effector CD4+, CD8+ T cells and NK cells. They showed more robust TCR clone amplification, especially in effector CD4+ T cells, but lacked intense BCR clone amplification compared to moderate patients (24). The germinal center (GC) B-cell subsets and organ specificity of lymph nodes and spleen cells infected with influenza virus continue to differ during the response process, and there is significant clone overlap in GC-derived plasma cells. This provides important clues to understanding the mechanisms of immune responses against viruses (25). Cutaneous erythema migrants (EM) is the first sign of a tick-borne infection called Lyme disease. T cells and innate immune cells predominate in EM lesions and promote the response. B-cell cloning and amplification in the skin of EM patients and the expression of MHC class II genes in EM-associated B cells are upregulated. This provides a direction for revealing the mechanism of immune responses in borrelia infection (26). The application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology to infectious disease research is summarized in Table 2.

Autoimmune diseases

T helper type 1 (Th1) and Th17 cells activated in the peripheral blood of patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome (pSS) express TCRβ variables (TRBV) 3-1/connector (J) 1-2 (CLFLSMSACVW) and TRBV20-1/J1-1 (SVGSTAIPP * T). TCRa variable 8-2/J5 (VVSDTVLETAGE) is expressed by the Th1 cells of pSS patients, and a CDR3α-specific motif (LSTD * E) was found in Th1/Th17 cells. This provides clues to elucidating the pathogenesis of pSS (27). CD8+ and CD4+ T cells are activated in the peripheral blood of patients with adenosine deaminase 2 deficiency, and T cells show significant cell-cell interaction with monocytes, which promote the upregulation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) expression in T cells (28). Immune cells, T cells, and B cells play an important role in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematous (SLE). Sixteen immune cell types are present in the peripheral blood of SLE patients, and TCR and BCR types are increased, providing new approaches for the diagnosis and treatment of SLE (29). Orbital disease, the most serious manifestation of Graves' hyperthyroidism (GH), is an autoimmune-mediated inflammatory disease with typically a low therapeutic effect. The CD4+ CTL population in the peripheral blood of patients with GH has clonal amplification. Their strong cytotoxic response to auto antigens and orbital localization are potentially associated with disease recurrence (30). Somatic mutations in clonally amplified CD8+ lymphocyte populations in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and unique TCRB characteristics have been detected in patients with invasive

TABLE 2 Summary of the application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology in infectious diseases.

Disease	Technology	Significance	Reference
Tuberculosis	scTCR-seq+sc-RNA seq	Involve in protective immunity	(18)
Cytomegalovirus	scTCR-seq+sc-RNA seq	Elucidate the function and interaction of CD4 ⁺ T cells	(19)
Pneumocystis Pneumonia	scTCR-seq+sc-RNA seq	Reveal the mechanisms of host adaptive immune responses to pneumocystis	(20)
COVID-19	scTCR-seq+sc-RNA seq ;scBCR- Seq ; scTCR-Seq+ scBCR-Seq)	Involve in T-cell mediated viral clearance;Reveal the immune response mechanism of viral infection	(21-24)
Borrelia infection	scBCR-seq+sc-RNA seq	Reveal the immune response mechanism of viral infection	(25)
Lyme disease	scBCR-seq+sc-RNA seq	Reveal the immune response mechanism of borrelia Infection	(26)

destructive RA, who express high levels of tumor necrosis factor superfamily member 14 cytokines. The specific characterization of TCR β in CD8+ T lymphocytes may help improve treatment regimens for patients with drug-resistant RA (31). In autoimmune hepatitis, the presence of autoantibodies against soluble liver antigen (SLA) is associated with reduced overall survival, but the associated auto reactive CD4 T cells have not been characterized. SLA-specific CD4T cells have been tracked in peripheral blood by single-cell sequencing. The results showed that: autoreactive SLA-specific CD4 T cells have memory PD-1 +CXCR5-CCR6-CD27+ phenotype, and autoreactive TCR clones mainly exist in memory PD-1+CXCR5-CD4 T cells and induce Bcell differentiation through interleukin 21 (32). The application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology to autoimmune diseases is summarized in Table 3.

Chronic inflammatory diseases

Although various pro- and anti-inflammatory T-cell subsets have been observed in human atherosclerotic plaques, the main question of T-cell immunity remains unanswered. T-cell transcriptome and TCR maps of three important tissues associated with atherosclerosis have been provided by single stepcell sequencing. This approach is expected to address major questions about atherosclerosis autoimmunity (33). Single-cell sequencing of pancreatic immune cells isolated from hereditary and idiopathic chronic pancreatitis (CP) patients undergoing total pancreatectomy has revealed reduced T-cell clonicity in hereditary CP, and C-C motif chemokine receptor 6 (CCR6) ligand (CCL20) expression is significantly upregulated in monocytes of hereditary CP. The CCR6-CCL20 signaling pathway may be used as a potential therapeutic target for human inherited CP (34). The detection of TCR+ macrophages, proliferative macrophages, and natural killer dendritic cells in peritoneal fluid of endometriosis by single-cell sequencing suggests that immune dysfunction occurs in the peritoneal fluid of endometriosis and provides a valuable tool for the future development of immunotherapy (35).

A new fibrotic subpopulation of CD8 T (CCL5 +, CCL4 +) and CD4 T (MT-CO1 +) cells infiltrate the fibrotic liver, characterized by the abnormal activation or inactivation and a marked decline in TCR clones, along with the reduced use of VJ and VDJ fragments. The pattern and dynamics of these individual immune cells in liver fibrosis contribute to elucidating the protective mechanism of TCR in the chronic liver injury response (36). The TCR α chain is significantly enriched in the blood of patients with Crohn's disease (CD), particularly in CD8+ T cell populations, whereas the potential effects of Crohn's associated invariant T-cell subpopulations on CD remains to be elucidated (37). A total of 1650 glutamic acid decarboxylase 65-kilodalton isoform (GAD65)specific CD4(+) T cells were isolated and 1003 different TCRs were identified in the peripheral blood of 6 patients and 10 patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus who were positive for islet autoantibodies. The TRBV5.1 gene was most highly expressed in the GAD65 557I tetramer (+) cells, and these findings provide strong support for revealing the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes (38). Mutations in the transcriptional regulator STAT3 lead to neonatal type 1 diabetes. Paired single-cell TCR and RNA sequencing has shown that STAT3 gain of function (GOF) drives significant proliferation of terminal depletion-resistant effector CD8+ cells. A single-cell assay for transposase accessible chromatin with high-throughput sequencing showed that these effector T cells are epigenetic and have different chromatin structure induced by STAT3-GOF, CD8 +T cells react with known antigen islet-specific glucose-6phosphatase catalytic subunit-related protein, STAT3 mutations contribute to type 1 diabetes through deficiency of CD8+ T cell tolerance (39). A large number of CD8+ T cells continued to progress from central memory to terminal effect in the peripheral blood of patients with Parkinson's disease (PD), and cytotoxic CD4 + T cells (CD4 CTLS) were significantly amplified from Th1 cells, providing valuable insights and rich resources for understanding adaptive immune responses in PD patients (40). Another single-cell sequencing showed that the memory B cells of PD patients were significantly increased and the naive B cells were significantly decreased. The memory B cell population upregulated the expression of MHC II genes (HLA-DRB5, HLA-DQA2, and HLA-DPB1) and transcription factor activator protein 1, and the antigen presentation ability of B cells of PD patients was enhanced. The results provide new insights into humoral immune responses in the pathogenesis of PD (41). The studies on the application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology to chronic inflammatory diseases are summarized in Table 4.

TABLE 3 Summary of studies on the application of single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology in autoimmune diseases.

Disease	Technology	Significance	Reference
Primary Sjögren's syndrome	scTCR-seq	Reveal pathogenesis	(27)
Adenosine deaminase 2	scRNA-seq+scTCR-seq	Reveal pathogenesis	(28)
Systemic lupus erythema	scTCR-seq+scBCR-seq	Provide a new approach for diagnosis and treatment of SLE	(29)
Graves' hyperthyroidism (GH)	scRNA-seq+scTCR-Seq	Provide potential therapeutic targets	(30)
Rheumatoid arthritis	scRNA-seq+scTCR-Seq	Develop improved protocols for resistance therapy in patients	(31)
Autoimmune hepatitis	scTCR-seq	Reveal pathogenesis	(32)

TABLE 4 Summary of studies on the application of single-cell TCR/ BCR sequencing technology in chronic diseases.

Disease	Technology	Significance	Reference
Atherosclerosis	scRNA-seq +scTCR-seq	Reveal the mechanism of immune response	(33)
Chronic pancreatitis	scTCR-seq	Reveal the mechanism of immune response	(34)
Endometriosis	scRNA-seq +scTCR-seq	Reveal the mechanism of immune response	(35)
Hepatic fibrosis	scTCR-seq	Reveal the mechanism of immune response	(36)
Crohn's disease (CD)	scRNA-seq+ scTCR-seq	Reveal the mechanism of immune response	(37)
Type 1 diabetes	scRNA-seq+ scTCR-seq	Reveal the mechanism of immune response	(38, 39)
Parkinson's disease	scRNA-seq+ scBCR-seq	Reveal the mechanism of immune response	(40, 41)

Discussion

Immune library sequencing (single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing) can solve the following problems: identify the sequence composition and diversity of the immune repertoire; explore gene expression and discover new biomarkers; and analyze clonotype composition within/between samples (e.g., proliferative cloning, clonotype overlap between cell types, clonotype diversity) and clonotype composition between samples (e.g., clonotype overlap between different samples of the same organism). Single-cell immunosequencing can simultaneously detect thousands of cells in a single experiment, and the 5'-end mRNA expression profile as well as TCR and BCR information can be obtained simultaneously in a sample. Combined with gene expression profiles and V(D)J data, factors influencing immune responses in complex tissue samples are analyzed. However, single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing technology also has the following shortcomings. 1) Stringent sample requirements: the initial number of cells in a single sample should be 10^5 to 10^6 , and the number of living cells should be more than 80%, and it is recommended to be more than 90%. 2) At present, the proportion of T cells or B cells in tissue samples is not very large. If they are not separated from tissues, the TCR or BCR data will be less abundant.

The development of single-cell sequencing technology has promoted the development and maturity of immunobank sequencing technology. The increasing amount of immunobank data requires efficient analysis technology to realize the rapid and accurate analysis of high-throughput data so that cell heterogeneity in complex immune systems can be explored in a more in-depth and detailed manner. In addition, immunomics research can promote the development of cancer immunotherapy. Exploring early cancer screening from immunomics data is of great significance for cancer treatment, and the richness of the immune library between groups and individuals can directly reflect the body's immune system. Generally, the more subtypes of TCR/BCR, the stronger the organism's ability to identify pathogens, and the less susceptible it is to diseases. However, beyond a certain limit, it is also prone to cause autoimmune diseases. In addition, the body's immune library is not invariable and its diversity is constantly changing with age, environment, drug use, diseases, and other factors. Therefore, the application of immunobank sequencing technology in clinical diagnosis and treatment is helpful for immune monitoring between groups or individuals, exploring the relationship between related diseases (e.g., tumor, disease infection, treatment, and autoimmune diseases) and immune responses, monitoring the effect of immunotherapy, and studying the molecular mechanisms of disease onset and progression.

Author contributions

JHH and JS wrote the manuscript. TP, ZHG and LYL analyzed the data. WFL, ZPH and FMX revised the manuscript. JHL,YGL and HWC provided the funding. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by Medical Science and Technology Research Project of Guangdong Province (No. A2022524; A2020304), Science and Technology Program of Guangzhou (No. 202201010840; 202201010810; 202102080532; 202002030032; 202002020023), Health Commission Program of Guangzhou (20212A010025; 20201A010085), Science and Technology Project of Panyu, Guangzhou (2021-Z04-053; 2020-Z04-026; 2019-Z04-02), Scientific Research project of Guangzhou Panyu Central Hospital (No. 2022Y002; 2021Y004; 2021Y002).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Song L, Cohen D, Ouyang Z, Cao Y, Hu X, Liu XS. TRUST4: immune repertoire reconstruction from bulk and single-cell RNA-seq data. *Nat Methods* (2021) 18:627–30. doi: 10.1038/s41592-021-01142-2

2. Ezdakova IY, Kapustina OV, Valsiferova SV, Grigorev AG. Immune repertoire of sheep blood b-cells in the postvaccination immune response. *Russ Agric Sci* (2022) 47:S101–5. doi: 10.3103/S1068367422010025

3. Lee GKC, Bienzle D, Keller SM, Hwang MH, Darzentas N, Chang H, et al. Use of immune repertoire sequencing to resolve discordant microscopic and immunochemical findings in a case of T cell-rich large b cell lymphoma in a young dog. *BMC Vet Res* (2021) 17:85. doi: 10.1186/s12917-021-02783-3

 Eggesbø LM, Risnes LF, Neumann RS, Aslaksen Lundin KE, Christophersen A, Sollid Magne L, et al. Single-cell TCR sequencing of gut intraepithelial γδ T cells reveals a vast and diverse repertoire in celiac disease. *Mucosal Immunol* (2019) 13(2):313–21.

5. van Bergen C, Koning M, Quinten E, Mykowiecka A, Veelken H. Highthroughput BCR sequencing and single-cell transcriptomics reveal distinct transcriptional profiles associated with subclonal evolution of follicular. *Lymphoma Blood* (2019) 134(Supplement_1):298-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-130508

6. Wu W, Liang X, Li H, Huang X, Wan C, Xie Q, et al. Landscape of T cells in NK-AML(M4/M5) revealed by single-cell sequencing. *J Leukoc Biol* (2022). doi: 10.1002/JLB.5A0721-396RR

7. Azizi E, Carr AJ, Plitas G, Cornish AE, Konopacki C, Prabhakaran S, et al. Single-cell map of diverse immune phenotypes in the breast tumor microenvironment. *Cell* (2018) 174:1293-308.e36. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.060

8. Page DB, Yuan J, Redmond D, Wen YH, Durack JC, Emerson R, et al. Deep sequencing of T-cell receptor DNA as a biomarker of clonally expanded TILs in breast cancer after immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4:835–44. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0013

9. Lozano AX, Chaudhuri AA, Nene A, Bacchiocchi A, Earland N, Vesely MD, et al. T Cell characteristics associated with toxicity to immune checkpoint blockade in patients with melanoma. *Nat Med* (2022) 28:353–62. doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01623-z

10. Zheng C, Zheng L, Yoo JK, Guo H, Zhang Y, Guo X, et al. Landscape of infiltrating T cells in liver cancer revealed by single-cell sequencing. *Cell* (2017) 169:1342–56.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.035

11. Aliya S, Lee H, Alhammadi M, Umapathi R, Huh YS. An overview on singlecell technology for hepatocellular carcinoma diagnosis. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:1402. doi: 10.3390/ijms23031402

12. Oh DY, Kwek SS, Raju SS, Li T, McCarthy E, Chow E, et al. Intratumoral CD4+ T cells mediate anti-tumor cytotoxicity in human bladder cancer. *Cell* (2020) 181:1612–25.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.017

13. Frazzette N, Khodadai-Jamayran A, Doudican N, Santana A, Felsen D, Pavlick AC, et al. Decreased cytotoxic T cells and TCR clonality in organ transplant recipients with squamous cell carcinoma. *NPJ Precis Oncol* (2020) 4:13. doi: 10.1038/s41698-020-0119-9

14. Pauken KE, Shahid O, Lagattuta KA, Mahuron KM, Luber JM, Lowe MM, et al. Single-cell analyses identify circulating anti-tumor CD8 T cells and markers for their enrichment. *J Exp Med* (2021) 218:e20200920. doi: 10.1084/jem.20200920

15. Zhao J, Guo C, Xiong F, Yu J, Ge J, Wang H, et al. Single cell RNA-seq reveals the landscape of tumor and infiltrating immune cells in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Lett* (2020) 477:131–43. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.02.010

16. Woolaver RA, Wang X, Krinsky AL, Waschke BC, Chen SMY, Popolizio V, et al. Differences in TCR repertoire and T cell activation underlie the divergent outcomes of antitumor immune responses in tumor-eradicating versus tumor-progressing hosts. *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9:e001615. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001615

17. Gao S, Wu Z, Arnold B, Diamond C, Batchu S, Giudice V, et al. Single-cell RNA sequencing coupled to TCR profiling of large granular lymphocyte leukemia T cells. *Nat Commun* (2022) 13:1982. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-29175-x

18. Shao MM, Yi FS, Huang ZY, Peng P, Wu FY, Shi HZ, et al. T Cell receptor repertoire analysis reveals signatures of T cell responses to human mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Front Microbiol* (2022) 13:829694. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.829694

19. Lyu M, Wang S, Gao K, Wang L, Zhu X, Liu Y, et al. Dissecting the landscape of activated CMV-stimulated CD4+ T cells in humans by linking singlecell RNA-seq with T-cell receptor sequencing. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:779961. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.779961

20. Yang HQ, Wang YS, Zhai K, Tong ZH. Single-cell TCR sequencing reveals the dynamics of T cell repertoire profiling during pneumocystis infection. *Front Microbiol* (2021) 12:637500. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.637500

21. Wang P, Jin X, Zhou W, Luo M, Xu Z, Xu C, et al. Comprehensive analysis of TCR repertoire in COVID-19 using single cell sequencing. *Genomics* (2020) 113:456–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2020.12.036

22. Jin X, Zhou W, Luo M, Wang P, Xu Z, Ma K, et al. Global characterization of b cell receptor repertoire in COVID-19 patients by single-cell V(D)J sequencing. *Brief Bioinform* (2021) 22:bbab192. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbab192

23. Zhang F, Gan R, Zhen Z, Hu X, Huang Z. Adaptive immune responses to sars-cov-2 infection in severe versus mild individuals. *Signal Transduction Targeted Ther* (2020) 5:156. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00263-y

24. Zhao XN, You Y, Cui XM, Gao HX, Wang GL, Zhang SB, et al. Single-cell immune profiling reveals distinct immune response in asymptomatic COVID-19 patients. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2021) 6:342. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00753-7

25. Mathew NR, Jayanthan JK, Smirnov IV, Robinson JL, Axelsson H, Nakka SS, et al. Single-cell BCR and transcriptome analysis after influenza infection reveals spatiotemporal dynamics of antigen-specific b cells. *Cell Rep* (2021) 35:109286. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109286

26. Jiang R, Meng H, Raddassi K, Fleming I, Hoehn KB, Dardick KR, et al. Single-cell immunophenotyping of the skin lesion erythema migrans identifies IgM memory b cells. *JCI Insight* (2021) 6:e148035. doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.148035

27. Voigt A, Bohn K, Sukumaran S, Stewart CM, Bhattacharya I, Nguyen CQ. Unique glandular ex-vivo Th1 and Th17 receptor motifs in sjögren's syndrome patients using single-cell analysis. *Clin Immunol* (2018) 192:58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2018.04.009

28. Wu Z, Gao S, Watanabe N, Batchu S, Kajigaya S, Diamond C, et al. Singlecell profiling of T lymphocytes in deficiency of adenosine deaminase 2. J Leukoc Biol (2021) 111:301–12. doi: 10.1002/JLB.5A0621-314R

29. Zheng F, Xu H, Zhang C, Hong X, Liu D, Tang D, et al. Immune cell and TCR/ BCR repertoire profiling in systemic lupus erythematosus patients by single-cell sequencing. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2021) 13:24432–48. doi: 10.18632/aging.203695

30. Wang Y, Chen Z, Wang T, Guo H, Liu Y, Dang N, et al. A novel CD4+ CTL subtype characterized by chemotaxis and inflammation is involved in the pathogenesis of graves' orbitopathy. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2021) 18:735–45. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-00615-2

31. Kelkka T, Savola P, Bhattacharya D, Huuhtanen J, Lönnberg T, Kankainen M, et al. Adult-onset anti-citrullinated peptide antibody-negative destructive rheumatoid arthritis is characterized by a disease-specific CD8+ T lymphocyte signature. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:578848. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.578848

32. Renand A, Cervera-Marzal I, Gil L, Dong C, Garcia A, Kervagoret E, et al. Integrative molecular profiling of autoreactive CD4 T cells in autoimmune hepatitis. *J Hepatol* (2020) 73:1379–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.05.053

33. Wang Z, Zhang X, Zhang C, Li Y, Lu S, Mohanta S, et al. Combined singlecell RNA and single-cell α/β T cell receptor sequencing of the arterial wall in atherosclerosis. *Methods Mol Biol* (2022) 2419:727–46. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-1924-7 44

34. Lee B, Namkoong H, Yang Y, Huang H, Heller D, Szot GL, et al. Single-cell sequencing unveils distinct immune microenvironments with CCR6-CCL20 crosstalk in human chronic pancreatitis. *Gut* (2021) 1–12. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-32454

35. Zou G, Wang J, Xu X, Xu P, Zhu L, Yu Q, et al. Cell subtypes and immune dysfunction in peritoneal fluid of endometriosis revealed by single-cell RNA-sequencing. *Cell Biosci* (2021) 11:98. doi: 10.1186/s13578-021-00613-5

36. Liang Q, Hu Y, Zhang M, Lin C, Zhang W, Li Y, et al. The T cell receptor immune repertoire protects the liver from reconstitution. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:584979. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.584979

37. Rosati E, Rios Martini G, Pogorelyy MV, Minervina AA, Degenhardt F, Wendorff M, et al. A novel unconventional T cell population enriched in crohn's disease. *Gut* (2022) 146(N):1489–99. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2021-325373

38. Eugster A, Lindner A, Catani M, Heninger AK, Dahl A, Klemroth S, et al. High diversity in the TCR repertoire of GAD65 autoantigen-specific human CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2015) 194:2531–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403031

39. Warshauer JT, Belk JA, Chan AY, Wang J, Gupta AR, Shi Q, et al. A human mutation in STAT3 promotes type 1 diabetes through a defect in CD8+ T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2021) 218:e20210759. doi: 10.1084/jem.20210759

40. Wang P, Yao L, Luo M, Zhou W, Jin X, Xu Z, et al. Single-cell transcriptome and TCR profiling reveal activated and expanded T cell populations in parkinson's disease. *Cell Discovery* (2021) 7:52. doi: 10.1038/s41421-021-00280-3

41. Wang P, Luo M, Zhou W, Jin X, Xu Z, Yan S, et al. Global characterization of peripheral b cells in parkinson's disease by single-cell RNA and BCR sequencing. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:814239. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.814239

Glossary

NK-AML	normal karyotype acute myelogenous leukemia
snRNA-seq	single-cell transcriptome sequencing
scRNA-seq	single-cell RNA-sequencing
scTCR-seq	single-cell TCR/BCR sequencing
scBCR-seq	single-cell BCR sequencing
snRNA-seq	single-nucleus RNA sequencing
IR	immune repertoire
IR-SEQ	Immune repertoire sequencing
BCR	B-cell receptor
TCR	T-cell receptor
CDR	complementary determining region
MAIT	mucosal-associated invariant T cell
TIL	tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte
ICI	immune checkpoint inhibitor;
irAE	immune-related adverse event
HNSCC	head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
NPC	nasopharyngeal carcinoma
TPE	tuberculous pleural effusion
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
PCP	pneumocystis pneumonia
EM	erythema migrans
pSS	primary Sjögren's syndrome
RA	rheumatoid arthritis
SP-RA	seropositive rheumatoid arthritis
SN-RA	seronegative rheumatoid arthritis
WES	whole exome sequencing
AIH	autoimmune hepatitis
SLA	anti-soluble liver antigen
СР	chronic pancreatitis
CD	Crohn's disease
T1D	type 1 diabetes
GOF	gain-offunction;
PD	Parkinson's disease
HLA-DRB5	human leukocyte antigen-DRB5
HLA-DQA2	human leukocyte antigen-DQA2
AP-1	HLA-DPB1 transcription factor activating protein
cDNA	complementary Deoxyribonucleic acid

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY

Yajun Liu, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, China Wei Liu, Guangzhou Red Cross Hospital, China Dong Tang, Northern Jiangsu People's Hospital (NJPH), China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Jianquan Zhang zjq197015@163.com Zhi Li lizhi2019@taihehospital.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 18 July 2022 ACCEPTED 02 August 2022 PUBLISHED 19 August 2022

CITATION

Li Z, Zhang H, Wang X, Wang Q, Xue J, Shi Y, Wang M, Wang G and Zhang J (2022) Identification of cuproptosisrelated subtypes, characterization of tumor microenvironment infiltration, and development of a prognosis model in breast cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 13:996836. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.996836

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Zhang, Wang, Wang, Xue, Shi, Wang, Wang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Identification of cuproptosisrelated subtypes, characterization of tumor microenvironment infiltration, and development of a prognosis model in breast cancer

Zhi Li^{1,2*†}, Hua Zhang^{1†}, Xixi Wang^{1†}, Qun Wang¹, Jiapeng Xue¹, Yun Shi¹, Minghua Wang¹, Geng Wang¹ and Jianquan Zhang^{3*}

¹Department of General Surgery, Taihe Hospital, Hubei University of Medicine, Shiyan, China, ²Hubei Key Laboratory of Embryonic Stem Cell Research, Taihe Hospital, Hubei University of Medicine, Shiyan, China, ³Department of General Surgery, Affiliated Haikou Hospital of Xiangya Medical College, Central South Univesity, Haikou, China

Breast cancer (BC) is now the most frequent and lethal cancer among women. Cuproptosis is a newly identified programmed cell death process that has been connected to tumor therapeutic sensitivity, patient outcomes, and the genesis of cancer. Cuproptosis-related genes (CRGs) are involved in breast cancer, although their roles and potential mechanisms are still unclear. First, we examined the effect of gene mutations and copy number changes on overall survival in 1168 breast cancer samples. Breast cancer patients were split into two molecular categories as determined by the variation in CRG based on clinicopathological traits, overall survival, and cell-infiltrating traits in tumor microenvironments. In addition, we created and validated a CRG score to calculate breast cancer patients' OS. Finally, we created a comprehensive nomogram for the clinical use of the CRG score. Patients whose CRG scores were low showed increased odds of developing OS, a larger mutation load, and immunological activation than those with high CRG scores. The CRG score, the cancer stem cell index, and the responsiveness to chemotherapy or targeted therapies were also shown to be statistically significantly correlated. Our thorough examination of CRGs in breast cancer patients demonstrated that they may be useful predictors of prognosis, clinical characteristics, and tumor microenvironment. These findings provide fresh insight into CRGs in breast cancer and might inspire brand-new approaches to both diagnosing and treating patients there.

Abbreviations: BC, Breast cancer; CRGs, cuproptosis-related genes; TCGA, the cancer genome atlas; DEGs, differentially expressed genes; GSVA, gene set variation analysis; GEO, the gene expression omnibus; TMB, tumor mutation burden; OS, overall survival; CSC, cancer stem cell; TME, tumor microenvironment; ROC, receiver operating characteristic; TIICs, tumor-infiltrating immune cells.

KEYWORDS

breast cancer, cuprotosis, tumor microenvironments, prognosis, CRG

Introduction

There is a rapidly increasing incidence rate of breast cancer in women, which ranks first in terms of incidence and second in terms of mortality. The latest epidemiological statistics indicate that breast cancer accounts for approximately 30% of all new tumors in women (1, 2). With the continuous development of new targets and drugs for the treatment of breast cancer and the success of clinical trials involving new treatment protocols, the treatment and prognosis of breast cancer have advanced greatly (3-5). However, patients with advanced or high-risk conditions continue to have poor treatment outcomes and prognoses (6, 7). Early detection and rapid treatment would be very beneficial for patients with breast cancer, as they would increase their prognosis (8). In order to detect, diagnose, and treat breast cancer early, it is necessary to identify markers of the disease that are clinically very sensitive. Additionally, it is important to create more potent prognostic models.

Cuproptosis, a recently identified kind of programmed cell death, initiates an uncommon method of cell death, that is essential for several biological functions, such as mitochondrial metabolism (9). According to many studies, high copper levels in the blood and tissues of cancer patients may be a sign of a bad prognosis (10, 11). As a catalytic cofactor or structural component for cuproenzymes, copper is an essential metal ion in the majority of aerobic organisms and participates in a number of crucial biological processes (12). Tetrathiomolybdate, a copper ionophores and copper chelators used in anticancer therapy, has been linked to enhanced survival in advanced breast cancer (13–15). Previous studies have demonstrated that the serum copper level can potentially predict the prognosis of patients with BC (16). The discovery of many cuproptosis-related genes may provide fresh perspectives on treatment approaches and the prognosis of breast cancer patients.

Recent studies have indicated that cuproptosis may play a role in the occurrence, development and prognosis of a wide variety of cancers, suggesting that it could be used as a potential biological target in the diagnosis or treatment of these diseases (17–19). Until now, there have been no studies examining the role of cuproptosis in breast cancer and its tumor microenvironment; therefore, our study is the first to investigate the relationship between cuproptosis and breast cancer and its microenvironment. Using the algorithms CIBERSORT and ESTIMATE, the expression landscape of CRGs has been rigorously assessed and detailed immunological profiles have been produced. First, based on the levels of CRGs expression, we divided 1168 patients with breast cancer into two groups based on their molecular characteristics. The patients were divided into four gene subtypes based on the differentially expressed genes found for the two subtypes of cuproptosis. In the end, we created the CRG score method to forecast patients' outcomes by successfully predicting their overall survival from breast cancer. In conclusion, this study revealed that cuproptosis may serve as a new target for the diagnosis and (or) treatment of breast cancer, and that it thus provides a new research direction and/or idea and/or idea for the diagnosis and (or) treatment of breast cancer.

Materials and methods

Collections of data

Based on data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (https:// portal.gdc.cancer.gov/), information on RNA-sequencing raw data of 1110 cancerous breast samples as well as 112 normal human breast samples that included therapeutically information, somatic mutation data and CNV data files, was obtained. It was necessary to download processed gene expression datasets, clinical samples collected from breast cancer patients (n=58), as well as normal breast tissue (n=4) from the Gene Expression Omnibus profile database (https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/) (ID: GSE61304). These raw data were first standardized to fragments per kilobase million expression levels prior to comparison and figuring out the expression of CRGs. After that, CRG expression was determined using the limma program (20). We integrated the data once the data cleaning procedure was finished to get them ready for analysis. The study that followed did not include patients for whom there was inadequate data on their survival.

Analysis of CRGs using consensus clustering

19 CRGs made up the signature that we were able to collect from earlier publications (9, 21–25), the list of genes is in Table S1. We were able to classify individuals into discrete molecular

clusters based on their CRG expression using the ConsensusClusterPlus R program (26). Through the use of unsupervised clustering, this was done. The clinical usefulness of CRGs in breast cancer was investigated using the Kaplan-Meier approach in a Kaplan-Meier study. We used the survival and survminer packages in R to examine the curves of survival as well as display the results. After that, the ggplot2 software was used to do a principal component analysis. The two subtypes' biological processes were maintained by using the Gene Set Variation Analysis tool (27). Malignant Tumour tissues employing expression (28) and CIBERSORT (29) were also utilized to represent the percentage of immune and stromal cells in patients with breast cancer. The extent to which each immune cell within each sample carried an enrichment score was also assessed using an analysis of gene set enrichment on a single sample (30).

Correlations between the subtypes and clinical features, and functional annotations

We associated the two cuproptosis-related subtypes with the primary clinical and pathological parameters of breast cancer patients, including their age, T phase, and N phase, as well as their prognosis, as part of our inquiry into the possible clinical functions of the two cuproptosis-related subtypes. Additionally, Kaplan-Meier survival analysis technique was utilized to look at differences in overall survival that were verified amongst the various subtypes. We discovered the differentially expressed genes between the cuproptosis-related subgroup using the limma R program. These genes required to possess an adjusted p-value < 0.05 and a fold change > 1.5. To clarify the pathways that were considerably enriched, gene ontology enrichment analysis and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathway enrichment analysis were also conducted. To further explore the hidden roles among the DEGs, the data were displayed using the ClusterProfiler program (31).

Creating and confirming the predictive CRG score

By computing the overall value of risk, the value of CRG was established in order to identify the cuproptosis patterns in specific patients. For a more thorough analysis, we utilized unsupervised consensus clustering to separate the breast cancer patients into four different subtype groups (cuproptosis-related gene subtype A-D). The train sets were then utilized to generate a CRG score for prognosis. A

percentage of 1:1 was applied to all patient datasets in order to divide them into train and test sets. The glmnet package in R was used to perform least-squares regressions and selection operator regressions in order to minimize the possibility of overfitting the model (32). For the purposes of predicting the OS of the patients in the training set, a multivariate Cox regression with proportional hazards analysis was also utilized. Both the train set and the test set were split into groups of high-risk and low-risk based on their risk ratings. In each set, Kaplan-Meier analyses of survival and ROC curves were conducted.

Clinical correlations and CRG-related prognostic model subgroup analyses

The relationships between the CRG score and the clinically significant parameters, including age, T and N stage, were examined using chi-square tests. On both the train and test sets, univariable and multivariable analyses were conducted to see if the CRG score was influenced by any other easily accessible clinicopathological characteristics. Age, tumor grade, T and N stage were also taken into account in subgroup studies to see whether the CRG score still had the same predictive value it did in our model earlier.

Creation and verification of a nomogram

A nomogram was created using the rms program to predict overall survival based on clinically significant characteristics and the CRG score. Each clinicopathologically significant characteristic was given a score using the nomogram model, and the overall score was obtained by summing all the individual scores. By contrasting the area under the timedependent ROC curves of survival rates after one, three, and five years, the nomogram's accuracy in predicting survival rates was also validated. Additionally, model calibration was performed to compare the predicted likelihood of survival outcomes across the 1-, 3-, and 5-year periods with the actual survival occurrences.

Immune state and CSC index in high-risk and low-risk populations compared

To calculate the total number of tumor-infiltrating immune cells and subgroups of immune cells in each sample, we utilized the CIBERSORT method for comparison of 23 immune cells infiltrating the tumors between the high-risk and low-risk groups. This was done to assess how many immune cells altogether had invaded the tumor. The gene groups connected with 23 levels of immune cell infiltration were also found using the CRG score. Additionally, we looked at the connections between the CRG risk score and the cancer stem cell.

Analysis of drug susceptibility to mutations

Depending on whether a sample was deemed high-risk or low-risk, its tumor mutation burden was assessed for each. Additionally, we used the maftools program to do a somatic variant analysis on patients with breast cancer in order to look at and analyse the somatic mutation data (33). Using the pRRophetic software, we calculated the semiinhibitory concentrations (IC50) of frequently prescribed medications in breast cancer patients depending on their risk levels (34).

Analyses of statistics

The R-based statistical analysis was conducted with a significance threshold of p 0.05 (version 4.0.2).

Results

19 CRGs in breast cancer: Expression, genetic variants, and prognostic values

On the TCGA dataset, 1110 breast cancer patients' expression levels of 19 cuproptosis-related genes were examined, along with 112 normal human breast tissues (Figure 1A). In the meanwhile, gene mutation analyses revealed that 55 out of the 976 samples (5.64%) had CRGs mutations, with ATP7A having the greatest gene mutation rates (Figure 1B). The majority of CRGs were accumulated on copy number loss or deletion, according to an examination of copy number variations (Figure 1C), and all 19 CRGs had frequent copy number alterations (Figure 1D). Additionally, it was discovered via research of the impact of gene expression patterns on overall survival in breast cancer that those expressing high levels of ATP7A, DBT, DLAT, DLD, GLS, PDHA1, and SLC31A1 had a bad prognosis. A higher level of ATP7B, LIPT1, and NLRP3 expression is linked to improved OS (Figure 1E-N, and Table S2). The findings suggested that CNV alterations could modify the way CRGs are expressed. Additionally, a relationship between CRG expression levels and breast cancer prognostic variables was discovered, pointing to a potential involvement for CRGs in breast cancer. The biomarkers might be used as therapeutic targets or prediction biomarkers for breast cancer.

Subtypes of cuproptosis are identified in breast cancer

The correlation network picture showed the 19 CRGs' strong association with one another (Figure 2A). The cohort was subdivided into two groups, group A (n = 534) and group B (n = 605), based on a consensus cluster analysis of the 1168 breast cancer samples, which showed that a cluster of $\kappa = 2$ had the largest intragroup and lowest intergroup differences (Figure 2B, and Figure S1). Differences in the transcription patterns of the two subtypes of cuproptosis were found using PCA (Figure 2C). Subtype B has a better prognosis than subtype A, according to Kaplan-Meier survival calculations (p = 0.001; Figure 2D). A heatmap was created as a consequence of the relationship between features of clinical significance and patterns of CRG expression (Figure 2E). The bulk of CRGs expressed themselves more strongly in subtype B.

Analyses of TME infiltration and functional enrichment in distinct subtypes

We used gene set variation analysis enrichment analysis to look at the two subtypes' possible effects on biological behavior (Figure 3A). Compared to subtype B, subtype A had an enrichment in the pathways linked to immunological activation. According to a GSVA enrichment study, subtype A is considerably enriched in metabolic-activated pathways, such as the folate utilization of one carbon pool, lysine degradation, the citrate cycle, RNA metabolism, arachidonic acid metabolism, and N-glycan biosynthesis. In each breast cancer sample, we used the CIBERSORT method to assess the associations between two subtypes as well as the 23 other subtypes of immune cells in order to learn more about how CRGs work in the tumor microenvironment. According to our research, there are significant variations between the two subtypes in the quantity of immune cells that infiltrate (Figure 3B). As compared to subtype B, CD4 T cells, type 2 T helper cells, regulation T cells, gamma delta T cells, immature dendritic cells, and immature B cells were found to be more prevalent in subtype A. Subtype A, on the other hand, exhibited considerably reduced levels of neutrophil, eosinophil, mast cell, and CD56 dim natural killer cell infiltration. Then, we did a functional enrichment analysis to look into the two cuproptosis subtypes' possible biological roles after using the limma algorithm to identify 591 DEGs linked to them (Figure S2 and Table S3). It was discovered that CRGs were mainly engaged in membrane protein targeting, membrane protein localization establishment, and pathway analysis using GO and KEGG (Figures 3C, D, and Figure S3).



Gene subtypes are identified using DEGs

Using a consensus clustering technique, 1139 breast cancer patients were categorized into four molecular genetic categories based on prognostic genes. Subtypes A (n = 350), B (n = 502), C (n = 165), and D (n = 122) were found when $\kappa = 4$ indicated that the breast cancer instances may be separated into four subclasses (Figure 4A and Figure S4). Additionally, the relationship between the clinical traits of breast cancer patients and the gene subtypes was investigated (Figure 4B). The genetic subtype D patients had the lowest OS, while patients with genetic cluster C had the greatest OS, according to Kaplan-Meier curves (p < 0.001; Figure 4C). The four cuproptosis gene subtypes' expression of CRGs varied greatly, as expected by the cuproptosis patterns (Figure 4D).

Creating and confirming the predictive CRG score

Based on DEGs related to subtypes, a LASSO-Cox regression model was developed to provide a predictive CRG score for each patient. Figure 5A illustrates the proportion of patients among the two CRG score groups, the two cuproptosis subtypes, and the four gene subtypes. There was a statistically significant variation in CRG scores across cuproptosis subtypes. Subtype B had a much higher CRG score than subtype A. Figure 5B displays the risk score distributions for the two CRG subtypes. The highest CRG scores were for subtype D, while the lowest were for subtype C (Figure 5C).

Then, using R's caret package, patients were randomly assigned to training groups (n = 570) as well as testing groups



(n = 569) at a ratio of 1:1 (Tables S4, S5). Using LASSO and multivariate Cox analysis, 22 OS-related genes were selected using the least partial likelihood deviation from 591 cuproptosis subtype-related prognostic DEGs (Figures 5D, E, and Table S6). Based on a Cox regression analysis involving several variables, Akaike information criteria value of 22 OS-associated genes was utilized to identify six genes (PGK1, RPL14, PRDX1, PSME1, MAL2, and SURF4) (Table S7). These findings led to the following formula being chosen as the risk score formula: The risk score is calculated as follows: (0.00375* PGK1 expression) + (-0.00930**RPL14* expression) + (0.00278**PRDX1* expression) + (-0.00668*PSME1 expression) + (0.00147*MAL2 expression) + (0.00672*SURF4 expression). 13 out of 17 hallmark genes showed a significant variation in their expression of genes between high-risk individuals and low-risk individuals (Figure 5F). Based on their risk ratings, each theme was split into high- and low-risk patient groups, and the median scores were calculated for the training and test sets. According to their values of risk, patients were split into two groups: those at low risk and those at high risk (Figure 6). In terms of survival rates and circumstances, there were significant differences among the two groups based on Kaplan-Meier curves. Patient survival rates and the distribution of CRG scores were analyzed independently for the train and test sets.

Creating a nomogram to forecast survival

Using the data gathered, we created a nomogram using the rms program to forecast the life expectancy of breast cancer patients at the lifetime of 1, 3, and 5 (Figure 7A, and Table S8). Each patient's total point values were determined based on prognostic characteristics such as their age, level of risk (low risk was indicated by a "low CRG score" and high risk was indicated by a "high CRG score"), as well as the T and N stage of their ailment. The harshness of the prognosis is directly correlated with the patient's overall score. The calibration plots showed that the nomogram performed better than an ideal model would have (Figure 7B). Additionally, ROC analysis indicated that the nomogram performed very well in terms of prediction (Figures 7C–E).

Relationship of TME and Mutation burden with CRG score

The CIBERSORT algorithm was used to assess the relationship between the CRG score (Figure S5) and the number of immune cells. However, the CRG score was



negatively correlated with naive B cells, resting dendritic cells, resting mast cells, monocytes, activated NK cells, plasma cells, CD8 + T cells, and follicular helper T cells. A correlation was found between the CRG score and activated memory CD4 + T cells, M0 macrophages, M2 macrophages, activated mast cells, and resting NK cells (Figure 8A). Additionally, our research looked at the association between six genes and the amount of immune cells. According to our study, the six genes affect the bulk of immune cells (Figure 8B, and Table S9).

The TMB study revealed a significant association between anticipated TMB level and cuproptosis gene subtypes (R = 0.28, P < 0.001; Figure 8C). To give further support, we looked at the variations in somatic mutation distribution across the cohort's two CRG score groups. The top 10 most changed genes in each of the two groups were *PIK3CA*, *TP53*, *TTN*, *CDH1*, *GATA3*, *MUC16*, *MAP3K1*, *HMCN1*, and *FLG*. The most often mutated genes in patients with a high CRG score are *TP53* (46%) and *PIK3CA* (28%), while *PIK3CA* (41%) is the most frequently mutated gene in the low-risk category (Figures 8D, E).

Drug susceptibility testing and CSC index

Additionally, it was shown that there was a link between the CRG score and the CSC index that was positive (R = 0.22, P <

0.001), suggesting that cells from breast cancer with higher cell retention gene scores demonstrated more stem cell features and less differentiation (Figure 8F). Sensitivity analysis was done on a few medications presently being used to treat breast cancer among the two groups. For patients with high CRG scores, it was found that the IC50 values of drugs including paclitaxel, vinblastine, bleomycin, AUY922, ATRA, and AZD6244, among others, were considerably higher. It is evident from these results that CRGs are essential for the sensitivity of drugs (Figures 9A–F).

Discussion

Breast cancer is a potentially deadly illness that places a heavy burden on people worldwide (1-3). It is vital to first identify people who are more likely to get the illness, and then find measures to lower that risk, in order to decrease the prevalence of breast cancer (35, 36). If more study is done on innovative processes and treatments, a higher proportion of patients will be cured (37). We are aware of very little research that have looked at potential connections between CRGs and breast cancer in the past. Our research showed that when compared to normal tissues, breast cancer tissues expressed the majority of CRGs at varying levels. Furthermore, cuproptosis



clinicopathologic characteristics among the four gene subtypes. (**C**) The four gene subtypes' Kaplan-Meier OS curves. (**D**) Variations in the expression of ten CRGs across four gene subtypes. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.



FIGURE 5

The CRG score was created in the TCGA and GSE61304 cohorts. (A) The subtype distributions among groups, CRG scores and survival outcomes. (B) Variations in CRG scores among cuproptosis subtypes. (C) Variations in PRG scores among different gene subtypes. (D) CRG regression using LASSO. (E) Cross-validation of LASSO regression parameter selection. (F) CRG score differences in ten CRGs. *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001.



The patient survival status and CRG score distribution vary between the train and test sets. (A, C, E) The patient survival status and CRG score distribution in the train set. (B, D, F) The patient survival status and CRG score distribution in the test set.



FIGURE 7

Creating and evaluating a nomogram. (A) The nomogram used to calculate the survival rates of 1-, 3-, and 5-years for patients with BC. (B) Calibration curve for nomograms. (C-E) ROC curves for the train set and test set, respectively, for forecasting 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS in the cohorts. *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001.



FIGURE 8

Comprehensive analysis of the CRG scores in BC. (A) Correlations between immune cell types and CRG score. (B) The six genes from the proposed model are correlated with the number of immune cells. (C) CRG score and TMB spearman correlation analysis. (D, E) The somatic mutation features waterfall plot determined by high and low CRG scores. One patient was represented by each column. The correct number represented each gene's frequency of mutation, and the upper barplot displayed TMB. The proportion of each variant type was displayed in the right barplot. (F) Associates between the CSC index and the CRG score.

may have prognostic or predictive value in patients with breast cancer in accordance with the level of expression of these genes in these individuals.

Several studies have connected copper to human cancer tumor cell development, proliferation, and carcinogenesis (21-25, 38-41). However, additional investigation is needed to pinpoint the specific pathways, which include tumor initiator cells, growth, and metastatic spread, and to demonstrate causal linkages between copper and human cancer. It has not yet been completely determined how important these effects and immune infiltration characteristics caused by several CRGs are. Our research showed that both genetic and transcriptional alterations occurred in CRGs in breast cancer. On the basis of CRGs, our study identified two distinct molecular subtypes.



Patients with subtype A had more severe clinical characteristics and shorter OS compared to those with subtype B. Individuals with high expression of ATP7A, DBT, DLAT, DLD, GLS, PDHA1, and SLC31A1 have a bad prognosis, while those with high expression of ATP7B, LIPT1 and NLRP3 have a favorable prognosis. The effect of gene expression patterns on overall survival in breast cancer was also studied. Additionally, we contrasted variations in the traits and immunologically-related biochemical pathways of the two TME subtypes. As a result of the activation of CD4 T cells, eosinophils, gamma delta T cells, regulatory T cells, mast cells, active dendritic cells, neutrophils, type 2 T helper cells, CD56 dim natural killer cells, immature dendritic cells, and immature B cells, the immunological activation of the breast cancer subtypes was also substantial. Then, four gene subtypes were determined using the DEGs between the two cuproptosis subtypes. In addition, we developed the prognostic CRG score and demonstrated its tendency for prediction. In comparison with patients with low-risk CRG values and those with high-risk CRG values, there were significant variations in overall survival, clinical traits, mutations, TME, CSC index, and medication resistance. Finally, to improve performance and make the CRG score simpler to use, we developed a nomogram that was derived from patient characteristics and the CRG score. The prognostic model may encourage beneficial understandings of the molecular basis of breast cancer as well as fresh approaches to cancer treatment.

Recent studies have revealed that cuproptosis plays an important role in human tumor. Bian Z, et al. examined the

genetic alterations of cuproptosis-associated genes in clear cell renal cell carcinoma (17). Han J, et al. investigated the prognostic role of cuproptosis-related long non-coding RNAs in soft tissue sarcoma and its correlation with the tumor microenvironment (18). According to Zhang Z, et al., cuproptosis-related genes are useful for clinical prediction of prognosis and treatment guidance in hepatocellular carcinoma (42). The relationship between cuproptosis and breast cancer and its microenvironment has not previously been studied; thus, our study serves as the first to examine this relationship. Our study shows that copper death-related genes are differentially expressed in breast cancer and are associated with OS in patients with breast cancer, which may assist in predicting the prognosis for breast cancer patients. Copper has been shown to play an important role in tumor development and can be used to predict the prognosis and treatment of tumors (13-16). Patients with different cuproptosis-related0 subtypes exhibit different characteristics and tumor microenvironment, and patients in high and low risk groups differ in their sensitivity to treatment. Consequently, we speculate that different treatment approaches for different subtypes of patients may produce better outcomes, however, this hypothesis requires further validation in vivo and in vitro.

As is well known, the tumor microenvironment is made up of both the tumor cells and the cells that surround them, such as lymphocytes, tumor infiltrating immune cells, and the tumor vasculature (41-43). There is strong evidence to back up the idea that TME is essential for tumor formation, progression, and therapy resistance (44-46). In the present investigation, we

found that the TME features as well as the abundances of 23 TIICs were substantially varied across the two distinct molecular subtypes and the various CRG scores. This result suggests that CRGs are essential to the growth of breast cancer. When TIICs are found in tumor tissues, breast cancer patients have a better prognosis. Activated CD4 T cells, type 2 T helper cells, gamma delta T cells, regulatory T cells, immature dendritic cells, immature B cells, and activated dendritic cells were more prevalent in Type A subtypes than Type B subtypes, according to the findings of our study. It was discovered that subtype B had much reduced numbers of eosinophils, mast cells, neutrophils, and CD56 dim natural killer cells infiltration. Given the success of immunotherapy in breast cancer, research on the tumor microenvironment and immune cell infiltration can help discover new directions and mechanisms of immunotherapy for breast cancer.

This study has the following contributions. First of all, this research is the first of its kind to identify subtypes associated with cuproptosis and create a predictive model based on CRGs in breast cancer. Because cuproptosis differs from other recognized methods of cell death, it may provide new therapeutic possibilities for treating cancer (47, 48). Second, a variety of different techniques and databases were employed. As a means of improving the reliability of our findings, we also defined subtypes associated with cuproptosis and created a predictive model for use in screening and testing processes.

There are several restrictions on our research. First, the studies solely used data from public sources; additional validations using more accurate clinical data are required. Additionally, it was not feasible to analyze data for several critical clinical factors (surgery, chemoradiotherapy, and radiation therapy), which would have had an impact on the immune response and drug susceptibility prognosis. Since the prognostic signature was created and verified using data from publicly available sources, more experimental investigations as well as extensive prospective studies are required to corroborate our results.

Conclusion

In this study, we systematically analyzed the role of cuproptosis-related genes in breast cancer prognosis and correlation with tumor microenvironment and clinical features, and constructed a better prognostic prediction model. We also explored the effectiveness of CRGs as biomarkers of response to therapy. In conclusion, our study reveals the clinical importance of CRGs, which provides a valuable basis for further studies on the diagnosis or personalized treatment of breast cancer patients.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Author contributions

ZL, GW, and JZ contributed to the conception and design of this study. XW, HZ, and QW collected and analyzed the data. YS, JX, and ZL drafted the original manuscript. MW and GW polished and revised the manuscript. This manuscript has been read and approved by all authors.

Acknowledgments

Data contributions from the databases of the TCGA and GEO are appreciated by the authors.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.996836/full#supplementary-material

References

 Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. DeSantis CE, Ma J, Gaudet MM, Newman LA, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, et al. Breast cancer statistics, 2019. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2019) 69(6):438–51. doi: 10.3322/caac.21583

3. Crozier JA, Pezzi TA, Hodge C, Janeva S, Lesnikoski BA, Samiian L, et al. Addition of chemotherapy to local therapy in women aged 70 years or older with triple-negative breast cancer: a propensity-matched analysis. *Lancet Oncol* (2020) 21(12):1611–9. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30538-6

4. Voorwerk L, Slagter M, Horlings HM, Sikorska K, van de Vijver KK, de Maaker M, et al. Immune induction strategies in metastatic triple-negative breast cancer to enhance the sensitivity to PD-1 blockade: the TONIC trial. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(6):920-8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0432-4

5. Dirix LY, Takacs I, Jerusalem G, Nikolinakos P, Arkenau HT, Forero-Torres A, et al. Avelumab, an anti-PD-L1 antibody, in patients with locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer: a phase 1b JAVELIN solid tumor study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2018) 167(3):671–86. doi: 10.1007/s10549–017–4537–5

6. Katsura C, Ogunmwonyi I, Kankam HK, Saha S. Breast cancer: presentation, investigation and management. *Br J Hosp Med (Lond)* (2022) 83(2):1–7. doi: 10.12968/hmed.2021.0459

7. Garrido-Castro AC, Lin NU, Polyak K. Insights into molecular classifications of triple-negative breast cancer: Improving patient selection for treatment. *Cancer Discov* (2019) 9(2):176–98. doi: 10.1158/2159–8290.CD-18–1177

8. Rakha EA, Pareja FG. New advances in molecular breast cancer pathology. Semin Cancer Biol (2021) 72:102–13. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.03.014

9. Tsvetkov P, Coy S, Petrova B, Dreishpoon M, Verma A, Abdusamad M, et al. Copper induces cell death by targeting lipoylated TCA cycle proteins. *Science* (2022) 375(6586):1254–61. doi: 10.1126/science.abf0529

10. Blockhuys S, Celauro E, Hildesjö C, Feizi A, Stål O, Fierro-González JC, et al. Defining the human copper proteome and analysis of its expression variation in cancers. *Metallomics* (2017) 9:112–23. doi: 10.1039/C6MT00202A

11. Ge EJ, Bush AI, Casini A, Cobine PA, Cross JR, DeNicola GM, et al. Connecting copper and cancer: From transition metal signaling to metalloplasia. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2022) 22:102–13. doi: 10.1038/s41568-021-00417-2

12. Petronijević J, Joksimović N, Milović E, Crnogorac MĐ, Petrović N, Stanojković T, et al. Antitumor activity, DNA and BSA interactions of novel copper (II) complexes with 3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinoxalinones. *Chem Biol Interact* (2021) 348:109647. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2021.109647

13. Brady DC, Crowe MS, Greenberg DN, Counter CM. Copper chelation inhibits BRAF-driven melanomagenesis and counters resistance to BRAF and MEK1/2 inhibitors. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77:6240–52. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1190

14. Davis CI, Gu X, Kiefer RM, Ralle M, Gade TP, Brady DC. Altered copper homeostasis underlies sensitivity of hepatocellular carcinoma to copper chelation. *Metallomics* (2020) 12:1995–2008. doi: 10.1039/d0mt00156b

15. Ramchandani D, Berisa M, Tavarez DA, Li Z, Miele M, Bai Y, et al. Copper depletion modulates mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to impair triple negative breast cancer metastasis. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):7311. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-021-27559-z

16. Duan F, Li J, Huang J, Hua X, Song C, Wang L, et al. Establishment and validation of prognostic nomograms based on serum copper level for patients with early-stage triple-negative breast cancer. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:770115. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.770115

17. Bian Z, Fan R, Xie L. A novel cuproptosis-related prognostic gene signature and validation of differential expression in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Genes* (*Basel*) (2022) 13(5):851. doi: 10.3390/genes13050851

18. Han J, Hu Y, Liu S, Jiang J, Wang H. A newly established cuproptosisassociated long non-coding RNA signature for predicting prognosis and indicating immune microenvironment features in soft tissue sarcoma. *J Oncol* (2022) 2022:8489387. doi: 10.1155/2022/8489387

19. Lv H, Liu X, Zeng X, Liu Y, Zhang C, Zhang Q, et al. Comprehensive analysis of cuproptosis-related genes in immune infiltration and prognosis in melanoma. *Front Pharmacol* (2022) 13:930041. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.930041

20. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. Limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43(7):e47. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv007

21. Polishchuk EV, Merolla A, Lichtmannegger J, Romano A, Indrieri A, Ilyechova EY, et al. Activation of autophagy, observed in liver tissues from patients with Wilson disease and from ATP7B-deficient animals, protects

hepatocytes from copper-induced apoptosis. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 156 (4):1173–89.e5. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.11.032

22. Aubert I., Nandagopal N, Steinhart Z, Lavoie G, Nourreddine S, Berman J, et al. Copper bioavailability is a KRAS-specific vulnerability in colorectal cancer. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):3701. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17549-y

23. Kahlson MA, Dixon SJ. Copper-induced cell death. Science (2022) 375 (6586):1231-2. doi: 10.1126/science.abo3959

24. Dong J, Wang X, Xu C, Gao M, Wang S, Zhang J, et al. Inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome activation prevents copper-induced neuropathology in a murine model of wilson's disease. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12(1):87. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-03397-1

25. Ren X, Li Y, Zhou Y, Hu W, Yang C, Jing Q, et al. Overcoming the compensatory elevation of NRF2 renders hepatocellular carcinoma cells more vulnerable to disulfiram/copper-induced ferroptosis. *Redox Biol* (2021) 46:102122. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2021.102122

26. Wilkerson MD, Hayes DN. ConsensusClusterPlus: a class discovery tool with confidence assessments and item tracking. *Bioinformatics* (2010) 26 (12):1572–3. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btq170

27. Hänzelmann S, Castelo R, Guinney J. GSVA: gene set variation analysis for microarray and RNA-seq data. *BMC Bioinf* (2013) 14:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-7

28. Meng Z, Ren D, Zhang K, Zhao J, Jin X, Wu H. Using ESTIMATE algorithm to establish an 8-mRNA signature prognosis prediction system and identify immunocyte infiltration-related genes in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2020) 12(6):5048–70. doi: 10.18632/aging.102931

29. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with CIBERSORT. *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1711:243-59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-112

30. Huang L, Wu C, Xu D, Cui Y, Tang J. Screening of important factors in the early sepsis stage based on the evaluation of ssGSEA algorithm and ceRNA regulatory network. *Evol Bioinform Online* (2021) 17:11769343211058463. doi: 10.1177/11769343211058463

31. Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. clusterProfiler: an r package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. *OMICS* (2012) 16(5):284–7. doi: 10.1089/ omi.2011.0118

32. Engebretsen S, Bohlin J. Statistical predictions with glmnet. *Clin Epigenet* (2019) 11(1):123. doi: 10.1186/s13148-019-0730-1

33. Mayakonda A, Lin DC, Assenov Y, Plass C, Koeffler HP. Maftools: efficient and comprehensive analysis of somatic variants in cancer. *Genome Res* (2018) 28 (11):1747–56. doi: 10.1101/gr.239244.118

34. Geeleher P, Cox N, Huang RS. pRRophetic: an r package for prediction of clinical chemotherapeutic response from tumor gene expression levels. *PloS One* (2014) 9(9):e107468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107468

35. Tang Y, Tian W, Xie J, Zou Y, Wang Z, Li N, et al. Prognosis and dissection of immunosuppressive microenvironment in breast cancer based on fatty acid metabolism-related signature. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:843515. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.843515

36. US Preventive Services Task Force, Owens DK, Davidson KW, Krist AH, Barry MJ, Cabana M, et al. Risk assessment, genetic counseling, and genetic testing for BRCA-related cancer: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. *JAMA* (2019) 322(7):652–65. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.10987

37. Preventive Services Task Force US, Owens DK, Davidson KW, Krist AH, Barry MJ, Cabana M, et al. Medication use to reduce risk of breast cancer: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. *JAMA* (2019) 322 (9):857–67. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.11885

38. Karginova O, Weekley CM, Raoul A, Alsayed A, Wu T, Lee SS, et al. Inhibition of copper transport induces apoptosis in triple-negative breast cancer cells and suppresses tumor angiogenesis. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2019) 18(5):873–85. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0667

39. Cui L, Gouw AM, LaGory EL, Guo S, Attarwala N, Tang Y, et al. Mitochondrial copper depletion suppresses triple-negative breast cancer in mice. *Nat Biotechnol* (2021) 39(3):357–67. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0707-9

40. Voli F, Valli E, Lerra L, Kimpton K, Saletta F, Giorgi FM, et al. Intratumoral copper modulates PD-L1 expression and influences tumor immune evasion. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80(19):4129-44. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-0471

41. Binnewies M, Mujal AM, Pollack JL, Combes AJ, Hardison EA, Barry KC, et al. Unleashing type-2 dendritic cells to drive protective antitumor CD4 + T cell immunity. *Cell* (2019) 177(3):556–71.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019. 02.005

42. Zhang Z, Zeng X, Wu Y, Liu Y, Zhang X, Song Z. Cuproptosis-related risk score predicts prognosis and characterizes the tumor microenvironment in

hepatocellular carcinoma. Front Immunol (2022) 13:925618. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.925618

43. Ruscetti M, Morris JP4, Mezzadra R, Russell J, Leibold J, Romesser PB, et al. Senescence-induced vascular remodeling creates therapeutic vulnerabilities in pancreas cancer. *Cell* (2020) 181(2):424–41.e21. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.008

44. Sathe A, Grimes SM, Lau BT, Chen J, Suarez C, Huang RJ, et al. Single-cell genomic characterization reveals the cellular reprogramming of the gastric tumor microenvironment. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26(11):2640–53. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-3231

45. Galvani E, Mundra PA, Valpione S, Garcia-Martinez P, Smith M, Greenall J, et al. Stroma remodeling and reduced cell division define durable response to PD-1

blockade in melanoma. Nat Commun (2020) 11(1):853. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-14632-2

46. Huang KW, Hsu FF, Qiu JT, Chern GJ, Lee YA, Chang CC, et al. Highly efficient and tumor-selective nanoparticles for dual-targeted immunogene therapy against cancer. *Sci Adv* (2020) 6(3):eaax5032. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aax5032

47. Cobine PA, Brady DC. Cuproptosis: Cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying copper-induced cell death. *Mol Cell* (2022) 82(10):1786–7. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2022.05.001

48. Li SR, Bu LL, Cai L. Cuproptosis: lipoylated TCA cycle proteins-mediated novel cell death pathway. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2022) 7(1):158. doi: 10.1038/s41392-022-01014-x

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY

Huaxing Huang, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, China Zhang Zhenyu, First Affiliated Hospital of Jinzhou Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Wei Li gwer_214@163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 22 June 2022 ACCEPTED 05 August 2022 PUBLISHED 22 August 2022

CITATION

Zhou R, Peng N and Li W (2022) Identification of *ISCA1* as novel immunological and prognostic biomarker for bladder cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 13:975503. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.975503

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhou, Peng and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Identification of *ISCA1* as novel immunological and prognostic biomarker for bladder cancer

Renlong Zhou¹, Naixiong Peng² and Wei Li^{2*}

¹Department of Blood Transfusion, Shenzhen Longhua District Central Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ²Department of Urology, Shenzhen Longhua District Central Hospital, Shenzhen, China

Background: Iron-sulfur cluster assembly 1 (*ISCA1*) has a significant effect on respiratory complexes and energy metabolism. Although there is some evidence that *ISCA1* gene expression impacts energy metabolism and consequently has a role in tumorigenesis and cancer metastasis in different types of malignancies, no systematic pan-cancer study of the *ISCA1* has been conducted. As a result, we sought to investigate *ISCA1*'s predictive value in 33 cancer types as well as its possible immunological function.

Methods: We included the pan-cancer expression profile dataset and clinical data from the public database. Firstly, the single-sample Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (ssGSEa) approach was employed for analyzing the immune link in pan-cancer, while the limma package was utilized for analyzing the differential expression in cancer species. Subsequently, ciberport, MCP-counter, TIMER2, quanTlseq, and xCELL were employed for analyzing bladder cancer (BLCA)'s immune infiltration. Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (Lasso) were employed for choosing the best gene to develop the immune risk scoring model.

Results: *ISCA1* gene expression was positively related to four immune signatures (chemokine, immunostimulator, MHC, and receptor) in BLCA. Samples of BLCA were sorted into two groups by the best cut-off of *ISCA1* expression degree. The group with a high level of *ISCA1* expression had a higher risk, suggesting that the ISCA1 gene was a risk factor in BLCA, and its high expression resulted in a poorer prognosis. Additionally, it was noted that *ISCA1* was positively linked with these immune checkpoints. Moreover, there was a considerable positive link between *ISCA1* and different immune properties in subgroups with different immune checkpoint inhibiting responses. Finally, an immune risk scoring model was made and it showed a better score in comparison to that of TIDE.

Conclusion: *ISCA1* can be a prognostic marker for a variety of cancers, particularly BLCA. Its high level of expression has a deleterious impact on the

prognosis of BLCA patients. This strongly shows that *ISCA1* is a significant prognostic factor for BLCA and that it could be used as a new prognostic detection target and treatment approach.

KEYWORDS

pan-cancer, ISCA1, BLCA, GSEA, immune microenvironment, prognostic analysis

Introduction

Cancer is the primary cause of mortality and a major setback to improving the quality of life all over the globe. There is no ultimate treatment for it as of the present day (1). Recently, cancer immunotherapy, particularly immune checkpoint blocking therapy has become a prominent cancer treatment approach (2). New immunotherapy targets can be found through pan-cancer expression analysis of genes and examination of their linkage with clinical prognosis and the associated signal pathways, thanks to the ongoing development and improvement of public databases like The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) (3).

Mitochondria have become important pharmacological targets due to their essential role in cellular growth and apoptosis (4). Mitochondria in tumor tissues can transform metabolic phenotypes to cope with the high energy demand and macromolecule synthesis (5, 6). Additionally, mitochondria can interact with the tumor microenvironment, and signals from fibroblasts related to cancer have an impact on them (7). ISCA1 variant has been linked to mitochondrial malfunction (8), mainly because ISCA1 regulates the expression of essential proteins in the mitochondrial respiratory chain complex, having a significant impact on it as well as energy metabolism. ISCA1 is an evolutionarily conserved type A ISC protein involved in Fe-S synthesis. Knockdown investigations in HeLa cells of two type A proteins, ISCA1 and ISCA2, reveal that these two proteins may have a function in the increased synthesis of mitochondrial Fe4S4 in humans (9). Using recombinant human ISCA1 and ISCA2, recent in vitro biochemical experiments have confirmed cluster transfer and protein-protein interaction between human glutaredoxin GLRX5 and ISCA1 or ISCA2 (10).

Although, some research has been done on the role of *ISCA1* in malignancies. Only relevant research has revealed that Integrin Subunit Beta 3 (*ITGB3*) affects energy metabolism through the expression of the *ISCA1* gene, which has a role in breast cancer bone metastases (11). As a result, the possible role of *ISCA1* in a range of malignancies has to be investigated in detail. The expression level of *ISCA1* in different forms of cancer and its connection with prognosis were studied using two databases: TCGA and Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO). It

also discussed the association between ISCA1 expression and immunity in 33 tumors. Following that, it was discovered that bladder cancer (BLCA) had the strongest link to immunity. The researchers next looked into the possible links between ISCA1 and mutation analysis, DNA methylation, tumor mutational burden (TMB), immunological infiltration, and clinical response. In addition, the biological function of ISCA1 in malignancies was investigated using protein-protein interaction (PPI) analyses between immune-linked differential genes and ISCA1. Finally, the immunological risk score (IRS) model was developed, and its result was superior to the TIDE result. Finally, our findings indicated that ISCA1 could be a predictive factor for bladder cancer (BLCA). ISCA1 may alter tumor-infiltrating immune cells, which could be majorly involved in tumor immunity. This research could help researchers better grasp ISCA1's involvement in tumor immunotherapy.

Methods

Data source and pretreatment

The RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) expression profile data, somatic mutation data, and survival data regarding pan-cancer (33 species) were taken from the database of UCSC Xena (https://xenabrowser.net/). The format of RNA-seq data was changed from Fragments Per Kilobase Million (FPKM) to the format of Transcripts per million (TPM), and then we did a log2 conversion. Among them, analysis and processing of the downloaded somatic mutation data were done by mutect. Finally, the copy number variations (CNV) data processed by the gistic algorithm was also provided by the UCSC Xena database (http://xena.ucsc.edu/), while the methylation data was taken from the LinkedOmics database (http:// linkedomics.org).

The BLCA GEO queue was retrieved from the GEO database (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/), which has extensive survival data, such as GSE31684, GSE48075, GSE13507, GSE32894, GSE48277, and GSE69795. The BLCA samples were kept.
Afterward, we also downloaded three cohorts linked with immunotherapy, GSE78220 (melanoma), GSE135222 (NSCLC), and GSE91061 (melanoma). Following the knowledge sharing 3.0 License Agreement, the complete expression data and comprehensive clinical data of the IMvigor210 queue (BLCA immunotherapy-related queue) came from http://research-pub. Gene.com/imvigor210corebiologies/.

Analysis of tumor immune microenvironment and immune infiltration

Single sample gene set enrichment analysis

Single sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA) (12) was proposed for the first time in 2009 and was made for a single sample that could not be utilized for GSEA. The R package GSVA can be used to implement it. At present, ssGSVA is frequently utilized for assessing the extent of tumor immune cell infiltration.

Estimate

Moreover, we utilized estimate (13) for evaluating the tumor immune microenvironment scores of samples, and then a comparison of their differential distribution in different subtypes was done. Following the expression data, estimate provided scholars with tumor purity scores, the stromal cells' level, and the immune cell infiltration level in tumor tissue.

Ciberport

Deep learning algorithms such as convolution and deconvolution are commonly known. Each sample is treated as a mixture of numerous immune cells in this procedure. The link between the components and expression of each immune cell and the final combination is fit using linear regression. The expression properties of each immune cell were retrieved using a deconvolution technique. The method of calculating immune cell infiltration known as CIBERPORT (14) is widely utilized. For estimating the abundance of immune cells, it employs the technique of linear support vector regression to deconvolute the expression matrix of immune cell subtypes.

Tumor immune estimation resource

The Tumor Immune Estimation Resource (timer) is one of the procedures for deconvolution of cell mixtures following the expression characteristics (15). Timer2 is one of the most widely utilized approaches for immune infiltration analysis in bioinformatics. MCP-counter (Microenvironment Cell Populations-counter) (16) is an R tool that uses normalized transcriptome data to quantify the absolute abundance of eight immune cells and two stromal cells in diverse tissues. The score can be used to demonstrate the degree of infiltration in the immunological milieu, but the number of cells cannot be compared. ESTIMATE can't assess particular immune cell infiltration; it can only assess immune cell purity, tumor cell abundance, and stromal cell abundance.

QuanTlseq

The QuanTIseq (17) was utilized for quantifying both the tumor immune status according to the human RNA-seq data as well as the proportion of ten distinct types of immune cells along with other non-characterized cells in the sample by deconvolution.

Xcell

Xcell (18) is an ssGSEA-based procedure with the ability to do cell type enrichment analysis according to gene expression data of 64 types of immune and stromal cells. Since the Xcell employs expression level ranking rather than the actual value, normalization has no effect, although the input data requires a normalization format. As a result, the immune infiltration of BLCA was analyzed using CIBERPORT, MCP-counter, TIMER2, quanTIseq, and Xcell, and the connection between the expression of *ISCA1* and their scores were measured.

GSEA and annotation of differentially expressed genes

The analysis difference between subtypes was done using the limma package (19), and differentially expressed genes were chosen through the $| \log 2$ (Fold Change) | >1 and False Discovery Rate (FDR) <0.05.

We enriched the differentially expressed genes among subtypes and then carried out an analysis using Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) through the WebGestaltR package (version 0.4.2) (20), and the chosen gene set was "c2 cp. kegg. v7.0. symbols. Gmt", which had the KEGG channel. The GSEA input file consisted of the expression profile data. The threshold values of enriched pathways were p<0.05 and FDR < 0.25. Likewise, the GO function enrichment analysis of differentially expressed genes was done using the R software package WebGestaltR (threshold value was set as P < 0.05).

Univariate and multivariate cox analysis

The R-package survminer (https://cran.r-project.org/ package=survminer) was employed to get the best cutoff of genes from various datasets, and the samples were sorted into high and low expression groups following the best cutoff, and afterward, we drew the KM curve. We randomly collected the BLCA cancer samples from the TCGA dataset using the ratio

train:test = 7:3. Univariate analysis was done in the training data set. The R software package glmnet (21) was utilized for establishing the Lasso expression model (COX). Based on the model created in this study, the most suitable genes were chosen using single factor Cox regression, and we obtained 21 genes when the value of minimum lambda=0.04090851, which were employed for multivariate analysis. StepAIC approach was utilized for reducing gene number. The stepwise regression used the Akaike information criterion (AIC) (22), which took into account the model's statistical fit and the number of parameters used for fitting. The stepAIC procedure in the MASS package started from the most complex model and successively eliminated a variable to lower the AIC. The smaller the value, the better the model, which suggested that the model had a sufficient fit with fewer parameters. 11 genes were obtained at the end according to this procedure.

TIDE analysis of immunotherapy effect

Through a comprehensive study of hundreds of various tumor expression profiles, the Tumor Immune Dysfunction and Exclusion (TIDE) (http://TIDE.dfci.harvard.edu/) (23) analysis can uncover biomarkers that predict the therapeutic response of immune checkpoint inhibitors/medicines. The TIDE score obtained from TIDE analysis can be used to determine the sensitivity of immunological checkpoints.

Tumor mutation burden

TMB is a quantifiable immune-response biomarker that reflects the number of mutations in tumor cells. TMB scores were calculated using a Perl script and corrected by dividing by the total length of exons.

ssGSEA

Base on genes from previous research (24) and ssGSEA analysis was used to analyze these genes to define T cell inflamed score.

Statistical analysis

The difference in clinicopathological features among the three subtypes was investigated using the Chi-square test. The expression levels of three subtypes were determined using ANOVA. The difference in the two groups was investigated using the T-test. For correlation analysis, the Pearson correlation coefficient was used. R (version 4.0.2) was used for statistical analyses. Statistical significance was defined as a P-value of < 0.05.

Results

Immune correlation of *ISCA1* gene in pan-cancer

We discovered four types of genes in the literature including MHC, chemokine, immune-stimulator, and receptor (25). The Spearman correlation between these genes and the ISCA1 was measured in pan-cancer. The link between these four gene types with ISCA1 was varied in various types of cancer. It was mostly positive in uveal melanoma (UVM), BLCA, kidney papillary cell carcinoma (KIRP), etc. while thyroid carcinoma (THCA), testicular germ cell tumors (TGCT), etc. were mostly linked negatively (Figure 1A). Moreover, the link between CTLA4, PDCD1, CD86, CD274, and ISCA1 in various cancer types was measured. The outcomes revealed that these four genes were substantially positively linked with ISCA1 in BLCA (Figures 1B-E). Furthermore, ssGSEA was employed for evaluating the scores of 28 immune cell scores in various cancer types, and then their link with ISCA1 was measured. The outcomes of this analysis suggested that there was a considerable positive link between the expression of ISCA1 and 20 immune scores in BLCA (Figure 1F).

Moreover, the *ISCA1* gene expression in pan-cancer was observed (Figure 2). The outcomes indicated that: among the 24 tumors with para-cancerous samples, the expression of the *ISCA1* gene in 15 cancer species was considerably varied in comparison to that in para-cancerous samples. Among them, the expression of the *ISCA1* gene was lowered in tumor samples of 11 cancer species, including breast invasive carcinoma (BRCA), BLCA, cervical squamous cell carcinoma (CSCC), glioblastoma multiform (GBM), kidney chromophobe (KICH), endocervical adenocarcinoma (CESC), kidney renal clear cell carcinoma (KIRC), KIRP, THCA, endometrial carcinoma (READ), etc. Moreover, the expression of cholangiocarcinoma (CHOL), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSC), liver cancer (LIHC), and stomach cancer (STAD) were enhanced in tumor samples of four cancer species.

SNV, CNV, and methylation analysis in BLCA

Based on the above analysis of pan-cancer, the *ISCA1* gene had a considerable positive link with four types of genes in BLCA: immune-stimulator, MHC, chemokine, and receptor. In BLCA, the *ISCA1* gene was positively linked with CTLA4, PDCD1, CD86, CD274, and immune score. Using the difference analysis, it was discovered that the expression of the



ISCA1 gene in BLCA tumor samples was decreased in comparison to that in adjacent samples. Furthermore, the survival analysis highlighted that samples were divided into the high *ISCA1* expression group and low *ISCA1* expression group., so we were focused on the role of *ISCA1* in BLCA.

In herein, we used the surv_cutpoint function of the SurvMiner package to find the best cutoff for grouping. BLCA samples were categorized into two groups (Figure 3A) as per the best cutoff of *ISCA1* expression value. The group with high *ISCA1* expression showed a poor prognosis, suggesting that *ISCA1* is a risk factor in BLCA. Afterward, we mapped 10 genes with the highest mutation frequencies in the high and low expression groups. The outcomes revealed that TTN, synb1, TP53, RB1, kmt2d, arid1a, and other genes in the low expression group had lower mutation frequencies (Figure 3B). However, no major variation was observed in the TMB of high and low expression groups of *ISCA1* (Figure 3C). We observed that there was a major difference in the expression of *ISCA1* with CNV amplification and deletion and the normal copy

number, and the expression of *ISCA1* with CNV amplification was greatly enhanced, while that with CNV deletion was greatly reduced (p < 0.0001, Figure 3D). Meanwhile, no major link was seen between the methylation degree and the expression of *ISCA1* (Figure 3E). Also, using limma analysis, 1672 genes, included 1505 upregulated genes and 167 downregulated genes, were screened between high ISCA1 group and low ISCA1 group (Figure S1A). KEGG pathways enrichments analysis showed that 1505 genes were enriched in 10 KEGG pathways, such as, PI3K-Akt signaling pathway, cell cycle (Figure S1B), while 167 genes were not enriched into the KEGG pathways.

Comparative analysis of the immune status of *ISCA1* groups in BLCA

In the *ISCA1* expression group, the differential expression of chemokine, immune-stimulator, MHC, and receptor genes was investigated (Figures 4A–E). The expression was higher in the



high expression group, and most of the four different types of genes had substantial variations.

The *ISCA1* high expression group had a high immune score, and the distribution differences of 28 immune cell scores in the

ISCA1 group were examined, revealing that 21 had major variations (Figure 5A). The immune infiltration of BLCA was next investigated, and a link was observed between *ISCA1* expression and immune infiltration score. The marker genes of



FIGURE 3

SNV, CNV, and methylation analysis in BLCA. (A): In BLCA, the KM curve showed that patients in high *ISCA1* group had worse survival outcome compare to low *ISCA1* group, both of which were borderline significant; (B): The mutation distribution of the top 10 genes with the highest frequency of mutations in the high *ISCA1* expression group and low *ISCA1* expression group; (C): The distribution of TMB in high *ISCA1* expression group was compared; (D): The gene expression difference of *ISCA1* in *ISCA1* gene amplification group; (E): Correlation analysis between gene *ISCA1* expression and methylation (**** represents p<0.0001, ns represents p > 0.05).



five cell types were studied: CD8 T cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, NK cells, and Th1 cells. In the *ISCA1* high expression group, the majority of the genes were highly expressed (Figure 5B). The link between *ISCA1* and immunological checkpoints was also measured. Based on the outcomes, *ISCA1* and these immunological checkpoints had a substantial positive link (Figure 5C).

ISCA1 prediction of clinical response and excessive progression of immune checkpoint blockade in BLCA

The link between *ISCA1* expression value and pan-cancer T cell inflamed score was measured, and the outcomes indicated a major positive link (Figure 6A). Moreover, the link between *ISCA1* and different immune properties (immune checkpoint, expression of immunomodulator and TIIC effector genes, and characteristics linked with immunotherapy) in subgroups with varied immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) responses were analyzed (Figure 6B). The outcomes suggested that *ISCA1* had a major positive link with them.

By comparing the scores of BLCA tumors and immunerelated pathways, it was discovered that there were major variations in related immune pathways in the high ISCA1 group and the low ISCA1 group of BLCA tumors, the correlation between ISCA1 expression and Neuroendocrine differentiation pathway is positive in low ISCA1 group (Figure 6C). For example, the Neuroendocrine_ differentiation pathway score was higher in the high ISCA1 group, whereas the score was lower in the low ISCA1 group. ARID1A, RB1, ERBB2, FANCC, and other genes that could be linked to radiotherapy and chemotherapy were compared. It was observed that the mutation frequencies in the high and low ISCA1 groups were different (Figure 6D). ARID1A, RB1, ERBB2, ERCC2, and FANCC mutation frequencies were greater in high ISCA1 groups, for instance, missense mutation of ERCC2 was 5% in the high ISCA1 group and 4% in the low ISCA1 group. In high and low ISCA1 expression groups, the differences in three categories (EGFR network, immune inhibit oncogenic pathways, and radiotherapy predicted pathways) were compared (Figure 6E). The high ISCA1 group was mostly positively correlated in the EGFR network in the EGFR_ligands pathway, while the low ISCA1 group was mostly negatively linked.



Spearman correlation coefficient. () p < 0.0001, ns represents p > 0.05).

Identification of immune-related differential genes and PPI analysis

A total of 575 up-regulated genes and 100 down-regulated genes were obtained by grouping the up-regulated and down-regulated genes of the BLCA sample species *ISCA1*, StromalScore, and ImmuneScore, respectively (Figures 7A, B). The GO and KEGG function enrichment of differential genes was then analyzed using WebGestaltR. Genes were discovered to be closely linked to cancer and immune pathways such as myeloid leukocyte migration, leukocyte migration, angiogenesis, Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation, and so on (Figures 7C–F).

Using the string website, PPI found and analyzed a total of 675 differential genes. Following that, Cytoscape was used to visualize the data and the MCODE plug-in was utilized to identify significant clusters. There were three gene clusters with more than ten genes each (Mcode1, Mcode2, and Mcode3 respectively). The genes MRC1, CXCL11, CCL3, CCL4, CSF1, and FN1 were all found in Mcode1 (Figure 8A). Then, to determine their functions, WebGestaltR was utilized to do a GO and KEGG function enrichment analysis (Figures 8B–E). The findings revealed that the Mcode1 module was linked to immunological pathways such as the Toll-like receptor signaling pathway and the interaction between cytokine and cytokine receptors.

Construction of BLCA cancer immune risk score model

After the above analysis, 675 we identified the differential genes linked with immunity, and then 172 genes linked with prognosis were provided by univariate analysis (p < 0.05).



Afterward, Lasso was employed for selecting the most suited gene for developing the IRS model. Based on the minimum lambda = 0.04090851, we obtained 21 genes (Figure 9A). These genes were used for the multivariate analysis. To further decrease gene number, the stepAIC approach was employed. Finally, we got 11 genes (Figure 9B), and the risk coefficients of linked genes were obtained. The risk scores of each sample in the training and validation datasets were measured, and the best cutoff score was used to categorize them into high and low-risk groups, with their KM curves and ROC curves demonstrated separately. In the

training set, the AUC value for the 1-year survival rate was 0.81, the AUC value for the 3-year survival rate was 0.75, and the AUC value for the 5-year survival rate was 0.77, whereas in the test set, the AUC value for the 1-year survival rate was 0.75, the AUC value for the 3-year survival rate was 0.72, and the AUC value for the 5-year survival rate was 0.64. (Figures 9C, D). A greater survival rate (p < 0.0001) was observed in the low-risk group in both the training and validation sets. In addition, all TCGA datasets, GSE13507 datasets, and GSE32894 datasets were used to validate our IRS model (Figure 9E–G). The



aforesaid datasets' BLCA tumor samples could also be sorted into high- and low-risk groups with differing prognoses (p < 0.0001), with the low-risk group having a greater rate of survival.

Performance comparison between IRS and TIDE

The immunotherapy datasets IMvigor210, GSE91061, GSE78220, and GSE135222 were chosen to predict, evaluate, and compare the efficacy scores of immune therapy. Our approach was used to calculate IRS in these data, and TIDE was utilized to evaluate the effect of immunotherapy, after which the predictive effect of IRS and TIDE on treatment response was evaluated. The immunotherapy samples were separated into high and low-scoring groups following the best IRS and TIDE cut-off scores. Our IRS score was higher than the TIDE score, according to the results (Figure 10).

Discussion

Research has suggested that the *ISCA1* gene is downregulated in 11 types of cancer and upregulated in 4 cancer types. Specifically, the expression of *ISCA1* in BLCA was positively linked with the immune score. Therefore, BLCA is the major type of cancer for follow-up analysis and research. BLCA is a highly malignant tumor in the urinary tract. In 2018, there were nearly 549000 new cases and 200000 deaths, ranking the 10th (1). Non-muscle invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC) and muscleinvasive bladder cancer (MIBC) are the two main subtypes of heterogeneous carcinoma (MIBC). The main component of BLCA in NMIBC. It is prone to recur, despite the fact that it is not lethal (26). To prevent recurrence and progression, chemotherapeutic medicines and the BCG vaccine are administered intrathecally (27). Tumor immunology has been the subject of increasing research recently. Many immune checkpoint inhibitors that have been discovered and demonstrated to produce strong and long-lasting responses in cancer patients (28-30). This is consistent with the findings of this study, demonstrating its validity. CTLA4, PDCD1, CD86, and CD274 had strong positive correlations with ISCA1 in BLCA.

Based on the clinical trials of immune checkpoint inhibitors, the *in situ* infiltration of TME immune cells is now considered important for the prognosis prediction of different cancer types and observation of how they react to immunotherapy (**31**, **32**). As a result, the overall status of TME immune cell infiltration was thoroughly examined by evaluating the distribution difference of 28 immune cell scores in BLCA in the *ISCA1* group. The results revealed that the *ISCA1* group had significantly distinct immune cells, with the group with high *ISCA1* expression having a higher immunological score.



module Mcode1.

Furthermore, because macrophages are immunosuppressive cells, most of their hallmark genes were significantly expressed in the *ISCA1* high expression group. The CD8+T and natural killer cells' activation was suppressed by these immunosuppressive cells (33). Immunosuppressive cells

respond to changes in other immune cells and play a key role in the tumor immunological microenvironment. Therefore, we concluded that the poor prognosis of high expression of *ISCA1* can be linked to this tumor immunosuppressive microenvironment. Moreover, CTLA-4, PD-1/PD-L1, and



Construction of IRS model of BLCA. (A) Lasso coefficient distribution of 40 prognostic RNAs in the GEO training cohort. According to the logarithm (λ) sequence plotting coefficient profile. (B) Multifactor results of genes in the final IRS model; (C) KM and ROC analysis of IRS model on GEO training dataset. (D) KM and ROC analysis of IRS model on GEO validation dataset. (E) KM and ROC analysis of IRS model on all GEO datasets. (F) KM and ROC analysis of IRS model on all TCGA datasets. (G) KM and ROC analysis of IRS model on all ICGC datasets. *P<0.05, **P<0.01.

other immune checkpoints also functioned as rheostats in regulating the immune response by preventing the initiation and immune monitoring of protective immune cells (34, 35). We observed that the expression of immune checkpoints was greatly enhanced in the high expression group of *ISCA1*, which suggests that *ISCA1* might be helpful in predicting the effect of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy. *ISCA1* was found to be useful in immunotherapy response prediction in the TCGA-BLCA cohort using the IRS model and TIDE algorithm. All of this suggested that *ISCA1* was a useful biomarker for the immunotherapy response prediction.

However, even if the data from various databases were studied and integrated, the current report still has certain limitations. First, while bioinformatics analysis supplied us with some useful information on *ISCA1*'s role in cancer, we still needed *in vitro* or *in vivo* biology experiments to confirm our findings and boost therapeutic use. More research on the mechanism of *ISCA1*'s function at the molecular and cellular levels would be beneficial. Second, although post-translational modification was important in controlling intracellular signal transduction and regulatory factor activity, no post-translational modification information for *ISCA1* was found in these databases. Furthermore, whereas *ISCA1* expression was linked to both immunological and clinical survival in human cancer, it was unclear whether *ISCA1* affected clinical survival *via* the immune pathway.

Finally, the first pan-cancer investigation of *ISCA1* indicated that the factor was differently expressed between tumor and normal tissues, as well as a link between *ISCA1* expression and BLCA clinical outcome. Our outcomes show that the level of *ISCA1* expression influences prognosis. Further research into the



Invigor210 dataset. (C) ROC curve of IRS and TIDE. (A) IRS survival curve and ROC curve of invigor210 dataset. (D) IRS survival curve and ROC curve of GSE91061 dataset. (C) ROC curve of IRS and TIDE on immunotherapy effect in GSE91061 dataset. (E) TIDE survival curve and ROC curve of GSE91061 dataset. (F) ROC curve of IRS and TIDE on immunotherapy effect in GSE91061 dataset. (G) IRS survival curve and ROC curve of GSE78220 dataset. (H) TIDE survival curve and ROC curve of GSE78220 dataset. (I) ROC curve of GSE135222 dataset. (IX) TIDE survival curve and ROC curve of GSE135222 dataset. (IX) TI

involvement of *ISCA1* in each cancer is required. *ISCA1* expression in BLCA is also linked to the invasion of different immune cells. These outcomes may help in clarifying the role of *ISCA1* in tumorigenesis and development, particularly in BLCA, and give a reference for more accurate and tailored immunotherapy in the future.

Conclusion

Overall, our outcomes indicated that *ISCA1* is involved in the progression of pan-cancer, particularly in BLCA. In BLCA, the high expression of *ISCA1* predicted a worse prognosis, and the immune scores of some immune cells indicated a major positive link with them. Finally, an IRS model was developed, and the *ISCA1*-related low-risk group had a higher survival rate. In conclusion, the possibility of *ISCA1* as a biomarker for predicting pan-cancer was evaluated comprehensively, and its

value in BLCA was determined, which expanded our vision in immunotherapy and can provide a useful evaluation system for clinical application.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contribution

All authors contributed to this present work: RLZ designed the study, NXP acquired the data. WL drafted the manuscript and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: Cancer J Clin (2018) 68(6):394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492

2. Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Sci (New York NY) (2018) 359(6382):1350–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar4060

3. Blum A, Wang P, Zenklusen JC. SnapShot: TCGA-analyzed tumors. Cell (2018) 173(2):530. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.059

4. Roth KG, Mambetsariev I, Kulkarni P, Salgia R. The mitochondrion as an emerging therapeutic target in cancer. *Trends Mol Med* (2020) 26(1):119–34. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2019.06.009

5. Jia D, Park JH, Jung KH, Levine H, Kaipparettu BA. Elucidating the metabolic plasticity of cancer: Mitochondrial reprogramming and hybrid metabolic states. *Cells* (2018) 7(3):21. doi: 10.3390/cells7030021

6. Sonveaux P, Végran F, Schroeder T, Wergin MC, Verrax J, Rabbani ZN, et al. Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(12):3930–42. doi: 10.1172/JCI36843

7. Arcucci A, Ruocco MR, Granato G, Sacco AM, Montagnani S. Cancer: An oxidative crosstalk between solid tumor cells and cancer associated fibroblasts. *BioMed Res Int* (2016) 2016;4502846. doi: 10.1155/2016/4502846

8. Yang X, Lu D, Zhang X, Chen W, Gao S, Dong W, et al. Knockout of ISCA1 causes early embryonic death in rats. *Anim Models Exp Med* (2019) 2(1):18–24. doi: 10.1002/ame2.12059

9. Sheftel AD, Wilbrecht C, Stehling O, Niggemeyer B, Elsässer HP, Mühlenhoff U, et al. The human mitochondrial ISCA1, ISCA2, and IBA57 proteins are required for [4Fe-4S] protein maturation. *Mol Biol Cell* (2012) 23(7):1157–66. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e11-09-0772

10. Banci L, Brancaccio D, Ciofi-Baffoni S, Del Conte R, Gadepalli R, Mikolajczyk M, et al. [2Fe-2S] cluster transfer in iron-sulfur protein biogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci United States Am* (2014) 111(17):6203–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1400102111

11. Kovacheva M, Zepp M, Berger S, Berger MR. Conditional knockdown of integrin beta-3 reveals its involvement in osteolytic and soft tissue lesions of breast cancer skeletal metastasis. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2021) 147(2):361–71. doi: 10.1007/s00432-020-03428-y

12. Barbie DA, Tamayo P, Boehm JS, Kim SY, Moody SE, Dunn IF, et al. Systematic RNA interference reveals that oncogenic KRAS-driven cancers require TBK1. *Nature* (2009) 462(7269):108–12. doi: 10.1038/nature08460

13. Yoshihara K, Shahmoradgoli M, Martínez E, Vegesna R, Kim H, Torres-Garcia W, et al. Inferring tumour purity and stromal and immune cell admixture from expression data. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2612. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3612

14. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with CIBERSORT. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ)* (2018) 1711:243–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1_12

15. Li T, Fu J, Zeng Z, Cohen D, Li J, Chen Q, et al. TIMER2.0 for analysis of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2020) 48(W1):W509–w14. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkaa407

16. Becht E, Giraldo NA, Lacroix L, Buttard B, Elarouci N, Petitprez F, et al. Estimating the population abundance of tissue-infiltrating immune and stromal cell populations using gene expression. *Genome Biol* (2016) 17(1):218. doi: 10.1186/s13059-016-1070-5

17. Plattner C, Finotello F, Rieder D. Deconvoluting tumor-infiltrating immune cells from RNA-seq data using quanTIseq. *Methods Enzymol* (2020) 636:261–85. doi: 10.1016/bs.mie.2019.05.056

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.975503/full#supplementary-material

18. Aran D, Hu Z, Butte AJ. xCell: digitally portraying the tissue cellular heterogeneity landscape. *Genome Biol* (2017) 18(1):220. doi: 10.1186/s13059-017-1349-1

19. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. Limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43(7):e47. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv007

20. Liao Y, Wang J, Jaehnig EJ, Shi Z, Zhang B. WebGestalt 2019: gene set analysis toolkit with revamped UIs and APIs. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2019) 47(W1): W199-w205. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkz401

21. Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Regularization paths for generalized linear models via coordinate descent. J Stat Software (2010) 33(1):1–22. doi: 10.18637/jss.v033.i01

22. Zhang Z. Variable selection with stepwise and best subset approaches. Ann Trans Med (2016) 4(7):136. doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.03.35

23. Jiang P, Gu S, Pan D, Fu J, Sahu A, Hu X, et al. Signatures of T cell dysfunction and exclusion predict cancer immunotherapy response. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(10):1550–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0136-1

24. Sato M, Kobayashi M, Wakamatsu Y, Imai M, Horibe M. [Symposium-drug action and animal behavior. 7. pharmacological studies of emotional behavior of rodentia]. Nihon Yakurigaku Zasshi Folia Pharmacol Japonica (1970) 66(4):80-1.

25. Ru B, Wong CN, Tong Y, Zhong JY, Zhong SSW, Wu WC, et al. TISIDB: an integrated repository portal for tumor-immune system interactions. *Bioinf (Oxford England)* (2019) 35(20):4200–2. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btz210

26. Babjuk M, Böhle A, Burger M, Capoun O, Cohen D, Compérat EM, et al. EAU guidelines on non-muscle-invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder: Update 2016. *Eur Urol* (2017) 71(3):447–61. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2016.05.041

27. Soria F, Milla P, Fiorito C, Pisano F, Sogni F, Di Marco M, et al. Efficacy and safety of a new device for intravesical thermochemotherapy in non-grade 3 BCG recurrent NMIBC: a phase I-II study. *World J Urol* (2016) 34(2):189–95. doi: 10.1007/s00345-015-1595-3

28. Atkins MB, Clark JI, Quinn DI. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in advanced renal cell carcinoma: experience to date and future directions. *Ann Oncol* (2017) 28 (7):1484–94. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx151

29. Johnson DB, Sullivan RJ, Menzies AM. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in challenging populations. *Cancer* (2017) 123(11):1904–11. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30642

30. Inman BA, Longo TA, Ramalingam S, Harrison MR. Atezolizumab: a pd-llblocking antibody for bladder cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(8):1886–90. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1417

31. Hegde PS, Karanikas V, Evers S. The where, the when, and the how of immune monitoring for cancer immunotherapies in the era of checkpoint inhibition. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(8):1865–74. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1507

32. Lee JM, Lee MH, Garon E, Goldman JW, Salehi-Rad R, Baratelli FE, et al. Phase I trial of intratumoral injection of ccl21 gene-modified dendritic cells in lung cancer elicits tumor-specific immune responses and cd8(+) t-cell infiltration. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(16):4556–68. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2821

33. Bunt SK, Yang L, Sinha P, Clements VK, Leips J, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Reduced inflammation in the tumor microenvironment delays the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and limits tumor progression. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(20):10019–26. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2354

34. Le Mercier I, Lines JL, Noelle RJ. Beyond ctla-4 and pd-1, the generation z of negative checkpoint regulators. Front Immunol (2015) 6:418. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00418

35. Dempke WCM, Fenchel K, Uciechowski P, Dale SP. Second- and thirdgeneration drugs for immuno-oncology treatment-the more the better? *Eur J Cancer (Oxford England: 1990)* (2017) 74:55–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.01.001

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Jiakai Hou, University of Houston, United States Hui Wang, University of Pennsylvania, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhijun Liu zhijun_liu@xjtufh.edu.cn Yili Wang wangyili@mail.xjtu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 26 June 2022 ACCEPTED 27 July 2022 PUBLISHED 23 August 2022

CITATION

Zhang N, Wang D, Hu X, Zhang G, Li Z, Zhao Y, Liu Z and Wang Y (2022) Analysis of immune status in gastric adenocarcinoma with different infiltrating patterns and origin sites. *Front. Immunol.* 13:978715. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.978715

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhang, Wang, Hu, Zhang, Li, Zhao, Liu and Wang. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Analysis of immune status in gastric adenocarcinoma with different infiltrating patterns and origin sites

Nana Zhang^{1,2}, Depu Wang^{2,3}, Xiaoyan Hu², Guanjun Zhang^{2,4}, Zhuoqun Li¹, Yan Zhao¹, Zhijun Liu^{1*} and Yili Wang^{1,2*}

¹Institute of Regenerative and Reconstructive Medicine, Med-X Institute, First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ²Institute for Cancer Research, School of Basic Medical Science, Health Science Center of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xian, China, ³Department of Science and Technology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xian, China, ⁴Department of Pathology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xian, China

Tumor infiltration pattern (INF) and tumor origin site were reported to significantly affect the prognosis of gastric cancer (GC), while the immune status under these contexts is not clear. In this study, we correlated the density and phenotype of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) with INF and the tumor origin site to reflect the biological behavior of tumors from a new perspective and also determined their effects on overall survival (OS) and other related clinicopathological features in archival samples of 147 gastric cancers with 10-year follow-up data. We found that the INFc growth pattern (an invasive growth without a distinct border) of GC lacked immune cell infiltration, particularly the cytotoxic T cells and their activated form. It is also significantly associated with an unfavorable prognosis (P < 0.001) and proximal site (P = 0.001), positive lymph node metastasis (P = 0.002), and later tumor-node-metastasis stage (P < 0.001). Moreover, the density and sub-type of TILs infiltration were significantly different in disparate differentiated areas for the tumor tissue with INFb. Compared with distal gastric cancer, proximal gastric cancers were prone to grow in an INFc pattern (P = 0.001) and infiltrated with fewer TILs, experiencing a shorter survival time (P = 0.013). Multivariate analysis showed that only the INF and the density of TILs were demonstrated to be the independent prognostic factors of OS for the GC. We concluded that GC with an aggressive growth pattern arising from proximal sites always had a weak immune response and resulted in a poor prognosis. The interaction between them and their synergistic or antagonistic effects in the development of tumors need to be further studied. This study opens up a new perspective for research on the biological behavior of the tumor.

KEYWORDS

tumor infiltration pattern, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, tumor origin site, gastric adenocarcinoma, immune status

Introduction

Gastric cancer (GC) is one of the most common cancers worldwide for both male and female individuals (1). Many clinicopathological elements were reported to influence the patients' survival, such as tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) stage, histopathological type, and genetic factors (2, 3). Even The Cancer Genome Atlas project has also involved GC classification by displaying four sub-types, *i.e.*, tumors positive for Epstein-Barr virus, microsatellite unstable tumors, genomic stable tumors, and tumors with chromosomal instability, which have corresponding molecular profiles and are aimed at potential targeted therapies (4).

The tumor originating sites and growth patterns as essential pathological parameters in gastric cancer and also their clinical significance have been often described (5, 6). Tumor infiltration patterns (INFs) were classified into three according to the Japanese Classification of Gastric Carcinoma: INFa, INFb, and INFc. The INFa group exhibits expanding growth and a distinct border with the surrounding tissue and INFc is described as displaying infiltrating growth and an indistinct border with the surrounding tissue, while INFb falls between INFa and INFc (7). Their features were shown to be valuable in predicting the prognosis and recurrence pattern in advanced GC (6) and so were the primary sites of GC, for instance, the primary GC arising in the upper third of the stomach, including the cardia or gastroesophageal junction, usually addressed as proximal gastric cancer (PGC), was reported to be associated with a worse prognosis compared with distal cancers (DGC) originating from the rest of the stomach (8). Moreover, the incidence of adenocarcinoma at the antrum or distal stomach has decreased, whereas that of the proximal type has increased in most developed countries (9, 10). There are discrepancies between PGC and DGC in terms of biological behaviors and etiologic factors. PGC shows demographic and pathological features typical of Barrett's-related esophageal adenocarcinoma and is not associated with severe forms of gastritis characterized by atrophy and/or intestinal metaplasia and/or a Helicobacter pylori infection, which was proven to be a key factor in adenocarcinomas of the distal stomach (11-13). For the anatomical structure of PGC, the serosa is partially developed, and it is prone to be diagnosed at a more advanced stage, indicating an unfavorable prognosis (14). It can be concluded that PGC possesses a more aggressive biological behavior more frequently associated with deeper gastric wall infiltration, lymph node involvement, and lymphatic vessel invasion (15). It has been noted that a GC with a different INF is reflected by its aggressive abilities. The INFc growth pattern exhibited more aggressive and more budding tumor cells, but not the INFa pattern, and the budded tumor cells harbored some stemness properties and epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotypes (16).

Up to now, few studies focused on the contact of the tumor originating site and INF, both of which were specifically behavioral

characteristics of GC and affect the patients' prognosis. Furthermore, nearly no study has involved local immunity state with tumor originating site and INF. Nevertheless, we wonder if the histological heterogeneity of GC in INF and tumor arising sites could be more informative relative to the local immune status, *i.e.*, GC with different INF and primary sites could underlie the privileged immunobiological behavior of the tumor cells and is of great importance to understand the influence of the tumor microenvironment on cancer development and evolution. It has been well documented that the presence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) correlated to the patients' outcomes (17, 18). Specifically, the prognosis of tumor patients could be predicated on the type, density, and location of immune cell infiltration, as the different sub-types of TILs could affect the behavior of the tumor, inhibiting or promoting neoplastic progression (19, 20). It would be reasonable to deem that the primary sites of GC and different INFs could create a particular immune microenvironment and influence a patient's outcome. Therefore, we performed a study of 147 patients with gastric adenocarcinoma with complete 10-year follow-up data to evaluate the association of the tumor with different cancer arising sites and INF and then analyzed their corresponding immune status, which may contribute to the clinical diagnosis and treatment of gastric cancers as well as explain the biological behaviors of tumor cells comprehensively.

Materials and methods

Patients and specimens

A total of 147 primary gastric cancer patients with complete 10year follow-up data (116 male and 31 female patients; mean age, 62.3 years) between 2001 to 2003 at the Department of Pathology of First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University were recruited. The patients underwent a curative total or subtotal gastric resection along with regional lymphatic dissection, without distant metastasis in any patient upon preoperative examination. The data collected for analysis included age, gender, Lauren classification, TNM stage, histological differentiation, tumor location, tumor size, and lymph node involvement of the patients. The detailed information is presented in Table 1 of our previous study (21). All specimens were fixed in 10% buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin wax. The maximal invasive margin was selected and sliced into 4-µm sections to conduct hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining. Five serial sections of each paraffin-embedded tumor block were cut-one for H&E to inspect the INF and four for IHC to detect the TILs.

Classification of tumor location

According to the criteria of the Japanese Gastric Cancer Association (7), the tumor location was divided into two groups,

Clinicopathologic parameters	No. of cases (%)	INFc	INFa+b	χ2 value
Tumor arising site				
Proximal	38 (27.9)	24	14	0.001
Distal	109 (72.1)	35	74	
Age (years)				
≤60	79 (53.7)	26	53	0.329
>60	68 (46.3)	33	35	
Gender				
Female	31 (21.1)	18	13	0.022
Male	116 (78.9)	41	75	
Tumor size (cm)				
≤4 cm	86 (58.5)	37	49	0.231
>4 cm	61 (41.5)	22	39	
Lymph nodes involvement				
Negative	62 (42.2)	16	46	0.002
Positive	85 (57.8)	43	42	
No,of positive Lymph nodes				
≤5	108 (73.5)	33	75	< 0.001
>5	39 (26.5)	26	13	
TNM stage				
IA-IB	39 (26.5)	5	34	< 0.001
IIA-IIB	40 (27.2)	15	25	
IIIA-IIIC	68 (46.3)	39	29	
IV	0 (0)	0	0	
Grade				
G1	3 (2.0)	1	2	0.958
G2	58 (39.5)	22	36	
G3	70 (47.6)	29	41	
G4	16 (10.9)	7	9	
Lauren classification				
Intestinal type (IT)	86 (58.5)	26	60	8.703
Diffuse type (DT)	35 (23.8)	18	17	
Mixed type (MT)	26 (17.7)	15	11	

TABLE 1 Association of INF with clinicopathologic parameters.

i.e., proximal gastric cancer (PGC) and distal gastric cancer (DGC), by reviewing the clinicopathological data. PGC was considered when the tumor arose in the upper third of the stomach, including the cardia or gastroesophageal junction, which is up to the crossing line between the left gastric artery and the end of the left gastroepiploic artery. The tumors below this crossing line were considered DGC.

Assessment of tumor infiltrating pattern

The INF types were determined by observing sections stained with H&E, strictly according to the Japanese Classification of Gastric Carcinoma (7). The tumor growth pattern was classified as INFa (expansive growth having a distinct border with the surrounding tissues), INFb (intermediate type between INFa and INFc), and INFc (infiltrative growth having no distinct border with the surrounding tissues) (Figure 1A). Two expert pathologists reviewed the sections to confirm the diagnosis.

Assessment of differentiation differences in the same section

According to the differentiation of tumor cells in different regions of the sectioned tissue of INFb, the tumor tissue was divided into well-differentiated and poorly differentiated regions. Well-differentiated areas are those where the tumor cells were characterized by cohesive cells which form gland-like structures. Poorly differentiated areas are those where tumor cells infiltrate the stroma as a single cell or small cell cluster, leading to a population of non-cohesive, scattered tumor cells.



Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical staining was carried out using the streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method. The mouse monoclonal primary antibodies used were anti-human CD8 (DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark; 1:100 dilution), anti-human granzyme B (Novocastra, Newcastle, UK; 1:100), anti-human OX40 (Novocastra; 1:30), and anti-human Foxp3 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK; 1:50) to identify the lymphocyte immunophenotype. Normal lymph node tissue was used for positive controls. Sections were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated in a graded series of ethanol. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by 10-min incubation with 3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol. After washing in TBST, antigen retrieval was done by heat-induced epitope retrieval methods for 1 min and 30 s in citric buffer (pH 6.0), then saturated with 10% normal goat serum for15 min, and then incubated with a primary antibody at 4°C overnight. Subsequently, sections were incubated with Dako EnVision (DakoCyomation, Denmark) for 30 min at room temperature. Color development was visualized with freshly prepared diaminobenzidine (DAB)chromogen for 5 min. The slides were counterstained with hematoxylin and mounted on coverslips. For the sake of showing a clear image of TILs and INF on one slide no matter at high or low magnification, we stained the CD8+TILs and tumor cells in one slide with the double-IHC staining. Similar to the IHC, after detecting the CD8+T cells by DAB, another incubation was performed with anti-CK (AE1 + AE3; Abcam, Cambridge, UK;

prediluted) for 2 h at room temperature, followed by an application of 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate for 10 min and counterstaining with nuclear fast red for 3 min. The tumor cells were stained purple-blue, and the CD8+T cells were colored brown.

Evaluation of positive TILs

The counting of positive TILs was performed by the classical point counting method as described by Anderson (22). A 100point ocular grid was used at ×400 magnification under a microscope (Olympus Optical Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Excluding the influence of subjective factors, the immune cell was observed in 10 fields with the most abundant positive cell distribution for each tissue sample bypassing the lymph follicle and the normal tissue on the slides. As for the limited fields of the well-differentiated and poorly differentiated areas in one slide with INFb, only five fields with the most abundant positive cells were selected. The counted fields only included cancer cell nests and surrounding tissue stroma, within the tumor tissue. The number of positive TILs was counted twice for each slide, and the mean value was calculated for each case as the final count. The cases were divided into TIL-high and TIL-low groups according to the sub-type of the TIL median for further analysis with the INF and tumor site.

Statistical analysis

SPSS 13.0 for Windows (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) was used for the statistical analysis. The distribution difference of the four sub-types of TIL according to the INF and tumor location as well as different regions of differentiation was analyzed by one-way ANOVA and independent-samples *T*-test, respectively. Correlations of the INF and TILs and tumor location, as well as other clinicopathological variables, were determined by the chi-square test. The Kaplan–Meier method was used to estimate overall survival, and survival was analyzed by the log-rank test based on INF, TILs, and tumor location. Univariate and multivariate analyses of the three factors and of the clinicopathological features were performed using the Cox proportional hazard regression model. *P* <0.05 was regarded as significant in all of the analyses.

Results

The relationship of INF and tumor origin site and their association with pathological parameters in gastric adenocarcinoma

The results of the correlation analysis showed that INF and tumor origin site were statistically correlated to each other (P =0.001). Moreover, 63.16% (24/38) cases of tumors originating from the proximal site are growing with INFc pattern, and 67.89%~(74/109) cases of tumors arising from the distal site are infiltrating with INFa or INFa pattern. It indicated that PGC tends to grow in a malignant infiltrative pattern (INFc), whereas DGC tends to grow in a relatively benign infiltrating pattern (INFa + INFb) (Table 1). For the relationship between INF and other pathological parameters, female patients are more prone to appear INFc (P =0.022). Tumor from the proximal site was significantly related to tumors with INFc (P = 0.001) presence of lymph node metastasis (P= 0.002), and a higher number of positive lymph nodes were more frequent in patients with INFc tumors than in those with INFa/b tumors (P < 0.001). Additionally, tumors with INFc were significantly related to a later TNM stage (P < 0.001) and a mixed type of Lauren classification (P = 0.013). There was no significant difference in tumor differentiation and patients' age between INFa/ b and with INFc (Table 1).

The comparisons on the relationships of age, gender, tumor size, number of positive lymph nodes, and Lauren classification between PGC and DGC showed no statistical difference, while a larger tumor size (P = 0.072), a higher number of positive lymph nodes (P = 0.095), and Lauren classification (P = 0.087) tend to be associated with the tumor location. PGC was statistically associated with a later TNM stage (P < 0.001) and positive lymph node metastasis (P = 0.007) (Table 2).

The prognostic effect of INF and tumor origin site on GC patients

Log-rank test showed that GC in the proximal site experienced a much shorter survival time (P = 0.013; Figure 1B). Moreover, the prognosis of the patients with INFc tumor was significantly worse than that with INFa or INFb in all cases (P < 0.001; Figure 1C). Univariate and multivariate analyses revealed that INFc was an independent risk prognostic factor of the OS of GC patients (Table 3). Additionally, INFc (HR = 3.079, P < 0.001), positive lymph node metastasis (HR = 3.883, P = 0.004), and diffused type of Lauren classification (HR = 2.647, P = 0.006) were found to be independent risk prognostic factors for GC patients. Only a higher number of TILs (HR = 0.515, P = 0.019) was found to be a favorable prognostic factor for GC patients (Table 3).

The immune status in gastric tumor originating from different sites and its prognostic value

After clarifying the relationship between INF and tumor origin site, we further analyzed the immune status of GC tissues with different INF and originating sites to better understand their current impact on GC patients' prognosis. The CD8+ T cells possess an anti-tumor effect. The Foxp3+ regulatory cells (Tregs), playing a critical role in immune tolerance and deficiency of antitumor immunity, were often used as a negative antitumor parameter. Therefore, the subset of TILs in our study contained CD8+ cytotoxic T cell and Foxp3+ Treg, supplemented with their activated form (GrB+T and OX40+T). In this cohort, 38 cases were adenocarcinomas of PGC, and 109 cases were in the distal stomach. Overall, the lymphocyte infiltrates in PGC tissue were relatively less than those in the distal site of GC tissue, although without statistical significance. Compared with DGC, the total number of TILs (P =0.033) and the GrB+T (P = 0.003) cell infiltrates were significantly attenuated in PGC (Figure 2A), and the number of CD8+T and OX40+T cells were with an obvious tendency to be infiltrated less in the PGC group (PGC vs. DGC: CD8+T, 12.447 \pm 4.941 vs. 14.294 \pm 5.267, P = 0.061; OX40+T, 5.658 ± 2.581 vs. 6.844 ± 3.567, P =0.062). The infiltration of regulatory T cells (Foxp3+T) was not significantly different between the two groups. Additionally, CD8+T cells possess a numerical advantage in both DGC (P < 0.001) and PGC among the investigated sub-types of immune cells, although without statistical significance in PGC. The number of Foxp3+T was also quantitatively superior to OX40+ (P < 0.001) and GrB+T (P < 0.001) cells in DGC and PGC (Figure 2B). We further analyzed the relative percentages of activated immune cell populations (GrB +/CD8+ and OX40+/FOXP3+) in the tumor tissue from the different originating sites. The results showed that the functional Foxp3+T cell percentage was significantly higher in PGC compared

clinicopathologic parameters	No. of cases (%)	Proximal GC	Distal GC	χ2 value
Age (years)				
≤60	79 (53.7)	21	59	0.325
>60	68 (46.3)	18	50	
Sex				
Female	31 (21.1)	6	25	0.352
Male	116 (78.9)	32	84	
Tumor size (cm)				
≤4 cm	86 (58.5)	24	62	0.072
>4 cm	61 (41.5)	14	47	
Lymph nodes involvement				
Negative	62 (42.2)	9	53	0.007
Positive	85 (57.8)	29	56	
No, of positive Lymph nodes				
≤5	108 (73.5)	24	84	
>5	39 (26.5)	14	25	0.095
TNM stage				
IA-IB	39 (26.5)	4	35	< 0.001
IIA-IIB	40 (27.2)	6	34	
IIIA-IIIC	68 (46.3)	28	40	
IV	0 (0)	0	0	
Pathological grade				
G1	3 (2.0)	0	3	0.609
G2	58 (39.5)	17	41	
G3	70 (47.6)	18	52	
G4	16 (10.9)	3	13	
Lauren classification				
Intestinal type (IT)	86 (58.5)	28	58	0.087
Diffuse type (DT)	35 (23.8)	6	29	
Mixed type (MT)	26 (17.7)	4	22	

TABLE 2 Association of originating site of GC with clinicopathologic parameters.

with that in DGC (P = 0.009), and there was no statistical significance between PGC and DGC for the percentages of the activated immune type of CD8+T cells (Figure 2C).

The immune status in the gastric tumor of different INFs

There were 46 patients in INFa, 42 in INFb, and 59 in INFc who were among these 147 GC samples. The TILs in different INF exhibited a significant and uneven distribution (Figure 3A). In general, the number of total immune cell infiltrates was less in INFc than that in INFa (P < 0.001) or INFb (P = 0.001) pattern, whereas there was no significant difference between INFa and INFb for the number of total TILs. When the subsets of TILs were taken into consideration, the number of CD8+T (Figure 3B), GrB +T, and OX40+T cells did not show a significant difference between the cases of INFa and INFb patterns, but their infiltration in the cases of INFc was significantly less than those

in the cases of INFa (CD8+T, P < 0.002; GrB+T, P = 0.001; and OX40+T, P = 0.001) and INFb (CD8+T, P = 0.011; GrB+T, P < 0.001; and OX40+T, P = 0.009) patterns. The infiltration of effector Th cells (OX40+) in cancer tissue with INFa tended to be more than that in INFc (INFa vs. INFc: 6.304 ± 2.615 vs. 5.220 \pm 3.519, *P* = 0.083), but there was no significant difference in its distribution between INFa and INFb. As for the regulatory T cell infiltration, there was no significant difference among the three infiltrating patterns. Additionally, the number of CD8+T cells occupied a quantitatively dominant position (P = 0.001) in the INFa cases, but not in the INFb and INFc cases. The infiltration of CD8+T cells was significantly higher than the OX40+ (P < 0.001) and GrB+T cells (P < 0.001) but without advantages on Foxp3+T cells in INFc cases (Figure 3C). Moreover, the relative percentages of activated immune cell populations for the CD8+T cells (GrB +/CD8+) were significantly higher in the INFb group compared with the INFc group (P = 0.02), while OX40+/FOXP3+ did not show any statistical significance among the three INF groups (Figure 3D).

Variables	Categories	Univariable analysis		Multivariable analysis	
	C	HR (95%CI)	Р	HR (95%CI)	Р
INF	INFc vs INFa+b	4.288 (2.593, 7.092)	< 0.001	3.079 (1.683, 5.632)	0.009
Age (years)	>60 <i>vs</i> ≤60	2.150 (1.266, 3.711)	0.008	1.484 (0.706, 3.119)	0.297
Gender	Male vs female	1.286 (0.689, 2.400)	0.430	1.328 (0.555, 5.136)	0.631
Tumor size (cm)	$>4 vs \leq 4$	1.860 (1.152, 3.005)	0.011	2.519 (0.921, 4.464)	0.202
Tumor originating site	PGC vs DGC	1.858 (1.127, 3.064)	0.015	1.331 (0.755, 2.348)	0.323
Lymphnode metastasis	Positive vs negative	7.870 (3.884, 15.945)	< 0.001	3.883 (1.545, 9.761)	0.004
No,of positive positive lymph nodes	>5 <i>vs</i> ≤5	4.243 (2.608, 6.904)	< 0.001	0.902 (0.437, 1.862)	0.781
TNM stage	IIA-IIB vs IA-IB	4.453 (1.488, 13.322)	0.013	1.546 (0.426, 5.609)	0.508
	IIIA-IIIC vs IA-IB	12.023 (4.321, 33.458)	0.002	2.305 (0.622, 8.542)	0.211
Tumor grade	G2 vs G1	0.00 (0.000, 2.2E26)	0.969	0.000 (0.000, +∞)	0.978
	G3 vs G1	0.607 (0.290, 1.271)	0.185	1.713 (0.697, 4.215)	0.241
	G4 vs G1	0.823 (0.406, 1.667)	0.588	1.458 (0.677, 3.140)	0.335
Lauren classification	Diffuse type vs Intestinal type(IT)	2.196 (1.283, 3.762)	0.004	2.647 (1.327, 5.279)	0.006
	Mixed type vs IT	1.573 (0.825, 3.000)	0.169	1.460 (0.697, 3.061)	0.316
Density of TILs	High vs low	0.404 (0.244, 0.671)	< 0.001	0.515 (0.296, 0.897)	0.019

TABLE 3 Univariate and multivariate analyses of prognostic factors for survival of gastric cancer patients.

HR: Hazard ratio, CI: Confidence interval, PGC: Proximal gastric cancer, DGC: Distal gastric cancer, INF: tumor infiltrating pattern.



(A, B) Graphs showing the four sub-types of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) distribution in proximal gastric cancer (PGC) and distal gastric cancer (DGC). The total number of TILs (P = 0.033) and the GrB+T (P = 0.003) cell infiltrates were significantly attenuated in PGC (A). The CD8+T cells possess a numerical advantage in DGC (P < 0.001) as for the investigated sub-type of immune cells. The number of Foxp3+T cells was also quantitatively superior to OX40+T (P < 0.001) and GrB+T (P < 0.001) cells in DGC and PGC (B). The functional Treg cell (OX40+/FOXP3+) percentage was significantly higher in the PGC compared with that in DGC (P = 0.009) (C). The degree of difference is expressed by the asterisk symbols: **P < 0.001 and *P < 0.05.

The TILs infiltration difference in GC tissue with differentiation differences

In gastric cancer sections of 42 cases with an infiltration pattern of INFb, there were distinct differentiation differences formed by tumor cells with different differentiation grades, which can be classified into well-differentiated and poorly differentiated areas (Figure 4A). We further analyzed the infiltration difference of the investigated sub-types of TILs in areas with different differentiation grades in the cancer tissues of INFb. The results showed that the number of Foxp3+ (P < 0.001), OX40+ (P =0.001) and CD8+ T (P = 0.008) lymphocytes in poorly differentiated areas was significantly higher than that in the welldifferentiated areas of the tumor, respectively (Figures 4B, C). Moreover, the dominance order of the four types in the welldifferentiated areas was as follows: CD8+ > Foxp3+ > GrB+ > OX40+T lymphocytes, while in the poorly differentiated areas, this was as follows: Foxp3+ > CD8+ > OX40+ > GrB+ T lymphocytes (Figure 4D), although not all sub-types are significantly different from each other. These results indicated that tumor cells with different sub-types of lymphocytes, resulting in the discrepancy of the type and number of recruited lymphocytes despite being under the same immunological background.



Discussion

In the process of tumor development, the biological behavior is affected by many factors; the tumor-host immune response constitutes the most important part, which dynamically affects tumor progression (23). This study firstly investigated the relationship between the TILs and tumor INF as well as the tumor origin site in GC. TILs are the major effectors encountering malignancy in the frontier; functional phenotypes of lymphocytes have profoundly facilitated the exploration of TILs subsets in situ. Various combinations of the TILs subpopulation detection panels have been reported. An international consortium was initiated with the support of the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer to assess the prognostic value of total tumor-infiltrating T cell counts and cytotoxic tumor-infiltrating T cell counts with the consensus immunoscore assay in patients with stages I-III colon cancer, and the densities of CD3+ and cytotoxic CD8+ T cells in the tumor and the invasive margin were quantified by digital pathology (24). Foxp3+ regulatory cells (Tregs), playing a critical role in immune tolerance and deficiency of anti-tumor immunity, were often used as negative antitumor parameters (25, 26). Therefore, the panel of TILs subset in our study

contained CD8+ cytotoxic T cell and Foxp3+ Treg, supplemented with activated CTLs (GrB+ T cell) and primed CD4+ T cells (OX40+ T cell, inducing cytokine production and maintaining a normal immune response).

Due to the special location and structures of the PGC, it displays the clinicopathological characteristics of both esophageal and gastric malignancies, as the esophagogastric junction was a very special transitional area from the squamous epithelium to the glandular epithelium, which is rather different from the typical glandular epithelium of the distal stomach. Different epithelial ingredients with different tumorigenesis might lead to discrepant characteristics for PGC and DGC. In line with the many results of previous research (8, 15, 27), our small sample data also indicated that PGC has more vicious biological behaviors and predicted unfavorable outcomes. In a large sample study, PGC showed a significantly higher incidence of undifferentiated cell types than DGC, and in Lauren's classifications, PGC showed a higher proportion of diffuse-type cells, whereas DGC exhibited more intestinal-type cells, which was consistent with our study (15). A new finding in our investigation was that PGC frequently has an aggressive infiltration pattern and less number of TILs, especially for the activated anti-tumor cytotoxic lymphocytes (GrB+T). This



malignant growth pattern and unfavorable immune microenvironment might inevitably lead to a stronger growth advantage. The predominance of obesity, tobacco abuse, and gastroesophageal reflux disease were reported to be associated with the occurrence of PGC (28–30), which are different from those of DGC, arguing for the different pathogenesis pathways in PGC and DGC. Indeed it is indicated that cancers of the cardia are more frequently associated with deeper gastric wall infiltration, lymph node involvement, and lymphatic vessel invasion (31), of which it is hypothesized that PGC may possess an aggressive biological behavior as the tumor with INFc type grows, all of which may be related to the differences in the pathophysiology of PGC and DGC, while the specific relationship and the mechanism between them need to be further studied.

Additionally, we found tumors with INFc that were associated with a reduced number of CD8+, GrB+T cells, and the whole TILs

infiltration. Tumors in proximal sites of the stomach are prone to growing with an infiltrative pattern and infiltrating a fewer number of TILs. Despite that, except for the GrB+ T cell, the other three types of TILs and the total number of TILs were observed to have no statistical differences, but the trends of TILs distribution are obviously shown. It may be attributed to the small size of the tumor in the proximal site, as only 38 cases were PGC among the 147 cases in our study. Anyway, our analytical perspective can open up a new study trace for relative follow-up research. Although INF can be easily determined by routine H&E staining, it has not gained widespread attraction in diagnostic pathology. In the present study, we focused on the correlation between the subsets of TILs and the INF type as well as the association of tumor sites in GC. Tumors with INFc often have a smaller number of TILs compared with INFa or INFb, especially for cytotoxic T cells (CD8+) and activated cytotoxic T cells (GrB+), which are crucial components of antitumor immunity. The current paradigm in tumor immunity

suggests that a large number of activated CD8+ effector T cells should be able to attack the tumor cells (32, 33). Moreover, it has been reported that Treg cells can exert an immunosuppressive function so as to limit an effective anti-tumor immune response (26). However, we did not find any significant relation between Foxp3+T cells as well as OX40+T cells and the tumor growth patterns in our study. Additionally, we also compared the immune status between INFa and INFb, while no statistical difference was observed between them, from which it might be concluded that INFa and INFb have a similar immune state. It could also reasonably explain why the investigators always put INFa and INFb into one group and compare them with INFc, but they never give any explanation in their reports. Thereby, we also put INFa and INFb in one group in the subsequent analysis. Similar results were obtained. Compared with the INFa and INFb groups, the INFc type was significantly associated with a shorter overall survival time, and it was strikingly associated with female patients, bigger tumor size, proximal tumor location, and positive lymph node metastasis-a higher number of positive lymph nodes, a much later TNM stage as well as a diffuse type of Lauren classification are suggestive of a more aggressive nature. GC with INFc plus a weak immune defense may be more likely to allow cancer cells to penetrate through the gastric wall and be shed into the surrounding tissue.

Interestingly, tumors in proximal sites were strongly associated with the growth pattern of INFc type. Meanwhile, INFc and the total number of TILs were identified as independent predictive factors for the prognosis of GC in our study. Moreover, in the tumor tissue with INFb, both welldifferentiated and poorly differentiated areas exist in the same tissue section, and we found that the density and the sub-type of TILs infiltration were distributed significantly different in disparate differentiated areas, suggesting that tumor cells with different differentiation grades have distinct immunogenicity, resulting in a discrepancy in the type and number of recruited lymphocytes, and could form its special TME under the same immunological background. Despite that, the immune infiltrates are found to be heterogeneous between tumor types and patients, and their effect on prognosis varies in different cancers (34). Our findings reveal a certain relationship between INF and tumor originating site as well as TILs. As the local interactions between the TILs and tumor cells are complex, the specific mechanism and the other relationship remained to be studied in a follow-up work.

Conclusions

Our study found that GC with an aggressive growth pattern (INFc) originating from the proximal sites (PGC) was always associated with a weak immune response and resulted in a poor prognosis. It opens up a new perspective for research on the biological behavior of the tumor. However, the interaction between them and their synergistic or antagonistic effects in the development of tumors need to be further studied.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by the First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University (no. XJTU1AF2018LSK-292). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

NZ designed and performed the experiments, analyzed the experimental results, and drafted the manuscript. DW and XH helped to perform the experiments and analyzed the results. NZ and GZ read all the tissue sections. ZqL and YZ helped collected the samples and sorted the related information. ZjL and YW edited and reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the Institutional Foundation of The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University (no. 2021QN-23) and the Project of Shaanxi Province Natural Science Basic Research (2022JQ-914).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. Smyth EC, Nilsson M, Grabsch HI, van Grieken NC, Lordick F. Gastric cancer. Lancet (2020) 396:635-48. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31288-5

3. Pernot S, Terme M, Radosevic-Robin N, Castan F, Badoual C, Marcheteau E, et al. Infiltrating and peripheral immune cell analysis in advanced gastric cancer according to the lauren classification and its prognostic significance. *Gastric Cancer* (2020) 23:73–81. doi: 10.1007/s10120-019-00983-3

4. The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. *Nature* (2014) 513:202–9. doi: 10.1038/nature13480

5. Xue J, Yang H, Huang S, Zhou T, Zhang X, Zu G. Comparison of the overall survival of proximal and distal gastric cancer after gastrectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Surg Oncol* (2021) 19:17. doi: 10.1186/s12957-021-02126-4

6. Saito H, Miyatani K, Takaya S, Kuroda H, Matsunaga T, Fukumoto Y, et al. Tumor infiltration pattern into the surrounding tissue has prognostic significance in advanced gastric cancer. *Virchows Arch* (2015) 467:519–23. doi: 10.1007/s00428-015-1811-y

7. Japanese Gastric Cancer Association. Japanese Classification of gastric carcinoma: 3rd english edition. *Gastric Cancer* (2011) 14:101–12. doi: 10.1007/s10120-011-0041-5

8. Petrelli F, Ghidini M, Barni S, Steccanella F, Sgroi G, Passalacqua R, et al. Prognostic role of primary tumor location in non-metastatic gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 50 studies. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2017) 24:2655– 68. doi: 10.1245/s10434-017-5832-4

9. Colquhoun A, Arnold M, Ferlay J, Goodman KJ, Forman D, Soerjomataram I. Global patterns of cardia and non-cardia gastric cancer incidence in 2012. *Gut* (2015) 64:1881–8. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308915

10. Keeney S, Bauer TL. Epidemiology of adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction. Surg Oncol Clin N Am (2006) 15:687–96. doi: 10.1016/j.soc.2006.07.014

11. Liu X, Jiang Q, Yue C, Wang Q. Clinicopathological characteristics and survival predictions for adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction: a seer population-based retrospective study. *Int J Gen Med* (2021) 14:10303–14. doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S341405

12. Chandrasoma P, Wickramasinghe K, Ma Y, DeMeester T. Is intestinal metaplasia a necessary precursor lesion for adenocarcinomas of the distal esophagus, gastroesophageal junction and gastric cardia? *Dis Esophagus* (2007) 20:36–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2007.00638.x

13. Hansen S, Vollset SE, Derakhshan MH, Fyfe V, Melby KK, Aase S, et al. Two distinct aetiologies of cardia cancer; evidence from premorbid serological markers of gastric atrophy and helicobacter pylori status. *Gut* (2007) 56:918–25. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.114504

14. Zhang Y, Zhang PS, Rong ZY, Huang C. One stomach, two subtypes of carcinoma-the differences between distal and proximal gastric cancer. *Gastroenterol Rep (Oxf)* (2021) 9:489–504. doi: 10.1093/gastro/goab050

15. Jang JH, Beron RI, Ahn HS, Kong SH, Lee HJ, Kim WH, et al. Clinicopathological features of upper third gastric cancer during a 21-year period (single center analysis). J Gastric Cancer (2010) 10:212–8. doi: 10.5230/jgc.2010.10.4.212

16. Lugli A, Zlobec I, Berger MD, Kirsch R, Nagtegaal ID. Tumour budding in solid cancers. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2021) 18:101–15. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-0422-y

17. Zhang D, He W, Wu C, Tan Y, He Y, Xu B, et al. Scoring system for tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and its prognostic value for gastric cancer. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:71. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00071 18. O'Brien SM, Klampatsa A, Thompson JC, Martinez MC, Hwang WT, Rao AS, et al. Function of human tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7:896–909. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0713

19. Peled M, Onn A, Herbst RS. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes-location for prognostic evaluation. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:1449–51. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3803

20. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pages C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. *Science* (2006) 313:1960–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1129139

21. Zhang N, Wang D, Duan Y, Ayarick VA, Cao M, Wang Y, et al. The special immune microenvironment of tumor budding and its impact on prognosis in gastric adenocarcinoma. *Pathol Res Pract* (2020) 216:152926. doi: 10.1016/j.prp.2020.152926

22. Anderson J, Dunnill M. Observations on the estimation of the quantity of emphysema in the lungs by the point-sampling method. *Thorax* (1965) 20:462–6. doi: 10.1136/thx.20.5.462

23. Hinshaw DC, Shevde LA. The tumor microenvironment innately modulates cancer progression. *Cancer Res* (2019) 79:4557–66. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3962

24. Pages F, Mlecnik B, Marliot F, Bindea G, Ou FS, Bifulco C, et al. International validation of the consensus immunoscore for the classification of colon cancer: a prognostic and accuracy study. *Lancet* (2018) 391:2128–39. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30789-X

25. Saleh R, Elkord E. Foxp3(+) t regulatory cells in cancer: prognostic biomarkers and therapeutic targets. *Cancer Lett* (2020) 490:174–85. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.07.022

26. Togashi Y, Shitara K, Nishikawa H. Regulatory t cells in cancer immunosuppression - implications for anticancer therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2019) 16:356–71. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0175-7

27. Ness-Jensen E, Bringeland EA, Mattsson F, Mjones P, Lagergren J, Gronbech JE, et al. Hypergastrinemia is associated with an increased risk of gastric adenocarcinoma with proximal location: a prospective population-based nested case-control study. *Int J Cancer* (2021) 148:1879–86. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33354

28. Olsen CM, Pandeya N, Green AC, Webb PM, Whiteman DC. Population attributable fractions of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastroesophageal junction. *Am J Epidemiol* (2011) 174:582–90. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr117

29. Kubo A, Corley DA. Body mass index and adenocarcinomas of the esophagus or gastric cardia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2006) 15:872–8. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0860

30. Cook MB, Kamangar F, Whiteman DC, Freedman ND, Gammon MD, Bernstein L, et al. Cigarette smoking and adenocarcinomas of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction: a pooled analysis from the international beacon consortium. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2010) 102:1344–53. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djq289

31. Pacelli F, Papa V, Caprino P, Sgadari A, Bossola M, Doglietto GB. Proximal compared with distal gastric cancer: multivariate analysis of prognostic factors. *Am Surg* (2001) 67:697–703. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-6143.2001.10214.x

32. Tallon DLP, Castanon H, Sterpi M, van den Broek M. Antimetastatic defense by cd8(+) t cells. *Trends Cancer* (2022) 8:145–57. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2021.10.006

33. Jie X, Chen Y, Zhao Y, Yang X, Xu Y, Wang J, et al. Targeting kdm4c enhances cd8(+) t cell mediated antitumor immunity by activating chemokine cxcl10 transcription in lung cancer. *J Immunother Cancer* (2022) 10(2):e003716. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-003716

34. Bruni D, Angell HK, Galon J. The immune contexture and immunoscore in cancer prognosis and therapeutic efficacy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2020) 20:662–80. doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-0285

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY

Changhui Sun, Ruijin Hospital Lu Wan Branch, China Dafeng Xu, Hainan General Hospital. China

*CORRESPONDENCE Ying Chen dongyechenying@163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 07 July 2022 ACCEPTED 09 August 2022 PUBLISHED 29 August 2022

CITATION

Zhao J and Chen Y (2022) Systematic identification of cancer-associatedfibroblast-derived genes in patients with colorectal cancer based on single-cell sequencing and transcriptomics. *Front. Immunol.* 13:988246. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.988246

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhao and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Systematic identification of cancer-associated-fibroblastderived genes in patients with colorectal cancer based on single-cell sequencing and transcriptomics

Jia Zhao^{1,2,3,4} and Ying Chen^{1,2,3,4}*

¹Department of Medical Oncology, the First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ²Key Laboratory of Anticancer Drugs and Biotherapy of Liaoning Province, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ³Liaoning Province Clinical Research Center for Cancer, Shenyang, China, ⁴Key Laboratory of Precision Diagnosis and Treatment of Gastrointestinal Tumors, Ministry of Education, Shenyang, China

Colorectal cancer (CRC) has a high incidence rate and poor prognosis, and the available treatment approaches have limited therapeutic benefits. Therefore, understanding the underlying mechanisms of occurrence and development is particularly crucial. Increasing attention has been paid to the pathophysiological role of cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) in the heterogeneous tumour microenvironment. CAFs play a crucial role in tumorigenesis, tumour progression and treatment response. However, routine tissue sequencing cannot adequately reflect the heterogeneity of tumours. In this study, single-cell sequencing was used to examine the fibroblast population in CRC. After cluster analysis, the fibroblast population was divided into four subgroups. The distribution and role of these four subgroups in CRC were found to be different. Based on differential gene expression and lasso regression analysis of the main marker genes in these subgroups, four representative genes were obtained, namely, TCF7L1, FLNA, GPX3 and MMP11. Patients with CRC were divided into the low- and high-risk groups using the prognostic risk model established based on the expression of these four genes. The prognosis of patients in different risk groups varied significantly; patients with low-risk scores had a greater response to PDL1 inhibitors, significant clinical benefits and significantly prolonged overall survival. These effects may be attributed to inhibition of the function of T cells in the immune microenvironment and promotion of the function of tumour-associated macrophages.

KEYWORDS

cancer-associated fibroblasts, colorectal cancer, prognostic risk model, single-cell sequencing, TCF7L1, FLNA, GPX3, MMP11

Introduction

As the third most common malignancy, colorectal cancer (CRC) causes more than 8% of all deaths worldwide each year (1, 2). Routine treatment of CRC includes surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, which are invasive and may have a greater impact on the quality of life of patients (3). After comprehensive treatment, the 5-year survival rate of patients with early-stage CRC is 90%; however, treatment options for patients with advanced-stage CRC who are ineligible for surgery are limited (4). Immunotherapy may be beneficial for patients with advanced-stage CRC. Because of its strong anti-tumour activity, immunotherapy is used for treating several solid tumours, including melanoma, kidney cancer, non-small cell lung cancer and prostate cancer (5). In addition to targeted and anti-vascular therapies, immunotherapeutic strategies have gradually improved. PD-1/L1 and CTLA-4 are the main immunotherapeutic agents; however, their clinical efficacy remains unclear. Studies have shown that only patients with CRC with defective mismatch repair (dMMR) or high microsatellite instability (MSI-H) are eligible for checkpoint inhibition and may benefit from it (6, 7). Therefore, dMMR/ MSI-H is considered a predictive biomarker for the application and efficacy of immunosuppressants (8). However, the efficacy of dMMR/MSI-H is only 30-40% (9), which considerably limits the application of immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of colon cancer. Therefore, understanding the underlying mechanisms of the occurrence and development of CRC is necessary to screen for more effective predictors and improve the currently available treatment approaches.

In addition to the role of tumour cells, the tumour microenvironment (TME) is another major auxiliary factor in the onset and growth of tumours. Several studies have associated TME with the occurrence and growth of tumours, survival and clinical treatment sensitivity (10, 11). TME has an extremely complex system comprising stromal cells, tumour cells, various cytokines and an extracellular matrix (ECM) (12). Fibroblasts are the main cellular component of the matrix and are called cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs). They interact with cancer cells (13, 14) and are significantly associated with the prognosis of tumours (15). A recent study has demonstrated that CAFs play a significant role in various tumours. For example, matrix SOX2 upregulation promotes tumorigenesis by producing CAFs expressing SFRP1/2 (16), and Wnt-induced phenotypic transformation of CAFs inhibits EMT in CRC (17). However, most studies have focused only on the involvement of tumour cells in fibroblast remodelling or the effects of fibroblasts on tumour cells, and systematic analysis of tumours and TME including the whole fibroblast population is lacking.

In this study, we identified fibroblast subsets based on single-cell sequencing analysis and identified hub genes significantly related to fibroblasts by differential analysis, correlation analysis, univariate cox analysis and lasso cox analysis. Further, we analysed the roles of hub genes in tumors from various aspects by studying the mutations and immunity of these genes. Finally, we constructed a multi-gene signature and confirmed its role in predicting patient outcomes and immunotherapy predictions.

Materials and methods

Extraction and preprocessing of scRNA data

The read count expression profile data of 16 cancer tissues and 7 adjacent tissues were extracted from the single-cell sequencing dataset GSE200997 from the NCBI database Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO). First, the singlecell data were filtered by ensuring that each gene was expressed in at least three cells, and at least 250 genes were expressed per cell. The PercentageFeatureSet function was used to determine the proportion of mitochondria and rRNA and ensure that <3000 genes are expressed per cell and the Unique molecular identifier (UMI) of each cell is at least >100.

The data were standardised through log-normalisation, and highly variable genes were identified using the FindVariableFeatures function (variance-stabilising transformation was used to identify variable characteristics). Subsequently, the ScaleData function was used to scale all genes, and Principal components analysis (PCA) was used for dimensionality reduction to identify anchor points (dim = 40). The FindNeighbors and FindClusters functions (resolution = 0.2) were used to cluster the cells, and the RunTSNE function was used to reduce t-SNE dimensionality to screen for fibroblasts.

Extraction and preprocessing of the cancer genome atlas data

The clinical phenotype data of CRC were downloaded from TCGA database, and samples lacking data on survival time and survival status were removed. Samples were further filtered to ensure that the survival time in each sample was >0 days. In addition, the gene expression profile data were downloaded from TCGA database, and 431 tumour samples and 41 paracancerous samples were selected for further analysis.

The copy number variation (CNV) of CRC samples were downloaded from TCGA database and integrated using the GISTIC2 software.

The single nucleotide variants (SNVs) data of TCGA-COAD cohort were downloaded from TCGA database and integrated using the Mutect2 software.

Extraction and preprocessing of GEO data

The GSE17536 and GSE17537 datasets were downloaded from GEO, and the probe IDs were converted to gene symbols according to the annotation files. A probe ID that corresponded to multiple genes was deleted, and the expression of several probes for a gene was averaged. Normal tissue samples were removed, and only tumour samples were retained. In addition, samples without clinical follow-up and OS data were removed to ensure that the survival time of all patients was >0 days. A total of 177 tumour samples and 21,655 genes were obtained from the GSE17536 dataset, and 55 tumour samples and 21,655 genes were obtained from the GSE17537 dataset.

Single-cell clustering dimensionality reduction

The R language *Seurat* package was first used to filter the singlecell data by setting each gene to be expressed in at least 3 cells, and each cell expresses at least 250 genes, calculating the proportion of mitochondria and rRNA through the PercentageFeatureSet function, and ensuring that each cell The expressed genes are less than 3000, and the UMI of each cell is at least greater than 100. Then, we normalized the data of 23 samples separately by lognormalization.The FindVariableFeatures function was used to find highly variable genes [identify variable features based on variance stabilizing transformation ("vst")], then scaled all genes using the ScaleData function, and perform PCA dimensionality reduction to find anchors, we chose dim=40, pass The FindNeighbors and FindClusters functions cluster the cells (set Resolution=0.2), divided the subgroups, and used the RunTSNE function for TSNE dimensionality reduction,

Annotation and further segmentation of fibroblasts

The fibroblasts were screened with the four genes of ACTA2, FAP, PDGFRB and NOTCH3, and then the fibroblasts were extracted and clustered by the functions of FindNeighbors and FindClusters (setting Resolution=0.2), and the fibroblasts were further divided into 4 groups subpopulations and re-TSNE dimensionality reduction of fibroblasts using the RunTSNE function.

Identification of marker genes

The FindAllMarkers function of the *Seurat* package was used to identify marker genes of fibroblasts by LogFC=0.5,

Minpct=0.35 (minimum expression ratio of differential genes) and identified marker genes with a corrected p<0.05.

Functional annotation of subgroups

KEGG enrichment analysis was performed on marker genes of fibroblast subpopulations using the compareCluster function of the *clusterProfiler* package in R language, and screening was performed with pvalue Cutoff=0.05.

Identification of malignant and nonmalignant cells

Four fibroblast subpopulations were analyzed using the R language *copykat* package to differentiate between tumor cells/ malignant cells and normal cells/non-malignant cells in each sample by changes in the cnv of the cells.

Copykat's statistical workflow combines Bayesian methods with hierarchical clustering to calculate genomic copy number profiles of individual cells and to define clonal substructures from high-throughput 3' scRNA-seq data. The workflow takes a gene expression matrix of Unique Molecular Identifier (UMI) counts as input to the calculation. Analysis begins with rows of gene annotations, ordered by their genomic coordinates. Freeman-Tukey transformation (FTT) was performed to stabilize variance, followed by polynomial dynamic linear modeling (DLM) to smooth out outliers in single-cell UMI counts. A subset of diploid cells with high confidence was then examined to infer baseline copy number values for normal 2N cells. To do this, we pooled individual cells into several small hierarchical clusters and estimated the variance of each cluster using a Gaussian mixture model (GMM). By following strict classification criteria, the cluster with the smallest estimated variance was defined as "confident diploid cells". Potential misclassification can occur when the data have only a few normal cells, or when tumor cells have near-diploid genomes and limited CNA events. In this context, Copykat provides a "GMM-defined" model to identify diploid normal cells one by one, where a mixture of three Gaussian models of gene expression in a single cell is assumed to represent genomic gain, loss, and neutral states. A single cell is defined as a "confident diploid cell" when the genes in the neutral state account for at least 99% of the expressed genes.

Tumour-related pathways.

As reported in a previous study, the 10 pathways related to tumours and genes associated with these pathways are shown in Supplementary Table 1. The scores of each cell for the 10 pathways were calculated *via* Single-sample GSEA (ssGSEA). The proportion of malignant and non-malignant cells and the MSI status in fibroblast subpopulations were compared *via* the chi-square test, and the scores of different fibroblast subpopulations associated with the 10 tumour-related pathways were compared *via* the Wilcoxon test.

Potential regulatory pathways of key genes

Using h.all.v7.5.1.symbols.gmt as a background, the enrichment scores of patients in TCGA cohort for each pathway were calculated using the *GSVA* package in R. Subsequently, the correlation between gene expression and pathway enrichment scores was analysed using the *Hmisc* package.

Construction of a risk model for predicting the response to PD-L1 inhibitor immunotherapy

The PD-L1 cohort (IMvigor210) was used to assess the relationship between risk scores and immunotherapy. The effects of PD-L1 inhibitors were different among 348 patients in the IMvigor210 cohort, which were characterised by stable disease (SD), progressive disease (PD), partial response (PR) and complete response (CR). In addition, differences between immunotherapy and chemotherapy were analysed in the IMvigor210 cohort. The risk model was used to evaluate the possible clinical outcomes of immunotherapy using the TIDE (http://tide.dfci.harvard.edu/) software. The likelihood of immune escape increased with increasing TIDE prediction scores, indicating that immunotherapy is less likely to benefit patients.

Statistical analyses

The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to compare the normality of variables between two groups. The unpaired Student's t-test was used to determine the statistical significance of differences between normally distributed variables, and the Mann– Whitney U test was used to analyse non-normally distributed variables. The Kruskal–Wallis test and one-way ANOVA were employed as non-parametric and parametric methods, respectively, for comparing more than two groups. Spearman and distance correlation analyses were used to examine the correlation. The Kaplan–Meier method was used to compute survival rates, and the log-rank test was used to assess the significance of variations in survival curves.

Results

Identification of fibroblasts from scRNA-seq data

A total of 49,698 cells were obtained after filtering single-cell sequencing data. The PercentageFeatureSet function was used to calculate the proportion of mitochondria and rRNA, and 48,755 cells were obtained. As shown in Figure S1A, a significant correlation was observed between the number of UMI and mRNA but not between the number of UMI/mRNA and the content of mitochondrial genes. A violin diagram created before and after QC analysis is shown in Figure S1B, C.

Furthermore, the data of 23 samples were standardised *via* lognormalisation. A total of 16 subgroups were obtained, and the RunTSNE function was used to reduce t-SNE dimensionality. Fibroblasts were screened based on the expression of ACTA2, FAP, PDGFRB and NOTCH3. Because these four genes were mainly expressed by cells in subgroup 9, the cells were defined as fibroblasts (Figures S2A, B) and extracted for cluster analysis. These fibroblasts were further divided into four subgroups, and the RunTSNE function was used to reduce t-SNE dimensionality. The t-SNE map of the four fibroblast subpopulations and marker gene expression is shown in Figures S2C, D.

Figure 1A shows the t-SNE diagram of 23 samples, Figure 1B shows the t-SNE diagram of different tissues (cancer and adjacent tissues), Figure 1C shows the t-SNE diagram of the MSI status and Figure 1D shows the t-SNE diagram of fibroblast subsets after cluster analysis. The number of cells in each sample before and after data filtration is shown in Table 1.

The marker genes of the four subpopulations were identified using the FindAllMarkers function (logfc = 0.5 [difference multiple], Minpct = 0.35 [minimum expression ratio of different genes] and corrected p-value < 0.05). The expression of the top five marker genes with the most prominent contribution was analysed in each subgroup (Figure 1E).

Furthermore, the proportion of the four fibroblast subpopulations was analysed in each sample (Figure 1F), and the clusterprofiler package in R was used for KEGG enrichment analysis of marker genes in each subgroup (Figure 1G).

The copykat package in R was used to screen for tumour/ malignant cells and normal/non-malignant cells in each sample based on CNVs (to ensure that normal cells were not included). A total of 297 cancer cells (malignant cells) and 491 normal cells (non-malignant cells) were eventually identified (Figure 1H).

Expression of fibroblasts in tumourrelated pathways

Genes involved in 10 important pathways associated with tumorigenesis and development were extracted from previous



studies. Figure 2A shows the enrichment of fibroblasts in the 10 tumour-related pathways. In addition, the proportion of malignant and non-malignant cells and the MSI status in the fibroblast subpopulations were compared (Figures 2B, C), and the scores of different fibroblasts in the 10 pathways were compared (Figures 2D–G).

Identification of key genes in fibroblasts

A total of 1424 upregulated and 1245 downregulated genes were identified in TCGA dataset using the limma package (FDR < 0.05 and $|\log 2$ (fold change)| > 1). Figure 3A shows a volcano map of differential analysis.

Based on the results of single-cell sequencing analysis, the scores of the CAF subgroups in TCGA dataset were calculated using ssGSEA to screen for marker genes in each subgroup. The results revealed that the scores of the CAF_0 subgroup were higher in cancer tissues, whereas those of CAF_1, CAF_2 and CAF_3 subgroups were higher in paracancerous tissues (Figure 3B). Subsequently, the survminer package was used to select optimal truncation based on the total survival time, and the scores of the four fibroblast subgroups were divided into the high-and low-score groups. The KM curve revealed that the high-score group of the four subgroups had a poor prognosis (Figure 3C-F).

Furthermore, the Hmisc package was used to examine the correlation between 2669 DEGs associated with tumorigenesis and development and the scores of the four CAF subgroups. A total of 248 key genes significantly associated with the four fibroblast subpopulations were identified (p < 0.001; cor > 0.7) and subjected to univariate cox analysis using the coxph function of the survival package. The results revealed 36 genes with a high prognostic impact, which were considered prognostic risk factors (p < 0.01) (Figure 4A).

These 36 key genes were further filtered using lasso regression to decrease the number of genes used for constructing a risk model. Lasso regression is a compression estimation technique. By creating a penalty function, which causes certain coefficients to be compressed and some coefficients to be set to zero, lasso regression helps to create a more refined model. Therefore, lasso regression retains the benefit of subset contraction and is a biased estimation for analysing data with complex collinearity. It selects variables during parameter estimation and improves the method of dealing with multicollinearity in regression analysis. In this study, the R software package glmnet was used to perform lasso-Cox regression. The change in each independent variable was assessed (Figure 4B), and the number of independent variable coefficients tending to 0 was found to gradually increase with the increase in lambda. The risk model was

TABLE 1 Cou	nting of c	ell counts	before	and after	sample	filtration.
-------------	------------	------------	--------	-----------	--------	-------------

Samples	raw_count	clean_count	Percentage (%)
B_cac10	2823	2823	100
B_cac11	4644	4611	99.29
B_cac14	4764	4722	99.12
B_cac15	1034	1030	99.61
B_cac4	2666	2652	99.47
B_cac6	717	712	99.3
B_cac7	1565	1554	99.3
T_cac1	1692	1586	93.74
T_cac10	697	690	99
T_cac11	2865	2761	96.37
T_cac12	4038	4018	99.5
T_cac13	2642	2642	100
T_cac14	4071	4020	98.75
T_cac15	3675	3651	99.35
T_cac16	1381	1243	90.01
T_cac2	1674	1649	98.51
T_cac3	1183	1093	92.39
T_cac4	1584	1575	99.43
T_cac5	169	169	100
T_cac6	1690	1643	97.22
T_cac7	1494	1480	99.06
T_cac8	990	903	91.21
T_cac9	1640	1528	93.17

constructed using 10-fold cross-validation, and the confidence interval of each lambda was evaluated (Figure 4C). The performance of the model was optimal at a lambda of 0.0251. The four genes obtained based on this value were selected as target genes for further analysis, and multivariate cox analysis revealed that the genes were prognostic risk factors (Figure 4D).

Mutation analysis of key genes

The SNVs of the four genes were examined in TCGA dataset, and FLNA was found to have the highest mutation frequency (Figure 5A). Subsequently, we examined the collinearity and mutual exclusiveness of these four and the top 10 genes with most mutations in CRC and found that the mutations of these four genes did not exhibit significant collinearity (Figure 5B). Furthermore, the CNVs of the four genes were analysed, and only a few samples were found to have copy number amplification/deletion (Figure 5C).

The molecular characteristics of TCGA-COAD cohort were obtained from previous pan-cancer studies. Correlation analysis revealed that MMP11 and TCF7L1 were significantly positively correlated with aneuploidy scores, homologous recombination defects and the fraction altered (Figure 5D).

Potential regulatory pathways of key genes

The enrichment scores of each pathway in TCGA cohort were calculated using the *gsva* package in R, and Pearson correlation analysis between the expression of the four genes and the pathway enrichment scores was performed using the Hmisc package in R. A total of 22 significantly related pathways were identified (|cor| > 0.4 and p < 0.001). Figure 6A shows a heat map of the relationship between the 4 genes and 22 pathways. Figure 6B shows a heat map of the enrichment scores of 22 pathways.

Relationship between key genes and immunity

The immune scores of each sample in TCGA dataset were evaluated using the ESTIMATE algorithm and were found to have a significant positive correlation with the four genes (Figure 7A). The samples were divided into the high- and low-expression groups based on the median expression level of the four genes, and significant differences in immune scores were observed between the high- and low-expression groups (Figure 7B).

The CIBERSORT method was used to determine the immune cell scores of samples in TCGA dataset. Correlation analysis revealed that the expression of the four genes was significantly negatively correlated with T cell scores but was significantly positively correlated with macrophage-related scores (Figure 7C). The samples were divided into the high-and low-expression groups based on the median expression level of the four genes, and significant differences in some immune cell scores between the high- and low-expression groups (Figure 7D).

Construction of a risk model based on key genes

The results of multivariate Cox analysis are shown in Figure 4D. The risk scores of samples were calculated using the following formula: RiskScore = $\Sigma \beta i \times Expi$, where i refers to the expression levels of the four key genes, and β is the multivariate Cox regression coefficient of the corresponding genes. The final formula for calculating risk scores based on the 4-gene signature is as follows:

TCGA cohort was used as the training dataset to determine the risk score of each sample. ROC analysis was performed to examine the efficiency of the risk model in predicting prognosis at 1–5 years using the R software package timeROC (Figure 8A). The AUC value



FIGURE 2

(A) Heat map of the scores of 10 tumour-related pathways enriched in CAFs; (B) Comparison of CAF subpopulations in malignant and nonmalignant cells; (C) Comparison of CAF subpopulations in terms of MSI status; (D) Comparison of the scores of 10 tumour-related pathways between malignant and non-malignant cells in the CAF_0 subgroup; (E) Comparison of the scores of 10 tumour-related pathways between malignant and non-malignant cells in the CAF_1 subgroup; (F) Comparison of the scores of 10 tumour-related pathways between malignant and non-malignant cells in the CAF_2 subgroup; (G) Comparison of the scores of 10 tumour-related pathways between malignant and non-malignant cells in the CAF_2 subgroup; (G) Comparison of the scores of 10 tumour-related pathways between malignant malignant cells in the CAF_3 subgroup; (Wilcoxon test; *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001; ***P < 0.001). ns, no significant.

for predicting prognosis at 4 and 5 years was 0.7. In addition, z-scores were evaluated for risk scores, and samples with risk scores of >0 were included in the high-risk group, whereas those with risk scores of <0 were included in the low-risk group. Subsequently, KM curves were plotted, and significant differences were observed between the two groups (p < 0.0001) (Figure 8B).

The GSE17536 dataset was used to verify the robustness of the model using the abovementioned method. A risk model was constructed, and its efficiency in predicting prognosis at 1–5 years was analysed using the R software package timeROC (Figure 8C). The AUC value for predicting prognosis at 1 year was 0.7. In addition, z-scores were evaluated for risk scores, and samples with risk scores of >0 were included in the high-risk group, whereas those with risk scores of <0 were included in the low-risk group. Subsequently, KM curves were plotted, and significant differences were observed between the two groups (p < 0.05) (Figure 8D).

The GSE17537 dataset was analysed using the same method. As shown in Figures 8E, F, the AUC value for predicting prognosis at 1–4 years was >0.7, and substantial differences were observed between the high- and low-risk groups.

Combination of risk scores and clinicopathological features to improve survival prediction

Multivariate and univariate Cox regression analyses of the risk score and clinicopathological features showed that the risk score was the most significant prognostic factor (Figures 9A, B). A nomogram integrating the risk scores and other clinicopathological parameters was constructed for quantifying the risk assessment and survival probability of



patients with CRC (Figure 9C). The risk score had the most influence on survival rate prediction. The predictive accuracy of the risk model was further assessed using a calibration curve (Figure 9D). The calibration curve plotted for predicting prognosis at 1, 3 and 5 years and the standard curve yielded similar results, indicating the good predictive performance of the nomogram. Additionally, decision curve analysis was performed to assess the reliability of the model, and the benefits of the nomogram and risk score were found to be considerably greater than those of the extreme curve. The performance of the nomogram and risk score in predicting survival was superior to that of other clinicopathological features (Figures 9E, F).

Prediction of the response to PD-L1 inhibitor immunotherapy *via* the risk model

The capability of the risk score to predict the response of patients to ICB therapy was assessed to study its association with immunotherapy. The results showed that patients with low risk scores had significant clinical benefits and prolonged OS in the anti-PD-L1 cohort (IMvigor210 cohort) (Figure 10C, p < 0.05). PD-L1 inhibitors had different effects among 348 patients in the IMvigor210 cohort, which were characterised by progressive

disease (PD), stable disease (SD), partial response (PR) and complete response (CR). The risk scores of patients with SD/PD were higher than that of patients with other types of reactions (Figure 10A). Additionally, patients with low-risk scores experienced considerably superior treatment outcomes (Figure 10B). In addition, differences in survival among patients with different CRC stages in the IMvigor210 samples were analysed. The results revealed that stage I+II samples showed substantial survival differences (Figure 10D); however, stage III+IV samples did not show significant survival differences (Figure 10E).

Furthermore, differences in immunotherapy and chemotherapy responses were analysed among patients in the IMvigor210 cohort. The risk model was used to assess the potential clinical impacts of immunotherapy using the TIDE (http://tide.dfci.harvard.edu/) software. The likelihood of immune escape increased with increasing TIDE prediction scores, indicating that patients were less likely to benefit from immunotherapy. With regard to immunotherapy, the risk and TIDE scores of patients unresponsive to immunotherapy were found to be higher, which also showed that the high-risk group was less likely to benefit from immunotherapy (Figures 10F, G). In addition, Pearson correlation analysis revealed a strong positive correlation between the TIDE and risk scores (Figure 10H).



Discussion

The proliferation of connective tissue is one of the key hallmarks of tumours, and the components involved in proliferation include fibroblasts, macrophages, immune cells and dense ECM (18). Fibroblasts are the main cell type in ECM, which are called CAFs. Recently, a consensus statement was issued, which stated that cancer cells with slender morphology; a lack of mutations and negative markers of epithelial cells, endothelial cells and leukocytes may be considered CAFs (19). The characteristic markers of CAFs are $\alpha\text{-}SMA$ and fibroblast-activating protein (FAP), and the expression of fibroblast-specific protein 1 (FSP1), plateletderived growth factor receptor (PDGFR)- α/β and vimentin is high in CAFs. These proteins are transcribed from ACTA2, FAP, PDGFRB and NOTCH3 genes, respectively. Because morphological features are subjective and not conducive to quantification, we used ACTA2, FAP, PDGFRB and NOTCH3

genes as markers to screen for CAFs in CRC samples via singlecell sequencing. Compared with single-cell sequencing technology, the traditional transcriptome sequencing technology (bulk RNA-seq) is based on tissue samples (cell population), which reflects the average expression level of genes in the cell population. However, several studies have indicated that CAF is heterogeneous, and certain CAF subtypes stimulate tumour growth, whereas some inhibit it. For instance, in a study by Costa et al., CAF subgroup 1 created an immunosuppressive microenvironment by suppressing CD4+CD25+ T cells in breast cancer (20). Su et al. (21) reported that the new subset, CD10+GPR77+ CAFs, can facilitate the formation of tumours in patients with breast and lung cancers. Therefore, conventional sequencing technology cannot reflect the role of CAFs in tumours. In this study, cells in subgroup 9 mainly expressed ACTA2, FAP, PDGFRB and NOTCH3 and were, therefore, defined as fibroblasts. The fibroblasts of subgroup 9 were extracted,



(A) Waterfall diagram of SNVs in the 4 key genes; (B) Collinearity and mutual exclusion analysis of the 4 key genes and 10 genes with the most mutations in CRC; (C) CNVs in the 4 key genes; (D) Heat map of the correlation between the 4 key genes and aneuploidy scores, homologous recombination defects, fraction altered, number of segments and non-silent mutation rates.



FIGURE 6

(A) Heat map of the correlation between genes and pathways; (B) Heat map of the enrichment scores of key pathways. *P< 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.



. (Wilcoxon test; *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001; ****P < 0.0001). ns, no significant.

subjected to cluster analysis and further divided into four subgroups. KEGG enrichment analysis of marker genes in each subgroup revealed that the genes were mainly enriched in pathways associated with 'ECM' and 'focal adhesion', which play an important role in tumours. However, this finding does not indicate that the four CAF subgroups play the same role in tumours.

Consistent with previous studies, this study revealed that the four CAF subpopulations may play different or contradictory roles in tumours. The distribution of malignant and nonmalignant cells among the CAF subpopulations was significantly different. In the CAF_0 subpopulation, the proportion of malignant cells was higher, and that of cells with MSI-H was lower. However, in the other three subpopulations, the proportion of malignant cells was lower, and that of cells with MSI-H was higher. Furthermore, single-cell sequencing was used to screen for marker genes in the CAF subgroups, and the scores of the subgroups in TCGA dataset were calculated via ssGSEA. The results showed that the scores of the CAF_0 subgroup were higher in cancer tissues, and those of CAF_1, CAF_2 and CAF_3 subgroups were higher in adjacent tissues, which was consistent with the previous results, that is, the proportion of malignant tumour cells was higher in the in

CAF_0 subgroup and lower in the other three subgroups. However, no significant differences in prognosis were observed among the four subgroups, and subgroups with high gene expression had a better prognosis. This finding indicates that CAFs in the same subgroup have some heterogeneity and hence cannot adequately predict the survival of patients in different subgroups.

Several studies have shown that CAFs promote tumour progression in various ways, such as by remodelling ECM (22, 23), interfering with drug delivery (24), producing collagen in ECM and regulating the hardness of the tumour matrix (25). CAFs can secrete chemokines (26, 27) and cytokines (28), leading to lymphatic angiogenesis (29), so as to promote the endocrine function of cancer cells. In addition, they change the immune cell environment by recruiting immunosuppressive cells and inhibiting the activity of immune effector cells (30). In this study, the role of different CAF subtypes in tumorigenesis and development of CRC was examined, and the scores of 10 tumour-related pathways in 4 CAF subtypes were compared between malignant and non-malignant cells. The PI3K pathway was found to be highly expressed in malignant cells. Studies have shown that the PI3K pathway promotes tumour progression. The EphA2-PI3K signal can simulate angiogenesis induced by



CAFs in gastric cancer cells (31). CAF-derived HGF promotes cell proliferation and drug resistance by upregulating the c-Met/ PI3K/Akt and GRP78 signalling pathways in ovarian cancer cells (32). The results of this study are consistent with those of previous studies, suggesting that CAFs promote tumour progression through the PI3K pathway.

To decrease the heterogeneity among subgroups, the marker genes of different CAF subgroups were used to classify CAFs. After differential expression analysis, four genes were selected via lasso regression analysis, namely, TCF7L1, FLNA, GPX3 and MMP11. TCF7L1 is a member of the TCF/lymphoid enhancer (LEF) family of transcription factors, which is involved in maintaining stem cell pluripotency (33) and skin epithelial tissue homeostasis (34). Studies have shown that ectopic TCF7L1 expression impairs the growth and invasion of highly metastatic breast cancer cells (35). In addition, overexpression of TCF7L1 can induce the growth of colorectal tumour cells (36). FLNA, the most abundant and widely distributed member of the filamin family, is a non-muscle actin filament cross-linked protein (37). Some studies have shown that FLNA is associated with multiple functional non-cytoskeletal proteins and participates in several related pathways regulating cell migration and adhesion (38). FLNA acts as a pro-oncoprotein

in various human malignancies, including metastatic melanoma and hepatocellular carcinoma (39, 40). However, the expression of FLNA is decreased in breast cancer, which is negatively correlated with lymph node metastasis. FLNA knockout can promote cell migration and invasion (41). In CRC, FLNA promotes chemotherapy resistance by inducing epithelialmesenchymal transformation and the Smad2 signalling pathway (42). Therefore, the controversial role of FLNA in human malignant tumours has been reported in several studies. GPX3 is a tumour suppressor gene and the main antioxidant enzyme in plasma. It plays an important role in scavenging hydrogen peroxide and other oxygen free radicals and protecting cells from oxidative stress-induced damage (43-45). As an important member of the MMP family, MMP11 regulates a series of physiological processes and signalling events, manipulates some bioactive molecules on the cell surface, changes the biological behaviour of cells and plays an important role in TME (46, 47). In addition, studies have shown that MMP is closely related to tumorigenesis. The most important MMP is MMP11, which is overexpressed in tumours and participates in the proliferation and malignant development of tumour cells (48, 49). However, according to previous studies, CAFs can also degrade ECM by releasing



MMPs and synthesising new matrix proteins to provide structural support for tumour invasion and angiogenesis (50, 51). Therefore, MMP11 can be used for the evaluation of prognosis.

The four genes identified via lasso regression were subjected to enrichment analysis, and 22 significantly related pathways were identified including those associated with 'angiogenesis', 'apical junction', 'apoptosis' and 'IL2-STAT5'. The four key genes were used to establish a prognostic risk model, which had good stability and accuracy in predicting prognosis in both training and validation sets. The prognosis of patients in the high-risk group was worse. To quantify the risk assessment and survival probability of patients, the risk score was combined with other clinicopathological features, and it was found that the risk score adequately predicted clinicopathological features, especially the M stage, indicating that patients with high risk scores may be more predisposed to distant metastasis. In addition, to examine the relationship between the risk score and immunotherapy, the ability of risk score to predict the response of patients to ICB therapy was examined. Patients with low risk scores had significant clinical benefits and significantly prolonged OS in the anti-PD-L1 cohort. Furthermore, mutation analysis of the four genes in TCGA cohort revealed that FLNA had the highest mutation frequency, and there was no significant collinearity among the mutations of the four genes. Moreover, only a few samples had copy number amplification/deletion. Because the mutation frequency of the four genes is not significant, their role may be directly realised through their expression levels.

Furthermore, the correlation between the prognostic risk model and infiltrating immune cells was analysed, and a significant positive correlation was observed between the four genes and immune scores, indicating that high gene expression increased the abundance of infiltrating immune cells in ECM. Moreover, these four genes had a significant negative correlation with T cell-related scores. Therefore, CAFs labelled by these genes can promote tumour progression by inhibiting T-cell function. This result is consistent with that of previous studies. CAFs can induce immune evasion of cancer cells (52, 53) and restrict the recruitment of immune effector cells (such as CD8+ T cells) to tumour tissues by secreting different chemokines (54). In this study, a significant positive correlation was observed between the four genes and the score of macrophages, which is consistent with the finding of a previously reported study, indicating that CAF can induce M2 polarisation (55). These results suggest that the interaction between stromal cells and immune-related cells in TME promotes tumour progression.

However, this study has certain limitations. First, the results of single-cell sequencing were not verified in actual clinical samples. The screened key genes lack basic *in vivo* and *in vitro*


(A) Differences in immunotherapy responses and risk scores in the IMvigor210 cohort; (B) Immunotherapy response among different risk groups in the IMvigor210 cohort; (C) Prognostic differences between different risk groups in the IMvigor210 cohort; (D) Prognostic differences between different risk groups in the IMvigor210 cohort; (D) Prognostic differences between different risk groups of patients with early-stage CRC in the IMvigor210 cohort; (F) Prognostic differences between different risk groups of patients with middle- and late-stage CRC in the IMvigor210 cohort; (F) Differences in immunotherapy response and different risk scores in the IMvigor210 cohort; (F) Differences and immunotherapy response in the IMvigor210 cohort; (H) Correlation analysis between the risk and TIDE scores in the IMvigor210 cohort. *P< 0.05, **P < 0.01, ****P < 0.0001.</p>

experimental verification, and the prognostic model should be verified in actual clinical samples, which is our next research direction. In addition, there are some contradictory and unexplained results. For example, the distribution of different CAF subpopulations among malignant and normal cells is different; however, the prognosis among these populations was not different. Whether their distribution in malignant cells also plays an important role warrants further investigation and verification.

In conclusion, the fibroblast population screened *via* single-cell sequencing in CRC was divided into four subpopulations through cluster analysis. The distribution and role of these four subpopulations are different in CRC. In addition, by analysing the differential expression of the main marker genes in these subpopulations, four representative genes were identified *via* lasso regression, namely, TCF7L1, FLNA, GPX3 and MMP11. Using the prognostic risk model constructed based on the expression of these four genes, patients with CRC were divided into the high- and low-risk groups. Patients with low risk scores had significant clinical benefits from immunotherapy and had significantly prolonged OS, which may be attributed to inhibition of T-cell function in the immune microenvironment and promotion of the function of tumour-associated macrophages.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Author contributions

JZ performed the study and wrote the paper. YC edited and proofread the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.988246/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Castells A. Hereditary forms of colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterol y Hepatol* (2016) 39 (Suppl 1):62–7. doi: 10.1016/S0210-5705(16)30176-5

2. Ma H, Brosens LAA, Offerhaus GJA, Giardiello FM, de Leng WWJ, Montgomery EA. Pathology and genetics of hereditary colorectal cancer. *Pathology* (2018) 50(1):49–59. doi: 10.1016/j.pathol.2017.09.004

3. Venook A. Critical evaluation of current treatments in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Oncol* (2005) 10(4):250-61. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.10-4-250

4. Chibaudel B, Tournigand C, Bonnetain F, Richa H, Benetkiewicz M, André T, et al. Therapeutic strategy in unresectable metastatic colorectal cancer: An updated review. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2015) 7(3):153–69. doi: 10.1177/1758834015572343

5. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200690

6. Lichtenstern CR, Ngu RK, Shalapour S, Karin M. Immunotherapy, inflammation and colorectal cancer. *Cells* (2020) 9(3):618. doi: 10.3390/ cells9030618

7. Asaoka Y, Ijichi H, Koike K. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 373(20):1979. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1500596

8. Ganesh K, Stadler ZK, Cercek A, Mendelsohn RB, Shia J, Segal NH, et al. Immunotherapy in colorectal cancer: rationale, challenges and potential. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 16(6):361–75. doi: 10.1038/s41575-019-0126-x

9. Le DT, Durham JN, Smith KN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Aulakh LK, et al. Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. *Sci* (*New York NY*) (2017) 357(6349):409–13. doi: 10.1126/science.aan6733

10. Demircan NC, Boussios S, Tasci T, Öztürk MA. Current and future immunotherapy approaches in ovarian cancer. *Ann Trans Med* (2020) 8 (24):1714. doi: 10.21037/atm-20-4499

11. Angell HK, Bruni D, Barrett JC, Herbst R, Galon J. The immunoscore: Colon cancer and beyond. *Clin Cancer Res: An Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2020) 26 (2):332–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1851

12. Catalano V, Turdo A, Di Franco S, Dieli F, Todaro M, Stassi G. Tumor and its microenvironment: A synergistic interplay. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2013) 23(6 Pt B):522–32. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.08.007

13. Xing F, Saidou J, Watabe K. Cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) in tumor microenvironment. *Front biosci (Landmark edition)* (2010) 15(1):166–79. doi: 10.2741/3613

14. Cirri P, Chiarugi P. Cancer associated fibroblasts: The dark side of the coin. Am J Cancer Res (2011) 1(4):482–97.

15. Paulsson J, Micke P. Prognostic relevance of cancer-associated fibroblasts in human cancer. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2014) 25:61-8. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer. 2014.02.006

16. Kasashima H, Duran A, Martinez-Ordoñez A, Nakanishi Y, Kinoshita H, Linares JF, et al. Stromal SOX2 upregulation promotes tumorigenesis through the generation of a SFRP1/2-expressing cancer-associated fibroblast population. *Dev Cell* (2021) 56(1):95–110.e110. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2020.10.014

17. Mosa MH, Michels BE, Menche C, Nicolas AM, Darvishi T, Greten FR, et al. A wnt-induced phenotypic switch in cancer-associated fibroblasts inhibits EMT in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80(24):5569–82. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-0263

18. Feig C, Gopinathan A, Neesse A, Chan DS, Cook N, Tuveson DA. The pancreas cancer microenvironment. *Clin Cancer Res: An Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2012) 18(16):4266–76. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3114

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

(A) Correlation between mitochondrial genes and UMI/mRNA quantity as well as between UMI and mRNA quantity; (B) Correlation among the mRNA/UMI/mitochondrial content/rRNA content of samples before filtration; (C) Correlation among the mRNA/UMI/mitochondrial content/ rRNA content of samples after filtration; (D) Dimensionality reduction and identification of anchor points *via* PCA.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

(A) Distribution of subpopulations of all cells after cluster analysis; (B) t-SNE map of marker gene expression in fibroblasts; (C) Distribution of fibroblast subgroups after re-clustering; (D) t-SNE map of marker gene expression in four small fibroblast subpopulations.

19. Giaquinto AN, Miller KD, Tossas KY, Winn RA, Jemal A, Siegel RL. Cancer statistics for African American/Black people 2022. *CA: Cancer J Clin* (2022) 72 (3):202–29. doi: 10.3322/caac.21718

20. Costa A, Kieffer Y, Scholer-Dahirel A, Pelon F, Bourachot B, Cardon M, et al. Fibroblast heterogeneity and immunosuppressive environment in human breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2018) 33(3):463-479.e410. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.01.011

21. Su S, Chen J, Yao H, Liu J, Yu S, Lao L, et al. CD10(+)GPR77(+) cancerassociated fibroblasts promote cancer formation and chemoresistance by sustaining cancer stemness. *Cell* (2018) 172(4):841–856.e816. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.009

22. Gaggioli C, Hooper S, Hidalgo-Carcedo C, Grosse R, Marshall JF, Harrington K, et al. Fibroblast-led collective invasion of carcinoma cells with differing roles for RhoGTPases in leading and following cells. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) 9 (12):1392–400. doi: 10.1038/ncb1658

23. Goetz JG, Minguet S, Navarro-Lérida I, Lazcano JJ, Samaniego R, Calvo E, et al. Biomechanical remodeling of the microenvironment by stromal caveolin-1 favors tumor invasion and metastasis. *Cell* (2011) 146(1):148–63. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2011.05.040

24. Jacobetz MA, Chan DS, Neesse A, Bapiro TE, Cook N, Frese KK, et al. Hyaluronan impairs vascular function and drug delivery in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Gut* (2013) 62(1):112–20. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302529

25. Olivares O, Mayers JR, Gouirand V, Torrence ME, Gicquel T, Borge L, et al. Collagen-derived proline promotes pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell survival under nutrient limited conditions. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:16031. doi: 10.1038/ncomms16031

26. Scherz-Shouval R, Santagata S, Mendillo ML, Sholl LM, Ben-Aharon I, Beck AH, et al. The reprogramming of tumor stroma by HSF1 is a potent enabler of malignancy. *Cell* (2014) 158(3):564–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.05.045

27. Kumar V, Donthireddy L, Marvel D, Condamine T, Wang F, Lavilla-Alonso S, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts neutralize the anti-tumor effect of CSF1 receptor blockade by inducing PMN-MDSC infiltration of tumors. *Cancer Cell* (2017) 32(5):654–668.e655. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.10.005

28. Biffi G, Oni TE, Spielman B, Hao Y, Elyada E, Park Y, et al. IL1-induced JAK/STAT signaling is antagonized by TGF β to shape CAF heterogeneity in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Discov* (2019) 9(2):282–301. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0710

29. Cadamuro M, Brivio S, Mertens J, Vismara M, Moncsek A, Milani C, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor-d enables liver myofibroblasts to promote tumor lymphangiogenesis in cholangiocarcinoma. *J Hepatol* (2019) 70(4):700–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.12.004

30. Öhlund D, Handly-Santana A, Biffi G, Elyada E, Almeida AS, Ponz-Sarvise M, et al. Distinct populations of inflammatory fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in pancreatic cancer. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(3):579–96. doi: 10.1084/jem.20162024

31. Kim HS, Won YJ, Shim JH, Kim HJ, Kim BS, Hong HN. Role of EphA2-PI3K signaling in vasculogenic mimicry induced by cancer-associated fibroblasts in gastric cancer cells. *Oncol Lett* (2019) 18(3):3031–8. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10677

32. Deying W, Feng G, Shumei L, Hui Z, Ming L, Hongqing W. CAF-derived HGF promotes cell proliferation and drug resistance by up-regulating the c-Met/ PI3K/Akt and GRP78 signalling in ovarian cancer cells. *Biosci Rep* (2017) 37(2): BSR20160470. doi: 10.1042/BSR20160470

33. Yi F, Pereira L, Hoffman JA, Shy BR, Yuen CM, Liu DR, et al. Opposing effects of Tcf3 and Tcf1 control wnt stimulation of embryonic stem cell self-renewal. *Nat Cell Biol* (2011) 13(7):762–70. doi: 10.1038/ncb2283

34. Nguyen H, Merrill BJ, Polak L, Nikolova M, Rendl M, Shaver TM, et al. Tcf3 and Tcf4 are essential for long-term homeostasis of skin epithelia. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(10):1068–75. doi: 10.1038/ng.431

35. Slyper M, Shahar A, Bar-Ziv A, Granit RZ, Hamburger T, Maly B, et al. Control of breast cancer growth and initiation by the stem cell-associated transcription factor TCF3. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(21):5613–24. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0119

36. Murphy M, Chatterjee SS, Jain S, Katari M, DasGupta R. TCF7L1 modulates colorectal cancer growth by inhibiting expression of the tumor-suppressor gene EPHB3. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:28299. doi: 10.1038/srep28299

37. Hartwig JH, Stossel TP. Isolation and properties of actin, myosin, and a new actinbinding protein in rabbit alveolar macrophages. *J Biol Chem* (1975) 250 (14):5696–705. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(19)41235-0

38. Zhou X, Borén J, Akyürek LM. Filamins in cardiovascular development. Trends Cardiovasc Med (2007) 17(7):222-9. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2007.08.001

39. Zhang K, Zhu T, Gao D, Zhang Y, Zhao Q, Liu S, et al. Filamin a expression correlates with proliferation and invasive properties of human metastatic melanoma tumors: Implications for survival in patients. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2014) 140(11):1913–26. doi: 10.1007/s00432-014-1722-3

40. Kircher P, Hermanns C, Nossek M, Drexler MK, Grosse R, Fischer M, et al. Filamin a interacts with the coactivator MKL1 to promote the activity of the transcription factor SRF and cell migration. *Sci Signaling* (2015) 8(402):ra112. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aad2959

41. Xu Y, Bismar TA, Su J, Xu B, Kristiansen G, Varga Z, et al. Filamin a regulates focal adhesion disassembly and suppresses breast cancer cell migration and invasion. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(11):2421–37. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100433

42. Cheng M, Jiang Y, Yang H, Zhao D, Li L, Liu X. FLNA promotes chemoresistance of colorectal cancer through inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition and smad2 signaling pathway. *Am J Cancer Res* (2020) 10(2):403–23.

43. Baez-Duarte BG, Mendoza-Carrera F, García-Zapién A, Flores-Martínez SE, Sánchez-Corona J, Zamora-Ginez I, et al. Glutathione peroxidase 3 serum levels and GPX3 gene polymorphisms in subjects with metabolic syndrome. *Arch Med Res* (2014) 45(5):375–82. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2014.05.001

44. Liu K, Jin M, Xiao L, Liu H, Wei S. Distinct prognostic values of mRNA expression of glutathione peroxidases in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Manage Res* (2018) 10:2997–3005. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S163432

45. Min SY, Kim HS, Jung EJ, Jung EJ, Jee CD, Kim WH. Prognostic significance of glutathione peroxidase 1 (GPX1) down-regulation and correlation with aberrant promoter methylation in human gastric cancer. *Anticancer Res* (2012) 32(8):3169–75.

46. Pittayapruek P, Meephansan J, Prapapan O, Komine M, Ohtsuki M. Role of matrix metalloproteinases in photoaging and photocarcinogenesis. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17(6):868. doi: 10.3390/ijms17060868

47. Motrescu ER, Rio MC. Cancer cells, adipocytes and matrix metalloproteinase 11: A vicious tumor progression cycle. *Biol Chem* (2008) 389 (8):1037-41. doi: 10.1515/BC.2008.110

48. Scheau C, Badarau IA, Costache R, Caruntu C, Mihai GL, Didilescu AC, et al. The role of matrix metalloproteinases in the epithelial-mesenchymal transition of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Analytical Cell Pathol (Amsterdam)* (2019) 2019:9423907. doi: 10.1155/2019/9423907

49. Zhang X, Huang S, Guo J, Zhou L, You L, Zhang T, et al. Insights into the distinct roles of MMP-11 in tumor biology and future therapeutics (Review). *Int J Oncol* (2016) 48(5):1783–93. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2016.3400

50. Fullár A, Dudás J, Oláh L, Hollósi P, Papp Z, Sobel G, et al. Remodeling of extracellular matrix by normal and tumor-associated fibroblasts promotes cervical cancer progression. *BMC Cancer* (2015) 15:256. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1272-3

51. Eble JA, Niland S. The extracellular matrix in tumor progression and metastasis. *Clin Exp Metastasis* (2019) 36(3):171–98. doi: 10.1007/s10585-019-09966-1

52. Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Lisanti MP, Sotgia F. Catabolic cancer-associated fibroblasts transfer energy and biomass to anabolic cancer cells, fueling tumor growth. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2014) 25:47–60. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.01.005

53. Farhood B, Najafi M, Mortezaee K. Cancer-associated fibroblasts: Secretions, interactions, and therapy. *J Cell Biochem* (2019) 120(3):2791–800. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27703

54. Ene-Obong A, Clear AJ, Watt J, Wang J, Fatah R, Riches JC, et al. Activated pancreatic stellate cells sequester CD8+ T cells to reduce their infiltration of the juxtatumoral compartment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 145(5):1121–32. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.07.025

55. Zhang A, Qian Y, Ye Z, Chen H, Xie H, Zhou L, et al. Cancerassociated fibroblasts promote M2 polarization of macrophages in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Med* (2017) 6(2):463-70. doi: 10.1002/cam4.993

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Guohui Wang, Tianjin First Central Hospital, China Yuansong Bai, Jilin University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Hui Guo guohui@xjtufh.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 13 July 2022 ACCEPTED 16 August 2022 PUBLISHED 31 August 2022

CITATION

Feng J, Xu L, Zhang S, Geng L, Zhang T, Yu Y, Yuan R, He Y, Nan Z, Lin M and Guo H (2022) A robust CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier for predicting the prognosis and efficacy of immunotherapy in stage III lung adenocarcinoma. *Front. Immunol.* 13:993187. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.993187

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Feng, Xu, Zhang, Geng, Zhang, Yu, Yuan, He, Nan, Lin and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A robust CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier for predicting the prognosis and efficacy of immunotherapy in stage III lung adenocarcinoma

Jinteng Feng^{1†}, Longwen Xu^{1†}, Shirong Zhang^{1†}, Luying Geng¹, Tian Zhang¹, Yang Yu¹, Rui Yuan¹, Yusheng He¹, Zhuhui Nan¹, Min Lin^{2,3} and Hui Guo^{1,2,4*}

¹Department of Medical Oncology, the First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ²Bioinspired Engineering and Biomechanics Center (BEBC), Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ³Key Laboratory of Biomedical Information Engineering, School of Life Science and Technology, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Ministry of Education of China (MOE), Xi'an, China, ⁴Key Laboratory of Environment and Genes Related to Diseases, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Ministry of Education of China (MOE), Xi'an, China

Patients with stage III lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD) have significant survival heterogeneity, meanwhile, CD8⁺ T cell has a remarkable function in immunotherapy. Therefore, developing novel biomarkers based on CD8⁺ T cell can help evaluate the prognosis and guide the strategy of immunotherapy for patients with stage III LUAD. Thus, we abstracted twelve datasets from multiple online databases and grouped the stage III LUAD patients into training and validation sets. We then used WGCNA and CIBERSORT, while univariate Cox analysis, LASSO analysis, and multivariate Cox analysis were performed. Subsequently, a novel CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier including HDFRP3, ARIH1, SMAD2, and UPB1 was developed, which could divide stage III LUAD patients into high- and low-risk groups with distinct survival probability in multiple cohorts (all P < 0.05). Moreover, a robust nomogram including the traditional clinical parameters and risk signature was constructed, and t-ROC, C-index, and calibration curves confirmed its powerful predictive capacity. Besides, we detected the difference in immune cell subpopulations and evaluated the potential benefits of immunotherapy between the two risk subsets. Finally, we verified the correlation between the gene expression and CD8⁺ T cells included in the model by immunohistochemistry and validated the validity of the model in a real-world cohort. Overall, we constructed a robust CD8⁺ T cellrelated risk model originally which could predict the survival rates in stage III LUAD. What's more, this model suggested that patients in the high-risk group could benefit from immunotherapy, which has significant implications for accurately predicting the effect of immunotherapy and evaluating the prognosis for patients with stage III LUAD.

KEYWORDS

lung adenocarcinoma, CD8⁺ T cell, classifier, prognosis, immunotherapy

Introduction

Lung cancer has become the first reason of all cancerassociated deaths worldwide, also in China, which accounts for nearly one million deaths each year (1), and approximately 85% cases are Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (2). What's more, lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD) represents the most common pathological subtype in NSCLC, for which not been found specific risk factors (3). Besides, statistics show that almost 30% of NSCLC patients are diagnosed with locoregionally or locally advanced disease, which is stage III (4). Although there has shaped a comprehensive therapy pattern including surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy in recent years, the survival rate is not satisfactory especially for locally advanced LUAD (5), despite the absence of metastases. According to the tumor, node, metastasis (TNM) staging (8th edition), stage III is subclassified into stage IIIA, IIIB, and IIIC (6). For this heterogeneous group which presents a wide spectrum of clinical features including multiple statuses of lymph nodes metastasis, their 5-year overall survival (OS) rates are totally different (7). Hence, precisely distinguishing and predicting the prognosis of each subtype of stage III LUAD patients would help to formulate accurate treatment and improve the survival rate.

Immunotherapy has recently shown great efficacy for patients with stage III unresectable NSCLC, especially for those trapped in the lack of targetable mutations, who could not benefit from targeted therapy such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) (8, 9). As the most iconic treatment of immunotherapy, immune checkpoint blockades (ICBs) have established a solid position and could be chosen as the firstline treatment (10). Among them, monoclonal antibodies against programmed death 1(PD-1) and its ligand (PD-L1) are the most widely used ICBs in locally advanced LUAD at present, which has shown obvious survival benefits compared to traditional chemotherapy (11). Nonetheless, only canonical biomarkers like PD-L1 and tumor mutational burden (TMB) are used in clinical practice, which also has their own limitations (12). Therefore, the significance of identifying novel immune-related biomarkers is highlighted, which may help to select those patients who are most likely to benefit from ICBs.

As the indispensable part of cancer, the tumor microenvironment (TME) is essential nature in cancer progression. Alternatively, a variety of immune cell types within TME drive a fundamental environment that could respond to immunotherapy (13). Particularly, among all immune cell types, the CD8⁺ T cell is the most important conductor in the cancer-immunity cycle and its activation and infiltration play a crucial role in immunotherapy (14). However, some co-inhibitory molecules or receptors in the TME causing T cell exhaustion might impair their potential to fight cancer cells (15). Therefore, how to find out and confirming the biomarkers correlated to CD8⁺ T cell become necessary. In recent years, some works have revealed how a single intrinsic gene of LUAD cells influences CD8⁺ T cells in TME. For instance, knockdown of GBE1 could increase recruitment of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (16), TP53-deficient LUAD cells promoted CD8⁺ T cells exhaustion (17), and high expression of MSH2 correlated with increased CD8⁺ T cells infiltration (18), whereas, these genes cannot demonstrate the whole signature and predict the various prognosis of LUAD patients. Besides, based on immunerelated genes, researchers have established a few prognostic models to make predictions for the survival risk (19, 20). Nevertheless, we need to exploit a novel model containing multiple biomarkers about the heterogenous locally advanced LUAD based on as many databases as possible, which is comprehensive enough to reach a satisfying prognostic value and predict the immunotherapy response.

Based on the rapid development of bioinformatics, in this study, we aim to establish a reliable CD8⁺ T cell-related signature to estimate the prognostic stratification and the effect of immunotherapy in locally advanced LUAD. First, we integrated datasets about stage III LUAD, which were from multiple online databases. To identify the hub CD8⁺ T cellrelated biomarkers, we then used weighted gene coexpression network analysis (WGCNA). Subsequently, we developed a novel $\mbox{CD8}^+\mbox{T}$ cell-related classifier and constructed a robust nomogram to predict survival probability. Besides, the predictive performance was further validated in the multiple test sets. Moreover, we detected the difference in immune cell subpopulations and evaluated the potential benefits of immunotherapy between the two risk subsets. Finally, the valuation of this model was verified in a real-world cohort in evaluating immunotherapy efficacy. Taken together, it was expected that this CD8⁺ T cellrelated model could contribute to predicting survival rates and accurately working out therapeutic strategies for locally advanced LUAD patients.

Abbreviations: NSCLC, non-small-cell lung cancer; LUAD, lung adenocarcinoma; OS, overall survival; PD-1, programmed death 1; PD-L1, programmed death-ligand 1; ICBs, immune checkpoint blockades; TME, tumor microenvironment; WGCNA, weighted correlation network analysis; GEO, Gene Expression Omnibus; TCGA, The Cancer Genome Atlas; KM, Kaplan-Meier; ROC, receiver operating characteristic; C-index, concordance index; t-ROC, time-dependent ROC; TIDE, tumor immune dysfunction and exclusion; TIICs, tumor-infiltrating immune cells; DCs, dendritic cells; Tregs, regulatory T cells; BOR, best overall response; ICGs, immune checkpoint genes; ORR, overall response rate; CR, complete response; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; PD, progressive disease.

Materials and methods

Study population, gene expression data, and processing

The gene expression profiles and clinical parameters of primary LUAD patients from 12 public cohorts were retrospectively analyzed, including 11 microarray datasets from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) and Array-Express, and 1 RNA-Seq expression profile from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA). Only patients who meet the following two criteria were included: i) detailed TNM staging information includes stage IIIA and IIIB according to the 7th edition of TNM classification of malignant tumors; ii) OS information includes follow-up time and survival status. The Combat algorithm was used to eliminate the batch effects. Then, the whole set was divided into training and internal validation cohorts in a ratio of 1:1 using stratified random sampling by caret R package. Another series from TCGA was used as the external validation cohort. The studies obtained from each of the databases are summarized together with series ID in Supplementary Table S1.

Evaluation of tumor-infiltrating immune cells

We performed CIBERSORTx (https://cibersortx.stanford. edu/) to investigate the levels of 22 TIICs using the mRNA expression data of the training cohort. This online tool utilizes a deconvolution method to impute gene expression profiles and estimate the type and fractions of immune cells.

Establishing the co-expression network

We used the R package "WGCNA" (21) to construct a weight co-expression network with the 7922 gene expression values in the training cohort. The levels of 22 immune-infiltrating cells were used as sample traits. When the index of scale-free topologies was set as 0.90, a scaleless network was successfully built with an optimal soft threshold power (β = 5). Next, we divided genes with similar expression patterns into the same module (minimum size = 50) using the "dynamic tree cutting" algorithm. In addition, to select the remarkable modules, Pearson's test was used to evaluate the relationship between the module eigengenes and the level of the 22 types of immune cells. At last, the "CD8⁺ T cells" subtype was chosen and further study on the CD8⁺ T cell-related module was conducted.

Pathway and process enrichment analysis

To determine the function of genes in the identified hub module, we employed the web tool "Metascape" (http:// metascape.org) for pathway and process enrichment analysis (22). The tool displays the first 20 enriched terms as a bar graph. To further explore the relationship between these terms, terms with similarities greater than 0.3 are connected by edges and presented as a network graph.

Construction and validation of the risk model based on CD8⁺ T cell-related genes

Univariate Cox regression analysis was performed to estimate the hazard proportions for genes of the highest correlation with CD8⁺ T cells (yellow module). Then, to further screen the prognosis of CD8⁺ T cell-related genes with the best predictive performance, the "glmnet" R package (23) was used to perform the LASSO regression analysis with ten-fold cross-validation. Next, based on the AIC (Akaike information criterion) value on the prognosis CD8⁺ T cell-related genes, the bi-directional stepwise multivariate Cox regression was used for choosing the ones that minimize the AIC to obtain the best model fit. A prognostic CD8⁺ T cell-related risk score model of stage III LUAD patients was then established based on combining the multiplication of the multivariate Cox regression coefficient by its corresponding normalized mRNA expression value. The risk score= Σ (the multivariate Cox coefficient of CD8⁺ T cell-related genes × matching normalized expression level of these genes). We computed risk scores of each stage III LUAD patient and then divided them into high- and low-risk subsets according to the cutoff value of 28.401 determined via receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis using the R package "survminer". Next, the Kaplan-Meier (KM) curve was performed to estimate the disparity in OS between low- and high-risk subsets by logrank test. The prognostic ability of the CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier was explored with an analysis of the concordance index (C-index) and ROC curve. Then, we also used similar methods to verify the prognostic performance of the classifier constructed by the training cohort in the internal validation, external validation, and pooled validation cohorts.

Furthermore, based on univariate Cox regression and multivariate Cox regression analyses, we further confirmed whether the predictive performance of the CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier could be an independent prognostic factor compared with other clinic factors for stage III LUAD patients in multiple cohorts. At last, risk score and three traditional clinical factors were used to generate the nomogram by using "rms," "foreign," and "survival" R packages. C-index, time-dependent ROC (t-ROC) curve and calibration plots of the nomogram for 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS plots were applied to elucidate the accuracy of actual observed rates with the predicted survival probability. The "timeROC" R package was utilized to perform the t-ROC analyses.

Prediction for response to immunotherapy or chemo-agents

Tumor immune dysfunction and exclusion (TIDE) algorithms (24) and subclass mapping (25) were used to predict clinical response to immune checkpoints between the two risk subsets in the TCGA dataset, also named the external validation set. The chemotherapy response was predicted by employing the R package "pRRophetic version 0.5" to compute the half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) of four common chemo-agents (cisplatin, gemcitabine, paclitaxel, and docetaxel) in the training set (26, 27). The comparison of IC50 of these agents between groups was performed using Wilcoxon rank-sum test.

Efficacy evaluation of immunotherapy and immunohistochemical verification for a real-world cohort

Clinicopathological features and samples of stage III NSCLC patients were collected from January 2019 to December 2021 who received immunotherapy. After the screening by exclusion criteria, twenty-eight patients were enrolled as a validation cohort from real-world for analysis (Supplementary Figure S1; Supplementary Table S2). For the evaluation of the immunotherapy efficacy, we used the Best overall response (BOR), which was defined as the best response during immunotherapy and was accessed according to RECIST1.1 (28). What's more, all patients were followed up until May 2022, and this study was approved by the Research Ethics Committees of the First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University.

The Immunohistochemistry (IHC) was performed with a three-step method. After the dewaxing and hydrating, the tissue sections were boiled in autoclaved citric acid buffer (pH 6.0) for 20 min for antigen retrieval, and the peroxidase activity was quenched with 3% hydrogen peroxide for 15 min to avoid non-specific staining. Then, the sections were blocked for 15min followed by incubation overnight with CD8 antibody (Invitrogen, PA5-88265 at 1/100 dilution), anti-UPB1 antibody (Abcam, ab157195 at 1/100 dilution), HDGFRP3 antibody (proteintech, 12380-1-AP at 1/50 dilution), SMAD2 antibody (proteintech,

12570-1-AP at 1/500 dilution), or ARIH1 antibody (Santa, sc-390763 at 1/50 dilution) at 4°C. After that step, the sections were incubated with the secondary antibody at 37°C for 20 min. Subsequently, This step was followed by incubating with Horseradish Peroxidase for 20 min, and staining with 3,3diaminobenzidine. At last, the sections were dehydrated and sealed after re-dyeing with hematoxylin. The IHC assays were performed by integral optical density (IOD) using Image J (29).

Statistical analysis

Software R (version 4.1.0) and GraphPad Prism (version 8.0.0) were applied to all data analyses. The Wilcoxon test and chi-square test were performed to assess the relationship between the risk score and clinical features. Survival analysis was utilized by the KM log-rank test. In the results of the CIBERSORT method, samples with P < 0.05 were retained for the next analysis. Two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistical significance.

Results

Gene expression profile database selection according to enrollment criteria

The study workflow design was depicted in Figure 1. As mentioned above, 12 series (288 LUAD patients in total) were selected. To combine these datasets, a combat method was first performed to eliminate batch effects, and the results before and after the batch correction were displayed by PCA plots, respectively (Supplementary Figure S2). Consequently, a merged cohort was integrated. To improve the precision and accuracy of the prognostic model, the 288 samples from the merged cohort were divided into training (n = 144) and internal validation (n = 144) sets in a ratio of 1:1 using stratified random sampling. Besides, the 74 patients from TCGA were employed as the external validation set, and a pooled set integrating the training, internal validation, and external validation sets was constructed.

Identification of hub modules by WGCNA and enrichment analysis

To identify key modules correlated with CD8⁺ T cells, the mRNA gene expression profiles for 144 LUAD samples from the training cohort were extracted. Subsequently, for these LUAD samples, the different cell subtypes' abundance was calculated by the CIBERSORT algorithm, in which seven subtypes of T cell fractions were defined as trait data for WGCNA analysis. Next,



to construct the gene co-expression network of LUAD, the expression profiles of the 7921 genes were utilized. To ensure the network was scale-free, $\beta = 5$ (scale-free $R^2 = 0.9$) was selected (Supplementary Figures S3A, B). Besides, the samples of the training cohort were clustered by the average linkage and Pearson's correlation values. Finally, a total of 18 modules were constructed by building a hierarchical clustering tree, where the gene set was independent as the tree branch. (Supplementary Figure S3C).

According to the criteria of the hybrid dynamic tree cut, we got that the yellow module was significantly associated with T cells, such as CD8⁺ T cells ($R^2 = 0.25$, P = 0.002) (Supplementary Figure S4A). To elucidate the potential function and mechanism of CD8⁺ T cells, we picked the yellow module as a hub module. Additionally, we got that these genes from the hub yellow module were mainly enriched in ubiquitin protein ligase binding, SMAD binding, and lymphocyte activation after GO and KEGG enrichment analysis (Supplementary Figures S4B, C).

Establishment of the prognostic CD8⁺ T cell risk score in the training set

There were 805 hub genes within the yellow module selected for further analysis. After univariate Cox regression analysis on these hub genes, 88 significantly prognosisassociated CD8⁺ T cell-related genes were identified in the training cohort. Then these significant genes entered LASSO COX regression analyses (Figures 2A, B) and multivariate Cox proportional risk regression analysis (Figure 2C). Based on these analyses, the prognostic CD8⁺ risk model was constructed including the four most potential prognosisrelated genes (HDFRP3, ARIH1, SMAD2, and UPB1). The risk score = $(1.078 \times \text{expression level of HDGFRP3+2.041} \times$ expression level of ARIH1+3.079 \times expression level of SMAD2-1.704 \times expression level of UPB1) (Figure 2D). Subsequently, all LUAD patients in the training cohort were then separated into low- and high-risk groups according to the cutoff value (28.401) (Figure 3C). KM survival analysis showed that patients in the high-risk group were associated with a relatively poor OS than those in the low-risk group (log-rank P = 3.984e-09, Figure 3A), while the heatmap and survival plot showed four prognostic expression profiles and survival status between two risk groups (Figures 3D, E). Besides, univariate Cox regression analysis and multivariate Cox regression analysis demonstrated that the risk score could independently predict OS after adjusting for various clinicopathologic parameters in the training cohort (Table 1). Moreover, ROC analysis of 5-year OS was applied to examine the predictive capacity of the CD8⁺ risk model, thus we got the 5-year AUC of risk model was 0.709, which was markedly higher than that of age (AUC = 0.548), gender (AUC = 0.506), and stage (AUC = 0.407), indicating that it had a more robust prediction of clinical outcome than the other clinical parameters (Figure 3B).



related genes adopted in the signature. (D) The coefficient of these $CD8^+$ T cell-related genes using multivariable Cox regression analysis.

Testing the signature in the internal validation set, external validation set, and the pooled set

The internal validation dataset, the external validation dataset, and the pooled dataset were used to predict OS and demonstrate the predictive capacity of the risk model. The risk score in each LUAD stage III patient from the internal validation cohort was calculated based on the formula. Then, we divided the internal validation cohort into a high-risk group (n = 50) and a low-risk group (n = 94) depending on the optimal risk cutoff value in the training cohort (Figure 4C). KM analysis indicated that patients in the high-risk group had a poorer prognosis compared to those in the low-risk group (log-rank P = 2.251e-04, Figure 4A). The expression profile of these four genes within our signature and survival status between two risk groups was visualized in Figures 4D, E. Moreover, The ROC curves for 5year overall survival indicated that the risk score has the best predictive capacity of OS (AUC = 0.649) among the clinical parameters (Figure 4B).

We next demonstrated the prognostic predictive capacity of the CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier in the external validation dataset. The optimal risk cutoff value in the training cohort was adopted to separate the external dataset into a high-risk group (n = 21) and a low-risk group (n = 53) (Figure 5C). KM analysis also revealed that high-risk patients had a poorer prognosis than those in the low-risk group (log-rank *P* value = 4.027e-04, Figure 5A). Besides, Figures 5D, E showed the expression profiles of these four genes and the survival status between the two risk groups. The ROC curves for 5-year OS also revealed that the risk score has the best predictive power of OS (AUC = 0.654) than the other traditional clinical parameters (Figure 5B).

Last, we further demonstrated the prognostic predictive capacity of the CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier in the pooled validation dataset using the same methods. The external dataset was separated into a high-risk group (n = 116) and a low-risk group (n = 246) (Figure 6C). KM analysis still revealed that high-risk patients had a poorer prognosis than those in the low-risk group (log-rank *P* value = 4.965e-13, Figure 6A), while



KM, t-ROC and distribution analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related risk score model in the training validation set. (A) KM curve of the CD8⁺ T cellrelated signature for OS. (B) ROC analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature for 5-year OS. (C) The risk plot showed the risk score in the lowrisk and high-risk groups. (D) The survival plot showed different survival statuses between the two risk groups. The dotted line indicates the cutoff value. (E) The heatmap exhibited gene expression levels between two risk groups.

Variables	Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis	
	HR (95% CI)	P value	HR (95% CI)	P value
Training set (n = 144)				
Age (<65/≥65)	1.160 (0.745-1.804)	0.511	1.190 (0.758-1.888)	0.449
Gender (female/male)	1.332 (0.853-2.080)	0.208	1.108 (0.701-1.749)	0.661
Stage (IIIA/IIIB)	0.780(0.461-1.319)	0.354	1.224 (0.697-2.150)	0.482
Risk score (low/high)	3.828 (2.390- 6.132)	2.359E-08	4.017 (2.422- 6.663)	7.154E-08
Internal Validation set (n = 144)				
Age (<65/≥65)	1.010 (0.761-1.341)	0.945	1.193 (0.852-1.671)	0.304
Gender (female/male)	1.226 (0.814-1.845)	0.329	1.322 (0.868-2.012)	0.193
Stage (IIIA/IIIB)	0.829 (0.513-1.339)	0.443	0.781 (0.451-1.353)	0.379
Risk score (low/high)	1.184 (1.083-1.295)	0.000209	1.197 (1.090-1.313)	0.000156
external Validation set (n = 74)				
Age (<65/≥65)	1.412 (0.738-2.701)	0.297	1.014 (0.503-2.044)	0.969
Gender (female/male)	1.270 (0.679-2.372)	0.454	1.157 (0.599-2.233)	0.663
Stage (IIIA/IIIB)	0.972 (0.805-2.786)	0.946	0.728 (0.274-1.928)	0.522
Risk score (low/high)	3.210 (1.670-6.171)	0.000471	3.406 (1.719-6.747)	0.000442
pooled set $(n = 362)$				
Age (<65/≥65)	1.290 (0.975-1.707)	0.075	1.358 (1.023-1.804)	0.034
Gender (female/male)	1.288 (0.976- 1.701)	0.074	1.225 (0.925-1.623)	0.157
Stage (IIIA/IIIB)	0.832 (0.584- 1.186)	0.310	1.016 (0.707-1.461)	0.930
Risk score (low/high)	2.783 (2.085- 3.714)	3.648E-12	2.858 (2.125-3.843)	3.668E-12

TABLE 1 Cox regression analysis in each set.

the expression profile of these four genes within our classifier and survival status between two risk groups were visualized in Figures 6D, E. What's more, the ROC curves for 5-year OS also revealed the same result that the risk score has the best predictive power of OS (AUC = 0.665) (Figure 6B). Besides, univariate and multivariate analysis still indicated that the classifier was significantly associated with OS after adjustment for clinical parameters in these validation sets (Table 1). Together, these findings suggested the CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier performed well in predicting the prognosis of stage III LUAD patients.

The relationship between the classifier built with CD8⁺ T cell-related genes and clinicopathological parameters

To better understand the clinical impact of the CD8⁺ T cellrelated classifier in stage III LUAD patients, we analyzed the association of the signature with clinical variables in the training set. There was no significant association between the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature and TNM stage, gender, and age, apart from survival status (Figure 7A). What's more, we further analyzed the comparison of risk scores in different subsets grouped by age, gender, TNM stage, and survival status. The risk scores were significantly different only in survival status subgroups, but not in age, stage, and gender subgroups (Figures 7B–E). We next validate the prognostic ability of our CD8⁺ T cellrelated classifier in different subsets clustered by clinicopathological variables. In the training set, patients with high-risk scores were inclined to have decreased survival rates, in the age, gender, and TNM stage subsets (Supplementary Figures S5A-F, P < 0.005). Similar significant findings were revealed in the internal test set and the pooled test set, except in subsets of age less than 65-year and female in the internal test set (Supplementary Figures S5G-L, S6, P < 0.05). As for the external test set, we also observed that the risk scores were significantly associated with unfavorable clinical outcomes in the age, gender, patients with positive node metastasis, T3+4, and TNM stage subsets (Supplementary Figure S7, P < 0.05). These findings suggested that our CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier has a promising clinical application for selecting high-risk patients.

Constructing a prognostic nomogram

By integrating the CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier and three clinicopathological features shared in the training dataset and the other validation datasets, we developed a prognostic nomogram to predict the 1-, 3-, and 5- year OS probability of LUAD patients in the training dataset (Figure 8A). The AUC points of the nomogram for 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival predictions were 0.719, 0.629, and 0.737, respectively (Figure 8B). The C-index indicated that the nomogram had



KM, t-ROC and distribution analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related risk score model in the internal validation set. (A) KM curve of the CD8⁺ T cellrelated signature for OS. (B) ROC analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature for 5-year OS. (C) The risk plot showed the risk score in the lowrisk and high-risk groups. (D) The survival plot showed different survival statuses between the two risk groups. The dotted line indicates the cutoff value. (E) The heatmap exhibited gene expression levels between two risk groups.



KM, t-ROC and distribution analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related risk score model in the external validation set. (A) KM curve of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature for OS. (B) ROC analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature for 5-year OS. (C) The risk plot showed the risk score in the lowrisk and high-risk groups. (D) The survival plot showed different survival statuses between the two risk groups. The dotted line indicates the cutoff value. (E) The heatmap exhibited gene expression levels between two risk groups.



KM, t-ROC and distribution analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related risk score model in the pooled validation set. (A) KM curve of the CD8⁺ T cellrelated signature for OS. (B) ROC analysis of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature for 5-year OS. (C) The risk plot showed the risk score in the lowrisk and high-risk groups. (D) The survival plot showed different survival statuses between the two risk groups. The dotted line indicates the cutoff value. (E) The heatmap exhibited gene expression levels between two risk groups.



the highest predictive accuracy of survival than the other clinicopathological parameters (Figure 8C). In addition, the calibration curves also confirmed a good consistency between predicted and observed scores in terms of probabilities of 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS (Figure 8D). Similar results of calibration curves of nomogram were also found in the internal, external, and pooled validation datasets (Figures 8E–G). Together, those findings indicated that our nomogram was suitable for clinical practice.

Estimation of TIICs

Since CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier had closely and intrinsically connected with immune cells, which have a profound impact on predicting clinical outcomes and treatment efficacy, we further examined the difference and relationship of these immune cells with risk groups. The comparison of 22 immune cells between risk groups was displayed in a radar plot (Figure 9A). The results revealed



that the abundance of CD8⁺ T cells was remarkably higher in the low-risk group compared with those in the high-risk group (P = 0.049). We also found the fractions of other immune cells, including Dendritic cells (DCs) resting, and Tregs were significantly increased in low-risk patients (P = 0.038, P = 0.028), whereas the expression levels of Eosinophils and T cells CD4 memory activated were obviously higher in the high-risk group (P = 0.004, P = 0.050) (Supplementary Figures S8A–E).

Prediction for efficacy of immunotherapy and chemo-agents

We also found the gene expressions of multiple immune checkpoint genes (ICGs), including CTLA-4, LAG3, PDCD1, CD96, CD244, and CSF1R, etc. were significantly increased in the high-risk group, which could be promising immunotherapy targets (Figure 9B). To predict the response to immunotherapy, the TIDE algorithm was performed within different risk subsets. The result indicated that the TIDE score in the high-risk group was significantly lower than the low-risk group (Figure 9C), suggesting the patients within high-risk subsets could benefit from the immunotherapy. A similar result was observed in the submap algorithm. The high-risk subset showed a higher probability of response to PD-1 blockades (Nominal P =0.028) (Figure 9D).

Chemotherapy is another common therapy for stage III LUAD, while a higher IC50 value indicates resistance to the drug, otherwise, it is sensitive to the drug. The results showed that the IC50 values of cisplatin and gemcitabine decreased significantly in the high-risk subset; The IC50 values of docetaxel and paclitaxel had a decreased trend in the high-risk subset, although there was no significant difference (Supplementary Figures S9A–D); Overall, these findings suggested that the stage III LUAD patients from the high-risk subset would benefit from immunotherapy and chemotherapy.



FIGURE 9

Comparison of the fractions of immune cells, expression of immune checkpoint genes, and immunotherapy benefits between risk subsets. (A) The radar plot revealed the 22 immune cell subpopulations between different risk groups; (B) The gene expression levels of immune checkpoint genes between risk groups; (C) Different benefits from the immunotherapy between risk subsets were predicted by the TIDE algorithm; (D) The submap algorithm indicated the probability of response to ICBs. **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001.



Verification of gene expression including in the model and its validity in real-world cohorts. (A) Representative microphotographs of gene staining included in the model and the correlation between these genes and CD8 in stage III LUAD. (B) The recent therapeutic effect of immunotherapy between risk groups; (C) KM curves for OS between risk groups.

Validation of the gene expression including in the classifier and evaluating the efficacy of immunotherapy in a realworld cohort

To verify the consistency of the model across cohorts and its validity for clinical application, a real-world cohort was constructed. 28 patients were enrolled in the cohorts, immunohistochemical detection showed that the expression of ARIH, and SMAD2 had a negative correlation with CD8 in LUAD tissues (r = -0.6282, P = 0.0003; r = -0.7263, P < 0.0001), while the expression of UPB1 had a positive correlation with CD8 (r = 0.6961, P < 0.0001), which were consistent with the results obtained based on open databases (Figure 10A, Supplementary Figure S10). For the expression of HDFRP3, unfortunately, we only got a negative trend with CD8 (r = -0.2559), but without significant statistical significance, probably due to the small sample size. To further validate whether the model could well predict the efficacy of immunotherapy for stage III LUAD patients in the real world, we calculated the risk score based on the gene-positive staining IOD/Area obtained in immunohistochemistry analysis and subsequently divided these patients into high- and low-risk groups. After the Chi-square test, all the clinicopathological factors were well balanced between the two groups (P > 0.05) (Supplementary Table S2). Furthermore, we evaluated the effectiveness of immunotherapy for each patient objectively. In the high-risk group, 2 of 19 patients reached CR during treatment, 10 patients achieved PR, 6 patients reached SD, and 1 patient reached PD, while 1 of 9 patients reached CR, 1 patient achieved PR, 6 patients achieved SD, and 1 patient achieved PD in the low-risk groups (Figure 10B). The overall response rate (ORR) was significantly higher in the high-risk group (63.16% vs 22.22%, P = 0.043) (Supplementary Table S3). However, probably due to the short follow-up time and the small number of cases, we did not observe a survival difference between the two groups (Figure 10C). Overall, we confirmed the validity of the model in a real-world cohort and its clinical applicability.

Discussion

The heterogeneity of stage III LUAD is not only reflected in the wide range of tumor size (T_1-T_4) , the degree of local tumor invasion, and the involvement of ipsilateral or contralateral mediastinal lymph nodes (N_0-N_3) (3), but also in the diverse tumor molecular mutations in the histopathological type of LUAD. Thus, the 5-year survival rates are generally poor and have a varying range from 12% to 36% in the pathological stage (30), however, some clinical trials still cannot explain the exact reasons (31). Consequently, just the commonly used prognostic indicators, such as tumor stage and patient's general condition, are not well appropriate for this group of patients. Besides, the ICBs such as durvalumab have shown good survival benefits in stage III

NSCLC (8), but due to the obvious heterogeneity in immune features (32), the PD-L1 expression, as well as TMB, are not good predictors of immunotherapy efficacy, which is different from their application in stage IV of NSCLC (7). Because of significant role of CD8⁺ T cell in anti-cancer immunotherapy, hence, finding new biomarkers and constructing a CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier to predict the prognosis and effect of immunotherapy have a significant meaning for patients with stage III LUAD.

Therefore, in this study, we extracted all RNA level profiles of these locally advanced LUAD patients from the GEO, Array Express, and TCGA database and divided these patients into the training, internal validation, external validation, and pooled validation cohorts firstly. Then we constructed the gene coexpression network through identified a significant yellow module as a hub module that exhibited great relevance to CD8⁺ T cells by CIBERSORT and WGCNA analysis. Next, through univariate Cox analysis, lasso analysis, and multivariate Cox analysis, a CD8⁺ T cell-related signature including HDFRP3, ARIH1, SMAD2, and UPB1 was constructed. It was gratifying that this model could divide locally advanced LUAD patients into low- and high-risk groups with distinct overall survival in multiple cohorts (all P < 0.05). What's more, in comparisons of the age, gender, and stage, the area under the ROC curve of the model was always the largest. Moreover, to make this model better applicable in the clinic, a nomogram including the traditional clinical parameters and risk signature was constructed. The ROC, C-index, and calibration curves validated its robust predictive capacity very well. Meanwhile, KM analysis revealed a significant difference in the subgroup analyses' survival between the two risk subsets, especially in different TNM stages, suggesting the robust clinical application of our CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier. Finally, we confirmed that the high-risk group might benefit from immunotherapy or chemotherapy, and verified the valuation of this model in a realworld cohort, which further clarified the value of the model in predicting efficacy.

Specifically, as the protective factor included in this model, the most important function of UPBEAT1 (UPB1) is that it could directly regulate the expression of a set of peroxidases which modulates the balance of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (33). Besides, for cancer patients, UPB1 was screened as a prognostic circulating biomarker or signature for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (34, 35), similar to clear renal cell carcinoma (36). In addition, for the treatment of specific tumors, especially the 5fluorouracil treatment of colorectal cancer, some researchers explored the role of UPB1 in the 5-fluorouracil pathway or fluoropyrimidine-related high toxicity (37, 38). What's more, we not only introduced UPB1 in the clinical prognostic analysis of LUAD for the first time but also found the expression of UPB1 was correlated with CD8⁺ T cells. In the follow-up mechanism exploration, whether UPB1 affects CD8⁺ T cells in LUAD by regulating the expression of ROS is a direction worth studying.

In contrast to the protective factor UPB1, we included three risk genes in the model, namely SMAD2, ARIH1, and

HDGFRP3. Among them, the most important and valuable biomarker was SMAD2. As a transcription factor member of the SMADs family, SMAD2 is activated by receptors such as TGF- β mediated phosphorylation, which plays a critical role in transmitting the TGF- β superfamily from the cell surface to the nucleus in turn (39). TGF- β /SMAD signaling is considered to culminate in the suppression of tumor-specific cellular immunity, which performs functions in a variety of cells. For CD8^+ T cell, Gunderson et al. found that TGF- β increased the binding of Smad2 and reduced CXCR3 expression in CD8⁺ T cells, thereby limiting their trafficking into tumors (40). Li et al. reported that Icaritin reduced CD8⁺ T cell chemotaxis by inhibiting the CXCL10/CXCR3 axis and suppressing the TGFβ/Smad2 signaling pathway in COPD (41). Furthermore, Park et al. found that TGF-B1 mediated SMAD3 to enhance PD-1 expression on antigen-specific T cells resulting in T cell suppression (42). However, the specific mechanism by which SMAD2 affects CD8⁺ T cells in LUAD remains unclear. Besides, SMAD2 phosphorylation was observed after activation in the Treg, which could produce the bioactive form of TGF- β (43). For cancer cells, Vimentin consequently led to metastasis and immune escape through the expression of PD-L1 in LUAD by triggering the TGF- β /SMAD2 signaling (44). In addition, ARIH1 (or HHARI) known as a ubiquitin-protein ligase, contributed to EMT induction and breast cancer progression (45, 46). However, Wu et al. found that the overexpression of ARIH1 could suppress tumor growth and promote cytotoxic T cell activation by inducing PD-L1 degradation (47). Also, a few reports indicated that high expression of HDGFRP3 (or HRP-3) promoted hepatocellular carcinomas and identified it was associated with metastasis in breast cancer (48, 49). In summary, the four genes included in the model have not yet been reported to be associated with CD8⁺ T cells in LUAD, which means that these biomarkers are important innovations for antitumor immunotherapy research.

Moreover, the results of GO and KEGG enrichment analysis demonstrated a meaningful finding that these genes picked from the hub yellow module were critically enriched in ubiquitin protein ligase binding, SMAD binding, and lymphocyte activation. It was gratifying that an E3 ubiquitin ligase such as ARIH1 could promote anti-tumor immunity via PD-L1 degradation, thereby affecting T cell activation, which has been mentioned above (47). This finding also strongly supports the value of such a CD8⁺ T cell-based predictive model proposed in this study in predicting the efficacy of immunotherapy. As for the SMAD2 normally coupled with SMAD3 mentioned above, its functions were mainly embodied through the key signaling axis containing transcription factor Forkhead box protein P1 (Foxp1) and TGF- β in the tumor immune microenvironment. For instance, Foxp1 interacted with Smad2/3 and suppressed the tumor-reactive T cells' response to TGF- β in advanced tumors (50). Hence, the regulation of TGF- β /SMAD signaling function is important for developing new immunotherapeutic strategies

by restoring the immunosuppressive TME to active status (51). For example, using the genetic method to modify antigenspecific T cells by interfering with TGF- β signaling would significantly enhance tumor treatment efficacy (52). Mesenchymal stem cells secreted TGF- β induced the differentiation of Treg cells *via* SMAD2 as so to inhibit colorectal cancer (53). A similar function was also reflected in the inhibition of IL-2 which was regarded as a key cytokine for T cell proliferation and activation (54). These findings also support the potential application of the model in assessing the prognosis of immunotherapy. Furthermore, it is worth further exploring whether the other genes involved in the model are associated with the phenotype of lymphocytes, especially CD8⁺ T cells.

The critical role of TME is beyond doubt in tumor initiation and development. Although studies have facilitated the identification of the important functions of different immune cell subtypes within TME, the CD8⁺ T cell is the central focus in engaging adaptive immunity for cancer control according to the cancer-immunity cycle (14, 55). Moreover, the number and functionality of CD8⁺ T cells after activation are prerequisites for the efficacy of immunotherapy in patients with lung cancer (56). Given our classifier constructed from CD8⁺ T cell-related genes, the risk score of the CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier was consistent with the expectation and negatively related to the abundance of CD8⁺ T cells, while patients within the high-risk group were associated with poor survival status. Besides, we also found other subclasses, such as resting DCs, and regulatory T cells (Tregs), were obviously decreased in the high-risk group. Owing to the unique capacity in initiation and regulation of T cell responses, DCs have been extensively explored as tools for immunotherapy, therefore it was convinced that a decrease in DCs is associated with poor prognosis (57, 58). Nevertheless, high-risk patients possessed a higher fraction of activated memory CD4⁺ T cells and eosinophils. Particularly, the count and percentage of eosinophils significantly increased in NSCLC patients treated with ICBs, and metastasis-entrained eosinophils could enhance lymphocyte-mediated antitumor immunity, which might somehow explain the reason why high-risk group patients could benefit from immunotherapy (59, 60). Besides, the higher expression of immune checkpoint genes in the highrisk group also could indicate the benefits of immunotherapy (61). Overall, such a risk score of CD8⁺ T cell-related classifier was significantly correlated with multiple immune cell subtypes, which provided important hints for revealing the interaction between immune cells and tumor cells in the TME, as well as between different immune cell subtypes.

In recent years, based on the fact that immunotherapy has benefited some patients with locally advanced or advanced NSCLC and with the rapid development of bioinformatics, more researchers turned their attention to discovering some models that integrated multi-factors to better predict the survival rates and evaluate the benefits of immunotherapy. Several studies have proposed immune prognostic models involving

multiple genes that could evaluate the prognosis of patients with LUAD, however, they did not specify which types of immune cells these genes were associated with, nor did they separately analyze the patients with locally advanced LUAD (62-64). Besides, Xie et al. developed a nomogram for LUAD patients based on immune scores and concluded high score was related to better OS, but immunotherapy was not involved and external data verification was needed (65). Zhang et al. established a CD8⁺ T cell-associated gene signature, which could help assess prognostic risk and immunotherapy response in LUAD patients. However, they did not validate the signature with real-world samples (66). Moreover, some researchers demonstrated the tumor immune microenvironment by analyzing the targeted RNA-Seq of immune-related genes, which had prognostic value for locally advanced LUAD (67). Unfortunately, the effective value was limited by the small sample size from a single institution. Thus, these models have a few limitations and insufficient predictive power for locally advanced LUAD.

Although we have constructed a risk model and a nomogram based on this, which has good predictive efficacy in survival rates and potential application in the prediction of immunotherapy or chemotherapy efficacy in locally advanced LUAD. Nevertheless, there are also some limitations of this study. First, to incorporate more data into our research, we have selected as many data sets as possible in the GEO database, although they contained several different platforms. Thus, such a fusion of multiple data might increase the possibility of over-correction in the data processing. In addition, we have only repeatedly verified the effectiveness of the model through different open cohorts. Although we validated the model in a real-world cohort, we did not obtain particularly significant differences due to, for example, the small number of cases. Overall, further experimental validations are needed to determine whether these genes included in the model are involved in the progression of locally advanced LUAD and how they affect the phenotypes of CD8⁺ T cells.

In summary, based on the multiple cohorts, we have constructed a prediction model correlated to CD8⁺ T cell and the nomogram in patients with locally advanced LUAD. Furthermore, the overwhelming impression of our study was the better effectiveness and accuracy of the model in predicting survival rates and immunotherapy efficacy by designing multiple validation cohorts from open or real-world databases. Hence, based on CD8⁺ T cell-related genes in the model, if the mechanism of the relationship between the level of risk factors and the CD8⁺ T cell phenotypes could be explored, then such a model will be better applied to predict the prognosis of locally advanced LUAD patients on immunotherapy and enable patients to benefit from treatments.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committees of the First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

(I) Conception and design: JF, HG. (II) Administrative support: HG. (III) Provision of study materials: JF, LX, SZ. (IV) Collection and assembly of data: JF, SZ. (V) Data analysis and interpretation: JF, LX. (VI) Experimental validation: JF, TZ, YY. (VII) Manuscript writing: All authors. (VIII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Funding

This work was supported by Interdisciplinary Training Program for Doctoral Candidate of Xi'an Jiaotong University (IDT1919), Guangdong Association of Clinical Trials (GACT)/ Chinese Thoracic Oncology Group (CTONG) and Guangdong Provincial Key Lab of Translational Medicine in Lung Cancer (Grant No.2017B030314120), Natural Science Foundation of Shaanxi Province (No.2019JM-559), and Xi'an Jiaotong University Free Exploration and Innovation Program (Student Category) (No.sxzy022021011).

Acknowledgments

All authors would like to express our sincere thanks for sharing the online databases.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

308

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.993187/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

The selection process for inclusion of patients as the real-world cohort.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

The before and after batch corrections were displayed by PCA plots.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3

WGCNA for construction and validation of the hub module. (A) Scale-free fit with the soft threshold power from 1-20 (x-axis) and the corresponding signed R² (y-axis); (B) Mean connectivity analysis for 1-20 soft threshold power; (C) CD8⁺ T cell-related genes were grouped into different modules marked with various colors *via* hierarchical clustering tree.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 4

The feature notes of hub modules. (A) The heatmap exhibited the correlations of modules with T cells infiltration; (B) The top 20 enriched

terms were shown as a bar chart; (C) The network was constructed for these enriched terms.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 5

KM curves for OS indicated prognostic power of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature in various subsets of the training cohort and the internal test set. (A) age < 65; (B) age \geq 65; (C) Female; (D) Male; (E) stage IIIA; (F) stage IIIB; (G–L) for the internal test set was similar to (A-F) for the training cohort.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 6

KM curves for OS indicated prognostic power of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature in the pooled test set. (A) age < 65; (B) age \geq 65; (C) Female; (D) Male; (E) stage IIIA; (F) stage IIIB.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 7

KM curves for OS indicated prognostic power of the CD8⁺ T cell-related signature in the external test set. (A) age < 65; (B) age \geq 65; (C) Female; (D) Male; (E) Negative nodes; (F) Positive nodes; (G) stage T1+T2; (H) stage T3 +T4; (I) stage IIIA; (J) stage IIIB.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 8

Quantitative differences of immune cell subtypes between risk groups. (A) Resting dendritic cells; (B) $CD8^+$ T cells; (C) Tregs; (D) Eosinophils; (E) Activated memory $CD4^+$ T cells.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 9

Chemotherapy benefits stratified by different risk subsets. (A-D) IC50 plots of chemo-agents between the two subsets. (A) Cisplatin; (B) Docetaxel; (C) Gemcitabine; (D) Paclitaxel.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 10

Correlation of genes included in the model with the Tumor-Infiltrating Immune Cells.

References

1. Cao, M, Li, H, Sun, D, and Chen, W. Cancer burden of major cancers in China: A need for sustainable actions. *Cancer Commun (Lond)* (2020) 40:205–10. doi: 10.1002/cac2.12025

2. Herbst, RS, Heymach, JV, and Lippman, SM. Lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2008) 359:1367–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0802714

3. Thai, AA, Solomon, BJ, Sequist, LV, Gainor, JF, and Heist, RS. Lung cancer. Lancet (2021) 398:535-54. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(21)00312-3

4. Jazieh, AR, Zeitouni, M, Alghamdi, M, Alrujaib, M, Lotfi, S, Abu Daff, S, et al. Management guidelines for stage III non-small cell lung cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2021) 157:103144. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.103144

5. Miller, KD, Nogueira, L, Mariotto, AB, Rowland, JH, Yabroff, KR, Alfano, CM, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2019. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2019) 69:363–85. doi: 10.3322/caac.21565

6. Detterbeck, FC, Boffa, DJ, Kim, AW, and Tanoue, LT. The eighth edition lung cancer stage classification. *Chest* (2017) 151:193–203. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2016.10.010

7. Huber, RM, De Ruysscher, D, Hoffmann, H, Reu, S, and Tufman, A. Interdisciplinary multimodality management of stage III nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Eur Respir Rev* (2019) 28:190024. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0024-2019

8. Antonia, SJ, Villegas, A, Daniel, D, Vicente, D, Murakami, S, Hui, R, et al. Overall survival with durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III NSCLC. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 379:2342–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1809697 9. Melosky, B, Juergens, R, Mcleod, D, Leighl, N, Brade, A, Card, PB, et al. Immune checkpoint-inhibitors and chemoradiation in stage III unresectable non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2019) 134:259–67. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.05.027

10. Proto, C, Ferrara, R, Signorelli, D, Lo Russo, G, Galli, G, Imbimbo, M, et al. Choosing wisely first line immunotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): what to add and what to leave out. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2019) 75:39–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2019.03.004

11. Borghaei, H, Paz-Ares, L, Horn, L, Spigel, DR, Steins, M, Ready, NE, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-Small-Cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 373:1627–39. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1507643

12. Duchemann, B, Remon, J, Naigeon, M, Cassard, L, Jouniaux, JM, Boselli, L, et al. Current and future biomarkers for outcomes with immunotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *Transl Lung Cancer Res* (2021) 10:2937–54. doi: 10.21037/tlcr-20-839

13. Pitt, JM, Marabelle, A, Eggermont, A, Soria, JC, Kroemer, G, and Zitvogel, L. Targeting the tumor microenvironment: removing obstruction to anticancer immune responses and immunotherapy. *Ann Oncol* (2016) 27:1482–92. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw168

14. Chen, DS, and Mellman, I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancerimmunity cycle. *Immunity* (2013) 39:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.012

15. Chihara, N, Madi, A, Kondo, T, Zhang, H, Acharya, N, Singer, M, et al. Induction and transcriptional regulation of the co-inhibitory gene module in T cells. *Nature* (2018) 558:454–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0206-z 16. Li, L, Yang, L, Cheng, S, Fan, Z, Shen, Z, Xue, W, et al. Lung adenocarcinoma-intrinsic GBE1 signaling inhibits anti-tumor immunity. *Mol Cancer* (2019) 18:108. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1027-x

17. Tan, X, Shi, L, Banerjee, P, Liu, X, Guo, HF, Yu, J, et al. A protumorigenic secretory pathway activated by p53 deficiency in lung adenocarcinoma. *J Clin Invest* (2021) 131:e137186. doi: 10.1172/JCI137186

18. Jia, M, Yao, L, Yang, Q, and Chi, T. Association of MSH2 expression with tumor mutational burden and the immune microenvironment in lung adenocarcinoma. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:168. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00168

19. Guo, D, Wang, M, Shen, Z, and Zhu, J. A new immune signature for survival prediction and immune checkpoint molecules in lung adenocarcinoma. *J Transl Med* (2020) 18:123. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02286-z

20. Ren, J, Yang, Y, Li, C, Xie, L, Hu, R, Qin, X, et al. A novel prognostic model of early-stage lung adenocarcinoma integrating methylation and immune biomarkers. *Front Genet* (2020) 11:634634. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.634634

21. Langfelder, P, and Horvath, S. WGCNA: an r package for weighted correlation network analysis. *BMC Bioinf* (2008) 9:559. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-9-559

22. Zhou, Y, Zhou, B, Pache, L, Chang, M, Khodabakhshi, AH, Tanaseichuk, O, et al. Metascape provides a biologist-oriented resource for the analysis of systemslevel datasets. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:1523. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09234-6

23. Friedman, J, Hastie, T, and Tibshirani, R. Regularization paths for generalized linear models *via* coordinate descent. *J Stat Softw* (2010) 33:1–22. doi: 10.18637/jss.v033.i01

24. Jiang, P, Gu, S, Pan, D, Fu, J, Sahu, A, Hu, X, et al. Signatures of T cell dysfunction and exclusion predict cancer immunotherapy response. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:1550–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0136-1

25. Hoshida, Y, Brunet, JP, Tamayo, P, Golub, TR, and Mesirov, JP. Subclass mapping: identifying common subtypes in independent disease data sets. *PloS One* (2007) 2:e1195. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001195

26. Geeleher, P, Cox, N, and Huang, RS. pRRophetic: an r package for prediction of clinical chemotherapeutic response from tumor gene expression levels. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e107468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107468

27. Geeleher, P, Cox, NJ, and Huang, RS. Clinical drug response can be predicted using baseline gene expression levels and *in vitro* drug sensitivity in cell lines. *Genome Biol* (2014) 15:R47. doi: 10.1186/gb-2014-15-3-r47

28. Eisenhauer, EA, Therasse, P, Bogaerts, J, Schwartz, LH, Sargent, D, Ford, R, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). *Eur J Cancer* (2009) 45:228–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.10.026

29. Zhang, S, Xu, L, Feng, J, Tan, D, Zhu, Y, Hou, J, et al. ASF1B is a promising prognostic biomarker and correlates with immunotherapy efficacy in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Front Genet* (2022) 13:842351. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2022.842351

30. Goldstraw, P, Chansky, K, Crowley, J, Rami-Porta, R, Asamura, H, Eberhardt, WE, et al. The IASLC lung cancer staging project: Proposals for revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (Eighth) edition of the TNM classification for lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol* (2016) 11:39–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2015.09.009

31. Senan, S, Brade, A, Wang, LH, Vansteenkiste, J, Dakhil, S, Biesma, B, et al. PROCLAIM: Randomized phase III trial of pemetrexed-cisplatin or etoposidecisplatin plus thoracic radiation therapy followed by consolidation chemotherapy in locally advanced nonsquamous non-Small-Cell lung cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2016) 34:953–62. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.64.8824

32. Meng, X, Gao, Y, Yang, L, Jing, H, Teng, F, Huang, Z, et al. Immune microenvironment differences between squamous and non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer and their influence on the prognosis. *Clin Lung Cancer* (2019) 20:48–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2018.09.012

33. Tsukagoshi, H, Busch, W, and Benfey, PN. Transcriptional regulation of ROS controls transition from proliferation to differentiation in the root. *Cell* (2010) 143:606–16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.020

34. Awan, FM, Naz, A, Obaid, A, Ali, A, Ahmad, J, Anjum, S, et al. Identification of circulating biomarker candidates for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC): An integrated prioritization approach. *PloS One* (2015) 10:e0138913. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138913

35. Li, B, Feng, W, Luo, O, Xu, T, Cao, Y, Wu, H, et al. Development and validation of a three-gene prognostic signature for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:5517. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04811-5

36. Zhang, C, Wang, F, Guo, F, Ye, C, Yang, Y, Huang, Y, et al. A 13-gene risk score system and a nomogram survival model for predicting the prognosis of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Urol Oncol* (2020) 38:74 e71-11. doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2019.12.022

37. Kunicka, T, Prochazka, P, Krus, I, Bendova, P, Protivova, M, Susova, S, et al. Molecular profile of 5-fluorouracil pathway genes in colorectal carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* (2016) 16:795. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2826-8 38. Yokoi, K, Nakajima, Y, Matsuoka, H, Shinkai, Y, Ishihara, T, Maeda, Y, et al. Impact of DPYD, DPYS, and UPB1 gene variations on severe drugrelated toxicity in patients with cancer. *Cancer Sci* (2020) 111:3359-66. doi: 10.1111/cas.14553

39. Ten Dijke, P, and Hill, CS. New insights into TGF-beta-Smad signalling. Trends Biochem Sci (2004) 29:265-73. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2004.03.008

40. Gunderson, AJ, Yamazaki, T, Mccarty, K, Fox, N, Phillips, M, Alice, A, et al. TGFbeta suppresses CD8(+) T cell expression of CXCR3 and tumor trafficking. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:1749. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-15404-8

41. Li, Q, Sun, J, Cao, Y, Liu, B, Zhao, Z, Hu, L, et al. Icaritin inhibited cigarette smoke extract-induced CD8(+) T cell chemotaxis enhancement by targeting the CXCL10/CXCR3 axis and TGF-beta/Smad2 signaling. *Phytomedicine* (2022) 96:153907. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2021.153907

42. Park, BV, Freeman, ZT, Ghasemzadeh, A, Chattergoon, MA, Rutebemberwa, A, Steigner, J, et al. TGFbeta1-mediated SMAD3 enhances PD-1 expression on antigen-specific T cells in cancer. *Cancer Discov* (2016) 6:1366–81. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1347

43. Stockis, J, Fink, W, Francois, V, Connerotte, T, De Smet, C, Knoops, L, et al. Comparison of stable human treg and Th clones by transcriptional profiling. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39:869–82. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838807

44. Jang, HR, Shin, SB, Kim, CH, Won, JY, Xu, R, Kim, DE, et al. PLK1/ vimentin signaling facilitates immune escape by recruiting Smad2/3 to PD-L1 promoter in metastatic lung adenocarcinoma. *Cell Death Differ* (2021) 28:2745–64. doi: 10.1038/s41418-021-00781-4

45. Yuan, L, Lv, Z, Atkison, JH, and Olsen, SK. Structural insights into the mechanism and E2 specificity of the RBR E3 ubiquitin ligase HHARI. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:211. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00272-6

46. Howley, BV, Mohanty, B, Dalton, A, Grelet, S, Karam, J, Dincman, T, et al. The ubiquitin E3 ligase ARIH1 regulates hnRNP E1 protein stability, EMT and breast cancer progression. *Oncogene* (2022) 41:1679–90. doi: 10.1038/s41388-022-02199-9

47. Wu, Y, Zhang, C, Liu, X, He, Z, Shan, B, Zeng, Q, et al. ARIH1 signaling promotes anti-tumor immunity by targeting PD-L1 for proteasomal degradation. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12:2346. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22467-8

48. Xiao, Q, Qu, K, Wang, C, Kong, Y, Liu, C, Jiang, D, et al. HDGF-related protein-3 is required for anchorage-independent survival and chemoresistance in hepatocellular carcinomas. *Gut* (2013) 62:440-51. doi: 10.1136/gutinl-2011-300781

49. Li, W, Liu, J, Zhang, B, Bie, Q, Qian, H, and Xu, W. Transcriptome analysis reveals key genes and pathways associated with metastasis in breast cancer. *Onco Targets Ther* (2020) 13:323–35. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S226770

50. Stephen, TL, Rutkowski, MR, Allegrezza, MJ, Perales-Puchalt, A, Tesone, AJ, Svoronos, N, et al. Transforming growth factor beta-mediated suppression of antitumor T cells requires FoxP1 transcription factor expression. *Immunity* (2014) 41:427–39. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.08.012

51. Kondo, Y, Suzuki, S, Takahara, T, Ono, S, Goto, M, Miyabe, S, et al. Improving function of cytotoxic T-lymphocytes by transforming growth factorbeta inhibitor in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Sci* (2021) 112:4037–49. doi: 10.1111/cas.15081

52. Zhang, L, Yu, Z, Muranski, P, Palmer, DC, Restifo, NP, Rosenberg, SA, et al. Inhibition of TGF-beta signaling in genetically engineered tumor antigen-reactive T cells significantly enhances tumor treatment efficacy. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20:575– 80. doi: 10.1038/gt.2012.75

53. Tang, RJ, Shen, SN, Zhao, XY, Nie, YZ, Xu, YJ, Ren, J, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells-regulated treg cells suppress colitis-associated colorectal cancer. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2015) 6:71. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0055-8

54. Mckarns, SC, Schwartz, RH, and Kaminski, NE. Smad3 is essential for TGFbeta 1 to suppress IL-2 production and TCR-induced proliferation, but not IL-2induced proliferation. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:4275–84. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.172.7.4275

55. Hu, M, and Huang, L. Strategies targeting tumor immune and stromal microenvironment and their clinical relevance. *Adv Drug Delivery Rev* (2022) 183:114137. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2022.114137

56. Aerts, JG, and Hegmans, JP. Tumor-specific cytotoxic T cells are crucial for efficacy of immunomodulatory antibodies in patients with lung cancer. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:2381–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3932

57. Mayoux, M, Roller, A, Pulko, V, Sammicheli, S, Chen, S, Sum, E, et al. Dendritic cells dictate responses to PD-L1 blockade cancer immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12:eaav7431. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aav7431

58. Stevens, D, Ingels, J, Van Lint, S, Vandekerckhove, B, and Vermaelen, K. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in lung cancer. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:620374. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.620374

59. Grisaru-Tal, S, Dulberg, S, Beck, L, Zhang, C, Itan, M, Hediyeh-Zadeh, S, et al. Metastasis-entrained eosinophils enhance lymphocyte-mediated antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2021) 81:5555–71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-21-0839

60. Okauchi, S, Shiozawa, T, Miyazaki, K, Nishino, K, Sasatani, Y, Ohara, G, et al. Association between peripheral eosinophils and clinical outcomes in patients with non-small cell lung cancer treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Pol Arch Intern Med* (2021) 131:152–60. doi: 10.20452/pamw.15776

61. Hu, FF, Liu, CJ, Liu, LL, Zhang, Q, and Guo, AY. Expression profile of immune checkpoint genes and their roles in predicting immunotherapy response. *Brief Bioinform* (2021) 22:bbaa176. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbaa176

62. Luo, C, Lei, M, Zhang, Y, Zhang, Q, Li, L, Lian, J, et al. Systematic construction and validation of an immune prognostic model for lung adenocarcinoma. *J Cell Mol Med* (2020) 24:1233–44. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14719

63. Yang, T, Hao, L, Cui, R, Liu, H, Chen, J, An, J, et al. Identification of an immune prognostic 11-gene signature for lung adenocarcinoma. *PeerJ* (2021) 9: e10749. doi: 10.7717/peerj.10749

64. Zhao, H, Zhang, X, Guo, L, Shi, S, and Lu, C. A robust seven-gene signature associated with tumor microenvironment to predict survival outcomes of patients with stage III-IV lung adenocarcinoma. *Front Genet* (2021) 12:684281. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.684281

65. Xie, H, Zhang, JF, and Li, Q. Development of a prognostic nomogram for patients with lung adenocarcinoma in the stages I, II, and III based on immune scores. *Int J Gen Med* (2021) 14:8677–88. doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S337934

66. Zhang, M, Ma, J, Guo, Q, Ding, S, Wang, Y, and Pu, H. CD8(+) T cellassociated gene signature correlates with prognosis risk and immunotherapy response in patients with lung adenocarcinoma. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:806877. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.806877

67. Chen, Y, Chen, H, Mao, B, Zhou, Y, Shi, X, Tang, L, et al. Transcriptional characterization of the tumor immune microenvironment and its prognostic value for locally advanced lung adenocarcinoma in a Chinese population. *Cancer Manag Res* (2019) 11:9165-73. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S209571

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Ming Zheng, LMU Munich, Germany Dandan Yuan, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Harbin Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Kun Wang wangkun@gdph.org.cn Jian Shi jshiwkls@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 30 June 2022 ACCEPTED 08 August 2022 PUBLISHED 31 August 2022

CITATION

Pan WJ, Song K, Zhang YL, Yang CQ, Zhang Y, Ji F, Zhang JS, Shi J and Wang K (2022) The molecular subtypes of triple negative breast cancer were defined and a ligandreceptor pair score model was constructed by comprehensive analysis of ligand-receptor pairs. *Front. Immunol.* 13:982486. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.982486

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Pan, Song, Zhang, Yang, Zhang, Ji, Zhang, Shi and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The molecular subtypes of triple negative breast cancer were defined and a ligand-receptor pair score model was constructed by comprehensive analysis of ligand-receptor pairs

Weijun Pan^{1,2†}, Kai Song^{3,4†}, Yunli Zhang^{3,4†}, Ciqiu Yang², Yi Zhang², Fei Ji², Junsheng Zhang², Jian Shi^{3,4}* and Kun Wang^{1,2}*

¹The Second School of Clinical Medicine, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Breast Cancer, Cancer Center, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences, Guangzhou, China, ³Department of Pathology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Department of Pathology, School of Basic Medical Science, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

Background: Intercellular communication mediated by ligand-receptor interactions in tumor microenvironment (TME) has a profound impact on tumor progression. This study aimed to explore the molecular subtypes mediated by ligand-receptor (LR) pairs in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC), identify the most important LR pairs to construct a prognostic risk model, and study their effect on TNBC immunotherapy.

Methods: LR pairs subclasses of TNBC were categorized by consensus clustering based on LR Pairs in METABRIC dataset. Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) Cox regression and stepwise Akaike information criterion (stepAIC) were conducted to build a LR pairs score model. The relationship between LR pairs score and immune cell infiltration, stromal score and immune score associated with TME was analyzed, and the prediction of drug therapy and immunotherapy efficacy by LR pairs score was evaluated.

Results: According to the expression pattern of 145 TNBC prognostic LR pairs, the samples were divided into three subclasses with different survival outcomes, copy number variation (CNV), TME immune cell infiltration, stromal score and immune score. The LR pairs score model constructed in the METABRIC dataset was composed of four LR pairs, and its predictive significance for TNBC prognosis was verified in GSE58812 and GSE21653 cohorts. In addition, LR pairs score was negatively correlated with several immune pathways regulating immunity and immune score, and related to the sensitivity of anti-neoplastic drugs and the effect of anti-PD-L1 therapy.

Conclusion: Our study confirmed the impact of LR pairs on the molecular heterogeneity of TNBC, characterized three LR pairs subtypes with different survival outcomes and TME patterns, and proposed a LR pairs score system with predictive significance for TNBC prognosis and anti-PD-L1 therapeutic effect, which provides a potential evaluation scheme for TNBC management.

KEYWORDS

triple negative breast cancer, ligand-receptor pairs, tumor microenvironment, drug susceptibility, immunotherapy

Introduction

Breast cancer has become the most frequently diagnosed female cancer, accounting for 11.7% of all cancer cases (1). According to the expression of molecular markers of estrogen or progesterone receptors and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), breast cancers are divided into three major subtypes, including hormone receptor positive/HER2 negative subtype (70%), HER2 positive subtype (15%-20%) and triple-negative subtype (tumors lacking all 3 standard molecular markers, 15%) (2). Among all three breast cancer subtypes, triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) is the most invasive subtype with the worst prognosis (3). In recent years, a thesis has been put forward that dependent on various clinical, pathological, and genetic factors, triple-negative breast cancer is a separate, heterogenic subtype of breast cancer, (4). Multi-omics profiling studies have provided novel insights into the biological heterogeneity of TNBC, evolutionizing the classification of these tumors into distinct molecular subtypes based on recurrent genetic aberrations, transcriptional patterns, and tumor microenvironment features (5). Here, molecular typing together with the prediction of the prognosis of the gene profile may help to promote the study of personalized treatment.

Tumor is a heterogeneous mixture of cancer cells and noncancer cells. Communication between these cells within the tumor is the key to tumor progression (6). Communication between these cells is achieved by ligands produced by a cell (proteins, peptides, fatty acids, steroids, gases and other low molecular weight compounds) that are either secreted by cells or present on the cell surface and therefore acts as receptors either on or inside the target cells (7). It is reported that most cells express from tens to hundreds of ligands and receptors, forming a highly connected signal network through multiple ligandreceptor pairs (8). The biological importance and availability of receptors and their corresponding ligands have designated them as particularly useful clinical targets for cancer (9). Therefore, there are broad prospects for the research of ligandreceptor pairs in the field of molecular oncology.

In this study, we analyzed 2293 LR pairs in TNBC. The molecular subtypes of the samples were subdivided by screening

LR pairs significantly related to the TNBC prognosis for exploring the heterogeneity of the subtypes defined in relation to copy number variation, tumor immune components and biological pathways. A LR pair score model was constructed by least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) COX regression to study its correlation with TNBC prognosis, tumor microenvironment (TME) and clinical treatment response.

Materials and methods

TNBC data resources

cBio Cancer Genomics Portal (cBioPortal) is an open-access resource for exploring, visualizing, and analyzing multidimensional cancer genomics and clinical data (10). The METABRIC dataset was downloaded from cBioPortal (http://cbioportal.org/) and screened for availability. Genomic variation data of 318 TNBC samples and the motif table spectrum of 298 samples were obtained. Microarray data of 107 and 83 TNBC samples from GSE58812 and GSE21653 datasets of Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO, https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/) database were collected.

Acquisition and screening of ligand receptor pairs

Ligand-receptor (LR) pairs containing 2293 interactions were downloaded from literature-curated database connectomeDB2020. If the sum of gene expression in each pair of LR was equal to or greater than the median of the sum of LR gene expression in all patients, a patient was defined as having a high expression. Otherwise, the patient was defined as having a low expression. The "survival" package in R was used to analyze the correlation between each pair of LR and the survival of TNBC patients in each cohort. The statistical significance was analyzed by the Peto and Peto modification of Gehan-Wilcoxon test, and the exponential coefficient of Cox regression model was develop to calculate the risk ratio (HR). The "sump" function in the "metap" package was employed to integrate the P values of the three cohorts using Edgington's method, and multiple test corrections based on Storey Method were performed by the "qValue" package. LR pairs with Storey's q-value < 0.2 and HR > 1 (or HR < 1) was considered to be related to the prognosis of TNBC.

Establishment of LR subtypes using consensus clustering

Clusters were classified using "ConsensusClusterPlus" based on the expression of TNBC prognosis related LR pairs. The Kmeans algorithm and "1-Pearson correlation" were specified, and each sample was divided into up to k groups by the clustering algorithm. Each of the bootstraps involved 80% of the samples with 500 repeats. The heat map of consensus clustering was generated by R packet "pheatmap". The number of clusters was decided by Consensus cumulative distribution function (CDF) plot and delta area plot, and the standard was that the consistency within the cluster was high, the coefficient of variation was low and the area under the CDF curve would not increase significantly.

Analysis of mutations and copy number variation among subtypes

Genomic data types integrated by cBioPortal include somatic mutations, copy number alterations, gene expression and DNA methylation (11). The study directly inquired and downloaded the somatic mutations and copy number alterations data from cBioPortal, and analyzed them according to the procedures used in the study by Gao et al. (12). The "maftools" software package was used to visualize mutation data. The differences of CNV genes with significant gain and loss subtypes were compared employing chi-square test.

Functional enrichment analysis

Hallmark Gene sets were retrieved and downloaded from the Molecular Signatures Database (MSigDB) (13). The GSEA analysis of LR clusters was carried out using GSEA software program, and the most significantly enriched signaling pathways were selected derived from normalized enrichment scores (NES), the standard was false discovery rate (FDR) of <0.05.

Analysis of immunity

Immune score and stromal score were calculated in R package "ESTIMATE" (14) by using expression signatures to

infer the ratio of matrix to immune cells in tumor samples. A higher score pointed to a higher content in TME. The infiltration degree of 22 immune cells in TNBC was quantified by CIBERSORT algorithm (15).

Construction of risk model based on LR pairs

Important genes were screened from LR pairs related to prognosis to construct a risk model. First of all, the prognosisrelated LR pairs was analyzed by LASSO penalty Cox regression analysis, which eliminated unimportant LR pairs through reducing the weight of the model parameters. The rest of the LR pairs was filtered through the stepAIC strategy in MASS package. Genes with the lowest stepAIC value were used to build LR pairs score model. The coefficient of each gene was obtained by multivariate Cox regression analysis.

The significance of LR pairs score model in predicting clinical treatment response

The relationship between LR pairs score and gene expression level in immune checkpoints was determined by Wilcoxon test, and a box diagram was generated for visualization. Tumor Immune Dysfunction and Exclusion (TIDE) (16) predicted the immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) treatment response of the samples through simulating the accurate gene signature of two immune escape mechanisms. We downloaded drug sensitivity data for approximately 1000 cancer cell lines from Genomics of Cancer Drug Sensitivity (GDSC) (http://www.cancerrxgene.org) (17), which is the largest public resource for information on drug sensitivity in cancer cells and molecular markers of drug response. We analyzed breast cell line, including a total of 50 cell lines treated with 190 drugs.Regarding the area-under-curve (AUC) values of the anti-tumor drugs in cancer cell lines as the drug response index, we used Spearman correlation analysis to calculate the correlation between drug sensitivity and LR.score, and the adjusted FDRs were calculated using the Benjamin and Hochberg method. The correlations with | Rs | > 0.2 and FDR <0.05 were considered as statistically significant ones. Additionally, the half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) values of the recommended antineoplastic drugs Paclitaxel, Veliparib, Olaparib and Talazoparib for TNBC treatment in different LR pairs score groups were compared using pRRophetic package in R.

Statistical analysis

The statistical data of this study were analyzed by R 4.0.2 software. The Kaplan-Meier survival curve and receiver

operating characteristic (ROC) curves were visualized by the "survminer" package and "timeROC", respectively. LR score and clinical parameters were included in Cox proportional hazard regression to determine independent factors for predicting the prognosis of TNBC. And the p value cutoff was set to 0.05.

Results

Screening of LR pairs related to prognosis

Outline of the process for this study was shown in Figure 1A. To screen the LR pairs related to the prognosis of TNBC, survival analysis of LR pairs was performed on METABRIC, GSE58812 and GSE21653. The prognostic significance p-values of the LR pairs resulted from the three cohorts were combined, subjected to meta-analysis, the "sump" function in the "metap" package was employed to integrate the P values of the three queuecohorts through using Edgington's method, and multiple test corrections based on Storey Method were performed by the "qValue" package. and were subsequently adjusted for multiple testing. A total of 145 LR pairs related to prognosis of TNBC were screened, of which 44 were poor-prognosis LR pairs and 101 were good-prognosis LR pairs (Figure 1B). For all the LR pairs related to prognosis of TNBC, we also present the interaction network diagram of them. (Figure 1C) and incorporated them into KEGG for pathway further enrichment analysis. Viral protein interaction with cytokine and cytokine receptor, cytokine–cytokine receptor interaction, cell adhesion



screening of LR pairs related to prognosis. (A) Outline of the process for this study. (B) Prognostic Volcano maps of 145 LR pairs. interactive network diagram of 145 LR pairs. (D) 10 most highly enriched KEGG pathways of 145 LR pairs. molecules (CAMs), chemokine signaling pathway, intestinal immune network for IgA production, rheumatoid arthritis, proteoglycans in cancer, malaria, neuroactive ligand–receptor interaction and hematopoietic cell lineage were the 10 most highly enriched pathways of 145 LR pairs (Figure 1D).

Recognition of three TNBC subtypes based on LR pairs

We examined whether the TNBC samples can be clustered into subtypes based on the diversity among their expression pattern of the prognosis-related LR pairs. Hence, the significant prognosis-related LR pairs were included as the pattern for clustering, in which the expression abundance of each LR pair was represented by the expression sum of the ligand and receptor genes. In the METARIC cohort, 298 TNBC samples were clustered by ConsensusClusterPlus. And in optimization of the number of clusters, k, the curves of the cumulative distribution function (CDF) suggested that k=3 yielded a stable clustering result (Figures 2A, B) and was therefore chosen as the final option (Figure 2C). Further analysis of the prognostic characteristics showed significant distinction in prognosis among the three subtypes. The overall survival (OS) of C1 was the most unfavorable, the OS of C3 was the longest of the three subtypes, and the OS of C2 was between the two subtypes (Figure 2D). Additionally, we applied the same molecular subtyping method on the TNBC patient cohort of GSE58812 and GSE21653, three molecular subtypes were also formed, and significant and similar difference in prognosis among the three subtypes in survival analysis were observed (Figures 2E, F).

Clinical characteristics and genomic alteration of the LR pairs-based molecular subtypes

Different clinical features and genomic mutations may also be influencing factors for different prognostic outcomes. We analyzed the clinical characteristics of each subtype in the three TNBC data sets. But no significant correlation was found between the molecular subtypes and clinical variables in METARIC database, such as tumor stage, age and gender. And we noticed significant variation in the distribution of the



FIGURE 2

Recognition of three TNBC subtypes based on LR pairs. (A) Consensus clustering cumulative distribution function (CDF) for k = 2-9. (B) Delta area curve of consensus clustering for samples in METARIC. (C) Heatmap of sample clustering at consensus k = 3. (D) Kaplan-Meier analysis of OS among three subtypes in METARIC dataset. (E) The Kaplan-Meier curve of OS of three molecular subtypes formed in GSE58812 data set. (F) Differences of three subtypes in GSE21653 dataset on OS.

widely accepted 5 intrinsic molecular subtypes of breast cancer (Luminal A, Luminal B, HER2-enriched, Basal-like and Claudinlow) among the three LR pairs-based subtypes, in which the claudin-low subtype samples accounted for a large proportion of the C3 subtype, and the basal subtype samples accounted for a large proportion of the C1 subtype. There was also a significant difference in mortality between C1 and C3. More than 60% of C1 samples were dead, and more than 55% of C3 samples survived (Figure 3A). In the GSE58812 cohort, the age distribution of C1 and C3 had the opposite trend. More than half of the samples in C1 were aged 60 years or older, and more than 75% of the samples were aged under 60. There were also statistically significant differences in survival status among the three subtypes (Figure 3B), but there was no significant difference in age distribution among the three subtypes in GSE21653 data set. However, the proportion of survival patients in C1 and C3 was very different, and a high proportion of survival samples were in C3 (Figure 3C). The top 10 genes with the greatest variation among the subtypes were displayed as a waterfall plot, and top 10 CNV deletion genes and CNV amplification gens in this heatmap revealed the relatively high mutation rate and mutation diversity in C1 and C2 (Figure 3D).



FIGURE 3

Clinical characteristics and Genomic alteration of the LR pairs-based molecular subtypes. (A) The distribution proportion of stage, grade, age, PAM50+claudin-low molecular subtypes and survival status in each subtype of METARIC database. (B) The distribution proportion of age and survival status of each subtype in the GSE588123 cohort. (C) The distribution of age and survival status among the three subtypes in GSE21653 data sets. (D) Waterfall map of somatic mutation and CNV in three subtypes of METARIC database in we had assigned, chi-square test. A symbol "*" indicates ANOVA p < 0.05.

Functional analysis among the LR pairsbased molecular subtypes

To explore the molecular-biological differences between LR pairs-based three molecular subtypes, GSEA was carried out in three TNBC datasets studied. For the GSEA of METARIC database, it was found that compared with C3, 14 pathways in C1 had significantly increased activity, which were largely cell cycle-related signaling pathways such as MYC targets, E2F targets, G2M checkpoint and cancer-related pathways such as glycolysis, hypoxia, etc. And the activity of 11 pathway decreased significantly, which were mainly immune-related pathways such as complement, inflammatory response, interferon alpha response, allograft rejection, interferon gamma response, etc. (Figure 4A). In C1 versus C3 of three TNBC datasets, glycolysis, hypoxia and estrogen response early were significantly up-regulated, while 10 pathways, including apoptosis, TNFA signaling via NF K B and complement, were significantly down-regulated (Figure 4B). The activity of various pathways was also compared between C1 and C2 and between C2 and C3 subtypes in the METABRIC cohort, and 6 pathways, including glycolysis, hypoxia, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, MYC targets, myogenesis, estrogen response early and late, were activated in each LR pairs-based molecular subtype (Figures 4C, D).

Immune cell infiltration and immune score among the LR pairs-based molecular subtypes

After running CIBERSORT, we acquired 22 immune cell estimated proportion of three LR pairs-based molecular subtypes in three TNBC cohorts. Kruskal-Wallis test showed that most of immune cells (16 cells in total) with estimated proportion difference among the three LR pairs-based molecular subtypes were in the METABRIC cohort, including naive B cells, memory B cells, CD8 T cells, naive CD4 T cells, activated CD4 memory T cells, delta gamma T cells, resting and activated NK cells, M0 macrophages, M1 macrophages, M2 macrophages, resting dendritic cells, activated dendritic cells, resting and activated mast cells,



neutrophils (Figure 5A). Naive B cells, naive CD4 T cells, activated CD4 memory T cells, delta gamma T cells, activated NK cells, M0 macrophages, M1 macrophages, M2 macrophages and activated mast cells had significant differences in estimated proportion among LR pairs-based molecular subtypes of all the three TNBC cohorts (Figures 5C, E). The stromal score, immune score and ESTIMATE score calculated by ESTIMATE algorithm were compared among subtypes by Kruskal-Wallis test. The immune score showed significant differences among the three molecular subtypes in each cohort, with p values all <0.01. The immune score/ ESTIMATE score among the three molecular subtypes in each cohort also showed highly significant differences, with p values all <0.0001. And in whichever of the three scores, C3 was always > C2 > C1 (Figures 5B, D, F).

Construction and evaluation of LR pairs score model

To select the LR pairs the most suitable for predicting the prognosis of TNBC, LASSO COX regression analysis was performed on 145 LR pairs in the METABRIC dataset, and 6

LR pairs were screened in the process of 10-fold cross-validation, as they presented non-zero coefficients in the fitted LASSO COX regression models (Figure S1A). Four LR pairs (CXCL9->CCR3, GPI-> AMFR, IL18->IL18R1, and PLG->F2RL1), which had both the statistical fit of the model and the number of parameters used to fit into account, were finally selected by stepwise multifactor regression analysis. The coefficients corresponding to these predictors in the resulted COX regression model were listed in Figure S1B. Based on the 4 LR pairs, an LR-pairs score model, LRpairs score, was constructed to quantitatively analyze the LR-pairs patterns of TNBC samples. We found that the LR score of the C1 subtype was significantly higher than those of the subtypes C2 and C3 in METABRIC, GSE58812 and GSE21653 cohorts (Figures 6A, D, G). To analyze the clinical correlation of LR pairs, the TNBC samples of each cohort were divided into two groups according to LR pairs score. Patients with low LR scores in the METABRIC cohort showed a significantly favorable survival outcome (Figure 6B). The area under curve (AUC) of the timedependent ROC curves of LR pairs score were 0.72, 0.63, 0.65, and 0.66 at 1, 3, 5, and 10 years, respectively (Figure 6C). The reliability of LR pairs score was further verified using 107 samples from GSE58812 and 83 samples from GSE21653. In both verification



FIGURE 5

Immune cell infiltration and immune score among the LR pairs-based molecular subtypes. (A) The estimated proportion of 22 immune cells among the LR pairs-based molecular subtypes in METABRIC (A), GSE58812 (C), GSE21653 (E) cohort. The comparison of stromal score and immune score and ESTIMATE score among three LR pairs-based molecular subtypes in METABRIC (B), GSE58812 (D) and GSE21653 (F) cohorts calculated by ESTIMATE. P value is calculated by Kruskal-Wallis test, the asterisks represented the statistical p value, ns(no significance), p > 0.05, *p < 0.05, *p < 0.05, *p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ***p < 0.001.

sets, the samples with high LR pairs score showed higher mortality and shorter survival time (Figures 6E, H). The AUC values of the LR pairs score model in the GSE58812 validation set were 0.72, 0.75, 0.67 at 3, 5, 10 years, respectively (Figure 6F). The LR pairs score model had the optimal performance on another verification cohort GSE21653, with AUC corresponding to 1, 3, and 5 years of survival of 0.90, 0.87, and 0.78, respectively (Figure 6I). Also, Univariate Cox regression model analysis in METABRIC showed that stage and age and LR pairs score were significantly correlated with the prognosis of TNBC (Figure 6J). These prognostic factors were included in the multivariate Cox regression model, and it was found that they could be regarded as independent prognostic factors of TNBC (Figure 6K).

Correlation between LR pairs score and immune composition and immune-related pathways

To find out the most relevant pathway to LR pairs score, R package "GSVA" was used to obtain single sample GSEA (ssGSEA) score of samples in METABRIC with different functions, and 30 pathways significantly related to LR pairs score were obtained by Pearson correlation analysis. Among them, 2 pathways were positively correlated with LR pairs score, while 28 pathways were negatively correlated with LR pairs score. As ssGSEA scores of immune-related pathways, such as chemokine signaling pathway, antigen processing and presentation, natural killer cell mediated cytoxicity, toll like receptor signaling pathway, natural killer cell mediated cytotoxicity and T cell receptor signaling pathway, were significantly negatively correlated with LR pairs score (Figure 7A), we further analyzed the relationship between LR pairs score and tumor immune components. Half of the 22 kinds of immune cells were significantly different between high LR pairs score and low LR pairs score samples (Figure 7B). We also find high-and low-LR pairs score groups have obvious gap in ESTIMATE and immune scores, and this gap is statistically for all three scores (Figure 7C). Furthermore, the Pearson correlation analysis between LR pairs score and immune cells showed that LR pairs score was significantly negatively correlated with CD8 T cells, activated CD4 memory T cells and macrophages, but positively correlated with M0 macrophages and M2 macrophages (Figure 7D). These results indicated the association between LR pairs score and tumor immunity.

Evaluation of the significance of LR pairs score model in the prediction of clinical treatment response

In view of the above association between LR pairs score and tumor immunity, we further analyzed the association between LR pairs score and immune checkpoint genes. In terms of expression, 18 of the 19 immune checkpoints showed differences between the two LR pairs score groups, and the high LR pairs score group had a greater response (Figure 8A). The high-LR-pairs-score group also showed significantly upregulated T cell exclusion score and significantly down-regulated T cell dysfunction score in comparison with low-LR-pairs-score group, while TIDE score showed no significant difference between the two groups (Figure 8B). The ability of LR pairs score to predict the response to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) treatment was examined in the immunotherapy cohort IMvigor210 (anti-PDL1). Compared with the samples of complete response (CR) and partial response (PR), the samples of stable disease (SD) and progressive disease (PD) had significantly higher LR pairs score (Figure 8C). The samples treated with anti-PD-L1 were divided into low LR pairs score group and high LR pairs score group. In the IMvigor210 cohort, the prognosis of samples with high LR pairs score was still significantly worse than those samples with low LR pairs score (Figure 8D). The proportion of patients with low LR pairs scores who responded actively to anti-PD-L1 treatment was significantly more than those with high LR pairs scores (Figure 8E).

The GDSC database stores treatment response data of a wide range of anti-cancer drugs, and gene expression profiles of a large collection of cancer cell lines. Through Spearman correlation analyses of the GDSC data, we found that LR pairs score was significantly correlated to treatment responses of 29 drugs as represented by area-under-curve (AUC) of the drug sensitivity curve. And 28 of the correlation pairs were positive, suggesting that a high LR pairs score in tumor was related to its resistance to these drugs (Figure 9A). Besides, the estimated IC50 values of Paclitaxel, Veliparib, Olaparib and Talazoparib in the two LR pairs score groups were compared. It was found that the IC50 values of the four drugs in the low LR pairs score group were significantly lower than those in the high LR pairs score group, indicating that the low LR pairs score group may be more sensitive to the treatment of the four drugs (Figure 9B).

Discussion

In the progression of cancer, cancer cell-stromal cell crosstalk is orchestrated by a plethora of ligand-receptor interactions to generate a TME that favors tumor growth (18). Intercellular communication through LR pairs in the tumor microenvironment underlie the poor prognosis of multiple cancers, such as pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (19) and colorectal cancer (20). Increasing discoveries of receptors and ligands and their interactions has encouraged



FIGURE 6

Construction and evaluation of LR pairs score model. (A) The box chart of LR pairs scores in three LR pair-based subtypes in the METABRIC cohort, Kruskal-Wallis test. (B) Kaplan-Meier estimates comparing OS of samples with distinct LR pairs score in the METABRIC cohort, Log rank test. (C) The time-dependent ROC curves showing the prognosis-predicting capacity of LR pairs score in the METABRIC cohort. (D): The box chart showing LR pairs scores in different LR pair-based subtypes in the GSE58812 cohort, Kruskal-Wallis test. (E) Kaplan-Meier analysis of the LR pairs score model in the GSE58812 cohort. (G) The time-dependent ROC curves showing the prognosis-predicting value of LR pairs score model in the GSE58812 cohort. (G). The box chart of LR scores in different LR pair-based subtypes in the GSE58812 cohort, Kruskal-Wallis test. (H) Kaplan-Meier estimates comparing OS of samples with distinct LR pair-based subtypes in the GSE21653 cohort, Kruskal-Wallis test. (H) Kaplan-Meier estimates comparing OS of samples with distinct LR pairs based subtypes in the GSE21653 cohort, Kruskal-Wallis test. (I) The BOX curves showing the prognosis-predicting capacity of LR score in the GSE21653 cohort. (J) FN ROC curves showing the prognosis-predicting capacity of LR score in the GSE21653 cohort. (J) The ROC curves showing the prognosis-predicting capacity of LR score in the GSE21653 cohort. (J, K) The forest plots showing the coefficients and their confidence interval of the univariate and multivariate COX regression which included the factors of LR pairs score, patient age, stage, grade, and patient outcomes in the METABRIC. The asterisks represented the statistical p value, ns(no significance) ****p < 0.0001.



the integration of the available information on ligand-receptor interactions from many databases to facilitate research (21). ConnectomeDB2020 is a database that integrates 2293 pairs of LR interactions. In this study, we analyzed 2293 LR pairs in the database for TNBC.

Firstly, through TNBC survival analysis on 2293 LR pairs, 145 LR pairs significantly related to the prognosis of TNBC were screened. According to the expression of the 145 LR pairs, three LR pairs subclasses of TNBC were obtained employing unsupervised clustering. Among the three LR pairs subtypes, C1 had the worst prognosis, and the proportion of basal-like subtypede, the most aggressive breast cancer subtype (22), was higher in C1 than in the other two groups, and the highest proportion of deaths among the corresponding clinical features. Furthermore, C1 showed the lowest anti-tumor immune response, such as lower tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (naive B cell, CD 8 T cell, naive CD4 T cell) (23) and stromal score and immune score, and these might be the causes of poor prognosis of subtype C1.

In addition to subtyping TNBC based on 145 LR pairs, Lasso regression and Cox analysis were performed on 145 pairs of LR pairs, and 4 pairs of LR pairs were selected to construct an LR pairs score model. Its prognostic significance was confirmed in both TCGA and two GEO datasets. Compared with the samples with low LR pairs score, the samples with high LR pairs score showed significantly shorter survival time. According to previously published reports, Chemokine signaling pathway promotes the antitumor response of the immune system by recruiting immune cells (24). Antigen processing and presentation play a key role in antitumor immunity as the initiation of adaptive immune response (25). The strength of T cell receptor signaling pathway is a key determinant of T cellmediated antitumor response (26). Natural killer cell mediated cytoxicity is an important effector mechanism of immune system against cancer (27). Activation of the toll like receptor signaling pathway can be used to enhance immune responses against malignant cells (28). In this study, LR pairs score was not only significantly negatively correlated with chemokine signaling pathway, antigen processing and presentation, T cell receptor signaling pathway, natural killer cell mediated cytoxicity, toll like receptor signaling pathway, natural killer cell mediated cytotoxicity (29) and T cell receptor signaling pathway (30) that mediate antitumor immunity, but also with stromal score and immune score and the infiltration of CD8 T cells, activated CD4 memory T cells and macrophages. Additionally, there was no significant difference in TIDE scores between high and low



Evaluation of the relationship between LR pairs score model and ICI treatment. (A) The association between LR pairs score and gene expression of immune checkpoints, Wilcoxon test. (B) The correlation between LR pairs score model and exclusion score, dysfunction score and TIDE score predicted by TIDE method, Wilcoxon test. (C) LR pairs score statistical difference between complete response (CR)/partial response (PR) group and stable disease (PD)/progressive disease (PD) group in IMvigor210 cohort. (D) The survival curve of different LR pairs score groups in the IMvigor210 cohort. (E) Response to anti-PD-L1 treatment in patients with different LR pairs score in the IMvigor210 cohort, Log rank test. The asterisks represented the statistical p value, ns(no significance) **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001.

LR pairs scores, and immune escape may not have a significant effect on LR pairs scores. Considering all these results together, we suggested that TNBC samples with high LR pairs score maight not have strong antitumor immunity.

It is reported that different ligands expressed by cancer cells bind to cell surface receptors on immune cells, trigger inhibitory pathways (such as PD-1/PD-L1) and promote immune cells immune tolerance (31). The ability of 4-LR pairs score to predict the response to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) treatment was examined in the anti-PDL1 cohort. We detected that LR pairs score in patients with disease complete response or partial response was significantly lower than that in patients with stable disease or progressive disease. And the clinical benefit from antiPD-L1 treatment in the low LR pairs score group was significantly greater than that in the high LR pairs score group, which supported the validity of LR pairs score model in predicting anti-PD-L1 treatment.

Researchers have found that some molecular targeted antineoplastic drugs can prevent immunotherapy resistance in cancer. Combining these anti-neoplastic drugs with ICI immunotherapy, it can greatly improve the prognosis of patients rather than applying a single drug therapy (32). In this study, 29 pairs of LR pairs score and drug sensitivity were determined in GDSC database by Spearman correlation analysis, of which 28 pairs of drug sensitivity curves showed a significant positive correlation between AUC and LR pairs score. This indicated that they showed


drug resistance related to LR pairs score, and only Wnt-C59 showed sensitivity related to LR pairs score.

Conclusion

In conclusion, according to the expression profile of LR pairs, TNBC was divided into three LR pairs subtypes, which were considerably different in prognosis, CNV, tumor infiltrating immune cells and immune score. In addition, four

LR pairs were selected to construct a risk model, which could potentially predict the response of patients to targeted therapy, chemotherapy and immunotherapy.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

WJP, KS, and YLZ contributed the central idea, analyzed most of the data, and wrote the initial draft of the paper. KW and JS oversight and leadership responsibility for the research activity planning and execution, including mentorship external to the core team. The remaining authors contributed to refining the ideas, carrying out additional analyses and finalizing this paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study is supported by grants from National Natural Science Foundation of China (82171898, 82171898,82103093), Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (2022A1515012277, 2020A1515010346, 2021A1515011570), Science and Technology Planning Project of Guangzhou City (202002030236, 202102021055), Beijing Medical Award Foundation(YXJL-2020-0941-0758) and Deng Feng project of high-level hospital construction (DFJHBF202109). Funding sources were not involved in the study design, data collection,

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. Waks AG, Winer EP. Breast cancer treatment: A review. JAMA (2019) 321 (3):288–300. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.19323

3. Wiggs A, Molina S, Sumner SJ, Rushing BR. A review of metabolic targets of anticancer nutrients and nutraceuticals in pre-clinical models of triple-negative breast cancer. *Nutrients* (2022) 14(10):1990. doi: 10.3390/nu14101990

4. Smolarz B, Nowak AZ, Romanowicz H. Breast cancer-epidemiology, classification, pathogenesis and treatment (Review of literature). *Cancers (Basel)* (2022) 14(10):2569. doi: 10.3390/cancers14102569

5. Mehlich D, Marusiak AA. Kinase inhibitors for precision therapy of triplenegative breast cancer: Progress, challenges, and new perspectives on targeting this heterogeneous disease. *Cancer Lett* (2022) 215775. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet. 2022.215775

6. Ghoshdastider U, Rohatgi N, Mojtabavi Naeini M, Baruah P, Revkov E, Guo YA, et al. Pan-cancer analysis of ligand-receptor cross-talk in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res* (2021) 81(7):1802-12. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-2352

7. Heldin CH, Lu B, Evans R, Gutkind JS. Signals and receptors. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2016) 8(4):a005900. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005900

8. Gladka MM. Cellular communication in a 'virtual lab': going beyond the classical ligand-receptor interaction. *Cardiovasc Res* (2020) 116(7):e67–e9. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa076

9. Kim JW, Cochran JR. Targeting ligand-receptor interactions for development of cancer therapeutics. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* (2017) 38:62–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.cbpa.2017.03.010

10. Cerami E, Gao J, Dogrusoz U, Gross BE, Sumer SO, Aksoy BA, et al. The cBio cancer genomics portal: an open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data. *Cancer Discovery* (2012) 2(5):401–4. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0095

analysis and interpretation, writing of the aitical, or decision to submit the article for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.982486/full#supplementary-material

11. Cancer Genome Atlas Research N, Weinstein JN, Collisson EA, Mills GB, Shaw KR, Ozenberger BA, et al. The cancer genome atlas pan-cancer analysis project. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(10):1113–20. doi: 10.1038/ng.2764

12. Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, Dresdner G, Gross B, Sumer SO, et al. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci Signal* (2013) 6(269):pl1. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004088

13. Liberzon A, Birger C, Thorvaldsdottir H, Ghandi M, Mesirov JP, Tamayo P. The molecular signatures database (MSigDB) hallmark gene set collection. *Cell Syst* (2015) 1(6):417–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2015.12.004

14. Yoshihara K, Shahmoradgoli M, Martinez E, Vegesna R, Kim H, Torres-Garcia W, et al. Inferring tumour purity and stromal and immune cell admixture from expression data. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2612. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3612

15. Newman AM, Liu CL, Green MR, Gentles AJ, Feng W, Xu Y, et al. Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression profiles. *Nat Methods* (2015) 12 (5):453–7. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3337

16. Jiang P, Gu S, Pan D, Fu J, Sahu A, Hu X, et al. Signatures of T cell dysfunction and exclusion predict cancer immunotherapy response. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(10):1550–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0136-1

17. Yang W, Soares J, Greninger P, Edelman EJ, Lightfoot H, Forbes S, et al. Genomics of drug sensitivity in cancer (GDSC): a resource for therapeutic biomarker discovery in cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2013) 41(Database issue): D955–61. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1111

18. Schaaf MB, Houbaert D, Mece O, To SK, Ganne M, Maes H, et al. Lysosomal pathways and autophagy distinctively control endothelial cell behavior to affect tumor vasculature. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:171. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00171

19. Suzuki SR, Kuno A, Ozaki H. Cell-to-cell interaction analysis of prognostic ligand-receptor pairs in human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Biochem Biophys Rep* (2021) 28:101126. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrep.2021.101126

20. Lin H, Xia L, Lian J, Chen Y, Zhang Y, Zhuang Z, et al. Delineation of colorectal cancer ligand-receptor interactions and their roles in the tumor microenvironment and prognosis. *J Transl Med* (2021) 19(1):497. doi: 10.1186/s12967-021-03162-0

21. Ma F, Zhang S, Song L, Wang B, Wei L, Zhang F. Applications and analytical tools of cell communication based on ligand-receptor interactions at single cell level. *Cell Biosci* (2021) 11(1):121. doi: 10.1186/s13578-021-00635-z

22. Choi SR, Hwang CY, Lee J, Cho KH. Network analysis identifies regulators of basal-like breast cancer reprogramming and endocrine therapy vulnerability. *Cancer Res* (2022) 82(2):320–33. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-21-0621

23. Dieci MV, Miglietta F, Guarneri V. Immune infiltrates in breast cancer: Recent updates and clinical implications. *Cells* (2021) 10(2):223. doi: 10.3390/ cells10020223

24. Lin A, Xu W, Luo P, Zhang J. Mutations status of chemokine signaling pathway predict prognosis of immune checkpoint inhibitors in colon adenocarcinoma. *Front Pharmacol* (2021) 12:721181. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.721181

25. Qin H, Chen Y. Lipid metabolism and tumor antigen presentation. Adv Exp Med Biol (2021) 1316:169–89. doi: 10.1007/978-981-33-6785-2_11

26. Sykulev Y. T Cell receptor signaling kinetics takes the stage. *Sci Signal* (2010) 3(153):pe50. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.3153pe50

27. Myers JA, Miller JS. Exploring the NK cell platform for cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2021) 18(2):85–100. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-0426-7

28. Pahlavanneshan S, Sayadmanesh A, Ebrahimiyan H, Basiri M. Toll-like receptor-based strategies for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunol Res (2021) 2021:9912188. doi: 10.1155/2021/9912188

29. Prager I, Watzl C. Mechanisms of natural killer cell-mediated cellular cytotoxicity. J Leukoc Biol (2019) 105(6):1319–29. doi: 10.1002/JLB.MR0718-269R

30. Shah K, Al-Haidari A, Sun J, Kazi JU. T Cell receptor (TCR) signaling in health and disease. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2021) 6(1):412. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00823-w

31. Dunn J, Rao S. Epigenetics and immunotherapy: The current state of play. *Mol Immunol* (2017) 87:227–39. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.04.012

32. Xu Y, Liao W, Luo Q, Yang D, Pan M. Histone acetylation regulatormediated acetylation patterns define tumor malignant pathways and tumor microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:761046. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.761046

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY Zhenghua Wu.

Shanghai General Hospital, China Yinfang Wang, Putuo District Central Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Lei Zhang hrbmuzl@126.com Jun Ma ma886615@126.com Xiumei Ma sallyma1201@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 22 July 2022 ACCEPTED 19 August 2022 PUBLISHED 02 September 2022

CITATION

Xu X, Wang Y, Bai Y, Lu J, Guo Y, Wang X, Rong L, Tang J, Ma X, Ma J and Zhang L (2022) Identifying key mutations of radioresponsive genes in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Front. Immunol.* 13:1001173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1001173

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Xu, Wang, Bai, Lu, Guo, Wang, Rong, Tang, Ma, Ma and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Identifying key mutations of radioresponsive genes in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma

Xin Xu^{1†}, Yuming Wang^{2†}, Yongrui Bai^{1†}, Jun Lu³, Yuntao Guo⁴, Xiaohang Wang¹, Ling Rong¹, Jianmin Tang¹, Xiumei Ma^{1*}, Jun Ma^{5*} and Lei Zhang^{1*}

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Renji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ²Department of Thoracic Surgery, Renji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ³Department of Research, Medical Laboratory of Nantong Zhongke, Nantong, China, ⁴Department of Bioinformatics, Medical Laboratory of Nantong Zhongke, Nantong, China, ⁵Eye Institute, Eye & Ear, Nose, and Throat Hospital, Shanghai Medical College, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Background: Radiotherapy plays an important effect on the standard therapy of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC). However, the efficacy of the therapy is limited and a few patients do not achieve satisfactory treatment results due to the existence of radiation resistance. Therefore, it is necessary to identify the potential predictive biomarkers and treatment targets for ESCC.

Methods: We performed the whole-exome sequencing to determine the germline and somatic mutations in ESCC. Functional enrichment and pathway-based protein-protein interaction analyses were used to ascertain potential regulatory networks. Cell survival and cell death after treatment with radiotherapy were determined by CCK-8 and LDH release assays in ESCC cells. The correlations of NOTCH1 and tumor immune infiltration were also analyzed in ESCC.

Results: Our results showed that 344 somatic and 65 germline differentially mutated genes were detected to be radiosensitivity-related loci. The tumor mutational burdens (TMB) or microsatellite instability (MSI) were not significantly correlated with the response to radiotherapy in ESCC patients. Pathway-based protein-protein interaction analyses implied several hub genes with most nodes (such as PIK3CA, NOTCH1, STAT3 and KDR). The *in vitro* studies showed that the knockdown of NOTCH1 inhibited cell survival and rendered more cell death after the treatment with radiotherapy in ESCC cells, while NOTCH1 overexpression had the opposite effects. Moreover, NOTCH1, frequently up-regulated in ESCC, was negatively correlated with activated B cell and immature dendritic cell in ESCC. High expression of NOTCH1 was accompanied with the low levels of some immunotherapy-related cells, including CD8(+) T cells and NK cells.

Conclusions: These results indicate the differences of the germline mutations and somatic mutations between the radiosensitive and radioresistence groups in ESCC and imply that NOTCH1 plays important roles in regulating the radiosensitivity of ESCC. The findings might provide the biomarkers and potential treatment targets for improving the sensitivity to radiotherapy in ESCC.

KEYWORDS

ESCC, radiotherapy, NOTCH1, survival, immune

Introduction

Esophageal carcinoma (EsC), which is characterized by poor prognosis, high mortality rate and distinct epidemiologic pattern, is one of the most prevalent malignant tumors in the world. According to the statistical data from World Cancer Research Fund in 2018, EsC is the seventh most common cancer in men and the 13th in women (1). There are two main types of EsC. Esophageal adenocarcinoma is developed at the junction of the esophagus and stomach. Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC), which occurs in the upper part of the esophagus, is the major subtype and accounts for the vast majority of cases (2). ESCC usually remains asymptomatic until extensive local, regional, or distant spread has occurred and ranks the sixth leading cause of cancer-related death (1). Surgical resection combined with the neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy is considered as the standard treatment for ESCC. However, some patients have to only receive radical chemoradiotherapy because they do not meet the surgical indication. Although the chance of cure with radio-therapy is quite low, a significant portion of patients will receive palliation (3). Therefore, radiotherapy plays an important effect on the comprehensive treatment for ESCC.

Resistance is still considered as the major cause of radiation treatment failure for ESCC patients (4). Due to the existence of inherent or acquired radiation resistance, some patients failed to achieve enormous therapeutic effects, resulting in the metastasis or high recurrent rate, and ultimately death. Therefore, it is necessary to identify the critical factors involved in regulating the sensitivity of radiotherapy for ESCC, which will help to improve its efficiency. It is reported that the noncoding RNA NORAD induced by radiation facilitates radiotherapy resistance *via* the EEPD1/ATR/Chk1 pathway in ESCC (5). The sensitivity to concurrent chemoradiotherapy was increased by STAT3 β by promoting cellular necroptosis in ESCC (6). Inhibition of carbonic anhydrase IX alters hypoxic tumor microenvironment and increases the efficacy of radiotherapy in ESCC (7). Nevertheless, the molecular mechanisms of radioresistance in ESCC have not been fully elucidated and still need to be further determined.

In the present study, whole-exome sequencing was utilized to identify mutations predicting benefits from radiation therapy in ESCC patients. We examined the germline and somatic mutations in ESCC and found several critical mutations of candidate genes potentially associated with the response to radiotherapy. Our study also showed that NOTCH1, which was mutated in the radiosensitive group, negatively regulated the response to radiotherapy in ESCC cells. The results provide some potential predictive biomarkers and therapy targets for improving the efficiency of radiotherapy in ESCC.

Materials and methods

Tissue and blood samples

We collected the formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tumor tissues and their paired normal blood DNA from six Chinese ESCC patients. Tumor cell purity was assessed in hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) sections. At least 5 slices of 10 µm of thickness were cut from the paraffin block and tumor regions were scraped according to the assessment of tumor enriched area. For these six patients, all of them had received radical surgery to make sure none tumor tissues left pathologically. After surgery, all patients were received intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT). The clinicopathologic characteristics of ESCC patients were provided in Table 1. According to the responses to radiotherapy, the ESCC patients were divided into the sensitive group (group S) and radioresistant group (group NS). Group NS indicated that no response to radiotherapy was achieved in ESCC patients, while the sensitive group (group S) meant that complete response to radiotherapy was achieved. All patients agreed and signed informed consent before recruitment to the study, and the ethical committee of Ren Ji Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine has approved the studies.

	NS1	NS2	NS3	S1	S2	S 3
Age	57	77	57	60	67	52
Gender	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male
Histology	ESCC	ESCC	ESCC	ESCC	ESCC	ESCC
TNM	IIIA	IIIA	IIB	IIIA	IIIA	IIB
Dose (Gy)	50	50	50	50	50	46
Radio-sensitive	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Relapse	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Overall Survival (months)	13.83	27.00	15.77	51.20	68.20	47.40
Status	Die	Die	Die	survive	survive	survive

TABLE 1 Clinicopathologic characteristics of ESCC patients who received radiotherapy.

Sequencing analysis

Whole-exome sequencing was performed by Precisiongenes Technology, Inc. following a protocol including genomic DNA extraction, DNA library construction, exome capture by SureSelect Clinical Research Exome V2 Capture Kits (Agilent, SantaClara, California, United States) and paired-end 150bp sequencing on Illumina NovaSeq 6000 (Illumina Inc). Tumor and normal library pairs were sequenced on a single flow cell. And germline-only samples were run on the other flow cell. Whole length of probe Clinical Research Exome V2 is 67.3Mb.

Raw fastq data achieved from Illumina were firstly checked quality control, removed adapters and low-quality reads with FASTP (8). Secondly, Burrows Wheller aligner (BWA) MEM algorithm was applied to align high-quality clean data onto the hg19 reference genome (GCA_000001405.1) with default options. Thirdly, Samtools was used to convert the SAM file into BAM (9). Fourthly, Picard Toolkit (https://github.com/ broadinstitute/picard) was carried out to sort mapped reads according chromosome coordinate, mark PCR duplicates and fix paired-end information in BAM files.

For germline mutations, single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), small insertions and deletions (INDELs) were discovered and filtered following the Genome Analysis Toolkit (GATK, https://software.broadinstitute.org/gatk/) recommendations of DNAseq best practice guidelines (https://gatk.broadinstitute.org/hc/en-us/articles/360035535932-Germline-short-variant-discovery-SNPs-Indels-) (10).

For tumor somatic mutations, candidate single-nucleotide variants (SNVs) and INDELs were called by Mutect2. Then, an estimate of the fraction of reads due to cross-sample contamination for each tumor sample and an estimate of the allelic copy number segmentation of each tumor sample were emitted by Get Pileup Summaries and Calculate Contamination. Finally, somatic mutations were filtered by Filter Mutect Calls. Notably, Mutect2, Get Pileup Summaries, Calculate Contamination and Filter Mutect Calls are components of GATK. And the process mentioned above was referred to website (https://gatk.broadinstitute.org/hc/en-us/articles/ 360035894731-Somatic-short-variant-discovery-SNVs-Indels-).

Identification of differentially mutated genes

65 germline differentially mutated genes and 344 somatic differentially mutated genes were filtered from all mutation genes following the criteria that any one of the mutated genes was not in both the radiation-resistant group and the radiationsensitive group at the same time.

Tumor mutation burden and microsatellite instability

Tumor mutation burden (TMB) is defined as the number of somatic SNVs, and INDELs per megabase of genome examined (mut/Mb) (Analysis of 100,000 human cancer genomes reveals the landscape of tumor mutational burden). All SNVs and INDELs in the captured region of targeted genes, including synonymous mutations, are initially counted before filtering as described below. Synonymous mutations are counted in order to reduce sampling noise. While synonymous mutations are not likely to be directly involved in creating immunogenicity, their presence is a signal of mutational processes that will also have resulted in nonsynonymous mutations and neoantigens elsewhere in the genome.

The form of genomic instability associated with defective DNA mismatch repair in tumors is to be called microsatellite instability (MSI). An algorithm for the detection of somatic microsatellite changes using paired tumor-normal sequence data was applied to all tumors, yielding a quantitative score by MSIsensor (11). Tumors deemed to have inadequate tumor content or quality (<200 × median exon coverage, <10% median exonic variant allele frequency, or no mutations with ≤20% tumor content on pathologic review) were flagged, and their MSIsensor scores were excluded from the primary analysis.

Cell culture, transfection and CCK-8 assay

We got the ESCC cell lines (KYSE-150 and TE-1) from the cell bank of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (Shanghai, China). Cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 (Hyclone, United States) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco, United States) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin under a 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37°C. The lentiviruses containing the cDNA encoding NOTCH1 or NOTCH1 shRNA were purchased from Genechem (Shanghai, China) and used to infect the ESCC cells in the presence of 6 μ g/ml polybrene (sigma). Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8, CK04, Dojindo, Japan) was utilized to assess cell viability and proliferation. Briefly, 3×10^3 cells per well were seeded in 96 well microplates. At indicated time points, 10 μ L of CCK-8 solution was added to each well and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. Then, we measured the absorbance values at 450 nm by using the microplate reader.

Real-time PCR and LDH release assay

Real-time PCR (qPCR) was performed as described previously (12). The primers for NOTCH1 were listed as follows: Forward: 5'-GAGGCGTGGCAGACTATGC-3', Reverse: 5'- CTTGTA CTCCGTCAGCGTGA-3'. An LDH Cytotoxicity Assay kit for LDH release (catalog no. C0017) was purchased from Beyotime (Shanghai, China) and the experiments were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical analysis

Using the cluster Profiler package (13), Gene ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway enrichment analyses were performed with significantly genes. Correlation was evaluated by statistical R/ Bioconductor packages. The Student's t-test and Fisher's exact test were utilized to estimate the significance of differences between groups. The values were represented with the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) from at least three independent experiments. The *P* value of 0.05 or less was considered statistically significant.

Results

Identification of somatic mutations in ESCC

According to the response to radiation therapy, ESCC patients were divided into two groups, radio-sensitive and

radio-resistant groups. The detailed clinical information was listed in table 1. We performed the whole exome sequencing by utilizing their tumor tissues and paired blood samples. After read quality control, mapping and alignment to the hg19 reference genome, a total of 1,829 somatic variations (median, 209.5; range, 89–807; SD, 271.3) were identified in six patients (Figure 1A). The exonic (44.07%) and intronic (37.07%) region accounted for the majority of variation location (Figure 1B). The predominant nucleotide changes were C>T and T>C (Figure 1C). We analyzed somatic mutation profiles to unravel the mechanism in the radio sensitivity of ESCC (Figure 1D). The result indicated that signature Age has high weight in all six ESCC patients. And the insensitive group was enriched in signature AID/APOBEC cytidine deaminases (COSMIC Signatures version 3.2).

TMB, Intra-tumor Heterogeneity and MSI Comparisons between Radio-resistant and sensitive Groups

It is known to all that there are closely linkages between tumor mutational burdens (TMB) or microsatellite instability (MSI) and the immunotherapy response in the treatment of cancers. Therefore, we analyzed whether TMB, MSI and Intratumor Heterogeneity were related with the response to radiotherapy in ESCC. As shown in Table 2, the value of TMB ranged from 1.22 to 11.65. Although the correlation coefficient is 0.55, there was no significant difference between the two groups (p=0.26). Moreover, MSI was calculated to estimate the differences as well. A correlation coefficient of 0.29 (p=0.58) between two groups indicates no significant association of MSI with the response to radiotherapy in ESCC patients. To determine the correlation between radiosensitivity and clonality, we further analyzed the purity and copy number alterations in this study. The results showed that the correlation coefficients were -0.02 (P=0.97) and 0.18 (P=0.74), respectively. There was no obvious association between radiosensitivity and clonality in ESCC. In addition, we also studied whether age and tumor stage influenced the response to radiotherapy. The results showed that no significant differences were acquired, indicating that age and tumor stage are not critical factors in the radioresistence of ESCC.

Functional analysis of somatic differentially mutated genes

According to the criterions mentioned in the methods, 344 differentially mutated genes were filtered from all somatic mutation genes. By referring to the COSMIC cancer gene census, 33 mutated genes were retained and presented in Figure 2A. GO and KEGG enrichment analysis were



performed on these mutated genes to further explore their functions and effects. As displayed in Figure 2B, biological process terms showed that the mutated genes mainly participated in histone modification, transmembrane transport, and several classic signal transduction processes of cancer in response to DNA damage. Additionally, these genes were expressed in cellular components such as cell-cell junction, cell-substrate junction, and collagen–containing extracellular matrix, which was associated with migrations and invasions. Enriched molecular function terms showed the similar results, including cell adhesion molecule binding and methyltransferase activity. The top 30 significantly enriched KEGG pathways mainly included cell cycle, MAPK, VEGF, NOTCH, and mTOR signaling pathways, whose activation or inactivation is closely correlated with cell survival, proliferation and the progression of cancer (Figure 2C).

Furthermore, we also performed the protein-protein interaction (PPI) network by utilizing the differentially mutated genes. As shown in Figure 3A, several hub genes with most nodes, such as PIK3CA, NOTCH1, STAT3 and KDR, were identified. Combined with the relative pathways, a pathway-based protein interaction was presented in Figure 3B. The mediators and pathways involved in the network were likely related with affecting the radiosensitivity in ESCC.

Туре	NS1	NS2	NS3	\$1	S2	\$3	Correlation	P.value
ТМВ	5.69	1.74	2.02	4.06	11.65	1.22	0.55	0.26
MSI (%)	22.98	28.22	9.3	22.47	24.17	17.13	0.29	0.58
Purity	0.39	0.48	0.31	0.79	0.24	0.17	-0.02	0.97
Ploidy	2.40	1.66	1.35	1.88	2.17	1.59	0.18	0.74
Age	57	77	57	60	67	52	0.10	0.85
Stage	3	3	2	3	3	2	0.20	0.70

TABLE 2 Difference of TMB, MSI, and purity between radio-sensitive and radio-resistant groups.



Identification of germline mutations in ESCC

Meantime, we also examined the genetic differences between the radio-sensitive and radio-resistant groups, 65 germline differentially mutated genes were found. In Figure 4A, mutation frequency was shown in blocks of different shade. Compared with the radio-sensitive group, there were more mutated genes and greater mutated rates in the radio-resistant group. After the analysis of differences between groups, spearman correlation coefficients were calculated to evaluate the within-group differences (Figure 4B). Positive coefficients (≥ 0.7) revealed high positive correlation within samples in the same group. To investigate functions of these germline differentially mutated genes, KEGG and GO enrichment analysis were performed. The results highlighted several pathways correlated with DNA damage repair, such as Homologous recombination, Mismatch repair and Base excision repair (Figure 4C). GO enrichment analysis showed that the germline differentially mutated genes were predominantly enriched in DNA damage checkpoint, cell cycle checkpoint, basement membrane, extracellular matrix component, and motor activity (Figure 4D). The results imply that the germline mutations might be also involved in regulating the radiosensitivity in ESCC.

NOTCH1 negatively regulates the response to radiotherapy in ESCC

To determine the role of NOTCH1 (a hub gene of PPI in somatic mutated genes) in the radiosensitivity of ESCC, we then





(B) Spearman correlation coefficient analysis of ESCC samples. (C) Top 15 enriched KEGG pathway of differentially genes. (D) Significantly enriched GO of differentially genes. *P*-value of all GO terms displayed in pictures is smaller than 0.01. Group S means the radiosensitive group and group NS means the radioresistant group.

knocked down its expression in ESCC cells (KYSE-150 and TE-1) by shRNA and utilized qPCR to verify the knockdown efficiency (Figure 5A). As shown in Figure 5B, results of cck-8 showed that treatment with ionizing radiation (IR, 4Gy) led to the decrease of cell viability in ESCC cells. The inhibitory effects of IR on cell growth were enhanced by the knockdown of NOTCH1. Consistently, the knockdown of NOTCH1 facilitated IR-induced cell death as determined by LDH release assay (Figure 5C). Furthermore, to demonstrate the physical effects of NOTCH1 on regulating the radiosensitivity of ESCC, we also overexpressed NOTCH1 in ESCC cells (Figure 5D). Our result showed that the decrease of cell viability induced by IR was attenuated by the overexpression of NOTCH1 (Figure 5E). NOTCH1 overexpression significantly mitigated IR-induced cell death in ESCC cells (Figure 5F). These results imply that the response to radiotherapy is negatively regulated by NOTCH1 in ESCC.

High expression of NOTCH1 was accompanied with the low levels of some immunotherapy-related cells

It is widely accepted that the response of tumors to radiotherapy is regulated by multifactorial. Not only intrinsic cellular radioresistance but also tumor immune microenvironment plays important roles in affecting the death of cancer cells after the treatment with radiotherapy (14, 15). To determine whether notch1 also has a regulatory effect on the immune microenvironment in ESCC, we thus analyzed the correlation of notch1 and tumor immune infiltration. As shown in Figure 6A, the results showed that the expression of NOTCH1 was not always consistent in different cancers compared with their normal tissues by using the TIMER database. We found that NOTCH1 was frequently up-regulated in some cancers including colon adenocarcinoma, kidney renal clear cell carcinoma and esophageal carcinoma



whereas the expression of NOTCH1 was significantly downregulated in kidney renal papillary cell carcinoma and lung adenocarcinoma. The analysis results of the UALCAN database showed that the expression of NOTCH1 was significantly increased in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (Figure 6B). To identify the prognosis values of NOTCH1 in ESCC, we then determined whether NOTCH1 was associated with the clinical outcome by utilizing the Kaplan-Meier Plotter (16). As shown in Figure 6C, D, there were no significant differences on the overall survival (OS) and recurrence free survival (RFS) between the high levels of NOTCH1 and the low levels of NOTCH1 in ESCC patients. Furthermore, we also examined the differences of immune cell based on the expression of NOTCH1 in ESCC. As shown in Figure 6E, the immune score was significantly decreased in the group with high NTOCH1 expression. Moreover, we found several immune cells, including activated B cell, activated CD8 T cell, activated dendritic cell, monocyte and CD56bright natural killer cell, were significantly enriched in the group with low NTOCH1 expression in ESCC (Figure 6F). To further explore the potential relationships between NOTCH1 expression and immune cell type, we performed the correlation analyses. Our results showed that the expression of NOTCH1 was negatively correlated with activated B cell (r=-

0.2755, P=0.0175) and immature dendritic cell (r=-0.2409, P=0.0387) (Figure 6G). In addition, it is widely accepted that checkpoint inhibitors play important roles in the therapy of cancer. We then examined the relationship between NOTCH1 and the four immune checkpoint molecules. However, no significant relations were observed between NOTCH1 and the four immune checkpoint molecules in ESCC (Figure 6H). The results indicate that activated B cell and immature dendritic cell likely participate in NOTCH1-regulated the sensitivity of radiotherapy in ESCC.

Discussion

It is widely known that radiation therapy is an important strategy for the treatment of cancers, especially in ESCC. However, due to the existence of inherent or acquired radiation resistance, the effect of radiotherapy is far from meeting people's expectations. Many patients with ESCC have not been significantly improved after radiotherapy. Therefore, it is necessary to determine the critical factors involved in affecting the radiosensitivity of ESCC. In the present study, we identified



some somatic and germline mutations of genes and constructed the pathway-based protein interaction network by performing the whole-exome sequencing, which were potentially associated with the response to radiotherapy in ESCC. Moreover, *in vitro* studies showed that the inhibitory effects of IR on cell survival were negatively regulated by NOTCH1 in ESCC cells. The results provide some potentially new treatment targets for improving the sensitivity of radiation in ESCC.

One of the most important findings in this study is that some somatic mutated genes potentially associated with the

radiosensitivity were identified in ESCC. The hub genes (such as STAT3, PIK3CA and NOTCH1) in protein-protein interaction network likely play important roles in the response to radiotherapy. STAT3 as a signal transducer and transcription activator mediates many cellular physiological processes, including cell proliferation, survival, angiogenesis and inflammatory response. Accumulating evidence has implicated that Stat3 plays an important role in regulating the response to radiotherapy in ESCC. Previous studies have shown that inhibition of the STAT3 signaling axis in ESCC cells increases radiosensitivity by inducing apoptosis and enhancing DNA damage after radiotherapy (17, 18). Besides, the epithelialmesenchymal transition induced by ionizing radiation and radioresistance are attenuated by STAT3 inhibition in ESCC (19). The conclusions are in accordance with our result that mutation of STAT3 was acquired in the radiosensitive group in ESCC. PIK3CA activates AKT1 by the stimulations of receptor tyrosine kinase ligands such as EGF, insulin, IGF1, VEGFA and PDGF, leading to activating signaling cascades involved in cell growth, survival, proliferation, motility and morphology (20). It is reported that hyper-activation of PI3K is frequently observed in ESCC tissues and selective targeting PI3Ka has been considered as a promising strategy for the ESCC therapy (21). DNA damage, G2/M arrest and apoptosis induced by radiotherapy are facilitated by PI3Ka inhibition in ESCC, the sensitivity to radiation is increased by PI3K α inhibitors in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (22). PIK3CA mutation is associated with a better disease-free survival and overall survival in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (23). It is in accordance with our study that mutation of PIK3CA was acquired in the radiosensitive group. NOTCH1 functions as a receptor for membrane-bound ligands Jagged-1 (JAG1), Jagged-2 (JAG2) and Delta-1 (DLL1) to regulate cell-fate determination and deregulation of the Notch pathway participates in regulating the initiation and progression of tumors (24, 25). It is reported that inhibition of the notch1 transcriptional complex suppresses tumor growth by targeting cancer stem cells in ESCC (24). NOTCH1induced stemness promotes the resistance to chemotherapy or radiotherapy in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas cells (26). Our results indicated that mutation of NOTCH1 was observed in the radiosensitive group in ESCC, which was consistent with a previous study (27). Moreover, we found that the knockdown of NOTCH1 facilitated the inhibitory effects of IR on the growth of ESCC cells, whereas IR-induced cell death was attenuated by the overexpression of NOTCH1. The results indicate that NOTCH1 acts as a negative regulator of radiosensitivity in ESCC. However, further studies are still needed to determine the regulatory mechanisms of the somatic mutated genes related with affecting the radiosensitivity in ESCC.

Accumulating evidence has shown that DNA damage repair has a clear role in resistance of anti-cancer radio-/chemotherapies (28). Irradiation with sensitizer can cause potential chemical lethal damage to cells, such as single-strand breaks (SSBs), chemically altered base lesions, abasic sites, interstrand crosslinks, intrastrand crosslinks, and most consequentially, double-strand breaks (DSBs) (29). Six major pathways for DNA repair, including direct reversal, base excision repair, mismatch repair, nucleotide excision repair, homologous recombination and non-homologous end-joining, have been identified (30). Congenital DNA repair deficiency can cause the accumulation of DNA damages leading to cell death or malignant transformation into tumor cells. In our study, we found that several pathways correlated with DNA damage repair, including homologous recombination, mismatch repair and base excision repair, were addressed in the results of analyzing germline mutations. Genes (such as ABRAXAS1 and MBD4) had significantly different variant status between the radio-resistant and the radio-sensitive groups. It is reported that heterozygous germline mutations in ABRAXAS1 plays important roles in mitigating DNA damage response and inhibiting deregulated G2-M checkpoint control (31). SNP in coding regions of MBD4 Glu346Lys has been identified as a significant predictor for the risk of ESCC (32). Deficiency of MBD4 inhibits the normal apoptotic response to gammairradiation and DNA-damaging agents (33). Our results showed that mutations of ABRAXAS1 and MBD4 were frequently observed in the radio-resistant and the radiosensitive groups, respectively. The findings indicate that these germline mutations likely also participate in regulating the response to radiotherapy in ESCC.

Accumulating evidence has indicated that tumor immune microenvironment plays important roles in affecting the death of cancer cells (14). Several biological responses, DNA damage repair and the changes in tumor inflammatory microenvironments, are involved in the death of cancer cell induced by radiotherapy (15). Radiotherapy, in addition to direct cytotoxic effect on tumor cells, could reprogram the immune microenvironment of tumors by regulating the release of inflammatory mediators and the infiltrating immunostimulatory cells (34). Antitumor adaptive immunity could be evoked by the treatment with radiation therapy (35). Moreover, radiotherapy in combination with immunotherapy has been performed in some clinical trials of cancers. The inhibitory effects of radiotherapy on the growth, recurrence and metastasis of cancers were significantly ameliorated by the blockade of immune checkpoints in the experimental study and clinical observations (36, 37). Previous studies have shown that Notch1 represses the infiltration of CD8(+) cytotoxic T lymphocytes and NK cells and inhibits the release of IFN- γ in melanoma (38). Notch1 positively regulates the immune suppressive cells and inhibits the recruitment of functional CD8(+) T cells. Inhibition of NOTCH1 facilitated the efficacy of immunotherapy in melanoma (39). It is reported that Notch1 is correlated with immune infiltrates in gastric cancer (40). Deleterious NOTCH Mutation leads to the increased transcription of genes related to DNA damage response and immune activation in NSCLC (41). Until now, the effects of NOTCH1 on tumor immune microenvironment in ESCC remain largely unknown. In the present study, we further examined the relationship between NOTCH1 and immune cells type in ESCC. The results showed that

some immune cells, such as activated CD8 T cell, activated dendritic cell, and CD56bright natural killer cell, were significantly decreased in the group with high NTOCH1 expression in ESCC. Moreover, activated B cell and immature dendritic cell were negatively correlated with the expression of NOTCH1. However, there were no significant relations between NOTCH1 and the four immune checkpoint molecules. Although the results imply that NTOCH1 likely participate in regulating the tumor immune microenvironment in ESCC, its specific physiological roles and the corresponding regulatory mechanisms were still needed to be elaborated in further studies. Meanwhile, there are some limitations in the research, which needs to be addressed in future experiments. The sample size utilized for bioinformatics data analysis was small and the roles of NOTCH1 in the response to radiotherapy were just validated by in vitro study. We will further collect the ESCC samples to determine the effects of the key genes (especially NOTCH1) on radiosensitivity and tumor immune infiltration and perform in vivo experiments to demonstrate the regulatory mechanisms of NOTCH1 in ESCC.

Conclusions

In summary, the present study examined the differences of the germline mutations and somatic mutations between the radiosensitive and radioresistence groups in ESCC. We also identified the critical mutations of candidate genes, which were likely associated with the response to radiotherapy. The findings might provide some potential biomarkers and candidate targets for improving the efficiency of radiotherapy in ESCC.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra Accession number is PRJNA870670

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Renji Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

LZ, JM, and XM designed this study. LZ, XX, YW, JL, YG and YB analyzed the data. LZ and JM wrote the manuscript and did the experiments. XX, YW, XW, LR and JT collected the data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (81972854), Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality (21ZR1438500), Renji Hospoital promotion project of National Natural Science Foundation of China (RJTJ22-MS-030), the Incubating Program for Clinical Innovation of Renji Hospital (PYDY-DZX-009) and the Beijing Xisike Clinical Oncology Research Foundation (Y-XD202001/zb-0011).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer ZW declared a shared parent affiliation with the authors XX, YW, YB, XW, LR, JT, XM, LZ to the handling editor at the time of the review.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

survival in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients. Br J Radiol (2022) 95: 20211195. doi: 10.1259/bjr.20211195

4. Chen GZ, Zhu HC, Dai WS, Zeng XN, Luo JH, Sun XC. The mechanisms of radioresistance in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and current strategies in radiosensitivity. *J Thorac Dis* (2017) 9:849–59. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.23

5. Sun Y, Wang J, Ma Y, Li J, Sun X, Zhao X, et al. Radiation induces NORAD expression to promote ESCC radiotherapy resistance *via* EEPD1/ATR/Chk1 signalling and by inhibiting pri-miR-199a1 processing and the exosomal transfer

^{1.} Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492

^{2.} Holmes RS, Vaughan TL. Epidemiology and pathogenesis of esophageal cancer. *Semin Radiat Oncol* (2007) 17:2-9. doi: 10.1016/j.semradonc.2006.09.003

^{3.} Sun J, Huang W, Chen J, Zhang Y. Association of 3D-CRT and IMRT accelerated hyperfractionated radiotherapy with local control rate and 5-year

of miR-199a-5p. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2021) 40:306. doi: 10.1186/s13046-021-02084-5

6. Zheng ZY, Yang PL, Luo W, Yu SX, Xu HY, Huang Y, et al. STAT3 β enhances sensitivity to concurrent chemoradiotherapy by inducing cellular necroptosis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13:901. doi: 10.3390/cancers13040901

7. Xu P, Zhang Y, Ge F, Zhang F, He X, Gao X. Modulation of tumor microenvironment to enhance radiotherapy efficacy in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma by inhibiting carbonic anhydrase IX. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:637252. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.637252

8. Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J. Fastp: An ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. *Bioinformatics* (2018) 34:i884–90. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty560

9. Li H, Handsaker B, Wysoker A, Fennell T, Ruan J, Homer N, et al. The sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics* (2009) 25:2078–9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp352

10. McKenna A, Hanna M, Banks E, Sivachenko A, Cibulskis K, Kernytsky A, et al. The genome analysis toolkit: A MapReduce framework for analyzing next-generation DNA sequencing data. *Genome Res* (2010) 20:1297–303. doi: 10.1101/gr.107524.110

11. Niu B, Ye K, Zhang Q, Lu C, Xie M, McLellan MD, et al. MSIsensor: microsatellite instability detection using paired tumor-normal sequence data. *Bioinformatics* (2014) 30:1015–6. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btt755

12. Hu B, Ma X, Huang R, Wu Z, Lu J, Guo Y, et al. Identification of key genes mutations associated with the radiosensitivity by whole exome sequencing in pancreatic cancer. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:697308. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.697308

13. Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. clusterProfiler: An r package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. *Omics* (2012) 16:284–7. doi: 10.1089/ omi.2011.0118

14. Willers H, Azzoli CG, Santivasi WL, Xia F. Basic mechanisms of therapeutic resistance to radiation and chemotherapy in lung cancer. *Cancer J* (2013) 19:200–7. doi: 10.1097/PPO.0b013e318292e4e3

15. Dillon MT, Bergerhoff KF, Pedersen M, Whittock H, Crespo-Rodriguez E, Patin EC, et al. ATR inhibition potentiates the radiation-induced inflammatory tumor microenvironment. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:3392–403. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1821

16. Nagy Á., Munkácsy G, Győrffy B. Pancancer survival analysis of cancer hallmark genes. Sci Rep (2021) 11:6047. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-84787-5

17. Sugase T, Takahashi T, Serada S, Fujimoto M, Hiramatsu K, Ohkawara T, et al. SOCS1 gene therapy improves radiosensitivity and enhances irradiation-induced DNA damage in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77:6975–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1525

18. Yu D, Ma Y, Feng C, Ma Z, Guo J, Chen H, et al. PBX1 increases the radiosensitivity of oesophageal squamous cancer by targeting of STAT3. *Pathol Oncol Res* (2020) 26:2161–8. doi: 10.1007/s12253-020-00803-5

19. Zang C, Liu X, Li B, He Y, Jing S, He Y, et al. IL-6/STAT3/TWIST inhibition reverses ionizing radiation-induced EMT and radioresistance in esophageal squamous carcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:11228–38. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14495

20. Yamaguchi H, Yoshida S, Muroi E, Yoshida N, Kawamura M, Kouchi Z, et al. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling pathway mediated by p110 α regulates invadopodia formation. *J Cell Biol* (2011) 193:1275–88. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201009126

21. Elkabets M, Pazarentzos E, Juric D, Sheng Q, Pelossof RA, Brook S, et al. AXL mediates resistance to PI3K α inhibition by activating the EGFR/PKC/mTOR axis in head and neck and esophageal squamous cell carcinomas. *Cancer Cell* (2015) 27:533–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.03.010

22. Shi JJ, Xing H, Wang YX, Zhang X, Zhan QM, Geng MY, et al. PI3K α inhibitors sensitize esophageal squamous cell carcinoma to radiation by abrogating survival signals in tumor cells and tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Lett* (2019) 459:145–55. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.05.040

23. Shigaki H, Baba Y, Watanabe M, Murata A, Ishimoto T, Iwatsuki M, et al. PIK3CA mutation is associated with a favorable prognosis among patients with curatively resected esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:2451–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3559

24. Alvarez-Trotta A, Guerrant W, Astudillo L, Lahiry M, Diluvio G, Shersher E, et al. Pharmacological disruption of the Notch1 transcriptional complex inhibits tumor growth by selectively targeting cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res* (2021) 81:3347–57. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-3611

25. Brütsch R, Liebler SS, Wüstehube J, Bartol A, Herberich SE, Adam MG, et al. Integrin cytoplasmic domain-associated protein-1 attenuates sprouting angiogenesis. *Circ Res* (2010) 107:592–601. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.217257

26. Byun JY, Huang K, Lee JS, Huang W, Hu L, Zheng X, et al. Targeting HIF-1 α /NOTCH1 pathway eliminates CD44(+) cancer stem-like cell phenotypes, malignancy, and resistance to therapy in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncogene* (2022) 41:1352–63. doi: 10.1038/s41388-021-02166-w

27. Yang L, Zhang X, MacKay M, Foox J, Hou Q, Zheng X, et al. Identification of radioresponsive genes in esophageal cancer from longitudinal and single cell exome sequencing. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2020) 108:1103–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2020.06.015

28. Weichselbaum RR, Ishwaran H, Yoon T, Nuyten DS, Baker SW, Khodarev N, et al. An interferon-related gene signature for DNA damage resistance is a predictive marker for chemotherapy and radiation for breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:18490-5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809242105

29. Blaisdell JO, Harrison L, Wallace SS. Base excision repair processing of radiation-induced clustered DNA lesions. *Radiat Prot Dosimetry* (2001) 97:25–31. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.rpd.a006634

30. Nordstrand LM, Ringvoll J, Larsen E, Klungland A. Genome instability and DNA damage accumulation in gene-targeted mice. *Neuroscience* (2007) 145:1309–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.10.059

31. Bose M, Sachsenweger J, Laurila N, Parplys AC, Willmann J, Jungwirth J, et al. BRCA1 mislocalization leads to aberrant DNA damage response in heterozygous ABRAXAS1 mutation carrier cells. *Hum Mol Genet* (2019) 28:4148–60. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddz252

32. Hao B, Wang H, Zhou K, Li Y, Chen X, Zhou G, et al. Identification of genetic variants in base excision repair pathway and their associations with risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:4378–84. doi: 10.1158/008-5472.CAN-04-0372

33. Sansom OJ, Zabkiewicz J, Bishop SM, Guy J, Bird A, Clarke AR. MBD4 deficiency reduces the apoptotic response to DNA-damaging agents in the murine small intestine. *Oncogene* (2003) 22:7130–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206850

34. Liauw SL, Connell PP, Weichselbaum RR. New paradigms and future challenges in radiation oncology: An update of biological targets and technology. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:173sr2. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005148

35. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. *Blood* (2009) 114:589–95. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-206870

36. Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, Beckett M, Darga T, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124:687–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI67313

37. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:925–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1112824

38. Yang Z, Qi Y, Lai N, Zhang J, Chen Z, Liu M, et al. Notch1 signaling in melanoma cells promoted tumor-induced immunosuppression *via* upregulation of TGF-β1. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 37:1. doi: 10.1186/s13046-017-0664-4

39. Qiu H, Zmina PM, Huang AY, Askew D, Bedogni B. Inhibiting Notch1 enhances immunotherapy efficacy in melanoma by preventing Notch1 dependent immune suppressive properties. *Cancer Lett* (2018) 434:144–51. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.07.024

40. Hu J, Yu J, Gan J, Song N, Shi L, Liu J, et al. Notch1/2/3/4 are prognostic biomarker and correlated with immune infiltrates in gastric cancer. *Aging* (2020) 12:2595–609. doi: 10.18632/aging.102764

41. Zhang K, Hong X, Song Z, Xu Y, Li C, Wang G, et al. Identification of deleterious NOTCH mutation as novel predictor to efficacious immunotherapy in NSCLC. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26:3649–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-3976

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY

Bin Liu, University of Arizona, United States Qiu Xinguang, First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yunlong Pan tpanyl@jnu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 29 June 2022 ACCEPTED 17 August 2022 PUBLISHED 02 September 2022

CITATION

Liu S, Zhang Y, Lin Y, Wang P and Pan Y (2022) Case report: The MSI-L/ p-MMR metastatic rectal cancer patient who failed systemic therapy responds to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy after stereotactic body radiation-therapy. *Front. Immunol.* 13:981527. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.981527

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Liu, Zhang, Lin, Wang and Pan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Case report: The MSI-L/p-MMR metastatic rectal cancer patient who failed systemic therapy responds to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy after stereotactic body radiation-therapy

Shijin Liu^{1†}, Yiran Zhang^{1†}, Yujian Lin¹, Peize Wang¹ and Yunlong Pan^{1,2*}

¹Department of General Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ²Ministry of Education (MOE) Key Laboratory of Tumor Molecular Biology and Key Laboratory of Functional Protein Research of Guangdong Higher Education Institutes, Institute of Life and Health Engineering, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

Background: Traditionally, patients with microsatellite stability (MSS)/ microsatellite instability-Low (MSI-L)/proficient mismatch repair (p-MMR) metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) have had poor benefit from immunotherapy. Therefore, how to enhance the response of immunotherapy is still a challenge for MSS/MSI-L/p-MMR CRC patient.

Case presentation: We report a special case of a rectal cancer patient with programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) negative expression, MSI-L/p-MMR, tumor mutational burden-low (TMB-L) and liver metastases, who partial response (PR) to immunotherapy after systemic therapy failure including chemotherapy, anti-angiogenesis therapy and stereotactic body radiation-therapy (SBRT). The computed tomography (CT) results showed that among three liver metastases had been reduction or disappearance after Tislelizumab treatment for three times. Besides, the carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and carbohydrate antigen 199 (CA199) decrease and maintained at a low level for 3 months. The progression-free survival (PFS) of patient has exceeded 3 months.

Conclusions: This case indicates that the patient with MSI-L/p-MMR mCRC can respond to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy after systemic therapy. And the SBRT (targeting liver metastases) may a method for increase-sensitivity of immunotherapy in CRC patients with MSI-L/p-MMR.

KEYWORDS

advanced rectal cancer, liver metastasis, immunotherapy, MSS/MSI-L/p-MMR, SBRT

10.3389/fimmu.2022.981527

Case presentation

A 49 years old man was admitted to our hospital on December 21, 2020 with the rectal cancer liver metastasis for more than 1 year. The CT results showed that a main metastatic lesion (3.4 \times 2.6 cm) in the left and caudate lobe of the liver, a metastatic nodule $(1.5 \times 1.1 \text{ cm})$ in the hepatic portal and the localized common bile duct compression (Figure 1). The puncture pathology biopsy of liver metastases shows moderately differentiated tubular adenocarcinoma of colorectal origin. And the next-generation sequencing (NGS) result showed that the tumor with MSI-L (11.11%), PD-L1 negative expression and TMB-L (8.2 Muts/ Mb). The serum biomarker showed CEA and CA199 at 17.68 ng/ml and 1109.89 u/ml, respectively, and normal levels of alphafetoprotein (AFP). The patient received a radical surgery when rectal cancer initial diagnosis in February 2018. The TNM stage was T2N0M0. Follow-up observations found that tumor liver metastases in July 2019, then, he has received six cycles of conversion therapy (CapeOX + Bevacizumab) and nine cycles of maintenance therapy (Capecitabine + Bevacizumab) until disease progression on December 21, 2020.

After admission, the patient received the FOLFIRI combined with Cetuximab treatment, And each liver metastatic lesions received SBRT, the radiotherapy dose was 350 cGy/d with ten times. From December 21, 2020 to May 27, 2021, the serum biomarker showed a decrease in CEA and CA199 to 6.02 ng/ml and 85.54 u/ml, respectively. And the CT results showed that the metastatic lesion which in the left and caudate lobe of liver is reduction, the hepatic portal nodule has disappeared and the compressive bile duct has improvement. However, there's a new metastatic lesion $(2.7 \times 1.7 \text{ cm})$ in liver S5 (Figure 2). Thus, the curative effect was evaluated as progressive disease (PD) with a PFS of 5 months. So, the SBRT was aimed at the new liver's lesion (S5) again in May 31, 2021, and the Regorafenib (thirdline therapy) is added for treatment. Similarly, the CT results showed a new metastatic lesion $(1.5 \times 1.2 \text{ cm})$ in liver S6 on September 03, 2021 (Figure 3). And the serum biomarker showed elevated CA199 to 11613.09 u/ml, with CEA and AFP at normal levels. Therefore, the curative effect was assessed as PD with a PFS of 3 months.

So far, the disease continued to progress rapidly after using first-, second- and third-line treatment. The patient was decided to receive the first dose of anti-PD-1 drug (Tislelizumab) on September 04, 2021 after obtaining the consent of the patient and his family after. Surprisingly, after three cycles, the CT results showed that the metastatic lesion which in the left and caudate lobe and S5 of liver is reduction and the lesion of S6 has disappeared (Figure 4). And the serum biomarker showed a significantly decrease in CA199 from 11613.09 u/ml to 333.39 u/ml. Therefore, the curative effect was assessed as PR with a PFS of 3 months after the anti-PD-1 therapy. The change of serum biomarker and timeline of treatment was shown in Figure 5.

Discussion

Worldwide, the CRC is one of the most common cancers and the third leading cause of cancer-related deaths (1). Especially, for mCRC patients, the 3-year survival rate is only about 30%, while the survival of MSS/MSI-L/p-MMR patients is even lower (2). The current primary treatment for unresectable mCRC is systemic therapy (e.g., chemotherapy, radiation therapy, targeted therapy, immunotherapy, and combinations of them) (3). Today, immunotherapy has shown significant efficacy in a variety of solid tumors, but appears to benefit only 5% of mCRC patients (those with high microsatellite instability (MSI-H)/defective mismatch repair (d-MMR)) (4). Therefore, the application of immune-therapy in mCRC patients (especially with MSS/MSI-L/p-MMR patients) remains full of challenges.

Generally, the PD-L1 positivity expression, MSI-H/d-MMR and tumor mutational burden-high (TMB-H) are considered as predictors of effective immunotherapy (5). However, it has been shown that the expression of PD-L1 is not the same in primary



FIGURE 1

The CT scan of the patient's liver on Dec. 2020. The main metastatic lesion (3.4×2.6 cm) in the left and caudate lobe of the liver (A), the metastatic nodule (1.5×1.1 cm) in the hepatic portal (B) and the localized common bile duct compression (C).



and metastatic sites of colorectal cancer, and even the PD-L1 status does not correlate with both PFS and Overall survival (OS) in some MSS/p-MMR CRC patients (6, 7). And the predictive effects of TMB or MSI status may not be applicable to all solid tumors (8). In addition, the status of PD-L1, TMB and MSI/ MMR may not be reliable predictors due to assay methods, different cut-off value settings, etc. Interestingly, the patient is an exception to the classical prediction: PD-L1 negative expression, MSI-L/p-MMR and TMB-L, but with a partial response (PR) to immunotherapy. Therefore, in order to benefit more patients with MSS/MSI-L/p-MMR CRC from immunotherapy, it is necessary to find the reasons for the failure of classical predictors in this case and to reveal the possible factors.

More and more studies are exploring how to transform the "cold" tumor of MSS into the "hot" tumor of MSI-H. One of the

most important strategies is radiation therapy (RT) combined with immunotherapy. Although, the radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is considered to be the first treatment for unresectable liver metastases, RFA has limitations for some lesions, such as its size larger than 3 cm and adjacent to important vessels or bile ducts (9). Besides, some studies has been shown that there is no significant difference in OS between the SBRT or RFA treatment for liver metastases. But, for the size larger than 2 cm tumors, SBRT improves the freedom from local progression (FFLP) more than RAF (10). Thus, as one of the important treatments for liver metastases in CRC patients, RT (especially SBRT), may have a better prospect. It has been shown that it can trigger type I IFN response and activate anti-tumor T cells, through cGAS-STING signaling pathway, and improve tumor immune microenvironment, thus synergistically enhancing anti-tumor



FIGURE 3

Via CT to contrast the curative effect between the Sep 2021 and May 2021. The size of the metastatic lesion which in the left and caudate lobe of liver is increase from 2.6×2.1 cm to 3.3×2.6 cm (**A**, **D**). The size of the metastatic lesion which in liver S5 is reduction from 2.7×1.7 cm to 2.3×1.1 cm (**B**, **E**). The new metastatic lesion (1.5×1.2 cm) in liver S6 (**C**, **F**).



effects (11, 12). RT is also an effective "immune booster", and the immunotherapy tolerance in multiple progressive MSS/p-MMR CRC patients with liver metastases can be overcome even by the local immunomodulatory therapy such as SBRT (13, 14). In addition, Satoshi et al. showed that chemoradiotherapy sequenced with nivolumab was effective in treating patients with locally advanced rectal cancer with MSS (15). The study (NCT02437071) by Segal et al (16) also indicated an objective response in non-irradiated lesions after the application of RT combined with pembrolizumab in MSS/p-MMR CRC patients (although the ORR was only 9%). Likewise, regorafenib and others have similar effects. For example, a study (NCT03406871) showed a significant effect of regorafenib in combination with nivolumab in 24 MSS/p-MMR advanced CRC patients and the overall objective response rate (ORR) reached 33%, but only two patients with liver metastases (2/13) (17) Fakih et al (18) demonstrated that regorafenib combined with nivolumab achieved an ORR of 7.1% in 70 MSS mCRC patients.



FIGURE 5

The change of serum biomarker (A) and timeline of treatment (B). CEA, carcinoembryonic antigen; CA199, carbohydrate antigen 199; PD, disease progression; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation-therapy; PFS, progression-free survival.

However, the result also showed that none of the liver metastases patients (0/47). Overall, some MSS/p-MMR advanced CRC patients are effective for combination immunotherapy. Although the exact mechanism is still unclear, based on the current findings, RT combined with immunotherapy seems to better promote the benefit of immunotherapy in MSS/p-MMR CRC patients with liver metastases. So, this may explain why the patient (with PD-L1 negative, MSS/p-MMR, TMB-L and liver metastases only) responded well to immunotherapy after systemic treatment failure. For our case, one of the most important factors may be SBRT, but this also needs and deserves more relevant studies to verify.

Conclusion

We report a novel case of PD-L1 negative expression, MSI-L/p-MMR, TMB-L and with liver metastases rectal cancer patient who obtained PR and the PFS has exceeded 3 months after immunotherapy. This case indicates that the patient with MSI-L/p-MMR mCRC can respond to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy after systemic therapy. And the SBRT (targeting liver metastases) may a method for increasesensitivity of immunotherapy in CRC patients with MSI-L/ p-MMR.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(1):7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654

2. Biller LH, Schrag D. Diagnosis and treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: A review. JAMA (2021) 325(7):669–85. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.0106

3. Colon Cancer, Version 1, (2022). *Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology* (NCCN Guidelines). Available online: http://www.nccn.org/patients

4. Marmorino F, Boccaccino A, Germani MM, Falcone A, Cremolini C. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in pMMR metastatic colorectal cancer: A tough challenge. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(8):2317. doi: 10.3390/cancers12082317

5. Zhang F, Zhang J, Zhao L, Zhai M, Zhang T, Yu D. A PD-L1 negative advanced gastric cancer patient with a long response to PD-1 blockade after failure of systematic treatment: A case report. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:759250. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.759250

Author contributions

SL and YZ were mainly responsible for the article writing. YL and PW were responsible for patient's clinical data and analysis. YP was the corresponding author. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by the Clinical Frontier Technology Program of the First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, China (No. JNU1AF-CFTP-2022-a01223), Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (2019A1515011763; 2020A1515110639; 2021A1515010994; 2022A1515011695), Guangzhou Science and Technology Plan City-School Joint Funding Project (202201020084; 202201020065), the Fundamental Research Business Expenses of Central Universities (21620306).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{6.} Wang HB, Yao H, Li CS, Liang LX, Zhang Y, Chen YX, et al. Rise of PD-L1 expression during metastasis of colorectal cancer: Implications for immunotherapy. *J Dig Dis* (2017) 18(10):574–81. doi: 10.1111/1751-2980.12538

^{7.} Cousin S, Cantarel C, Guegan JP, Gomez-Roca C, Metges JP, Adenis A, et al. Regorafenib-avelumab combination in patients with microsatellite stable colorectal cancer (REGOMUNE): A single-arm, open-label, phase II trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2021) 27(8):2139–47. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-3416

^{8.} McGrail DJ, Pilié PG, Rashid NU, Voorwerk L, Slagter M, Kok M, et al. High tumor mutation burden fails to predict immune checkpoint blockade response across all cancer types. *Ann Oncol* (2021) 32(5):661–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.annonc.2021.02.006

^{9.} Chenxing S, Yiping Y. Research progress and application status in stereotactic body radiation therapy for treatment of liver metastases. *Modern Oncol* (2021) 29 (07):1280–4. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-4992.2021.07.039

10. Jackson WC, Tao Y, Mendiratta-Lala M, Bazzi L, Wahl DR, Schipper MJ, et al. Comparison of stereotactic body radiation therapy and radiofrequency ablation in the treatment of intrahepatic metastases. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2018) 100(4):950–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2017.12.014

11. Barker HE, Paget JT, Khan AA, Harrington KJ. The tumour microenvironment after radiotherapy: Mechanisms of resistance and recurrence. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2015) 15(7):409–25. doi: 10.1038/nrc3958

12. De Martino M, Daviaud C, Vanpouille-Box C. Radiotherapy: An immune response modifier for immuno-oncology. *Semin Immunol* (2021) 52:101474–81. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2021.101474

13. Sharabi AB, Lim M, DeWeese TL, Drake CG. Radiation and checkpoint blockade immunotherapy: radiosensitisation and potential mechanisms of synergy. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(13):e498–e509. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00007-8

14. Kim CW, Chon HJ, Kim C. Combination immunotherapies to overcome intrinsic resistance to checkpoint blockade in microsatellite stable colorectal cancer. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(19):4906–20. doi: 10.3390/cancers13194906

15. Satoshi Y, Hideaki B, Yuichiro T, Koji I, Yoshito K, Shigenori H, et al. Shortterm results of VOLTAGE-a: Nivolumab monotherapy and subsequent radical surgery following preoperative chemoradiotherapy in patients with microsatellite stable and microsatellite instability-high locally advanced rectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38(15):4100. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_suppl.4100

16. Segal NH, Kemeny NE, Cercek A, Reidy DL, Raasch PJ, Warren P, et al. Non-randomized phase II study to assess the efficacy of pembrolizumab (Pem) plus radiotherapy (RT) or ablation in mismatch repair proficient (pMMR) metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) patients. *J Clin oncology: Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol* (2016) 34(15):3539–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.3539

17. Fukuoka S, Hara H, Takahashi N, Kojima T, Kawazoe A, Asayama M, et al. Regorafenib plus nivolumab in patients with advanced gastric or colorectal cancer: An open-label, dose-escalation, and dose-expansion phase ib trial (REGONIVO, EPOC1603). *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38(18):2053–61. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.03296

18. Fakih M, Singh-Raghav KP, Chang DZ, Bendell JC, Larson T, Cohn AL, et al. Single-arm, phase 2 study of regorafenib plus nivolumab in patients with mismatch repair-proficient (pMMR)/microsatellite stable (MSS) colorectal cancer (CRC). J Clin Oncol (2021) 39(suppl 15):3560. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15_suppl.3560

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Esther Julián, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain Yi Liu, Sichuan University of Science and Engineering, China Yaosen Chen, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Japan

*CORRESPONDENCE Wanlong Tan twl@smu.edu.cn Fan Deng fandeng@smu.edu.cn Lina Hou Inhou2010@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 27 May 2022 ACCEPTED 11 August 2022 PUBLISHED 02 September 2022

CITATION

Li F, Zhang H, Wang Y, Yao Z, Xie K, Mo Q, Fan Q, Hou L, Deng F and Tan W (2022) FGFBP1 as a potential biomarker predicting bacillus Calmette–Guérin response in bladder cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 13:954836. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.954836

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Zhang, Wang, Yao, Xie, Mo, Fan, Hou, Deng and Tan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

FGFBP1 as a potential biomarker predicting bacillus Calmette–Guérin response in bladder cancer

Fei Li^{1†}, Henghui Zhang^{1†}, Yu Wang^{1†}, Zhihao Yao¹, Kunfeng Xie¹, Qixin Mo¹, Qin Fan², Lina Hou^{3*}, Fan Deng^{4*} and Wanlong Tan^{1*}

¹Department of Urology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ²School of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ³Department of Healthy Management, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Department of Cell Biology, School of Basic Medical Science, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

Accurate prediction of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) response is essential to identify bladder cancer (BCa) patients most likely to respond sustainably, but no molecular marker predicting BCG response is available in clinical routine. Therefore, we first identified that fibroblast growth factor binding protein 1 (FGFBP1) was upregulated in failures of BCG therapy, and the increased FGFBP1 had a poor outcome for BCa patients in the E-MTAB-4321 and GSE19423 datasets. These different expression genes associated with FGFBP1 expression are mainly involved in neutrophil activation, neutrophil-mediated immunity, and tumor necrosis factor-mediated signal pathways in biological processes. A significant positive correlation was observed between FGFBP1 expression and regulatory T-cell (Treg) infiltration by the Spearman correlation test in the BCG cohort (r = 0.177) and The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) cohort (r = 0.176), suggesting that FGFBP1 may influence the response of BCa patients to BCG immunotherapy through immune escape. Though FGFBP1 expression was positively correlated with the expressions of PD-L1, CTLA4, and PDCD1 in TCGA cohort, a strong association between FGFBP1 and PD-L1 expression was only detected in the BCG cohort (r = 0.750). Furthermore, elevated FGFBP1 was observed in BCa cell lines and tissues in comparison to corresponding normal controls by RT-gPCR, Western blotting, and immunohistochemical staining. Increased FGFBP1 was further detected in the failures than in the responders by immunohistochemical staining. Notably, FGFBP1 is positively associated with PD-L1 expression in BCa patients with BCG treatment. To sum up, FGFBP1 in BCa tissue could be identified as a promising biomarker for the accurate prediction of BCG response in BCa.

KEYWORDS

bladder cancer, bacillus Calmette-Guérin, FGFBP1, biomarker, PD-L1

Introduction

Bladder cancer (BCa) is one of the most common malignancies of the urinary tract worldwide, and it is projected to continue to rise in the next decade (1). At diagnosis, ~75% of bladder cancers are confined to the mucosa [nonmuscle invasive disease (NMIBCa)]. Transurethral resection of the bladder tumor (TURBT) combined with intravesical instillations is the mainstay therapy for those with NMIBCa. However, more than 50% of these cases will recur after resection and ~10% to ~20% will invade deeper layers (2). International guidelines recommend a clinical–pathological classification of NMIBC into low-, intermediate-, and high-risk groups. Further treatments aiming to reduce the risk of recurrence and/or progression into MIBC are warranted (3).

For many years, intravesical instillation of bacillus Calmette– Guérin (BCG) has been the gold standard treatment for patients with intermediate- or high-risk diseases to reduce the risk of recurrence and possibly progression (3–5). However, in approximately half of NMIBCa patients, intravesical BCG treatment fails due to BCG intolerance, BCG refractory to treatment, and BCG relapse (5). The current guidelines recommend early radical cystectomy with urinary diversion as a preferred option for those patients who would have a negative impact on their quality of life (6). Although various clinical and molecular biomarkers have been tested to help improve the accurate prediction of BCG response, currently, no ideal molecular biomarker predicting response to BCG therapy is available in clinical routine (4).

To find and identify ideal molecular biomarkers that can predict the response to BCG treatment in BCa, we identified that fibroblast growth factor binding protein 1 (FGFBP1) was upregulated in failures of BCG therapy, and the increased FGFBP1 had a poor outcome for BCa patients based on bioinformatics. Furthermore, FGFBP1 has been suggested to be involved in immune-related functions and pathways. FGFBP1 is a secretory protein that can specifically bind to fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) immobilized in the extracellular matrix to promote its release (7, 8). It has been receiving much more attention because of its considerable role in enhancing the biological and biochemical activities of FGFs and participating in the progression of several cancers (9-11). FGFBP1 was further demonstrated to be positive for PD-L1 expression in BCa tissues with BCG treatment. Briefly, FGFBP1 could be identified as a promising biomarker that may help to predict the prognosis of BCa patients with intravesical BCG treatment.

Materials and methods

Acquisition and preprocessing of datasets

Gene expression data and clinical information of BCa samples were obtained from The Cancer Genome Atlas

Urothelial Bladder Carcinoma (TCGA-BLCA), the Gene Expression Omnibus (GSE19423, GSE163899, and GSE176178), and the ArrayExpress (E-MTAB-4321) databases. For each kilobase of an exon, we determined gene expression using fragments per million reads mapped (FPKM) in all the datasets. After effective normalization, the E-MTAB-4321, GSE19423, GSE163899, and GSE176178 datasets were subsequently integrated into the BCG cohort. All the patients received transurethral resection of BCa plus adjuvant BCG intravesical instillations. These patients were classified into BCG responders and failures based on the response to BCG therapy. BCG failures were defined as patients who had a recurrence (any stage or grade) of BCa within follow-up, and BCG responders had no recurrence during follow-up. The detailed clinical information of patients in each dataset is shown in Table 1.

Identification of prognosis-related genes

The different expression gene (DEGs) analysis between BCG responders and failures in the E-MTAB-4321dataset was performed with the "limma" package (12). A p < 0.05 and $|\log 2 \text{ (fold change)}| \ge 2.0$ were regarded as significantly different. Univariate Cox regression analysis was used to identify DEGs with prognostic values. Kaplan–Meier survival curves were plotted to determine the prognostic value of the genes and compared by using the log-rank test. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was used to evaluate the accuracy of FGFBP1 for the prediction of BCG response.

Gene set enrichment analysis

Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed in the GSE19423 and E-MTAB-4321 datasets to gain insights into the biological pathways of the high- and low-expression groups stratified by FGFBP1 expression. A false discovery rate (FDR) of <0.25 and an adjusted p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Gene ontology and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathway analysis of DEGs

The functions of DEGs were annotated using the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) enrichment analysis and Gene Ontology (GO) analysis with the "Cluster Profiler" package (13).

Characteristics	ALL $(n = 208)$	E-MTAB-4321 $(n = 88)$	GSE19423 $(n = 48)$	GSE163899 $(n = 32)$	GSE176178 $(n = 40)$
Age [years; no. of pa	tients (%)]				
≥65	126 (60.6)	53 (60.2)	28 (58.3)	19 (59.4)	26 (65)
<65	82 (39.4)	35 (30.8)	20 (41.7)	13 (40.6)	14 (35)
Gender [no. of patien	nts (%)]				
Male	166 (79.8)	70 (79.5)	37 (77.1)	28 (87.5)	31 (77.5)
Female	42 (20.2)	18 (20.5)	11 (22.9)	4 (12.5)	9 (22.5)
BCG [no. of patients	(%)]				
Responder	116 (55.8)	52 (59.1)	26 (54.2)	15 (42.9)	23 (57.5)
Failure	92 (44.2)	36 (40.9)	22 (45.8)	17 (57.1)	17 (42.5)
Stage [no. of patients	s (%)]				
CIS	2 (0.9)	2 (2.3)	0	0	0
Та	52 (25)	52 (59.1)	0	0	0
T1	122 (58.7)	34 (38.6)	48	0	40 (100)
NA	32 (15.4)	0	0	32 (100)	0
Grade [no. of patient	ts (%)]				
Low	93 (44.7)	40 (45.6)	28 (87.5)	25 (78.1)	0
High	75 (36.1)	48 (54.5)	20 (62.5)	7 (21.9)	0
NA	40 (19.2)	0	0	0	40 (100)

TABLE 1 Clinical information of bladder cancer patients in BCG cohort.

NA, not available.

Estimation of tumor-microenvironment cell infiltration

The CIBERSORT algorithm was used to investigate the relative abundance of different immune cell types (14). The correlation between FGFBP1 and PD-L1 expression was examined using the Spearman correlation coefficient.

Single-cell sequencing analysis

The Tumor Immunosingle Cell Centre (TISCH) database is used to analyze the expression of FGFBP1 at a single-cell level (15).

Tissue specimens and cell line

Studies were done with the approval of the bioethics committee of Nanfang Hospital (Guangzhou, China). All subjects were informed and gave their written consent. All tissue specimens were obtained from patients diagnosed with BCa from the Chinese Han population at Nanfang Hospital from January 2018 to April 2022. A total of 15 pairs of tumor-paired tissues and normal adjacent tissues were obtained. Of these, 10 were male cases and five were female cases, with ages ranging from 36 to 68 years old.

The human BC cell lines UM-UC-3, T24, and SW780 were cultured in DMEM medium (Gibco, Carlsbad, CA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Serana, Berlin, Germany) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin at 37° C in a humidified incubator and a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. The cell lines were authenticated by short tandem repeat (STR) profiling upon receipt and were propagated for <6 months after resuscitation.

Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction

Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) was performed as described in the previous study (16). The primer sequences used in this study are presented in Supplementary Table S1.

Western blotting

The methods were described in our previous study (16). Briefly, rabbit monoclonal primary antibodies against human FGBP1 (dilution 1:1,000; Proteintech, Chicago, IL, USA) and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (dilution 1:1,000; Proteintech, Chicago, IL, USA) were used in this assay. The protein levels were normalized to those of GAPDH.

Immunohistochemical staining

There were 17 clinical BCa sections in immunohistochemistry, including 10 responders and seven failures to BCG intravesical

instillations. For immunohistochemical staining, the expressions of FGFBP1 and PD-L1 in tissue were examined by an ultrasensitive streptavidin-peroxidase (S-P) technique (Zhongshan Biotechnology Co. Ltd, Beijing, China) with the standard protocol as previously shown (17). Rabbit monoclonal primary antibodies against human FGBP1 (dilution 1:400; Proteintech, Chicago, IL, USA) and PD-L1 (dilution 1:200; Abcam, USA) were employed. Polyperoxidase rabbit IgG was used as the secondary antibody (Zhongshan Biotechnology Co. Ltd, China.). Negative controls were processed in an identical manner, with the primary antibody replaced by PBS. An independent assessment of immunoreactivity was conducted by two pathologists.

Statistical analysis

R software (version 4.2.0, MathSoft, USA) was used for statistical analyses, and GraphPad Prism (version 9.0, GraphPad Software, USA) was used for graphing and analysis. Univariate Cox regression analysis was used to screen for genes with prognostic values. Survival analysis was performed by using the Kaplan–Meier method. Statistical analysis of RT-qPCR, Western blotting, and immunohistochemical staining was performed using two-tailed Student's *t*-tests. *p* < 0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

Results

Elevated FGFBP1 may be associated with the poor response to BCG treatment

DEGs analysis was performed on the E-MTAB-4321 dataset. Of the detected DGEs, 80 were upregulated and 147 were downregulated genes (Figure 1A). The prognostic values of those DEGs were further calculated by using univariate Cox regression analysis with p < 0.001 as the screening criterion. Finally, 11 DEGs with prognostic values were found (Figure 1B). When the median of individual gene expression values was used as the cutoff points, patients in the E-MTAB-4321 and GSE19423 datasets were divided into low- and high-expression groups, respectively, to explore the relationship between gene expression and over survival. Noticeably, only FGFBP1 was significantly associated with patient prognosis in the E-MTAB-4321 and GSE19423 datasets (p < 0.05). The expression of FGFBP1 is negatively associated with the prognosis of BCa patients (Figure 1C; Supplementary Figure S1A). In addition, the role of elevated FGFBP1 expression in predicting the response to BCG in BCa patients was further explored using ROC curves. The results showed that elevated FGFBP1 may exhibit the ability to predict the response to BCG in the E-MTAB-4321 (AUC = 0.687) and GSE19423 (AUC = 0.614) datasets (Figure 1D). Furthermore, the result was confirmed in

the GSE163899 and GSE176178 datasets (Supplementary Figure S1B). These findings suggested that elevated FGFBP1 may be associated with the poor response to BCG treatment.

Potential biological functions of FGFBP1

In TCGA-BLCA dataset, the median value of FGFBP1 expression was used as a cutoff for DEG analysis with an adjusted p < 0.01. As a result, 1,527 downregulated and 1,326 upregulated genes were found. The heatmap of those DEGs demonstrated the top 20 up- and downregulated genes (Figure 2A). GO and KEGG analyses were then performed on the DEGs to determine their biological functions. These DEGs associated with FGFBP1 expression were mainly involved in neutrophil activation, neutrophil-mediated immunity, and tumor necrosis factor-mediated signal pathways in biological processes. Genes associated with molecular function involve cell-cell linkage and focal adhesion. Among the cellular components, the main enrichment was the binding of small GTPases. KEGG analysis showed that DEGs were involved in 10 KEGG pathways, including the development of tumors, cellular regulation, the AMPK signaling pathway, and the p53 signaling pathway (Figure 2B). In addition, we performed a GSEA analysis in the E-MTAB-4321 and GSE19423 datasets with the median value of FGFBP1 expression as a cutoff. Both datasets were significantly enriched in the cell cycle as well as mismatch repair, suggesting a potential mechanism for FGFBP1 (Figure 2C).

FGFBP1 was associated with tumor immune cell infiltration

To further explore the relationship between FGFBP1 and the tumor immune microenvironment, the extent of immune cell infiltration in each sample of the BCG cohort was calculated using the CIBERSORT algorithm. The results showed that resting CD4⁺ T cells had the highest level of infiltration than other tumor immune cells in both BCG responders and failures (Figure 3A). Notably, Tregs had a significantly higher degree of infiltration in failures compared with responders in the BCG cohort (p = 0.01) (Figure 3A). Furthermore, there seems to be a potential correlation between FGFBP1 and Tregs, as clarified by the weak correlation coefficient (r = 0.177, p < 0.05) (Figure 3B). A similar result was found in TCGA cohort (r = 0.176, p < 0.001) (Figure 3C). There was a significant positive correlation between FGFBP1 and Foxp3 (r = 0.138, p = 0.005) (Figure 3D), which is a surface marker of Tregs. The results also showed a significant negative correlation between FGFBP1 expression and B-cell and CD4⁺ T-cell infiltration (p < 0.01) (Figure 3B). This indicated that FGFBP1 may influence the response of BCa patients to BCG intravesical instillations through immune escape.



FIGURE 1

Elevated FGFBP1 may be associated with poor BCG response. (A) Volcano plot showed DEGs between BCG responders and failures in the E-MTAB-4321dataset, with FGFBP1 significantly upregulated in failures (marked in red). (B) Univariate Cox analysis revealed 11 genes that were associated with the prognosis of BCa in the E-MTAB-4321 dataset. (C) K-M survival curves indicated that elevated FGFBP1 expression was significantly associated with poor prognosis in the E-MTAB-4321 and GSE19423 datasets. (D) The ROC curves suggested that FGFBP1 has the ability to predict response to BCG treatment.



FGFBP1 is positively associated with PD-L1, as indicated by bioinformatic analysis

The Spearman correlation coefficient was used to investigate the correlation between FGFBP1 and immune checkpoints. FGFBP1 expression was highly positively correlated with the expression of PD-L1, CTLA4, PDCD1, PDCD1LG2, LAG3, and HVACR2 in TCGA cohort (p < 0.01) (Figure 4A). Subsequently, the findings were confirmed in TCGA cohort (Figure 4B) and the BCG cohort (Figure 4C). Interestingly, a strong correlation between FGFBP1 and PD-L1 expression was found in the BCG cohort (r = 0.750, p < 0.001) (Figure 4C).

Increased FGFBP1 is verified in BCa

We investigated the expression of FGFBP1 at the single-cell level in BCa using the TISCH database. FGFBP1 was found to be expressed mainly in BCa epithelial cells (Figure 5A). The expression of FGFBP1 was significantly elevated in BCa cell lines and BCa tissues in comparison to corresponding normal controls, as measured by RT-qPCR and Western blotting (Figures 5B–E). FGFBP1 protein was observed, apparently in the cytoplasmic compartments of cancerous cells by immunohistochemical staining (Figure 5F), which was consistent with our Western blotting results.

FGFBP1 is positively correlated with PD-L1, as demonstrated in BCa

Expression of FGFBP1 was further detected by immunohistochemical staining in the BCG responders and failures. The staining of FGFBP1 protein in the failures was stronger than in the responders (Figures 6A, B). The immunohistochemical staining scores of FGFBP1 in each BCa tissue were calculated. The median score of FGFBP1 was 2.235, and we divided the cohorts into FGFBP1 high- and lowexpression groups stratified by the median FGFBP1



FGFBP1 was associated with tumor immune cell infiltration. (A) Violin plot of tumor immune cell infiltration showed that Tregs are significantly more infiltrated in the failures than in the responders in the BCG cohort. (B) A significant positive association was observed between FGFBP1 expression and Treg infiltration in the BCG cohort. (C) FGFBP1 is positively correlated with Treg infiltration in TCGA cohort. (D) FGFBP1 is positively correlated with FOXP3 expression in TCGA cohort. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; and ***p < 0.001.



expression. The expression level of PD-L1 was significantly higher (p < 0.001) when FGFBP1 was increased, implying that FGFBP1 may play significant antitumor immunity functions in failures (Figures 6C, D).

Discussion

NMIBC is characterized by a high probability of recurrence and a risk of progression to muscle-invasive disease. NMIBC management requires a proper local resection followed by a riskbased treatment with intravesical agents (18). BCG intravesical adjuvant therapy has been effectively used in the management of intermediate- and high-risk NMIBC to prevent/delay tumor recurrence and/or progression (19, 20). However, 30% of those BCa patients would experience recurrence and progression into a more aggressive disease state (21). Accurate prediction of BCG response is essential to identify the patients most likely to respond sustainably, but no molecular marker predicting BCG response is available up to date. In this study, we initially identified that BCa patients with higher FGFBP1 expression had a worse prognosis in the E-MTAB-4321 and GSE19423 datasets. Furthermore, ROC curves indicated that elevated FGFBP1 may exhibit the ability to predict the response to BCG in the E-MTAB-4321 (AUC = 0.687) and GSE19423 (AUC = 0.614) datasets. Moreover, the expression of FGFBP1 is significantly elevated in failures compared with responders to BCG treatment, as confirmed by Western blotting and immunohistochemical staining. Briefly, FGFBP1 could predict the response to BCG for BCa patients. However, the roles of higher FGFBP1 in failures have not been studied extensively.

Although the mechanism concerning BCG action is still not completely understood, one main explanation is that BCG exposure to urothelium and bladder-resident macrophages elicits an inflammatory and immune response against tumoral cells (22–26). Moreover, an intrinsic or acquired immune resistance would be the possible resistance mechanism to BCG treatment. It is known that PD-L1 overexpressed in cancer cells could let those cells evade the immune response, inducing T-cell



Increased FGFBP1 is verified in BCa. (A) Expression of FGFBP1 at the single-cell level in BCa using the TISCH database. Each dot corresponds to a single cell and is colored according to the cell cluster. The color density indicated the expression of FGFBP1. (B) FGFBP1 was verified in BCa cell lines by RT-qPCR. (C) FGFBP1 was verified in BCa cell lines by Western blotting. (D) FGFBP1 was verified in BCa tissues by RT-qPCR. (E) FGFBP1 was verified in BCa tissues by Western blotting. (F) Elevated FGFBP1 was observed in BCa tissues by immunohistochemistry staining. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.001.



scores of PD-L1 are positively associated with FGFBP1. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

anergy (24, 27, 28). Immunotherapy has become an increasingly promising therapeutic method for advanced BCa, with PD-L1 inhibitors being able to halt immune evasion of cancer cells by preventing PD-1 from binding to its ligand (28).

FGFBP1, belonging to the FGFBP family, is a secretory protein that can specifically bind to FGFs immobilized in the extracellular matrix and present them to their cognate receptors (8). FGFBP1 is expressed in epithelial cells in the skin, eye, ileum,

and colon (8, 29–31), and plays an important role in proliferation and differentiation during embryonic development and wound healing (30, 32). Moreover, it was also found to be upregulated in various cancers than its low expression in normal adult tissues (30). Elevated FGFBP1 facilitates cancer growth and metastasis, which was demonstrated to act as an angiogenic switch molecule in cancer by enhancing FGF signaling including angiogenesis during cancer progression (33, 34). FGFBP1 was reported to be regulated by different transcription factors, including β -catenin/ TCF4, C/EBP, and KLF5. Correspondingly, Wnt/ β -catenin and KLF5-induced tumorigenesis and metastasis are decreased after FGFBP1 downregulation (7, 35, 36). However, the mechanisms of elevated FGFBP1 in failures of BCG treatments in BCa patients have not been known.

Chun et al. observed that a lower baseline infiltration level of Treg predicted a better response to BCG treatment (37). In our study, the CIBERSORT algorithm estimating immune cell infiltration indicated that there was a higher degree of Treg infiltration in failures compared to responders in the BCG cohort (p = 0.01). Interestingly, the expression level of FGFBP1 is positively correlated with Treg infiltration by the Spearman correlation test, suggesting a potential mechanism of action for FGFBP to BCG response in BCa patients. Furthermore, a strong correlation was observed between FGFBP1 and PD-L1 expression in the BCG cohort (r = 0.750, p < 0.001). Unexpectedly, the expression levels of FGFBP1 and PD-L1 were also found to be significantly higher in failures compared with responders by Western blotting and immunohistochemical staining analyses.

The mechanism underlying the higher FGFBP1 in failures of BCG treatment should be further explored. One possible explanation is that the increased FGFBP1 was positively associated with PD-L1 in BCa cells, which may cause BCa patients to evade the immune response when they receive BCG treatment. Another possibility might be the important role of FGFBP1 in tumor angiogenesis and cancer progression. A better understanding of the novel mechanisms may yield new knowledge for therapeutic purposes.

Several important strengths should be noted in our study. We first observed that FGFBP1 is highly expressed in BCa tissues in failures compared with responders to BCG treatment and that high expression of FGFBP1 is associated with a poor outcome for BCa patients based on the E-MTAB-4321 and GSE19423 datasets. Our bioinformatics also found that the DEGs identified by FGFBP1 were enriched in immune-related functions and pathways. Mechanistically, increased FGFBP1 may be positively associated with the upregulation of PD-L1 in a dependent manner in BCa patients with BCG treatment. Collectively, our results provide a promising biomarker for predicting response to BCG therapy in BCa patients.

Some limitations need to be taken into account when FGFBP1 is used for screening responses to BCG therapy. A limitation of the study is that FGFBP1 and PD-L1 were verified in a small number of BCa patients with BCG intravesical adjuvant therapy. The results require verification in larger sample sets, including enough follow-up time and detailed clinical information. Furthermore, increased FGFBP1 and PD-L1 were found in the BCG failure cohort on the basis of bioinformatics and experiments. The explanation may be the

immune escape in failures caused by high expression of FGFBP1. However, the roles of elevated FGFBP1 in failures are needed to be further elaborated.

To sum up, the expression level of FGFBP1 is shown to be significantly upregulated in failures compared with responders. Our study thus indicates that FGFBP1 in BCa tissue may be a potential molecular biomarker for the accurate prediction of BCG response in BCa. Further research is warranted to investigate its putative mechanistic roles in the pathogenesis of BCa with intravesical BCG treatment.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by the bioethics committee of Nanfang hospital (Guangzhou, China). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

FL and HZ performed and conceived the study. FL, LH, and WT wrote the manuscript. KX and QM provided clinical information. FL, HZ, YW, and ZY were responsible for collecting and analyzing public data, completing experiments, and drawing charts. FL, QF, and WT assisted in improving the quality of language. FL, FD, and WT completed the final revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the Natural Science Foundation Committee of China (NSFC 82073162) (WT), the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province of China (2021A1515010762) (FL), the Outstanding Youth Development Scheme of Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University (2019J009) (FL), the Dean's research fund of Nanfang Hospital, the Southern Medical University (2020Z005) (FL), (2019B008) (LH), and the Beijing Bethune Charitable Foundation (mnzl202017) (FL).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Li F, Yu Z, Chen P, Lin G, Li T, Hou L, et al. The increased excretion of urinary orosomucoid 1 as a useful biomarker for bladder cancer. *Am J Cancer Res* (2016) 6:331–40.

2. Li F, Chen D, He C, Zhou Y, Olkkonen VM, He N, et al. Identification of urinary gc-globulin as a novel biomarker for bladder cancer by two-dimensional fluorescent differential gel electrophoresis (2D-DIGE). *J Proteomics* (2012) 77:225–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2012.09.002

3. Trigo S, Gonzalez K, Di Matteo L, Ismail A, Elmansy H, Shahrour W, et al. Bacillus calmette-guerin vaccine and bladder cancer incidence: Scoping literature review and preliminary analysis. *Arch Ital Urol Androl* (2021) 93:1–8. doi: 10.4081/ aiua.2021.1.1

4. Kikuchi E, Hayakawa N, Fukumoto K, Shigeta K, Matsumoto K. Bacillus calmetteguérin-unresponsive non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: Its definition and future therapeutic strategies. *Int J Urol* (2020) 27:108–16. doi: 10.1111/iju.14153

5. Li R, Lerner SP, Kamat AM. The who, what, when, where, and why of bacillus calmette-guérin-unresponsive bladder cancer. *Eur Urol* (2021) 79:437–9. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2021.01.001

 Sfakianos JP, Salome B, Daza J, Farkas A, Bhardwaj N, Horowitz A. Bacillus calmette-guerin (BCG): Its fight against pathogens and cancer. *Urol Oncol* (2021) 39:121–9. doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2020.09.031

7. Zhang Z, Liu M, Hu Q, Xu W, Liu W, Sun Q, et al. FGFBP1, a downstream target of the FBW7/c-myc axis, promotes cell proliferation and migration in pancreatic cancer. *Am J Cancer Res* (2019) 9:2650–64.

8. Huang W, Chen Z, Shang X, Tian D, Wang D, Wu K, et al. Sox12, a direct target of FoxQ1, promotes hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis through up-regulating Twist1 and FGFBP1. *Hepatology* (2015) 61:1920–33. doi: 10.1002/hep.27756

9. Lieu C, Heymach J, Overman M, Tran H, Kopetz S. Beyond VEGF: inhibition of the fibroblast growth factor pathway and antiangiogenesis. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:6130–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0659

10. Czubayko F, Liaudet-Coopman ED, Aigner A, Tuveson AT, Berchem GJ, Wellstein A. A secreted FGF-binding protein can serve as the angiogenic switch in human cancer. *Nat Med* (1997) 3:1137–40. doi: 10.1038/nm1097-1137

11. Abuharbeid S, Czubayko F, Aigner A. The fibroblast growth factor-binding protein FGF-BP. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2006) 38:1463-8. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2005.10.017

12. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. Limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43:e47. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv007

13. Wu T, Hu E, Xu S, Chen M, Guo P, Dai Z, et al. clusterProfiler 4.0: A universal enrichment tool for interpreting omics data. *Innovation (N Y)* (2021) 2:100141. doi: 10.1016/j.xinn.2021.100141

14. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with CIBERSORT. *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1711:243–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1_12

15. Sun D, Wang J, Han Y, Dong X, Ge J, Zheng R, et al. TISCH: A comprehensive web resource enabling interactive single-cell transcriptome visualization of tumor microenvironment. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2021) 49:D1420-30. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkaa1020

16. Li F, Xie W, Fang Y, Xie K, Liu W, Hou L, et al. HnRNP-f promotes the proliferation of bladder cancer cells mediated by PI3K/AKT/FOXO1. *J Cancer* (2021) 12:281–91. doi: 10.7150/jca.50490

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.954836/full#supplementary-material

17. Li F, Su M, Zhao H, Xie W, Cao S, Xu Y, et al. HnRNP-f promotes cell proliferation by regulating TPX2 in bladder cancer. *Am J Transl Res* (2019) 11:7035–48.

18. Mukherjee N, Wheeler KM, Svatek RS. Bacillus calmette-guérin treatment of bladder cancer: A systematic review and commentary on recent publications. *Curr Opin Urol* (2019) 29:181–8. doi: 10.1097/MOU.00000000000595

19. Saluja M, Gilling P. Intravesical bacillus calmette-guérin instillation in non-muscleinvasive bladder cancer: A review. Int J Urol (2018) 25:18–24. doi: 10.1111/iju.13410

20. Kamat AM, Lerner SP, O'Donnell M, Georgieva MV, Yang M, Inman BA, et al. Evidence-based assessment of current and emerging bladder-sparing therapies for non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer after bacillus calmette-guerin therapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Urol Oncol* (2020) 3:318–40. doi: 10.1016/j.euo.2020.02.006

21. Meng MV, Gschwend JE, Shore N, Grossfeld GD, Mostafid H, Black PC. Emerging immunotherapy options for bacillus calmette-guérin unresponsive nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. *J Urol* (2019) 202:1111–9. doi: 10.1097/JU.00000000000297

22. Wang Y, Liu J, Yang X, Liu Y, Liu Y, Li Y, et al. Bacillus calmette-guérin and anti-PD-L1 combination therapy boosts immune response against bladder cancer. *Onco Targets Ther* (2018) 11:2891–9. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S165840

23. Hashizume A, Umemoto S, Yokose T, Nakamura Y, Yoshihara M, Shoji K, et al. Enhanced expression of PD-L1 in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer after treatment with bacillus calmette-guerin. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9:34066-78. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26122

24. Delcourt C, Gemival P, Nouhaud FX, Gobet F, Gillibert A, Ferlicot S, et al. Clinical interest of PD-L1 immuno-histochemistry expression as a predictive factor of bacillus calmette guerin (BCG) efficacy in refractory high-risk non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC). *World J Urol* (2020) 38:1517–24. doi: 10.1007/s00345-019-02896-3

25. Aydin AM, Bunch BL, Beatty M, Hajiran A, Dhillon J, Sarnaik AA, et al. The factors affecting expansion of reactive tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) from bladder cancer and potential therapeutic applications. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:628063. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.628063

26. Rodriguez D, Goulart C, Pagliarone AC, Silva EP, Cunegundes PS, Nascimento IP, et al. *In vitro* evidence of human immune responsiveness shows the improved potential of a recombinant BCG strain for bladder cancer treatment. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1460. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01460

27. Thoma C. PD-L1 and BCG response prediction. Nat Rev Urol (2020) 17:8. doi: 10.1038/s41585-019-0267-2

28. Ou S-L, Luo J, Wei H, Qin X-L, Du S-Y, Wang S, et al. Safety and efficacy of programmed cell death 1 and programmed death ligand-1 inhibitors in the treatment of cancer: An overview of systematic reviews. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:953761. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.953761

29. Aigner A, Ray PE, Czubayko F, Wellstein A. Immunolocalization of an FGFbinding protein reveals a widespread expression pattern during different stages of mouse embryo development. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2002) 117:1–11. doi: 10.1007/ s00418-001-0360-4

30. Schmidt MO, Garman KA, Lee YG, Zuo C, Beck PJ, Tan M, et al. The role of fibroblast growth factor-binding protein 1 in skin carcinogenesis and inflammation. *J Invest Dermatol* (2018) 138:179–88. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.07.847

31. Schulze D, Plohmann P, Höbel S, Aigner A. Anti-tumor effects of fibroblast growth factor-binding protein (FGF-BP) knockdown in colon carcinoma. *Mol Cancer* (2011) 10:144. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-10-144

32. Tassi E, Al-Attar A, Aigner A, Swift MR, McDonnell K, Karavanov A, et al. Enhancement of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) activity by an FGF-binding protein. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:40247–53. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M104933200

33. Chen X, Miao M, Zhou M, Chen J, Li D, Zhang L, et al. Poly-l-arginine promotes asthma angiogenesis through induction of FGFBP1 in airway epithelial cells *via* activation of the mTORC1-STAT3 pathway. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12:761. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-04055-2

34. Chen J, Liu Q-M, Du P-C, Ning D, Mo J, Zhu H-D, et al. Type-2 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase promotes the metastasis of colorectal cancer *via* the Fgfbp1-AKT pathway. *Am J Cancer Res* (2020) 10:662–73. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-04055-2

35. Harris VK, Kagan BL, Ray R, Coticchia CM, Liaudet-Coopman ED, Wellstein A, et al. Serum induction of the fibroblast growth factor-binding protein (FGF-BP) is mediated through ERK and p38 MAP kinase activation and C/EBP-regulated transcription. *Oncogene* (2001) 20:1730–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1204249

36. Zheng H-Q, Zhou Z, Huang J, Chaudhury L, Dong J-T, Chen C. Krüppellike factor 5 promotes breast cell proliferation partially through upregulating the transcription of fibroblast growth factor binding protein 1. *Oncogene* (2009) 28:3702–13. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.235

37. Lim CJ, Nguyen PHD, Wasser M, Kumar P, Lee YH, Nasir NJM, et al. Immunological hallmarks for clinical response to BCG in bladder cancer. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:615091. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.615091

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY

Yiran Chen, Beijing Cancer Hospital, China Yaomin Li, Southern Medical University, China Ningbo Xu, Southern Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Pailan Peng pengpailan@163.com Feng Pan pf03024908@163.com Tengxiang Chen txch@amc.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 23 July 2022 ACCEPTED 08 August 2022 PUBLISHED 09 September 2022

CITATION

Zeng Z, Hu C, Ruan W, Zhang J, Lei S, Yang Y, Peng P, Pan F and Chen T (2022) A specific immune signature for predicting the prognosis of glioma patients with IDH1-mutation and guiding immune checkpoint blockade therapy. *Front. Immunol.* 13:1001381. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1001381

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zeng, Hu, Ruan, Zhang, Lei, Yang, Peng, Pan and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A specific immune signature for predicting the prognosis of glioma patients with IDH1mutation and guiding immune checkpoint blockade therapy

Zhirui Zeng^{1,2†}, Chujiao Hu^{3,4†}, Wanyuan Ruan^{5†}, Jinjuan Zhang^{1,2†}, Shan Lei^{1,2}, Yushi Yang⁶, Pailan Peng^{5,7*}, Feng Pan^{8*} and Tengxiang Chen^{1,2*}

¹Transformation Engineering Research Center of Chronic Disease Diagnosis and Treatment, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ²Department of Physiology, School of Basic Medicine, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ³State Key Laboratory of Functions and Applications of Medicinal Plants, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁴Guizhou Provincial Engineering Technology Research Center for Chemical Drug R&D, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁵School of Clinical Medicine, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁶Department of Pathology, Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁷Department of Gastroenterology, Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁸Department of Bone and Joint Surgery, Gui Zhou Orthopedic Hospital, Guiyang, China

Isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1) is frequently mutated in glioma tissues, and this mutation mediates specific tumor-promoting mechanisms in glioma cells. We aimed to identify specific immune biomarkers for IDH1-mutation (IDH1mt) glioma. The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Chinese Glioma Genome Atlas (CGGA) were used to obtain RNA sequencing data and clinical characteristics of glioma tissues, while the stromal and immune scores of TCGA glioma tissues were determined using the ESTIMATE algorithm. Differentially expressed genes (DEGs), the protein-protein interaction(PPI) network, and least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) and Cox regression analyses were used to select hub genes associated with stroma and immune scores and the prognoses of patients and to construct the risk model. The practicability and specificity of the risk model in both IDH1mt and IDH1-wildtype (wtIDH1) gliomas in TCGA and CGGA were evaluated. Molecular mechanisms, immunological characteristics and benefits of immune checkpoint blockade therapy in glioma tissues with IDH1mt were analyzed using GSEA, immunohistochemical staining, CIBERSORT, and T-cell dysfunction and exclusion (TIDE) analysis. The overall survival rate for IDH1mt-glioma patients with high stroma/immune scores was lower than that for those with low stroma/immune scores. A total of 222 DEGs were identified in IDH1mt glioma tissues with high stroma/immune scores. Among them, 72 genes had interactions in the PPI network, while three genes, HLA-DQA2, HOXA3, and SAA2, were selected as hub genes and used to construct risk models classifying patients into high- and low-risk score groups, followed by LASSO and Cox regression analyses. This risk model showed prognostic value in IDH1mt glioma
in both TCGA and CCGA; nevertheless, the model was not suitable for wtIDH1 glioma. The risk model may act as an independent prognostic factor for IDH1mt glioma. IDH1mt glioma tissues from patients with high-risk scores showed more infiltration of M1 and CD8 T cells than those from patients with low-risk scores. Moreover, TIDE analysis showed that immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) therapy was highly beneficial for IDH1mt patients with high-risk scores. The risk model showed specific potential to predict the prognosis of IDH1mt-glioma patients, as well as guide ICB, contributing to the diagnosis and therapy of IDH1mt-glioma patients.

KEYWORDS

immune, signature, glioma, IDH1 mutation, immune checkpoint blockade therapy

Introduction

Glioma is the most common cerebral tumor with a high mortality rate (1). Several treatment approaches, including surgery and radio-chemotherapy, do not produce optimal results, and the average survival time of patients is less than 15 months (2, 3). Glioma is a highly heterogeneous tumor with multiple genetic characteristics, including isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1) mutation, 1p/19q-deficiency, and O-6methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase methylation (4). Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 is a key enzyme involved in the tricarboxylic acid cycle. In the cytoplasm and mitochondria, wild-type IDH1 (wtIDH1) oxidizes and decarboxylates isocitrate to α -ketoglutarate (α -KG), which is involved in epigenetic regulation and DNA repair in an α -KG-dependent manner (5, 6). A total of 70-80% of grade II and III gliomas and 80-90% of grade IV gliomas (also called glioblastomas) possess IDH1 mutations (IDH1mt) (7). Compared with glioma cells with wtIDH1, a hypermethylation phenotype, overactivated hypoxia signaling, and disruption of collagen maturation were observed in cells with IDH1mt (8). This difference emphasizes that different therapeutic strategies should be implemented for gliomas with wtIDH1 and IDH1mt mutations. The identification of specific biomarkers for gliomas with IDH1mt may contribute to this therapy.

Bioinformatics analysis using public databases, including The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Gene Expression Omnibus, is a popular method for identifying tumor biomarkers (9, 10). Various biomarkers and risk models for gliomas have been identified through bioinformatic analysis. For example, by performing bioinformatics analysis in TCGA, the thioredoxin domain containing 11 was discovered to be upregulated in glioma tissues, and its high expression indicates a poor prognosis (11). An iron metabolism-related gene signature, constructed using a bioinformatics method, demonstrates that the risk model had remarkable prognostic value for gliomas (12). Similarly, by performing weighted gene co-expression analysis, our previous study indicated that LIM homeobox 5 and T-cell leukemia homeobox 1 are involved in the recurrence of glioma (13). However, the feasibility of biomarkers and risk models identified in previous studies for each subtype of glioma is limited.

Our study aimed to construct a specific risk model for predicting the prognosis of IDH1mt-glioma tissues and investigate the internal immunological and molecular mechanisms. Our risk model may provide insights into the diagnosis and treatment of IDH1mt gliomas.

Materials and methods

Gene expression profile download and preprocessing

The gene expression profiles of glioma patients and clinical trait information were downloaded from TCGA (https://portal. gdc.cancer.gov/) and the Chinese Glioma Genome Atlas (CGGA; http://www.cgga.org.cn/), respectively. The original gene expression profile was normalized and centralized, and the probe names were annotated as gene names. Before analysis, glioma patients without IDH1mt information and survival information were excluded. As a result, 367 patients with IDH1mt and 229 patients with wtIDH1 were obtained from TCGA, while 167 patients with IDH1mt and 145 patients with wtIDH1 were obtained from the CGGA. Immune and stromal scores of IDH1mt glioma tissues in TCGA were measured using the ESTIMATE algorithm.

360

Differentially expressed genes analysis

The median immune and stromal scores of gliomas with IDH1mt in TCGA were used to separate the high and low groups. The EdgeR package was used to perform the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) analysis, while the threshold for considering significance was set as $|logFC| \ge 1$ and adjusted *P*-value < 0.05. Analysis of the changes in all genes in the high- and low-immune/stromal score groups was visualized using volcano plots, while DEGs were visualized in a heatmap.

Protein-protein interaction network

The primordial protein–protein interaction (PPI) network was constructed using DEG information from the STRING database (https://cn.string-db.org/). Cytoscape software was used to adjust the primordial PPI network, and the isolated genes were removed. Genes that had a relationship with others were set as hub genes and were enrolled in further studies.

Enrichment analysis

The enriched GO terms of hub genes were analyzed using the Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery (DAVID; https://david.ncifcrf.gov/). GO analysis was conducted using three categories: biological processes (BP), cellular components (CC), and molecular functions (MF). The significance threshold was set at P < 0.05. The top five terms are presented in a bubble diagram.

Construction and verification of an immune signature

Before constructing an immune signature, we first analyzed the hub genes associated with the survival of patients with IDH1mt *via* univariate Cox regression analysis, and the significance threshold was set at P < 0.05. The least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) was used to eliminate genes that shared similar genetic information by adding appropriate penalties (lambda). Utilizing the Akaike information criterion, an optimal prognostic risk model was built using a multivariate Cox regression analysis. The upper limit of the risk score was set to 10. The feasibility of the risk model in IDH1mt and wtIDH1 glioma patients in TCGA and CGGA was checked using receiver operator characteristic curve (ROC) analysis and Kaplan–Meier survival analysis. The ROC cut-off was set as the area under the curve (AUC) ≥ 0.75 and P < 0.05, while the threshold in the Kaplan–Meier survival analysis was set as P < 0.05.

Nomogram construction

Nomograms are constructed based on multifactor regression analysis by integrating multiple predictors, and graduated line segments are then used to draw on the same plane in a certain proportion (14). In this study, a nomogram was created using the "rms" package to simplify the prediction model using independent clinical prognostic factors.

Gene set enrichment analysis

To explore the signaling pathways differentially activated in high- and low-risk group IDH1mt-glioma patients in TCGA and CGGA, we analyzed the change of genes and performed GSEA analysis in R software with an adjusted *P*-value < 0.05.

Immune cell analysis

Using the "CIBERSORT" R package, we examined 22 immune cells infiltrating IDH1mt-glioma tissues in TCGA and CGGA. Differentially infiltrated cells in the high- and low-risk-score groups were analyzed using the unpaired *t*-test, with significance set as P < 0.05.

Immunohistochemical analysis

In total, 54 glioma tissues with IDH1mt were collected from the Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University with the approval of the Human Ethics Committee of Guizhou Medical University. None of the patients received any radiochemotherapy before the operation, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining was performed as described in our previous study (15). Primary antibodies used were as follows: HLA-DQA2 (1:200; Cat No. 42-669, ProSci, Fort Collins, CO, USA), HOXA3 (1:100; Cat No.ab230879, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), SAA2 (1:500; Cat No. CAU25292; Biomatik, Kitchener, Canada), CD8 (1:4000; Cat No. 66868-1-Ig; Proteintech, Wuhan, China), and CD86 (1:250; Cat No. ab220188, Abcam). The expression of target proteins was assessed based on the product of the intensity of staining (0, 1 +, 2+, and 3+) and the percentage of positive cells, which was scored as 0 (0%), 1 (1-2 5%), 2 (26-50%), 3 (51-75%), or 4 (76 - 100%).

T-cell dysfunction and exclusion analysis

To predict the immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) therapy response, the gene expression profile of glioma tissues with IDH1mt was imported into the T-cell dysfunction and exclusion (TIDE; http://tide.dfci.harvard.edu/) online algorithm to obtain exclusion, dysregulation, and TIDE scores. P < 0.05 was set as the threshold for determining the difference between high- and low-risk-score groups using an unpaired *t*-test.

Results

Landscape in high- and low-stromal/ immune-score group glioma patients with IDH1mt in TCGA

Using the ESTIMATE algorithm, stromal and immune scores were calculated in TCGA for patients with glioma and IDH1mt. The detailed scores are shown in Supplementary Table 1. The Kaplan-Meier survival analysis showed that IDH1mt-glioma patients with high stromal (Figure 1A) and immune scores (Figure 1B) exhibited shorter overall survival rates than those with low stromal and immune scores (HR = 1.679 and HR = 2.367). We then determined the change in gene expression profiles between the high- and low-stromal/immune groups in IDH1mt-glioma tissues. A total of 242 genes were upregulated in the high-stromal group IDH1mt-glioma tissues compared with those in the low-stromal group IDH1mt-glioma tissues, while 20 genes were downregulated (Figures 2A, B). Similarly, 285 genes were upregulated in the high-immune group IDH1mt-glioma tissues compared with those in the low-immune group IDH1mt-glioma tissues, while 135 genes were downregulated (Figures 2C, D). Through intersection analysis, 209 upregulated (Figure 2E) and 13 downregulated

overlapping genes (Figure 2F) were identified in the highstromal- and high-immune-score-group IDH1mtglioma tissues.

We then constructed a PPI network and found 72 genes that interacted with other genes (Figure 3A). These genes were set as candidate hub genes associated with stromal and immune scores in IDH1mt glioma. BP enrichment analysis demonstrated that these candidate hub genes were enriched in "immune-responseactivating cell surface receptor signaling pathway", "humoral immune response", "response to interferon-gamma", "cellular response to interferon gamma", and "interferon-gammamediated signaling" (Figure 3B). MF enrichment analysis demonstrated that the candidate hub genes were enriched in "receptor ligand activity", "antigen binding", "peptide antigen binding", "MHC class II receptor activity", and "chemokine receptor binding" (Figure 3C). Furthermore, the enriched CC terms of candidate hub genes were "endocytic versicle membrane", "MHC protein complex", "MHC class II protein complex", "luminal side of ER", and "integral component of membrane of ER" (Figure 3D).

Construction of immune signature for glioma patients with IDH1mt

Next, we determined whether the expression of candidate hub genes was associated with survival in patients with IDH1mt gliomas. A univariate Cox regression analysis demonstrated that among 72 candidate hub genes, 29 genes were linked to survival in IDH1mt-glioma patients (Table 1). LASSO analysis was performed to create a risk model that could predict the survival of glioma patients with IDH1mt. Five more important hub genes, including *HLA-DQA2*, *HLA-DQB2*, *HOXA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2*, were identified and used for further analysis (Figures 4A, B). A multivariate Cox analysis also indicated that *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* were



FIGURE 1

Effects of stromal and immune scores on the survival of IDH1mt-glioma patients. (A) Kaplan–Meier survival analysis showing the survival rate in high- and low-stromal-score-group IDH1mt-glioma patients. (B) Kaplan–Meier survival analysis showing the survival rate in high- and low-immune-score-group IDH1mt-glioma patients.



group of IDH1mt-glioma tissues. (D) Heatmap plot showing DEGs between high- and low-immune group of IDH1mt-glioma tissues. (E) Overlapping upregulated genes between high-stromal and -immune group of IDH1mt-glioma tissues. (F) Overlapping downregulated genes between high-stromal and -immune group of IDH1mt-glioma tissues.

independent predictors of survival in glioma patients with IDH1mt (Figure 4C). Therefore, the gene expression information of *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* and the survival information of glioma patients with IDH1mt in TCGA were imported into R software to construct a risk model. Using computer optimization, a risk model was constructed with a risk score of $0.249 \times HLA-DQA2$ expression + $0.179 \times HOXA3$ expression + $0.227 \times SAA2$ expression.

Verification of applicability of risk model in glioma patients with IDH1mt in TCGA and CGGA

To verify the applicability of the risk model in glioma patients with IDH1mt, glioma patients with IDH1mt in TCGA (Figure 5A) and CGGA (Figure 5B) were divided into high- and low-risk groups according to the median risk score obtained from the TCGA cohort. The results indicated that IDH1mt glioma patients in TCGA with high-risk scores had shorter overall survival rates than those with low-risk scores (Figure 5C). ROC analysis indicated that the AUC for predicting the one- and three-year survival of IDH1mt-glioma patients in TCGA were 0.845 and 0.821, respectively (Figures 5D, E). Similarly, we found that IDH1mt-glioma patients in CGGA with high-risk scores had shorter overall survival rates than those with low-risk scores (Figure 5F), and the AUC for predicting one- and three-year survival of IDH1mtglioma patients in CGGA were 0.794 and 0.764, respectively (Figures 5G, H). Furthermore, we found that IDH1mt-glioma patients in TCGA (Figure 5I) and CGGA (Figure 5J) with highrisk scores exhibited a higher proportion of deaths. This evidence indicates that the risk model has remarkable diagnostic value for glioma patients with IDH1mt.

Exploration of applicability of risk model in glioma patients with wtIDH1 in TCGA and CGGA

Glioma patients with wtIDH1 in TCGA (Figure 6A) and CGGA (Figure 6B) were divided into high- and low-risk groups according to the median risk score. wtIDH1 glioma patients in TCGA with high-risk scores had lower overall survival than those with low-risk scores (Figure 6C). However, the AUC for predicting the one- and three-year survival of wtIDH1 glioma patients in TCGA were 0.644 and 0.682, respectively (Figures 6D, E). Similarly, high-risk wtIDH1-glioma patients in CGGA had shorter overall survival rates (Figure 6F), but the AUCs of the risk model for predicting the one- and three-year survival of wtIDH1 glioma patients in CGGA were 0.570 and 0.652, respectively (Figures 6G, H). Furthermore, the percentage of deaths was not significantly different between wtIDH1 glioma



patients in the high- and low-risk groups in TCGA (Figure 6I) and CGGA (Figure 6J). These results indicated that the risk model constructed using *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* was not suitable for predicting the survival of wtIDH1 glioma patients and may be specific for IDH1mt-glioma patients.

Immune signature acts as independent prognostic factor for glioma patients with IDH1mt

We then performed a multivariate Cox regression analysis, and the immune signature constructed using *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* was found to act as an independent prognostic factor for glioma patients with IDH1mt, with an HR of 1.203 (Table 2). In addition, a nomogram was created based on the signature risk score and clinical characteristics (Figure 7).

Exploration of pathways associated with immune signature

Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was used to determine if defined pathways were enriched in high- and low-risk groups of glioma patients with IDH1mt. IDH1mt-glioma tissues with high risk in TCGA were positively associated with "M phase" (NES=1.89, P<0.01) and "signaling by interleukins" (NES=2.24, P<0.01; Figure 8A), while those with high risk in CGGA were positively associated with "cell cycle mitotic" (NES=2.19, P<0.01) and "neutrophil degranulation" (NES=2.17, P<0.01; Figure 8B).

Immune characteristics of the immune signature

According to previous studies (16, 17), infiltrating immune cells play a critical role in the progression of IDH1mt glioma. We determined the difference in infiltration of 22 immune cells between the high- and low-risk groups of glioma tissues with IDH1mt. The CIBERSORT R package was used to convert the gene expression profile of glioma tissues with IDH1mt in TCGA (Figure 9A) and CGGA (Figure 9B) to a proportion profile of infiltrated immune cells. Compared with IDH1mt glioma tissues with low-risk scores, those with high-risk scores in TCGA exhibited a high proportion of naïve B cells, plasma cells, CD8 T cells, CD4 memory activated T cells, activated NK cells, M0 macrophages, and M1 macrophages, while the proportion of resting NK cells and activated dendritic cells was reduced (Figure 9C). In CGGA, IDH1mt-glioma tissues with high-risk scores had higher memory B cells, CD8 T cells, M1 macrophages, M2 macrophages, and resting dendritic cells and TABLE 1 The hazard rate of genes for glioma patients with IDH1mt.

ID	HR	HR.95L	HR.95H	pvalue
BATF	1.17470829	0.955519886	1.444176707	0.126474997
BCL2A1	1.07719203	0.903329599	1.284517483	0.407704967
CCL7	0.97309829	0.69982352	1.353084395	0.871200368
CCL8	1.04917291	0.926433995	1.18817293	0.449528605
CCR2	1.12311681	0.944634881	1.335321607	0.188534973
CCR5	1.22830925	1.020308646	1.478712945	0.029828985
CD163	1.1776415	1.031132277	1.344967592	0.01585487
CIITA	1.28208779	1.054369628	1.558987519	0.012752323
CLEC12A	1.16773723	0.987945732	1.380248118	0.069094998
CLEC5A	1.126091	0.982655187	1.290463802	0.087586721
СР	1.21627375	1.048854918	1.410416063	0.009562912
CXCL10	1.14573922	1.000603026	1.311927238	0.048989007
CXCL8	1.02105507	0.903983423	1.153288238	0.737363758
CXCL9	1.10750092	0.938818303	1.306491669	0.225850624
DKK1	0.99466229	0.8374469	1.181392011	0.951382525
DNAH8	1.01804052	0.808774932	1.28145231	0.878959919
F13A1	0.99685455	0.841916679	1.180305617	0.970841318
FCGBP	1.10629314	0.961207373	1.27327832	0.159028039
FCGR2A	1.41700439	1.136628579	1.766541396	0.001945538
FCGR3A	1.21004902	1.018480893	1.437649593	0.030142571
FGF3	1.20176804	0.756735262	1.908522706	0.436089198
FPR1	1.13504686	0.960628616	1.341133659	0.136724904
FPR2	1.17963747	0.993020217	1.401325519	0.060074354
GBP2	1.1632864	0.965164204	1.402077744	0.112342727
GBP5	1.3123034	1.091287426	1.57808125	0.003872657
GZMK	1.12873693	0.939006147	1.356803755	0.19714833
HAMP	1.07895365	0.939439217	1.239187127	0.282076153
HLA.DOA	1.24287069	1.044807964	1.478479885	0.014093502
HLA.DPA1	1.31348349	1.095910008	1.574252317	0.00316582
HLA.DPB1	1.28704422	1.069243207	1.549210518	0.007636075
HLA.DOA1	1.17474627	1.013513368	1.361628609	0.032502989
HLA.DOA2	1.28594457	1.146262918	1.442647596	1.81E-05
HLA.DOB1	1.11087796	0.947045636	1.303052149	0.196483662
HLA.DOB2	1.35395048	1.180491115	1.552897666	1.48E-05
HLA.DRA	1.2694638	1.065062313	1.513092999	0.007729404
HLA.DRB1	1.20054844	0.999966103	1.441365415	0.050042495
HLA.DRB5	1.11853935	0.947546333	1.320389541	0.185690004
HOXA2	1.32415251	1.161028243	1.5101957	2.84E-05
НОХАЗ	1.27018869	1.137417785	1.418457955	2.18E-05
HOXA4	1 33711113	1 161375341	1 539438726	5 32E-05
IBSP	1.09171415	0.975610656	1 221634661	0 126125388
ID01	1 11442618	0.971509083	1.278367576	0.121819576
IGHV311	1 15002804	1.001887773	1.320072493	0.046947954
IGHV3.15	1 10670447	0.930408719	1.316405095	0.252122931
IGLI 5	1 09127324	0.973389831	1 223433038	0.134250793
II 36B	1 45331441	1 121085057	1 883008600	0.134230733
II.6	1.02151333	0.901654664	1 157305041	0.004/300/
INMT	0.98625230	0.824602471	1 179/62/21	0.75010500
	0.70023237	0.0240724/1	1.1/7402421	0.0/743/2/2

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued	
-------------------	--

ID	HR	HR.95L	HR.95H	pvalue
ITK	1.13922357	0.943975874	1.374855413	0.174178403
KIR2DL4	1.10475317	0.886294397	1.377058872	0.375508073
LTF	1.07336712	0.963535322	1.195718473	0.198614155
MMP19	1.07573521	0.906241704	1.276928928	0.403973391
MMP7	1.08890983	0.9733895	1.218139933	0.136591778
MS4A18	1.16103337	0.87338476	1.54341882	0.303979155
MS4A6A	1.30235412	1.076392497	1.575750711	0.006585199
NPS	1.30028934	1.038978688	1.627321513	0.021789224
PI3	1.11206459	0.970938203	1.273703776	0.125022883
PLA2G2A	1.07054961	0.956105386	1.198692621	0.237279756
RNASE2	1.20247034	1.027392368	1.40738335	0.021643479
RNASE3	1.13588087	0.947471011	1.361757073	0.168558144
SAA1	1.27770512	1.092172861	1.494754574	0.002203186
SAA2	1.54587115	1.253874467	1.905866717	4.54E-05
SAA2.SAA4	1.71834957	1.295116327	2.27989192	0.000175121
SEMG1	0.73695081	0.422560476	1.285251517	0.282096946
SEMG2	0.81504085	0.440134346	1.509292788	0.515332513
SERPINA1	1.23919535	1.025166407	1.497908151	0.026630699
SERPINB2	0.97940182	0.837863545	1.144849821	0.793822582
SERPINB4	0.74079768	0.449792849	1.220075431	0.238563585
SLC17A8	0.97157479	0.873003646	1.081275643	0.597273097
SLC18A3	1.17226028	1.013940044	1.355301202	0.031795339
TREM1	1.12228451	0.978805459	1.286795553	0.098327687
ТҮМР	1.25469942	1.045712163	1.505453117	0.01465489

lower M0 and CD4 naïve T cells (Figure 9D). In conclusion, both TCGA and CGGA indicated a higher proportion of CD8 T cells and M1 macrophages in IDH1mt-glioma tissues with high risk compared with that in those with low risk.

Detection of the expression of *HLA-DQA2, HOXA3, SAA2, CD8*, and *CD86* in IDH1mt-glioma tissues

In total, 54 glioma tissues with IDH1mt from our research group were divided into long- (survival \geq 15 months) and short-term groups (survival < 15 months). IHC was performed to detect the expression of *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* in glioma tissues, and high expression of *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* was observed in glioma tissues in the short-term group compared with that in the long-term group (Figures 10A, B). Similarly, we detected the expression of the M1 biomarker *CD86* and the CD8 T-cell biomarker *CD8* in glioma tissues using IHC. The expression of *CD86* and *CD8* increased in IDH1mt-glioma tissues in the short-term survival group (Figure 10C). These results suggest that M1 and CD8 T cells infiltrate more deeply into IDH1mt-glioma tissues associated with a lower probability of survival (Figure 10C). Furthermore, ROC analysis was

performed to determine the diagnostic value of *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* in the survival of IDH1mt-glioma patients, and all showed remarkable diagnostic value (AUC = 0.832, 0.896, and 0.857) (Figures 10D–F).

Glioma patients with IDH1mt in high-risk group exhibited high responsiveness to ICB therapy

The TIDE online algorithm was used to evaluate the responsiveness of IDH1mt-positive glioma patients in the high- and low-risk groups to ICB therapy. Lower exclusion scores were observed in IDH1mt-glioma patients with high-risk scores than in those with low-risk scores (Figure 11A), while the dysregulation score was reduced (Figure 11B). Overall, the TIDE score was significantly reduced in IDH1mt-glioma tissues with high-risk scores compared with that in those with low-risk scores (Figure 11C). Finally, the responder prediction results indicated that glioma patients with IDH1mt in the high-risk group exhibited high responsiveness to ICB therapy (Figure 11D). Based on this evidence, this risk model may be able to guide the clinical treatment of glioma patients with IDH1mt.



Discussion

Among primary brain tumors, malignant gliomas are the most common and show a poor prognosis (18). One of the most common genetic lesions in gliomas is a heterozygous mutation in IDH1, which occurs in 70–80% of grade II or III gliomas and most secondary glioblastomas (7). IDH1mt induces high histone methylation, high DNA methylation, high DNA damage response, and low amino acid metabolism in glioma cells (8). Due to the specific molecular mechanisms involved in the progression of glioma with IDH1mt, some biomarkers and therapeutic drugs may not be suitable for the IDH1mt subtype. The identification of specific biomarkers for gliomas with IDH1mt may aid diagnosis and therapy.

As previous studies have indicated that dysregulation of immune microenvironments is involved in the progression of gliomas with IDH1mt (19, 20), we first calculated the stromal and immune scores in glioma tissues with IDH1mt. We found that IDH1mt-glioma patients with high stromal/immune scores had lower survival rates than those with low stromal/immune scores. We then focused on the DEGs between the high and low stromal/immune score groups of IDH1mt-glioma. In total, 222 DEGs were identified, while 29 genes interacted with others in the PPI network and were significantly associated with prognosis. Then, *via* LASSO and Cox regression analyses, immune signatures were constructed using *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2*, and IDH1mt-glioma patients were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups. Risk models have been constructed for gliomas and exhibited remarkable prognostic value (21, 22). However, the prognostic value of these risk models for each subtype of glioma is limited, which restricts their clinical application.

HLA-DQA2 belongs to the HLA class II alpha chain family, and its encoded protein forms a heterodimer with a class II beta chain, contributing to the present antigenic peptides (23). Previous studies indicated that *HLA-DQA2* mutations were associated with the susceptibility of lung cancer (24). However, its role in glioma was still known limit. *HOXA3* encodes a DNA-



patients in CGGA. (G, H) The diagnostic value of risk model for one- and three-year survival in IDH1-mt glioma patients in CGGA. (I, J) Death cases in high- and low-risk score group IDH1mt-glioma patients in TCGA and CGGA (Green dots mean alive cases, red dots mean death cases).

binding transcription factor, which involved in the embryonic development through regulating genes of morphogenesis and cell differentiation (25). Upregulated HOXA3 was observed in series of cancers, including glioma (26). SAA2 encodes a member of the serum amyloid A family of apolipoproteins, which would elevated in the tissues with inflammation (27). SAA2 encoded protein plays an important role in HDL metabolism and cholesterol homeostasis (28). Previous studies indicated that high level of SAA2 was associated with the progression of inflammatory disease, including cancer (29). In glioma, high expression of SAA2 was associated with temozolomide resistance (30). In this study, we focused on the IDH1mt subtype glioma and found that the risk model constructed using *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* showed remarkable prognostic value for IDH1mt glioma in both

TCGA and CGGA cohorts but not for wtIDH1-glioma. Furthermore, this risk model may act as an independent prognostic factor for IDH1mt glioma. We suggest that this risk model constructed using immune-related genes may characteristically contribute to the assessment of the prognosis of IDH1mt glioma.

The tumor environment (TME) is a complex integrated system that contains cancer cells, immune cells, inflammatory cells, tumor-associated fibroblasts, and various cytokines (31, 32). Immune cells infiltrating the TME participate in the progression of glioma. For example, high number of cells are polarized to M2 phenotype in glioma tissues and have the potential to enhance the invasiveness of glioma cells by inducing angiogenesis, whereas M1 cells have the opposite effects (33). NK and CD8 T cells have the potential to induce



FIGURE 6

Verification of the applicability of the risk model in wtIDH1-glioma patients in TCGA and CGGA databases. (**A**, **B**) wtIDH1-glioma patients in TCGA and CGGA databases were divided into high- and low-risk score groups according to the median of risk scores. (**C**) The survival difference between high- and low-risk score group wtIDH1-glioma patients in TCGA. (**D**, **E**) The diagnostic value of risk model for one- and three-year survival in wtIDH1-glioma patients in TCGA. (**F**) The survival difference between high- and low-risk score group wtIDH1-glioma patients in CGGA. (**G**, **H**) The diagnostic value of the risk model for one- and three-year survival in wtIDH1-glioma patients in CGGA. (**I**, **J**) Death cases in high- and low-risk score group wtIDH1-glioma patients in TCGA and CGGA (Green dots mean alive cases, red dots mean death cases).

TABLE 2 Cox regression analysis of the immune signature.

Characteristics	HR (95% CI) Univariate analysis	P value Univariate analysis	HR (95% CI) Multivariate analysis	P value Multivariate analysis
Age	1.017 (1.001-1.034)	0.042	1.016 (1.000-1.033)	0.048
Gender				
0				
1	0.744 (0.534-1.036)	0.049	0.592 (0.421-0.834)	0.003
Grade				
2				
3	2.280 (1.532-3.394)	< 0.001	1.981 (1.316-2.982)	0.001
4	12.863 (8.264-20.022)	< 0.001	10.030 (6.184-16.268)	< 0.001
riskScore	1.382 (1.286-1.485)	<0.001	1.203 (1.113-1.300)	<0.001







glioma tissues in TCGA and CGGA were converted into 22 immune cell expression matrices. (C, D) Difference in immune cells between highand low-risk score group IDH1mt-glioma tissues in TCGA and CGGA.



**P < 0.01.

senescence in glioma cells (34). However, the immune signature of IDH1mt glioma is limited. In this study, we found that high levels of M1 and CD8 T cells were more prevalent in IDH1mt patients with high-risk scores in both the TCGA and CGGA cohorts. Regarding the cancer-killing effects of M1 and CD8 T

cells, lower survival rates were observed in IDH1mt-glioma patients with high-risk scores and high M1 and CD8 T cells infiltration. To explore the mechanism, TIDE was performed, and we found that IDH1mt-glioma patients with high-risk scores had high dysregulation scores and low exclusion scores.



FIGURE 11

Glioma patients with IDH1mt in high-risk group exhibit high responsiveness to ICB therapy. (A) Exclusion score of glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (B) Dysregulation score of glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (C) TIDE score of glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (D) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders and non-responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- and low-risk groups. (P) Responders among glioma patients with IDH1mt in high- among glioma patients wi

This evidence suggests that the TME of IDH1mt-glioma patients with high-risk scores may inhibit the functions of M1 and CD8 T cells and that they cannot exert their function, even though they show high infiltration.

ICB is a potential anti-tumor therapy that exhibits significant curative effects in a range of cancer types, including hepatocellular carcinoma (35) and breast cancer (36). By blocking immune checkpoints, deactivated cells can be reactivated to help the host kill cancer cells (37, 38). However, evidence of the benefits of ICB in gliomas with IDH1mt is limited. As evidenced that TME in IDH1mt-glioma patients in the high-risk score group can induce the inactivation of M1 cells and CD8 T cells, we furthered analyzed whether ICB had a high benefit for IDH1mt-glioma patients in the high-risk score group. Compared with those in the low-risk score group, the TIDE score and response rate of ICB were higher in the high-risk score group. This indicates that ICB may improve the prognosis of IDH1mt-glioma patients with high-risk scores.

However, there are some limitations in our present study. Compared with the samples in TCGA and CGGA, the samples from our research group is quite little. Furthermore, more experiments should be performed to determine how *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* affect the TME.

In conclusion, an immune signature constructed using *HLA-DQA2*, *HOXA3*, and *SAA2* exhibited significant and specific prognostic value for IDH1mt glioma, while the high-risk group classified by the signature had a high benefit from ICB. This immune signature may contribute to the diagnosis and treatment of IDH1-mt gliomas.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/ Supplementary Material.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

References

1. Yang K, Wu Z, Zhang H, Zhang N, Wu W, Wang Z, et al. Glioma targeted therapy: Insight into future of molecular approaches. *Mol Cancer* (2022) 21:39. doi: 10.1186/s12943-022-01513-z

Author contributions

PP, FP, and TC designed the experiments. ZZ, CH, and WR performed the analyses and parts of the experiments. SL, YY, and JZ performed experiments. All the authors have read and agreed to submit the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 82160665), the Project of Science and Technology Department of Guizhou Province [Qiankehe support (2021) general 089], Guizhou Provincial Health Commission project (No. gzwjkj2020-1-037), and the continuous support fund for excellent scientific research platform of colleges and universities in Guizhou Province (QJHRCTD [2015]51).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.1001381/full#supplementary-material

2. Bush NA, Chang SM, Berger MS. Current and future strategies for treatment of glioma. *Neurosurg Rev* (2017) 40:1-14. doi: 10.1007/s10143-016-0709-8

3. Poff A, Koutnik AP, Egan KM, Sahebjam S, D'Agostino D, Kumar NB. Targeting the warburg effect for cancer treatment: Ketogenic diets for management of glioma. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2019) 56:135–48. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2017.12.011

4. Gusyatiner O, Hegi ME. Glioma epigenetics: From subclassification to novel treatment options. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2018) 51:50-8. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.11.010

5. Huang LE. Friend or foe-IDH1 mutations in glioma 10 years on. Carcinogenesis (2019) 40:1299–307. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgz134

6. Mondesir J, Willekens C, Touat M, de Botton S. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations as novel therapeutic targets: Current perspectives. *J Blood Med* (2016) 7:171–80. doi: 10.2147/JBM.S70716

7. Li Y, Shan X, Wu Z, Wang Y, Ling M, Fan X. IDH1 mutation is associated with a higher preoperative seizure incidence in low-grade glioma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Seizure* (2018) 55:76–82. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2018.01.011

8. Pirozzi CJ, Yan H. The implications of IDH mutations for cancer development and therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2021) 18:645-61. doi: 10.1038/ s41571-021-00521-0

9. Blum A, Wang P, Zenklusen JC. SnapShot: TCGA-analyzed tumors. Cell (2018) 173:530. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.059

10. Wang Z, Lachmann A, Ma'ayan A. Mining data and metadata from the gene expression omnibus. *Biophys Rev* (2019) 11:103–10. doi: 10.1007/s12551-018-0490-8

11. Peng P, Cheng F, Dong Y, Chen Z, Zhang X, Guo D, et al. High expression of TXNDC11 indicated unfavorable prognosis of glioma. *Transl Cancer Res* (2021) 10:5040–51. doi: 10.21037/tcr-21-1326

12. Xu S, Wang Z, Ye J, Mei S, Zhang J. Identification of iron metabolismrelated genes as prognostic indicators for lower-grade glioma. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:729103. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.729103

13. Ren P, Wang J, Li L, Lin X, Wu G, Chen J, et al. Identification of key genes involved in the recurrence of glioblastoma multiforme using weighted gene coexpression network analysis and differential expression analysis. *Bioengineered* (2021) 12:3188–200. doi: 10.1080/21655979.2021.1943986

14. Park SY. Nomogram: An analogue tool to deliver digital knowledge. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg (2018) 155:1793. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2017.12.107

15. Zeng Z, Lei S, Wang J, Yang Y, Lan J, Tian Q, et al. A novel hypoxia-driven gene signature that can predict the prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Bioengineered* (2022) 13:12193-210. doi: 10.1080/21655979.2022.2073943

16. Gieryng A, Pszczołkowska D, Walentynowicz KA, Rajan WD, Kaminska B. Immune microenvironment of gliomas. *Lab Invest* (2017) 97:498-518. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2017.19

17. Sokratous G, Polyzoidis S, Ashkan K. Immune infiltration of tumor microenvironment following immunotherapy for glioblastoma multiforme. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2017) 13:2575–82. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1303582

18. Chen R, Smith-Cohn M, Cohen AL, Colman H. Glioma subclassifications and their clinical significance. *Neurotherapeutics* (2017) 14:284–97. doi: 10.1007/s13311-017-0519-x

19. Gonzalez N, Asad AS, Gómez Escalante J, Peña Agudelo JA, Nicola Candia AJ, García Fallit M, et al. Potential of IDH mutations as immunotherapeutic targets in gliomas: A review and meta-analysis. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* (2021) 25:1045–60. doi: 10.1080/14728222.2021.2017422

20. Leca J, Fortin J, Mak TW. Illuminating the cross-talk between tumor metabolism and immunity in IDH-mutated cancers. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* (2021) 68:181–5. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2020.11.013

21. Luo H, Tao C, Long X, Zhu X, Huang K. Early 2 factor (E2F) transcription factors contribute to malignant progression and have clinical prognostic value in lower-grade glioma. *Bioengineered* (2021) 12:7765–79. doi: 10.1080/21655979.2021.1985340

22. Feng S, Liu H, Dong X, Du P, Guo H, Pang Q. Identification and validation of an autophagy-related signature for predicting survival in lower-grade glioma. *Bioengineered* (2021) 12:9692–708. doi: 10.1080/21655979.2021.1985818

23. Doxiadis GG, Otting N, de Groot NG, Bontrop RE. Differential evolutionary MHC class II strategies in humans and rhesus macaques: relevance for biomedical studies. *Immunol Rev* (2001) 183:76–85. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065x.2001.1830106.x

24. Zhang R, Shen S, Wei Y, Zhu Y, Li Y, Chen J, et al. A Large-scale genomewide gene-gene interaction study of lung cancer susceptibility in europeans with a trans-ethnic validation in asians. *J Thorac Oncol* (2022) 30:974–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.jtho.2022.04.011

25. Kameda Y. Hoxa3 and signaling molecules involved in aortic arch patterning and remodeling. *Cell Tissue Res* (2009) 336(2):165–78. doi: 10.1007/s00441-009-0760-7

26. Xia H, Liu Y, Wang Z, Zhang W, Qi M, Qi B, et al. Long noncoding RNA HOTAIRM1 maintains tumorigenicity of glioblastoma stem-like cells through regulation of HOX gene expression. *Neurotherapeutics* (2020) 17(2):754–64. doi: 10.1007/s13311-019-00799-0

27. Sack GHJr., Serum Amyloid A. (SAA) proteins. Subcell Biochem (2020) 94:421-36. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-41769-7_17

28. Han CY, Tang C, Guevara ME, Wei H, Wietecha T, Shao B, et al. Serum amyloid a impairs the antiinflammatory properties of HDL. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126 (1):266–81. doi: 10.1172/JCI83475

29. Lee JY, Hall JA, Kroehling L, Wu L, Najar T, Nguyen HH, et al. Serum amyloid a proteins induce pathogenic Th17 cells and promote inflammatory disease. *Cell* (2020) 180(1):79–91.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.11.026

30. Adamski V, Hattermann K, Kubelt C, Cohrs G, Lucius R, Synowitz M, et al. Entry and exit of chemotherapeutically-promoted cellular dormancy in glioblastoma cells is differentially affected by the chemokines CXCL12, CXCL16, and CX3CL1. *Oncogene* (2020) 39(22):4421–35. doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-1302-8

31. Wong-Rolle A, Wei HK, Zhao C, Jin C. Unexpected guests in the tumor microenvironment: Microbiome in cancer. *Protein Cell* (2021) 12:426–35. doi: 10.1007/s13238-020-00813-8

32. Quail DF, Joyce JA. The microenvironmental landscape of brain tumors. *Cancer Cell* (2017) 31:326–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.02.009

33. Ishikawa E, Miyazaki T, Takano S, Akutsu H. Anti-angiogenic and macrophage-based therapeutic strategies for glioma immunotherapy. *Brain Tumor Pathol* (2021) 38:149–55. doi: 10.1007/s10014-021-00402-5

34. Lupo KB, Matosevic S. CD155 immunoregulation as a target for natural killer cell immunotherapy in glioblastoma. *J Hematol Oncol* (2020) 13:76. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00913-2

35. Lee YH, Tai D, Yip C, Choo SP, Chew V. Combinational immunotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: Radiotherapy, immune checkpoint blockade and beyond. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:568759. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.568759

36. Isaacs J, Anders C, McArthur H, Force J. Biomarkers of immune checkpoint blockade response in triple-negative breast cancer. *Curr Treat Options Oncol* (2021) 22:38. doi: 10.1007/s11864-021-00833-4

37. Kubli SP, Berger T, Araujo DV, Siu LL, Mak TW. Beyond immune checkpoint blockade: Emerging immunological strategies. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2021) 20:899–919. doi: 10.1038/s41573-021-00155-y

38. Liu X, Hogg GD, DeNardo DG. Rethinking immune checkpoint blockade: "Beyond the T cell". *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9:e001460. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001460

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY

Gaoda Ju, Beijing Cancer Hospital, China Guanning Shang, China Medical University, China Xiushen Li, Shenzhen University General Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Chujiao Hu 215984462@qq.com Houping Chen houpingchen@126.com Xiaobin Tian txb6@vip.163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 11 August 2022 ACCEPTED 23 August 2022 PUBLISHED 14 September 2022

CITATION

Pan R, Pan F, Zeng Z, Lei S, Yang Y, Yang Y, Hu C, Chen H and Tian X (2022) A novel immune cell signature for predicting osteosarcoma prognosis and guiding therapy. *Front. Immunol.* 13:1017120. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1017120

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Pan, Pan, Zeng, Lei, Yang, Yang, Hu, Chen and Tian. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A novel immune cell signature for predicting osteosarcoma prognosis and guiding therapy

Runsang Pan^{1†}, Feng Pan^{2†}, Zhirui Zeng^{1,3†}, Shan Lei^{1,3}, Yan Yang^{1,3}, Yushi Yang⁴, Chujiao Hu^{5,6*}, Houping Chen^{7*} and Xiaobin Tian^{1,8*}

¹School of Basic Medicine, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ²Department of Bone and Joint Surgery, Guizhou Orthopedics Hospital, Guiyang, China, ³Transformation Engineering Research Center of Chronic Disease Diagnosis and Treatment, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁴Department of Pathology, Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁵State Key Laboratory of Functions and Applications of Medicinal Plants, Guizhou Medical University, Guizhou Provincial Engineering Technology Research Center for Chemical Drug R&D, Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China, ⁷Department of Orthopedics, Guiyang Maternal and Child Health-Care Hospital, Guiyang, China, ⁸Department of Orthopedics, The Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, Guiyang, China

Dysregulation of immune cell infiltration in the tumor microenvironment contributes to the progression of osteosarcoma (OS). In the present study, we explored genes related to immune cell infiltration and constructed a risk model to predict the prognosis of and guide therapeutic strategies for OS. The gene expression profile of OS was obtained from TARGET and Gene Expression Omnibus, which were set as the discovery and verification cohorts. CIBERSORT and Kaplan survival analyses were used to analyze the effects of immune cells on the overall survival rates of OS in the discovery cohort. Differentially expressed gene (DEG) analysis and protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks were used to analyze genes associated with immune cell infiltration. Cox regression analysis was used to select key genes to construct a risk model that classified OS tissues into high- and low-risk groups. The prognostic value of the risk model for survival and metastasis was analyzed by Kaplan-Meier survival analyses, receiver operating characteristic curves, and immunohistochemical experiments. Immunological characteristics and response effects of immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) therapy in OS tissues were analyzed using the ESTIMATE and Tumor Immune Dysfunction and Exclusion algorithms, while sensitivity for both targeted and chemotherapy drugs was analyzed using the OncoPredict algorithm. It was demonstrated that the high infiltration of resting dendritic cells in OS tissues was associated with poor prognosis. A total of 225 DEGs were found between the high- and lowinfiltration groups of OS tissues, while 94 genes interacted with others. Through COX analyses, among these 94 genes, four genes (including AOC3, CDK6, COL22A1, and RNASE6) were used to construct a risk model. This risk model showed a remarkable prognostic value for survival rates and metastasis in both the discovery and verification cohorts. Even though a high microsatellite instability score was observed in the high-risk group, the ICB response in the high-risk group was poor. Furthermore, using OncoPredict, we found that the high-risk group OS tissues were resistant to seven drugs and sensitive to 25 drugs. Therefore, our study indicates that the resting dendritic cell signature constructed by AOC3, CDK6, COL22A1, and RNASE6 may contribute to predicting osteosarcoma prognosis and thus therapy guidance.

KEYWORDS

immune cell, signature, osteosarcoma, prognosis, riskscore

Introduction

As a primary malignant bone tumor, osteosarcoma (OS) is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths among children and adolescents (1). Currently, surgery and chemotherapy are the primary treatments for OS. Over the past 30 years, the 5-year survival rate of OS has increased to 70%. However, patients with OS still have a poor prognosis due to drug resistance, metastasis, or recurrence (2, 3). Therefore, an urgent need to identify novel biomarkers for OS that may contribute to therapy practices is apparent.

Previous studies have indicated that the dysregulation of immune cells plays a key role in the malignant activity of osteosarcoma, which also includes metastasis and drug resistance (4, 5). Sun et al. demonstrated lower infiltration of CD8-positive T cells in OS tissues and induced OS cell proliferation (6). Shao et al. demonstrated that M2 macrophages are enriched in primary osteosarcoma tissues, thus activating cancer stem cells in osteosarcoma tissues and inducing drug resistance (7). Therefore, immunotherapy (including adoptive cell therapy, vaccination, and checkpoint inhibitors) has become increasingly popular for cancer therapy in recent years (8). Anti-programmed cell death 1 (PD1) and anti-programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 (PDL1) blockade therapies have shown encouraging results in various preclinical studies (9, 10). However, differing from the success of preclinical studies, a randomized clinical trial conducted by Tawbi et al. in 2017 showed that only 5% of patients with OS had an objective response to pembrolizumab-a PD1 antibody. The authors indicated that different patients with OS have different immune microenvironment characteristics and, therefore, have different responses to immunotherapy (11). Hence, studying the immunological characteristics of OS tissues may contribute to improving immunotherapy efficiency.

In the present study, we aimed to explore genes associated with immune cell infiltration and constructed a risk model to predict the prognosis of OS and thus guide therapeutic strategies for OS. We found that high levels of resting dendritic cells were associated with poorer prognoses in OS, and the risk model (constructed using resting dendritic cell-associated genes) may have remarkable value in predicting OS prognosis and guiding therapy.

Materials and methods

Data acquisition and preprocessing

Gene expression in OS tissues was acquired from the Therapeutically Applicable Research to Generate Effective Treatments (TARGET; https://ocg.cancer.gov/programs/target) database and Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO; accession number: GSE21257; https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gds). For the gene expression profile in TARGET, a total of 85 tissues provided by patients had fully equipped clinical messages, including that of age, sex, and metastasis status. The gene expression of GSE21257 was supplied by Buddingh et al. (12), and 53 tissues provided by patients had fully equipped clinical messages. Prior to the analyses, we translated the probe name into gene symbols and performed batch normalization and centralization.

Immune cell analysis

CIBERSORT is an R package that calculates cell fractions from bulk tissue gene expression profiles (13). In the present study, we used CIBERSORT to calculate the number of 22 immune cells in OS. The relationship between immune cells and survival rates of patients with OS was analyzed using Kaplan–Meier survival analyses (log-rank), and p < 0.05 was set as the threshold of significance.

DEG analysis

OS tissues were divided into high- and low-infiltration groups, according to the median level. Differentially expressed genes (DEGs), between the high- and low-infiltration groups, were analyzed using the Limma package (version 3.15), while p < 0.05, and $|\log$ fold change (FC) $| \ge 1$ were set as thresholds to select DEGs.

Protein-protein interaction (PPI) network construction and enrichment analysis

DEGs were imported into STRING (https://cn.string-db.org/), with a reliability>0.4, to establish an initial network. In this network, genes with no interactions were removed. The adjusted initial network was visualized using the Cytoscape software (version 3.6.1). Genes in the network were subjected to enrichment analysis. Analyses of biological process (BP), molecular function (MF), and KEGG pathway enrichment were performed using the DAVID database (https://david.ncifcrf.gov/tools.jsp). Terms with a p value of <0.05 were regarded as significant, and the top five terms were visualized.

Construction and verification of the risk model

Gene expression and survival data of patients with OS were imported and used to conduct a univariate COX analysis. Then, survival-associated genes (p < 0.05) were subjected to least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) COX analysis to select more important survival-associated genes, by adding appropriate penalties (lambda). Finally (utilizing the Akaike information criterion), an optimal prognostic risk model was built, using a multivariate Cox regression analysis. The prognostic value for survival in the discovery and verification cohorts was analyzed using Kaplan–Meier survival analyses and receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves. p < 0.05 was defined as the threshold for significance in Kaplan survival analyses, while p < 0.05 and the area under the curve (AUC) being \geq 0.65 were set as cutoffs for ROC curve analyses.

Tissue collection and immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis

Written informed consent was obtained from all patients enrolled in the study. A total of 44 OS tissues were collected from the Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University (Guiyang, China), with the approval of the Human Ethics Committee of Guizhou Medical University. Of the 44 OS tissues, 18 tissues were obtained from patients with metastasis at diagnosis, while 26 tissues were obtained from patients without metastasis at diagnosis. These OS tissues were sliced into 4-µm sections and embedded in paraffin, prior to performing IHC experiments. The paraffin-embedded slices were dried at 60°C, deparaffinized by xylene, and soaked in 100%, 90%, 80%, and 70% ethyl alcohol for 10 min (in that order). Antigen retrieval was performed at 120°C in a citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 10 minutes. After washing with PBS twice, the slices were incubated with 0.3% H₂O₂ and 5% bovine serum albumin reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) for 30 min, to prevent subsequent non-specific binding. The primary antibodies used were AOC3 (1:500; Cat no. 668341-Ig, Proteintech, Wuhan, China), CDK6 (1:200; Cat no. 14052-1-AP, Proteintech, Wuhan, China), COL22A1 (1:250; Cat no. ab121846; Abcam, USA), and RNASE6 (1:100; Cat. ab121111; Abcam, USA), for 14 hours at 4°C. After washing twice with PBS, secondary antibodies were added and incubated for 2 h at room temperature (20°C). Finally, DAB reagent was used to visualize the antigen-antibody complex. The IHC score was determined by the product of the staining area (\leq 5%, 0; 6%– 25%, 1; 26%–50%, 2; 51%–75%, 3; >75%, 4) and depth (none, 0; slight, 1; moderate, 2; strong, 3).

Construction of the nomogram

A nomogram is a way to visualize the results of logistic or Cox regression analyses. According to the size of the regression coefficient of all independent variables to develop a scoring standard, each value level of each independent variable is given a score. For each patient, a total score can be calculated, and the probability of the outcome time of each patient can then be calculated by the conversion function between the score and probability of the outcome (14). Information on age, sex, risk score, and metastasis status were imported and used to perform univariate and multivariate COX analyses, where these analyses were then used to construct the nomogram. The efficiency of the nomogram was set to 1 year, 3 years, and 5 years.

Tumor immune dysfunction and exclusion (TIDE) analysis

The TIDE algorithm, developed by Jiang *et al.*, is a computational framework developed to evaluate the potential of tumor immune escape from the gene expression profiles of cancer samples (15). Therefore, the gene expression of OS tissues was downloaded into the TIDE online database (http://tide.dfci. harvard.edu/) to calculate various immune parameters, including microsatellite instability (MSI) score, PDL1 expression, and myeloid-derived suppressor cell (MDSC) levels, and to predict the response rate of immune checkpoint blockade (ICB). The differences in MSI scores between high- and low-risk scores were analyzed using unpaired *t*-tests, while the relationship between PDL1 expression, MDSC levels, and risk scores was analyzed by Pearson co-expression analyses. p < 0.05 was set as the level of significance.

OncoPredict for drug sensitivity analysis

The OncoPredict R package was developed by Maeser et al. (16) to predict *in vivo* drug responses in cancer patients. OncoPredict fits the gene expression profile of tissues to the half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) of the cancer cell

lines to drugs from Genomics of Drug Sensitivity in Cancer (GDSC; https://www.cancerrxgene.org/) and the gene expression profile of cancer lines from the Broad Institute Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE; https://portals.broadinstitute.org/ccle_legacy/home). A total of 198 drugs were calculated, and the sensitivity of the drugs (between the high- and low-risk groups) was analyzed using unpaired *t*-tests. p < 0.05 was set as the threshold for significance.

Results

High infiltration of resting dendritic cells was related to poorer prognoses in OS

Previous studies have indicated that dysregulated infiltration of immune cells is associated with the prognosis of patients with OS. We first transformed the gene expression matrix of osteosarcoma tissues in TARGET into the expression levels of 22 types of immune cells, using CIBERSORT (Figure 1A). We found that, among the 22 types of immune cells, a high infiltration of resting dendritic cells was associated with a poorer prognosis in patients with OS (HR = 2.18, 95% confidence interval [CI] = 1.01–4.71; Figure 1B).

Genetic characterization of OS tissues with high infiltration of resting dendritic cells

We then divided the OS tissues into high- and low-infiltration groups, according to the median levels of resting dendritic cells within these tissues. DEG analysis was performed, and a total of 175 upregulated genes and 50 downregulated genes were observed in OS tissues with a high infiltration of resting dendritic cells versus those with a low infiltration of resting dendritic cells (Figures 2A, B). We then performed a PPI network analysis and found that 94 of these genes were related to others (Figure 2C). Therefore, these 94 genes were set as resting dendritic cellassociated genes, and we focused on them. GO analysis revealed that these 94 genes were enriched in "ossification" (BP term; Figure 2D), "extracellular matrix organization" (BP term; Figure 2D), "extracellular structure organization" (BP term; Figure 2D), "tissue remodeling" (BP term; Figure 2D), "bone mineralization" (BP term; Figure 2D), "matrix structural constituent" (MF term; Figure 2E), "tyrosine kinase activity" (MF term; Figure 2E), "protein kinase activity" (MF term; Figure 2E), "peptide binding" (MF term; Figure 2E), and "metalloendopeptidase activity" (MF term; Figure 2E). KEGG analysis indicated that these genes were enriched in the MAPK, PI3K-AKT, cell adhesion, Rap1, and Ras pathways (Figure 2F).

Construction of risk model using resting dendritic cell-associated genes

First, univariate COX analyses were performed for these 94 resting dendritic cell-associated genes to calculate their prognostic value. The expression of 14 genes (SOST, MCAM, COL22A1, AOC3, CYFIP2, ISM1, PYGM, DKK1, BMP2, BAMBI, SCL36A2, EBF1, FAT3, and CYGB) was associated with a shorter overall survival rate of OS, while the expression of seven genes (CDK6, FAP, C1R, EGFR, SLC38A4, FBLN1, and RNASE6) was associated with an increased overall survival rate of OS (Figure 3A). LASSO COX analysis was then conducted, and seven genes of them (including AOC3, CDK6, COL22A1, EBF1, MCAM, RNASE6, and SLC38A4) were obtained as more important genes (Figures 3B, C). Moreover, by performing multivariate COX analyses for these seven more important genes, four genes (AOC3, CDK6, COL22A1, and RNASE6) were used to construct the risk model (risk score =



FIGURE 1

High infiltration of resting dendritic cells was related to poorer prognoses in OS. (A) The gene expression matrix of osteosarcoma tissues in TARGET was transformed into expression levels of 22 immune cells, through CIBERSORT. (B) The effects of the 22 immune cells on the survival rate of OS were analyzed *via* Kaplan survival analysis.



0.307745*COL22A1 expression + 0.43972*AOC3 expression - 0.44907*CDK6 expression - 0.67038*RNASE6 expression; Figure 3D). CDK6, COL22A1, and RNASE6 also had prognostic value in TARGET patients with OS, as per multivariate COX analyses (Figure 3D).

The risk model exhibited high prognostic value in the TARGET discovery cohort

The prognostic value of the risk model was first determined in the TARGET discovery cohort. Therefore, OS tissues in

TARGET were divided into high- and low-risk groups, according to median risk scores (Figure 4A). A shorter overall survival rate was observed in the high-risk group than in the low-risk group (Figure 4B). ROC analysis demonstrated that the diagnostic value (AUC) of this risk model for the 1-year, 3-year, and 5-year survival rates of patients with OS in the TARGET cohort were 0.837, 0.805, and 0.842, respectively (Figures 4C–E). Moreover, high-risk groups had a higher proportion of deaths (Figure 4F). Furthermore, we found that the expression of COL22A1 and AOC3 was increased in high-risk score groups, whereas the expression of CDK6 and RNASE6 was reduced in high-risk score groups (Figure 4G). Taken together, these results



indicate that the risk model exhibited a high prognostic value in the TARGET discovery cohort.

The risk model exhibited high prognostic value in the GSE21257 verification cohort

The gene expression profile of GSE21257 was set as the verification cohort, and the tissues were divided into high- and low-risk groups according to the medium-risk score (Figure 5A). The results indicated that a lower overall survival rate was observed in the high-risk group than in the low-risk group (Figure 5B). ROC analysis demonstrated that the diagnostic value (AUC) of this risk model for the 1-year, 3-year, and 5-year survival rates of patients with OS in GSE21257 were 0.745, 0.681, and 0.703, respectively (Figures 5C–E). Moreover, the results indicated that the high-risk groups also had a higher proportion

of deaths (Figure 5F). Furthermore, we found that the expression of COL22A1 and AOC3 was also elevated in the high-risk group, whereas CDK6 and RNASE6 expression was decreased in the high-risk group (Figure 5G). In conclusion, the risk model exhibited high prognostic value in the verification cohort GSE21257.

The risk model had the potential to predict metastasis in patients with OS

More metastasis cases (TARGET, 35.7% and GSE21257, 87.5%) were found in the high-risk group than in the low-risk group (TARGET, 13.9% and GSE21257, 52.6%; Figure 6A). ROC analyses indicated that the diagnostic values (AUC) of the risk model for predicting metastasis were 0.741 and 0.720 for OS patients in TARGET and GSE21257, respectively (Figure 6B).



Moreover, we detected the expression of AOC3, COL22A1, CDK6, and RNASE6 in OS tissues obtained from patients with metastasis (n = 18) versus those without metastasis (n = 26), using IHC. We found that the protein levels of AOC3 and COL22A1 were increased, and RNASE6 was decreased in OS tissues from patients with metastasis (Figures 6C, D). These results indicate that the risk model has the potential to predict metastasis in patients with OS.

The risk model can act as an independent factor for predicting OS patient prognosis

Information on age, sex, metastasis status, and risk score of all patients with OS in the TARGET and GSE21257 groups was used to conduct Cox regression analyses. Risk score and metastasis status could act as independent factors for predicting OS patient prognosis (Table 1). To further help in predicting OS patient prognosis, a nomogram was constructed (Figure 7A), which showed high prognostic value for the 1-year, 3-year, and 5-year survival rates (Figure 7B).

The high-risk group patients with OS exhibited resistance to ICB

We then analyzed immunological characteristics of the highand low-risk OS tissues. We found that microsatellite instability (MSI) scores were higher in the high-risk group than in the lowrisk group (Figure 8A). The risk score was negatively associated with PDL1 expression (R = -0.37, p < 0.01; Figure 8B) and positively associated with MDSC cell levels (R = 0.24, p < 0.01; Figure 8C). Moreover, by performing TIDE analyses, we found that both exclusion and TIDE scores were higher in the high-risk groups of patients with OS than in the low-risk groups, while dysregulation scores were reduced in the high-risk groups (Figure 8D). Moreover, the proportion of non-responders to ICB therapy was higher in the high-risk group (70.7%) than in



low risk group (52.5%; Figure 8E). These results indicate that the high-risk group of patients with OS exhibited resistance to ICB.

Selecting suitable drugs for the high-risk group of patients with OS, *via* OncoPredict

To explore suitable drugs for patients with high-risk scores, we transformed the gene expression of OS tissues in the TARGET and GSE21257 groups into a drug sensitivity matrix, using the OncoPredict algorithm (Figure 9A). All scores for each sample are exhibited in Supplementary Table 1. OS tissues from high-risk group patients exhibited greater resistance to seven drugs, including those of AZD8055 (targeting drug, mTOR inhibitor), XAV939 (targeting drug, tankyrase inhibitor), AZD1332 (targeting drug, receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor), Entospletinib (targeting drug, Syk inhibitor), ERK 2440 (targeting drug, ERK inhibitor), AZ960 (targeting drug, JAK inhibitor), and Uprosertib (targeting drug, AKT inhibitor), than those from low-risk group patients (Figure 9B). OS tissues from high-risk group patients were more sensitive to 25 drugs, including those of ABT737 (targeting drug, Bcl-2 inhibitor), BMS-345541 (targeting drug, IKK inhibitor), Navitoclax (targeting drug, Bcl-2 inhibitor), TAF1 5496 (targeting drug, TAF1 inhibitor), I-BRD9 (targeting drug, BRD9 inhibitor), Linsitinib (targeting drug, IGF-1R inhibitor), Vorinostat (targeting drug, HDAC inhibitor), Nilotinib (targeting drug, Bcr-abl inhibitor), Venetoclax (targeting drug, Bcl-2 inhibitor), VE-822 (targeting drug, ATM inhibitor), AGI-5198 (targeting drug, IDH inhibitor), Osimertinib (targeting drug, EGFR inhibitor), Daporinad (targeting drug, NMPRTase inhibitor), Tamoxifen (Chemotherapy drug), VE821 (targeting drug, ATM inhibitor), UMI-77 (targeting drug, Bcl-2 inhibitor), Dihydrorotenone (mitochondrial inhibitor), KRAS (G12C) Inhibitor-12 (targeting drug, KRAS inhibitor), AZD6738 (targeting drug, ATR inhibitor), WEHI-539 (targeting drug, BCL-XL inhibitor), Sabutoclax (targeting drug, Bcl-2



inhibitor), Lapatinib (targeting drug, EGFR/HER2 inhibitor), AZD5991 (targeting drug, MCL-1 inhibitor), LY2109761 (targeting drug, TGF- β Receptor I/II inhibitor) and NVP-ADW742 (targeting drug, IGF1R inhibitor; Figure 9C) than were OS tissues from low-risk group patients. We believe that these drugs may help in the treatment of OS patients with high-risk scores.

Discussion

The effectiveness of immunotherapy in the treatment of several cancers has gained recognition in recent years. Similarly, immunotherapy is expected to be widely used in the treatment of OS. However, compared with its success in preclinical studies, the clinical effectiveness of immunotherapy is limited by

TABLE 1 Univariate and multivariate COX regression analyses for age, gender, risk score, and metastasis status in OS tissues.

Characteristics	Total (N)	HR(95% CI) Univariate analysis	P value Univariate analysis	HR(95% CI) Multivariate analysis	P value Multivariate analysis
Age	138	1.009 (0.979-1.040)	0.566	-	-
Gender	138	-	0.955	-	-
Female	56	Reference	-	-	-
Male	82	0.970 (0.545-1.727)	0.955	-	-
Metastasis	138	-	< 0.001	-	-
Yes	56	Reference	-	-	-
No	82	0.173 (0.093-0.323)	< 0.001	0.200 (0.105-0.379)	< 0.001
riskScore	138	1.223 (1.146-1.305)	< 0.001	1.172 (1.099-1.250)	< 0.001





different immune microenvironments in OS tissues (17). For example, Groisberget et al. demonstrated that only 26% of patients with OS yielded a partial response or experienced stable disease progression after immunotherapy (18). Regarding clinical traits assessed by Ullenhag et al., the effective rate was 30% (19). Therefore, the identification of genes associated with the immune characteristics of OS may contribute to improved diagnosis of and therapy for OS.

In the present study, we first calculated the number of immune cells in OS tissues. We found that high levels of resting dendritic cells were associated with poorer prognoses. Being the most typical type of antigen-presenting cell, dendritic cells bridge the gap between innate and adaptive immunity, which also includes antitumor T-cell activation. Dendritic cells are activated during immunoreaction. Activated dendritic cells recognize and process immune signals and present antigens to T cells, thus activating immunological cascades (20, 21). Therefore, high levels of resting dendritic cells indicate lower levels of immunoreaction. Consistent with previous studies, our results indicate that activated dendritic cells may contribute to improving OS survival rate.

We then analyzed gene expression differences between the high and low dendritic cell group OS tissues. A total of 94 key dendritic cell-associated genes were identified, and four genes associated with the survival of patients with OS (including AOC3, CDK6, COL22A1, and RNASE6) were used to construct the risk model. AOC3 encodes a cell adhesion protein that mediates lymphocyte binding to peripheral lymph node vascular endothelial cells during lymphocyte extravasation and recirculation, in an L-selectin-



independent fashion (22). AOC3 is dysregulated in various cancers, with contradictory roles. In colorectal cancer, AOC3 expression is reduced in both in situ tissues and serum, and reduced AOC3 expression is related to poorer prognoses (23). In breast cancer, AOC3 is highly expressed and is positively associated with lymphatic invasion and distant metastasis (24). CDK6 is a serine/ threonine-protein kinase involved in the control of the cell cycle and cell differentiation, and has the potential to promote G1/S transition (25). Oncogenic effects have been widely reported in various cancer types, including those of OS. COL22A1 encodes a collagen family member that is thought to be involved in stabilizing myotendinous junctions and strengthening skeletal muscle attachment (26). High expression of COL22A1 was observed in head and neck cancer, and was correlated with a decrease in disease-free survival (27). RNASE6 is a secreted protein with broad-spectrum antimicrobial activity against pathogenic bacteria (28). However, the role of RNASE6 in

cancer is unclear. In the present study, we found that the risk model constructed by AOC3, CDK6, COL22A1, and RNASE6 showed distinct prognostic value for OS in both TARGET and GSE21257 groups, as well as for predicting metastasis. Furthermore, this risk model was found to be an independent factor for OS. We believe that this risk model may aid in OS diagnosis.

Immunological characteristics, including tumor mutation burden (TMB) and the MSI score of tumor tissues, can indicate the therapeutic effects of ICB (29, 30). Previous studies have indicated that high TMB and MSI in tumor tissues indicate beneficial effects after ICB (31). To analyze the benefit for patients with OS, we analyzed the MSI score in the high- and low-risk groups. Our results indicated that the MSI score was higher in the high-risk group, suggesting that the highrisk group patients had a greater benefit from ICB. However, after calculating other parameters, we found that the risk score

was negatively associated with PDL1 expression and positively associated with MDSC levels. High exclusion and TIDE scores were observed in the OS tissues of the high-risk group, while the dysregulation score was reduced. These parameters inversely indicated that the high-risk group had a lesser benefit from ICB, while the low-risk group had a greater benefit from ICB. Combining these parameters, we speculated that, although high MSI scores would induce immune responses, the lack of activated dendritic cells ultimately prevents T cells from being activated to effectively kill tumors. Similarly, because this type of immune escape was not due to PDL1 overexpression in OS tumors in the high-risk group, some ICB strategies for targeting surface antigens of T cells were less beneficial. This supposition was consistent with some evidence from clinical traits, where supplementation of activated dendritic cells combined with ICB was more beneficial than ICB alone, in the context of OS (32, 33). Based on this evidence, we consider that the risk model provided in the present study has remarkable value in guiding ICB. Finally, we performed OncoPredict and found that the high-risk group OS tissues were resistant to seven drugs and sensitive to 25 drugs. This evidence may also contribute to guiding chemotherapy and targeted therapies for OS.

Our study has some limitations. First, whether and how the four genes (AOC3, COL22A1, CDK6, and RNASE6) affect the activation of dendritic cells has not been studied. The sensitivity of OS tissues to chemotherapy and targeted drugs also needs to be verified.

In conclusion, the signature constructed by four key genes associated with the level of dendritic cells (AOC3, COL22A1, CDK6, and RNASE6) had remarkable prognostic value for predicting prognosis and metastasis in patients with OS, as well as guiding ICB, chemotherapy, and targeted chemotherapy for OS.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s), and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

CH, HC, and XT designed the experiments in this study. RP, FP, and ZZ performed the analyses and experiments. SL, YSY, and YY performed these experiments. All the authors have read and agreed to submit the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

The present study was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82060491, 82160665 and 82160543), the Guiyang High-level Innovative Youth Health Talents Training Program Project (2020 Zhuweijian Technology Contract No. 018), the Department of Science and Technology of Guizhou ([2022]232), the Basic Research Program of the Guizhou Province Technology Bureau (No. ZK [2021] General-568), the Family Planning Commission of Guizhou Province (gzwkj2021-442), and The 2021 National Foundation Cultivation Program of Guizhou Medical University (20NSP080).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 1017120/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1 Drug score of 198 drugs in each sample.

References

1. Ritter J, Bielack SS. Osteosarcoma. Ann Oncol (2010) 21(Suppl 7):vii320–5. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdq276

2. Benjamin RS. Adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy for osteosarcoma: A historical perspective. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2020) 1257:1–10. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-43032-0_1

3. Ferrari S, Serra M. An update on chemotherapy for osteosarcoma. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* (2015) 16:2727–36. doi: 10.1517/14656566.2015.1102226

4. Cascini C, Chiodoni C. The immune landscape of osteosarcoma: Implications for prognosis and treatment response. *Cells* (2021) 10:1668. doi: 10.3390/ cells10071668

5. Huang Q, Liang X, Ren T, Huang Y, Zhang H, Yu Y, et al. The role of tumorassociated macrophages in osteosarcoma progression - therapeutic implications. *Cell Oncol (Dordr)* (2021) 44:525–39. doi: 10.1007/s13402-021-00598-w

6. Sun CY, Zhang Z, Tao L, Xu FF, Li HY, Zhang HY, et al. T Cell exhaustion drives osteosarcoma pathogenesis. *Ann Transl Med* (2021) 9:1447. doi: 10.21037/ atm-21-3928

7. Shao XJ, Xiang SF, Chen YQ, Zhang N, Cao J, Zhu H, et al. Inhibition of M2like macrophages by all-trans retinoic acid prevents cancer initiation and stemness in osteosarcoma cells. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2019) 40:1343–50. doi: 10.1038/s41401-019-0262-4

8. Abbott M, Ustoyev Y. Cancer and the immune system: The history and background of immunotherapy. *Semin Oncol Nurs* (2019) 35:150923. doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2019.08.002

9. Liu X, He S, Wu H, Xie H, Zhang T, Deng Z. Blocking the PD-1/PD-L1 axis enhanced cisplatin chemotherapy in osteosarcoma in vitro and *in vivo*. *Environ Health Prev Med* (2019) 24:79. doi: 10.1186/s12199-019-0835-3

10. Lussier DM, O'Neill L, Nieves LM, McAfee MS, Holechek SA, Collins AW, et al. Enhanced T-cell immunity to osteosarcoma through antibody blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 interactions. *J Immunother* (2015) 38:96–106. doi: 10.1097/CJL0000000000065

11. Tawbi HA, Burgess M, Bolejack V, Van Tine BA, Schuetze SM, Hu J, et al. Pembrolizumab in advanced soft-tissue sarcoma and bone sarcoma (SARC028): A multicentre, two-cohort, single-arm, open-label, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2017) 18:1493–501. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30624-1

12. Buddingh EP, Kuijjer ML, Duim RA, Bürger H, Agelopoulos K, Myklebost O, et al. Tumor-infiltrating macrophages are associated with metastasis suppression in high-grade osteosarcoma: A rationale for treatment with macrophage activating agents. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:2110–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2047

13. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with CIBERSORT. *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1711:243–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1_12

14. Park SY. Nomogram: An analogue tool to deliver digital knowledge. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg (2018) 155:1793. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2017.12.107

15. Jiang P, Gu S, Pan D, Fu J, Sahu A, Hu X, et al. Signatures of T cell dysfunction and exclusion predict cancer immunotherapy response. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:1550–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0136-1

16. Maeser D, Gruener RF, Huang RS. oncoPredict: An r package for predicting *in vivo* or cancer patient drug response and biomarkers from cell line screening data. *Brief Bioinform* (2021) 22:bbab260. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbab260

17. Corre I, Verrecchia F, Crenn V, Redini F, Trichet V. The osteosarcoma microenvironment: A complex but targetable ecosystem. *Cells* (2020) 9:976. doi: 10.3390/cells9040976

18. Groisberg R, Hong DS, Behrang A, Hess K, Janku F, Piha-Paul S, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of patients with advanced sarcoma enrolled in early phase immunotherapy trials. *J Immunother Cancer* (2017) 5:100. doi: 10.1186/ s40425-017-0301-y

19. Ullenhag GJ, Spendlove I, Watson NF, Kallmeyer C, Pritchard-Jones K, Durrant LG. T-Cell responses in osteosarcoma patients vaccinated with an antiidiotypic antibody, 105AD7, mimicking CD55. *Clin Immunol* (2008) 128:148–54. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2008.03.512

20. Wculek SK, Cueto FJ, Mujal AM, Melero I, Krummel MF, Sancho D. Dendritic cells in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2020) 20:7–24. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0210-z

21. Gardner A, Ruffell B. Dendritic cells and cancer immunity. *Trends Immunol* (2016) 37:855–65. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.09.006

22. Boyer DS, Rippmann JF, Ehrlich MS, Bakker RA, Chong V, Nguyen QD. Amine oxidase copper-containing 3 (AOC3) inhibition: A potential novel target for the management of diabetic retinopathy. *Int J Retina Vitreous* (2021) 7:30. doi: 10.1186/s40942-021-00288-7

23. Ward ST, Weston CJ, Shepherd EL, Hejmadi R, Ismail T, Adams DH. Evaluation of serum and tissue levels of VAP-1 in colorectal cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2016) 16:154. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2183-7

24. Lai YC, Chang SJ, Kostoro J, Kwan AL, Chai CY. Vascular adhesion protein-1 as indicator of breast cancer tumor aggressiveness and invasiveness. *APMIS* (2018) 126:755–61. doi: 10.1111/apm.12885

25. Nebenfuehr S, Kollmann K, Sexl V. The role of CDK6 in cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2020) 147:2988–95. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33054

26. Ton QV, Leino D, Mowery SA, Bredemeier NO, Lafontant PJ, Lubert A, et al. Collagen COL22A1 maintains vascular stability and mutations in COL22A1 are potentially associated with intracranial aneurysms. *Dis Model Mech* (2018) 11: dmm033654. doi: 10.1242/dmm.033654

27. Misawa K, Kanazawa T, Imai A, Endo S, Mochizuki D, Fukushima H, et al. Prognostic value of type XXII and XXIV collagen mRNA expression in head and neck cancer patients. *Mol Clin Oncol* (2014) 2:285–91. doi: 10.3892/mco.2013.233

28. Seto M, Weiner RL, Dumitrescu L, Mahoney ER, Hansen SL, Janve V, et al. RNASE6 is a novel modifier of APOE-64 effects on cognition. *Neurobiol Aging* (2022) 118:66–76. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2022.06.011

29. Lichtenstern CR, Ngu RK, Shalapour S, Karin M. Immunotherapy, inflammation and colorectal cancer. *Cells* (2020) 9:618. doi: 10.3390/cells9030618

30. Jiang M, Jia K, Wang L, Li W, Chen B, Liu Y, et al. Alterations of DNA damage response pathway: Biomarker and therapeutic strategy for cancer immunotherapy. *Acta Pharm Sin B* (2021) 11:2983–94. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2021.01.003

31. Lin A, Zhang J, Luo P. Crosstalk between the MSI status and tumor microenvironment in colorectal cancer. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:2039. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.02039

32. Miwa S, Nishida H, Tanzawa Y, Takeuchi A, Hayashi K, Yamamoto N, et al. Phase 1/2 study of immunotherapy with dendritic cells pulsed with autologous tumor lysate in patients with refractory bone and soft tissue sarcoma. *Cancer* (2017) 123:1576–84. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30606

33. Krishnadas DK, Shusterman S, Bai F, Diller L, Sullivan JE, Cheerva AC, et al. A phase I trial combining decitabine/dendritic cell vaccine targeting MAGE-A1, MAGE-A3 and NY-ESO-1 for children with relapsed or therapy-refractory neuroblastoma and sarcoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2015) 64:1251–60. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1731-3

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jian Song, University Hospital Münster, Germany

REVIEWED BY Jing Guo, Stanford University, United States Fan Yun, Zhejiang Cancer Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Mei Dong 13804567370@163.com Ning Shi 644607165@qq.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 16 July 2022 ACCEPTED 31 August 2022 PUBLISHED 15 September 2022

CITATION

Jiang S, Geng S, Luo X, Zhang C, Yu Y, Cheng M, Zhang S, Shi N and Dong M (2022) Biomarkers of related driver genes predict anti-tumor efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Front. Immunol.* 13:995785. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.995785

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jiang, Geng, Luo, Zhang, Yu, Cheng, Zhang, Shi and Dong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Biomarkers of related driver genes predict anti-tumor efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors

Shuai Jiang^{1†}, Shuai Geng^{2†}, Xinyu Luo^{1†}, Can Zhang³, Yang Yu¹, Mengfei Cheng¹, Shuo Zhang¹, Ning Shi^{2*} and Mei Dong^{1*}

¹Department of Pharmacy, Harbin Medical University Cancer Hospital, Harbin, China, ²Department of Pharmacy, Strategic Support Force Medical Center, Beijing, China, ³Department of Ultrasound Diagnosis, Strategic Support Force Medical Center, Beijing, China

Cancer is a disease with high morbidity and mortality in the world. In the past, the main treatment methods for cancer patients were surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy. However, with early treatment, the recurrence rate of cancer is higher, and the drug resistance of cancer cells is faster. In recent years, with the discovery of immune escape mechanism of cancer cells, Immunotherapy, especially Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors (ICIs), has made a breakthrough in the treatment of solid tumors, significantly prolonging the overall survival time and disease-free progression in some solid tumors, and its clinical benefits are more prominent than those of traditional anti-tumor drugs, which has become the hope of cancer patients after the failure of multi-line therapy. More and more studies have shown that there is a correlation between cancer driving genes and the clinical benefits of ICIs treatment, and the therapeutic effects and adverse reactions of ICIs can be predicted by the status of driving genes. Therefore, screening potential biomarkers of people who may benefit from immunotherapy in order to maximize the therapeutic benefits is a top priority. This review systematically summarizes the cancer driving genes that may affect the clinical benefits of immune checkpoint inhibitors, and provides accurate scientific basis for clinical practice.

KEYWORDS

cancer, immune checkpoint inhibitor, biomarker, overall survival, progress free survival

Introduction

Tumor immunotherapy is a breakthrough research direction in the field of cancer therapy. It mainly inhibits and kills tumor cells by affecting the body's immune system and enhancing anti-tumor immunity. This therapy has greatly changed the traditional tumor treatment strategy and brought more survival opportunities for patients (1, 2).

Immune checkpoint inhibitors mainly include antibodies targeting cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and antibodies targeting programmed cell death receptor-1 and its ligand (PD-1/PD-L1). CTLA-4 is a transmembrane protein, belonging to the immunoglobulin superfamily, which consists of extracellular domain, transmembrane domain and intracellular domain, and its extracellular domain is the receptor of B7 molecule (3). CTLA-4 competed with CD28 for binding to B7 ligand. Both CTLA-4 and CD28 molecules on the surface of T cells could bind to B7 ligand on the surface of antigen-presenting cell (APC), and the binding affinity of CTLA-4 was stronger than that of CD28. The binding of CD28 and B7 ligand produces synergistic stimulation signal, which can stimulate the activation of T cells and then produce the effect of killing tumor cells (4, 5). Contrary to the function of CD28, CTLA4 combined with B7 molecule to produce inhibitory signal, which blocked the effect of CD28 molecule on T cells, thus inhibiting the proliferation and activation of T cells (6). Programmed death receptor 1 (PD-1) is an important immunosuppressive molecule in CD28 superfamily, encoded by human PDCD1 gene, and its expression is enhanced under the stimulation of tumor necrosis factor. The main ligands of PD-1 are programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) and PD-L2 (7). Immune checkpoint inhibitors can accurately occupy PD-1 or PD-L1 molecules, produce steric hindrance effect, hinder the binding of PD-1 and PD-L1, and restore immune responses inhibited by PD-1 pathway, including normal anti-tumor immune responses (8, 9). However, studies have shown that the inhibition rate of ICIs on solid tumors is only 10-40% (10). The results of this study show that a large number of patients do not benefit from immunotherapy. In addition, neo-antigen can also be recognized by T cells and cause immune response of tumor clearance. For example, the higher the tumor mutation burden (TMB), the neo-antigen, the higher the tumor immunogenicity and the higher the anti-tumor response of T cells. Therefore, there are individual differences in tumor types, ICIs types, susceptibility and new antigenicity of tumors, and biomarkers related to driving genes that determine the difference of clinical benefits of ICIs are the key to predict the curative effect of ICIs (11).

Driver gene-related biomarkers

PD-L1 is an important immune checkpoint, which is called programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1). PD-L1 antigen binding site is located in the variable region of Fab segment in the light chain of antibody structure, which determines the target of antibody and the target cells it acts on, while the constant region Fc segment of antibody structure determines the type of antibody, which binds to Fc receptor expressed by immune cells, resulting in antigen clearance (12). In current clinical practice, the expression intensity of PD-L1 is significantly correlated with OS and PFS of cancer patients after ICI treatment. The results of KEYNOTE 024 show that (13), compared with traditional chemotherapy drugs, OS and PFS treated with pembrolizumab are better for patients with advanced NSCLC with high expression of PD-L1 (≥ 50%), and when PD-L1 expression < 50%, the efficacy of immunotherapy is equivalent to that of traditional chemotherapy drugs. This indicates that the higher the expression level of PD-L1, the better the immunotherapy effect of NSCLC. The results of KEYNOTE-042 and CheckMate 227 showed that (14), compared with chemotherapy, the ICI group improved the overall survival time (OS) [Nivolumab plus ipilimumab: risk ratio (HR) 0.82, 95% CI 0.69-0.97; Pembrolizumab: (HR) 0.81, 95% ci 0.71-0.93]; In CheckMate 012 study (1), nivolumab combined with CTLA-4i ipilimumab was used to treat advanced NSCLC, and the effective rate of patients with PD-L1 \ge 50% was over 90%. It exists not only in NSCLC, but also in other cancers. For example, triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) has a higher level of programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression, which is more likely to benefit from immune checkpoint treatment than other breast cancer subtypes. In 2019, according to the results of IMPASEN130 Phase III clinical trial (15), FDA accelerated the approval of atezolizumab combined with nab-paclitaxel to treat unresectable locally advanced or metastatic PD-L1 positive TNBC. In 2020, according to the results of KEYNOTE-355 Phase III clinical trial (16), FDA accelerated the approval of PD-1 inhibitor pembrolizumab combined with chemotherapy to treat locally relapsed, unresectable and metastatic PD-L1 positive TNBC. Therefore, PD-L1 positive subsets may benefit the most from immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) treatment, which can affect the therapeutic effect of clinical ICI to a certain extent.

KRAS

RAS/Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway plays a central role in the development of human cancer. It is highly activated in a variety of tumors, and many of its components have been identified as oncogene (17). The most common mutation of this pathway occurs in Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homologue (KRAS) (18). KRAS is a guanine nucleotide binding protein that regulates the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. When it is activated, it promotes downstream signal transduction and leads to cell growth and proliferation. In many cancers, KRAS mutation rate is high, such as 96% in pancreatic cancer, 52% in colorectal cancer and 32% in non-small cell lung cancer (19). KRAS mutant subtypes mainly include G12A, G12C, G12D, G12V and G13C. Up to now, although some targeted drugs are in clinical trials, they have not been approved to directly target the mutation of some subtypes of KRAS (20). At present, many studies have evaluated the influence of KRAS mutation on the curative effect of ICIs in

cancer patients. A study on the prognostic characteristics and immunotherapy response of KRAS mutated non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer in East Asian population found that the disease remission rate (53.8% vs 8.3%, p = 0.030) and progression-free survival time (4.8 months vs 2.1 months, p = 0.028) of KRAS-non-G12C patients receiving ICIs treatment were higher than KRAS-non-G12C patients, and the tumor recurrence time of G12C patients (22.8 months) was shorter than that of KRAS-non-G12C patients (97.7 months, p = 0.004). For advanced NSCLC patients, there was a significant difference in OS between KRAS-G12C and KRAS-non-G12C patients (7.7 months vs 6.0 months, p = 0.018), while KRAS-G12V patients had the shortest OS (21). Another trial (22) retrospectively studied KRAS mutant non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with ICIs, suggesting mPFS (4.6 vs. 3.3 months) in KRAS mutant and non-KRAS mutant patients, but the results were not significant. Adi Kartolo et al. (23) evaluated the results of KRAS mutation in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with high expression of PD-L1 on treatment with first-line immune checkpoint inhibitors. The results showed that there was no significant difference in mOS between KRAS-MT and KRAS-WT patients (12.9 vs. 19.3 months, p = 0.879), and the trend of mOS deterioration in KRAS G12C patients was not significant compared with non-G12C and KRAS-WT patients (11.4 vs. 44.9, p = 0.772). In multivariate analysis, KRAS-MT status was independent of mOS (HR 0.901, 95% CI 0.417-1.946, p = 0.791). In patients with tumors with KRAS G12C variant treated with ICIs, the trend of declining survival rate is not significant. Therefore, KRAS mutation is positively correlated with the curative effect of ICIs in cancer patients, but KRAS-G12C mutation is correlated with the shorter tumor recurrence time in early NSCLC patients. Compared with KRAS-G12C, KRAS-G12V mutation is associated with shorter OS in patients with advanced NSCLC. However, it is worth noting that according to the summary analysis of ASCO FDA in 2022, the report shows that the status of KRAS has no effect on the tumor immune microenvironment of non-small cell lung cancer. The above related studies show that KRAS mutation is of great benefit to ICIs compared with KRAS WT patients. Therefore, we have reason to believe that the same driving genes may play different roles and functions in the formation of tumor immune microenvironment (TME) based on different solid tumors or genetic backgrounds.

TP53

TP53 gene was first discovered in 1979 and is the first tumor suppressor gene to be discovered (24). Solid tumors are often accompanied by inactivation of TP53 function or pathway, which is related to the increase of malignant tumors, poor survival time of patients and drug resistance. This gene is involved in many biological processes, including DNA repair, cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, autophagy, metabolism and aging (25). The mutation rate of TP53 is high in cancers, and up to 50% of cancers contain two allele mutations of TP53 gene. TP53 gene has six most significant mutation sites, five of which are G to T mutations on codon containing methylated CpG sequence, including codon 157, 158, 245, 248 and 273 (26). Therefore, understanding the tumor-specific mutation profile of TP53 gene is very important for studying TP53-related carcinogenesis. A series of clinical studies have also been conducted to observe the effect of TP53 mutation on the clinical benefits of tumor patients treated with ICIs. Patient data obtained from a cancer genome map show (27) that TP53-MT is a potential indicator of relatively good response of bladder cancer patients to ICIs, and is related to prolonged overall survival (OS) [HR = 0.65 (95% CI 0.44-0.99), p = 0.041]. Through the comprehensive analysis of multiple platforms, it was found that TP53-MT patients showed stronger tumor antigenicity and tumor antigen presentation, higher tumor mutation load, higher new antigen load and higher MHC expression. Compared with TP53-WT, TP53-MT has stronger pre-existing anti-tumor immune effects in tumors, including interferon-y enrichment, positive regulation of TNF secretion pathway and increased expression of some immunostimulating molecules (such as CXCL9 and CXCL10). Therefore, patients with TP53-MT are more likely to benefit from ICIs than patients with wild-type P53 (TP53-WT). As we know, tumor mutation burden (TMB) is related to tumor response to immune checkpoint inhibitors, and TP53 can also be used as an indirect quantification tool of tumor mutation burden (TMB). Sandra Assoun et al. (28) used nextgeneration sequencing to evaluate TP53 mutation in aNSCLC patients treated with programmed death-1 (PD-1) blockers. Tumor analysis of multiple TP53 mutations showed that patients with TP53 mutations had longer median OS (18.1 months vs. 8.1 months, p = 0.004), significantly longer median progression-free survival (4.5 months vs. 1.4 months, p=0.03), and higher objective remission rate (ORR) (51.2% vs. 20.7%, p=0.01). Xiangkun Wu et al. (29)discussed the relationship between TP53 mutation and immunophenotype of muscular invasive bladder cancer (MIBC) by comprehensively analyzing TP53 gene mutation and expression. A total of 99 differentially expressed immune-related genes (DEIGs) including ORM1, PTHLH and CTSE were identified based on TP53 mutation status, and the high-risk prognostic groups with poor prognosis were identified in The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database. In addition, they showed lower expression of CD56 bright NK cells, CTLA4, LAG3, PDCD1, TIGIT and HAVCR2, and were more likely to respond to PD-1 and neoadjuvant chemotherapy than the low-risk prognosis group. Therefore, TIPS derived from TP53 mutation is a potential prognostic marker or therapeutic target, but additional prospective studies are needed to verify this potential marker.

STK11/KEAP1

STK11 is a key upstream activator of AMP activated protein kinase and a central metabolic sensor, which participates in the response to intracellular energy changes through different cellular processes, including regulating glucose and lipid metabolism, cell growth and homeostasis (30). This genetic mutation of tumor suppressor gene leads to Peutz-Jeghers syndrome, which is a rare disease, which is characterized by easy development into benign and malignant tumors in different organ systems (31). In the mouse model of non-small cell lung cancer, STK11 mutation is related to "cold" immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, showing a decrease in the expression of immune inflammatory factors (CD8+ and CD4+T lymphocytes, type 1 macrophages) and PD-L1, and an increase in T cell failure markers and tumor-promoting cytokines (32). STK11 mutation is more common in non-squamous NSCLC, with STK11 mutation occurring in 8-39% of patients (33). KEAP1 is the main regulator of nuclear factor erythroid-2-related factor-2 (NRF2, also known as NFE2L2), which plays a central role in cell response to oxidative stress and regulates the expression of a large number of genes. KEAP1 functional loss mutation occurs in about 11%-27% of NSCLC. KEAP1 mutation and NFR2 mutation are mutually exclusive, and are often related to simultaneous aberrations of targeted genes (such as 6% EGFR mutation and 18% MET amplification) and non-targeted genes (such as 45% TP53 mutation) (34). The absence of KEAP1-negative regulation determines the constitutive activation of NFR2, promotes tumor survival, and may also lead to drug resistance and poor prognosis of NSCLC patients (35). Biagio Ricciuti et al. (36)studied the relationship between STK11/keap1 mutation and KRAS mutation. The results suggest that in the joint cohort study involving 1261 patients, STK11 and KEAP1 mutations were associated with significantly worse progression-free (STK11 HR = 2.04, p < 0.0001; KEAP1 HR = 2.05, p < 0.0001) and overall(STK11 HR = 2.09, p < 0.0001; KEAP1 HR = 2.24, p < 0.0001) survival to immunotherapy uniquely among KRAS mut, but not KRAS wt LUADs. Gene expression ontology and immunocyte enrichment analysis showed that STK11 or KEAP1 mutation led to different immunophenotypes in KRAS mutation, but not in KRAS wild type and lung cancer. The results indicated that KRAS mutation status affected STK11/keap1 mutation and then affected the curative effect of ICIs. Simon Papillon et al. (35) studied the correlation between STK11 and KEAP1 and adverse reactions of immune checkpoint inhibitors. By analyzing the clinical and mutation data of 2276 patients, it is suggested that STK11 or KEAP1 mutation is related to poor prognosis in multiple therapeutic classes, while STK11 mutation is related to PFS treated with anti-PD-1/anti-PD-L1 (HR = 1.05; 95% CI 0.76-1.44; P=0.785) or OS (HR=1.13; 95% CI 0.76-1.67; P = 0.540). Similarly, KEAP1 mutation was also correlated with PFS (HR = 0. 93; 95% CI 0.67-1.28; P = 0.653) or OS (HR = 0.98; 95% CI 0.66-1.45; P = 0.913), which suggests that STK11/KEAP1 mutation is a prognostic marker rather than a predictive marker for anti-PD-1/anti-PD-L1 therapy.

In another study (37), the prognostic effect of ICIs on patients with non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with STK11 or KEAP1 mutation was analyzed. Univariate and multivariate analysis showed that STK11/KEAP1 mutation was an independent and important prognostic factor affecting overall survival (P < 0.05) and progression-free survival (P < 0.05). Importantly, STK11/ KEAP1 mutant patients showed poorer OS than wild type patients when receiving atezolizumab (all P < 0.05). In addition, for STK11 mutant subsets, atezolizumab did not improve OS (HR = 0.669; 95% Cl 0.380-1.179; P = 0.669), while the survival of KEAP1 mutation patients who received atezolizumab was improved (HR = 0.610; 95% Cl 0.384-0.969; P = 0.036).

EGFR

Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) is a transmembrane glycoprotein and one of the four members of ErbB family of tyrosine kinase receptors. Activation of EGFR leads to autophosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinase, which initiates a series of downstream signaling pathways involved in regulating cell proliferation, differentiation and survival. EGFR is abnormally activated through various mechanisms (such as receptor overexpression, mutation, ligand-dependent receptor dimerization, ligand independent activation, etc.), which is related to the occurrence of various human cancers (38). In cancer patients, while immune checkpoint inhibitors are used, EGFR status also provides a new treatment strategy for cancer patients, thus improving clinical outcomes. It is considered that the progress of tumor biology and tumor microenvironment (TME) differences in NSCLC with EGFR mutation may be a new method to enhance the curative effect of ICIs. Specific EGFR mutations affect the immunogenicity of TME and the response sensitivity to ICIs. Chen et al. (39) conducted a large-scale study on 600 EGFRm NSCLC patients in China. They reported that the OS of PD-L1 positive EGFRm NSCLC patients was worse than that of PD-L1 negative patients (median OS 15.2 vs 29.3 months, p = 0.006), although most of these patients also received EGFR TKI monotherapy in all treatment lines. Negrao et al. (40) reported that compared with patients with classical gene mutation, patients with metastatic EGFRm NSCLC benefited more from ICIs, ORR was 25% vs 0%, and disease control rate (DCR) was 50% vs 15%. Mazieres et al. (40, 41) analyzed the IMMUNOTARGET registry and compared the molecular characteristics of EGFRm patients' response to ICIs. In this database, patients with EGFR exon 21 mutation had significantly longer PFS (2.5 months) than patients with EGFR exon 19 mutation (1.4 and 1.8 months, p < 0.001). Therefore, these studies indicate that EGFR mutation may increase the immunogenicity and immune response of ICIs. Future clinical trials should ensure that specific EGFR gene changes are reported and provide mutation subgroup data in order to further obtain evidence of this subject.

MSI-H/dMMR

The main function of MMR is to correct the errors in DNA replication and ensure the fidelity of replication process. However, the hypermethylation and frameshift mutation of promoter lead to the loss of mismatch repair protein expression, which leads to MSI-H/dMMR. Patients with MSI-H/dMMR may benefit from PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors, and about 15% of colorectal cancer patients have MSI-H gene test results (42). ASAOKA et al. (43) reported for the first time that 16 (57%) of 25 patients with MMR were treated with Pembrolizumab, and the other 9 patients (32%) were stable (SD). In 2017, Pembrolizumab became the first anti-PD-1 drug approved in the United States, suggesting that MMR status can predict the clinical efficacy of Pembrolizumab. HAUSE et al. (44) analyzed 5930 genomes of multiple tumors by genome sequencing, and found that MSI-H existed in 14 kinds of malignant tumors. The frequency of MSI-H in colorectal cancer, gastric cancer and endometrial cancer was significantly higher than that of other tumors, but the proportion of malignant tumor patients was still small. At present, it is generally recognized that patients with gastric and colorectal malignant tumors and MSI-H/dMMR in tumor tissues have better curative effect and higher benefit rate when using PD-1/ PD-L1 inhibitor.

HLA

Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) is the expression product of human major histocompatibility complex gene. HLA plays an important role in immune presentation and recognition. CD8+T cell-dependent killing requires human leukocyte antigen class I (HLA-I) molecules to present tumor antigens effectively. The loss of HLA diversity will lead to the decrease of immunotherapy response rate (45). Studies have shown that in patients with malignant melanoma and lung cancer, the A, B and C genes of HLA-I molecule are all heterozygous compared with patients with at least one gene homozygous, and the curative effect of immunotherapy is better; If all heterozygous patients have high TMB, the prognosis is better than patients with at least one gene homozygous and low TMB (46). HLA-B44 is a supersubtype of HLA, which can cross-present new antigens presented by other subtypes of HLA, which increases the diversity of HLA. Studies have shown that patients with HLA-B44 positive and high mutation level have higher survival rate (47).

Discussion

This review explored the influence of driving genes on the therapeutic effect of ICIs, but the diversity and complexity of driving

genes also have certain influence on tumor microenvironment. At present, it has been found that many immunotherapy markers are related to tumor microenvironment. For example, lymphocytes, macrophages and interstitial cells in tumor immune microenvironment also express PD-L1, and the expression level of PD-L1 also has certain influence on tumor microenvironment. For example, lymphocytes, macrophages and interstitial cells in tumor immune microenvironment also express PD-L1, and the expression level of PD-L1 also has certain influence on tumor microenvironment. In lung cancer, the level of PD-L1 was significantly correlated with the site of biopsy, with the highest expression in adrenal and liver metastases and the lowest expression in bone and brain metastases. At the same time, the level of PD-L1 in lung and distant metastatic tissues is positively correlated with clinical benefit, but the level of PD-L1 in lymph node metastasis may not be correlated with clinical benefit. Similar conditions exist in other driving genes, which suggest that driving genes have different roles in different tumor microenvironments.

Based on the above research and discussion, it is not difficult to find that the state of tumor driving genes affects the therapeutic effect of ICIs. However, it is more noteworthy that the influence of driving genes on the immune microenvironment of different tumors determines the predicted value of ICIs. As shown in Meichen Gu et al. (48), KRAS/LKB1 and KRAS/TP53 common mutations produce different immune signals in lung adenocarcinoma. New data suggests that KRAS-mutated lung adenocarcinoma can exhibit enhanced PD-L1 expression and additional somatic mutations, linking the prospect of immune checkpoint blockade therapy being applied to the disease. However, the response of lung adenocarcinoma with kras mutation to this treatment is different, which is largely attributed to the heterogeneity of tumor immune environment. Recently, it has been found that lung adenocarcinoma with KRAS-mutation expresses LKB1 or TP53 mutation at the same time, and its tumor immune characteristics are usually different. Tumors with KRAS/ TP53 co-mutation usually have significant up-regulation of PD-L1 expression and accumulation of tumorigenic t cells, while tumors with KRAS/LKB1 co-mutation usually have negative PD-L1 expression and few tumorigenic immune infiltration. Therefore, in addition to PD-L1 expression, detection of TP53 or LKB1 mutation will hopefully guide the clinical use of immune checkpoint blocking therapy for kras mutant lung adenocarcinoma.

Tumor formation is the result of immune escape, and ICIs can reverse immune escape and restore the body's ability to recognize and eliminate tumor cells. Immunotherapy opens up a new model of cancer treatment. The biomarkers that predict the cancer efficacy, adverse reactions and drug resistance of ICIs play an important role in screening ICIs beneficiaries. Among them, efficacy markers PD-L1, TMB and MSI/MMR have entered the guidelines or consensus, while there are few studies on other driving gene markers of immunotherapy, such as EGFR, HLA, TP53, etc., and the exploration of more accurate biomarkers is still the focus of research. In addition, more related biomarkers

and other factors affecting survival and prognosis of immunotherapy (such as tumor microenvironment, intestinal flora, DNA repair damage, etc.) need to be further explored and studied. At present, there are still few large sample trial data based on Chinese population, but with the continuous development of cancer ICIs clinical trials and the increasing number of treatment cases, it is believed that tumor markers will play an increasingly important role in predicting the efficacy, survival prediction and adverse reactions of ICIs. At the same time as the specification of biological detection technology, progress of gene diagnosis technology and medical data, the rapid development of new technologies and means such as artificial intelligence, immunotherapy of cancer will shift from illness condition as they intend and, since the future is expected to be through the detection of biomarkers to predict treatment in patients with different stages of treatment benefits and risks, In this way, precise and individualized treatment plans can be developed to enable patients to have a longer survival time and a higher quality of life. This will be our next research direction.

At the same time, it has become the focus of clinical research to explore new and different combination therapy modes and improve the immunotherapy response rate. Combination therapy can overcome the limitations of monotherapy. ICIs has elicited a lasting clinical response in some patients, which is largely dependent on effective T cell infiltration and effector T cell function in TME, while combination therapy is recommended to target multiple abnormalities in the differentiation of cancer cells and normal cells. It mainly includes decreasing TMB and enhancing tumor immunogenicity (such as in combination with chemotherapy, radiotherapy and targeted therapy), enhancing T cell transport and enhancing T cell response. The status of driver genes in cancer cells and normal cells will also provide better strategies for drug combination. In the future, with the progress of genomics, transcriptomics and immunodetection technology, the combination therapy with multiple ICIs will be a new development trend. The establishment of comprehensive biomarker evaluation system through bioinformatics and other methods can predict the efficacy of ICIs more comprehensively, thus promoting the development of tumor precision medicine.

Search strategy and selection criteria

As shown in Figure 1, the data for this review was obtained by searching PubMed with key words "cancer; Immune checkpoint inhibitors; Biomarkers; Overall survival; No disease progression "retrieved from related articles. We identified 4193 records through PubMed database search, but did not find relevant information records through other sources. Before screening, we deleted 3393 literatures, including records of review literatures (n = 3226), meta-analysis (n = 96), and case reports (n = 71). In addition, 735 references without relevant driver gene introduction were excluded. Another 38 literatures without relevant data such as OS and PFS were excluded. Finally, the review included 27 records. Only articles published in English between 2000 and 2022 are included.



Author contributions

SJ and SG collected data and wrote the paper. XL, CZ, YY, MC and SZ collect literature and information. NS and MD reviewed the paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by Beijing Hongdingxiang Public Welfare Development Center (BJ-HDX-20220437) and Project of Beijing Medical Award Foundation (YXJL-2022-0187-0013).

References

1. Brueckl WM, Ficker JH, Zeitler G. Clinically relevant prognostic and predictive markers for immune-checkpoint-inhibitor (ICI) therapy in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). *BMC Cancer* (2020) 20:1185. doi: 10.1186/s12885-020-07690-8

2. Galluzzi L, Humeau J, Buqué A, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunostimulation with chemotherapy in the era of immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17:725–41. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-0413-z

3. Rowshanravan B, Halliday N, Sansom DM. CTLA-4: A moving target in immunotherapy. *Blood* (2018) 131:58–67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-741033

4. Van Coillie S, Wiernicki B, Xu J. Molecular and cellular functions of CTLA-4. Adv Exp Med Biol (2020) 1248:7-32. doi: 10.1007/978-981-15-3266-5_2

5. Podlesnykh SV, Abramova KE, Gordeeva A, Khlebnikov AI, Chapoval AI. Peptide blocking CTLA-4 and B7-1 interaction. *Molecules* (2021) 26:253. doi: 10.3390/molecules26020253

6. Hosseini A, Gharibi T, Marofi F, Babaloo Z, Baradaran B. CTLA-4: From mechanism to autoimmune therapy. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2020) 80:106221. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106221

7. Efremova M, Rieder D, Klepsch V, Charoentong P, Finotello F, Hackl H, et al. Targeting immune checkpoints potentiates immunoediting and changes the dynamics of tumor evolution. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:32. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02424-0

8. Sharpe AH, Pauken KE. The diverse functions of the PD1 inhibitory pathway. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18:153–67. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.108

9. Arasanz H, Gato-Cañas M, Zuazo M, Ibañez-Vea M, Breckpot K, Kochan G, et al. PD1 signal transduction pathways in T cells. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:51936–45. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17232

10. Zou W, Wolchok JD, Chen L. PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-1 pathway blockade for cancer therapy: Mechanisms, response biomarkers, and combinations. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8:328rv324. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad7118

11. Addeo A, Friedlaender A, Banna GL, Weiss GJ. TMB or not TMB as a biomarker: That is the question. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2021) 163:103374. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2021.103374

12. Han Y, Liu D, Li L. PD-1/PD-L1 pathway: Current researches in cancer. Am J Cancer Res (2020) 10:727-42.

13. Reck M, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-Positive non-Small-Cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2016) 375:1823–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1606774

14. Zhou Y, Zhang Y, Guo G, Cai X, Yu H, Cai Y, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab versus pembrolizumab as chemotherapy-free, first-line treatment for PD-L1-positive non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Transl Med* (2020) 10:107–15. doi: 10.1002/ctm2.14

15. Schmid P, Rugo HS, Adams S, Schneeweiss A, Barrios CH, Iwata H, et al. Atezolizumab plus nab-paclitaxel as first-line treatment for unresectable, locally advanced or metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (IMpassion130): Updated efficacy results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2020) 21:44–59. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19) 30689-8

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

16. Cortes J, Cescon DW, Rugo HS, Nowecki Z, Im SA, Yusof MM, et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy versus placebo plus chemotherapy for previously untreated locally recurrent inoperable or metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (KEYNOTE-355): A randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase 3 clinical trial. *Lancet* (2020) 396:1817–28. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 32531-9

17. Drosten M, Barbacid M. Targeting the MAPK pathway in KRAS-driven tumors. *Cancer Cell* (2020) 37:543–50 doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2020.03.013.

18. Liu P, Wang Y, Li X. Targeting the untargetable KRAS in cancer therapy. Acta Pharm Sin B (2019) 9:871–9. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2019.03.002

19. Ryan MB, Der CJ, Wang-Gillam A, Cox AD. Targeting RAS-mutant cancers: Is ERK the key? *Trends Cancer* (2015) 1:183–98. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2015.10.001

20. Canon J, Rex K, Saiki AY, Mohr C, Cooke K, Bagal D, et al. The clinical KRAS(G12C) inhibitor AMG 510 drives anti-tumour immunity. *Nature* (2019) 575:217–23. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1694-1

21. Wu SG, Liao WY, Su KY, Yu SL, Huang YL, Yu CJ, et al. Prognostic characteristics and immunotherapy response of patients with nonsquamous NSCLC with kras mutation in East Asian populations: A single-center cohort study in Taiwan. *JTO Clin Res Rep* (2021) 2:100140. doi: 10.1016/j.jtocrr.2020.100140

22. Gianoncelli L, Spitaleri G, Passaro A, Radice D, Fumagalli C, Del Signore E, et al. D.E.M. f, efficacy of anti-PD1/PD-L1 therapy (IO) in KRAS mutant non-small cell lung cancer patients: A retrospective analysis. *Anticancer Res* (2020) 40:427–33. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.13970

23. Kartolo A, Feilotter H, Hopman W, Fung AS, Robinson A. A single institution study evaluating outcomes of PD-L1 high KRAS-mutant advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients treated with first line immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Cancer Treat Res Commun* (2021) 27:100330. doi: 10.1016/j.ctarc.2021.100330

24. Mogi A, Kuwano H. TP53 mutations in nonsmall cell lung cancer. J BioMed Biotechnol (2011) 2011:583929. doi: 10.1155/2011/583929

25. Welch JS. Patterns of mutations in TP53 mutated AML. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol (2018) 31:379-83. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2018.09.010

26. Pfeifer GP, Denissenko MF, Olivier M, Tretyakova N, Hecht SS, Hainaut P. Tobacco smoke carcinogens, DNA damage and p53 mutations in smoking-associated cancers. *Oncogene* (2002) 21:7435–51. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205803

27. Lyu Q, Lin A, Cao M, Xu A, Luo P, Zhang J. Alterations in TP53 are a potential biomarker of bladder cancer patients who benefit from immune checkpoint inhibition. *Cancer Control* (2020) 27:1073274820976665. doi: 10.1177/1073274820976665

28. Assoun S, Theou-Anton N, Nguenang M, Cazes A, Danel C, Abbar B, et al. Association of TP53 mutations with response and longer survival under immune checkpoint inhibitors in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2019) 132:65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.04.005

29. Wu X, Lv D, Cai C, Zhao Z, Wang M, Chen W, et al. A TP53-associated immune prognostic signature for the prediction of overall survival and therapeutic

responses in muscle-invasive bladder cancer. Front Immunol (2020) 11:590618. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.590618

30. Shackelford DB, Shaw RJ. The LKB1-AMPK pathway: Metabolism and growth control in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Cancer (2009) 9:563–75. doi: 10.1038/nrc2676

31. Wohlhieter CA, Richards AL, Uddin F, Hulton CH, Quintanal-Villalonga À, Martin A, et al. Concurrent mutations in STK11 and KEAP1 promote ferroptosis protection and SCD1 dependence in lung cancer. *Cell Rep* (2020) 33:108444. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108444

32. Cristescu R, Mogg R, Ayers M, Albright A, Murphy E, Yearley J, et al. Pantumor genomic biomarkers for PD-1 checkpoint blockade-based immunotherapy. *Science* (2018) 362:eaar3593. doi: 10.1126/science.aar3593

33. Facchinetti F, Bluthgen MV, Tergemina-Clain G, Faivre L, Pignon JP, Planchard D, et al. LKB1/STK11 mutations in non-small cell lung cancer patients: Descriptive analysis and prognostic value. *Lung Cancer* (2017) 112:62–8. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.08.002

34. Frank R, Scheffler M, Merkelbach-Bruse S, Ihle MA, Kron A, Rauer M, et al. Clinical and pathological characteristics of KEAP1- and NFE2L2-mutated nonsmall cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24:3087–96. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3416

35. Papillon-Cavanagh S, Doshi P, Dobrin R, Szustakowski J, Walsh AM. STK11 and KEAP1 mutations as prognostic biomarkers in an observational realworld lung adenocarcinoma cohort. *ESMO Open* (2020) 5:e000706. doi: 10.1101/ 2020.01.23.20017566

36. Ricciuti B, Arbour KC, Lin JJ, Vajdi A, Vokes N, Hong L, et al. Diminished efficacy of programmed death-(Ligand)1 inhibition in STK11- and KEAP1-mutant lung adenocarcinoma is affected by KRAS mutation status. *J Thorac Oncol* (2022) 17:399–410. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2021.10.013

37. Shang X, Li Z, Sun J, Zhao C, Lin J, Wang H. Survival analysis for non-squamous NSCLC patients harbored STK11 or KEAP1 mutation receiving atezolizumab. *Lung Cancer* (2021) 154:105–12. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.02.010

38. Singh D, Attri BK, Gill RK, Bariwal J. Review on EGFR inhibitors: Critical updates. *Mini Rev Med Chem* (2016) 16:1134-66. doi: 10.2174/13895575166666160321114917

39. Chen K, Cheng G, Zhang F, Zhu G, Xu Y, Yu X, et al. PD-L1 expression and T cells infiltration in patients with uncommon EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung

cancer and the response to immunotherapy. Lung Cancer (2020) 142:98–105. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2020.02.010

40. Negrao MV, Skoulidis F, Montesion M, Schulze K, Bara I, Shen V, et al. Oncogene-specific differences in tumor mutational burden, PD-L1 expression, and outcomes from immunotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *J Immunother Cancer* (2021) 9:e002891. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-002891

41. Mazieres J, Drilon A, Lusque A, Mhanna L, Cortot AB, Mezquita L, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors for patients with advanced lung cancer and oncogenic driver alterations: results from the IMMUNOTARGET registry. *Ann Oncol* (2019) 30:1321–8. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz167

42. Vokes EE, Ready N, Felip E, Horn L, Burgio MA, Antonia SJ, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 017 and CheckMate 057): 3-year update and outcomes in patients with liver metastases. *Ann Oncol* (2018) 29:959–65. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy041

43. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:2509–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1500596

44. Hause RJ, Pritchard CC, Shendure J, Salipante SJ. Classification and characterization of microsatellite instability across 18 cancer types. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:1342–50. doi: 10.1038/nm.4191

45. Chowell D, Morris LGT, Grigg CM, Weber JK, Samstein RM, Makarov V, et al. Patient HLA class I genotype influences cancer response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Science* (2018) 359:582-7. doi: 10.1126/science.aao4572

46. Rodig SJ, Gusenleitner D, Jackson DG, Gjini E, Giobbie-Hurder A, Jin C, et al. MHC proteins confer differential sensitivity to CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade in untreated metastatic melanoma. *Sci Transl Med* (2018) 10:eaar3342. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aar3342

47. Havel JJ, Chowell D, Chan TA. The evolving landscape of biomarkers for checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2019) 19:133–50. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0116-x

48. Gu M, Xu T, Chang P. KRAS/LKB1 and KRAS/TP53 co-mutations create divergent immune signatures in lung adenocarcinomas. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2021) 13:17588359211006950. doi: 10.1177/17588359211006950

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Weihong Guo, Southern Medical University, China Liang Hong, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States Chao Zhang, Tianjin Medical University Cancer Institute and Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Tianxin Lin lintx@mail.sysu.edu.cn Junjiong Zheng zhengjj59@mail.sysu.edu.cn Bin Liu binliu3@arizona.edu

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 09 August 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 15 September 2022

CITATION

Kong J, Lu S, Zhang L, Yao Y, Zhang J, Shen Z, Luo M, Liu B, Zheng J and Lin T (2022) m6A methylation regulators as predictors for treatment of advanced urothelial carcinoma with anti-PDL1 agent. *Front. Immunol.* 13:1014861. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1014861

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Kong, Lu, Zhang, Yao, Zhang, Shen, Luo, Liu, Zheng and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

m6A methylation regulators as predictors for treatment of advanced urothelial carcinoma with anti-PDL1 agent

Jianqiu Kong^{1†}, Sihong Lu^{1†}, Long Zhang², Yuhui Yao¹, Jie Zhang¹, Zefeng Shen¹, Mingli Luo¹, Bin Liu^{3*}, Junjiong Zheng^{1*} and Tianxin Lin^{1,4,5*}

¹Department of Urology, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Pathology, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ³Department of Internal Medicine, College of Medicine-Phoenix, University of Arizona, Phoenix, AZ, United States, ⁴Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Malignant Tumor Epigenetics and Gene Regulation, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ⁵Guangdong Provincial Clinical Research Center for Urological Diseases, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, Guangzhou, China

Purpose: Immune checkpoint blockade agents were shown to provide a survival advantage in urothelial carcinoma, while some patients got minimal benefit or side effects. Therefore, we aimed to investigate the prognostic value of m6A methylation regulators, and developed a nomogram for predicting the response to atezolizumab in urothelial carcinoma patients.

Methods: A total of 298 advanced urothelial carcinoma patients with response data in the IMvigor210 cohort were included. Differential expressions of 23 m6A methylation regulators in different treatment outcomes were conducted. Subsequently, a gene signature was developed in the training set using the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression. Based on the multivariable logistic regression, a nomogram was constructed by incorporating the gene signature and independent clinicopathological predictors. The performance of the nomogram was assessed by its discrimination, calibration, and clinical utility with internal validation.

Results: Six m6A methylation regulators, including *IGF2BP1*, *IGF2BP3*, *YTHDF2*, *HNRNPA2B1*, *FMR1*, and *FTO*, were significantly differentially expressed between the responders and non-responders. These six regulators were also significantly correlated with the treatment outcomes. Based on the LASSO regression analysis, the gene signature consisting of two selected m6A methylation regulators (*FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1*) was constructed and showed favorable discrimination. The nomogram integrating the gene signature, TMB, and PD-L1 expression on immune cells, showed favorable calibration and discrimination in the training set (AUC 0.768), which was confirmed in the validation set (AUC 0.755). Decision curve analysis confirmed the potential clinical usefulness of the nomogram.
Conclusions: This study confirmed the prognostic value of *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1*, and constructed a nomogram for individualized prediction of the response to atezolizumab in patients with urothelial carcinoma, which may aid in making treatment strategies.

KEYWORDS

m6A methylation regulators, urothelial carcinoma, PD1/PDL1, prediction, outcome

Introduction

Urothelial carcinoma is one of the most common cancers worldwide (1), and the bladder is the usual site of occurrence (2). Due to the high recurrence rate and complicated therapeutic strategies, bladder cancer (BCa) is considered the most expensive tumor, which has brought a heavy economic burden to patients and society (3). Notably, a considerable proportion of urothelial carcinoma patients develop metastases during follow-up after radical therapies. The prognosis for advanced urothelial carcinoma remains poor (4). Emerging immunotherapy heralds a new era for the treatment of urothelial carcinoma. For the past few years, immunotherapy for malignant tumors has achieved many encouraging breakthroughs, making it the fourth treatment technique for cancer therapy after the operation, radiation therapy, and chemotherapy (5).

Currently, blockade of immune checkpoint molecule, programmed cell death 1 (PD1), or its ligand, PD ligand 1 (PDL1), was shown to provide a survival advantage in numbers of different advanced malignancies (6, 7). Effective as it is, only a subset of patients experienced durable responses and longterm survival after anti-PD1/PDL1 therapy, and the majority of patients achieved minimal or no clinical benefit (8). For example, the effective response rate for BCa is approximately 20% (9). Meanwhile, immunotherapy may cause adverse effects, and some may even lead to serious or life-threatening consequences (10, 11). Therefore, the optimization of individualized treatment has been listed as one of the top ten challenges of immunotherapy for tumors (12). How to identify the patients who are prone to have a good response to anti-PD1/PDL1 therapy is the current focus of intense research efforts. Many biomarkers have been reported to be predictive of cancer response to immunotherapy. The immunity system extends from systems-level principles of immune cell connectivity down to mechanistic characterization of individual receptors, which could provide potential opportunities for therapeutic intervention (13). Of these, tumor mutational burden (TMB) quantifying the number of somatic mutations in the tumor, CD8⁺ T-cell abundance, and PDL1 expression are commonly used predictors (9, 14, 15). However, their predictive efficacy may vary in specific cancer types (9, 12).

N6-methyladenosine (m6A) modification represents one of the most common chemical modifications in eukaryotic mRNA, which is a reversible process regulated by the balanced activities of methyltransferases, binding proteins, and demethylases, also known as "writers", "readers" and "erasers" (16). Studies have demonstrated that m6A plays an important role in mRNA splicing, localization, translation, export, degradation, and stability (17-19). In addition, substantial evidence showed that dysregulated expression and genetic changes of m6A methylation regulators were associated with multiple biological disorders including dysregulated cell proliferation, differentiation and death, developmental defects, cancer progression, damaged selfrenewal capacity, and aberrant immune regulation (20-22). Moreover, m6A methylation regulators also played critical roles in the development and progression of BCa by promoting cancer cell proliferation, self-renewal of cancer stem cells and so on (23-25). Besides, m6A regulators were reported to serve as reliable biomarkers to predict the treatment response and/or prognosis in BCa (26) as well as other tumors (27-29). Nonetheless, whether m6A regulators could aid in the prediction of immunotherapy response in urothelial carcinoma remains unknown.

In the present study, we systematically analyzed the association between the expression of 23 widely reported m6A regulators and the anti-PDL1 treatment (i.e., atezolizumab) response in advanced urothelial carcinoma patients. And we developed and validated a nomogram that integrated a gene signature derived from pre-treatment expression of m6A regulators and clinical variables for individualized prediction of the response to atezolizumab treatment in patients with urothelial carcinoma.

Methods

Data acquisition

Under the Creative Commons 3.0 license, standardized RNAsequencing data and corresponding clinicopathological data,

including TMB, PD-L1 expression on immune cells (IC), and tumor cells (TC), for the IMvigor210 cohort were extracted from the IMvigor210CoreBiologies R package (http://research-pub.gene. com/IMvigor210CoreBiologies/) developed by Mariathasan et al (30). Tumor specimens were scored via immunohistochemistry for PD-L1 expression on immune cells as IC0, IC1, IC2, or IC3 if <1%, \geq 1% but <5%, \geq 5% but <10%, or \geq 10% of immune cells were PD-L1 positive, respectively. Besides, tumor tissue samples were scored as TC0, TC1, TC2, or TC3 if <1%, ≥1% but <5%, ≥5% but <50%, or $\ge50\%$ of tumor cells were PD-L1 positive, respectively. RNA-seq count data were transformed into Transcripts Per Million (TPM). Among 348 bladder cancer patients in the IMvigor210 cohort, we excluded those patients without treatment response data. Therefore, a total of 298 patients were finally included in our study (Supplementary Table S1). A reduction of tumor volume over 10% is defined as partial response (RECIST v1.1). All patients were classified into responders (complete and partial response) and non-responders (stable and progressive disease).

Atezolizumab treatment response associated m6A methylation regulators

To explore the role of m6A methylation regulators in atezolizumab treatment, their differential expressions in different treatment outcomes were analyzed in all enrolled patients. The expressions of m6A methylation regulators were compared between the response group and non-response group using Wilcoxon's test. To further understand the interactions among 23 m6A regulators, their expression correlations were evaluated using the correlation plot and the Spearman correlation test.

Functional enrichment annotation

Metascape (http://metascape.org) is an online analysis tool designed to provide a comprehensive gene list annotation and analysis resource for experimental biologists, including gene annotation, functional enrichment, and construction of protein-protein interaction networks (31). In this study, we used Metascape to conduct the pathway and process enrichment of the m6A methylation regulators.

Construction of the gene signature and evaluation of performance

The model construction flowchart of this study is presented in Supplementary Figure S1. All enrolled patients were randomly divided into two groups at a ratio of 7:3. As a result, 209 patients were allocated to the training set, whereas 89 patients were allocated to the independent validation set. In the training set, the univariable logistic regression analyses were used to measure the potential associations between 23 m6A regulators and the therapeutic outcomes. And the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression algorithm was performed to select treatment response-related genes with nonzero coefficients among 23 m6A regulators (32). An m6Arelated gene signature was developed to evaluate the probability of treatment outcome for each patient using the gene score, which was calculated as a linear combination of the selected genes weighted by their respective coefficients. The discrimination of the gene signature was estimated by the area under the receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve (AUC) in the training set and then validated in the validation set.

Weighted gene co-expression network analysis

We used genes in the IMvigor210 dataset that were in the top 25% of variance from responders and non-responders to construct a weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA). Detailed descriptions regarding the WGCNA are shown in Supplementary Methods. To ensure the reliability of the WGCNA result, outlier samples that were distant from other samples were removed. An appropriate power cut-off threshold was selected to generate a scale-free topology overlap matric (TOM) and average linkage hierarchical clustering was used to detect gene modules. With the Dynamic Tree-Cut algorithm, gene modules were displayed as branched of dendrogram. The significance and correlation of module eigengenes of each gene module were generated. Then, we explored whether the module that most significantly correlated to treatment response contains m6A-related genes.

Relationship of treatment outcome-related genes with immune infiltration patterns

The CIBERSORT algorithm was utilized to estimate the infiltration of 22 types of immune cells in all samples (33). Furthermore, to further investigate the role of treatment outcome-related genes in atezolizumab therapy, the relationship of those m6A methylation regulators selected in the LASSO regression analysis with different types of immune cells were analyzed.

Construction of the nomogram

After univariable logistic regression analyses, the variables with P < 0.05 in the regression analyses were included in the

following multivariable analysis in the training set. Backward stepwise selection using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) was used to identify the significant predictors to develop the prediction model. A variance inflation factor (VIF) was calculated to assess the collinearity diagnostics of the multivariable logistic regression. According to the results of the multivariable logistic analysis, a nomogram was then constructed. A response score for each patient was calculated based on the multivariable logistic regression formula to reflect the probability of treatment response.

Assessment of performance of the nomogram

In the training set, the AUC was used to measure the discrimination performance of the nomogram. In addition, a calibration curve was performed to estimate the calibration of the nomogram, along with the Hosmer-Lemeshow test to assess the goodness-of-fit (34).

Validation of the nomogram

The performance of the nomogram was subsequently validated in the validation set. A response score can be calculated for each patient in the validation set by using the formula constructed in the training set. The AUC was then calculated, and the calibration curve and the Hosmer-Lemeshow test were conducted.

Clinical usefulness of the nomogram

All patients were categorized into the predicted response or the predicted non-response groups according to their response scores, whose optimal cut-off point value was determined by the maximum Youden index in the training set (35). The log-rank test was performed to compare the Kaplan-Meier overall survival curves of the predicted response and the predicted non-response groups in the training and validation sets. Moreover, to determine the clinical usefulness of the nomogram, a decision curve analysis (DCA) was performed by calculating the net benefits for different threshold probabilities using the training and validation sets separately (36).

Statistical analysis

All statistical tests were conducted using R statistical software (version 4.0.4; R Foundation for Statistical Computing). R packages used in this study, detailed descriptions regarding the LASSO algorithm, and DCA are available in Supplementary Methods. A two-sided *P*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Patient clinical characteristics

Patient clinical characteristics in the training and validation sets are shown in Table 1. Totally, 22.8% (68/298) of patients achieved complete response/partial response after atezolizumab treatment. In addition, 189 patients (63.4%) were dead during the follow-up. The median follow-up was 10.3 months (Interquartile range, 4.4–18.8). No significant difference was found between the training and validation set regarding the clinical characteristics (Table 1).

Atezolizumab treatment response associated m6A methylation regulators

Figures 1A, B show that six m6A methylation regulatory genes (*IGF2BP1*, *IGF2BP3*, *YTHDF2*, *HNRNPA2B1*, *FMR1*, and *FTO*) expressed differentially between the responders and non-responders. The expression levels of *IGF2BP1*, *IGF2BP3*, *YTHDF2*, *HNRNPA2B1*, and *FMR1* were significantly higher in the response group, while expression levels of *FTO* were significantly decreased in the nonresponse group. Among them, a significant difference in expression between bladder cancer and normal tissue in the TCGA-BLCA cohort is only detected in *IGF2BP3* (Supplementary Figure S2). The correlation heatmap indicated that *FMR1*, *YTHDF3*, *CBLL1*, *ZC3H13*, *METTL14*, *YTHDC1*, *KIAA1429*, and *LRPPRC* have a strong association with others (most r2>0.4; Figure 1C).

Supplementary Figure S3 presents the results of the functional enrichment analysis obtained from Metascape. As shown in Supplementary Figure S3A, we found that several pathways were enriched, including regulation of mRNA metabolic process, regulation of mRNA stability, mRNA metabolic process, mRNA modification, regulation of mRNA process, mRNA transport, and negative regulation of mRNA metabolic process. The network of enriched terms can be found in Supplementary Figure S3B and Table S2. Supplementary Figures S3C, D presents the protein-protein interaction network and Molecular Complex Detection (MCODE) components. Five treatment response associated m6A regulators were found in the MCODE_1 component.

Construction of the gene signature and evaluation of performance

In the univariable logistic regression analysis, *ELF3*, *FMR1*, *HNRNPA2B1*, *HNRNPC*, *IGF2BP3*, and *KIAA1429* were associated with the therapeutic outcomes in the training

Characteristic	Training set $(n = 209)$	Validation set $(n = 89)$	Р
Sex			
Male	164 (78.5)	69 (77.5)	0.979
Female	45 (21.5)	20 (22.5)	
IC			
IC0	59 (28.2)	25 (28.1)	0.757
IC1	81 (38.8)	31 (34.8)	
IC2	69 (33.0)	33 (37.1)	
TC*			
TC0	164 (78.8)	74 (83.1)	0.494
TC1	14 (6.7)	3 (3.4)	
TC2	30 (14.4)	12 (13.5)	
TMB, mut/Mb [†]			
Median (Interquartile range)	8 [5, 14]	8 [5, 14]	0.662
Treatment response			
Complete response	14 (6.7)	11 (12.4)	0.059
Partial response	26 (12.4)	17 (19.1)	
Stable disease	42 (20.1)	21 (23.6)	
Progressive disease	127 (60.8)	40 (44.9)	
Gene score			
Median (Interquartile range)	-1.490 [-1.615, -1.352]	-1.475 [-1.597, -1.286]	0.355

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of the patients.

Data are presented as No. (%) unless indicated otherwise.

P values were derived from the univariable association analyses between the training and validation set.

*One patient's PD-L1 expression on tumor cells (TC) data was not available.

†TMB data were available for 161 and 73 patients in the training and validation sets, respectively.



FIGURE 1

Relationship between the expression of m6A RNA methylation regulators and treatment response in urothelial carcinoma patients. (A) The heatmap shows the expression patterns of the 23 m6A methylation regulators between the response group and non-response group. (B) The violin plots exhibit the differential expression of the 23 m6A methylation regulators in the response group (red) and the non-response group (blue). (C) Spearman correlation analyses of the expression of the 23 m6A methylation regulators. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.001.

set (Figure 2A). Additionally, using the LASSO regression analysis, two treatment outcome-related genes (*FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1*) with nonzero coefficients were selected in the training set (Figures 2B, C). Based on the LASSO logistic regression analysis, a gene signature was constructed, which can be calculated as a gene score for each patient: gene score = $0.000545 \times FMR1$ expression level + $0.004127 \times HNRNPA2B1$ expression level - 2.30373.

The gene signature showed favorable discrimination, with an AUC of 0.634 (95% confidence interval [CI] 0.535-0.733) in the training set, which was validated in the validation set with an AUC of 0.646 (95% CI 0.520-0.773; Figure 2D).

Weighted gene co-expression network analysis

There was one outlier in the sample clustering (Supplementary Figure S4), which was excluded in the subsequent WGCNA. As 4 is the lowest value that allows obtaining more than 90% similarities in topology models (Figures 3A, B), a soft threshold power of 4 was selected. Finally, a total of 15 modules was obtained using a dynamic tree-cutting method (Figure 3C). Among these modules, the turquoise module was the most significantly correlated to treatment response (Pearson correlation coefficient = 0.23 and



FIGURE 2

Construction and assessment of the m6A-related gene signature. (A) Univariable logistic regression analyses evaluating the predictive ability of m6A methylation regulators for treatment response of urothelial carcinoma patients. (B) Tuning parameter (λ) selection in the LASSO model used 10-fold cross-validation *via* minimum criteria. Binomial deviances from the LASSO regression cross-validation procedure were plotted as a function of log(λ). The numbers along the upper x-axis represent the average number of predictors. The red dots indicate the average deviance values for each model with a given λ , and the vertical bars through the red dots show the upper and lower values of the deviances. The dotted vertical lines are drawn at the optimal values where the model provides its best fit to the data. The optimal λ value of 0.053 with log (λ) = -2.936 was chosen. (C) LASSO coefficient profiles of the 23 m6A methylation regulators. The dotted vertical line is drawn at the value selected using 10-fold cross-validation in Figure 2B, where optimal λ resulted in 2 nonzero coefficients. (D) ROC curves of the gene signature in the training and validation sets.

P < 0.001, Figure 3D). Of note, two identified treatment outcome-related genes, *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1*, are found in the turquoise module, indicating the important role of these two m6A regulators in the immunotherapy of bladder cancer.

Patients with low expression of *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1* were more likely to have death after receiving immunotherapy in the IMvigor210 cohort (Supplementary Figure S5). Their performance in prognostic prediction is also presented in Supplementary Table S3. However, we found that expression of *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1* were not correlated with the overall survival in bladder cancer patients based on TCGA-BLCA dataset, who were not treated with immunotherapy (Supplementary Figure S6). These results suggest that these two identified genes might influence the immunotherapy response through m6A methylation, affecting the prognosis of patients with urothelial carcinoma.

Relationship of treatment outcome-related genes with immune infiltration patterns

As shown in Figure 4, *FMR1* was negatively related to regulatory T cells, resting NK cells, M0 macrophages, M2 macrophages, was

positively correlated with activated CD4+ memory T cells, gamma delta T cells, activated myeloid dendritic cells, and eosinophil. *HNRNPA2B1* was negatively related with M0 macrophages, and was positively correlated with activated CD4+ memory T cells and activated myeloid dendritic cells. Note that *FMR1* was most negatively correlated with M2 macrophages, and *HNRNPA2B1* was most negatively correlated with M0 macrophages.

Construction of the nomogram and assessment of performance

According to the univariate logistic regression analyses, three candidate variables were found to meet the threshold of P < 0.05, including the gene signature, IC, and TMB (Table 2). They were identified as the significant predictors of treatment outcomes in the subsequent multivariable logistic regression analysis. The VIF values ranged from 1.000 to 1.003, indicating that there was no collinearity in the collinearity diagnosis. By incorporating IC, TMB, and the gene signature, a nomogram was developed (Figure 5A) and the response score could be calculated for each patient to reflect the probability of treatment response based on the multivariable logistic regression formula. The calculating formula was as follow: response score =



FIGURE 3

Weight Gene Co-expression Network Analysis. (A) Analysis of the scale-free index for various soft power thresholds. (B) Analysis of the mean connectivity of various soft power thresholds. (C) Dendrogram of the genes clustered based on a dissimilarity measure (1-TOM). (D) Average gene significances and errors in the modules associated with treatment response. The turquoise module was the most significantly correlated to treatment response. *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1* are in this module.



 $1.673 \times \text{gene score} + 0.481 \times \text{IC} + 0.093 \times \text{TMB} - 0.542$. The predicted treatment response probability was calculated using 1/ $[1 + \exp(-\text{response score})]$.

In the training set, an AUC of 0.768 (95% CI, 0.678-0.858) indicated that the nomogram had good discrimination (Figure 5B). The calibration curve of the nomogram estimating the probability of an effective treatment response demonstrated good agreement (Figure 5C), and the Hosmer-Lemeshow test yielded a non-significant statistic (P = 0.256), suggesting no departure from the perfect fit. The favorable calibration and discrimination

performance of the nomogram was confirmed in the validation set, with an AUC of 0.755 (95% CI 0.636-0.875; Figures 5B, C). The Hosmer-Lemeshow test also demonstrated a non-significant statistic for the nomogram (P = 0.214).

Clinical usefulness of the nomogram

After obtaining the response scores from the nomogram, the patients were classified into the predicted response and

TABLE 2 Univariate logistic regression analysis of the gene score and clinical candidate predictors in the training set.

Variables	Univariate logistic	regression	Multivariate regression	
	OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р
The gene score	6.970 (1.567-35.815)	0.014*	5.330 (1.072-30.194)	0.044*
Sex (male vs. female)	2.171 (0.861-6.648)	0.130	-	-
IC	1.894 (1.129-3.316)	0.019*	1.618 (0.933-2.910)	0.095
TC	1.170 (0.723-1.815)	0.499	-	-
ТМВ	1.105 (1.055-1.168)	<0.001*	1.098 (1.047-1.163)	<0.001*

*P < 0.05.

CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio.



FIGURE 5

Nomogram to predict the response of atezolizumab treatment for patients with advanced urothelial carcinoma and its performance evaluation. (A) Points were assigned for gene score, IC and TMB by drawing a line upward from the corresponding values to the "Points" line. The sum of these three points, plotted on the "Total points" line, corresponds to predictions of the treatment response. (B) ROC curves of the nomogram. (C) Calibration curves of the nomogram. The observed treatment outcome is shown compared with the nomogram using the training set and validation set, respectively. The calibration curves depict the calibration of the nomogram in terms of the agreement between the predicted treatment outcomes. The 45-degree dotted gray line represents a perfect prediction, and the solid lines represent the predictive performance of the nomogram. The distance between the solid line and the ideal line represents the superior predictive accuracy of the nomogram.

the predicted non-response groups according to the optimal cutoff value of 0.194. Notably, in the training set, patients in the predicted response group had better OS compared with those in the predicted non-response group (Figure 6A); the same was true in the validation set (Figure 6B).

In the training and validation sets, the DCA suggested that using the nomogram to detect a treatment response adds more net benefit than either the treat-all or treat-none scheme for a wide range of threshold probability (Figures 6C, D).

Discussion

Anti-PD1/PDL1 treatment has been increasingly recognized as a critical strategy in urothelial carcinoma. Precise targeting of patients is of great importance to increase benefits and costeffectiveness. In this study, we determined the associations between m6A methylation regulators and atezolizumab treatment response. Furthermore, we developed a nomogram incorporating the m6A-related gene signature and clinical variables for individualized prediction of the response to atezolizumab in



FIGURE 6

Clinical Usefulness of the Nomogram. (A, B) Kaplan-Meier survival curves of patients categorized into response and non-response groups in the training set (A) and validation set (B), respectively. (C, D) DCA of the nomogram in the training set (A) and validation set (B), respectively. The x-axis represents the threshold probability. The y-axis measures the net benefit. The black line depicts the net benefit of the strategy of treating no patients. The gray line depicts the net benefit of the strategy of treating all patients. The red line represents the nomogram. The net benefit was calculated by subtracting the proportion of all patients who are false positive from the proportion who are true positive, weighting by the relative harm of forgoing treatment compared with the negative consequences of unnecessary treatment. The threshold probability is where the expected benefit of treatment is equal to the expected benefit of avoiding treatment.

patients with urothelial carcinoma. This could aid in making treatment strategies and facilitate precision medicine.

In the study, differential expression analysis showed that six m6A methylation regulators, including *IGF2BP1*, *IGF2BP3*, *YTHDF2*, *HNRNPA2B1*, *FMR1*, and *FTO*, were significantly differentially expressed between the responders and non-responders. Moreover, the expression of these six regulators was significantly correlated with the treatment outcomes. These results may preliminarily indicate that these six m6A regulators have the potential of influencing the survival of urothelial carcinoma cells. Subsequently, we identified two critical m6A methylation regulators (i.e., *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1*) to develop an m6A-related gene signature for the prediction of the response

to atezolizumab. The gene signature showed satisfactory discrimination with an AUC of 0.634 in the training set, which was further confirmed in the validation set with an AUC of 0.646.

Furthermore, after using multivariable logistic regression analysis to select candidate predictors, a nomogram was built by incorporating the gene signature, IC, and TMB. The nomogram demonstrated favorable calibration and discrimination in the training set (AUC 0.768) and also performed well in the validation set (AUC 0.755). Moreover, the DCA suggested that within a broad threshold probability, using the prediction tool to predict treatment response adds more benefit than the treat-all or the treat-none scheme. The presented nomogram could serve as a reliable prediction tool and inform a clinician how big the possibility is that a certain patient with advanced urothelial carcinoma would respond to atezolizumab treatment. Furthermore, this tool would aid in better risk stratification among these patients, which could allow better allocation of health resources and avoid adverse effects brought by atezolizumab on patients that would not respond well.

In our study, two treatment outcome-related m6A methylation regulators, i.e., *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1*, were determined by the LASSO regression analysis. And a high expression of *FMR1* and *HNRNPA2B1* indicated a favorable treatment outcome. The result of the prognostic value of *FMR1* is in line with previous research where the expression levels of *FMR1* were positively correlated with the overall survival of testicular germ cell tumors (37). On the other hand, the finding regarding *HNRNPA2B1* is contrary to other studies where high expression of *HNRNPA2B1* was significantly associated with poor prognosis in osteosarcoma (38), esophageal cancer (39) and adrenocortical carcinoma (40).

FMR1 and HNRNPA2B1 were both regarded as m6A methylation reader (41-43). FMR1 plays an important role in promoting m6A-modified mRNA nuclear export (44, 45) and interacts with m6A reader YTHDF1 and YTHDF2 to maintain the stability of its mRNA targets (43, 46, 47). To our knowledge, there is a lack of studies between FMR1 and tumor immunity. In our study, FMR1 was correlated with several types of tumor-infiltrating immune cells, suggesting that FMR1 may be involved in the regulation of immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. HNRNPA2B1 mediates mRNA slicing, primary microRNA processing and facilitates nucleocytoplasmic trafficking of mRNAs (41, 48-50). Previous studies have found that high expression of HNRNPA2B1 promotes lymphatic metastasis (51) and recurrence (52) of bladder cancer. The function of HNRNPA2B1 in tumor immunity remains controversial. Some studies have shown that HNRNPA2B1 can promote tumor immunity and antitumor. For example, there is a significant positive correlation between HNRNPA2B1 and M1 macrophages in esophageal cancer (39), and the expression of HNRNPA2B1 is higher in M1 macrophages and T/NK cells than in other cells in glioblastoma (53). In contrast, other studies have revealed that HNRNPA2B1 inhibits tumor immunity. For example, HNRNPA2B1 is negatively correlated with the immune score, stromal score, and ESTIMATE in adrenal cortical cancer (40), as well as Th1 and Th17 in prostate cancer (54). In our study, HNRNPA2B1 was positively correlated with activated CD4+ memory T cells and activated myeloid dendritic cells, implying that HNRNPA2B1 may enhance the efficacy of immunotherapy through regulating the tumor-infiltrating immune cells.

However, further experiments are needed to clarify the mechanism between these two genes and tumor immunity.

Of note, tumor mutation burden (TMB) has been found to be able to predict treatment efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade and has become a reliable biomarker for the identification of patients that will benefit from immunotherapy in many tumor types (55–57). In our study, patients with high TMB were prone to achieve a positive response. This is consistent with some previous studies which have shown that high TMB is associated with response to anti-CTLA-4 in melanoma (58, 59), and anti-PD1 in NSCLC (60). Given that high TMB is correlated with a greater likelihood of presenting cancer neoantigens on cancer cell surface (61), it is reasonable to speculate that those cancers with high TMB tend to respond to immune checkpoint blockade drugs as this greater mutation load may increase the probability of recognition by neoantigenreactive T cells.

In addition, IC was positively correlated with an effective response in our study, which is in line with previous studies (62, 63). Webb et al. found that PD-L1 was mainly expressed by tumor-associated CD68⁺ macrophages rather than cancer cells, and showed a positive association with survival in high-grade serous carcinomas (62). PD-L1⁺ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes densities were favorable prognostic indicators for progression-free (PFS) and overall survival (OS) (63).

Our study has several limitations. First, although m6A methylation regulatory genes have been found to have high prognostic values in the response to atezolizumab among advanced urothelial carcinoma patients, their specific mechanisms in urothelial carcinoma progression and prognosis are not yet clear and warranted to be further investigated by *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. Second, external validation in a larger dataset is needed to confirm the performance of the nomogram.

In summary, two critical m6A methylation regulators associated with immunotherapy in patients with advanced urothelial carcinoma were identified in our study. In addition, the presented nomogram derived from the m6A-related gene signature and clinical variables could serve as a reliable tool to predict the response to atezolizumab in advanced urothelial carcinoma. Further external validation is needed to determine the performance of the nomogram before its application in clinical practice.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

JK, SL, JJZ, and TL conceptualized and designed the study. LZ, YY, JZ, ZS, and ML did the literature research, performed the study selection, and data extraction. JK, JJZ, and BL analyzed and interpreted the data. BL, JJZ, and TL supervised the study. All the authors wrote, reviewed, and/or revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (Grant No. 2021TQ0387, 2021M703709, 2022M713625), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81825016), Project Supported by Guangdong Province Higher Vocational Colleges & Schools Pearl River Scholar Funded Scheme (for TL), Guangdong Provincial Clinical Research Center for Urological Diseases

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA: Cancer J Clin Jan (2021) 71(1):7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654

2. Witjes JA, Bruins HM, Cathomas R, Comperat EM, Cowan NC, Gakis G, et al. European Association of urology guidelines on muscle-invasive and metastatic bladder cancer: Summary of the 2020 guidelines. *Eur Urology Jan* (2021) 79(1):82–104. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2020.03.055

3. Lenis AT, Lec PM, Chamie K, Mshs MD. Bladder cancer: A review. JAMA Nov 17 (2020) 324(19):1980–91. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.17598

4. Tregunna R. Combination treatment in advanced urothelial carcinoma. Nat Rev Urology Jul (2021) 18(7):383. doi: 10.1038/s41585-021-00489-7

5. Helmink BA, Khan MAW, Hermann A, Gopalakrishnan V, Wargo JA. The microbiome, cancer, and cancer therapy. *Nat Med Mar* (2019) 25(3):377–88. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0377-7

6. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *N Engl J Med Jun 28* (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200694

7. Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, et al. Overall survival with combined nivolumab and ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med Oct* 5 (2017) 377(14):1345–56. doi: 10.1056/NEJM0a1709684

8. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med Jun 28* (2012) 366(26):2443-54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200690

(2020B1111170006), the GuangDong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (Grant No. 2020A1515111119).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.1014861/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1 Data Source and Clinical Table.

9. Lee JS, Ruppin E. Multiomics prediction of response rates to therapies to inhibit programmed cell death 1 and programmed cell death 1 ligand 1. JAMA Oncol Aug 22 (2019) 5(11):1614–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.2311

10. Pauken KE, Dougan M, Rose NR, Lichtman AH, Sharpe AH. Adverse events following cancer immunotherapy: Obstacles and opportunities. *Trends Immunol Jun* (2019) 40(6):511–23. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.04.002

11. Khoja L, Day D, Wei-Wu Chen T, Siu LL, Hansen AR. Tumour- and classspecific patterns of immune-related adverse events of immune checkpoint inhibitors: a systematic review. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol* (2017) 28 (10):2377–85. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx286

12. Hegde PS, Chen DS. Top 10 challenges in cancer immunotherapy. Immunity Jan 14 (2020) 52(1):17-35. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.12.011

13. Shilts J, Severin Y, Galaway F, Müller-Sienerth N, Chong Z, Pritchard S, et al. A physical wiring diagram for the human immune system. *Nature* (2022) 608 (7922):397–404. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-05028-x

14. Riaz N, Havel JJ, Makarov V, Desrichard A, Urba WJ, Sims JS, et al. Tumor and microenvironment evolution during immunotherapy with nivolumab. *Cell Nov 2* (2017) 171(4):934–949.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.028

15. Yarchoan M, Hopkins A, Jaffee EM. Tumor mutational burden and response rate to PD-1 inhibition. *N Engl J Med Dec 21* (2017) 377(25):2500–1. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1713444

16. Yang Y, Hsu PJ, Chen YS, Yang YG. Dynamic transcriptomic m(6)A decoration: writers, erasers, readers and functions in RNA metabolism. *Cell Res Jun* (2018) 28(6):616–24. doi: 10.1038/s41422-018-0040-8

17. Paramasivam A, Priyadharsini JV, Raghunandhakumar S. Implications of m6A modification in autoimmune disorders. *Cell Mol Immunol May* (2020) 17 (5):550–1. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0307-0

18. Paramasivam A, Priyadharsini JV. Novel insights into m6A modification in circular RNA and implications for immunity. *Cell Mol Immunol Jun* (2020) 17 (6):668–9. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-0387-x

19. Paramasivam A, Priyadharsini JV, Raghunandhakumar S. N6-adenosine methylation (m6A): a promising new molecular target in hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. *Hypertens Res* (2020) 43(2):153-4. doi: 10.1038/s41440-019-0338-z

20. Fu Y, Dominissini D, Rechavi G, He C. Gene expression regulation mediated through reversible m(6)A RNA methylation. *Nat Rev Genet May* (2014) 15(5):293–306. doi: 10.1038/nrg3724

21. Tong J, Cao G, Zhang T, Sefik E, Amezcua Vesely MC, Broughton JP, et al. m(6)A mRNA methylation sustains treg suppressive functions. *Cell Res Feb* (2018) 28(2):253–6. doi: 10.1038/cr.2018.7

22. Pinello N, Sun S, Wong JJ. Aberrant expression of enzymes regulating m(6) A mRNA methylation: implication in cancer. *Cancer Biol Med Nov* (2018) 15 (4):323–34. doi: 10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2018.0365

23. Cheng M, Sheng L, Gao Q, Xiong Q, Zhang H, Wu M, et al. The m(6)A methyltransferase METTL3 promotes bladder cancer progression *via* AFF4/NF-κB/MYC signaling network. *Oncogene May* (2019) 38(19):3667–80. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0683-z

24. Gao Q, Zheng J, Ni Z, Sun P, Yang C, Cheng M, et al. The m(6)A methylation-regulated AFF4 promotes self-renewal of bladder cancer stem cells. *Stem Cells Int* (2020) 2020:8849218. doi: 10.1155/2020/8849218

25. Jin H, Ying X, Que B, Wang X, Chao Y, Zhang H, et al. N(6)methyladenosine modification of ITGA6 mRNA promotes the development and progression of bladder cancer. *EBioMed Sep* (2019) 47:195–207. doi: 10.1016/ j.ebiom.2019.07.068

26. Chen M, Nie ZY, Wen XH, Gao YH, Cao H, Zhang SF. m6A RNA methylation regulators can contribute to malignant progression and impact the prognosis of bladder cancer. *Bioscience Rep* (2019) 39(12):BSR20192892. doi: 10.1042/bsr20192892

27. Wang P, Wang X, Zheng L, Zhuang C. Gene signatures and prognostic values of m6A regulators in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Front Genet* (2020) 11:540186. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.540186

28. Zhao R, Li B, Zhang S, He Z, Pan Z, Guo Q, et al. The N(6)-Methyladenosine-Modified pseudogene HSPA7 correlates with the tumor microenvironment and predicts the response to immune checkpoint therapy in glioblastoma. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:653711. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.653711

29. Xu W, Tian X, Liu W, Anwaier A, Su J, Zhu W, et al. m(6)A regulatormediated methylation modification model predicts prognosis, tumor microenvironment characterizations and response to immunotherapies of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:709579. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2021.709579

30. Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGF β attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. *Nature Feb 22* (2018) 554(7693):544–8. doi: 10.1038/nature25501

31. Zhou Y, Zhou B, Pache L, Chang M, Khodabakhshi AH, Tanaseichuk O, et al. Metascape provides a biologist-oriented resource for the analysis of systemslevel datasets. *Nat Commun Apr 3* (2019) 10(1):1523. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09234-6

32. Tibshirani R. Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso: a retrospective. J R Stat Soc Ser B Stat Methodol (2011) 73:273–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9868.2011.00771.x

33. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with CIBERSORT. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ)* (2018) 1711:243–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1_12

34. Kramer AA, Zimmerman JE. Assessing the calibration of mortality benchmarks in critical care: The hosmer-lemeshow test revisited. *Crit Care Med Sep* (2007) 35(9):2052–6. doi: 10.1097/01.Ccm.0000275267.64078.B0

35. Camp RL, Dolled-Filhart M, Rimm DL. X-Tile: a new bio-informatics tool for biomarker assessment and outcome-based cut-point optimization. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(21):7252–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-04-0713

36. Vickers AJ, Elkin EB. Decision curve analysis: a novel method for evaluating prediction models. *Med decision making an Int J Soc Med Decision Making Nov-Dec* (2006) 26(6):565–74. doi: 10.1177/0272989x06295361

37. Cong R, Ji C, Zhang J, Zhang Q, Zhou X, Yao L, et al. m6A RNA methylation regulators play an important role in the prognosis of patients with testicular germ cell tumor. *Transl Androl Urol. Feb* (2021) 10(2):662–79. doi: 10.21037/tau-20-963

38. Li J, Rao B, Yang J, Liu L, Huang M, Liu X, et al. Dysregulated m6A-related regulators are associated with tumor metastasis and poor prognosis in osteosarcoma. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:769. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00769

39. Zhao H, Xu Y, Xie Y, Zhang L, Gao M, Li S, et al. m6A regulators is differently expressed and correlated with immune response of esophageal cancer. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:650023. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.650023

40. Jin Y, Wang Z, He D, Zhu Y, Hu X, Gong L, et al. Analysis of m6A-related signatures in the tumor immune microenvironment and identification of clinical prognostic regulators in adrenocortical carcinoma. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:637933. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.637933

41. Alarcón CR, Goodarzi H, Lee H, Liu X, Tavazoie S, Tavazoie SF. HNRNPA2B1 is a mediator of m(6)A-dependent nuclear RNA processing events. *Cell Sep 10* (2015) 162(6):1299–308. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.011

42. Arguello AE, DeLiberto AN, Kleiner RE. RNA Chemical proteomics reveals the N(6)-methyladenosine (m(6)A)-regulated protein-RNA interactome. *J Am Chem Soc Dec 6* (2017) 139(48):17249–52. doi: 10.1021/jacs.7b09213

43. Edupuganti RR, Geiger S, Lindeboom RGH, Shi H, Hsu PJ, Lu Z, et al. N(6)methyladenosine (m(6)A) recruits and repels proteins to regulate mRNA homeostasis. *Nat Struct Mol Biol Oct* (2017) 24(10):870–8. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.3462

44. Edens BM, Vissers C, Su J, Arumugam S, Xu Z, Shi H, et al. FMRP modulates neural differentiation through m(6)A-dependent mRNA nuclear export. *Cell Rep Jul 23* (2019) 28(4):845–854.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.06.072

45. Hsu PJ, Shi H, Zhu AC, Lu Z, Miller N, Edens BM, et al. The RNA-binding protein FMRP facilitates the nuclear export of n (6)-methyladenosine-containing mRNAs. J Biol Chem Dec 27 (2019) 294(52):19889–95. doi: 10.1074/jbc.AC119.010078

46. Zhang F, Kang Y, Wang M, Li Y, Xu T, Yang W, et al. Fragile X mental retardation protein modulates the stability of its m6A-marked messenger RNA targets. *Hum Mol Genet Nov* 15 (2018) 27(22):3936–50. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddy292

47. Worpenberg L, Paolantoni C, Longhi S, Mulorz MM, Lence T, Wessels HH, et al. Ythdf is a N6-methyladenosine reader that modulates Fmr1 target mRNA selection and restricts axonal growth in drosophila. *EMBO J Feb 15* (2021) 40(4): e104975. doi: 10.15252/embj.2020104975

48. Wu Y, Yang X, Chen Z, Tian L, Jiang G, Chen F, et al. m(6)A-induced lncRNA RP11 triggers the dissemination of colorectal cancer cells *via* upregulation of Zeb1. *Mol Cancer Apr 13* (2019) 18(1):87. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1014-2

49. Jiang F, Tang X, Tang C, Hua Z, Ke M, Wang C, et al. HNRNPA2B1 promotes multiple myeloma progression by increasing AKT3 expression *via* m6A-dependent stabilization of ILF3 mRNA. *J Hematol Oncol Apr 1* (2021) 14(1):54. doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01066-6

50. Liu X, Liu Y, Liu Z, Lin C, Meng F, Xu L, et al. CircMYH9 drives colorectal cancer growth by regulating serine metabolism and redox homeostasis in a p53-dependent manner. *Mol Cancer Sep 8* (2021) 20(1):114. doi: 10.1186/s12943-021-01412-9

51. Chen C, Luo Y, He W, Zhao Y, Kong Y, Liu H, et al. Exosomal long noncoding RNA LNMAT2 promotes lymphatic metastasis in bladder cancer. *J Clin Invest Jan 2* (2020) 130(1):404–21. doi: 10.1172/jci130892

52. Li X, Huang C, Zhang X, Yang T, Zuo S, Fu C, et al. Discovery of bladder cancer biomarkers in paired pre- and postoperative urine samples. *Transl Androl Urol. Aug* (2021) 10(8):3402–14. doi: 10.21037/tau-21-562

53. Yuan F, Cai X, Cong Z, Wang Y, Geng Y, Aili Y, et al. Roles of the m(6)A modification of RNA in the glioblastoma microenvironment as revealed by single-cell analyses. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:798583. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.798583

54. Liu Z, Zhong J, Zeng J, Duan X, Lu J, Sun X, et al. Characterization of the m6A-associated tumor immune microenvironment in prostate cancer to aid immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:735170. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.735170

55. Hugo W, Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Song C, Moreno BH, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. *Cell Mar* 24 (2016) 165(1):35–44. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2016.02.065

56. Carbone DP, Reck M, Paz-Ares L, Creelan B, Horn L, Steins M, et al. Firstline nivolumab in stage IV or recurrent non-Small-Cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med Jun 22* (2017) 376(25):2415–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1613493

57. Chowell D, Morris L, Grigg C, Weber J, Samstein R, Makarov V, et al. Patient HLA class I genotype influences cancer response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Sci (New York NY)* (2018) 359(6375):582–7. doi: 10.1126/science.aao4572

58. Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. *N Engl J Med Dec 4* (2014) 371(23):2189–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1406498

59. Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. *Sci* (*New York NY) Oct* 9 (2015) 350(6257):207–11. doi: 10.1126/science.aad0095

60. Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1

blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Sci (New York NY) Apr 3 (2015) 348 (6230):124–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa1348

61. Peggs KS, Segal NH, Allison JP. Targeting immunosupportive cancer therapies: accentuate the positive, eliminate the negative. *Cancer Cell Sep* (2007) 12(3):192–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2007.08.023

62. Webb JR, Milne K, Kroeger DR, Nelson BH. PD-L1 expression is associated with tumor-infiltrating T cells and favorable prognosis in high-grade serous

ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol May* (2016) 141(2):293-302. doi: 10.1016/ j.ygyno.2016.03.008

63. Darb-Esfahani S, Kunze CA, Kulbe H, Sehouli J, Wienert S, Lindner J, et al. Prognostic impact of programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) and PD-ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression in cancer cells and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in ovarian high grade serous carcinoma. *Oncotarget Jan 12* (2016) 7(2):1486–99. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.6429

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Weipei Zhu, Soochow University, China Hongbo Xu, Wenzhou Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhirong Li Izr726@126.com Shujun Li Iishujun2333@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 02 August 2022 ACCEPTED 24 August 2022 PUBLISHED 15 September 2022

CITATION

Niu R, Zhao F, Dong Z, Li Z and Li S (2022) A stratification system of ferroptosis and iron-metabolism related LncRNAs guides the prediction of the survival of patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Front. Oncol.* 12:1010074. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.1010074

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Niu, Zhao, Dong, Li and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A stratification system of ferroptosis and iron-metabolism related LncRNAs guides the prediction of the survival of patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma

Ren Niu^{1†}, Fangchao Zhao^{2†}, Zefang Dong², Zhirong Li^{3*} and Shujun Li^{2*}

¹Department of Oncology, The Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University, Shijiazhuang, China, ²Department of Thoracic Surgery, The Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University, Shijiazhuang, China, ³Clinical Laboratory Center, The Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University, Shijiazhuang, China

Ferroptosis and iron-metabolism have been widely reported to play an important role in cancer. Long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) are increasingly recognized as the crucial mediators in the regulation of ferroptosis and iron metabolism. A systematic understanding of ferroptosis and iron-metabolism related IncRNAs (FIRLs) in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) is essential for prognosis prediction. Herein, Pearson's correlation analysis was carried out between ferroptosis and iron-metabolism-related genes (FIRGs) and all lncRNAs to derive the FIRLs. Based on weighted gene co-expression network exploration (WCGNA), least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression and Cox regression analysis, a risk stratification system, including 3 FIRLs (LINC01068, TMEM92-AS1, AC243967.2), was established. According to Kaplan-Meier analysis, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis, and univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses, the risk stratification system had excellent predictive ability and clinical relevance. The validity of the established prognostic signature was further examined in TCGA (training set) and GEO (validation set) cohorts. A nomogram with enhanced precision for forecasting OS was set up on basis of the independent prognostic elements. Functional enrichment analysis revealed that three FIRLs took part in various cellular functions and signaling pathways, and the immune status was varied in the high-risk and low-risk groups. In the end, the oncogenic effects of LINC01068 was explored using in vitro researches. Overall, a risk stratification system of three FIRLs was found to have significant prognostic value for ESCC and may serve as a ferroptosis-associated therapeutic target in the clinic.

KEYWORDS

esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, ferroptosis, lncRNA, prognostic signature, stratification system

Introduction

As a common malignant digestive system cancer, esophageal carcinoma was number 8 in morbidity and number 6 in mortality across the world (1). On basis of the National Central Cancer Registry of China (NCCR) statistics, Chinese esophageal cancer patients comprise up to 70% of all esophageal cancer cases worldwide. Esophageal adenocarcinoma and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) are two histopathological subtypes of esophageal cancer. In China, 90% of patients with esophageal cancer are ESCC (2, 3). Standardized surgery is the main treatment for esophageal cancer; however, surgery alone does not often lead to a radical cure for patients with locally advanced esophageal cancer (4). Studies on radiotherapy and chemotherapy, targeted therapy, and biological therapy for the treatment of esophageal cancer have continued over the years; however, the 5-year survival rate of patients with esophageal cancer is less than 20% (5, 6). Hence, new sensitive biomarkers for forecasting the survival of ESCC patients shall be identified as soon as possible.

Iron is elementary for the maintenance of normal roles and homeostasis in cells. Accordingly, an imbalance in iron metabolism is related to the occurrence, growth, and metastasis of cancers closely (7). To be notable, iron metabolism plays double roles in tumor cells (8). In the one aspect, tumor cells proliferate by more depending on iron than normal cells, which is a phenomenon of iron addiction (9). In the other aspect, as iron concentrations increase, cell death will be caused because of accumulated reactive oxygen species and lipid peroxidation outcomes, termed ferroptosis (10, 11). As a necrotic cell death modality, ferroptosis is varied from apoptosis, necrosis, and autophagy in a morphological, biochemical, and genetical way (12). Recently, ferroptosis was revealed to exert various effects on biological regulation and signal transduction paths, resulting in tumor generation and progression (13, 14). Ferroptosis and iron metabolism have also been recognized as hidden preventive or therapeutic measures to cause cancer cell death (15, 16).

Long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) have a molecular weight greater than 200 nucleotides. Although lncRNAs account for at least 80% of the human genome, they do not take part in protein translation (17, 18). According to recent studies, the dysregulation of specific lncRNAs is inescapably associated with the ferroptosis process of malignant cancers (19). Further, the upregulation of the lncRNA, NEAT1, was found to potentially regulate ferroptosis sensitivity in non-small cell lung cancer (20). The upregulation of the lncRNA, LINC00336, was also found to inhibit ferroptosis in lung cancer by acting as a contradictive endogenous RNA (21). Nowadays, the effect of lncRNAs on the ferroptosis process of ESCC is unknown.

In the present study, we constructed a risk stratification system, including 3 ferroptosis and iron-metabolism related lncRNAs (FIRLs), and systematically assessed the correlation of the risk stratification system with the prognosis and clinicopathological features of ESCC patients. Thereafter, we established a nomogram that incorporates the FIRL signature and clinical factors to forecast the survival of these patients. Functional enrichment analysis revealed that three FIRLs were involved in various cellular roles and signaling paths, and the immune state was varied in the high-risk and low-risk groups. In the end, the oncogenic effects of LINC01068 were explored using in vitro researches, and a new FIRL risk stratification system was developed to enhance the forecast of clinical results in patients with ESCC. To the best of our knowledge, this study firstly constructs and validates a FIRL prognostic signature for ESCC patients.

Materials and methods

Datasets and data pre-processing

The RNA-seq transcriptome information and clinical information of ESCC patients were extracted from TCGA database. LncRNAs and protein-coding genes were recognized on basis of annotation documents from the GENCODE database (22). In addition, 296 ferroptosis and iron-metabolism related genes (FIRGs) (Table S1), including ferroptosis regulators, ferroptosis markers, ferroptosis pathway, iron uptake and transport, and iron ion homeostasis, were extracted based on previous studies (23). The GSE53624 dataset, which includes RNA-seq information and related survival data of patients suffering from ESCC, was available from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database. The multi-lncRNA prognostic signature was established with the data from TCGA database as the training cohort while the predictive value of the risk score was determined with the data from GEO as the validation cohort. We performed TPM transformation on the RNA-Seq data of TCGA cohort (FPKM format) and then used the combat method in the"sva"package to remove the batch effect with GEO cohort.

Identification of FIRLs

Pearson correlation analysis was conducted using the 13,832 lncRNAs and 296 FIRGs identified (p < 0.01, correlation coefficient > 0.3). Ultimately, 1,005 FIRLs were screened for follow-up bioinformatics analysis.

Establishment of the weighted gene co-expression network analysis network

WGCNA is an integrated algorithm for clustering greatly related genes and identifying great modules or core genes related to a given phenotype (24). The present research employed the WGCNA package to set up a gene co-expression network for FIRLs. Briefly, sample clustering was performed using the mean linkage approach to identify and eliminate outlier samples. Thereafter, a suitable soft thresholding power ($\beta = 6$) was selected to realize a scale-free topology fitting indicator > 0.9. Outlier samples were eliminated using a suitable cut-off value. As the clustering performed well, a cut-line of 70 was set. Adjacency was then transformed into a topological overlap matrix (TOM) and the corresponding dissimilarity matrix (1-TOM), which was applied to make the gene clustering dendrogram with a minimum module of 50. The merging of greatly similar dynamic modules into larger modules was made at a cutline of 0.6. The associations between the modules and the immune mark were evaluated with Pearson correlation analysis. While identifying the most obvious module, the calculation of gene significance (GS) and module membership (MM) was performed. Key genes were identified as those with GS > 0.7and MM > 0.7.

Construction of the risk stratification system

On basis of the clinical information of ESCC cases in TCGA, univariate Cox regression for FIRLs in the hub module was adopted for the identification of FIRLs associated with total survival for risk stratification system establishment. LncRNAs with a P value less than 0.01 were regarded as obvious prognostic signature. To avoid the collinearity of high-dimensional transcriptome data, the "glmnet" package was employed for least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression. Finally, the best risk stratification system on basis of FIRLs was established using multivariate Cox regression. In particular, the risk score was determined for ESCC cases using the formula below: risk score = $(lncRNA \ 1 \ expression \times coefficient) + (lncRNA \ 2$ expression \times coefficient) + ... + (lncRNA n expression \times coefficient). According to the cut-off value of the risk score, ESCC patients in TCGA and GEO cohorts were fallen into high-risk or low-risk groups.

Assessment of the clinical benefit

Kaplan-Meier analysis and area under the ROC curves were used for the evaluation of the survival benefit, while independent prognostic factors for patients with ESCC were identified by

performing univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses. On basis of the median value of the risk score and the total survival among various groups were compared through Kaplan-Meier analysis with the log-rank test. Thereafter, the predictive precision of the FIRL signatures was evaluated by conducting a time-dependent ROC curve analysis with "survivalROC" R package. To confirm the value of the stratification system for evaluating the prognosis of ESCC patients, we combined clinical variables and performed univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses in TCGA and GEO cohorts, respectively. To confirm the prognostic value of the stratification system for evaluating different clinical subtypes of ESCC patients, we combined patients from the GEO and TCGA cohorts into different clinical subtypes to explore the association between risk scores and clinical subgroups. A stratification system for predicting survival was also assessed using PCA, AUC, and decision curve analysis (DCA) curve to weigh the clinical practicability.

Visualization of the risk stratification system

Multivariate Cox regression analysis was adopted for the estimation of hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). The "rms" R packages were employed to formulate a nomogram. The establishment of a prognostic nomogram included all independent prognostic elements recognized by multivariate Cox regression analysis to determine the potential 1-, 3-, and 5-OS of ESCC. The predictive ability of the nomogram was evaluated with AUC and calibration curve. A stratification system for predicting survival was also assessed using PCA, AUC, and DCA curve to weigh the clinical practicability.

Construction of a potential regulatory network and functional analysis

For exploring the hidden biological processes involving the 3 FIRLs, we identified 49 possible upstream regulated FIRGs through Pearson correlation analysis. Thereafter, gene enrichment analysis was performed with differentially expressed FIRGs using "ggplot2" and "clusterProfiler" packages in R software.

Immune landscape analysis

We used single-sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA) (25) to conduct immune landscape analysis and then calculate the scores of infiltrating immune cells to evaluate the activity of immune-related pathways.

Vitro assays

In this study, we used cell culture, transfection, CCK-8, and qRT-PCR as in vitro assays. Human normal esophageal epithelium cells (HET-1A) and ESCC cell lines (Eca109, TE-1, and KYSE-150) were purchased from the Shanghai Cell Institute Country Cell Bank. All cell were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin, and maintained in a humidified incubator at 37°C, 5% CO2. Medium, FBS and Penicillin-Streptomycin were purchased from Corning. Guangzhou Ribobio Co., Ltd generated and annealed small-interfering RNA (si-RNA-1/2/3) oligos for LINC01068 and a general negative control. Following the manufacturer's procedure, the transfection of each siRNA duplex into cells was made with Lipofectamine[®] 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). RNA samples from the cultured cells were extracted using the FastPure[®] Cell/Tissue Total RNA Isolation Kit V2 (Vazyme, Nanjing, China). The concentration and purification of RNA were detected by the Nanodrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). Cell proliferation was monitored using the CCK-8 kit (Dojindo, USA). Details of these methods are provided elsewhere (26). Meanwhile, a total of 10 tumor tissue samples and nearby normal esophageal tissue samples were obtained from ESCC patients who underwent tumor resection. In previous studies, we have cryopreserved cDNA in liquid nitrogen container. Therefore, lncRNAs expression of clinical samples was validated according to previous methods (27, 28).

Results

Identification of hub module invovled in disease progression

Based on previous literature, we collected 296 FIRGs (Table S1). For TCGA cohort, Pearson correlation analysis was performed using the 296 genes and all annotated lncRNAs. Ultimately, 1005 FIRLs were we identified (Figure 1A). The clustering of each sample was good, and only one outlier sample was eliminated (the cutting line was 500). Topological calculation was then performed with a soft threshold value of 1 to 20, and an optimal soft threshold value of 4 (Figure 1B). According to the soft threshold, the relationship matrix was finally converted into a TOM, and the related modules were classified according to the TOM. The number of genes in each module was not less than 50, and the shear height of gene modules was 0.6 (Figure 1C). By using Pearson correlation analysis to decide the correlation between the modules and clinical traits, seven modules were identified. Of note, the blue module had the strongest correlation with pathological staging and survival status. Accordingly, this module was recognized as the core module in ESCC patients (Figure 1D). Finally, the 151



FIGURE 1

Screening of survival-related lncRNAs by WGCNA. (A) Identification of FIRLs using Pearson correlation analysis. (B) Soft power in WGCNA. (C) Clustering and merging of the co-expression modules. (D) Association heatmap of module genes and clinical features. Red means positive association, and blue refers to negative association. Correlation grows as the color darkens. FIRLs in the module were found to be associated with the occurrence of ESCC closely (Table S2).

Construction of risk stratification system

To identify survival-related FIRLs, univariate Cox analyses were performed using 151 FIRLs in the blue module. Finally, 16 FIRLs were screened for subsequent analyses (Figure 2A). For further decreasing the number of genes in the signature, the subjection of 16 FIRLs to LASSO regression analysis was performed (Figures 2B, C). Thereafter, three FIRLs from LASSO were retrieved and subjected to multivariate Cox regression analysis to develop a risk stratification system (Figure 2D; Table 1). The calculation of the risk score of ESCC patients was made below: risk score = $0.5697 \times LINC01068 + 0.5154 \times TMEM92$ -AS1 + $0.5964 \times AC243967.2$).

Clinical benefits of the risk stratification system

On basis of the cut-off value of risk scores, ESCC patients from the TCGA cohort were divided into two risk groups: high-risk (n = 40) and low-risk (n = 40). Using the same cutoff value, ESCC patients in the GEO cohort were fallen into high-risk (n = 31) and low-risk (n = 88) groups. As shown in Figure 3A, the AUCs of the 3 FIRL risk stratification system performed with TCGA cohort were 0.712, 0.822, and 0.883 at 1, 3, and 5 years. In addition, the 1-year survival prediction in the GEO cohort showed good results (Figure 3B). The association between the risk mark and prognosis of ESCC patients was explored with the Kaplan-Meier method and logrank tests. Patients in the high-risk group were found to have a lower survival rate than those in the low-risk group (P < 0.001) (Figures 3C, D). Furthermore, in the prediction of median survival time, ROC curve analysis revealed that the risk mark showed better predictive performance than the other clinicopathological features (Figures 3E, F). DCA also suggested that in actual clinical applications, this risk score had a better value than traditional pathological staging (Figures 3G, H).

Risk stratification system is an independent prognostic element for ESCC patients

For determining whether the risk score was an independent prognostic element for ESCC patients, univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were conducted using the clinical features and risk score. Based on the outcomes of univariate Cox regression analysis, the risk score was greatly related to OS in both TCGA and GEO cohorts (TCGA cohort: HR = 2.769, 95% CI = 1.175-7.866, p = 0.036; GEO cohort: HR = 1.443, 95% CI 1.143-1.821, p = 0.002) (Figures 4A, B). After the modification for other confounders, the risk score was still an independent predictor of OS in multivariate Cox regression analysis



Construction of the risk stratification system. (A) The FIRLs that significantly correlated with survival were identified by univariate analysis. (B, C) LASSO-validation. (D) Forest plot of hazard ratios showing the prognostic value of the 3 FIRLs. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01.

LncRNA	coef	HR	HR.95L	HR.95H	P-value
LINC01068	0.5697	1.7678	1.1665	2.6788	0.0072
TMEM92-AS1	0.5154	1.674	0.9593	2.9223	0.0697
AC243967.2	0.5964	1.8157	1.0883	3.0292	0.0224

TABLE 1 The optimal prognostic risk stratification system of 3 lncRNAs by multivariate Cox regression analysis.



FIGURE 3

Clinical benefits of the risk stratification system. (A, B) Time-dependent ROC curves. (C, D) Kaplan-Meier analysis of high- and low-risk patients. (E, F) ROC curve analysis revealed the prognostic accuracy of risk mark and clinicopathological coefficients. (G, H) Decision curve analysis (DCA).



FIGURE 4

Evaluation of the prognostic values of risk stratification. (A, C) Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses of the risk scores in TCGA. (B, D) Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses of the risk scores in GEO. (TCGA cohort: HR = 3.750, 95% CI = 1.151-12.219, p = 0.028; GEO cohort: HR = 1.242, 95% CI = 1.115-1.687, p = 0.025; Figures 4C, D).

Subgroup analysis of the risk stratification system in the total cohort

To determine the prognostic value of the risk stratification system for ESCC patients based on different clinical characteristics, subgroups were derived on basis of age (\leq 65 vs. >65 years), sex (male vs. female), clinical phase (I-II vs. III-IV), T phase (T0-T2 vs. T3-T4), and N phase (N0 vs. N1-N3). The results indicated that the risk stratification system has prognostic significance between high and low risk patients for N0, I-II, and male subgroups. Patients in the high-risk group shown significantly poorer OS than patients in the low-risk group (Figures 5A–J). In sum, these results testify that the risk stratification system exerts critical roles in determining the prognosis of ESCC patients.

Survival analysis and clinical correlation analysis of FIRLs in the risk stratification system

For further exploring the association between the risk stratification system and clinical parameters, we constructed two composite heat maps for patients from TCGA (Figure 6A)

and GEO (Figure 6E) cohorts. A heat map could display the risk scores, clinicopathological parameters, and FIRL expression for each group. A survival analysis of FIRLs participating in the risk stratification system was also performed. Based on the results, AC243967.2 and LINC01068 were identified as high-risk factors for ESCC patients (high expression of AC243967.2 and LINC01068 was related to poor survival rate of ESCC patients) (P < 0.05) in TCGA cohort (Figures 6B–D). In the GEO cohort, LINC01068 was proved to be a high risk factor for ESCC (Figures 6F–H).

Construction and verification of nomogram based on the risk stratification system

The OS of patients with ESCC was predicted by establishing a nomogram on basis of independent predictive elements originated from a multivariate Cox risk regression model (Figure 7A). According to the prediction model calibration curve, consistent predicted and actual survival rates for the training and validation sets were revealed (Figures 7B–G).

Regulatory network of the potential biological functions of 3 FIRLs

To explore the potential biological processes involving the three FIRLs, 49 possible upstream regulated FIRGs were





FIGURE 6

Survival analysis and clinical correlation analysis of FIRLs in risk stratification. (A) A composite heat map containing clinical information and expression of 3 FIRLs in TCGA cohort. (B-D) Survival analysis of FIRLs participating in risk stratification in TCGA cohort. (E) A composite heat map containing clinical information and expression of 3 FIRLs in the GEO cohort. (F-H) Survival analysis of FIRLs participating in risk stratification in the GEO cohort. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.



identified through Pearson correlation analysis (Figure 8A). The analyses of GO functional enrichment and KEGG pathway enrichment were conducted on the 49 FIRGs. On basis of the outcomes of KEGG analysis, in addition to ferroptosis, 49 FIRGs were mainly enriched in the IL-17 signaling pathway, HIF-1 signaling pathway, VEGF signaling pathway, and TNF signaling pathway (Figure 8B). Further, GO analysis results indicated that in addition to iron death, iron metabolism, and other related processes, the 49 FIRGs were related to DNA damage response and signal transduction by p53 class mediator processes (Figures 8C-E).

Immunity analyses

Given that ferroptosis and iron-metabolism plays a critical role in the immune processes in human cells, especially in the tumor microenvironment, we compared the enrichment scores



FIGURE 8

Analysis of the potential functions of 3 FIRLs. (A) Regulation network diagram of the 49 upstream coding FIRGs of 3 FIRLs. (B) KEGG enrichment analysis of 49 upstream FIRGs. (C–E) GO enrichment analysis of 49 upstream FIRGs.



of 16 types of immune cells and the activity of 13 immunerelated pathways between the low- and high-risk groups in both the TCGA and GEO cohorts by employing ssGSEA. In the TCGA cohort (Figure 9A), the high-risk group generally had high levels of infiltration of immune cells, especially of DCs, mast cells, pDCs, T helper (Th) cells (Tfh and Th1 cells), and tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), than the low-risk group. In addition, patients from the high-risk group had significantly higher activity of chemotactic cytokines receptors (CCR) pathway, check-point, human leukocyte antigen (HLA) pathway, parainflammation, T cell co-inhibition, T cell co-stimulation, and type I IFN response pathway compared to patients in low-risk group (Figure 9B). When assessing the immune status in the GEO cohort, better conclusions were drawn. The infiltration level of 16 immune cells was higher in the high-risk group than in the low-risk group. Thirteen immune-related pathways showed higher activity in the high-risk group than in the low-risk group (Figures 9C, D).

In vitro assays for validation

To further validate the bioinformatics results, the expression level of LINC01068 mRNA in ESCC cell lines was detected. It was found that the expression of LINC01068 is upregulated in ESCC cell lines by comparing with the normal cell line, as shown in Figure 10A. In addition, si-LINC01068 and si-NC were transfected into Eca109 and TE-1 cells, respectively, and qRT-PCR was adopted for the detection of the expression of LINC01068. LINC01068 expression was downregulated in ESCC cell lines after transfection, as shown in Figures 10B, C. Similarly, the CCK-8 assays revealed that ESCC cell proliferation was inhibited after transfection with LINC01068, as shown in Figures 10D, E. Meanwhile, qRT-PCR was used to detect the expression of the three lncRNAs in 10 pairs of tissues (Figure S1). The results were consistent with the prediction results in public databases. Tumor tissues showed obviously higher expression levels than the normal esophageal tissues.

Discussion

The transformation of next-generation sequencing has been performed for prognosis of cancer. In clinical routines, the prognosis of cancer patients cannot be adequately predicted with the conventional staging system. Biomarkers associated with tumor diagnosis and prognosis are thus urgently needed (29, 30). Due to the disturbances in iron metabolism, overmuch intracellular iron storage was caused with ferroptosis induced (31). As a hallmark of tumors, Ferroptosis is greatly related to the prognosis of cancer patients (32). Because of the significant effect of ferroptosis and iron metabolism on cancer, remarkable attention has been paid to its associated lncRNAs (33).



To the best of our knowledge, this research firstly identifies and analyzes prognostic FIRLs in ESCC in a comprehensive way. On basis of previous studies, we collected 296 FIRGs. In TCGA cohort, Pearson correlation analysis of 296 genes and all annotated lncRNAs was performed, and 1005 FIRLs were identified. Through WGCNA, 151 core FIRLs were identified in the blue module, and a risk stratification system comprising 3 FIRLs (LINC01068, TMEM92-AS1, and AC243967.2) was established by integrating LASSO regression and Cox regression analyses. The assignment of all patients to highand low-risk groups was performed on basis of risk scores. On basis of Kaplan-Meier curve analysis, high-risk groups were related to dismal OS by comparing with low-risk groups. The ROC curve indicates the excellent performance of our risk stratification system. The AUCs of the ROC plots for one-, three-, and five-year OS in TCGA cohort were 0.712, 0.822, and 0.883. In addition, the stratification system for predicting survival was assessed by PCA, AUC, and DCA curve to weigh the clinical practicability. Based on the results, our risk signature consistently realized good predictive value by comparing with other risk prognostic signatures published for ESCC. The GEO cohort was adopted to verify the established prognostic signature. Moreover, other clinicopathological features and prognostic signatures were combined for Cox analysis, which ultimately verified that the constructed risk stratification system may be used as an independent prognostic element for ESCC patients. Herein, while establishing a nomogram, whether the nomogram was precise at predicting one-, three-, and five-year OS was determined with calibration plots. Altogether, our findings indicate that the risk stratification system could be a

high-class predictor relative to the conventional clinical indicator. To determine the potential biological processes involving the 3 FIRLs, we identified 49 possible upstream regulated FIRGs through Pearson correlation analysis, and further conducted functional enrichment analysis with these genes to dig the potential biological pathways.

Tumor-related immune responses play important roles in cell infiltration and metastasis in the tumor microenvironment, whereas ferroptosis and lncRNAs play key regulatory roles in tumor-related immune responses (34, 35). Notably, the complex interplay between ferroptosis-related lncRNAs and the tumor microenvironment not only plays a pivotal role in tumor development but also has significant effects on immunotherapeutic efficacy and overall survival (36). In the TCGA cohort, by immune infiltration analysis, the high-risk group generally had high levels of infiltration of immune cells, especially of DCs, mast cells, pDCs, T helper (Th) cells (Tfh and Th1 cells), and tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), than the low-risk group. A functional enrichment analysis indicated that patients with high-risk scores had higher activity of chemotactic cytokines receptors (CCR) pathway, check-point, human leukocyte antigen (HLA) pathway, parainflammation, T cell co-inhibition, T cell co-stimulation, and type I IFN response pathway compared to patients with low-risk scores. When assessing the immune status in the GEO cohort, better conclusions were drawn. The infiltration level of 16 immune cells was higher in the high-risk group than in the low-risk group. 13 immune-related pathways showed higher activity in the highrisk group than in the low-risk group. The above results confirm that the roles of ferroptosis-related lncRNAs in the regulation of tumor immune infiltration. Since our results link FIRLs to immune infiltration in ESCC, these ferroptosis-related lncRNAs may be targets for immunotherapy.

In the end, the association between LINC01068 and ESCC progression was determined. The inhibition of LINC01068 inhibited the cell viability and migration of Eca109 and TE-1 cells, which further verified the carcinogenic effect of LINC01068 on digestive system neoplasms.

This study had some limitations. First, the FIRL risk stratification system was constructed and validated using a public database. However, the use of prospective, multicenter, real-world data for the assessment of the clinical utility of this system would be more ideal. Second, the association between FIRLs and anti-tumor immunity was preliminarily revealed by our research. Therefore, it is necessary to further dig the hidden mechanisms. Final, the signaling pathways involved in FIRLs were only preliminarily explored. Accordingly, the specific mechanism of FIRLs in ESCC and their association with ferroptosis are not completely acknowledged. More studies are thus needed to validate our findings.

In summary, this study fills a gap regarding the use of FIRLs for the prognostic forecast of ESCC. The prognostic FIRLs derived in our research displayed robust capacity at forecasting the survival results of ESCC patients and were related to the immune landscape of the ESCC microenvironment. The risk stratification system based on FIRLs could serve as a reliable tool for forecasting the survival of patients with ESCC.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s. Complete dataset can be found here - https://www.jianguoyun. com/p/DdBumiQQzc6eChiA_s4EIAA

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Committee of the Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

1. Gupta B, Kumar N. Worldwide incidence, mortality and time trends for cancer of the oesophagus. *Eur J Cancer Prev* (2017) 26(2):107–18. doi: 10.1097/CEJ.00000000000249

2. He S, Xu J, Liu X, Zhen Y. Advances and challenges in the treatment of esophageal cancer. Acta Pharm Sin B (2021) 11(11):3379–92. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2021.03.008

Author contributions

RN conceived, designed, and wrote the manuscript. RN and FZ assisted in specimen collection and performed experimental work. ZD and ZL were responsible for the data analysis and figures plotted. SL helped with manuscript and data review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by Science and Technology Plan Project of Hebei Province (No.223777106D) and Hebei Provincial Government sponsored the project of training excellent talents in clinical medicine (No. 303-2022-27-37).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.1010074/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

The expression of 3 lncRNAs between tumor tissues and normal esophageal tissues.

 Abnet CC, Arnold M, Wei WQ. Epidemiology of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Gastroenterology* (2018) 154(2):360–73. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.023
Imazeki H, Kato K. Development of chemotherapeutics for unresectable

advanced esophageal cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther (2020) 20:1083–92. doi: 10.1080/14737140.2020.1814149

5. Yang J, Liu X, Cao S, Dong X, Rao S, Cai K. Understanding esophageal cancer: The challenges and opportunities for the next decade. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1727. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01727

6. Huang FL, Yu SJ. Esophageal cancer: Risk factors, genetic association, and treatment. *Asian J Surg* (2018) 41:210-5. doi: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2016.10.005

7. Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, et al. Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. *Cell* (2014) 156(1-2):317–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010

8. Wang Y, Yu L, Ding J, Chen Y. Iron metabolism in cancer. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 20(1):95. doi: 10.3390/ijms20010095

9. Basuli D, Tesfay L, Deng Z, Paul B, Yamamoto Y, Ning G, et al. Iron addiction: a novel therapeutic target in ovarian cancer. *Oncogene* (2017) 36 (29):4089-99. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.11

10. Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, Tang D. Iron metabolism in ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol (2020) 8:590226. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.590226

11. Battaglia AM, Chirillo R, Aversa I, Sacco A, Costanzo F, Biamonte F. Ferroptosis and cancer: Mitochondria meet the "Iron maiden" cell death. *Cells* (2020) 9(6):1505. doi: 10.3390/cells9061505

12. Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, et al. Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. *Cell* (2012) 149(5):1060–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042

13. Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, et al. Ferroptosis: A regulated cell death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. *Cell* (2017) 171(2):273–85. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.021

14. Xu T, Ding W, Ji X, Ao X, Liu Y, Yu W, et al. Molecular mechanisms of ferroptosis and its role in cancer therapy. *J Cell Mol Med* (2019) 23(8):4900–12. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14511

15. Shen Z, Song J, Yung BC, Zhou Z, Wu A, Chen X. Emerging strategies of cancer therapy based on ferroptosis. *Adv Mater* (2018) 30(12):e1704007. doi: 10.1002/adma.201704007

16. Tang B, Zhu J, Li J, Fan K, Gao Y, Cheng S, et al. The ferroptosis and ironmetabolism signature robustly predicts clinical diagnosis, prognosis and immune microenvironment for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cell Commun Signal* (2020) 18 (1):174. doi: 10.1186/s12964-020-00663-1

17. Zhao F, Li Y, Dong Z, Zhang D, Guo P, Li Z, et al. Identification of a risk signature based on lactic acid metabolism-related LncRNAs in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2022) 10:845293. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2022.845293

18. Zhao F, Dong Z, Li Y, Liu S, Guo P, Zhang D, et al. Comprehensive analysis of molecular clusters and prognostic signature based on m7G-related LncRNAs in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Front Oncol* (2022) 12:893186. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2022.893186

19. Schmitt AM, Chang HY. Long noncoding RNAs in cancer pathways. Cancer Cell (2016) 29(4):452–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.03.010

20. Wu H, Liu A. Long non-coding RNA NEAT1 regulates ferroptosis sensitivity in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Int Med Res (2021) 49 (3):300060521996183. doi: 10.1177/0300060521996183

21. Wang M, Mao C, Ouyang L, Liu Y, Lai W, Liu N, et al. Long noncoding RNA LINC00336 inhibits ferroptosis in lung cancer by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. *Cell Death Differ* (2019) 26(11):2329–43. doi: 10.1038/s41418-019-0304-y

22. Harrow J, Frankish A, Gonzalez JM, Tapanari E, Diekhans M, Kokocinski F, et al. GENCODE: the reference human genome annotation for the ENCODE project. *Genome Res* (2012) 22(9):1760–74. doi: 10.1101/gr.135350.111

23. Yao J, Chen X, Liu X, Li R, Zhou X, Qu Y. Characterization of a ferroptosis and iron-metabolism related lncRNA signature in lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell Int* (2021) 21(1):340. doi: 10.1186/s12935-021-02027-2

24. Pei G, Chen L, Zhang W. WGCNA application to proteomic and metabolomic data analysis. *Methods Enzymol* (2017) 585:135–58. doi: 10.1016/bs.mie.2016.09.016

25. Hänzelmann S, Castelo R, Guinney J. GSVA: gene set variation analysis for microarray and RNA-seq data. *BMC Bioinf* (2013) 14:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-7

26. Li X, Ma TK, Wen S, Li LL, Xu L, Zhu XW, et al. LncRNA ARAP1-AS2 promotes high glucose-induced human proximal tubular cell injury *via* persistent transactivation of the EGFR by interacting with ARAP1. *J Cell Mol Med* (2020) 24 (22):12994–3009. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.15897

27. Zhao F, Gao S, Qin X, Niu R, Li Z, Wang C, et al. Comprehensive analysis of TRP channel-related genes for estimating the immune microenvironment, prognosis, and therapeutic effect in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2022) 10:820870. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2022.820870

28. Zhao F, Li Z, Dong Z, Wang Z, Guo P, Zhang D, et al. Exploring the potential of exosome-related LncRNA pairs as predictors for immune microenvironment, survival outcome, and microbiotain landscape in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:918154. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.918154

29. Su H, Hu N, Yang HH, Wang C, Takikita M, Wang QH, et al. Global gene expression profiling and validation in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and its association with clinical phenotypes. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(9):2955–66. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2724

30. Li J, Chen Z, Tian L, Zhou C, He MY, Gao Y, et al. LncRNA profile study reveals a three-lncRNA signature associated with the survival of patients with oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Gut* (2014) 63(11):1700–10. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305806

31. Bogdan AR, Miyazawa M, Hashimoto K, Tsuji Y. Regulators of iron homeostasis: New players in metabolism, cell death, and disease. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2016) 41(3):274–86. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2015.11.012

32. Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D. Broadening horizons: the role of ferroptosis in cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2021) 18(5):280-96. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-00462-0

33. Mou Y, Wang J, Wu J, He D, Zhang C, Duan C, et al. Ferroptosis, a new form of cell death: opportunities and challenges in cancer. *J Hematol Oncol* (2019) 12(1):34. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0720-y

34. Wang W, Green M, Choi JE, Gijón M, Kennedy PD, Johnson JK, et al. CD8+ T cells regulate tumour ferroptosis during cancer immunotherapy. *Nature* (2019) 569(7755):270–4. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1170-y

35. Sun J, Zhang Z, Bao S, Yan C, Hou P, Wu N, et al. Identification of tumor immune infiltration-associated lncRNAs for improving prognosis and immunotherapy response of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(1):e000110. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2019-000110

36. Tang R, Xu J, Zhang B, Liu J, Liang C, Hua J, et al. Ferroptosis, necroptosis, and pyroptosis in anticancer immunity. *J Hematol Oncol* (2020) 13(1):110. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00946-7

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Nan Zhang, Harbin Medical University, China Xiaohan Ren, Nanjing Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Peiyuan Su 82449147@qq.com Yuefei Li 306063987@qq.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 08 August 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 16 September 2022

CITATION

Zhang X, Wu X, Huang H, Du K, Nie Y, Su P and Li Y (2022) Research into the biological differences and targets in lung cancer patients with diverse immunotherapy responses. *Front. Immunol.* 13:1014333. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1014333

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhang, Wu, Huang, Du, Nie, Su and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Research into the biological differences and targets in lung cancer patients with diverse immunotherapy responses

Xunlang Zhang^{1†}, Xinhui Wu^{1†}, Huang Huang^{2†}, Kangming Du³, Yingying Nie⁴, Peiyuan Su^{5*} and Yuefei Li^{6*}

¹Department of Geriatric, Hospital of Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, ²Department of Cardiology, Hospital of Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, ³Department of Vascular Surgery, Hospital of Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, ⁴Department of Ophthalmology, Ineye Hospital of Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, ⁵Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Hospital of Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, ⁶Department of Anesthesiology Operating Room, Hospital of Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China

Background: Immunotherapy has gradually become an important therapy option for lung cancer patients.

Methods: The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) databases were responsible for all the public data.

Results: In our study, we firstly identified 22 characteristic genes of NSCLC immunotherapy response using the machine learning algorithm. Molecule subtyping was then conducted and two patient subtypes were identified Cluster1 and Cluster2. Results showed that Cluster1 patients had a lower TIDE score and were more sensitive to immunotherapy in both TCGA and combined GEO cohorts. Biological enrichment analysis showed that pathways of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), apical junction, KRAS signaling, myogenesis, G2M checkpoint, E2F targets, WNT/β-catenin signaling, hedgehog signaling, hypoxia were activated in Cluster2 patients. Genomic instability between Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients was not significantly different. Interestingly, we found that female patients were more adaptable to immunotherapy. Biological enrichment revealed that compared with female patients, pathways of MYC target, G2M checkpoints, mTORC1 signaling, MYC target, E2F target, KRAS signaling, oxidative phosphorylation, mitotic spindle and P53 pathway were activated. Meanwhile, monocytes might have a potential role in affecting NSCLC immunotherapy and underlying mechanism has been explored. Finally, we found that SEC14L3 and APCDD1L were the underlying targets affecting immunotherapy, as well as patients survival.

Conclusions: These results can provide direction and guidance for future research focused on NSCLC immunotherapy.

KEYWORDS

lung cancer, immunotherapy, gender, monocytes, molecules

Introduction

With recent advances in biotechnology, researchers have gained a deeper understanding of tumor genomics and immunosuppressive tumor microenvironments, also leading to the change of treatment concepts for tumors (1). Nowadays, personalized precision therapy is gradually available for the treatment of tumors instead of tumor type-centered therapies (2). Annually, approximately 1.76 million people die from lung cancer, which is a serious threat to public health (3). Targeted therapies and immunotherapies based on EGFR, KRAS, and PD-L1 in individual patients have achieved promising results (4). Furthermore, researchers have classified tumor microenvironments (TME) as "immune inflammation", "immune evasion", and "immune desert" and adopted appropriate treatment methods according to these categories (5). Meanwhile, modern tumor treatment is gradually becoming more individualized.

For the moment, surgery, along with postoperative systemic therapy can still provide good therapeutic gain for resectable lung cancer patients (6). Nevertheless, insidious early symptoms usually lead to the challenge of early diagnosis and disease advancement has been occurred when most patients are first diagnosed (6). For advanced lung cancer, especially for those who lost surgery chance, therapy options are limited. The past decade has seen tremendous advancements in medical technology and basic biological research and therefore, cancer immunotherapy has gained public attention. The advent of immunotherapy has revolutionized lung cancer treatment and has become a vital biological therapy, among which immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) indicated promising effects (7). Despite this, not all patients respond to immunotherapy well, indicating that immunotherapeutic response may vary according to the individual's biological characteristics. An example, according to previous high-quality studies, tumor mutational burden (TMB) appears to be a promising immunotherapy biomarker. As of yet, there are no satisfactory markers for predicting lung cancer immune response. As a consequence, the identification of new and effective markers to assess lung cancer patients' immunotherapy response is of great significance.

In our study, we comprehensively explored the underlying differences between immunotherapy responders and nonresponders of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). We identified characteristic genes based on machine learning and performed molecular subtyping to screen patients with different responses to immunotherapy. Two patient subtypes Cluster1 and Cluster2 were identified, among which Cluster1 patients were more adaptable to immunotherapy. Interestingly, we found that female patients were more adaptable to immunotherapy; monocytes have a potential role in affecting NSCLC immunotherapy; SEC14L3 and APCDD1L were the underlying targets affecting immunotherapy, as well as patients survival. These results can provide direction and guidance for future research focused on NSCLC immunotherapy

Methods

Assessment of data

Gene expression profiles and corresponding clinical parameters of NSCLC patients were downloaded from the public databases, The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO). For TCGA, the gene expression profiles were obtained from the GDC interactive interface in a "STAR-Counts" file. Then, the gene expression of transcripts per kilobase million (TPM) form was extracted. For GEO, the GSE30219, GSE37745 and GSE50081 were identified and the platforms of which were all GPL570. The 'affy' and 'simpleaffy' R packages were utilized to contextualize and normalize the raw 'CEL' files of microarray sequencing. The batch effects of different datasets were eliminated based on the "Sva" package. The patients with complete gene expression profiles and corresponding clinical parameter were included in this study, otherwise, were excluded. The baseline information of enrolled patients were shown in Tables S1-S4.

Immunotherapy response

Evaluation of patients' responses to immunotherapy was realized through Tumor Immune Dysfunction and Exclusion (TIDE) website (8). The cancer type was selected as "NSCLC". The "Previous immunotherapy" was set as "No". Patients were assigned a TIDE score based on their normalized expression profile, of which TIDE scores > 0 were non-responders and < 0 were responders. The Submap module in the GenePattern website was used to quantify the response probability of a single sample or a subtype to immunotherapy (https://cloud.genepattern.org/gp).

Machine learning and molecular subtyping

For the identification of the characteristic genes, LASSO logistic regression and support vector machine recursive feature elimination (SVM-RFE) algorithms were utilized (9). Machine learning algorithms were utilized to select the optimized variables through dimensionality reduction. A consensus clustering analysis was performed using the ConsensusClusterPlus package and the resamplings of which was 1,000.

Biological enrichment and genomic analysis

The potential biological differences between specific groups were determined through Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) and clueGO analysis (10). The reference gene set was the Hallmark, c2.cp.kegg.v7.5.1.symbols and c5.go.v7.5.1.symbols gene set. Somatic nonsynonymous mutations occurring per megabase in NSCLC samples were used to account for the tumor mutational burden (TMB). Copy number variation (CNV) burden was calculated using the GISTIC 2.0 and the input file was obtained from the https://gdac.broadinstitute.org/%20website, including segmented copy number profiles and genomic positions of amplified regions. The mRNAsi and EREG-mRNAsi score reflecting tumor stemness were get from the previous study (11).

Immune microenvironment quantification

Quantification of infiltration of 22 immune cells was conducted with the CIBERSORT algorithm (12).

Single cell analysis

The single-cell analysis was performed based on the TISCH website (http://tisch.comp-genomics.org/home/). Aside from providing detailed cell-type annotations, TISCH also allows for the exploration of TME across a variety of cancer types (13).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was conducted using R software v4.0.0. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for non-normally distributed variables. Statistical differences between continuous variables with normal distributions were determined by the Student-T test. Kaplan-Meier (KM) survival curves were utilized to determine the prognosis difference in different groups.

Results

Identification of characteristic genes

The whole chart of this study was shown in Figure S1. Firstly, through the TIDE analysis, we divided the NSCLC patients in TCGA cohort into two groups, immunotherapy responders and non-responders, according to the calculated TIDE score (Figure 1A). Subsequently, SVM-RFE algorithm and LASSO logistic regression were utilized to screen the optimal variable on

immunotherapy response (Figures 1B–D). Ultimately, 22 genes were selected as the characteristic genes of NSCLC immunotherapy response, including CLEC19A, SEC14L3, SLC27A6, APCDD1L, FGF16, CBLN2, SLC24A2, CEACAM8, KRTAP2-3, GBX1, ZDHHC22, CASR, UNC80, C1QL4, NKX3-2, IGFL3, GUCA1A, NETO1, SP7, UGT2B15, AC020922.1 and DLX2 (Figure 1E).

Genotyping of NSCLC patients

Based on the identified characteristic genes, we performed genotyping using the ConsensusClusterPlus R package (Figure 2A). We found two subtypes had the best discrimination (Figure 2B and Figure S2). KM survival indicated a worse overall survival (OS) in Cluster2 patients compared to Cluster1 patients (Figure 2C, HR = 1.28, P = 0.022). Meanwhile, the patients in Cluster2 had a higher TIDE score than Cluster1 patients (Figures 2D–F). The expression of all 22 of these characteristic genes differed between Cluster1 and Cluster2 (Figure 2G). Then, we assessed the CTLA4, PD-L2, PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients (Figures 2H–K). Corresponding results showed that Cluster2 patients had a higher PD-L2 expression than Cluster1 patients (Figure 2J).

Cluster1 patients are more sensitive to immunotherapy

Moreover, we found an increased number of immunotherapy responders in Cluster1 patients than in Cluster2 patients (Figures 3A, B, 44.8% vs. 11.3%). Furthermore, according to the result from submap analysis, there is an increased sensitivity to PD-1 and CTLA4 therapy among Cluster1 patients (Figure 3C). Clinical features analysis indicated that the Cluster2 patients were associated with more aggressive clinical parameters, as well as a high proportion of male patients (Figure 3D). Additionally, we attempt to validate our results in GEO cohorts. GSE30219, GSE37745 and GSE50081 were selected (Figure 3E). Sva package was utilized for data combination and batch effect reduction (Figure 3F).

Validation in the combined GEO cohort

In the combined GEO cohort, we also calculated the TIDE score (Figure 4A). Also, an increased TIDE score was observed among Cluster2 patients, indicating a lower percentage of immunotherapy responders (Figures 4B–D, 8.2% vs. 45.6%). Meanwhile, patients in Cluster2 had a poorer prognosis than those in Cluster1, consistent with the result of TCGA (Figure 4E). Interestingly, the result of the GSE cohort also



indicated a higher percentage of female patients in Cluster1 (Figure 4F). However, no significant difference was found in age and stage parameters (Figures 4G, H).

Biological and genomic features difference

Furthermore, the potential biological differences between the Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients were also explored. The result of the GSEA analysis showed that pathways of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), apical junction, KRAS signaling, myogenesis, G2M checkpoint, E2F targets, WNT/ β -

catenin signaling, hedgehog signaling, hypoxia were activated in Cluster2 patients (Figure 5A). Result of clueGO analysis indicated that the Cluster2 patients had a higher activity of amelogenesis, keratinization, fibrinolysis, serine-type endopeptidase inhibitor activity and iontropic glutamate receptor activity (Figure 5B). Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) analysis showed that in the Cluster2, the terms of neuroactive ligand receptor interaction, pathways in cancer, axon guidance, focal adhesion, ECM receptor interaction were enriched in (Figure S3A). Gene ontology (GO) analysis indicated that in the Cluster2, the terms of sensory organ development, morphogenesis of an epithelium, skeletal system development, presynapse, axon development, embryonic organ



Molecular typing based on identified characteristic genes. (A) ConsensusClusterPlus package was used for molecular typing; (B) Two subtypes provide the best differentiation; (C) KM survival curve showed that Cluster2 patients had a worse prognosis; (D) The calculated TIDE score of TCGA patients, of which TIDE scores > 0 were non-responders and < 0 were responders; (E, F) The patients in Cluster2 had a higher TIDE score; (G) The expression level of characteristic genes in Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients, ns = P < 0.05, *** = P < 0.001; (H-K) The PD-1, PD-L1, PD-L2 and CTLA4 expression in Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients.

development were enriched in (Figure S3B). We also investigated the genomic difference between Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients. TCGA-NSCLC patients' copy numbers profiles were investigated, including gain/loss percentages and gistic scores (Figures 6A–D). Nonetheless, no remarkable statistical difference was noticed in CNV burden between Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients (Figures 6E–H, focal gain load level, focal loss load level, broad gain load level, broad loss load level). Tumor stemness analysis showed that the patients in Cluster1 and Cluster2 might have similar tumor stemness characteristics (Figures 6I, J). Neither the TMB nor MSI scores were significantly different (Figures 6K, L).



Cluster1 and Cluster2 had different immunotherapy response. (A, B) The proportion of immunotherapy responders in Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients; (C) Submap algorithm indicated that the Cluster1 patients are sensitive to both PD-1 and CTLA4 therapy; (D) Clinical features difference in Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients; (E, F) Sva package was used for data combination and batch effect reduction of GSE30219, GSE37745 and GSE50081.

Female patients are more sensitive to immunotherapy

We noticed that Cluster1 patients had a higher percentage of female patients in both TCGA and GEO cohorts. Therefore, we speculated whether there is a potential difference in immunotherapy between male and female NSCLC patients. Our findings from the TCGA cohort indicated that patients who respond to immunotherapy are more likely to be female and have a lower TIDE score (Figures 7A, B, 39.7% vs. 33.4%). Also, the same conclusion was found in the combined GEO cohort (Figures 7C, D, 49.1% vs. 29.9%). Moreover, we found several immunotherapy characteristic genes were differentially expressed in female and male patients, including CBLN2, SLC24A2, CEACAM8, CASR, AC020922.1, UNC80, C1QL4, NKX3-2, IGFL3, DLX2 and GUCA1A (Figure 7E). Interestingly, a significantly increased TMB,

427



mRNAsi and EREG-mRNAsi were noticed in male patients, but not MSI (Figures 7F–I). GSEA analysis showed that compared with female patients, pathways of MYC target, G2M checkpoints, mTORC1 signaling, MYC target, E2F target, KRAS signaling, oxidative phosphorylation, mitotic spindle and P53 pathway were activated (Figure 7J).

Monocytes have a potential role in affecting NSCLC immunotherapy

Complex immune microenvironment can affect the immunotherapy of NSCLC patients. Thus, we quantified the immune microenvironment (22 immune cells) using CIBERSORT algorithm (Figure 8A). We found that the activated dendritic cells, M0 macrophages, memory B cells, follicular helper T cells, resting NK cells, monocytes, resting dendritic cells, resting mast cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, activated NK cells, activated mast cells had a different infiltration pattern in immunotherapy responders and non-responders patients (Figure 8B). Additionally, the naive and memory B cells, CD8 T cells, activated mast cells, resting NK cells, regulatory T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, activated MK cells, resting dendritic cells, monocytes, activated dendritic cells, resting mast cells, follicular helper T cells had a different infiltration pattern in Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients (Figure 8C). A negative correlation was found between monocytes and the calculated TIDE score (Figure 9A, correlation = -0.220, P < 0.001). For the



patients with high monocytes infiltration, pathways of adipogenesis, coagulation, fatty acid metabolism, bile acid metabolism, angiogenesis, xenobiotic metabolism, KRAS signaling, TGF- β signaling, heme metabolism and inflammatory response were activated (Figure 9B). The correlation between quantified immune cells based on the CIBERSORT algorithm was shown in Figure 9C. Among all the characteristic genes, SEC14L3 and APCDD1L were identified as prognosis-related based on the univariate Cox regression analysis (Figure 9D). SEC14L3 and APCDD1L are primarily expressed in monocytes, based on single-cell analysis (Figure 9E, F). These results revealed that monocytes have a

potential role in affecting NSCLC immunotherapy and identified SEC14L3 and APCDD1L as the underlying targets.

Discussion

In patients with NSCLC, although early diagnosis and surgical treatment have been shown to greatly improve cure rates, the prognosis remains poor (14). Among NSCLC treatments, immunotherapy is considered a promising strategy (15). Recent studies have shown that PD-1/L1 inhibitors can effectively increase survival over chemotherapy (16). However, it is hard to



FIGURE 6

Genomic analysis. (A-D) The copy number percentage and gistic score of TCGA-NSCLC in Cluster1 and Cluster2; (E-H) The CNV burden difference in focal gain load, focal loss load, broad gain load and broad loss load level; (I-L) The difference of TMB, MSI, mRNAsi and EREG-mRNAsi in Cluster1 and Cluster2 patients.



Female patients are more sensitive to immunotherapy. (A, B) Female patients had a lower TIDE score and higher proportion of immunotherapy responders in the TCGA cohort, * = P < 0.05; (C, D) Female patients had a lower TIDE score and a higher proportion of immunotherapy responders in the GEO cohort, * = P < 0.05; (E) The expression level of characteristic genes in male and female patients, ns = P > 0.05; * = P < 0.05; (F) The expression level of characteristic genes in male and female patients, ns = P > 0.05; * = P < 0.05; * = P < 0.05; * = P < 0.05; (F) The difference of TMB, MSI, mRNAsi and EREG-mRNAsi in female and male patients; (J) Biological enrichment was performed to explore the underlying difference in female and male patients.

accurately predict how NSCLC will respond to immunotherapy (17). In addition, most patients do not respond to immunotherapy, deteriorate during treatment, or suffer severe immunotoxicity since the indications for immunotherapy are not understood (18). Therefore, to maximize the effectiveness of immunotherapy, it is necessary to identify biomarkers that are associated with immunotherapy response.

In our study, characteristic genes were identified through two machine learning algorithm, LASSO logistic and SVM-RFE regression. SVM-RFE regression can determine the best variable by deleting the SVM feature vector. Meanwhile, the A Lasso logistic regression determines variables by searching for the smallest classification error λ . Nowadays, the massive data generated by next-generation sequencing not only brings convenience for




FIGURE 9

Monocytes have a potential role in affecting NSCLC immunotherapy. (A) Monocytes was negatively correlated with TIDE score; (B) Biological enrichment analysis of monocytes; (C) Correlation of quantified immune cells; (D) Among all the characteristic genes, SEC14L3 and APCDD1L were identified as prognosis-related based on the univariate Cox regression analysis; (E, F) Single cell analysis of SEC14L3 and APCDD1L based on the TISCH website. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01.

research, but also brings redundancy of data. Through dimensionality reduction, machine learning algorithm can effectively identify the characteristic variables of specific groups. In the clinical practice, detecting the expression level of identified characteristic genes through gene chip can indicate the immunotherapy response of patients, further guiding therapy option.

Based on the results of GSEA, the difference between Cluster2 and Cluster1 groups was associated with EMT, apical junction, KRAS signaling, Wnt/β-catenin signaling, Hedgehog signaling and E2F target. According to a previous study, EMT-related genes are highly accurate predictors of immune checkpoint inhibitor response in advanced NSCLC patients (19). Another study revealed that clinical benefit has been demonstrated in previously treated KRAS G12C-mutant NSCLC patients who received immunotherapy of sotolacide and adagracil (20). Further, based on the Hedgehog signaling and Wnt/β-catenin, various immunotherapies have been developed for NSCLC. Yoshiko et al. discovered that WNT/β-catenin signaling inhibitor and PD-1 blocker combination therapy improved antitumor immunity in NCSLS and suggested a mechanismoriented combination therapy (21). For Hedgehog signaling, researchers found that targeting Hedgehog signaling could offer therapeutic benefits to patients with NSCLC (22). According to the GSEA, the Cluster1 group was associated with the xenobiotic metabolism, fatty acid metabolism, bile acid metabolism, peroxisome and reactive oxygen species pathway. Currently, the reactive oxygen species pathway is a potential target for immunotherapy of NSCLC. Additionally, it has been shown that the NRF2, which is involved in the reactive oxygen species pathway, can inhibit the immune response of NSCLC patients and promote the immune escape of tumor cells (22). In NSCLC patients, fatty acid oxidation has broad therapeutic potential. It is believed that fatty acid oxidation increases mitochondrial mass, which in turn suppresses T-cell immunity, promoting NSCLC progression (23). Our result showed that the enriched pathway above might be responsible for the prognosis and immunotherapy response difference between the patients in Cluster1 and Cluster2.

Further research discovered that female and male distributions were significantly different between Cluster1 and Cluster2. We also discovered a lower immune response rate in male NSCLC patients, while a higher immune response rate is observed in female NSCLC patients. Recent research has demonstrated that men and women respond differently to NSCLC and immunotherapy due to differences in the immune system (24). NSCLC cells may be exposed to a more effective immune surveillance mechanism when estrogen regulates the production of inflammatory cytokines from macrophages and neutrophils (25). Subsequently, immune infiltration analysis indicated a significant difference in

monocyte distribution between Cluster1 and Cluster2. According to the univariate cox regression analysis, SEC14L3 and APCDD1L are risk factors for NSCLC survival. Single-cell transcriptomics of lung cancers reveals that SEC14L3 and APCDD1L were also enriched in monocyte. According to studies combining anti-angiogenic and targeted immunotherapy, immunotherapy is influenced by the tumor microenvironment, which is a potential target for developing novel immunotherapy drugs (26). As a key regulator in NSCLC progression, monocytes can drive an aggressive phenotype in NSCLC (27). In a clinical study, absolute monocyte counts in peripheral blood were found to be a good predictor of outcomes in NSCLC patients treated with immunotherapy (28). In this work, underlying targets like monocytes, SEC14L3 and APCDD1L were identified, which can be improved to be more personalized NSCLC immunotherapy in the future.

In all, our study comprehensively explored the underlying differences between immunotherapy responders and nonresponders. We identified characteristic genes and performed molecular subtyping to screen patients with different responses to immunotherapy. Interestingly, we found that female patients were more sensitive to immunotherapy; monocytes have a potential role in affecting NSCLC immunotherapy; SEC14L3 and APCDD1L were the underlying targets affecting immunotherapy, as well as patients survival. These results can provide direction and guidance for future research focused on NSCLC immunotherapy. However, our study also exists some limitations. Firstly, in our analysis, White patients constituted the majority, indicating that race bias is unavoidable. It is important to pay more attention to largescale sequencing data from Asia and Africa in the future. Secondly, the genomic data of NSCLC patients treated with immunotherapy is still not openly accessible. In practice, the response rate predicted by TIDE analysis does not fully reflect reality.

Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov/%20 and https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gds/?term=.

Author contributions

XZ, XW, and HH collected the data and performed the analysis. XZ and KD wrote the manuscript. YN, PS, and YL

designed the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or

References

1. Nakamura K, Smyth MJ. Myeloid immunosuppression and immune checkpoints in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2020) 17(1):1-12. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0306-1

2. Walcher L, Kistenmacher AK, Suo H, Kitte R, Dluczek S, Strauß A, et al. Cancer stem cells-origins and biomarkers: Perspectives for targeted personalized therapies. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1280. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.01280

 Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: Globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(3):209– 49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

4. Eguren-Santamaria I, Sanmamed MF, Goldberg SB, Kluger HM, Idoate MA, Lu BY, et al. Pd-1/Pd-L1 blockers in nsclc brain metastases: Challenging paradigms and clinical practice. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2020) 26 (16):4186–97. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-20-0798

5. Jhunjhunwala S, Hammer C, Delamarre L. Antigen presentation in cancer: Insights into tumour immunogenicity and immune evasion. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2021) 21(5):298–312. doi: 10.1038/s41568-021-00339-z

6. Howington JA, Blum MG, Chang AC, Balekian AA, Murthy SC. Treatment of stage I and ii non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd Ed: American college of chest physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. *Chest* (2013) 143(5 Suppl):e278S–313S. doi: 10.1378/chest.12-2359

7. Steven A, Fisher SA, Robinson BW. Immunotherapy for lung cancer. Respirol. (Carlton Vic) (2016) 21(5):821-33. doi: 10.1111/resp.12789

8. Fu J, Li K, Zhang W, Wan C, Zhang J, Jiang P, et al. Large-Scale public data reuse to model immunotherapy response and resistance. *Genome Med* (2020) 12 (1):21. doi: 10.1186/s13073-020-0721-z

9. McEligot AJ, Poynor V, Sharma R, Panangadan A. Logistic lasso regression for dietary intakes and breast cancer. *Nutrients* (2020) 12(9):2652. doi: 10.3390/nu12092652

10. Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: A knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci United States America* (2005) 102(43):15545–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506580102

11. Malta TM, Sokolov A, Gentles AJ, Burzykowski T, Poisson L, Weinstein JN, et al. Machine learning identifies stemness features associated with oncogenic dedifferentiation. *Cell* (2018) 173(2):338–54.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.034

12. Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Liu CL, Newman AM, Alizadeh AA. Profiling tumor infiltrating immune cells with cibersort. *Methods Mol Biol (Clifton NJ)* (2018) 1711:243–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7493-1_12

13. Sun D, Wang J, Han Y, Dong X, Ge J, Zheng R, et al. Tisch: A comprehensive web resource enabling interactive single-cell transcriptome visualization of tumor microenvironment. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2021) 49(D1): D1420-d30. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkaa1020

claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.1014333/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1 The flow chart of whole study

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2 Molecular typing based on characteristic genes in the TCGA database.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3 GO and KEGG analysis.

14. Bodor JN, Boumber Y, Borghaei H. Biomarkers for immune checkpoint inhibition in non-small cell lung cancer (Nsclc). *Cancer* (2020) 126(2):260–70. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32468

>15. Doroshow DB, Sanmamed MF, Hastings K, Politi K, Rimm DL, Chen L, et al. Immunotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: Facts and hopes. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2019) 25(15):4592–602. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.Ccr-18-1538

16. Kang J, Zhang C, Zhong WZ. Neoadjuvant immunotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer: State of the art. *Cancer Commun (London England)* (2021) 41 (4):287–302. doi: 10.1002/cac2.12153

17. Reck M, Remon J, Hellmann MD. First-line immunotherapy for non-Small-Cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2022) 40(6):586–97. doi: 10.1200/ jco.21.01497

18. Rodak O, Peris-Díaz MD, Olbromski M, Podhorska-Okołów M, Dzięgiel P. Current landscape of non-small cell lung cancer: Epidemiology, histological classification, targeted therapies, and immunotherapy. *Cancers* (2021) 13 (18):4705. doi: 10.3390/cancers13184705

19. Chae YK, Chang S, Ko T, Anker J, Agte S, Iams W, et al. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Emt) signature is inversely associated with T-cell infiltration in non-small cell lung cancer (Nsclc). *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):2918. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21061-1

20. Reck M, Carbone DP, Garassino M, Barlesi F. Targeting kras in non-Small-Cell lung cancer: Recent progress and new approaches. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol* (2021) 32(9):1101–10. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.06.001

21. Takeuchi Y, Tanegashima T, Sato E, Irie T, Sai A, Itahashi K, et al. Highly immunogenic cancer cells require activation of the wnt pathway for immunological escape. *Sci Immunol* (2021) 6(65):eabc6424. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abc6424

22. Stappenbeck F, Wang F, Tang LY, Zhang YE, Parhami F. Inhibition of nonsmall cell lung cancer cells by Oxy210, an oxysterol-derivative that antagonizes tgf β and hedgehog signaling. *Cells* (2019) 8(10):1297. doi: 10.3390/cells8101297

23. Hossain F, Al-Khami AA, Wyczechowska D, Hernandez C, Zheng L, Reiss K, et al. Inhibition of fatty acid oxidation modulates immunosuppressive functions of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhances cancer therapies. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(11):1236–47. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-15-0036

24. Vavalà T, Catino A, Pizzutilo P, Longo V, Galetta D. Gender differences and immunotherapy outcome in advanced lung cancer. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22 (21):11942. doi: 10.3390/ijms222111942

25. Lu CS, Shiau AL, Su BH, Hsu TS, Wang CT, Su YC, et al. Oct4 promotes M2 macrophage polarization through upregulation of macrophage colony-stimulating factor in lung cancer. *J Hematol Oncol* (2020) 13(1):62. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00887-1

26. Vitale I, Manic G, Coussens LM, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L. Macrophages and metabolism in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Metab* (2019) 30(1):36–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.06.001

27. Li H, Huang N, Zhu W, Wu J, Yang X, Teng W, et al. Modulation the crosstalk between tumor-associated macrophages and non-small cell lung cancer to inhibit tumor migration and invasion by ginsenoside Rh2. *BMC Cancer* (2018) 18 (1):579. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4299-4

28. Yin W, Lv J, Yao Y, Zhao Y, He Z, Wang Q, et al. Elevations of monocyte and neutrophils, and higher levels of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in peripheral blood in lung cancer patients. *Thorac Cancer* (2021) 12(20):2680–90. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.14103

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jinghua Pan, Jinan University, China

REVIEWED BY Tian Xia.

Huazhong University of Science and Technology, China Yushan Qiu, Shenzhen University, China Ka Chun Chong, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China Kun Chen, University of Connecticut, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Jiayin Wang wangjiayin@mail.xjtu.edu.cn Wenfeng Fang fangwf@sysucc.org.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 15 July 2022 ACCEPTED 15 August 2022 PUBLISHED 16 September 2022

CITATION

Wang Y, Lai X, Wang J, Xu Y, Zhang X, Zhu X, Liu Y, Shao Y, Zhang L and Fang W (2022) TMBcat: A multiendpoint *p*-value criterion on different discrepancy metrics for superiorly inferring tumor mutation burden thresholds. *Front. Immunol.* 13:995180. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.995180

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wang, Lai, Wang, Xu, Zhang, Zhu, Liu, Shao, Zhang and Fang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

TMBcat: A multi-endpoint *p*-value criterion on different discrepancy metrics for superiorly inferring tumor mutation burden thresholds

Yixuan Wang^{1†}, Xin Lai^{1†}, Jiayin Wang^{1,2,3*}, Ying Xu¹, Xuanping Zhang¹, Xiaoyan Zhu¹, Yuqian Liu¹, Yang Shao^{4,5}, Li Zhang⁶ and Wenfeng Fang^{6*}

¹School of Computer Science and Technology, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ²School of Management, Hefei University of Technology, Hefei, China, ³The Ministry of Education Key Laboratory of Process Optimization and Intelligent Decision–Making, Hefei University of Technology, Hefei, China, ⁴Medical Department, Nanjing Geneseeq Technology Inc., Nanjing, China, ⁵School of Public Health, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ⁶State Key Laboratory of Oncology in South China, Collaborative Innovation Center for Cancer Medicine, Sun Yat-sen University Cancer Center, Guangzhou, China

Tumor mutation burden (TMB) is a widely recognized stratification biomarker for predicting the efficacy of immunotherapy; however, the number and universal definition of the categorizing thresholds remain debatable due to the multifaceted nature of efficacy and the imprecision of TMB measurements. We proposed a minimal joint *p*-value criterion from the perspective of differentiating the comprehensive therapeutic advantages, termed TMBcat, optimized TMB categorization across distinct cancer cohorts and surpassed known benchmarks. The statistical framework applies to multidimensional endpoints and is fault-tolerant to TMB measurement errors. To explore the association between TMB and various immunotherapy outcomes, we performed a retrospective analysis on 78 patients with non-small cell lung cancer and 64 patients with nasopharyngeal carcinomas who underwent anti-PD-(L)1 therapy. The stratification results of TMBcat confirmed that the relationship between TMB and immunotherapy is non-linear, i.e., treatment gains do not inherently increase with higher TMB, and the pattern varies across carcinomas. Thus, multiple TMB classification thresholds could distinguish patient prognosis flexibly. These findings were further validated in an assembled cohort of 943 patients obtained from 11 published studies. In conclusion, our work presents a general criterion and an accessible software package; together, they enable optimal TMB subgrouping. Our study has the potential to yield innovative insights into therapeutic selection and treatment strategies for patients.

KEYWORDS

immunotherapy, tumor mutation burden, categorization thresholds, joint efficacy, minimal p-value, between-group difference

1 Introduction

Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) revolutionized cancer therapy (1–4). Research findings demonstrate that tumor mutation burden (TMB) as a stratification biomarker in immuno-oncology helps predict patient prognosis (5, 6). TMB is the number of somatic mutations per megabase (mut/Mb, mainly single-nucleotide variants and short indels). These mutations result in the capacity to generate surface neoantigens that activate T lymphocytes (7), boosting tumor immunogenicity (8, 9). Positive associations between elevated TMB levels and benign ICI prognosis have occurred (10–12). The NCCN guidelines and the FDA prioritized TMB as the recommended test for patients receiving immunotherapy (13, 14).

For clinical decision-making, physicians tend to categorize TMB as a baseline to separate patients into distinct risk groups with varying therapeutic benefits (15). However, due to controversial clinical results, standardized TMB thresholds and the proper number of patient subgroups have not been definitively established. Specifically, i) the available quantile-based benchmarks (e.g., median, quartiles) fail to reflect the underlying biology of TMB and accurately locate the thresholds (16). For example, certain investigations showed that quantile-based TMB cutoffs could not clearly distinguish responders and their prospective clinical benefits (17–19). ii) The typical clinical endpoints for immuno-oncology involve objective tumor response rate (ORR) and time-to-event (TTE), with the TMB biomarker linked to both (20). Inconsistent TMB thresholds

arise when statistical studies on the same cohort of patients use different endpoints, leaving clinicians uncertain (21). Instead of basing a general TMB threshold on a single endpoint that discloses only partial therapeutic benefits, a thorough assessment of the disease's multifaceted efficacy is needed (22, 23).

Furthermore, iii) the effects of different endpoints may vary in magnitude or orientation (24). Such contradiction suggests that the connection between TMB and ICI advantages may not be uniformly distributed and may differ across carcinomas. As shown in Figures 1B, E, the associations between TMB and unidimensional outcomes have only one inflection point. When the intensities or directions of the impact of TMB on the distinct endpoints disagree, multiple TMB thresholds permit significantly diverse clinical performances in patient subgroups, either from the three-dimensional space (Figures 1A, D) or a joint perspective (Figures 1C, F). Clinicians are uncertain about the optimal number of risk groups to stratify patients. Simultaneously, several unobserved common features lead to a natural correlation between tumor response and event time, and the strength of this association varies among regimens and cancer types (25-27). Consequently, the favorable joint probabilities cannot be derived by simply multiplying the probabilities of individual endpoints, which is also a challenge in TMB categorization. Finally, iv) the imprecise nature of TMB markers is another cause of threshold disputes (16). Due to technical restrictions, the variant calling tools will never be perfectly accurate, regardless of the various TMB calculation methodologies (28, 29). TMB is inevitably subject



FIGURE 1

The association between TMB marker and ICI benefits. (A–C) When the TMB effects on the response endpoint and survival endpoint have different magnitudes: the association between TMB and ICI clinical benefits in space, the association between TMB and tumor response, the survival benefit in plane, and the association between TMB and joint benefit in the plane. (D–F) When the TMB effects on the response endpoint and survival endpoint point in different directions: the association between TMB and ICI clinical benefits in space, the association between TMB and and survival endpoint point in different directions: the association between TMB and ICI clinical benefits in space, the association between TMB and tumor response, the survival benefit in the plane, the association between TMB and joint benefit in the plane.

to measurement error. In statistical models that support clinical decision-making, we must account for lessening the instability and bias arising from TMB errors in patient categorization (30).

Therefore, we present TMBcat, a generalized framework based on the minimal joint p-value criterion, which can optimize identifying the number of patient subgroups and the corresponding TMB thresholds across all cancers. The framework jointly models multidimensional endpoints while accounting for TMB measurement inaccuracies, yielding the most statistically significant TMB classification based on the minimal p-value. The optimized TMB categorization stratifies the patient population significantly and maximizes the discrepancy in clinical performance between subgroups (31). To verify the viability of TMBcat, we collected a cohort of 78 patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and 64 patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) who received ICI treatment. We applied the proposed framework to identify TMB thresholds and revealed novel correlation patterns regarding TMB metrics and immunotherapy efficacy. In some cases, the association between TMB and improved outcomes was non-linear, i.e., the positive correlation was not perfectly straight-line but followed a curved upward pattern varying across regimens or carcinomas, making it more informative to assign patients to multiple categories. Furthermore, we validated these findings in an assembled cohort of 943 patients. The results show that the proposed framework can provide innovative insights into therapeutic refinement for patients. The source code to reproduce the results can be downloaded from https:// github.com/YixuanWang1120/JM_TMBcat.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 A general statistical criterion for TMB categorization

The categorization of TMB indicators facilitates the use of information regarding the relationship between ICI benefits and predictive TMB characteristics in making treatment decisions for clinicians. Therefore, TMB thresholds should distinguish patients with distinct risks. It is, therefore, necessary to establish a general statistical criterion to determine the optimal TMB thresholds and the number of patient subgroups. Our optimization objective is to achieve categorization with the minimum p-value, which maximizes the difference in the probabilities of joint ORR&TTE benefit between subgroups. By integrating multidimensional endpoints to model the joint distribution and compensate for TMB measurement errors, joint p-values can characterize patients' clinical performances with a single metric. Meanwhile, the p-value is the only CFDAapproved metric representative of statistical significance with good interpretability and is acceptable to clinicians. An optimization target of minimizing the p-value can ultimately

produce a significant TMB classification that distinguishes ICI therapeutic advantages.

2.1.1 Mixed-endpoint joint probability considering TMB errors

Given *n* patients, for patient *i* (*i*=1,...,*n*), R_i represents the status of tumor response (R_i =1,0 for complete response (CR) and partial response (PR), stable disease(SD) and progressive disease (PD), respectively) and T_i denotes the observed event time, which is the minimum of the true event time T_i^* and the censoring time C_i , that is, $T_i = \min(T_i^*, C_i)$. $\delta_i = I(T_i^* \le C_i)$ defines the event indicator, where $I(\cdot)$ is the indicator function. To comprehensively characterize the therapeutic advantages of ICI for patients based on the recorded data, we merged the ORR and TTE endpoints to profile each patient's prognosis.

For ORR endpoint, the probability of favorable tumor response for patient *i* is expressed as $Pr(R_i = 1|TMB_i)$. For TTE endpoint, the survival probability up to time *t* for patient *i* is $Pr(T_i^* > t|TMB_i) = S_i(t)$, where $S_i(t)$ denotes the survival function. Due to some shared unobserved features, different endpoints may be intimately connected in practice as they all come from the same patient. Including multiple endpoints in the analysis can, first, increase the power of statistical tests and, second, provide a more comprehensive picture of disease efficacy, for which a single measure does not offer sufficient representation. Therefore, the joint probability incorporating ORR and TTE endpoints is preferable for the comprehensive efficacy assessment for patients undergoing immunotherapy.

The derivation of joint probability $Pr(R_i = 1, T_i^* > T_0 | TM$ B_i) entails examining the correlation structure between various clinical outcomes; indeed, ignoring such an association can lead to higher type I and type II errors (32). The underlying dependency between tumor response and the survival process is commonly illustrated by the introduction of random effects. This study proposes a joint statistics model with increased generality in correlation capture, and via a generalized linear mixed model (GLMM) formulation for the efficient estimation of model parameters. We formed a multinomial logistic regression to engage with multicategorical tumor response and a Cox proportional hazard regression for the survival process. The random effect u on the ORR endpoint and random effect von the TTE endpoint are set to account for intra-subject correlation, assumed to follow a multivariate normal distribution. Specifically, we extend the GLMM approach of McGilchrist (33) to facilitate efficient statistical inference.

$$\Pr\left(R_{i}=1, T_{i}^{*} > T_{0}; \hat{\theta}\right)$$
$$= \Pr\left(R_{i}=1 | \hat{u}_{i}; \hat{\theta}\right) \Pr\left(T_{i}^{*} > T_{0} | \hat{v}_{i}; \hat{\theta}\right) \Pr\left(\hat{u}_{i}, \hat{v}_{i}; \hat{\theta}\right) \quad (1)$$

where T_0 is a prespecified survival time, $\hat{\theta}$ is the maximum likelihood estimate (MLE) of the joint likelihood, \hat{u}_i and \hat{v}_i are the point estimates of random effects on respective endpoints

obtained by the empirical Bayes method. Details on joint modeling of ORR and TTE endpoints and the solution of the joint probability is available in Section S1.1–1.2 of the Supplementary Materials; such an approach can bring the statistical alpha level closer to the nominal level and can provide additional information about the relationship.

In addition, the observations of TMB inevitably harbor measurement errors. We hypothesize the observed TMB is subject to the additive measurement error model: $TMB_i = TMB_i^*$ + e_i , (i=1,...,n). The error term e_i is independent and identically normal distributed with mean zero and variance σ_e^2 , and is independent of endpoints R_i , T_i , δ_i . Because the true TMB^* is not observed, the MLE based on true data cannot be used for joint probability calculation directly from the perspective of inconsistency. To reduce the biasing effect caused by measurement errors and obtain a more robust TMB threshold, we integrated the widely applicable corrected-score with the joint model, resulting in approximately consistent estimators based on the observed data. The corrected ORR&TTE joint probability is as follows:

$$\Pr\left(R_{i}=1, T_{i}^{*} > T_{0}; \tilde{\theta}\right)$$
$$= \Pr\left(R_{i}=1 \mid \tilde{u}_{i}; \tilde{\theta}\right) \Pr\left(T_{i}^{*} > T_{0} \mid \tilde{v}_{i}; \tilde{\theta}\right) \Pr\left(\tilde{u}_{i}, \tilde{v}_{i}; \tilde{\theta}\right)$$
(2)

where $\tilde{\theta}$, \tilde{u}_i and \tilde{v}_i is the approximately consistent estimators under the corrected-joint framework. The complete process is in Section S1.3 of the Supplementary Materials.

2.1.2 Selection of the optimal thresholds

Given that *k* is the number of thresholds set for categorizing the predictive biomarkers TMB into k+1 intervals, let $Cut_k=$ (TMB_1, \dots, TMB_k) denote the vector of k thresholds ordered from smaller to larger. When the number of distinct TMB values within the range of clinical meaningfulness is m, all possible combinations of thresholds then have up to A_m^k kinds, where A_m^k is the number of permutations of k thresholds selected from m TMB values. Then, we propose that the vector of kthresholds $Cut_k = (TMB_1, ..., TMB_k)$ that maximizes the difference in ORR&TTE joint benefit between k+1 subgroups of patients is thus the optimal thresholds. Patients are subsequently separated into k+1 subgroups based on TMB thresholds, $S_{j} = \{ R_{jr}, T_{jr}, \delta_{jr}, TMB_{jr}; r=1,...,n_{j}, j=1,...,k+1 \}$, where n_j denotes the number of patients in subgroup j and $\sum_i n_j = n$. The joint probability characterizes the positive prognosis of patients with both remission of tumor lesions and prolonged survival time, allowing for a more comprehensive evaluation of the patient's treatment outcomes. Our optimization objective is the categorization with the minimum p-value, which maximizes the difference in the probability of the joint ORR&TTE benefit between subgroups. Thus, given the threshold vector Cut_k and patient subgroups $\{S_1, \dots, S_{k+1}\}$, we measure the joint probability difference D_k between k+1 subgroups from the distance metric.

$$D_{k} \triangleq \text{Differences between } \{S_{1}, \dots, S_{k+1}\}$$

= Distances between $\Pr\left(R_{r} = 1, T_{r}^{*} > T_{0j} \mid TMB_{r}\right)_{j}, j = 1, \dots, k+1, r = 1, \dots, n_{j}$
(3)

Comparison of intergroup discrepancy based on the variancebased distance. First, we construct a variance-based statistical test to determine the distance between the joint probability means of two or more populations. There are two fundamental explanations for the disparity between the joint probability of various subgroups: i), between-group variations caused by the classification conditions, given as the sum of squares of the deviation between the variable means in each subgroup and the overall mean, given as the sum of squares between-group, SS_b , with the degrees of freedom df_b . ii), individual differences in the joint probabilities of patients, which become within-group differences, denoted as the sum of the squares of the deviations between the variable mean in each subgroup and the variable values in that subgroup, denoted as the sum of squares within-group, SS_w, with intergroup degrees of freedom df_w . Thus, the intergroup distance between joint probabilities is determined by the between-group variance and the within-group variance.

$$D_{k} = \frac{variability \ between \ groups}{variability \ within \ groups} = \frac{SS_{b}/df_{b}}{SS_{w}/df_{w}}$$

$$= \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{k+1} \left[\left(\bar{p}_{j} - \bar{p}\right)^{2} \times n_{j} \right] / k}{\sum_{j=1}^{k+1} \sum_{r=1}^{n_{j}} \left(p_{jr} - \bar{p}_{j}\right)^{2} / n - k - 1}$$
(4)

where p_{jr} denotes the joint ORR&TTE probability for patient *r* in subgroup *j*, \bar{p}_j denotes the mean joint ORR&TTE probability for subgroup *j*, and \bar{p} denotes the overall mean. When the joint probabilities of the patient population satisfy the following assumptions: independence of records; normality; equality of variances (or "homogeneity"), i.e., the variance of records in groups should be the same, then the statistic D_k follows an F-distribution with k, n - k - 1 degree of freedom. At this point, the *p*-value can be calculated from the F(k, n - k - 1) quantile. The test of difference is equivalent to one-way ANOVA.

When the joint probabilities of populations do not fulfill the hypothetical premise of independence, normality, and homogeneity, the nonparametric rank statistic is used to compare more than two populations. The total n patients across all k+1 groups are ranked based on the calculated joint ORR&TTE probability p_i for *i*th patient. Tied probabilities are allocated the average of ranks they would have received if not tied. The diversity among joint probability subgroups is determined by the between-group rank variance and the within-group rank variance. The rank sum variance between groups should be close to the rank variance of the entire sample. Thus, the test statistic is:

$$D_k = \frac{between-group \ rank-sum \ variance}{rank \ variance \ of \ the \ entire \ sample}$$

$$=\frac{12}{n(n+1)}\sum_{j=1}^{k+1}\frac{RA_j^2}{n_j}-3(n+1)$$

(5)

where RA_j is the rank sum for the *j*th subgroup, $RA_j = \sum_{r=1}^{n_j} rank(p_{jr})$. When *n* is sufficiently large (the number of observations per subgroup exceeds 5, $n_j > 5$), D_k follows an approximate χ^2 distribution with *k* degree of freedom. At this point, the *p*-value can be calculated from the $\chi^2(k)$ quantile, and the test of difference is equivalent to the Kruskal-Wallis test.

Comparison of intergroup discrepancy based on the similarity-matrix-based distance. In addition, we constructed a nonparametric test to measure the intergroup distance based on the concept of the similarity matrix. The dissimilarity between groups is measured via the distance between patients, and then whether the target grouping is meaningful is judged by testing whether the distance between groups is considerably greater than the distance within groups. An $n \times n$ similarity matrix is calculated for the joint probability of n patients, where there are various methods for measuring distances, including Euclidean distance, Mahalanobis distance, and Minkowski distance. When the joint probability is one-dimensional, we recommend the standard Euclidean distance. When the study expects to refine the joint probability to be a two-dimensional vector $p_i = [p_{Ri}, p_{Ti}]^T$, we recommend the Mahalanobis distance considering the covariance matrix V:

$$d_{il} = d(p_i, p_l) = \sqrt{(p_i - p_l)(V^{-1})(p_i - p_l)^T}$$
(6)

The yielded similarity matrix is then translated into a rank matrix, and the distance statistic is:

 D_k = between-group dissimilarity – within-group dissimilarity

$$=\frac{r_b - r_w}{\frac{1}{4}[n(n-1)]}$$
(7)

where r_b denotes the mean rank of between-group dissimilarities, and r_w denotes the mean rank of within-group dissimilarities. The computational complexity of the $n \times n$ similarity-matrix-based distance is $O(n)^2$.

$$r_{b} = \overline{rank}(d_{il}), \text{ patients } i, l \text{ belong to different subgroups}$$

$$r_{w} = \overline{rank}(d_{il}), \text{ patients } i, l \text{ belong to the same subgroup}$$
(8)

As the distance metric does not obey a parametric probability distribution, we obtained the *p*-values by permutation test or boostrapping algorithm.

Then, the optimal threshold vector Cut_k enables significant discrimination of ICI benefits between patient subgroups can be expressed as:

$$Cut_{k} = (TMB_{1}, ..., TMB_{k}) = \arg\max_{k \in A_{m}^{k}} D_{k}$$
(9)

To solve eq. (9), TMBcat provides a global assessment of every conceivable way of dividing a patient cohort into k+1 TMB level expressions, ultimately using the minimal *p*-value principle to produce the most significant thresholds Cut_k . After selecting the appropriate distance metric statistic D_k based on cancer characteristics, we assessed all possible permutations of Cut_k across a range of clinically meaningful values, with a total of A_m^k species. Specifically, for each possible form of Cut_k , the differences statistic D_k and the corresponding *p*-value are calculated. We can determine the optimal Cut_k by locating the minimal *p*, namely, the highest D_k -statistic.

$$Cut_k = \arg\min_{k \in A_m^k} p \text{-value of } D_k \tag{10}$$

The TMBcat framework defines the distance statistic D_k as a measure of intergroup discrepancy in the comprehensive prognoses to distinguish immunotherapy patient populations. We provide various calculations of D_k depending on the features of the different carcinomas. Under immunotherapy, different tumors have different clinical manifestations as well as the focus of the therapeutic regimen, where tumor remission and survival prolongation are not equally emphasized in certain cancer types. For example, tumor response is the treatment priority in GI cancers as tumor lesion expansion has a tremendous negative impact on patient survival. However, breast cancer, thyroid carcinoma, and skin cancer, among others, are more likely to result in the prolonged survival of patients. Therefore, when assessing a patient's ICI treatment outcome, the favorable prognostic probability may be a one-dimensional joint probability p_i , which is applicable to variance-based distance, or it may be in the form of a weighted vector $p_i = [\omega_1 p_{Ri}, \omega_2 p_{Ti}]^T$, where D_k should be calculated by the similarity-matrix-based distance. At this point, our TMBcat is a general framework suitable for pan-cancer analysis, and the appropriate discrepancy metric statistic can be replaced based on the specific clinical characteristics of the tumor.

2.1.3 Selection of the optimal number of thresholds

We determined the optimal number of TMB thresholds based on intergroup discriminations obtained for $Cut_{k=l}$ and $Cut_{k=l+1}$. The criterion used to assess the need for an additional optimal cut-off point is whether it would enhance the composite intergroup discrimination index. The values of $D_{k=l}$ and $D_{k=l+1}$ across $Cut_{k=l}$ and $Cut_{k=l+1}$ cannot be used directly for comparison because of the non-uniform degrees of freedom. In light of this, we based our judgment on the *p*-value, representing the statistical significance. When the minimal *p*-value may decrease by the inclusion of one patient subgroup, an additional threshold is required:

$$p$$
-value of $D_{k=l} < p$ -value of $D_{k=l+1}$ (11)

Finally, a step-by-step tutorial on TMBcat is shown in Algorithm 1.

Data: observed sample information $S = \{R_i, T_i, \delta_i, TMB_{i,i} = 1, ..., n\}$

Result: the optimal TMB categorization number and corresponding thresholds

- 1 Jointly modeling the ORR&TTE endpoints for each
 patient i;
- 2 Calculate the joint probability pi for each patient
 i;
- **3** Give the thresholds number *k* and an optional number of TMB values *m*
- **4** for any possible permutation $\in A_m^k$ do
- **5** calculate the inter-group differences *D_k*:
- 6 if choosing parametric variance-

$$D_k = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{k+1} [(\bar{p}_j - \bar{p})^2 \times n_j]/k}{\sum_{j=1}^{k+1} \sum_{r=1}^{n_j} (p_{jr} - \bar{p}_j)^2 / n - k - 1}$$

9 end

7

10 if choosing non-parametric variance-distance then

11
$$D_k = \frac{12}{n(n+1)} \sum_{j=1}^{k+1} - 3(n+1)$$

12 p-value obtained by Kruskal-Wallis
13 end

14 if choosing non-parametric similaritymatrix-distance then

15
$$D_k = \frac{r_b - r_w}{\frac{1}{4}[n(n-1)]}$$

16 *p*-value obtained by *permutation test*

17 end 18 end

19 The optimal Cut_k = arg max D_k = arg min p-value of D_k; 20 Give the thresholds number k + 1, repeat step 4-19; /* Judgment of the optimal number of thresholds 21 if p-value of D_k < p-value of D_k+1 then 22 adding a patient subgroup k = k + 1

23 end

ALGORITHM 1 Tutorial on TMBcat.

2.2 Cohorts assembly

2.2.1 Experimental cohorts

In this study, 64 patients with R/M NPC who have been treated with anti-PD-(L)1 or anti-CTLA-4 were retrospectively examined. Patients with R/M NPC were consecutively enrolled in

two single-arm, phase I trials (NCT02721589 and NCT02593786) between March 2016 and January 2018. In addition, 78 Chinese patients with NSCLC in this study have received anti-PD-(L)1 monotherapy at Sun Yat-sen University Cancer Center between December 2015 and August 2017. The trial designs for the dosage escalation and expansion phases have been discussed before (34-36). Enrollment criteria included: i) aged 18-70; ii) Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status of 0-1; iii) histologically or cytologically confirmed NSCLC or NPC with metastatic disease or locoregional recurrence; iv) failure after at least one prior line of systemic therapy; v) radiologically evaluable. Central nervous system metastases, prior malignancy, autoimmune disease, prior immunotherapy, active tuberculosis infection, pregnancy, or immunosuppressive agent treatment were exclusion criteria. The distribution of patient treatments is shown in Supplementary Table S1. Patient characteristics, library preparation, sequencing and bioinformatics procedures are available in Supplementary Materials.

2.2.2 Validation cohorts from public literature

In addition to the above 2 experimental cohorts, we assembled 11 validation cohorts of 943 different patients from publicly available databases and studies, encompassing 453 patients with melanoma (16, 21, 37-39), 407 patients with NSCLC (17, 21, 40, 41), 56 patients with renal cell carcinoma (RCC) (16), and 27 patients with bladder (17) (specific clinical characteristics are shown in Supplementary Table S2) as the validation cohorts. Briefly, all of these studies are retrospective studies of immunotherapy, and ICI agents include anti-PD-(L)1, anti-CTLA4, combination anti-CTLA4/anti-PD-(L)1, and only a few other agents. The primary efficacy information we are interested in is ORR assessed by Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST 1.1 (42)) and progression-free survival (PFS) and/or overall survival (OS) outcomes. For TMB calculation, the mutation callings are acquired from the three sequencing platforms. Seven studies perform comprehensive genomic profiling by WES, two of which are called by the standard MC3 pipeline. The other four studies are based on currently available NGS panels for TMB estimation: F1CDx and MSK-IMPACT, which the FDA has approved as practicable diagnostic assays. The sequencing pipeline and diverse TMB thresholds are listed in Supplementary Table S2.

3 Results

3.1 Simulation study for determining TMB thresholds

To visualize how our proposed TMBcat determines the optimal TMB thresholds and numbers within a clinically meaningful range, we simulated two classification scenarios of consistent versus inconsistent direction of TMB effects on separate endpoints. Data are simulated in an oncology trial context, with underlying random effects correlated among patients' ORR and TTE endpoints. The specific modeling process and estimation procedure are in Section S2 *Simulation* of the Supplementary Materials. Through simulation experiments, we illustrate the applicability of TMBcat for determining TMB categorization. Given clinical practice and computational complexity, the number of patient subgroups is generally compared within 2–5 groups, i.e., k = 1-4. The distance metric was tested with the default parametric ANOVA. Owing to the differential direction and magnitude of TMB effects on simulated ORR endpoints versus TTE endpoints, Figure 2 shows the optimal dichotomous and optimal trichotomous scenarios, respectively.

The data are presented as a right triangular grid, with each point indicating a particular threshold division. The color intensity of each truncated point depicts the between-group variability of the ORR&TTE joint benefits for patients under that threshold classification, with darker colors indicating smaller joint *p*-values. Such a graphical display can shed light on the specific biological basis of the connection between TMB markers and immunotherapy. All probable TMB-high populations are represented on the horizontal axis, with the size becoming smaller from left to right. The vertical axis, which also reflects all possible TMB-low populations, illustrates how their sizes increase as the axis descends. The data along the hypotenuse represents the outcomes of a single threshold that splits the data into two subgroups. Data points away from the hypotenuse up or to the right represent results from two cut-points that define an additional TMB-median population. Greater separation from the hypotenuse results in a larger median subgroup. In Figure 2A, the boxed-out darkest-colored threshold division point, i.e., the greatest intergroup distinction, appears on the



FIGURE 2

Selection of the optimal thresholds. Each point in left column indicates a particular threshold division. The color intensity represents the joint p-value that depicts the between-group variability of the ORR&TTE joint benefits for patients under that threshold classification. TMB Threshold 1 (on the horizontal axis) and TMB threshold 2 (on the vertical axis) form a categorization dividing the patients into 2-3 different subgroups. The right column shows the comparative prognoses of patients under the optimal TMB categorization corresponding to the left panels. (A), The darkest-colored threshold division point, i.e., the minimum joint *p*-value, appears on the hypotenuse of the right triangle. At this point, k = 1 is the optimal subgroup number, and the boxed point locates the optimal TMB threshold. (B), A comparison of the joint population into two subgroups with distinct risks. (C), The darkest-colored threshold division point, i.e., the dichotomy scenario, and the boxed point locates the optimal TMB threshold is sufficient to separate the population into two subgroups with distinct risks. (C), The darkest-colored threshold division point, i.e., the minimum joint *p*-value, appears on the boxed point locates the optimal TMB threshold. (B), A comparison of the joint prognostic favorable probability of patients under the optimal TMB classification, clearly indicating that one TMB threshold is sufficient to separate the population into two subgroups with distinct risks. (C), The darkest-colored threshold division point, i.e., the minimum joint *p*-value, appears on the boxed point locates the optimal TMB classification, i.e., the minimum joint *p*-value, appears inside the triangle. The trichotomy is significantly superior to the dichotomy scenario, and the boxed point locates the optimal TMB thresholds. (D), A comparison of the joint prognostic favorable probability of patients under the optimal TMB classification, where a clear stratification effect of the treatment consequences for the three groups of pati

hypotenuse of the right triangle, where k = 1 is the optimal number of classifications. Thus, Figure 2B compares patients' joint prognostic favorable probability under the optimal threshold classification, indicating clearly that one TMB threshold is sufficient to separate the population into two subgroups with different risks. As a comparison, in Figure 2C, the darkest-colored point that is boxed out appears inside the triangle, which implies that the joint *p*-value of the optimal TMB tri-classification is significantly smaller than the optimal TMB dichotomous joint *p*-value. The trichotomy is significantly superior to the dichotomy scenario. Similarly, Figure 2D compares patient subgroups under the optimal threshold division of the trichotomous categorization, from which we can discern a clear stratification effect of treatment consequences for the three groups of patients. Therefore, in this case, multiple TMB thresholds are supported.

3.2 Presence of patients with inconsistent benefiting directions on separate efficacy endpoints

Based on the proposed joint favorable probability, we can yield a comprehensive overview of the response probability and the survival risk of the patient under the mutual modulation represented by the random effects. The joint prognostic indicators can be applied to compare the ICI treatment outcomes simultaneously. For further analysis, we extracted individual patients with inconsistencies between the response indices and survival risk.

We produced Kaplan-Meier survival curves for PFS to display divergence (Figure 3). The lower green curve represents patients with a tumor status of CR/PR, whereas our compound index shows probabilistically that such a trend should not occur in this subgroup. On the opposite, the higher purple curve represents patients with a tumor status of SD/PD, whereas our joint index shows probabilistically that this group tends to possess favorable clinical outcomes. The average PFS of patients in the CR/PR subgroup is 11.409 months (CI, 9.599-13.218 months), and the mPFS of patients in the CR/PR subgroup is 9.8 months (CI, 7.741-11.859 months). In contrast, the average PFS of patients in the SD/PD subgroup is 25.589 months (CI, 15.744-35.435 months), and the mPFS of patients in the SD/PD subgroup is 18.9 months (CI, 12.115-25.685 months). The log-rank test measures the difference between two survival curves, with a significant p-value of 0.002. These results identify some clinically overlooked populations: a cohort of patients that tended to survive with tumors, i.e., the group of patients demonstrated in the purple curve (Figure 3), revealing an apparently prolonged PFS even though endowed with relatively poorer outcomes in terms of response rubrics. In addition, a cohort of patients whose tumors have resolved may experience rapid disease progression within the first year of treatment, i.e., the group of patients



Progression-free survival curves for selected cancer patients with opposite prognosis indices. The lower (green) Kaplan-Meier curve represents patients with CR/PR, but the multi-endpoint joint model directs to SD/PD, and the higher (purple) Kaplan-Meier curve represents patients with SD/PD. Still, the multi-endpoint joint model directs to CR/PR. The clinical benefits of ORR and PFS endpoints point in two distinct directions.

demonstrated in the green curve (Figure 3). These patients are from the 2 experimental sets and 11 validation sets, representing a total of 110 individuals accounting for over 10% of the surveyed cohorts. Thus, we offer a bold and novel conclusion: a subset of patients whose effects in two different efficacy endpoints may be of different magnitudes or even point in different directions. This suggests the necessity of our proposal that multiple classifications of TMB should be performed.

Such divergent results reflect, to some extent, the reasonableness of the proposed joint probability in providing a more comprehensive picture of disease efficacy expressed in multifaceted forms when a single endpoint cannot fully represent the complexity of a disease. This issue also reflects that the populations represented by the two curves in Figure 3 are not specific individual cases, but a small cohort that will negatively impact the whole analysis and even the stratification of patients and should receive more attention in clinical analysis.

3.3 Triple classification of patients on TMB level appears more reasonable

Owing to the presence of a subset of patients whose clinical benefits are opposite at two endpoints, further refinement of patient classification based on joint efficacy analysis is warranted. Our clinical cohorts NPC (Panel) and NSCLC were trichotomized by TMBcat, and the analysis of patient grouping results is summarized below.

Figure 4 unfolds the hierarchical results formed by analyzing two different cancer datasets utilizing the TMBcat model, performing Kaplan-Meier survival analyses for TTE and Mann-Whitney U tests for the ORR. We found that an improvement in patient's survival time did not increase linearly with higher TMB values in the scenarios of the multi-classification. Patients in the TMB_Median group confer a poorer prognosis in both PFS and OS survival curves than in the other two TMB_Low and TMB_High groups. Patients with advanced NSCLC and NPC with low TMB might derive benefit from immunotherapy. Specifically, the mPFS of patients in the TMB_Median group is 1.67 and 2.07 months, respectively, in cases NPC and NSCLC, maintaining the lowest in the respective triple classification, while patients with NPC and NSCLC in the TMB_Low group have an mPFS of 2.57 and 2.13 months, and those in the TMB_High group have an mPFS of 2.57 and 5.97 months, respectively. Likewise, regarding the objective response, TMB_Median groups remain the worst performers, with the lowest ORR of 0.0% and 7.69%, respectively, whereas the TMB_High groups retained the highest ORRs of 16.22% and 29.63%, respectively. To interpret the origins of such non-linear trends, we considered another factor influencing tumor resistance: intra-tumoral heterogeneity (ITH). ITH is defined as a spatially or temporally uneven distribution of genomic diversification in an individual tumor (43): this is associated with a poor prognosis in solid tumors (44). Patients with low ITH may perform better in the

presentation and recognition of neoantigens during immunotherapy (45). The ITH level for each patient with NSCLC was calculated, and the favorable response to immune agents in the *TMB_Low* subgroup could be partially explained by the lower level of ITH (Figure 4E and Supplementary Table S1). In addition, for the joint probability distribution in space (Figure 4F), we show that the smoothed distribution curve remains with multiple inflection points, which demonstrates the plausibility of our proposed multiple classifications of TMB.

As a comparison, we grouped the clinical cohort NPC (Panel) and NSCLC based on the median TMB, a frequentlyused quantile in retrospective analyses (20, 40, 41), and the comparative results of patient efficacy after stratification are shown in Figure 5. As TMBcat is optimized with a minimal joint *p*-value, the optimal thresholds for TMB categorization based on our proposed criterion are definitely with the smallest joint pvalue among all possible threshold divisions. The joint *p*-values for both NPC (Panel) and NSCLC in Figure 4 are < 0.001, whereas the joint *p*-values for the two cohorts based on the TMB medians in Figure 5 are 0.521 and 0.061, respectively. To more objectively illustrate the advantages of TMBcat in differentiating patients, we observed the prognoses of patients under the TMB categorization from a single dimension of clinical performance. The differentiation between patient subgroups with the quantilebased TMB categorization is insignificant compared with the proposed minimum joint *p*-value criterion. Both the log-rank *p*values and Mann-Whitney U p-values increased markedly.

In summary, when the efficacy information on two endpoints reveals a consistent direction of benefit, i.e., patients with a higher probability of tumor response tend to have a more extended survival period, which is sufficient to dichotomize patients based on either endpoint. However, when patients display inconsistent benefits on both efficacy endpoints, we propose that it is more reasonable to triclassify patients based on TMB levels in clinical practice, which will help oncologists to screen for patients suitable for immunotherapy.

3.4 The TMB subgrouping landscape varies across pan-cancer

The potential association of TMB with sensitivity to ICIs may not be perfectly linear. We performed a pan-cancer analysis for nearly 1,000 patients with cancer in the validation group comprising four cancer types. We identified some novel correlation patterns regarding TMB metrics and immunotherapy efficacy: patients' clinical improvement did not increase uniformly and linearly with higher TMB values in the multiclassification scenarios.

The trichotomy results emphasized that the association between TMB and ICI efficacy is non-linear (Figure 6). Patients with RCC, NSCLC, and melanoma in the *TMB_Median* groups display a better trend in ICI outcomes than those in *TMB_Low* and



(A, B) Based on the mixed-endpoint analysis model, survival curves and ORR comparison for patients with NPC in the low, intermediate, and high TMB groups. (C, D) Based on the mixed-endpoint analysis model, survival curves and ORR comparison for patients with NSCLC in the low, intermediate, and high TMB groups. Patients' improvements in survival time and response status do not increase strictly linearly with higher TMB values in the scenarios of the multi-classification. Instead, there is a trend of a minor decline followed by a considerable increase in the positive connection between TMB and treatment outcomes. (E), ITH comparison among patients with NSCLC in the low, intermediate, and high TMB groups. (F), Three-dimensional spatial diagram of the association between TMB markers and ICI benefit.

TMB_High groups (Figures 6B–D). The advantage of the *TMB_Median* groups in terms of survival time is most evident in cases RCC and NSCLC_57, where patients maintain the highest mPFS of 11.1 and 27.3 months (mPFS: 2.7 and 5.6 months for *TMB_Low* and *TMB_High* in case RCC, respectively; log-rank p=0.644; mPFS: 10.39 and 14.61 months for *TMB_Low* and

TMB_High in case NSCLC_57, respectively; log-rank p=0.047), and the highest median overall survival (mOS) of inf, inf (mOS: 33.77 and 27.13 months for *TMB_Low* and *TMB_High* in RCC, respectively; log-rank p=0.732; mOS: 11.5 months and inf for *TMB_Low* and *TMB_High* in NSCLC_57, respectively; log-rank p=0.055; Figures 6B, C). On the other hand, when evaluating from



ORR, TMB_High groups acquire the most improvement only in Bladder and NSCLC_57 cases, do the proportions of tumor response gain as the TMB value increases, ranging from 33.3% to 100.0%, and 9.38% to 66.67%, respectively (Figures 6A, C). In the other validation cases, ORRs in TMB_Median subgroups reach the peak at 80.0%, 35.71%, and 46.77% in the RCC, Melanoma_105, and Melanoma_195 sets, respectively (Figures 6B, D, E). The results for the remaining validation cohorts can be found in Supplementary Figure S2-7. In addition, similar to the previous subsection, we performed a subgrouping analysis using the TMB medians for the five validation cohorts to allow a comparison with our proposed TMBcat; the results are summarized in Figure 7. Quantile-based TMB subgroups were intuitively weaker than TMBcat in p-value comparisons, and median TMB did not distinguish the clinical benefits of patients receiving immunotherapy.

To avoid overestimating the performance of our model and the overfitting problem, we further partitioned the MEL_195 queue into training and testing sets. Using the TMBcat-based TMB thresholds selection method, we filtered the appropriate triple classification thresholds based on the training set and grouped the patients for comparison (Figure 8). Subsequently, the patients in the independent testing set were classified based on the screened TMB thresholds and the outcomes were analyzed (Figure 8B). As summarized by the results, patients' efficacy had a uniform trend across the three distinct groupings. Thus, our method is generalizable and adaptable to other patient cohorts.

To further elaborate this non-linear distribution uniformly, after filtering the panel-based cases, we assembled eight validation clusters for analysis to obtain the multi-classification profiles (Figure 9). When patients have extremely high levels of TMB, the effectiveness of immunotherapy is, at this stage, lessened. We speculate that this phenomenon may be due to the accumulation of many mutations in *TMB_High* patients over a long period of carcinogenesis, resulting in heavily differentiated



FIGURE 6

The TMB subgrouping landscape analysis for various cancer types. (A), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the Bladder cohort. (B), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the RCC cohort. (C), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the RCC cohort. (C), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the NSCLC 57 cohort. (D), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the MEL 105 cohort. (E), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the MEL 195 cohort. The trichotomy results indicate that the association between TMB index and ICI efficacy is not perfectly linear, i.e., treatment gains do not inherently increase with higher TMB, and the pattern varied across carcinomas.



FIGURE 7

The median-based TMB subgrouping landscape analysis for various cancer types. (A), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the Bladder cohort. (B), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the RCC cohort. (C), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the NSCLC 57 cohort. (D), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the MEL 105 cohort. (E), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the MEL 195 cohort. (E), Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and ORR efficacy comparison for the MEL 195 cohort. The TMB median cannot distinguish patients' ICI prognosis and is significantly weaker than the proposed minimum joint *p*-value criterion in terms of statistical significance.



tumors, leading to correspondingly high heterogeneity. At this time, the neo-antigenic activity brought about by high TMB is weakened by the resistance to anticancer therapy brought about by heterogeneity. In contrast, patients with relatively low TMB may be in the early stages of carcinogenesis and have not yet accumulated a sufficient number of mutations; thus, they may gain a small improvement from ICI. Per this non-linear feature, an inverted U-shaped association between patients' TMB levels and ICI benefits can be clearly observed in melanoma and RCC (Figures 6B, D, E, Supplementary Figures S2, S4), i.e., poorer performance in patients with high TMB. In contrast, tumors of the skin and kidney typically exhibited a high degree of tumor heterogeneity. In lung cancers with low numbers of tumor clones, this correlation becomes U-shaped or linear, i.e., TMB_Low patients may possess better outcomes (Figure 6C, Supplementary Figures S5-7). This observation also coincides with the relationship between ITH and tumor resistance (44). Similarly, the comparison between the left and right columns (Figures 9) also reflects the superior grouping ability of the TMBcat (p-value: <0.001-0.13), whereas the quintile-based

grouping neither portrays a non-linear distribution, and the *p*-value does not indicate significance (0.001–0.5).

The results show that the association between TMB and ICI efficacy does not present a strict linear increasing trend but instead a non-linear distribution in which low TMB does not preclude response and high TMB is not a sufficient predictor. As seen from the pan-cancer results, multiple thresholds were prevalent, and the thresholds across carcinomas and protocols varied. Our multi-endpoint model provides an integrated and general approach for clinical threshold delineation. The reasons for this non-linear distribution and the underlying driving mechanism are still unclear; further exploratory clinical trials are needed.

4 Discussion

Tumor mutation burden has recently become an area of interest; high TMB is associated with a better response to ICI therapies. However, the threshold defining the TMB-high/TMBpositive patients in clinical practice is controversial, and this is



exacerbated by the presence of multiple evaluation metrics and TMB inaccuracy. The existing approaches to identify the TMB threshold are merely based on a single endpoint, which may yield excessive information loss to provide statistically significant stratification results. Herein, we describe our solution for TMB threshold selection using a novel criterion named TMBcat, a generalized framework for optimally determining the TMB categorization number and thresholds based on a joint p-value. The proposed TMBcat has good scalability because it allows the modeling of the joint distribution and integrates the multidimensional clinical information of patients into a one-dimensional statistic-joint p-value, without considering the number of clinical endpoints. In practical applications, when assessing the grouping effect of all possible combinations of TMB thresholds, the number of permutations may be huge when the number of required thresholds k and the number of alternative TMB values m is large. Thus, an exhaustive search is computationally costly. In these circumstances, we reduce the size of the search space by sampling the data with reasonable segmentation and use heuristic search algorithms, such as simulated annealing, to improve computational efficiency.

In addition, our analyses revealed a novel association pattern, in which the positive correlation between TMB and ICI outcomes was non-linear. In terms of overall trends, patients do not strictly derive more clinical benefits as their TMB levels increase; indeed, TMB-low patients are not necessarily inaccessible to immunotherapy, while patients with extremely high TMB do not always experience the greatest improvements from ICI. These phenotypes may be explained by the fact that cancer patients with remarkably high TMB levels generally accumulate many mutations during their long period of carcinogenesis and that their tumors have become highly differentiated, resulting in complex heterogeneity that confers patients with poor prognoses. Moreover, patients with relatively low TMB may expect a little improvement from ICI because they are in the early stages of cancer development, and many mutations have not yet developed. This phenomenon deserves to be explored in further clinical trials aimed at identifying the patients who may genuinely benefit from treatment with ICIs, refining the therapeutic selection and tailoring the treatment strategy.

Collectively, our results shed new light on TMB multistratification based on a multi-endpoint joint assessment of immunotherapy benefits, suggesting that clinicians should consider multiple thresholds. Current evidence on the atypical correlation between TMB and ICI outcomes emphasizes further exploring the corresponding immunobiological mechanisms before wider clinical implementation. All data associated with this study are presented in the Supplementary Materials and Tables.

5 Conclusion

Given the fusion of cross-scale, multimodal information and scheme decision-making in immunotherapy, clinical data should be integrated to achieve a comprehensive analysis of patient outcomes. Therefore, we proposed a minimal joint *p*-value criterion from the perspective of differentiating the comprehensive therapeutic advantages, termed TMBcat, to optimize TMB categorization across distinct cancer cohorts; this method surpassed known benchmarks. Previous studies have typically derived only one threshold to divide the immunotherapy patient population into two subgroups, which is largely insufficient. Instead, we consider a multi-threshold categorization incorporating multiple clinical endpoints, a firstof-its-kind pan-cancer framework for TMB categorization.

Based on our proposed optimization framework, we performed our multi-endpoint analysis on 78 patients with NSCLC and 64 patients with NPC who underwent ICI treatments, as well as an assembled cohort of 943 patients included in 11 published studies. Our study identified more novel medical findings compared with the available studies. From the results, we reasonably conclude that: i) the TMB metric is closely associated with immunotherapy benefits, although this association is non-linear and varies between cancer types; ii) integrating multi-dimensional information for patients to employ multi-endpoint joint analysis can prompt a more comprehensive TMB subgrouping; iii) patients receiving immunotherapy may have different effects on different efficacy endpoints, which suggests that iv) there is more than one TMB inflection point available that permit significantly different clinical outcomes in subgroups of patients; and finally, v) the ability of our model TMBcat to provide the optimal number of subgroups in addition to the corresponding TMB thresholds may better assist physicians in treatment decision-making.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by Ethical Review Committee of Sun Yat-sen University Cancer Center. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

YW, XL, JW, and WF conceived and designed the study. YW, XL, and JW developed the methodology. WF, YS, LZ, YW, XL, and YX collected and managed the data. YW wrote the first draft. YW, XL, JW, LZ, and WF reviewed, edited, and approved the manuscript. XL, JW, YX, XPZ, XYZ, YL, LZ, and WF provided administrative, technical, or material support. JW was primarily responsible for the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, grant number 92046009; the Natural Science Basic Research Program of Shaanxi, grant number 2020JC-01; the National Natural Science Foundation of China, grant number 82173101; and the National Natural Science Foundation of China, grant number 81972556.

Acknowledgments

We thank the patients and their families for participation in the study.

Conflict of interest

Author YS is employed by Nanjing Geneseeq Technology Inc. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.995180/full#supplementary-material 1. Majc B, Novak M, Jerala NK, Jewett A, Breznik B. Immunotherapy of glioblastoma: Current strategies and challenges in tumor model development. *Cells* (2021) 10:265. doi: 10.3390/cells10020265

2. Kuryk L, Bertinato L, Staniszewska M, Pancer K, Wieczorek M, Salmaso S, et al. From conventional therapies to immunotherapy: melanoma treatment in review. *Cancers* (2020) 12:3057. doi: 10.3390/cancers12103057

3. Wołacewicz M, Hrynkiewicz R, Grywalska E, Suchojad T, Leksowski T, Roliński J, et al. Immunotherapy in bladder cancer: current methods and future perspectives. *Cancers* (2020) 12:1181. doi: 10.3390/cancers12051181

4. Chiang AC, Herbst RS. Frontline immunotherapy for nsclc-the tale of the tail. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2020) 17:73-4. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0317-y

5. Hellmann MD, Ciuleanu TE, Pluzanski A, Lee JS, Otterson GA, Audigier-Valette C, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in lung cancer with a high tumor mutational burden. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 378:2093–104. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1801946

6. Cristescu R, Mogg R, Ayers M, Albright A, Murphy E, Yearley J, et al. Pantumor genomic biomarkers for pd-1 checkpoint blockade-based immunotherapy. *Science* (2018) 362:eaar3593. doi: 10.1126/science.aar3593

7. Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific t-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol: Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol* (2013) 31:e439-42. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521

8. Conway JR, Kofman E, Mo SS, Elmarakeby H, Van Allen E. Genomics of response to immune checkpoint therapies for cancer: implications for precision medicine. *Genome Med* (2018) 10:93. doi: 10.1186/s13073-018-0605-7

9. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:252-64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239

10. Legrand FA, Gandara DR, Mariathasan S, Powles T, He X, Zhang W, et al. Association of high tissue tmb and atezolizumab efficacy across multiple tumor types. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36:12000. doi: 10.1200/jco.2018.36.15_suppl.1200

11. Hellmann MD, Callahan MK, Awad MM, Calvo E, Ascierto PA, Atmaca A, et al. Tumor mutational burden and efficacy of nivolumab monotherapy and in combination with ipilimumab in small-cell lung cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2018) 33:853–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.04.001

12. Hanna GJ, Lizotte P, Cavanaugh M, Kuo FC, Shivdasani P, Frieden A, et al. Frameshift events predict anti-pd-1/l1 response in head and neck cancer. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3:e98811. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.98811

13. Lemery S, Keegan P, Pazdur R. First fda approval agnostic of cancer sitewhen a biomarker defines the indication. *New Engl J Med* (2017) 377:1409–12. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1709968

14. Subbiah V, Solit DB, Chan TA, Kurzrock R. The fda approval of pembrolizumab for adult and pediatric patients with tumor mutational burden (tmb) \geq 10: a decision centered on empowering patients and their physicians. *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31:1115–8. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.07.002

15. Samstein RM, Lee CH, Shoushtari AN, Hellmann MD, Shen R, Janjigian YY, et al. Tumor mutational load predicts survival after immunotherapy across multiple cancer types. *Nat Genet* (2019) 51:202–6. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0312-8

16. Wood MA, Weeder BR, David JK, Nellore A, Thompson RF. Burden of tumor mutations, neoepitopes, and other variants are weak predictors of cancer immunotherapy response and overall survival. *Genome Med* (2020) 12:33. doi: 10.1186/s13073-020-00729-2

17. Miao D, Margolis CA, Vokes NI, Liu D, Taylor-Weiner A, Wankowicz SM, et al. Genomic correlates of response to immune checkpoint blockade in microsatellite-stable solid tumors. *Nat Genet* (2018) 50:1271–81. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0200-2

 Riaz N, Havel JJ, Makarov V, Desrichard A, Urba WJ, Sims JS, et al. Tumor and microenvironment evolution during immunotherapy with nivolumab. *Cell* (2017) 171:934–49. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.028

19. Colli LM, Machiela MJ, Myers TA, Jessop L, Yu K, Chanock SJ. Burden of nonsynonymous mutations among tcga cancers and candidate immune checkpoint inhibitor responses. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76:3767–72. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0170

20. Cao D, Xu H, Xu X, Guo T, Ge W. High tumor mutation burden predicts better efficacy of immunotherapy: a pooled analysis of 103078 cancer patients. *Oncoimmunology* (2019) 8:e1629258. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2019.1629258

21. Goodman AM, Kato S, Bazhenova L, Patel SP, Frampton GM, Miller V, et al. Tumor mutational burden as an independent predictor of response to immunotherapy in diverse cancers. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2017) 16:2598–608. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0386

22. Phillips A, Haudiquet V. Ich e9 guideline 'statistical principles for clinical trials': a case study. *Stat Med* (2003) 22:1–11. doi: 10.1080/10543406.2018.1489402

23. Ristl R, Urach S, Rosenkranz G, Posch M. Methods for the analysis of multiple endpoints in small populations: A review. *J Biopharmaceut Stat* (2019) 29:1–29. doi: 10.1080/10543406.2018.1489402

24. Sheth M, Ko J. Exploring the relationship between overall survival (os), progression free survival (pfs) and objective response rate (orr) in patients with advanced melanoma. *Cancer Treat Res Commun* (2021) 26:100272. doi: 10.1016/j.ctarc.2020.100272

25. Hashim M, Pfeiffer BM, Bartsch R, Postma M, Heeg B. Do surrogate endpoints better correlate with overall survival in studies that did not allow for crossover or reported balanced postprogression treatments? an application in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Val Health* (2018) 21:9–17. doi: 10.1016/ jival.2017.07.011

26. Colloca GA, Venturino A, Guarneri D. Analysis of response-related endpoints in trials of first-line medical treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Int J Clin Oncol* (2019) 24:1406–11. doi: 10.1007/s10147-019-01504-z

27. Yoshida Y, Kaneko M, Narukawa M. Magnitude of advantage in tumor response contributes to a better correlation between treatment effects on overall survival and progression-free survival: a literature-based meta-analysis of clinical trials in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Int J Clin Oncol* (2020) 25:851–60. doi: 10.1007/s10147-020-01619-8

28. Alioto TS, Buchhalter I, Derdak S, Hutter B, Eldridge MD, Hovig E, et al. A comprehensive assessment of somatic mutation detection in cancer using wholegenome sequencing. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:1–13. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10001

29. Xu H, DiCarlo J, Satya RV, Peng Q, Wang Y. Comparison of somatic mutation calling methods in amplicon and whole exome sequence data. *BMC Genomics* (2014) 15:1–10. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-15-244

30. Wang Y, Lai X, Wang J, Xu Y, Zhang X, Zhu X, et al. A joint model considering measurement errors for optimally identifying tumor mutation burden threshold. *Front Genet* (2022) 1704:915839. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2022.915839

31. Mazumdar M, Glassman JR. Categorizing a prognostic variable: review of methods, code for easy implementation and applications to decision-making about cancer treatments. *Stat Med* (2000) 19:113–32. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0258 (20000115)19:1<113::aid-sim245>3.0.co;2-o

32. Asar Ö, Ritchie J, Kalra PA, Diggle PJ. Joint modelling of repeated measurement and time-to-event data: an introductory tutorial. *Int J Epidemiol* (2015) 44:334–44. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu262

33. McGilchrist CA. Estimation in generalized mixed models. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)* (1994) 56:61–9. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1994.tb01959.x

34. Fang W, Yang Y, Ma Y, Hong S, Lin L, He X, et al. Camrelizumab (shr-1210) alone or in combination with gemcitabine plus cisplatin for nasopharyngeal carcinoma: results from two single-arm, phase 1 trials. *Lancet Oncol* (2018) 19:1338–50. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30495-9

35. Ma Y, Fang W, Zhang Y, Yang Y, Hong S, Zhao Y, et al. A phase i/ii openlabel study of nivolumab in previously treated advanced or recurrent nasopharyngeal carcinoma and other solid tumors. *Oncol* (2019) 24:891–e431. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2019-0284

36. Fang W, Ma Y, Yin JC, Hong S, Zhou H, Wang A, et al. Comprehensive genomic profiling identifies novel genetic predictors of response to anti-pd-(l) 1 therapies in non-small cell lung cancertmb and novel predictors of immunotherapy response in nsclc. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:5015–26. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0585

37. Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to ctla-4 blockade in melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 371:2189–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1406498

38. Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to ctla-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. *Science* (2015) 350:207–11. doi: 10.1126/science.aad0095

39. Hugo W, Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Song C, Moreno BH, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-pd-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. *Cell* (2016) 165:35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.065

40. Hellmann MD, Nathanson T, Rizvi H, Creelan BC, Sanchez-Vega F, Ahuja A, et al. Genomic features of response to combination immunotherapy in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2018) 33:843–852.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.018

41. Rizvi H, Sanchez-Vega F, La K, Chatila W, Jonsson P, Halpenny D, et al. Molecular determinants of response to anti–programmed cell death (pd)-1 and anti–programmed death-ligand 1 (pd-11) blockade in patients with non–small-cell lung cancer profiled with targeted next-generation sequencing. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36:633. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.75.384

42. Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised recist guideline (version 1.1). *Eur J Cancer* (2009) 45:228–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.10.026

43. Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LAJr., Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science* (2013) 339:1546–58. doi: 10.1126/ science.1235122 44. Landau DA, Carter SL, Stojanov P, McKenna A, Stevenson K, Lawrence MS, et al. Evolution and impact of subclonal mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cell* (2013) 152:714–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.019

45. Fang W, Jin H, Zhou H, Hong S, Ma Y, Zhang Y, et al. Intratumoral heterogeneity as a predictive biomarker in anti-pd-(l) 1 therapies for non-small cell lung cancer. *Mol Cancer* (2021) 20:1–6. doi: 10.1186/s12943-021-01331-9

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY Liangzhe Liu, Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, China Yuliang Wang, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Youtan Liu youtanliuhao@163.com Chi Wai Cheung cheucw@hku.hk Shuang Yin 244061858@qq.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 16 July 2022 ACCEPTED 02 September 2022 PUBLISHED 20 September 2022

CITATION

Gong T, Liu Y, Tian Z, Zhang M, Gao H, Peng Z, Yin S, Cheung CW and Liu Y (2022) Identification of immunerelated endoplasmic reticulum stress genes in sepsis using bioinformatics and machine learning. *Front. Immunol.* 13:995974. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.995974

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Gong, Liu, Tian, Zhang, Gao, Peng, Yin, Cheung and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Identification of immunerelated endoplasmic reticulum stress genes in sepsis using bioinformatics and machine learning

Ting Gong^{1,2†}, Yongbin Liu^{3†}, Zhiyuan Tian^{1,2}, Min Zhang^{1,2}, Hejun Gao^{1,2}, Zhiyong Peng^{1,2}, Shuang Yin^{1,2*}, Chi Wai Cheung^{4*} and Youtan Liu^{1,2*}

¹Department of Anesthesiology, Shenzhen Hospital, Southern Medical University, Shenzhen, China, ²The Third School of Clinical Medicine, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ³Department of Radiology, Huazhong University of Science and Technology Union Shenzhen Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ⁴Department of Anesthesiology, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China

Background: Sepsis-induced apoptosis of immune cells leads to widespread depletion of key immune effector cells. Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress has been implicated in the apoptotic pathway, although little is known regarding its role in sepsis-related immune cell apoptosis. The aim of this study was to develop an ER stress-related prognostic and diagnostic signature for sepsis through bioinformatics and machine learning algorithms on the basis of the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between healthy controls and sepsis patients.

Methods: The transcriptomic datasets that include gene expression profiles of sepsis patients and healthy controls were downloaded from the GEO database. The immune-related endoplasmic reticulum stress hub genes associated with sepsis patients were identified using the new comprehensive machine learning algorithm and bioinformatics analysis which includes functional enrichment analyses, consensus clustering, weighted gene coexpression network analysis (WGCNA), and protein-protein interaction (PPI) network construction. Next, the diagnostic model was established by logistic regression and the molecular subtypes of sepsis were obtained based on the significant DEGs. Finally, the potential diagnostic markers of sepsis were screened among the significant DEGs, and validated in multiple datasets.

Results: Significant differences in the type and abundance of infiltrating immune cell populations were observed between the healthy control and

sepsis patients. The immune-related ER stress genes achieved strong stability and high accuracy in predicting sepsis patients. 10 genes were screened as potential diagnostic markers for sepsis among the significant DEGs, and were further validated in multiple datasets. In addition, higher expression levels of SCAMP5 mRNA and protein were observed in PBMCs isolated from sepsis patients than healthy donors (n = 5).

Conclusions: We established a stable and accurate signature to evaluate the diagnosis of sepsis based on the machine learning algorithms and bioinformatics. SCAMP5 was preliminarily identified as a diagnostic marker of sepsis that may affect its progression by regulating ER stress.

KEYWORDS

sepsis, immunity, endoplasmic reticulum stress, machine learning, SCAMP5

Introduction

Sepsis is associated with high morbidity and mortality rates which caused by a disproportionate inflammatory response of the host to infection (1). An estimated 48.9 million people worldwide were diagnosed with sepsis in 2017, resulting in over 11 million deaths that accounted for 20% of the global mortality rate (2). Despite advances in resuscitation strategies, ventilator management, antibiotic therapy and glucose maintenance, there is no particularly effective treatment for sepsis other than standard care and supportive treatment, and severe sepsis remains a leading cause of death (3, 4). Studies in human subjects and animal models have shown that sepsis is associated with the overactivation of innate immune effector cells, resulting in uncontrolled inflammation that leads to extensive tissue damage and organ failure in case of severe septicemia (5-7). In order to reduce sepsis-related mortality, it is very necessary to explore the biological mechanisms and potential biomarkers associated with sepsis.

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is the place of protein folding and post-translational modifications, and is also a critical organelle of the secretory pathway (8). Cellular stress and inflammation can lead to the accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins, a phenomenon also known as ER stress (9). ER arising from inflammation and the loss of dynamic balance in endoplasmic reticulum function under stress has been closely related to the progression of sepsis (10). However, the possible relationship between ER and sepsis, especially the possible role of ER stress on immune cell apoptosis during sepsis, remains unclear. To this end, we explored the role of immune cell apoptosis and ER stress on the development of sepsis, as well as their correlation to patient prognosis. Our objective was to identify the molecular subtypes of sepsis to expand the repertoire of potential diagnostic biomarkers.

The gene expression profiles of sepsis and normal blood samples were retrieved from the GEO database using R software (11), and the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between the two groups were screened. Immune cell infiltration in the sepsis and control groups was analyzed using the CIBERSORT algorithm, and the sepsis dataset was clustered on the basis of immune checkpoint genes in order to identify key genes associated with the immune responses during sepsis. The DEGs related to sepsis and ER stress were functionally annotated by GO and KEGG pathway enrichment analyses, and weighted gene correlation network analysis (WGCNA) (12) was performed to identify co-expressed gene modules. Next, the protein-protein interaction (PPI) network of the genes intersecting the WGCNA and ER stress-related gene sets was constructed using the STRING database (13), and the clinical relevance of the hub genes was analyzed in multiple datasets. In addition, the correlation between the hub genes and immune cell infiltration levels was also examined. Finally, the potential diagnostic markers of sepsis were screened, which offers new insights for sepsis diagnosis and treatment.

Materials and methods

Data availability

All the raw data is available. Raw data link: https://www.jianguoyun.com/p/ DU2vz6oQzM3iChj1us0EIAA.

(Access Password: k6zrvo).

Identification of sepsis-related DEGs

The sepsis-related transcriptomic datasets GSE9960 and GSE57065 (14, 15) were downloaded from the GEO database using the GEO query package in R (version 4.0.3, http://r-project.org/) (16). The details of the datasets are listed in Table 1. The datasets were merged using the sva package in R, and the difference between batches was eliminated according to the data source. The samples in the merged dataset were divided into the normal (n = 41) and sepsis (n = 136) groups using ComBat in the sva package, and all samples were included in the study. After normalizing the expression data, the DEGs between the normal and sepsis samples were screened by the limma package in R (17), with logFC > 1 or < -1 and adjP value < 0.05 as the thresholds.

Analysis of immune infiltrating cells in sepsis

Based on the principle linear support vector regression, we used CIBERSORT algorithm to analyze the gene expression matrix of immune cell subtypes. LM22 and CIBERSORT matrices can predict the proportion of 22 infiltrating immune cell subtypes in individual samples of a dataset (18). The infiltrating immune cell populations in the sepsis and normal samples were estimated on the basis of RNA-Seq data, and the abundance of the 22 subtypes of immune cells in the datasets was evaluated by the CIBERSORT algorithm. The differentially enriched immune cells between septic and normal samples were also identified, and their correlation with key sepsis-related genes was analyzed.

Identification of immune subtypes

Consensus Clustering is used to determine the number of possible clusters in gene expression datasets, and is routinely applied in cancer genomics research to identify molecular subtypes. The "ConsensusClusterPlus" package in R (19) was used to cluster the sepsis datasets on the basis of immune checkpoint genes (20) in order to distinguish immune subtypes and identify the key genes related to sepsis-related immunity. The number of clusters was set between 2 and 10, and

TABLE 1 Data information.

Data	Normal	Sepsis
GSE9960	16	54
GSE57065	25	82
GSE123729	11	15
GSE54514	18	35
GSE26378	21	82

the process was repeated 100 times to extract 80% of the total samples using clusterAlg = "pam", distance = "Euclidean". The pheatmap package in R was used to draw the clustering heat map consisting of the top 20 down-regulated and up-regulated genes.

Functional annotation of DEGs

Gene ontology (GO) is used for large-scale functional annotation of genes based on the enriched molecular functions (MF), biological processes (BP) and cellular components (CC). Subsequently, KEGG is a database of biological pathways, drugs, genomes and diseases. The clusterProfiler package in R (21) was used for KEGG pathway enrichment analyses and GO functional annotation of the intersecting sepsis-related DEGs and ER stress-related genes. P-value < 0.05 was used as the threshold for significant enrichment. Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) is used to evaluate the correlation of genes in a pre-defined gene set with a specific phenotype (22). The "c5.go.v7.4.symbols" with "c2.kegg.v7.4.symbols" gene sets in the MSigDB database (23) were subjected to GSEA using the clusterProfiler package (21). P-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant (23).

Weighted Gene Correlation Network Analysis (WGCNA)

WGCNA is used to identify co-expressed gene modules, explore the relationship between gene network and phenotype, and study the core genes in the network. WGCNA was performed on the DEGs between sepsis and control datasets using the WGCNA package in R (12). The correlation coefficient between two genes was first calculated, then its weighted value was used to make the connection between the genes in a scalefree network. The hierarchical clustering tree was then constructed according to the correlation coefficients, wherein different gene modules were represented by the branches and color-coded. The "minModuleSize" was set to 50, and the module significance and correlation of mRNA expression levels with different modules were calculated. Finally, the most significant module related to the disease was identified, and the characteristic genes were extracted for subsequent analysis.

Construction of protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks

The STRING database (13) contains 2031 species, which includes 9.6 million proteins and 1380 million protein and protein interactions (PPIs) obtained from experimental data, text mining results from PubMed, other databases, and bioinformatics predictions. The PPI network of the genes intersecting the WGCNA and ER stress-related gene sets was visualized using Cytoscape software which constructed from the STRING database. Finally, the hub genes related to ER stress in sepsis were screened from this PPI network.

Construction of a diagnostic model

The minor absolute contraction and selection operator (LASSO) logistic regression method is used to screen for the most powerful prognostic predictors since it forces the absolute value of the regression coefficient to be less than the constant value, which can effectively avoid model overfitting and filter out the most important events. The sepsis-related genes were preliminarily screened by the LASSO method using glmnet package in R (24), and the diagnostic model was established by logistic regression. The odds ratio (OR) and P-value of each variable were calculated in the model, then the risk score of each sample was obtained. Diagnostic marker genes with a P-value < 0.05 and OR value that is more excellent than or less than one were selected.

Classification of sepsis subtypes

We used the "limma" package in R to screen the differentially expressed genes in the combined datasets between normal and sepsis samples. The filtering conditions were $|\log FC| > 2$ and adj.P Value<0.05. The ConsensusClusterPlus package in R (19) was used to cluster the sepsis datasets based on the significant DEGs between sepsis and control samples to obtain molecular subtypes of sepsis.

Extraction of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs)

The collection of blood samples from human subjects was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Shenzhen Hospital of Southern Medical University (ID: NYSZYYEC20200039). The clinical data is available at the China Clinical trial Registration Center (No. ChiCTR2100043761). Healthy volunteers were recruited from hospital staff and through advertisements. All sepsis patients had been admitted to the ICU of the Shenzhen Hospital of Southern Medical University. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3) were used to diagnose sepsis (25). Blood samples were collected by venipuncture, and the PBMCs were separated by Ficoll-Paque density gradient centrifugation as per the manufacturer's instructions.

Real-time quantitative PCR

RNA was extracted from cells and tissues using TRIzol (Gene Copoeia, MD, USA), and 1 μg total RNA from each

sample was reverse transcribed to cDNA using specific primers and SYBR Green reaction mix (Takara Biotech). Real-time qPCR was performed on the Bio-Rad Real-Time PCR cycler. Relative gene expression levels were calculated by the $2^{-\Delta\Delta ct}$ method. The primer sequences were as follows: SCAMP5 forward: GCCCCATCAAGGTTCAGGAC, reverse: TACGTGTAATTGGGGGTGGC; GAPDH forward: TGGTATCGTGGAAGGACTC, reverse: AGTAGAGGC AGGGATGATG.

Western blotting

After proteins quantified by a BCA protein assay kit (Thermo), equal amounts of proteins $(20\mu g)$ per sample were separated by 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to a PVDF membrane (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). After blocking with 5% skimmed milk at room temperature for 2 h, the membranes were incubated overnight with the anti-SCAMP5 (Abcam, ab3432, 1:500) and anti-GAPDH (Abcam, ab22555, 1:1000) primary antibodies, and thereafter with the horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody. The images were captured using the ChemiDoc imaging system (Bio-Rad).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using R (https://www. r-project.org/, 4.0.2 version). Normally distributed continuous variables between two groups were compared by the independent Student t-test, and variables with non-normal distribution were analyzed by the Mann-Whitney U test (Wilcoxon rank-sum test). The receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) was plotted to predict binary categorical variables using the pROC package. All statistical tests were two-sided. P < 0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

Results

Screening for DEGs between sepsis and control samples

Data set analysis and flow chart of this study (Figure 1A). The GSE9960 and GSE57065 datasets were merged and batch effects were removed. To ascertain any significant differences in the expression profiles of the two datasets, we analyzed data distribution before and after removing the batch effect through box plots. As shown in Figures 1B, D there were apparent interand intra-group differences before removing the batch effect,



which were eliminated once the batch effect of the dataset source was removed and corrected (Figures 1C, E). The DEGs between the sepsis and control groups were then screened using limma in R, which revealed 577 DEGs, including 325 up-regulated and 330 down-regulated genes (Figures 1F, G).

Analysis of immune cell infiltration

The proportion of different infiltrating immune cell types between the sepsis and control groups was evaluated using the CIBERSORT algorithm. After removing populations with a sum of immune abundance value 0, the Wilcox test algorithm was applied to 15 immune cell populations, including naïve B cells, plasma cells, memory B cells, CD8⁺ T cells, regulatory T cells (Tregs), CD4⁺ memory resting T cells, follicular helper T cells, resting NK cells, activated NK cells, M0 macrophages, M2 macrophages, monocytes, activated DCs, resting dendritic cells (DCs), resting mast cells and activated mast cells (Figure 2A).



Distribution of immune cell subtypes in the merged dataset. (A) Bar plot showing percentage infiltration of 22 immune cells in each sample. (B) The top 10 hub genes according to Friends analysis. (C) The PPI network shows the interactions of the top10 genes. (D) Correlation heatmap of 22 immune cell types. (E) Violin plot showing differential infiltration of the 22 immune cell populations.

To assess the functional correlation between key genes and immune cells in sepsis, we analyzed the PPI network of the 577 DEGs, and obtained the top 10 hub genes using the MCC algorithm, and carried out with Friends analysis (Figure 2B). The protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks for the top10 hub gene (Figure 2C). The correlation between immune cells in the datasets, and the abundance of different populations in the sepsis and control samples were analyzed. As shown in Figures 2D, E, the B cells, T cells, NK cells and DCs were more abundant in the sepsis samples compared to the controls, whereas the infiltration of neutrophils was significantly lower in the sepsis samples relative to that in the control samples. These findings indicate that the samples from normal and sepsis patients demonstrated a variety of different immune contexts.

Identification of immune subtypes

Principal component analysis (PCA) of the combined dataset showed that although the control and sepsis groups were distinct, there was still some overlap among the samples (Figure 3A). Since the immune checkpoint-related genes were differentially expressed between the sepsis and control groups (Figure 3C), we clustered the 136 sepsis samples on the basis of these immune checkpoints into the immune_ A (n = 66) and immune_ B (n = 70) clusters using the ConsensusClusterPlus package in R. PCA analysis was performed again (Figure 3B), and the results showed that although a small number of samples overlapped, most pieces were significantly separated. Next, we performed the differentially expressed genes just obtained to draw the heat map (Figure 3D), and the results show that the



immunophenotyping. (C) Heatmap of immune infiltration-related genes in the normal and septic groups. (D) Heatmap of immune infiltrationrelated genes according to immunophenotyping. Red and blue squares indicate activation and suppression, respectively.

expression difference trend of these genes is more prominent. These findings indicated that sepsis samples were clustered into immune subsets based on immune checkpoint related genes were differentially expressed.

Functional annotation of ER stressrelated genes in sepsis

To explore the involvement of ER stress in sepsis, we performed a Venn analysis of the sepsis-related DEGs and ER stress-related genes (Figure 4A), and functionally annotated the intersecting genes by GO and KEGG analyses. As shown in Figure 4B and Table 2 the genes are enriched in biological processes such as response to ER stress, negative regulation of response to ER stress, negative regulation of protein exit from the ER, cell components including platelet alpha granule lumen,

platelet alpha granule, phagophore assembly site membrane, and molecular functions such as ubiquitin-like protein ligase binding, ubiquitin-protein ligase binding and protein phosphatase 2A binding. The critical functions of the DEGs include response to ER stress, ubiquitin protein ligase binding, protein processing in ER, negative regulation of protein exit from the ER and so on (Figure 4C and Table 3).

GSEA was next performed to determine the effect of gene expression level on sepsis. As shown in Figure 5A, the DEGs are related to biological functions such as autoimmune thyroid disease, allograft rejection, antigen processing and presentation. The top 5 functions are shown in Figure 5C. To test out the enrichment results of the gene set, we used GSVA (Gene Set Variation Analysis) analysis. The expression matrix of genes among different products is transformed into the expression matrix of gene sets among samples to evaluate whether different metabolic pathways are enriched. Finally, the



coordinate shows -log(p.adjust) values and the vertical coordinate shows GO terms. (C) The enrichment results are displayed on the network, and the node size represents the number of genes enriched. The red dots represent the nine genes that were enriched.

Term	ID	Description	p.adjust
BP	GO:0034976	response to endoplasmic reticulum stress	4.91E-14
BP	GO:1903573	negative regulation of response to endoplasmic reticulum stress	2.07E-06
BP	GO:0070862	negative regulation of protein exit from the endoplasmic reticulum	3.83E-06
BP	GO:0035966	response to topologically incorrect protein	4.35E-06
BP	GO:1904293	negative regulation of ERAD pathway	4.35E-06
CC	GO:0031093	platelet alpha granule lumen	0.0215363
CC	GO:0031091	platelet alpha granule	0.0215363
CC	GO:0034045	phagophore assembly site membrane	0.053925509
CC	GO:0097440	apical dendrite	0.053925509
CC	GO:0005788	endoplasmic reticulum lumen	0.053925509
MF	GO:0031625	ubiquitin-protein ligase binding	8.55E-06
MF	GO:0044389	ubiquitin-like protein ligase binding	8.55E-06
MF	GO:0051721	protein phosphatase 2A binding	0.003507229
MF	GO:0043621	protein self-association	0.008115479
MF	GO:0051087	chaperone binding	0.021453686

TABLE 2 GO enrichment analysis of differentially expressed genes.

TABLE 3 KEGG enrichment analysis of differentially expressed genes.

ID	Description	p.adjust
hsa05219	Bladder cancer	0.000968991
hsa04141	Protein processing in the endoplasmic reticulum	0.001091676
hsa04115	p53 signalling pathway	0.001851097
hsa05131	Shigellosis	0.002275623
hsa05161	Hepatitis B	0.011814754
hsa05144	Malaria	0.021266314
hsa01524	Platinum drug resistance	0.037234276
hsa05210	Colorectal cancer	0.037234276
hsa05206	MicroRNAs in cancer	0.037234276
hsa05222	Small cell lung cancer	0.037234276
	ID hsa05219 hsa04141 hsa04115 hsa05131 hsa05161 hsa05144 hsa05210 hsa05206 hsa05222	IDDescriptionhsa05219Bladder cancerhsa04141Protein processing in the endoplasmic reticulumhsa04115p53 signalling pathwayhsa05131Shigellosishsa05161Hepatitis Bhsa05144Malariahsa05120Colorectal cancerhsa05206MicroRNAs in cancerhsa05222Small cell lung cancer

results are visually displayed using the pheatmap package (Figure 5B and Table 4). We found that sample grouping can distinguish the effects of gene set enrichment analysis. These results indicate activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress-related pathways is an important biological process affecting immune cell function in sepsis.

Identification of key ER stress-related genes in sepsis

Furthermore, we used the WGCNA algorithm to construct coexpression modules and identify mRNA-related modules. The key parameter of soft threshold power was set to 7 to ensure the overall connectivity of the co-expression module. Seven co-expression modules were obtained and the color-coded gene clusters are shown in Figure 6A. The purple, gray 60 and gray modules were positively correlated with mRNA (Meplum: r = 0.62, $P = 9e^{-20}$; Megrey60: r = 0.17, P = 0.02; Megrey: r = 0.25, $P = 8e^{-04}$), and the orange, dark blue, sky blue and orange-red modules showed negative correlation with mRNA (Meorange: r = -0.24, P =0.002; Memidnightblue: r = -0.19, P = 0.01; Meskyblue: r =-0.56, P = 3e-15; Meorangered: r = -0.037, P = 0.6) (Figure 6B). Next, the correlation of the module membership with the sepsis samples was shown (Figures 6C–H). The purple module was most significantly correlated to sepsis (Figure 6C), and its characteristic genes with the highest correlation were intersected with ER stressrelated genes. There were 70 intersecting genes in the venn diagram (Figure 7A). PPI network analysis was performed on these genes,



ratio, vertical coordinate show the KEGG pathways, and the color indicates P-value. (B) Heat map showing the results of GSVA on GSEA enrichment data. Red and blue indicate activation and suppression, respectively. (C) The top 5 items of the GSEA.

and those with interaction scores greater than 0.4 are shown in Figure 7B. The top 20 hub genes were identified with the MCC algorithm, and are shown in (Figure 7C). In conclusion, a multifactor network indicated complex interaction of the 20 ER stressrelated hub genes in sepsis.

Identification of sepsis subtypes and diagnostic markers

The potential diagnostic markers of sepsis were screened from the DEGs of the combined dataset using LASSO regression and logistic regression. As shown in (Figures 8A, B), there were 76 genes with OR > 1 and 85 genes with OR < 1 (and P < 0.05). The potential diagnostic markers were validated on the GSE123729 dataset by PCA, which showed that most markers distinguished sepsis from normal samples (Figures 8C, D). The differential expressions of these markers in the validation dataset are shown in the heat maps in (Figures 8E, F) and Table 5.

Fifty-seven DEGs were significantly related to sepsis, including 47 up-regulated and 10 down-regulated genes, and were used to cluster the sepsis datasets. When the number of genotypes was set to 2, the sepsis-related genes were able to classify the sepsis samples and distinguish them from the control samples (Figure 9A). The

Description	enrichmentScore	p.adjust
KEGG_ALLOGRAFT_REJECTION	-0.787525613	1.37E-05
KEGG_GRAFT_VERSUS_HOST_DISEASE	-0.766795418	5.32E-05
KEGG_PRIMARY_IMMUNODEFICIENCY	-0.756453466	6.93E-05
KEGG_AUTOIMMUNE_THYROID_DISEASE	-0.753983298	1.72E-06
KEGG_TYPE_I_DIABETES_MELLITUS	-0.731429168	6.93E-05
KEGG_INTESTINAL_IMMUNE_NETWORK_FOR_IGA_PRODUCTION	-0.709444115	0.00011187
KEGG_ASTHMA	-0.707255846	0.007752697
KEGG_ANTIGEN_PROCESSING_AND_PRESENTATION	-0.68182909	1.72E-06
KEGG_GLYCOSPHINGOLIPID_BIOSYNTHESIS_LACTO_AND_NEOLACTO_SERIES	0.673225498	0.033512196
KEGG_STARCH_AND_SUCROSE_METABOLISM	0.671740494	0.004234432

TABLE 4 GSEA analysis of differentially expressed genes GSE108474.

heat map of these genes in the normal and sepsis groups indicated differential expression (Figure 9B). The sepsis subtypes were then used to map the same genes again, and the difference was more pronounced (Figure 9C). The diagnostic markers with OR < 1 and OR > 1 were screened to improve accuracy, and the top 8 genes with the highest correlation are shown in (Figures 9D, E.) Together, these results indicated that the immune-related ER stress genes achieves strong stability and high accuracy in predicting sepsis patients.

Predictive value of SCAMP5

We further assessed the predictive value of the sepsis hub genes on the GSE26378 and GSE54514 datasets that included data of 39 healthy controls and 117 sepsis patients. SCAMP5 was significantly up-regulated in the sepsis samples compared to the control samples in both datasets (P < 0.05). On the other hand, while RNF175, FBXO6 and TBL2 showed a trend towards higher expression levels in the sepsis patients in GSE26378, no significant difference was observed in GSE54514 (Figures 10A, C). ROC analysis further demonstrated that SCAMP5 could accurately predict sepsis, with AUC of 0.757 in GSE26378 and 0.637 in GSE54514 (Figures 10B, D). We then tested the expression levels of SCAMP5 in the PBMCs from sepsis patients (n = 5) and healthy donors (n = 5), and found that SCAMP5 protein and mRNA were both up-regulated in the PBMCs from sepsis patients compared to healthy controls (Figures 10E, F). In addition, analysis of single-cell sequencing results in Protein Atlas database (https:// www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000198794-SCAMP5/single+cell +type/PBMC) showed that SCAMP5 was expressed in the circulating DCs (Figure 10G). These results indicate that SCAMP5 is a potential diagnostic marker for sepsis.

Discussion

Sepsis is a syndrome associated with a high mortality rate, and is therefore a serious public health concern worldwide. During the COVID-19 pandemic, some severe and critically ill patients exhibited multiple organ dysfunction that met the diagnostic criteria of sepsis (4). In recent years, the key role of immune cell apoptosis in sepsis-related immune dysfunction has been elucidated (26). Sepsis-induced apoptosis of immune cells not only leads to the depletion of critical immune effector cells, but also exerts an immunosuppressive effect (27). Some studies have also suggested a pathological role of ER stress in inflammatory diseases, including sepsis (28, 29). In addition, the ER stress-mediated apoptosis pathway is a potential therapeutic target in sepsis (30, 31).

Machine learning algorithms are increasingly being used to create decision models that aid in disease diagnosis and treatment (32). In the current study, we screened the DEGs between sepsis patients and healthy individuals, which can not only help identify potential diagnostic/prognostic biomarkers or therapeutic targets for sepsis from highly related gene aggregation modules, but also elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of sepsis. We identified 577 DEGs from the combined GSE9960 and GSE57065 datasets, of which 325 were up-regulated and 330 were down-regulated in the sepsis samples relative to the controls.

In addition, we also observed significant differences in the type and abundance of infiltrating immune cell populations between the two groups, which underscores the role of immune cells in the development of sepsis. Monocytes and macrophages are instrumental to the pathophysiological process of sepsis and inflammation (33). The systemic



Results of WGCNA. (A) Cluster analysis of the combined dataset. The different module clusters are color-coded. (B) Correlation between the different modules in the normal and sepsis groups. (C–H), Scatter diagrams for module membership vs. gene significance of sepsis. (C) The plum1 modules with the highest correlation. (D) The correlation between the skyblue module and the genes. (E) Display of the correlation between the grey60 module and the genes. (F) Display of the correlation between the orange module and the genes. (G) Display of the correlation between the orange module and the genes. (G) Display of the correlation between the orange module and the genes. (G) Display of the correlation between the orange module and the genes. (G) Display of the genes.

inflammatory response elicited by the circulating innate immune cells during sepsis also influences the tissue-resident immune cells, which can compromise the functions of vital organs (34). Sepsis development is also associated with significant lymphopenia, which is characterized by decreased counts of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells, B cells and natural killer (NK) cells (35). Furthermore, burn patients with sepsis have significantly higher numbers of circulating DCs compared to burn patients without sepsis (36). In our study, B cells, NK cells, T cells and DCs were much more abundant in the sepsis



samples compared to the controls, and therefore may play a crucial part in establishing the immune microenvironment about sepsis.

Our studies indicate that the immune cell dysfunction in sepsis is closely related to ER stress. Functional annotation of the sepsisrelated DEGs indicated significant enrichment of biological process, molecular functions, cell components, biological pathways and diseases involving ER stress. A recent study has also revealed that there is a fascinating and novel interaction between ER stress with sepsis-associated cell death (37, 38). ER stress is also a trigger for apoptosis, except for mitochondrial apoptotic pathwaysand death receptor (39, 40). ER function is


Screening for diagnostic markers. (A, B) Lasso analysis of the combined dataset. (C, D) PCA plot and box plot of the validation set GSE123729 data after correction. (E, F) Heat map showing differential expression of diagnostic markers in the validation set obtained by one-way logistic regression analysis. Red indicates up-regulation, blue indicates down-regulation, and darker colors indicate a larger fold change.

TABLE 5 Univariate logistic regression.

Character	OR	CI	P. Value	
SCAMP5	7.64	1.66-35.13		
DNAJC18	3.74	1.07-13.06	0.04	
TARDBP	0.05	0.01-0.2	0	
SDF2L1	1.98	1.11-3.55	0.02	
FBXO2	0.3	0.1-0.95	0.04	
FBXO6	3.09	1.84-5.21	0	
TBL2	3.58	1.37-9.36	0.01	
RNF175	2.77	1.3-5.87	0.01	
PDIA3	0.2	0.09-0.45	0	
HDGF	0.57	0.35-0.93	0.02	



Identification of sepsis subtypes and diagnostic markers. (A) The number of genotype clusters in the sepsis dataset. (B) Heat map of diagnostic genes based on control and sepsis groups. (C) Heat map of diagnostic genes based on sepsis subtype. Red indicates activation and blue indicates inhibition. (D) Diagnostic markers with OR less than 1. (E) Diagnostic markers with OR more significant than 1.



SCAMP5 is highly expressed in patients with sepsis and has significant diagnostic value. (A) Expression of hub genes in the control and sepsis samples in GSE26378. SCAMP5, RNF175, FBXO6 and TBL2 were significantly up-regulated in the sepsis patients (P < 0.05 by the two-sided t test. (B) ROC curve showing predictive value of SCAMP5 for sepsis in GSE26378 with AUC = 0.757. (C) Expression of hub genes in the control and sepsis samples in GSE54514. SCAMP5 and SDE2L1 were significantly up-regulated in the sepsis patients (*P < 0.05 by the two-sided t test). (D) ROC curve showing predictive value of SCAMP5 for sepsis in GSE54514 with AUC = 0.637. (E) SCAMP5 mRNA levels in the PBMCs from healthy controls and sepsis patients as determined by qRT-PCR. Mean \pm SD (n = 5), **P < 0.01 (F) SCAMP5 protein levels in the PBMCs from healthy controls and sepsis patients. (G) Single-cell sequencing database results showing that SCAMP5 is expressed in the dendritic cells.

disrupted during sepsis, resulting in acute or chronic ER stress, which may initiate apoptosis in the damaged cells (41). Thus, ER stress-mediated apoptosis pathway may be a novel therapeutic target against sepsis-induced immune cell apoptosis (42).

We also screened for potential diagnostic markers for sepsis among the significant DEGs, and validated them in the GSE123729 dataset. The hub genes that can distinguish sepsis from normal samples were identified, which included SCAMP5, DNAJC18, TARDBP, SDF2L1, FBXO2, FBXO6, TBL2, RNF175, PDIA3 and HDGF. Secretory carrier membrane protein 5 (SCAMP5) is an integral membrane protein that was highly expressed in the sepsis samples compared to the controls. SCAMP5 is known to be brain specific which is involved in vesicle transport (43). Recent studies show that SCAMP5 is a candidate biomarker gene for autism and its downregulation is related to the synaptic dysfunction in autistic patients (44). Moreover, F-box protein 6 (FBXO6) is a subunit of the ubiquitin protein ligase complex, which bind to glycosylated substrates within F-box-associated domains in endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-associated degradation (45). Phosphorylation of TBL2 by ATM/ATM in response to DNA damage identifies TBL2 is considered to be a member of the cellular oxidative damage response network, as it phosphorylated by ATM/ATM in response to DNA damage (46). We confirmed the high expression levels of SCAMP5 mRNA and protein in PBMCs isolated from sepsis patients. Moreover, SCAMP5 was expressed in the peripheral DCs as per the single-cell sequencing results from the Protein Atlas database. Taken together, these findings suggest that SCAMP5 is a potential diagnostic marker for sepsis, and may play a vital role in its development. However, it is worth noting that the diagnosis and prediction of SCAMP5 sepsis still need further validation in clinical trials with large sample size. Meanwhile, the regulatory role of SCAMP5 in immunerelated ER stress needs to be further investigated in functional and mechanistic studies.

To summarize, we developed a stable and accurate signal to evaluate the diagnosis of sepsis through integrated bioinformatics and machine learning algorithms. This prediction model can surveillance protocols and optimize decision-making for individual sepsis patients. Moreover, SCAMP5 was preliminarily identified as a key driver of sepsis that may affect its progression by regulating ER stress. The diagnostic and therapeutic potential of SCAMP5 in sepsis warrants further investigation.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/supplementary material.

Ethics statement

The collection of blood samples from human subjects was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Shenzhen Hospital of Southern Medical University (Shenzhen, China, approved ID: NYSZYYEC20200039). The clinical data is available at the China Clinical trial Registration Center (No. ChiCTR2100043761). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

YTL and CC performed study concept and design; TG, YBL, and SY performed research and writing the paper; TG, YBL, HG, and ZT performed the experiments; TG, ZT, HG, MZ, and ZP provided acquisition, analysis and interpretation of data, and statistical analysis; YTL and TG supervised research, review and revision of the paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82002087, 82072215), Science and Technology Planning Project of Shenzhen, China (JCYJ20210324134602008, JCYJ20210324134602006) and the Research Foundation of Shenzhen Hospital of Southern Medical University (PY2020YM01).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Hsu CY, Tsai YH, Lin CY, Chang YC, Chen HC, Chang YP, et al. Application of a 72 h national early warning score and incorporation with sequential organ failure assessment for predicting sepsis outcomes and risk stratification in an intensive care unit: A derivation and validation cohort study. *J Pers Med* (2021) 11 (9):910–24. doi: 10.3390/jpm11090910

2. Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, et al. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990-2017: Analysis for the global burden of disease study. *Lancet (London England).* (2020) 395 (10219):200–11. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(19)32989-7

3. Li H, Liu L, Zhang D, Xu J, Dai H, Tang N, et al. SARS-CoV-2 and viral sepsis: observations and hypotheses. *Lancet (London England)* (2020) 395(10235):1517–20. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30920-x

4. Wang Y, Zhu K, Dai R, Li R, Li M, Lv X, et al. Specific interleukin-1 inhibitors, specific interleukin-6 inhibitors, and GM-CSF blockades for COVID-19 (at the edge of sepsis): A systematic review. *Front Pharmacol* (2021) 12:804250. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.804250

5. Bosmann M, Ward PA. The inflammatory response in sepsis. Trends Immunol (2013) 34(3):129-36. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2012.09.004

6. Delano MJ, Ward PA. The immune system's role in sepsis progression, resolution, and long-term outcome. *Immunol Rev* (2016) 274(1):330-53. doi: 10.1111/imr.12499

7. Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Sepsis-induced immunosuppression: From cellular dysfunctions to immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13 (12):862-74. doi: 10.1038/nri3552

8. Li L, Peng X, Guo L, Zhao Y, Cheng Q. Sepsis causes heart injury through endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis signaling pathway. *Int J Clin Exp Pathology* (2020) 13(5):964–71.

9. Kim HJ, Jeong JS, Kim SR, Park SY, Chae HJ, Lee YC. Inhibition of endoplasmic reticulum stress alleviates lipopolysaccharide-induced lung inflammation through modulation of NF- κ B/HIF-1 α signaling pathway. *Sci Rep* (2013) 3:1142. doi: 10.1038/srep01142

10. Ma T, Han L, Gao Y, Li L, Shang X, Hu W, et al. The endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis signal pathway is involved in sepsis-induced abnormal lymphocyte apoptosis. *Eur Surg Res* (2008) 41(2):219–25. doi: 10.1159/000135631

11. Davis S, Meltzer PS. GEOquery: a bridge between the gene expression omnibus (GEO) and BioConductor. *Bioinformatics* (2007) 23(14):1846-7. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btm254

12. Langfelder P, Horvath S. WGCNA: an r package for weighted correlation network analysis. *BMC Bioinf* (2008) 9:559. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-9-559

13. Szklarczyk D, Gable AL, Lyon D, Junge A, Wyder S, Huerta-Cepas J, et al. STRING v11: protein-protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2019) 47(D1):D607–d613. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1131

14. Tang BM, McLean AS, Dawes IW, Huang SJ, Lin RC. Gene-expression profiling of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in sepsis. *Crit Care Med* (2009) 37 (3):882–8. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31819b52fd

15. Cazalis MA, Lepape A, Venet F, Frager F, Mougin B, Vallin H, et al. Early and dynamic changes in gene expression in septic shock patients: A genome-wide approach. *Intensive Care Med Exp* (2014) 2(1):20. doi: 10.1186/s40635-014-0020-3

16. Barrett T, Troup DB, Wilhite SE, Ledoux P, Rudnev D, Evangelista C, et al. NCBI GEO: Mining tens of millions of expression profiles-database and tools update. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2017) 35(Database issue):D760-5. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl887

17. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. Limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43(7):e47. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv007

18. Robin X, Turck N, Hainard A, Tiberti N, Lisacek F, Sanchez JC, et al. pROC: An open-source package for r and s+ to analyze and compare ROC curves. *BMC Bioinf* (2011) 12:77. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-12-77

19. Wilkerson MD, Hayes DN. ConsensusClusterPlus: A class discovery tool with confidence assessments and item tracking. *Bioinformatics* (2010) 26 (12):1572–3. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btq170

20. Yu J, Qin B, Moyer AM, Nowsheen S, Tu X, Dong H, et al. Regulation of sister chromatid cohesion by nuclear PD-L1. *Cell Res* (2020) 7):590-601. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0315-8

21. Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. clusterProfiler: an r package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. *Omics* (2012) 16(5):284–7. doi: 10.1089/ omi.2011.0118

22. Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. (2005). Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for

interpreting genome-wide expression profiles, in: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, , Vol. 102. pp. 15545–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506580102

23. Liberzon A, Birger C, Thorvaldsdóttir H, Ghandi M, Mesirov JP, Tamayo P. The molecular signatures database (MSigDB) hallmark gene set collection. *Cell Syst* (2015) 1(6):417–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2015.12.004

24. Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Regularization paths for generalized linear models *via* coordinate descent. *J Stat Software* (2010) 33(1):1–22. doi: 10.18637/ jss.v033.i01

25. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). *Jama* (2016) 315(8):801–10. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287

26. Hotchkiss RS, Coopersmith CM, Karl IE. Prevention of lymphocyte apoptosis-a potential treatment of sepsis? *Clin Infect Dis* (2005) 41 Suppl 7: S465-9. doi: 10.1086/431998

27. Oberholzer C, Tschoeke SK, Moldawer LL, Oberholzer A. Local thymic caspase-9 inhibition improves survival during polymicrobial sepsis in mice. J Mol Med (Berl). (2006) 84(5):389–95. doi: 10.1007/s00109-005-0017-1

28. Chong WC, Shastri MD, Peterson GM, Patel RP, Pathinayake PS, Dua K, et al. The complex interplay between endoplasmic reticulum stress and the NLRP3 inflammasome: A potential therapeutic target for inflammatory disorders. *Clin Transl Immunol* (2021) 10(2):e1247. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1247

29. Salvamoser R, Brinkmann K, O'Reilly L, Whitehead L, Strasser A, Herold M. Characterisation of mice lacking the inflammatory caspases-1/11/12 reveals no contribution of caspase-12 to cell death and sepsis. *Cell Death Differentiation* (2019) 26(6):1124–37. doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0188-2

30. Yao Y, Lu Q, Hu Z, Yu Y, Chen Q, Wang QK. A non-canonical pathway regulates ER stress signaling and blocks ER stress-induced apoptosis and heart failure. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):133. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00171-w

31. Zhou H, Yu M, Zhao J, Martin BN, Roychowdhury S, McMullen MR, et al. IRAKM-mincle axis links cell death to inflammation: Pathophysiological implications for chronic alcoholic liver disease. *Hepatology* (2016) 64(6):1978–93. doi: 10.1002/hep.28811

32. Liu Z, Liu L, Weng S, Guo C, Dang Q, Xu H, et al. Machine learning-based integration develops an immune-derived lncRNA signature for improving outcomes in colorectal cancer. *Nat Commun* (2022) 13(1):816. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-28421-6

33. Novakovic B, Habibi E, Wang SY, Arts RJW, Davar R, Megchelenbrink W, et al. β -glucan reverses the epigenetic state of LPS-induced immunological tolerance. *Cell* (2016) 167(5):1354–1368.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.034

34. Hoyer FF, Naxerova K, Schloss MJ, Hulsmans M, Nair AV, Dutta P, et al. Tissue-specific macrophage responses to remote injury impact the outcome of subsequent local immune challenge. *Immunity* (2019) 51(5):899–914.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.10.010

35. Giza DE, Fuentes-Mattei E, Bullock MD, Tudor S, Goblirsch MJ, Fabbri M, et al. Cellular and viral microRNAs in sepsis: Mechanisms of action and clinical applications. *Cell Death differentiation*. (2016) 23(12):1906–18. doi: 10.1038/ cdd.2016.94

36. Xiu F, Stanojcic M, Wang V, Qi P, Jeschke MG. C-c chemokine receptor type 2 expression on monocytes before sepsis onset is higher than that of postsepsis in septic burned patients: A new predictor for sepsis in burned injury. *Ann Surg* (2016) 264(2):392–8. doi: 10.1097/sla.000000000001531

37. Khan MM, Yang WL, Wang P. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in sepsis. Shock (2015) 44(4):294-304. doi: 10.1097/shk.00000000000425

38. Hiramatsu N, Kasai A, Hayakawa K, Yao J, Kitamura M. Real-time detection and continuous monitoring of ER stress *in vitro* and *in vivo* by ES-TRAP: Evidence for systemic, transient ER stress during endotoxemia. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2006) 34(13):e93. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl515

39. Christen V, Treves S, Duong FH, Heim MH. Activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress response by hepatitis viruses up-regulates protein phosphatase 2A. *Hepatology* (2007) 46(2):558–65. doi: 10.1002/hep.21611

40. Kim R, Emi M, Tanabe K, Murakami S. Role of the unfolded protein response in cell death. *Apoptosis* (2006) 11(1):5–13. doi: 10.1007/s10495-005-3088-0

41. Cao SS, Kaufman RJ. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and oxidative stress in cell fate decision and human disease. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2014) 21(3):396–413. doi: 10.1089/ars.2014.5851

42. Qian WJ, Cheng QH. Endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis signal pathway is involved in sepsis-induced liver injury. *Int J Clin Exp pathology*. (2017) 10(9):9990–7.

43. Jiao X, Morleo M, Nigro V, Torella A, D'Arrigo S, Ciaccio C, et al. Identification of an identical *de Novo* SCAMP5 missense variant in four unrelated patients with seizures and severe neurodevelopmental delay. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 11:599191. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.599191

44. Zhao H, Kim Y, Park J, Park D, Lee S, Chang I, et al. SCAMP5 plays a critical role in synaptic vesicle endocytosis during high neuronal activity. *J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci* (2014) 34(30):10085–95. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2156-14.2014

45. Chen W, Xiong S, Li J, Li X, Liu Y, Zou C, et al. The ubiquitin E3 ligase SCF-FBXO24 recognizes deacetylated nucleoside diphosphate kinase a to enhance its degradation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2015) 35(6):1001–13. doi: 10.1128/mcb.01185-14

46. Matsuoka S, Ballif BA, Smogorzewska A, McDonald ER, Hurov KE, Luo J, et al. ATM And ATR substrate analysis reveals extensive protein networks responsive to DNA damage. *Sci (New York NY).* (2007) 316(5828):1160–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1140321

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fu Wang, Xi'an Jiaotong University, China

REVIEWED BY Joseph Barbi, University at Buffalo, United States Quanhui Chen, Bethune International Peace Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yuechun Zhu zhuyuechun20091119@163.com Yingmin Kuang yingmin1512@aliyun.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

RECEIVED 08 July 2022 ACCEPTED 17 August 2022 PUBLISHED 20 September 2022

CITATION

Xiong G, Feng Y, Yi X, Zhang X, Li X, Yang L, Yi Z, Sai B, Yang Z, Zhang Q, Kuang Y and Zhu Y (2022) NRF2directed PRPS1 upregulation to promote the progression and metastasis of melanoma. *Front. Immunol.* 13:989263. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.989263

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Xiong, Feng, Yi, Zhang, Li, Yang, Yi, Sai, Yang, Zhang, Kuang and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

NRF2-directed PRPS1 upregulation to promote the progression and metastasis of melanoma

Guohang Xiong¹, Yu Feng¹, Xiaojia Yi^{1,2}, Xuedan Zhang¹, Xiaoyu Li¹, Lijuan Yang¹, Zihan Yi^{1,3}, Buqing Sai¹, Zhe Yang⁴, Qiao Zhang¹, Yingmin Kuang⁵* and Yuechun Zhu¹*

¹Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Kunming Medical University, Kunming, China, ²Department of Pathology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University, Kunming, China, ³Department of Medical Oncology, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University (Tumor Hospital of Yunnan Province), Kunming, China, ⁴Department of Pathology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University, Kunming, China, ⁵Department of Organ Transplantation, The First Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University, Kunming, China

Phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate synthetase 1 (PRPS1) is the first enzyme in the *de novo* purine nucleotide synthesis pathway and is essential for cell development. However, the effect of PRPS1 on melanoma proliferation and metastasis remains unclear. This study aimed to investigate the regulatory mechanism of PRPS1 in the malignant progression of melanoma. Here, we found PRPS1 was upregulated in melanoma and melanoma cells. In addition, our data indicated that PRPS1 could promote the proliferation and migration and invasion of melanoma both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. PRPS1 also could inhibit melanoma cell apoptosis. Furthermore, we found NRF2 is an upstream transcription factor of PRPS1 that drive malignant progression of melanoma.

KEYWORDS

PRPS1, NRF2, melanoma, proliferation, metastasis

Introduction

The maximum proliferation ability of cells is limited by the abundance of their nucleotide library and the level and activity of different rate-limiting enzymes in the nucleotide synthesis pathway (1). Compared with normal cells, tumor cells exhibit a larger nucleotide pool, higher activity of the nucleotide anabolic pathway, and lower activity of the nucleotide catabolic pathway (1). PRPS1 belongs to the phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate synthetase (PRPS) family. PRPS consists of five members, namely, PRPS1, PRPS2, and PRPS3 (PRPS1L1) with catalytic activity, and PAP39 and PAP41 without catalytic activity (2). PRPS1 can catalyze ribose-5-phosphate (R5P) to 5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP), which is the first rate-limiting purine nucleotide (3, 4). Additionally, PRPP is a donor of R5P for the synthesis of pyrimidine. The activity of

10.3389/fimmu.2022.989263

PRPS1 is regulated by ADP and AMP negative feedback (4–6) and chemical modification (3, 6).

Previously, it was reported that the PRPS1 gene mutation could lead to deafness (7, 8), female cerebellar ataxia (9), gout (10), diabetes insipidus, and white matter disease (11). Recently, it has been reported that aberrant expression or mutation of PRPS1 is closely related to a variety of cancers, such as accelerating the proliferation of colorectal cancer (12, 13), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (14), neuroblastoma (15) and childhood neuroblastoma (16), glioblastoma multiforme (17), promoting tumor invasion and metastasis (12, 15), changing colorectal cancer (3, 13), brain tumor initiating cells (18) and purine metabolism, and enhancing the drug sensitivity of lymphoblastic leukemia (4, 19–21) and breast cancer (22). However, it is still elusive whether PRPS1 is related to the proliferation and metastatic progression of melanoma.

In addition, melanoma cells encounter considerable oxidative stress due to endogenous factors, such as mitochondrial respiration and melanogenesis, as well as exogenous factors, such as ultraviolet radiation and melanoma (23, 24). These oxidative stresses are largely regulated by nuclear factor (erythroid-derived-2)-like 2 (NRF2) (24). Therefore, previous studies have focused on the regulation of NRF2 on oxidative stress in melanoma. Recently, studies have shown that NRF2 is not only related to oxidative stress, but also to the nucleotide metabolism. For example, NRF2 can regulate nucleotide biosynthesis and redox homeostasis thereby promoting the recurrence of dormant breast cancer (25). NRF2 upregulates the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) enzyme, glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) and transketase (TKT) mediated nucleotide biosynthesis, thereby promoting the malignant progression of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) (26). Also, NRF2 promotes nucleotide production in non-small cell lung cancer by regulating the expression of key serine/glycine biosynthetic enzymes (27).

However, the correlation between NRF2 and PRPS has not been reported, whether in tumors or other diseases. The role of NRF2 in the regulation of PRPS1 expression has not yet been revealed. In this study, we first confirmed that PRPS1 is highly expressed in melanoma. The abnormally high expression of PRPS1 promotes the growth and metastasis of melanoma *in vivo and in vitro*. In addition, we found that NRF2 is a PRPS1 transcription factor that can bind to the PRPS1 promoter and upregulate the expression of PRPS1. Our findings provide a theoretical basis for PRPS1 as a potential therapeutic target for melanoma.

Materials and methods

Cell culture

Human melanoma cell lines (A875 and SK-MEL-110) were purchased from the Cell Bank of the Chinese Academy of Science. All cells were maintained in DMEM (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum at 37°C in 5% CO_2 .

Cell transfection

A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells were transduced with PRPS1 overexpression (overexpression vector LV-PRPS1 or the corresponding control (CON335)) or PRPS1 knockdown (shRNA vector LV- PRPS1-RNAi) and the corresponding control (CON313) for 48 h. A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells were transduced with NRF2 overexpression (overexpression vector LV-PRPS1 or the corresponding control (CON335)) or NRF2 knockdown (shRNA vector LV- PRPS1-RNAi) and the corresponding control (CON313) for 48 h. The lentivirus expression vectors were purchased from Ji Kai Gene Chemical Technology Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). Then, the cells were selected with different concentrations of puromycin until the GFP-positive signal of the cells was not less than 95% observed under the fluorescence microscope. The transfection efficacy was determined by qPCR and western blotting.

Quantitative real-time PCR

Gene expression was evaluated by quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR). qPCR was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions and was synthesized by real-time PCR (American Applied Biosystems) using SYBR Green (Roche, Switzerland). The PCR primer pairs used to amplify the target gene are shown in Table 1.

Western blot

The cells were prepared in RIPA buffer (Solarbio, #R0020). A BCATM Protein Assay kit (Applygen, #P1511) was used to determine the protein concentration. The proteins (40 μ g/ sample) were separated by different polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, transferred to PVDF membranes (Millipore, #IPVH00010), and incubated with the corresponding primary antibody at 4°C overnight. Then, the membranes were incubated with the corresponding secondary antibodies at room temperature for 1 h and measured with a chemiluminescence reagent ECL kit (Advansia, #K-12045-D50).

The primary antibodies used in the experiment used were: anti-PRPS1 (Proteintech, #15549-1-AP), anti-cyclin E1 (Proteintech, 11554-1-AP), anti-CDK2 (Proteintech, 10122-1-AP), anti-P16 (Proteintech, #10883-1-AP), anti-Bax (Proteintech, 50599-2-Ig), anti-Bcl2 (Proteintech, 12789-1-AP), anti-Cleaved-caspeas3 (CST, #9664), anti-MMP2 (Abcam, ab37150), anti-MMP9 (Abcam, ab76003), anti-MMP13 (Proteintech, 18165-1-AP), anti-E-Cadherin (Proteintech,

TABLE 1	the s	sequence	of the	primers	for	qPCR.
---------	-------	----------	--------	---------	-----	-------

Gene	primer			
PRPS1	F: 5'3': CGTTGTTGATGCGAGAAA			
cyclin E1	R: 5'3': ATGGTGCTTGTGGGAGAT F: 5'3': ACTCAACGTGCAAGCCTCG			
CDK2	R: 5'3': GCICAAGAAAGIGCIGAICCC F: 5'3': CCAGGAGTTACTTCTATGCCTGA R: 5'3': TTCATCCAGGGGAGGTACAAC			
P16	F: 5'3': GGGTTTTCGTGGTTCACATCC R: 5'3': CTAGACGCTGGCTCCCCAGTA			
Bax	F: 5'3': AGACACTCGCTCAGCTTCTTG R: 5'3' CTTTTGCTTCAGGGTTTCATC			
Bcl ₂	F: 5'3': GTGCCTGCTTTTAGGAGACCGA R: 5'3': GAGACCACACTGCCCTGTTGATC			
Caspase-3	F: 5'3': CATGGAAGCGAATCAATGGACT R: 5'3': CTGTACCAGACCGAGATGTCA			
NRF2	F: 5'3': GAAAATCCATCTTCCTTCACTTG R: 5'3': GAGTTTGCTTGCCCATTGTAA			
U6	F: 5'3': CTCGCTTCGGCAGCACA –3′ R: 5'3': AACGCTTCACGAATTTGCGT			
	K 55 : AACOCITCACGAATITOCOT			

20874-1-AP), anti-N-Cadherin (Proteintech, 22018-1-AP), anti-Vimentin (Proteintech, 10366-1-AP), anti-NRF2 (Abcam, ab89443), anti- β -actin (Bioss, bs-0061R), and Tubulin (Abcam, #ab7291). The secondary antibodies used in the experiment were anti-rabbit IgG (Abcam, #ab6721) and anti-mouse IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, 115-035-003).

Immunohistochemistry

The immunohistochemical assay was performed as previously described (28) using anti-PRPS1 (Proteintech, #15549-1-AP), anti-NRF2 (Abcam, ab89443) and anti-(Proteintech, #15549-1-AP) antibodies. Tissue microarrays (MME1004i) were purchased from xi,an Taibosi Biological Technology Co., Ltd. (Xian, China). Immunohistological assessment was performed as previously described (29).

Hematoxylin and eosin staining

The lung tissue from metastatic mice was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 h, dehydrated in different concentrations of graded ethanol, embedded and cut into 4 μ m thick slices. The slices were baked at 55°C for 5 h and stained with hematoxylin (Solarbio, #G1140) and eosin (Solarbio, #G110).

CCK8 assay

A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells with PRPS1 overexpression or knockdown and the corresponding control were inoculated in

96-well plates (800 cells/well) and cultured for 0 h, 12 h, 24 h, 36 h, 48 h and 72 h. The cells were treated with 10 μ l CCK-8 (APEBIO, #k1018) at 37°C for 1 hour. The absorbance was assessed by a microplate reader (Thermo Scientific, #51119200) at 450 nm. The proliferation rate (fold) = the cell absorbance at each time points minus blank hole absorbance/cell absorbance at initial time.

Colony formation assay

Stable melanoma cells were seeded into 6-well plates at a density of 500 cells/well and continuously cultured for two weeks. The cells were washed three times with PBS every three minutes. Then, the cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min, washed three times with PBS again, and stained using 3% crystal violet.

EdU assay

The cells were stained with a BeyoClick EdU Cell Proliferation kit (Beyotime, #C0075S). A fluorescence microscope (Leica, #DM4B, \times 200) was used to obtain high-quality images.

Flow cytometry

Cell proliferation was assessed using flow cytometry. The cells were starved in serum-free DMEM for 24 h and then cultured in 10% FBS DMEM for 48 h. The cells were fixed in 75% ethanol for 24 h at 4°C, washed with PBS, treated with PI (Biotech, #FXP0211) for 15 min and detected by a PARTEC CyFlow Space flow cytometer.

Cell apoptosis was evaluated using flow cytometry. The cells were incubated with TNF- α +SM-164 (Beyotime, #C0006S) for 6 h. Cell apoptosis was detected using an apoptosis detection kit (Dojindo, #AD11) and a PARTEC CyFlow Space flow cytometer.

TUNEL apoptosis assay

The cells were incubated with TNF- α +SM-164 (Beyotime, #C0006S) for 6 h. A TUNEL apoptosis assay kit (Beyotime, #C1090) was used to measure cell apoptosis. Images were obtained by using a fluorescence microscope (Leica, #DM4B).

Wound healing assay

The cells were inoculated into 75 cm² petri dishes and cultured with DMEM without serum overnight. Cells were

wounded with a 20 μl pipette tip. The pictures were acquired at 0 h and 36 h after wounding using a fluorescence microscope (Leica, #DM4B). Wound closure (fold) = (the initial scratch area- the unhealed area after 36 hours of scratch)/the initial scratch area.

Transwell migration assay and Transwell invasion assay

The cells were resuspended in serum-free medium and placed in the upper chamber of a Transwell filter (Corning, #3524). For the Transwell invasion assay, the upper Transwell was coated with 1:8 diluted matrix adhesive (BD, #356234) in advance. DMEM containing 15% FBS was added to the lower chambers. After 24 h, the cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min, stained with 3% crystal violet, washed with PBS, and photographed with a fluorescence microscope (Leica, #DM4B).

Melanoma cell line xenograft model

The xenograft models were generated in 4- to 6-week-old female or male BALB/c nude mice (Department of Experimental Animals, Kunming Medical University). Animals (n=6/group) were injected with 150 μ l of PBS containing 1×10⁷ cells subcutaneously into one side of the back and tail of the mice (the back: the corresponding control group, the tail: the PRPS1overexpression group or PRPS1-knockdown group). After 42 days, the mice were sacrificed, and the tumors were collected and weighed. According to the experimental needs, the tumor was divided into three parts, which were used for western blotting, qPCR, and immunohistochemistry. All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Kunming Medical University.

Melanoma cell line metastatic model

Twenty-four female or male BALB/c nude mice (Department of Experimental Animals, Kunming Medical University) were randomly divided into four groups. Six mice in one group were injected with A875 cells with PRPS1 overexpression, A875 cells with PRPS1 knockdown and control cells. The mice were injected with 500 µl of PBS containing 2×10^7 cells *via* the caudal vein. Forty-two days later, the mice were sacrificed, and the lung tissues were collected and photographed. According to the experimental needs, the lung tissues were divided into three parts, which were used for western blotting and qPCR, H&E staining, and immunohistochemistry. All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Kunming Medical University.

Luciferase assays

Plasmid transfection and luciferase activity were detected using a luciferase assay kit (Vigorous, #T002) according to the manufacturer's protocol. *PRPS1-luc* and GL3-Basic-PRPS1 were purchased from QingKe Bio Technology (Wuhan, China). The Luciferase activity (fold) = (Firefly luciferase/Renilla luciferase ratio was calculated for each experimental group)/(Firefly luciferase/Renilla luciferase ratio was calculated for each the control group).

Chromatin immunoprecipitation

The ChIP assay was carried out based on a previous report (30). ChIP assays were performed using a ChIP assay kit (Abcam, #ab500) according to the manufacturer's instructions with the indicated antibody: anti-NRF2 (Abcam, ab89443).

Statistical analysis

The data analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8 software. All results are expressed as the mean \pm SD or mean \pm standard error. P value <0.05 was regarded as statistically significant. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and unpaired or paired-sample Student's t test and mixed ANOVA were used to determine statistical significance.

Results

PRPS1 is highly expressed in melanoma and is linked to the malignant degree of melanoma

To investigate the role of PRPS1 in the proliferation and malignant progression of melanoma, we analyzed PRPS1 expression in melanoma based on the GEPIA database. In addition, we analyzed the correlation of PRPS1 with melanoma *in situ* and melanoma metastasis based on the UALCAN database. We found that the expression of PRPS1 was dramatically upregulated in melanoma (Figure 1A). It is worth noting that the expression of PRPS1 in metastatic melanoma patients was higher than that in primary melanoma patients (Figure 1B). Furthermore, an immunohistochemical (IHC) method was used to detect the expression of PRPS1 in melanoma tissues (melanoma *in situ* and metastatic melanoma)



PRPS1 is highly expressed in melanoma and is related to the degree of malignancy of melanoma. (A) The expression of PRPS1 in normal tissue and melanoma tissue based on GEPIA database. (B) The expression of PRPS1 in normal tissue and primary melanoma and metastasis melanoma based on Ualcan database. (C) Representative images of PRPS1 expression in the melanoma tissue microarray are shown (200×). Scale bars=100 μ m. (D) Percentage of primary melanoma and metastasis melanoma with PRPS1-Low and PRPS1-High expression. (E) Immunohistochemistry of PRPS1 expression in the melanoma tissue microarray are shown (200×). Scale bars=100 μ m. (D) Percentage of primary melanoma and metastasis melanoma with PRPS1-Low and PRPS1-High expression. (E) Immunohistochemistry of PRPS1 expression in the melanoma tissue microarray. (F, G) The mRNA and protein expression of PRPS1 in HEM cell and melanoma cells were analyzed by qPCR (F) and western blotting analysis (G). (H, I) The stable PRPS1 overexpression and knockdown in A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells were established. The expression of PRPS1 were measured by Q-PCR (H) and western blotting (I) analysis. The data represent three independent experiments. The data as indicated the mean \pm SD and was analyzed by student's t-test. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

and normal nevi. The tissue specimens included 10 nevi, 76 primary melanomas and, 14 metastasis melanomas (one case of primary melanoma was not available). Representative images of the IHC staining analysis are shown in Figure 1C. Importantly, PRPS1 was highly expressed in 90.7% (68/75) of primary melanomas, 71.4% (10/14) of metastatic melanomas, and 50% (5/10) of nevus tissue samples (Figure 1D). More staining scores for PRPS1 in the tissue samples are summarized in Figure 1E. These results showed that the expression of PRPS1 was markedly increased in primary melanomas and metastatic melanomas.

Next, we detected the expression of PRPS1 in HEM, A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cell lines. The mRNA and protein expression levels of PRPS1 in melanoma cell lines were higher than those in HEM cell lines (Figures 1F, G). To explore the function of PRPS1 in melanoma cells, we successfully established stable PRPS1 overexpression and knockdown in A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cell lines (Figures 1H, I). The level of PRPS1 in the stably transfected A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cells was measured by qPCR (Figure 1H) and western blot analysis (Figure 1I).

PRPS1 promotes the proliferation of melanoma cells *in vitro*

To confirm that PRPS1 drives the proliferation progression of melanoma, first MTS and cell colony formation assays and EdU staining were performed. The CCK8 results showed that stable overexpression of PRPS1 markedly promoted melanoma cell growth. In contrast, knockdown of PRPS1 reduced A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cell proliferation (Figure 2A). In the plate colony formation assay, we found that the colony forming ability of melanoma cells overexpressing PRPS1 was significantly stronger than that of the control group, and the melanoma cells with PRPS1 knockdown showed the opposite results (Figure 2B). EdU staining further showed that the growth of melanoma cells overexpressing PRPS1 was significantly faster than that of the control group, but the proliferation of cells with PRPS1 knockdown was slower than that of the control group (Figure 2C). The results demonstrated that PRPS1 could promote the proliferation of melanoma cells in vitro.

Next, RT–PCR, western blotting, and flow cytometry assays were used to analyze the effects of PRPS1 on the cell cycle phase distributions of melanoma cells. The RT–PCR results showed that compared to the control, the mRNA levels of cell cycle proteins, such as cyclin E1 and CDK2, were enhanced in PRPS1overexpressing melanoma cells, but the mRNA level of P16 was inhibited (Figure 2D). In PRPS1 knockdown cells (Figure 2D), the opposite was true. The western blotting results showed that the protein levels of cyclins such as cyclin E1 and CDK2 were increased in PRPS1-overexpressing melanoma cells, while the level of P16 was decreased compared with the control group, while the opposite was true in PRPS1 knockdown A875 and SK- MEL-110 cells (Figure 2E). Flow cytometry confirmed that overexpression of PRPS1 increased the number of S-phase and G_2 -phase cells and decreased the number of G_1 -phase cells (Figure 2F). Conversely, in PRPS1 knockdown cells, the proportion of S phase and G_2 phase cells was decreased, and the proportion of G_1 phase cells was increased (Figure 2F). These findings further suggest that PRPS1 is important for the proliferation of melanoma cells.

PRPS1 inhibits apoptosis of melanoma cells

To determine the relationship between PRPS1 expression and cell apoptosis in melanoma cells. We performed cell apoptosis detection. Based on qPCR and western blotting analysis, we found that the mRNA and protein levels of the apoptosis-related factor Bcl2 were significantly increased in A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cells overexpressing PRPS1. Conversely, A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cells with stable knockdown of PRPS1 exhibited lower mRNA and protein levels of the apoptosis-related factors Bax and cleaved caspase-3 than the controls (Figures 3A, B). In addition, by flow cytometry analysis, we found that the percentage of early apoptosis in melanoma cells with PRPS1 overexpression was lower than that in the control group. In contrast, the early apoptosis rate of PRPS1 knockdown melanoma cells was higher than that of the control group (Figure 3C). Furthermore, TUNEL staining showed that the number of TUNEL-positive cells in PRPS1-overexpressing melanoma cells was less than that in the control group. However, the number of TUNEL-positive cells in PRPS1-knockdown melanoma cells was greater than that in the controls (Figure 3D). These findings suggest that overexpression of PRPS1 reduces the apoptosis of melanoma cells and that knockdown of PRPS1 increases the apoptosis of melanoma cells.

PRPS1 promotes the migration and invasion of melanoma cells

We thoroughly investigated the effect of PRPS1 on the invasion and malignant progression of melanoma. First, we conducted scratch and Transwell migration tests. We observed that the cell migration rate of PRPS1-overexpressing cells was much higher than that of the control group, but the cell migration rate of the PRPS1 knockdown group was lower than that of the control group (Figures 4A, B). Next, a Transwell invasion assay was performed to further estimate the invasion capability. In the Transwell invasion experiment, we also found that overexpression of PRPS1 promoted the invasion of melanoma cells, while knockdown of PRPS1 suppressed the invasion of melanoma cells (Figure 4C).



PRPS1 promotes melanoma cells proliferation *in vitro*. (A–C) The proliferation rate of A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells with PRPS1 overexpression or knock-down and the corresponding control cells were detected by MTS assay (A) and cells colony formation assay (B) and EDU method (C) scale bars = 50μ m. (D–F) The effects of PRPS1 on the phase distribution of melanoma cell cycle at mRNA level, protein level and cell level were analyzed by qPCR (D), western blotting (E) and flow cytometry (F). The data represent three independent experiments. Each bar represents mean \pm SD. p values were calculated using a student t-test (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 vs. each control). ns mean no significant difference.



PRPS1 inhibits melanoma cell apoptosis. (A, B) The expressions of apoptosis related factors Bcl2 and Bax and Cleaved-caspeas-3 in A875 and SK-MEL-110 and the related control cells stably transfected with PRPS1 were detected by (A) qPCR and (B) western blotting analysis. (C) The anti-apoptotic ability of SK-MEL-110 cells overexpressing or knock-down PRPS1 and the control cells were evaluated by flow cytometry. (D) TUNEL analysis was used to analyze the anti-apoptotic ability of A875 (left) and SK-MEL-110 (right) over-expression or knock-down PRPS1 and the control cells. Scale bars=75µm. The data represent three independent experiments. Each bar represents mean ± SD. p values were calculated using a student t-test (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 vs. each control).

Moreover, western blotting was performed to assess the expression levels of EMT-associated proteins in the stable PRPS1 overexpression and knockdown A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cell lines. As Figure 4D shows, PRPS1 promoted the expression of pro-invasion proteins, such as MMP2, MMP9, N-cadherin, and vimentin, and inhibited the expression of antiinvasion proteins, such as E-cadherin, in melanoma cells. Notably, knockdown or overexpression of PRPS1 did not cause changes in the protein level of MMP13 (Figure 4D). These results suggest that PRPS1 can markedly promote melanoma cell invasion and migration.

PRPS1 drives melanoma tumor proliferation *in vivo*

Next, we performed animal experiments to confirm whether the abnormal expression of PRPS1 affects the progression of melanoma proliferation *in vivo*. We found that the implantation of PRPS1 stably overexpressing A875 cells and PRPS1 knockdown SK-MEL-110 cells and control cells in BALB/c nude mice led to the occurrence of tumors *in vivo* (Figures 5A, 5D). More importantly, PRPS1-overexpressing A875 cells significantly promoted tumor growth (Figure 5A). The tumors formed by PRPS1-overexpressing A875 cells were significantly earlier and faster, and larger than those in the control group (Figures 5B, C).

In contrast, our animal experiments demonstrated that PRPS1 cell knockdown was significantly detrimental to tumor growth (Figures 5D–F). Compared with control cells, the tumors induced by injection of PRPS1 knockdown cells grew slower and weighed less (Figures 5E, F).

In addition, we further compared the expression of PRPS1 in subcutaneous tumor tissues of nude mice by western blotting. We found that the protein expression of PRPS1 in the tumors was positively correlated with the tumor volume (Figures 5G, H). We also measured the protein levels of cell cycle-related proteins in the tumors, as Figures 5I, J show that CDK2, CDK4, cyclin D1, and cyclin E1 levels were significantly upregulated or reduced in PRPS1-overexpressing or PRPS1-knockdown tumors compared to the corresponding controls. These results suggest that PRPS1 promotes melanoma growth *in vivo*.

PRPS1 promotes malignant melanoma tumors *in vivo*

To further confirm whether PRPS1 could promote tumor malignancy *in vivo*, we injected PRPS1-overexpressing or PRPS1-knockdown A875 cells and the corresponding control cells *via* the caudal vein to establish a metastatic tumor model in BALB/c nude mice. The incidence of lung metastasis in BALB/c nude mice injected with PRPS1-overexpressing A875 cells was

significantly higher than that in the control group, but the incidence of lung metastasis in BALB/c nude mice injected with PRPS1-knockdown A875 cells was significantly lower than that in the control (Figures 6A, 6C). We detected the protein expression of PRPS1 in lung metastasis tumors. Notably, western blotting demonstrated that the higher the expression of PRPS1 was, the stronger the ability of melanoma cells to metastasize (Figures 6B, 6D). HE staining and IHC staining of lung tissue sections showed that BALB/c nude mice carrying A875 melanoma cells with PRPS1 overexpression had significantly increased formation of lung-specific metastases, and the expression level of PRPS1 was positively correlated with the number of tumor foci compared with BALB/c nude mice bearing control cells (Figure 6E). The opposite was true in BALB/c nude mice carrying PRPS1 knockdown A875 cells (Figure 6E). Meanwhile, we also detected the protein expression levels of cell migration- and invasion-related factors in nude mice, including MMP2, MMP9, E-cadherin, Ncadherin, and vimentin. The results demonstrated that overexpression of PRPS1 promoted the expression of EMTrelated proteins, but knockdown of PRPS1 inhibited the expression of EMT-related proteins (Figures 6F, G). The above results indicate that PRPS1 promotes malignant melanoma tumors in vivo.

Taken together, the results suggest that PRPS1 drastically promotes the potential for tumor proliferation, malignancy, and metastasis of melanoma *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

PRPS1 is upregulated by NRF2 and acts as a prominent determinant of melanoma proliferation and malignancy progression

We further analyzed the mechanism by which PRPS1 regulates the malignant progression of melanoma. Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived-2)-like 2 (NRF2) is a transcription factor that is known to play a pivotal role in the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) of glioblastoma (31), breast cancer cells (32), head and neck cancer (26), human hepatoma cells (33), and colon cancer (34) and to affect cell metabolic reprogramming. PRPS1 acts as an enzyme that catalyzes R5P to PRPP, thus participating in the PPP (3, 4). Therefore, we investigated whether NRF2 affects the malignant progression of melanoma by regulating PRPS1.

First, through analysis of the GEPIA website, we found that the level of PRPS1 gene expression was positively correlated with NRF2 (PRPS1-NRF2: Pearson correlation=0.4, p=3.4e-19) (Figure 7A). Next, we detected the mRNA and protein levels of PRPS1 in A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells with NRF2 overexpression and PRPS1 knockdown. The results showed that in A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells, stable overexpression of NRF2 increased the mRNA and protein levels of PRPS1, but



PRPS1 advances the migration and invasion of melanoma cells. (A) Representative scratch-wound images and the data analysis of PRPS1 overexpression and knock-down melanoma A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells Oh and 24h after scratch. (B) Representative images of transwell migration of stably transformed melanoma cells after 24h of starvation (top panel). Quantification of the number of migrating cells per field (bottom panel). (C) Representative images of transwell invasion assay pictured 24h (top panel). Quantification of the number of invasion cells per field (bottom panel). (D) The expression of EMT-associated proteins in the A875 and SK-MEL-110 melanoma cells with PRPS1 overexpression or knock-down and the control cells. The data represent three independent experiments. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p<0.001, ns mean no significant difference).



PRPS1 promotes melanoma cells proliferation *in vivo*. (A–C) BALB/c nude mice were injected with SK-MEL-110 cell that were stably transfected with PRPS1 overexpression and the control. Representative images of mice with control (top) and PRPS1-overexpressing (lower) xenograft tumors (A). The tumor volume (B) and body weight (C) were measured. (n=6/group) (D–F) BALB/c nude mice were injected with A875 cell that were stably transfected with PRPS1 knockdown and the control. Representative photographs of mice with control (top) and PRPS1- knockdown (lower) xenograft tumors (D). The tumor volume (E) and body weight (F) were measured. (n=6/group) (G–J) The protein level of PRPS1 (G, H) and the cell cycle related protein (I, J) levels of tumors in each xenograft tumors group were measured by western blot analysis. The data represent three independent experiments. The data related to tumor volume were statistically analyzed by two-way ANOVA, and the other data were analyzed by unpaired-sample Student's *t* test. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001.



PRPS1 promotes melanoma cells metastasis *in vivo*. (A–D) *In vivo* experimental lung metastasis assay of A875 cells stably overexpressing (A) or knocking down PRPS1 (C). The cells were injected into BALB/c nude mice *via* tail vein. Representative images of mice with the corresponding control (top) and PRPS1-overexpression/PRPS1-kockdown (lower) lungs metastasis. The expression of PRPS1 in PRPS1-overexpression and the control metastatic tumors (B), as well as in the PRPS1-kockdown and the corresponding control metastatic tumors were compared by western blot analysis (D). (n=6/group) (E) Morphological feature of the lung metastasis by HE staining and IHC in each metastatic tumor group. (F, G) The migration and invasion related protein levels in each metastatic tumor group were measured by western blot analysis. The data represent three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was carried out with unpaired-sample Student's t test. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

10.3389/fimmu.2022.989263

knockdown of NRF2 markedly reduced the mRNA and protein levels of PRPS1 (Figures 7B, C). Furthermore, PRPS1overexpressing A875 cells and control cells were incubated with 0.05 uM or 0.1 uM bardoxolone methyl (NRF2 activator, TP-155), PRPS1-knockdown SK-MEL-110 cells and control cells were treated with 2.5 uM or 5 uM ML385 (NRF2 inhibitor), and the results reconfirmed that the protein expression of PRPS1 was decreased in the cells with NRF2 inhibition and *vice versa* (Figure 7D). More importantly, the increase or decrease of PRPS1 expression was positively correlated with the dose of NRF2 activator or inhibitor.

However, it was unclear whether NRF2 could affect the proliferation and metastasis of melanoma cells by regulating the expression level of PRPS1. We used MTS analysis to evaluate the effect of NRF2 on stable cell proliferation. As shown in Figure 7E, the NRF2 activator significantly increased the proliferation rate of PRPS1-overexpressing melanoma cells, while the NRF2 inhibitor significantly decreased the proliferation rate of PRPS1-knockdown melanoma cells. Next, we evaluated whether NRF2 could influence the effects of PRPS1 on melanoma cell metastasis. We observed that the cell migration ability was improved in stable PRPS1overexpressing A875 cells after treatment with an NRF2 activator (Figure 7F, left). In contrast, the NRF2 inhibitor significantly suppressed the ability of PRPS1 knockdown PRPS1 SK-MEL-110 cell migration (Figure 7F, right). It is worth noting that the NRF2 activator/NRF2 inhibitor has a significant dose-response relationship in promoting/inhibiting the proliferation, invasion and migration of PRPS1 overexpression/PRPS1 knock-down melanoma cell.

We further compared the expression of NRF2 in the animal models. We found that the expression of NRF2 was positively correlated with the expression of PRPS1 in the subcutaneous tumors (Figure 7G) and the lung metastases of nude mice (Figure 7H). The levels of PRPS1 and NRF2 in the tumors were positively correlated with the melanoma tumor volumes and the degree of melanoma metastasis in each group.

In conclusion, these results demonstrate that PRPS1 promotes the proliferation, malignancy, and metastasis of melanoma, which may be related to NRF2.

NRF2 bound to PRPS1 is crucial for PRPS1 transcription

We further explored the mechanisms by which NRF2 regulates PRPS1 in melanoma cells. JASPAR database analysis showed that the transcriptional regulatory region of PRPS1 contains two NRF2 binding sites (Figure 8A). The ChIP–qPCR results showed that NRF2 was recruited to PRPS1 primer 1 (-1403-1414), which was 3.1 times that of the negative control, and PRPS1 primer 2 (1477-1487), which was 9.7 times that of the negative control in A875 melanoma cells (Figure 8B, left). In

110 melanoma cells, the abundance of NRF2 combined with PRPS1 primer 1 (1403-1414) was increased by 2.8 times and that combined with PRPS1 primer 2 (1477-1487) was increased by 7.1 times (Figure 8B, right). Furthermore, a luciferase assay showed that PRPS1-luc activity was increased in both 293T cells cotransfected with PRPS1 promoter1 wild-type/promoter2 wildtype and NRF2 overexpression plasmids (Figure 8C, left). In contrast, PRPS1-luc activity was decreased in both 293T cells cotransfected with PRPS1 position 1-mutated/position 2mutated and NRF2 overexpression plasmids (Figure 8C, right). These results reveal that NRF2 is involved in directing PRPS1 expression in melanoma. We further investigated the relationship between PRPS1 and NRF2. We detected the protein levels of NRF2 in the nuclei and cytoplasm of A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells with overexpression or knockdown of PRPS1 and found that PRPS1 overexpression increased the NRF2 levels in the nuclei and cytoplasm and that knockdown of PRPS1 decreased the NRF2 levels in the nuclei and cytoplasm. (Figure 8D).

These results indicate that the transcription factor NRF2 can bind to the PRPS1 promoter and increase the transcription of PRPS1 to advance the proliferation, migration, and invasion of melanoma (Figure 8E).

Discussion

Tumor cells, including melanoma, are highly dependent on *de novo* biosynthesis of purine and pyrimidine nucleotides (35, 36). The researchers found that the levels of xanthine, purine, pyrimidine, AMP, ADP, ATP, and UDP in the clonally expanded cells of metastatic lymph nodes in melanoma patients were significantly increased (37). We found that the mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation pathway and purine biosynthesis were abnormally active in melanoma cells (unpublished data). The PPP pathway is often upregulated in cancer cell lines, enabling cancer cells to obtain a large amount of R5P for purine nucleotide and pyrimidine synthesis (1, 38, 39). We previously demonstrated that G6PD, the key enzyme of the PPP, is upregulated, and its enzyme activity is increased in melanoma, which can promote the proliferation of melanoma cells and inhibit apoptosis (40, 41).

PRPS1 catalyzes R5P to 5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate, which is the first step of *de novo* nucleotide synthesis. Previous reports indicated that knockdown of PRPS1 strongly inhibited neuroblastoma cell proliferation (15). PRPS1 is upregulated by KHK-A and promotes the proliferation of esophageal squamous cells (14). CDK1 upregulates PRPS1 activity by phosphorylating PRPS1(183), so PRPS1 cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation promotes nucleotide synthesis in colon cancer (3). The lncRNA lymphocytic leukemia 1 (DLEU1), targeting miR-320b/PRPS1, promotes the proliferation, migration, and invasion and reduces the apoptosis of colorectal cancer (12).



NRF2 is positively correlated with PRPS1 expression in melanoma. (A) Spearman correlation analysis of PRPS1 and NRF2 mRNA expression levels was performed in melanoma and normal skin tissues through GEPIA website. (B, C) The mRNA (B) and protein (C) level of PRPS1 were analyzed in the stably NRF2 overexpression or knockdown A875 and SK-MEL-110 and that the control cells. (D–F) The stably PRPS1 overexpression A875 and the control cells were treated with TP-155 (NRF2 activator) for 24h. The stably PRPS1 knockdown SK-MEL-110 and the control cells were incubated with ML385 (NRF2 inhibitor) for 24h. The expression of PRPS1 was detected by using western blot in each group cells (D). The cell proliferation rate was detected by MTS assay (E). The rate of migration was measured by transwell assay (F). TP-155 (+): 0.05uM, TP-155 (+): 0.1uM. ML385 (+): 2.5uM, ML385 (++): 5uM. The cell migration ability was evaluated by transwell migration (F). TP-155 (+): 100M, TP-155 (+): 25nM. ML385 (+): 1uM, ML385 (++): 2uM. (G, H) The expression of NRF2 in the xenograft tumors (G) and the lung metastases of nude mice (H) were detected by western blot analysis. Statistical analysis was carried out with unpaired-sample Student's *t* test or two-way ANOVA. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001, ns mean no significant difference.



promoter was analyzed by JASPAR database. (b) ChIP assay was performed to assess NKP2 in the PKPS1 promoter region in A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells. (C) 293T cells were transfected with corresponding plasmids for 48h. Luciferase dual reporter assays were performed to measure the luciferase activity of PRPS1-luc. (D) NRF2 expression in nuclei and cytoplasm of A875 and SK-MEL-110 cells overexpressing or knockdown PRPS1. (E) Proposed model of the relationship between PRPS1 and NRF2 in melanoma cells. The data represent three independent experiments. Each bar represents mean \pm SD. *p* values were calculated using a student t-test (**p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001 vs. the control).

The PRPS1 mutation drove thiopurine resistance in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia (4, 19). In this study, our data demonstrated that PRPS1 is highly expressed in melanoma tissues and melanoma cell lines (Figure 1C-G). We also demonstrated that overexpression of PRPS1 promoted melanoma tumor proliferation, migration, and invasion *in*

vitro and *in vivo* and inhibited melanoma cell apoptosis. In contrast, knockdown of PRPS1 suppressed proliferation, migration, and invasion while advancing apoptosis in melanoma (Figures 2, 6). We first showed that PRPS1 could promote the growth, migration, and invasion of melanoma and prevent melanoma cell apoptosis.

A report pointed out that c-MYC is a transcription factor of PRPS1 in neuroblastoma (18). However, another study confirmed that in c-MYC-overexpressing malignant lymphoma cells, the gene expression of PRPS2 rather than PRPS1 is strongly regulated at the translational level to regulate purine synthesis (5). However, the mechanism by which PRPS1 regulates the malignant progression of melanoma remains unclear.

Our study found that NRF2 can regulate the transcription of PRPS1 and then regulate the proliferation and metastasis of melanoma. NRF2 is considered a marker of cancer and plays a role in tumor promotion and tumor suppression in different cancers (42). Research confirmed that knockdown of NRF2 led to reduced growth of melanoma cells (43). NRF2 promotes the migration and invasion of BRAF mutant melanoma cells (44). In our study, we confirmed that NRF2 could promote the transcription of PRPS1 (Figure 7D). The ChIP and luciferase assay data indicated that NRF2 binds to the PRPS1 promoter (Figures 8B, C). In addition, after SK-MEL-110 cells with stable PRPS1 overexpression were treated with an NRF2 activator and PRPS1 knockdown PRPS1 A875 cells were incubated with an NRF2 inhibitor, we reconfirmed that abnormal PRPS1 could promote the proliferation, migration and invasion of melanoma cells through NRF2-activated transcription (Figures 7D, E).

As a transcription factor, NRF2 is also the most potent effector of the oxidative stress response (43, 45). Because melanoma shows high oxidative stress in both the intracellular and tumor microenvironments, NRF2 is involved in this process. Therefore, previous studies have paid more attention to the regulation of NRF2 on oxidative stress in melanoma. Intermittent hypoxia promoted melanoma lung metastasis through oxidative stress in a mouse model of obstructive sleep apnea (46). Mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (mGPDH) inhibits melanoma migration, and invasion by suppressing NRF2 and downstream oxidative signals (47). Our study demonstrates for the first time that NRF2, as a transcription factor, can regulate the transcription of PRPS1, an important enzyme in nucleotide metabolism.

Conclusion

Our study demonstrated that PRPS1 is highly expressed in melanoma and promotes melanoma proliferation and metastasis and decreases melanoma cell apoptosis. Moreover, abnormal expression of PRPS1 occurred *via* NRF2-mediated upregulation. This is the first study to provide data by systematically analyzing the function and regulatory mechanism of PRPS1 in melanoma. Targeting purine nucleotide metabolism may become a new strategy for melanoma therapy.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/supplementary material.

Ethics statement

All animal experiments were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, Kunming Medical University.

Author contribution

YZ and YK contributed to the design of experiments and finalization of the manuscript. GX performed experiments and wrote the manuscript. YF and XY and XZ and XL did the animal study. LY and ZiY conducted *in vitro* experiments. BS and ZhY and QZ participated in analyzed data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The research leading to these results has received funding from National Natural Science Foundation of China (No.31960200, No.31660246, No.82160540).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Tong X, Zhao F, Thompson CB. The molecular determinants of *de novo* nucleotide biosynthesis in cancer cells. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* (2009) 19(1):32–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2009.01.002

2. Becker MA. Phosphoribosylpyrophosphate synthetase and the regulation of phosphoribosylpyrophosphate production in human cells. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol* (2001) 69:115–48. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6603(01)69046-9

3. Jing X, Wang XJ, Zhang T, Zhu W, Fang Y, Wu H, et al. Cell-Cycle-Dependent phosphorylation of PRPS1 fuels nucleotide synthesis and promotes tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* (2019) 79(18):4650–64. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2486

4. Li B, Li H, Bai Y, Kirschner-Schwabe R, Yang JJ, Chen Y, et al. Negative feedback-defective PRPS1 mutants drive thiopurine resistance in relapsed childhood ALL. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(6):563–71. doi: 10.1038/nm.3840

5. Cunningham JT, Moreno MV, Lodi A, Ronen SM, Ruggero D. Protein and nucleotide biosynthesis are coupled by a single rate-limiting enzyme, PRPS2, to drive cancer. *Cell* (2014) 157(5):1088–103. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.052

6. Chen P, Liu Z, Wang X, Peng J, Sun Q, Li J, et al. Crystal and EM structures of human phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate synthase I (PRS1) provide novel insights into the disease-associated mutations. *PloS One* (2015) 10(3):e0120304. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0120304

7. Tallarida RJ. Pharmacologic methods for identification of receptors. Life Sci (1988) 43(26):2169-76. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(88)90409-2

8. Mercati O, Abi Warde MT, Lina-Granade G, Rio M, Heide S, de Lonlay P, et al. PRPS1 loss-of-function variants, from isolated hearing loss to severe congenital encephalopathy: New cases and literature review. *Eur J Med Genet* (2020) 63(11):104033. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2020.104033

9. Rezende Filho FM, Palma MM, Pedroso JL, Barsottini OG, Sallum JM. PRPS1 gene mutation causes complex X-linked adult-onset cerebellar ataxia in women. *Neurol Genet* (2021) 7(2):e563. doi: 10.1212/NXG.00000000000563

10. Yang BY, Yu HX, Min J, Song XX. A novel mutation in gene of PRPS1 in a young Chinese woman with X-linked gout: a case report and review of the literature. *Clin Rheumatol* (2020) 39(3):949–56. doi: 10.1007/s10067-019-04801-0

11. Al-Maawali A, Dupuis L, Blaser S, Heon E, Tarnopolsky M, Al-Murshedi F, et al. Prenatal growth restriction, retinal dystrophy, diabetes insipidus and white matter disease: expanding the spectrum of PRPS1-related disorders. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2015) 23(3):310–6. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2014.112

12. Xu D, Yang F, Fan Y, Jing W, Wen J, Miao W, et al. LncRNA DLEU1 contributes to the growth and invasion of colorectal cancer *via* targeting miR-320b/ PRPS1. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:640276. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.640276

13. Qiu Z, Guo W, Wang Q, Chen Z, Huang S, Zhao F, et al. MicroRNA-124 reduces the pentose phosphate pathway and proliferation by targeting PRPS1 and RPIA mRNAs in human colorectal cancer cells. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 149 (6):1587–1598 e1511. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.07.050

14. Yang J, Yang S, Wang Q, Pang J, Wang Y, Wang H, et al. KHK-a promotes the proliferation of oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma through the up-regulation of PRPS1. *Arab J Gastroenterol* (2021) 22(1):40–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajg.2020.08.007

15. Li J, Ye J, Zhu S, Cui H. Down-regulation of phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate synthetase 1 inhibits neuroblastoma cell proliferation. *Cells* (2019) 8(9). doi: 10.3390/cells8090955

16. Ge Y, Tan S, Bi J, Rao M, Yu Y, Tian L. SNHG16 knockdown inhibits tumorigenicity of neuroblastoma in children *via* miR-15b-5p/PRPS1 axis. *Neuroreport* (2020) 31(17):1225–35. doi: 10.1097/WNR.000000000001537

17. Li C, Yan Z, Cao X, Zhang X, Yang L. Phosphoribosylpyrophosphate synthetase 1 knockdown suppresses tumor formation of glioma CD133+ cells through upregulating cell apoptosis. *J Mol Neurosci* (2016) 60(2):145–56. doi: 10.1007/s12031-016-0783-y

18. Wang X, Yang K, Xie Q, Wu Q, Mack SC, Shi Y, et al. Purine synthesis promotes maintenance of brain tumor initiating cells in glioma. *Nat Neurosci* (2017) 20(5):661–73. doi: 10.1038/nn.4537

19. Thiopurine resistance in childhood ALL is mediated by PRPS1 mutations. *Cancer Discovery* (2015) 5(7):693. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290

20. Mullighan CG. Mutant PRPS1: a new therapeutic target in relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(6):553–4. doi: 10.1038/nm.3876

21. Li B, Brady SW, Ma X, Shen S, Zhang Y, Li Y, et al. Therapy-induced mutations drive the genomic landscape of relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* (2020) 135(1):41–55. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019002220

22. He M, Chao L, You YP. PRPS1 silencing reverses cisplatin resistance in human breast cancer cells. *Biochem Cell Biol* (2017) 95(3):385–93. doi: 10.1139/ bcb-2016-0106

23. Denat L, Kadekaro AL, Marrot L, Leachman SA, Abdel-Malek ZA. Melanocytes as instigators and victims of oxidative stress. *J Invest Dermatol* (2014) 134(6):1512-8. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.65

24. Carpenter EL, Becker AL, Indra AK. NRF2 and key transcriptional targets in melanoma redox manipulation. *Cancers (Basel)* (2022) 14(6). doi: 10.3390/cancers14061531

25. Fox DB, Garcia NMG, McKinney BJ, Lupo R, Noteware LC, Newcomb R, et al. NRF2 activation promotes the recurrence of dormant tumour cells through regulation of redox and nucleotide metabolism. *Nat Metab* (2020) 2(4):318–34. doi: 10.1038/s42255-020-0191-z

26. Tang YC, Hsiao JR, Jiang SS, Chang JY, Chu PY, Liu KJ, et al. C-MYCdirected NRF2 drives malignant progression of head and neck cancer *via* glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and transketolase activation. *Theranostics* (2021) 11 (11):5232–47. doi: 10.7150/thno.53417

27. DeNicola GM, Chen PH, Mullarky E, Sudderth JA, Hu Z, Wu D, et al. NRF2 regulates serine biosynthesis in non-small cell lung cancer. *Nat Genet* (2015) 47 (12):1475–81. doi: 10.1038/ng.3421

28. Chen X, Wu M, Liang N, Lu J, Qu S, Chen H. Thyroid hormone-regulated expression of Period2 promotes liver urate production. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:636802. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.636802

29. Wang S, Liu W, Ni Y, Wang L, Zhu Y, Shi Q, et al. Overexpression of ERCC3 is associated with poor prognosis in patients with pancreatic cancer. *J Cancer* (2021) 12(9):2550–9. doi: 10.7150/jca.54576

30. Zhou S, Wu Q, Lin X, Ling X, Miao J, Liu X, et al. Cannabinoid receptor type 2 promotes kidney fibrosis through orchestrating beta-catenin signaling. *Kidney Int* (2021) 99(2):364–81. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.09.025

31. Ahmad F, Dixit D, Sharma V, Kumar A, Joshi SD, Sarkar C, et al. Nrf2driven TERT regulates pentose phosphate pathway in glioblastoma. *Cell Death Dis* (2016) 7:e2213. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.117

32. Lee S, Hallis SP, Jung KA, Ryu D, Kwak MK. Impairment of HIF-1alphamediated metabolic adaption by NRF2-silencing in breast cancer cells. *Redox Biol* (2019) 24:101210. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101210

33. Ong AJ, Saeidi S, Chi NHK, Kim SJ, Kim DH, Kim SH, et al. The positive feedback loop between Nrf2 and phosphogluconate dehydrogenase stimulates proliferation and clonogenicity of human hepatoma cells. *Free Radic Res* (2020) 54(11-12):906–17. doi: 10.1080/10715762.2020.1761547

34. Polat IH, Tarrado-Castellarnau M, Benito A, Hernandez-Carro C, Centelles J, Marin S, et al. Glutamine modulates expression and function of glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase *via* NRF2 in colon cancer cells. *Antioxidants (Basel)* (2021) 10(9). doi: 10.3390/antiox10091349

35. Dang CV. Links between metabolism and cancer. Genes Dev (2012) 26 (9):877-90. doi: 10.1101/gad.189365.112

36. Wawrzyniak JA, Bianchi-Smiraglia A, Bshara W, Mannava S, Ackroyd J, Bagati A, et al. A purine nucleotide biosynthesis enzyme guanosine monophosphate reductase is a suppressor of melanoma invasion. *Cell Rep* (2013) 5(2):493–507. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.09.015

 Kosmopoulou M, Giannopoulou AF, Iliou A, Benaki D, Panagiotakis A, Velentzas AD, et al. Human melanoma-cell metabolic profiling: Identification of novel biomarkers indicating metastasis. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(7). doi: 10.3390/ ijms21072436

38. Arbe MF, Agnetti L, Breininger E, Glikin GC, Finocchiaro LME, Villaverde MS. Glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase inhibition sensitizes melanoma cells to metformin treatment. *Transl Oncol* (2020) 13(11):100842. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2020.100842

39. Stincone A, Prigione A, Cramer T, Wamelink MM, Campbell K, Cheung E, et al. The return of metabolism: biochemistry and physiology of the pentose phosphate pathway. *Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc* (2015) 90(3):927–63. doi: 10.1111/brv.12140

40. Hu T, Zhang C, Tang Q, Su Y, Li B, Chen L, et al. Variant G6PD levels promote tumor cell proliferation or apoptosis *via* the STAT3/5 pathway in the human melanoma xenograft mouse model. *BMC Cancer* (2013) 13:251. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-251

41. Chen L, Yang H, Yi Z, Jiang L, Li Y, Han Q, et al. LncRNA GAS5 regulates redox balance and dysregulates the cell cycle and apoptosis in malignant melanoma cells. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2019) 145(3):637–52. doi: 10.1007/s00432-018-2820-4

42. de la Vega MR, Chapman E, Zhang DD. NRF2 and the hallmarks of cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2018) 34(1):21-43. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.022

43. Jessen C, Kress JKC, Baluapuri A, Hufnagel A, Schmitz W, Kneitz S, et al. The transcription factor NRF2 enhances melanoma malignancy by blocking differentiation and inducing COX2 expression. *Oncogene* (2020) 39(44):6841–55. doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-01477-8 44. Schmidlin CJ, Tian W, Dodson M, Chapman E, Zhang DD. FAM129Bdependent activation of NRF2 promotes an invasive phenotype in BRAF mutant melanoma cells. *Mol Carcinog* (2021) 60(5):331-41. doi: 10.1002/ mc.23295

45. He F, Antonucci L, Karin M. NRF2 as a regulator of cell metabolism and inflammation in cancer. *Carcinogenesis* (2020) 41(4):405–16. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgaa039

46. Li L, Ren F, Qi C, Xu L, Fang Y, Liang M, et al. Intermittent hypoxia promotes melanoma lung metastasis *via* oxidative stress and inflammation responses in a mouse model of obstructive sleep apnea. *Respir Res* (2018) 19 (1):28. doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0727-x

47. Li X, Zhou L, Zhang Y, He X, Lu H, Zhang L, et al. mGPDH deficiency leads to melanoma metastasis *via* induced NRF2. *J Cell Mol Med* (2021) 25(11):5305–15. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.16542

Frontiers in Immunology

Explores novel approaches and diagnoses to treat immune disorders.

The official journal of the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) and the most cited in its field, leading the way for research across basic, translational and clinical immunology.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



